
Topic: Sedro-Woolley City Council Meeting 

Join Zoom Meeting 
https://zoom.us/j/91786850179?pwd=Vys0Y29XalZmQTRmemJBM2txVDIUQT09 

Meeting ID: 917 8685 0179 
Passcode: 091845 

OR One tap mobile 
+12532158782„91786850179#,„,*091845# US (Tacoma) 
+16699006833„91786850179#,„,*091845# US (San Jose) 

OR Dial by your location 
+1 253 215 8782 US (Tacoma) 
+1 669 900 6833 US (San Jose) 
+1 346 248 7799 US (Houston) 

+1 929 205 6099 US (New York) 
+1 301 715 8592 US (Washington DC) 
+1 312 626 6799 US (Chicago) 

Meeting ID: 917 8685 0179 

Passcode: 091845 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 1 of 248 

 

 

 

Topic: Sedro-Woolley City Council Meeting 

Join Zoom Meeting 
https://zoom.us/j/91786850179?pwd=Vys0Y29XalZmQTRmemJBM2txVDlUQT09 

Meeting ID: 917 8685 0179 
Passcode: 091845 

OR One tap mobile 
+12532158782,,91786850179#,,,,*091845# US (Tacoma) 
+16699006833,,91786850179#,,,,*091845# US (San Jose) 

OR Dial by your location 
        +1 253 215 8782 US (Tacoma) 
        +1 669 900 6833 US (San Jose) 
        +1 346 248 7799 US (Houston) 
        +1 929 205 6099 US (New York) 
        +1 301 715 8592 US (Washington DC) 
        +1 312 626 6799 US (Chicago) 

Meeting ID: 917 8685 0179 
Passcode: 091845 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 1 of 248



crry 0F
.1Ot0-WO %Lt ._ 

vrovt,1 To niE Nom cAsc,,,_ 
•—es Next Ord: 1985-21 

Next Res: 1071-21 

VISION STATEMENT 
SEDRO-WOOLLEY IS A FRIENDLY CITY THAT IS CHARACTERIZED BY CITY HOVHRNMENT AND CITIZENS WORKINa TOBETHER TO 

ACHIEVE A PROSPEROUS, VIBRANT AND SAFE COMMUNITY 

MISSION STATEMENT 
TO PROVIDE SERVICES AND OPPORTUNITIES WHICH CREATE A COMMUNITY WHERE PEOPLE CHOOSE TO 

LIVE, WORK. AND PLAY 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
May 26, 2021 

6:00 PM Via Zoom 
Sedro-Woolley Municipal Building 

Council Chambers 
325 Metcalf Street 

a. Call to Order 
b. Pledge of Allegiance 
c. Roll Call 
d. Approval of Agenda 
e. Consent Agenda .8-34 

Note: Items on the Consent Agenda are considered routine in nature and may be adopted by the Council by a single motion, unless any 
Councilmember wishes an item to be removed. The Council on the Regular Agenda will consider any item so removed after the Consent Agenda. 

1. Minutes from Previous Meeting (Including May 5, 2021 Study Session) 
2. Finance 

- Claim Checks #195347 to #195434 plus EFT's in the amount of $908,970.16 
- Payroll Checks #60373 to #60383 plus EFT's in the amount of $311,870.54 

3. Interlocal Agreement - Whatcom County Parks - Rifle Range 
f. Introduction of Special Guests and Presentations 

1. PSE Update Presentation with Robert Knoll, Senior Government Affairs Representative 
g. Staff Reports 
h. Councilmember and Mayor's Reports 
i. Proclamation(s) (none scheduled as of the date of this agenda) 
j. Public Comments 35 

The public comment period will be closed. However, you may provide written questions or comments via email, or by 
letter. 

k. Public Hearing(s) (none scheduled as of the date of this agenda) 
1. Unfinished Business 

1. Amendments to the Shoreline Master Program (Ordinance No. 1983-21- 2"d reading)  
 .36-198 

m. New Business 
1. Updates to City Council Governance Handbook and the Sedro-Woolley Municipal Code 
to change City Council Meeting Times (Resolution No. 1070-21 & Ordinance No. 1984-21) 
  .199-246 

Page 1 of 2 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 2 of 248 

crry 0F
.1Ot0-WO %Lt ._ 

vrovt,1 To niE Nom cAsc,,,_ 
•—es Next Ord: 1985-21 

Next Res: 1071-21 

VISION STATEMENT 
SEDRO-WOOLLEY IS A FRIENDLY CITY THAT IS CHARACTERIZED BY CITY HOVHRNMENT AND CITIZENS WORKINa TOBETHER TO 

ACHIEVE A PROSPEROUS, VIBRANT AND SAFE COMMUNITY 

MISSION STATEMENT 
TO PROVIDE SERVICES AND OPPORTUNITIES WHICH CREATE A COMMUNITY WHERE PEOPLE CHOOSE TO 

LIVE, WORK. AND PLAY 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
May 26, 2021 

6:00 PM Via Zoom 
Sedro-Woolley Municipal Building 

Council Chambers 
325 Metcalf Street 

a. Call to Order 
b. Pledge of Allegiance 
c. Roll Call 
d. Approval of Agenda 
e. Consent Agenda .8-34 

Note: Items on the Consent Agenda are considered routine in nature and may be adopted by the Council by a single motion, unless any 
Councilmember wishes an item to be removed. The Council on the Regular Agenda will consider any item so removed after the Consent Agenda. 

1. Minutes from Previous Meeting (Including May 5, 2021 Study Session) 
2. Finance 

- Claim Checks #195347 to #195434 plus EFT's in the amount of $908,970.16 
- Payroll Checks #60373 to #60383 plus EFT's in the amount of $311,870.54 

3. Interlocal Agreement - Whatcom County Parks - Rifle Range 
f. Introduction of Special Guests and Presentations 

1. PSE Update Presentation with Robert Knoll, Senior Government Affairs Representative 
g. Staff Reports 
h. Councilmember and Mayor's Reports 
i. Proclamation(s) (none scheduled as of the date of this agenda) 
j. Public Comments 35 

The public comment period will be closed. However, you may provide written questions or comments via email, or by 
letter. 

k. Public Hearing(s) (none scheduled as of the date of this agenda) 
1. Unfinished Business 

1. Amendments to the Shoreline Master Program (Ordinance No. 1983-21- 2"d reading)  
 .36-198 

m. New Business 
1. Updates to City Council Governance Handbook and the Sedro-Woolley Municipal Code 
to change City Council Meeting Times (Resolution No. 1070-21 & Ordinance No. 1984-21) 
  .199-246 

Page 1 of 2 

crry 0F
.1Ot0-WO %Lt ._ 

vrovt,1 To niE Nom cAsc,,,_ 
•—es Next Ord: 1985-21 

Next Res: 1071-21 

VISION STATEMENT 
SEDRO-WOOLLEY IS A FRIENDLY CITY THAT IS CHARACTERIZED BY CITY HOVHRNMENT AND CITIZENS WORKINa TOBETHER TO 

ACHIEVE A PROSPEROUS, VIBRANT AND SAFE COMMUNITY 

MISSION STATEMENT 
TO PROVIDE SERVICES AND OPPORTUNITIES WHICH CREATE A COMMUNITY WHERE PEOPLE CHOOSE TO 

LIVE, WORK. AND PLAY 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
May 26, 2021 

6:00 PM Via Zoom 
Sedro-Woolley Municipal Building 

Council Chambers 
325 Metcalf Street 

a. Call to Order 
b. Pledge of Allegiance 
c. Roll Call 
d. Approval of Agenda 
e. Consent Agenda .8-34 

Note: Items on the Consent Agenda are considered routine in nature and may be adopted by the Council by a single motion, unless any 
Councilmember wishes an item to be removed. The Council on the Regular Agenda will consider any item so removed after the Consent Agenda. 

1. Minutes from Previous Meeting (Including May 5, 2021 Study Session) 
2. Finance 

- Claim Checks #195347 to #195434 plus EFT's in the amount of $908,970.16 
- Payroll Checks #60373 to #60383 plus EFT's in the amount of $311,870.54 

3. Interlocal Agreement - Whatcom County Parks - Rifle Range 
f. Introduction of Special Guests and Presentations 

1. PSE Update Presentation with Robert Knoll, Senior Government Affairs Representative 
g. Staff Reports 
h. Councilmember and Mayor's Reports 
i. Proclamation(s) (none scheduled as of the date of this agenda) 
j. Public Comments 35 

The public comment period will be closed. However, you may provide written questions or comments via email, or by 
letter. 

k. Public Hearing(s) (none scheduled as of the date of this agenda) 
1. Unfinished Business 

1. Amendments to the Shoreline Master Program (Ordinance No. 1983-21- 2"d reading)  
 .36-198 

m. New Business 
1. Updates to City Council Governance Handbook and the Sedro-Woolley Municipal Code 
to change City Council Meeting Times (Resolution No. 1070-21 & Ordinance No. 1984-21) 
  .199-246 

Page 1 of 2 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 2 of 248



n. Information Only Items 
1. Minor Contacts approved under SWMC 2.104.060  247-248 

o. Good of the Order 
p. Executive Session (none scheduled as of the date of this agenda) 
q. Adjournment 

There may be an Executive Session during or following the meeting. 

Next Meeting(s) 

June 9, 2021 Council Meeting 6:00 PM Council Chambers 
Via Zoom 

Page 2 of 2 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 3 of 248 

n. Information Only Items 
1. Minor Contacts approved under SWMC 2.104.060  247-248 

o. Good of the Order 
p. Executive Session (none scheduled as of the date of this agenda) 
q. Adjournment 

There may be an Executive Session during or following the meeting. 

Next Meeting(s) 

June 9, 2021 Council Meeting 6:00 PM Council Chambers 
Via Zoom 

Page 2 of 2 

n. Information Only Items 
1. Minor Contacts approved under SWMC 2.104.060  247-248 

o. Good of the Order 
p. Executive Session (none scheduled as of the date of this agenda) 
q. Adjournment 

There may be an Executive Session during or following the meeting. 

Next Meeting(s) 

June 9, 2021 Council Meeting 6:00 PM Council Chambers 
Via Zoom 

Page 2 of 2 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 3 of 248



COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS 
2021 

Public Safety 

Utilities 

Finance, Personnel 
& Risk Management 

Parks & Recreation 

Planning 

Chuck Owen, Chair 
JoEllen Kesti 
Karl de Jong 
Staff liaison: Chief Tucker & Chief Wagner 

JoEllen Kesti, Chair 
Glenn Allen 
Kevin Loy 
Staff liaison: Mark Freiberger 

Sarah Diamond, Chair 
Chuck Owen 
Brendan McGoffin 
Staff liaison: Doug Merriman 

Glenn Allen, Chair 
Kevin Loy 
Brendan McGoffin 
Staff liaison: Nathan Salseina 

Brendan McGoffin, Chair 
Sarah Diamond 
Chuck Owen 
Staff liaison: John Coleman 

Business 
Development Karl de Jong, Chair 

Sarah Diamond 
Glenn Allen 
Staff liaison: Doug Merriman 

Technology Kevin Loy, Chair 
JoEllen Kesti 
Karl de Jong 
Staff liaison: Bill Chambers 

Mayor Pro-tem JoEllen Kesti 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 4 of 248 

COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS 
2021 

Public Safety 

Utilities 

Finance, Personnel 
& Risk Management 

Parks & Recreation 

Planning 

Chuck Owen, Chair 
JoEllen Kesti 
Karl de Jong 
Staff liaison: Chief Tucker & Chief Wagner 

JoEllen Kesti, Chair 
Glenn Allen 
Kevin Loy 
Staff liaison: Mark Freiberger 

Sarah Diamond, Chair 
Chuck Owen 
Brendan McGoffin 
Staff liaison: Doug Merriman 

Glenn Allen, Chair 
Kevin Loy 
Brendan McGoffin 
Staff liaison: Nathan Salseina 

Brendan McGoffin, Chair 
Sarah Diamond 
Chuck Owen 
Staff liaison: John Coleman 

Business 
Development Karl de Jong, Chair 

Sarah Diamond 
Glenn Allen 
Staff liaison: Doug Merriman 

Technology Kevin Loy, Chair 
JoEllen Kesti 
Karl de Jong 
Staff liaison: Bill Chambers 

Mayor Pro-tem JoEllen Kesti 

COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS 
2021 

Public Safety 

Utilities 

Finance, Personnel 
& Risk Management 

Parks & Recreation 

Planning 

Chuck Owen, Chair 
JoEllen Kesti 
Karl de Jong 
Staff liaison: Chief Tucker & Chief Wagner 

JoEllen Kesti, Chair 
Glenn Allen 
Kevin Loy 
Staff liaison: Mark Freiberger 

Sarah Diamond, Chair 
Chuck Owen 
Brendan McGoffin 
Staff liaison: Doug Merriman 

Glenn Allen, Chair 
Kevin Loy 
Brendan McGoffin 
Staff liaison: Nathan Salseina 

Brendan McGoffin, Chair 
Sarah Diamond 
Chuck Owen 
Staff liaison: John Coleman 

Business 
Development Karl de Jong, Chair 

Sarah Diamond 
Glenn Allen 
Staff liaison: Doug Merriman 

Technology Kevin Loy, Chair 
JoEllen Kesti 
Karl de Jong 
Staff liaison: Bill Chambers 

Mayor Pro-tem JoEllen Kesti 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 4 of 248



COUNCIL COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS 

II. Council Committees 

A. Annually, at the first meeting of the year, the Mayor shall appoint two councilmembers and a 
council chairperson to each standing committee of the Council, subject to confirmation by the 
city council. 

B. Standing Committees 
I. Public Safety: To consider issues and make recommendations to the full Council 

related to the police department, fire department, municipal court and public policies relevant to 
those departments. 

2. Utilities: To consider issues and make recommendations to the full Council related 
to the City's sewer, storm water and solid waste utilities including operational policies, rates and 
related policies. 

3. Finance, Personnel & Risk Management: To consider issues and make 
recommendations to the full Council related to financial management policies, financial reports 
and personnel issues including personnel policies. 

4. Parks & Recreation: To consider issues and make recommendations to the full 
Council related to the parks department and the provisioning of parks and recreation 
programming in the City. 

5. Business Development: To consider issues and make recommendations to the full 
Council related to the attraction of new businesses and the retention of existing businesses within 
the City. 

6. Planning: To consider issues and make recommendations to the full Council 
related to long-term planning and growth in the City. 

C. The Role of City Council Committees 
I. City Council Committees are intended to enhance communication between the 

Legislative Branch and the Executive Branch at the early phase of the development of significant 
items affecting public policy questions. 

2. These Committees will enable City administration to obtain early feedback from 
representative members of the City Council on issues affecting public policy prior to their 
presentation, as necessary, to the full City Council. 

3. City Council Committee members develop and maintain a deeper level of knowledge on 
matters of a technical nature which might affect public policy in order to increase the positive 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 5 of 248 

COUNCIL COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS 

II. Council Committees 

A. Annually, at the first meeting of the year, the Mayor shall appoint two councilmembers and a 
council chairperson to each standing committee of the Council, subject to confirmation by the 
city council. 

B. Standing Committees 
I. Public Safety: To consider issues and make recommendations to the full Council 

related to the police department, fire department, municipal court and public policies relevant to 
those departments. 

2. Utilities: To consider issues and make recommendations to the full Council related 
to the City's sewer, storm water and solid waste utilities including operational policies, rates and 
related policies. 

3. Finance, Personnel & Risk Management: To consider issues and make 
recommendations to the full Council related to financial management policies, financial reports 
and personnel issues including personnel policies. 

4. Parks & Recreation: To consider issues and make recommendations to the full 
Council related to the parks department and the provisioning of parks and recreation 
programming in the City. 

5. Business Development: To consider issues and make recommendations to the full 
Council related to the attraction of new businesses and the retention of existing businesses within 
the City. 

6. Planning: To consider issues and make recommendations to the full Council 
related to long-term planning and growth in the City. 

C. The Role of City Council Committees 
I. City Council Committees are intended to enhance communication between the 

Legislative Branch and the Executive Branch at the early phase of the development of significant 
items affecting public policy questions. 

2. These Committees will enable City administration to obtain early feedback from 
representative members of the City Council on issues affecting public policy prior to their 
presentation, as necessary, to the full City Council. 

3. City Council Committee members develop and maintain a deeper level of knowledge on 
matters of a technical nature which might affect public policy in order to increase the positive 

COUNCIL COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS 

II. Council Committees 

A. Annually, at the first meeting of the year, the Mayor shall appoint two councilmembers and a 
council chairperson to each standing committee of the Council, subject to confirmation by the 
city council. 

B. Standing Committees 
I. Public Safety: To consider issues and make recommendations to the full Council 

related to the police department, fire department, municipal court and public policies relevant to 
those departments. 

2. Utilities: To consider issues and make recommendations to the full Council related 
to the City's sewer, storm water and solid waste utilities including operational policies, rates and 
related policies. 

3. Finance, Personnel & Risk Management: To consider issues and make 
recommendations to the full Council related to financial management policies, financial reports 
and personnel issues including personnel policies. 

4. Parks & Recreation: To consider issues and make recommendations to the full 
Council related to the parks department and the provisioning of parks and recreation 
programming in the City. 

5. Business Development: To consider issues and make recommendations to the full 
Council related to the attraction of new businesses and the retention of existing businesses within 
the City. 

6. Planning: To consider issues and make recommendations to the full Council 
related to long-term planning and growth in the City. 

C. The Role of City Council Committees 
I. City Council Committees are intended to enhance communication between the 

Legislative Branch and the Executive Branch at the early phase of the development of significant 
items affecting public policy questions. 

2. These Committees will enable City administration to obtain early feedback from 
representative members of the City Council on issues affecting public policy prior to their 
presentation, as necessary, to the full City Council. 

3. City Council Committee members develop and maintain a deeper level of knowledge on 
matters of a technical nature which might affect public policy in order to increase the positive 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 5 of 248



exchange of information and discussions between City Council members, City staff, and the 
public. 

4. When appropriate, items may be considered by a City Council Committee before a final 
recommendation from the appropriate City Board or Commission (i.e., Planning Commission, 
Parks Board). 

5. City Council Committees do not replace the City Council as final decision makers on behalf 
of the full City Council. Council Committees make no staff direction on administrative matters, 
specific assignments, or work tasks. If Committee members seek additional information from an 
outside party or consultant resulting in additional cost to the City, approval to incur such cost 
must be approved by the full City Council. 

6. Any discussion or feedback expressed or received at a Committee meeting should not be 
construed or understood to be a decision by or for the City Council. Further, any 
recommendation the Committee may make to the City Council is based on information 
possessed by the Committee at the time the recommendation is made and may be revised or 
amended upon receipt by the Committee of additional or newer information. 

D. Operational Guidelines and Functional Structure 

I. City Council Committees consist of three Council members one of whom is the committee 
chair. The Mayor may attend and participate in all Committee meetings. 

2. No member of the City Council may serve on more than three Committees. 

3. Council Committees will meet at least quarterly. 

4. Council Committees have no delegated authority from the City Council and shall not take 
testimony from the public. 

5. The Staff Liaison will coordinate with the Mayor and City Supervisor on the preparation of 
the agenda to determine whether items will be presented to a Committee or placed on the 
Council's regular agenda to be considered by the full City Council. Any item may be referred to 
the full Council by the Committee considering that item. 

6. The full City Council by majority vote may refer any item on its agenda to an appropriate 
Committee for further review and recommendation. 

7. Committee meetings are intended to allow regular attendance by City Council Committee 
members, as well as the Staff Liaison, staff, the Mayor and the City Supervisor, as necessary. In 
order to prevent inadvertent violations of the Open Public Meetings Act, attendance by non-
member Council members that will result in a quorum of the full City Council is prohibited. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 6 of 248 

exchange of information and discussions between City Council members, City staff, and the 
public. 

4. When appropriate, items may be considered by a City Council Committee before a final 
recommendation from the appropriate City Board or Commission (i.e., Planning Commission, 
Parks Board). 

5. City Council Committees do not replace the City Council as final decision makers on behalf 
of the full City Council. Council Committees make no staff direction on administrative matters, 
specific assignments, or work tasks. If Committee members seek additional information from an 
outside party or consultant resulting in additional cost to the City, approval to incur such cost 
must be approved by the full City Council. 

6. Any discussion or feedback expressed or received at a Committee meeting should not be 
construed or understood to be a decision by or for the City Council. Further, any 
recommendation the Committee may make to the City Council is based on information 
possessed by the Committee at the time the recommendation is made and may be revised or 
amended upon receipt by the Committee of additional or newer information. 

D. Operational Guidelines and Functional Structure 

I. City Council Committees consist of three Council members one of whom is the committee 
chair. The Mayor may attend and participate in all Committee meetings. 

2. No member of the City Council may serve on more than three Committees. 

3. Council Committees will meet at least quarterly. 

4. Council Committees have no delegated authority from the City Council and shall not take 
testimony from the public. 

5. The Staff Liaison will coordinate with the Mayor and City Supervisor on the preparation of 
the agenda to determine whether items will be presented to a Committee or placed on the 
Council's regular agenda to be considered by the full City Council. Any item may be referred to 
the full Council by the Committee considering that item. 

6. The full City Council by majority vote may refer any item on its agenda to an appropriate 
Committee for further review and recommendation. 

7. Committee meetings are intended to allow regular attendance by City Council Committee 
members, as well as the Staff Liaison, staff, the Mayor and the City Supervisor, as necessary. In 
order to prevent inadvertent violations of the Open Public Meetings Act, attendance by non-
member Council members that will result in a quorum of the full City Council is prohibited. 

exchange of information and discussions between City Council members, City staff, and the 
public. 

4. When appropriate, items may be considered by a City Council Committee before a final 
recommendation from the appropriate City Board or Commission (i.e., Planning Commission, 
Parks Board). 

5. City Council Committees do not replace the City Council as final decision makers on behalf 
of the full City Council. Council Committees make no staff direction on administrative matters, 
specific assignments, or work tasks. If Committee members seek additional information from an 
outside party or consultant resulting in additional cost to the City, approval to incur such cost 
must be approved by the full City Council. 

6. Any discussion or feedback expressed or received at a Committee meeting should not be 
construed or understood to be a decision by or for the City Council. Further, any 
recommendation the Committee may make to the City Council is based on information 
possessed by the Committee at the time the recommendation is made and may be revised or 
amended upon receipt by the Committee of additional or newer information. 

D. Operational Guidelines and Functional Structure 

I. City Council Committees consist of three Council members one of whom is the committee 
chair. The Mayor may attend and participate in all Committee meetings. 

2. No member of the City Council may serve on more than three Committees. 

3. Council Committees will meet at least quarterly. 

4. Council Committees have no delegated authority from the City Council and shall not take 
testimony from the public. 

5. The Staff Liaison will coordinate with the Mayor and City Supervisor on the preparation of 
the agenda to determine whether items will be presented to a Committee or placed on the 
Council's regular agenda to be considered by the full City Council. Any item may be referred to 
the full Council by the Committee considering that item. 

6. The full City Council by majority vote may refer any item on its agenda to an appropriate 
Committee for further review and recommendation. 

7. Committee meetings are intended to allow regular attendance by City Council Committee 
members, as well as the Staff Liaison, staff, the Mayor and the City Supervisor, as necessary. In 
order to prevent inadvertent violations of the Open Public Meetings Act, attendance by non-
member Council members that will result in a quorum of the full City Council is prohibited. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 6 of 248



8. The regular Council meeting agenda shall include an opportunity for Committee reports at 
which time any appointed Committee member may report to the Mayor and City Council on 
pertinent and timely issues before a Committee. 

E. City Liaison Role 
1. The City Supervisor serves as an advisor to each City Council Committee; however, each 
Committee has an identified staff liaison at the Director-level. The responsibilities of the Staff 
Liaison are as follows: 

a. Attend all meetings of the City Council Committee. 
b. Research information and prepare reports and correspondence as required for the 

Committee. 
c. Provide administrative support to the Committee, including distribution of 

documents to the Committee as required. 
d. Coordinate with the Committee chair to prepare agendas. 
e. Schedule meetings. 
f. Prepare Committee minutes within one week of the meeting and submit to the City 

Clerk for posting and distribution to the full City Council. 
g. Serve as the communication link between the Committee and City administration, 

City departments, and Council as appropriate. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 7 of 248 

8. The regular Council meeting agenda shall include an opportunity for Committee reports at 
which time any appointed Committee member may report to the Mayor and City Council on 
pertinent and timely issues before a Committee. 

E. City Liaison Role 
1. The City Supervisor serves as an advisor to each City Council Committee; however, each 
Committee has an identified staff liaison at the Director-level. The responsibilities of the Staff 
Liaison are as follows: 

a. Attend all meetings of the City Council Committee. 
b. Research information and prepare reports and correspondence as required for the 

Committee. 
c. Provide administrative support to the Committee, including distribution of 

documents to the Committee as required. 
d. Coordinate with the Committee chair to prepare agendas. 
e. Schedule meetings. 
f. Prepare Committee minutes within one week of the meeting and submit to the City 

Clerk for posting and distribution to the full City Council. 
g. Serve as the communication link between the Committee and City administration, 

City departments, and Council as appropriate. 

8. The regular Council meeting agenda shall include an opportunity for Committee reports at 
which time any appointed Committee member may report to the Mayor and City Council on 
pertinent and timely issues before a Committee. 

E. City Liaison Role 
1. The City Supervisor serves as an advisor to each City Council Committee; however, each 
Committee has an identified staff liaison at the Director-level. The responsibilities of the Staff 
Liaison are as follows: 

a. Attend all meetings of the City Council Committee. 
b. Research information and prepare reports and correspondence as required for the 

Committee. 
c. Provide administrative support to the Committee, including distribution of 

documents to the Committee as required. 
d. Coordinate with the Committee chair to prepare agendas. 
e. Schedule meetings. 
f. Prepare Committee minutes within one week of the meeting and submit to the City 

Clerk for posting and distribution to the full City Council. 
g. Serve as the communication link between the Committee and City administration, 

City departments, and Council as appropriate. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 7 of 248



City of Sedro-Woolley 
City Council Agenda Item 

TO: 

FROM: Doug Merriman, City Supervisor 

Mayor and City Council 

Agenda Item No. a-e 

Date: May 26, 2021 

Subject: Call to Order; Pledge of Allegiance; Roll Call; 
Approval of Agenda; Consent Agenda; 

a. CALL TO ORDER - The Mayor will call the May 26, 2021 Meeting to Order 

b. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE - The Mayor will lead the City Council and citizens in the 
Pledge of Allegiance to the United States of America. 

c. ROLL CALL - The Recorder will note those in attendance and those absent. 

 Ward 1 Councilmember Brendan McGoffin 

 Ward 2 Councilmember JoEllen Kesti 

 Ward 3 Councilmember Sarah Diamond 

 Ward 4 Councilmember Glenn Allen 

 Ward 5 Councilmember Chuck Owen 

 Ward 6 Councilmember Karl de Jong 

 At-Large Councilmember Kevin Loy 

d. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

e. CONSENT AGENDA - Mayor will ask for Council approval of Consent Agenda items. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 8 of 248 

City of Sedro-Woolley 
City Council Agenda Item 

TO: 

FROM: Doug Merriman, City Supervisor 

Mayor and City Council 

Agenda Item No. a-e 

Date: May 26, 2021 

Subject: Call to Order; Pledge of Allegiance; Roll Call; 
Approval of Agenda; Consent Agenda; 

a. CALL TO ORDER - The Mayor will call the May 26, 2021 Meeting to Order 

b. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE - The Mayor will lead the City Council and citizens in the 
Pledge of Allegiance to the United States of America. 

c. ROLL CALL - The Recorder will note those in attendance and those absent. 

 Ward 1 Councilmember Brendan McGoffin 

 Ward 2 Councilmember JoEllen Kesti 

 Ward 3 Councilmember Sarah Diamond 

 Ward 4 Councilmember Glenn Allen 

 Ward 5 Councilmember Chuck Owen 

 Ward 6 Councilmember Karl de Jong 

 At-Large Councilmember Kevin Loy 

d. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

e. CONSENT AGENDA - Mayor will ask for Council approval of Consent Agenda items. 

City of Sedro-Woolley 
City Council Agenda Item 

TO: 

FROM: Doug Merriman, City Supervisor 

Mayor and City Council 

Agenda Item No. a-e 

Date: May 26, 2021 

Subject: Call to Order; Pledge of Allegiance; Roll Call; 
Approval of Agenda; Consent Agenda; 

a. CALL TO ORDER - The Mayor will call the May 26, 2021 Meeting to Order 

b. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE - The Mayor will lead the City Council and citizens in the 
Pledge of Allegiance to the United States of America. 

c. ROLL CALL - The Recorder will note those in attendance and those absent. 

 Ward 1 Councilmember Brendan McGoffin 

 Ward 2 Councilmember JoEllen Kesti 

 Ward 3 Councilmember Sarah Diamond 

 Ward 4 Councilmember Glenn Allen 

 Ward 5 Councilmember Chuck Owen 

 Ward 6 Councilmember Karl de Jong 

 At-Large Councilmember Kevin Loy 

d. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

e. CONSENT AGENDA - Mayor will ask for Council approval of Consent Agenda items. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 8 of 248



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
REGULAR MEETING 

MAY 2 6 2024 

CITY OF SEDRO-WOOT .F,Y

City Council Study Session 
6:00 P.M. May 5th, 2021 

Via ZOOM meeting 

Call to Order 

Mayor Johnson called the council study session to order at 6:00 P.M. 

Roll Call 

:00 P.M. COUNCIL CI-IAJBER. 
AGENDA NO  ta-

Present: Mayor Julia Johnson, Council Members: Glenn Allen, Karl de Jong, JoEllen Kesti, 
Kevin Loy, Brendan McGoffin, and Chuck Owen. Staff Members: Fire Chief Frank Wagner, 
Police Chief Lin Tucker, Police Lieutenant Dan Mcllraith, Public Works Director Mark 
Freiberger, Public Works Supervisor Nathan Salseina, Solid Waste Supervisor Leo Jacobs, 
Director of Planning John Coleman, Director of Information Technology Bill Chambers, and 
City Supervisor / Finance Director Doug Merriman. 

Manager and Directors present 2022 Budget needs 

Fire Chief Frank Wagner—presented statistics regarding the growth in responses by the Fire 

Department/EMS over the past decade as well as the ongoing staffing efforts to keep residents 

and volunteers at an optimum level for adequate coverage at all times. Also planning on 

accepting the ambulance near the end of this year. It was ordered last year and takes about 300 

days from order to delivery. Schedule also calls for two more ambulances in the next 18 months 

so that will be in the works. 

Police Chief Lin Tucker/Lt Dan Mcllraith— presented information detailed in a couple of 

handouts and a packet which can be review on pages 3-7 of the "packet" link for tonight's 

meeting. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 9 of 248 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
REGULAR MEETING 

MAY 2 6 2024 

CITY OF SEDRO-WOOT .F,Y

City Council Study Session 
6:00 P.M. May 5th, 2021 

Via ZOOM meeting 

Call to Order 

Mayor Johnson called the council study session to order at 6:00 P.M. 

Roll Call 

:00 P.M. COUNCIL CI-IAJBER. 
AGENDA NO  ta-

Present: Mayor Julia Johnson, Council Members: Glenn Allen, Karl de Jong, JoEllen Kesti, 
Kevin Loy, Brendan McGoffin, and Chuck Owen. Staff Members: Fire Chief Frank Wagner, 
Police Chief Lin Tucker, Police Lieutenant Dan Mcllraith, Public Works Director Mark 
Freiberger, Public Works Supervisor Nathan Salseina, Solid Waste Supervisor Leo Jacobs, 
Director of Planning John Coleman, Director of Information Technology Bill Chambers, and 
City Supervisor / Finance Director Doug Merriman. 

Manager and Directors present 2022 Budget needs 

Fire Chief Frank Wagner—presented statistics regarding the growth in responses by the Fire 

Department/EMS over the past decade as well as the ongoing staffing efforts to keep residents 

and volunteers at an optimum level for adequate coverage at all times. Also planning on 

accepting the ambulance near the end of this year. It was ordered last year and takes about 300 

days from order to delivery. Schedule also calls for two more ambulances in the next 18 months 

so that will be in the works. 

Police Chief Lin Tucker/Lt Dan Mcllraith— presented information detailed in a couple of 

handouts and a packet which can be review on pages 3-7 of the "packet" link for tonight's 

meeting. 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
REGULAR MEETING 

MAY 2 6 2024 

CITY OF SEDRO-WOOT .F,Y

City Council Study Session 
6:00 P.M. May 5th, 2021 

Via ZOOM meeting 

Call to Order 

Mayor Johnson called the council study session to order at 6:00 P.M. 

Roll Call 

:00 P.M. COUNCIL CI-IAJBER. 
AGENDA NO  ta-

Present: Mayor Julia Johnson, Council Members: Glenn Allen, Karl de Jong, JoEllen Kesti, 
Kevin Loy, Brendan McGoffin, and Chuck Owen. Staff Members: Fire Chief Frank Wagner, 
Police Chief Lin Tucker, Police Lieutenant Dan Mcllraith, Public Works Director Mark 
Freiberger, Public Works Supervisor Nathan Salseina, Solid Waste Supervisor Leo Jacobs, 
Director of Planning John Coleman, Director of Information Technology Bill Chambers, and 
City Supervisor / Finance Director Doug Merriman. 

Manager and Directors present 2022 Budget needs 

Fire Chief Frank Wagner—presented statistics regarding the growth in responses by the Fire 

Department/EMS over the past decade as well as the ongoing staffing efforts to keep residents 

and volunteers at an optimum level for adequate coverage at all times. Also planning on 

accepting the ambulance near the end of this year. It was ordered last year and takes about 300 

days from order to delivery. Schedule also calls for two more ambulances in the next 18 months 

so that will be in the works. 

Police Chief Lin Tucker/Lt Dan Mcllraith— presented information detailed in a couple of 

handouts and a packet which can be review on pages 3-7 of the "packet" link for tonight's 

meeting. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 9 of 248



Public Works Director Mark Freiberger gave a slide presentation for the Wastewater Treatment 

Plant projects as well as the Public Works and Engineering departments in regards to the 

expected growth of the population, the Olmstead Park project, the Cascade Trail extension and 

all of the other projects that are in the works. This presentation can be reviewed at the link listed 

below all of the notes for this meeting. 

Public Works Supervisor Nathan Salseina presented information about the crew who take care 

of and maintain the streets, parks, storm water, cemetery, and city-owned facilities and how the 

increase in assets and land have really outpaced the size of the crew. Staffing needs are 

increasing and that is a very important part of the 2022 budget. The detailed slide presentation 

may be reviewed through the link at the bottom of these minutes, under the Operations Division 

Presentation. 

Solid Waste Supervisor Leo Jacobs spoke about the Solid Waste division as well as the fleet 

maintenance being handled by his staff. On a weekly schedule, they service 4000 residential and 

300 commercial customers for both garbage and recycling. With increase in subdivisions, all of 

the routes are at a maximum. Staffing will be the biggest challenge to keep up service with all of 

the additional residential units being developed and more customers coming in. This will require 

an additional staff member in 2022. Yard waste recycling is increasing by about 100 customers 

each year. So running that all in one day with two trucks is substantial. On the fleet side of 

things, orders for large equipment are running about one year out so in order to get a new 

garbage truck or bucket truck, it will take one year from ordering to receiving the truck so we 

need to think ahead and plan for that lead time. With the new operations building, that will be a 

better work space for the mechanic to be able to actually get the trucks in and work on them out 

of the rain and weather. Also need to start looking to hire a second mechanic in the near future. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 10 of 248 

Public Works Director Mark Freiberger gave a slide presentation for the Wastewater Treatment 

Plant projects as well as the Public Works and Engineering departments in regards to the 

expected growth of the population, the Olmstead Park project, the Cascade Trail extension and 

all of the other projects that are in the works. This presentation can be reviewed at the link listed 

below all of the notes for this meeting. 

Public Works Supervisor Nathan Salseina presented information about the crew who take care 

of and maintain the streets, parks, storm water, cemetery, and city-owned facilities and how the 

increase in assets and land have really outpaced the size of the crew. Staffing needs are 

increasing and that is a very important part of the 2022 budget. The detailed slide presentation 

may be reviewed through the link at the bottom of these minutes, under the Operations Division 

Presentation. 

Solid Waste Supervisor Leo Jacobs spoke about the Solid Waste division as well as the fleet 

maintenance being handled by his staff. On a weekly schedule, they service 4000 residential and 

300 commercial customers for both garbage and recycling. With increase in subdivisions, all of 

the routes are at a maximum. Staffing will be the biggest challenge to keep up service with all of 

the additional residential units being developed and more customers coming in. This will require 

an additional staff member in 2022. Yard waste recycling is increasing by about 100 customers 

each year. So running that all in one day with two trucks is substantial. On the fleet side of 

things, orders for large equipment are running about one year out so in order to get a new 

garbage truck or bucket truck, it will take one year from ordering to receiving the truck so we 

need to think ahead and plan for that lead time. With the new operations building, that will be a 

better work space for the mechanic to be able to actually get the trucks in and work on them out 

of the rain and weather. Also need to start looking to hire a second mechanic in the near future. 

Public Works Director Mark Freiberger gave a slide presentation for the Wastewater Treatment 

Plant projects as well as the Public Works and Engineering departments in regards to the 

expected growth of the population, the Olmstead Park project, the Cascade Trail extension and 

all of the other projects that are in the works. This presentation can be reviewed at the link listed 

below all of the notes for this meeting. 

Public Works Supervisor Nathan Salseina presented information about the crew who take care 

of and maintain the streets, parks, storm water, cemetery, and city-owned facilities and how the 

increase in assets and land have really outpaced the size of the crew. Staffing needs are 

increasing and that is a very important part of the 2022 budget. The detailed slide presentation 

may be reviewed through the link at the bottom of these minutes, under the Operations Division 

Presentation. 

Solid Waste Supervisor Leo Jacobs spoke about the Solid Waste division as well as the fleet 

maintenance being handled by his staff. On a weekly schedule, they service 4000 residential and 

300 commercial customers for both garbage and recycling. With increase in subdivisions, all of 

the routes are at a maximum. Staffing will be the biggest challenge to keep up service with all of 

the additional residential units being developed and more customers coming in. This will require 

an additional staff member in 2022. Yard waste recycling is increasing by about 100 customers 

each year. So running that all in one day with two trucks is substantial. On the fleet side of 

things, orders for large equipment are running about one year out so in order to get a new 

garbage truck or bucket truck, it will take one year from ordering to receiving the truck so we 

need to think ahead and plan for that lead time. With the new operations building, that will be a 

better work space for the mechanic to be able to actually get the trucks in and work on them out 

of the rain and weather. Also need to start looking to hire a second mechanic in the near future. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 10 of 248



Director of Building, Planning and Permits John Coleman—gave a slide presentation covering 

the impacts of population growth and how that impacts the building department by the increase 

in administering permits and the planning department working with land use permits and 

developing regulations for how development occurs in the city. The slide and details can be 

reviewed by following the link at the bottom of these minutes, and listed as: Building and 

Planning Presentation. 

Director of Information Technology Bill Chambers—prepared a slide presentation which is 

available for review utilizing the link listed below but spoke about the width and breadth of the 

IT department and is critical for the city's operations. IT touches every department and maintains 

the data, security and operation of systems city-wide. Touched on how the pandemic has 

highlighted the need for alternative ways of getting the work done. Technology initiatives will 

continue to focus on availability and mobility while maintaining security and compliance with 

things like HIPAA and other sensitive data. Please visit the link listed below to see the full slide 

presentation. 

City Supervisor/Finance Director Doug Merriman—gave a slide presentation covering financials 

and the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on the city and revenues as well as the impacts it 

had on businesses and the government itself. The full slide presentation can be reviewed by 

going to the following website and clicking the City Supervisor and Finance Presentation link 

under the heading "Additional Content" 

All referenced presentations can be found here, under the Additional Content area: 

https://www.ci.sedro-woolley.wa.us/agenda details T4 R507.php 

Links are listed by the department giving the presentation. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 11 of 248 

Director of Building, Planning and Permits John Coleman—gave a slide presentation covering 

the impacts of population growth and how that impacts the building department by the increase 

in administering permits and the planning department working with land use permits and 

developing regulations for how development occurs in the city. The slide and details can be 

reviewed by following the link at the bottom of these minutes, and listed as: Building and 

Planning Presentation. 

Director of Information Technology Bill Chambers—prepared a slide presentation which is 

available for review utilizing the link listed below but spoke about the width and breadth of the 

IT department and is critical for the city's operations. IT touches every department and maintains 

the data, security and operation of systems city-wide. Touched on how the pandemic has 

highlighted the need for alternative ways of getting the work done. Technology initiatives will 

continue to focus on availability and mobility while maintaining security and compliance with 

things like HIPAA and other sensitive data. Please visit the link listed below to see the full slide 

presentation. 

City Supervisor/Finance Director Doug Merriman—gave a slide presentation covering financials 

and the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on the city and revenues as well as the impacts it 

had on businesses and the government itself. The full slide presentation can be reviewed by 

going to the following website and clicking the City Supervisor and Finance Presentation link 

under the heading "Additional Content" 

All referenced presentations can be found here, under the Additional Content area: 

https://www.ci.sedro-woolley.wa.us/agenda details T4 R507.php 

Links are listed by the department giving the presentation. 

Director of Building, Planning and Permits John Coleman—gave a slide presentation covering 

the impacts of population growth and how that impacts the building department by the increase 

in administering permits and the planning department working with land use permits and 

developing regulations for how development occurs in the city. The slide and details can be 

reviewed by following the link at the bottom of these minutes, and listed as: Building and 

Planning Presentation. 

Director of Information Technology Bill Chambers—prepared a slide presentation which is 

available for review utilizing the link listed below but spoke about the width and breadth of the 

IT department and is critical for the city's operations. IT touches every department and maintains 

the data, security and operation of systems city-wide. Touched on how the pandemic has 

highlighted the need for alternative ways of getting the work done. Technology initiatives will 

continue to focus on availability and mobility while maintaining security and compliance with 

things like HIPAA and other sensitive data. Please visit the link listed below to see the full slide 

presentation. 

City Supervisor/Finance Director Doug Merriman—gave a slide presentation covering financials 

and the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on the city and revenues as well as the impacts it 

had on businesses and the government itself. The full slide presentation can be reviewed by 

going to the following website and clicking the City Supervisor and Finance Presentation link 

under the heading "Additional Content" 

All referenced presentations can be found here, under the Additional Content area: 

https://www.ci.sedro-woolley.wa.us/agenda details T4 R507.php 

Links are listed by the department giving the presentation. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 11 of 248



Adjournment 

Study Session was adjourned by Mayor Johnson at 8:12 P.M. 

ATTEST: APPROVED: 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 12 of 248 

Adjournment 

Study Session was adjourned by Mayor Johnson at 8:12 P.M. 

ATTEST: APPROVED: 

Adjournment 

Study Session was adjourned by Mayor Johnson at 8:12 P.M. 

ATTEST: APPROVED: 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 12 of 248



CITY OF SEDRO-WOOLLEY 

Regular Meeting of the City Council 
May 12th, 2021- 6:00 P.M. — Via ZOOM 

Call to Order 

Mayor Julia Johnson called the meeting to order at 6:00 P.M. 

Pledge of Allegiance 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
REGULAR MEETING 

MAY 2 6 202 ( 

:00 P.M. COUNCIL CHIVIBER. 
AGENDA NO  P -

Roll Call: Present: Mayor Julia Johnson, Councilmember JoEllen Kesti, Councilmember Sarah 
Diamond, Councilmember Glenn Allen, Councilmember Chuck Owen, Councilmember Karl de Jong, 
and Councilmember Kevin Loy. Councilmember Brendan McGoffin was absent at time of roll call. 

Late Items 

1. Ratification and Confirmation - Emergency Declaration for Emergency WWTP UV 
Disinfection System Bulb Replacement. 

2. Ratification and Confirmation - Sole Source Declaration WWTP UV Disinfection System Bulb 
Replacement 

Approval of Agenda 

Councilmember de Jong made a motion to approve the agenda including the two late items. 
Councilmember Kesti seconded. Motion carried (7-0). 

Consent Agenda 

1. Minutes from Previous Meeting 
2. Finance 
- Claim Checks #195250 to #195346 plus EFT's in the amount of $511,961.81 
- Payroll Checks #60358 to #60372 plus EFT's in the amount of $423,845.72 
3. Amendment No. 4 Jail Facility Use Agreement Skagit County Contract No. C201303 15 
4. Possible Bid Award, 2021 State Street Pump Station Rehab in the amount of $66,185.00 

Councilmember Owen made a motion to approve the consent agenda. Councilmember Allen seconded. 
Motion carried (7-0). 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 13 of 248 

CITY OF SEDRO-WOOLLEY 

Regular Meeting of the City Council 
May 12th, 2021- 6:00 P.M. — Via ZOOM 

Call to Order 

Mayor Julia Johnson called the meeting to order at 6:00 P.M. 

Pledge of Allegiance 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
REGULAR MEETING 

MAY 2 6 202 ( 

:00 P.M. COUNCIL CHIVIBER. 
AGENDA NO  P -

Roll Call: Present: Mayor Julia Johnson, Councilmember JoEllen Kesti, Councilmember Sarah 
Diamond, Councilmember Glenn Allen, Councilmember Chuck Owen, Councilmember Karl de Jong, 
and Councilmember Kevin Loy. Councilmember Brendan McGoffin was absent at time of roll call. 

Late Items 

1. Ratification and Confirmation - Emergency Declaration for Emergency WWTP UV 
Disinfection System Bulb Replacement. 

2. Ratification and Confirmation - Sole Source Declaration WWTP UV Disinfection System Bulb 
Replacement 

Approval of Agenda 

Councilmember de Jong made a motion to approve the agenda including the two late items. 
Councilmember Kesti seconded. Motion carried (7-0). 

Consent Agenda 

1. Minutes from Previous Meeting 
2. Finance 
- Claim Checks #195250 to #195346 plus EFT's in the amount of $511,961.81 
- Payroll Checks #60358 to #60372 plus EFT's in the amount of $423,845.72 
3. Amendment No. 4 Jail Facility Use Agreement Skagit County Contract No. C201303 15 
4. Possible Bid Award, 2021 State Street Pump Station Rehab in the amount of $66,185.00 

Councilmember Owen made a motion to approve the consent agenda. Councilmember Allen seconded. 
Motion carried (7-0). 

CITY OF SEDRO-WOOLLEY 

Regular Meeting of the City Council 
May 12th, 2021- 6:00 P.M. — Via ZOOM 

Call to Order 

Mayor Julia Johnson called the meeting to order at 6:00 P.M. 

Pledge of Allegiance 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
REGULAR MEETING 

MAY 2 6 202 ( 

:00 P.M. COUNCIL CHIVIBER. 
AGENDA NO  P -

Roll Call: Present: Mayor Julia Johnson, Councilmember JoEllen Kesti, Councilmember Sarah 
Diamond, Councilmember Glenn Allen, Councilmember Chuck Owen, Councilmember Karl de Jong, 
and Councilmember Kevin Loy. Councilmember Brendan McGoffin was absent at time of roll call. 

Late Items 

1. Ratification and Confirmation - Emergency Declaration for Emergency WWTP UV 
Disinfection System Bulb Replacement. 

2. Ratification and Confirmation - Sole Source Declaration WWTP UV Disinfection System Bulb 
Replacement 

Approval of Agenda 

Councilmember de Jong made a motion to approve the agenda including the two late items. 
Councilmember Kesti seconded. Motion carried (7-0). 

Consent Agenda 

1. Minutes from Previous Meeting 
2. Finance 
- Claim Checks #195250 to #195346 plus EFT's in the amount of $511,961.81 
- Payroll Checks #60358 to #60372 plus EFT's in the amount of $423,845.72 
3. Amendment No. 4 Jail Facility Use Agreement Skagit County Contract No. C201303 15 
4. Possible Bid Award, 2021 State Street Pump Station Rehab in the amount of $66,185.00 

Councilmember Owen made a motion to approve the consent agenda. Councilmember Allen seconded. 
Motion carried (7-0). 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 13 of 248



Staff Reports 

City Supervisor Doug Merriman — Covered finance and city items. Debbie Burton is the new Financial 
Director and is scheduled to start June. File financial reports with the state auditors by May 30th for 
2020. Labor negotiations are coming up starting in June for one of the bargaining units, AFSCME. 
Working with city attorney on Jail Use Agreement and a development agreement. 

Fire Chief Frank Wagner — discussed succession plan for filling both Assistant Chief positions. We 
have extended job offer to Jerry Gardner. His first day as Asst. Chief with the city will be June 16th

COVID-19 vaccinations are readily available at all local pharmacies with 12-15 year olds now eligible 
to get vaccinations. Volunteer Association is doing another testing process this Saturday and are 
looking for volunteers who live within city limits as well as residents. May 21St is open house for 100th
year anniversary and 11:00 a.m.-3:00 p.m. will be the open house and at 2:00p.m. will be the retirement 
ceremony for Chief Klinger after 40 years of service with the Fire Department. 

Mayor Johnson noted for the record that Councilmember Brendan McGoffin joined the meeting at 
6:11 P.M. 

Police Chief Lin Tucker — Rescue Task Force/Active Shooter training on May 17th. At the next city 
council meeting, Lt. Mcllraith will have presentation on embedded mental health/Social worker with the 
Sheriff's Office. Chief attending Next Steps Program to talk about things that have come down from the 
state legislature recently and how it affects law enforcement. Officer Rachel Humberg started this week 
and is in the process of getting her administrative paperwork done. Just waiting for uniforms and 
qualifying at the range and then she will be out on the road and getting to work. 

Planning Director John Coleman — processing lots of permits and working with planning commission to 
talk next week about design standards to address modifications to buildings. Tonight have 2 things on 
the agenda that will be discussed later in the meeting. 

Director of Public Works Mark Freiberger — WWTP electrical project is just about complete. BNSF has 
delivered the pilings at the John Liner Road. Monday 17th will begin pile driving on the project. Noise 
and vibrations will be noticeable. Any complaints should be directed to Public Works Director Mark 
Freiberger. Intersection going in at John Liner/McGarigal & Highway 9 to help with traffic. Asked for a 
motion to Authorize Mayor Johnson to sign a STBP Grant Application for the John Liner Road Arterial 
Improvements Project with a match commitment of $178,335 to be updated with the final application. 
Councilmember de Jong made motion and seconded by Councilmember Diamond. Motion carried (7-0). 
Also had emergency today. For several weeks now we have had challenges meeting the fecal 
disinfection levels. The final step is to have fluorescent lamps that disinfect the fecal matter to make it 
safe. Have been using 3rd party tubes and they were not lasting as long as the Trojan tubes did. Would 
like to get a resolution under late materials 1069-21 authorize MF to replace the current materials with 
better operating tubes at a cost of $31,136.87 including sales tax. Motion made by Allen, seconded by 
Kesti. Motion carried (7-0). 

IT Director Bill Chambers — Reported on the materials for the cemetery software management 
implementation. Glen has been working on workstation upgrades. Lots of setups for new hires. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 14 of 248 

Staff Reports 

City Supervisor Doug Merriman — Covered finance and city items. Debbie Burton is the new Financial 
Director and is scheduled to start June. File financial reports with the state auditors by May 30th for 
2020. Labor negotiations are coming up starting in June for one of the bargaining units, AFSCME. 
Working with city attorney on Jail Use Agreement and a development agreement. 

Fire Chief Frank Wagner — discussed succession plan for filling both Assistant Chief positions. We 
have extended job offer to Jerry Gardner. His first day as Asst. Chief with the city will be June 16th. 
COVID-19 vaccinations are readily available at all local pharmacies with 12-15 year olds now eligible 
to get vaccinations. Volunteer Association is doing another testing process this Saturday and are 
looking for volunteers who live within city limits as well as residents. May 21St is open house for 100th
year anniversary and 11:00 a.m.-3:00 p.m. will be the open house and at 2:00p.m. will be the retirement 
ceremony for Chief Klinger after 40 years of service with the Fire Department. 

Mayor Johnson noted for the record that Councilmember Brendan McGoffin joined the meeting at 
6:11 P.M. 

Police Chief Lin Tucker — Rescue Task Force/Active Shooter training on May 17th. At the next city 
council meeting, Lt. Mcllraith will have presentation on embedded mental health/Social worker with the 
Sheriff's Office. Chief attending Next Steps Program to talk about things that have come down from the 
state legislature recently and how it affects law enforcement. Officer Rachel Humberg started this week 
and is in the process of getting her administrative paperwork done. Just waiting for uniforms and 
qualifying at the range and then she will be out on the road and getting to work. 

Planning Director John Coleman — processing lots of permits and working with planning commission to 
talk next week about design standards to address modifications to buildings. Tonight have 2 things on 
the agenda that will be discussed later in the meeting. 

Director of Public Works Mark Freiberger — WWTP electrical project is just about complete. BNSF has 
delivered the pilings at the John Liner Road. Monday 17th will begin pile driving on the project. Noise 
and vibrations will be noticeable. Any complaints should be directed to Public Works Director Mark 
Freiberger. Intersection going in at John Liner/McGarigal & Highway 9 to help with traffic. Asked for a 
motion to Authorize Mayor Johnson to sign a STBP Grant Application for the John Liner Road Arterial 
Improvements Project with a match commitment of $178,335 to be updated with the final application. 
Councilmember de Jong made motion and seconded by Councilmember Diamond. Motion carried (7-0). 
Also had emergency today. For several weeks now we have had challenges meeting the fecal 
disinfection levels. The final step is to have fluorescent lamps that disinfect the fecal matter to make it 
safe. Have been using 3rd party tubes and they were not lasting as long as the Trojan tubes did. Would 
like to get a resolution under late materials 1069-21 authorize MF to replace the current materials with 
better operating tubes at a cost of $31,136.87 including sales tax. Motion made by Allen, seconded by 
Kesti. Motion carried (7-0). 

IT Director Bill Chambers — Reported on the materials for the cemetery software management 
implementation. Glen has been working on workstation upgrades. Lots of setups for new hires. 

Staff Reports 

City Supervisor Doug Merriman — Covered finance and city items. Debbie Burton is the new Financial 
Director and is scheduled to start June. File financial reports with the state auditors by May 30th for 
2020. Labor negotiations are coming up starting in June for one of the bargaining units, AFSCME. 
Working with city attorney on Jail Use Agreement and a development agreement. 

Fire Chief Frank Wagner — discussed succession plan for filling both Assistant Chief positions. We 
have extended job offer to Jerry Gardner. His first day as Asst. Chief with the city will be June 16th. 
COVID-19 vaccinations are readily available at all local pharmacies with 12-15 year olds now eligible 
to get vaccinations. Volunteer Association is doing another testing process this Saturday and are 
looking for volunteers who live within city limits as well as residents. May 21St is open house for 100th
year anniversary and 11:00 a.m.-3:00 p.m. will be the open house and at 2:00p.m. will be the retirement 
ceremony for Chief Klinger after 40 years of service with the Fire Department. 

Mayor Johnson noted for the record that Councilmember Brendan McGoffin joined the meeting at 
6:11 P.M. 

Police Chief Lin Tucker — Rescue Task Force/Active Shooter training on May 17th. At the next city 
council meeting, Lt. Mcllraith will have presentation on embedded mental health/Social worker with the 
Sheriff's Office. Chief attending Next Steps Program to talk about things that have come down from the 
state legislature recently and how it affects law enforcement. Officer Rachel Humberg started this week 
and is in the process of getting her administrative paperwork done. Just waiting for uniforms and 
qualifying at the range and then she will be out on the road and getting to work. 

Planning Director John Coleman — processing lots of permits and working with planning commission to 
talk next week about design standards to address modifications to buildings. Tonight have 2 things on 
the agenda that will be discussed later in the meeting. 

Director of Public Works Mark Freiberger — WWTP electrical project is just about complete. BNSF has 
delivered the pilings at the John Liner Road. Monday 17th will begin pile driving on the project. Noise 
and vibrations will be noticeable. Any complaints should be directed to Public Works Director Mark 
Freiberger. Intersection going in at John Liner/McGarigal & Highway 9 to help with traffic. Asked for a 
motion to Authorize Mayor Johnson to sign a STBP Grant Application for the John Liner Road Arterial 
Improvements Project with a match commitment of $178,335 to be updated with the final application. 
Councilmember de Jong made motion and seconded by Councilmember Diamond. Motion carried (7-0). 
Also had emergency today. For several weeks now we have had challenges meeting the fecal 
disinfection levels. The final step is to have fluorescent lamps that disinfect the fecal matter to make it 
safe. Have been using 3rd party tubes and they were not lasting as long as the Trojan tubes did. Would 
like to get a resolution under late materials 1069-21 authorize MF to replace the current materials with 
better operating tubes at a cost of $31,136.87 including sales tax. Motion made by Allen, seconded by 
Kesti. Motion carried (7-0). 

IT Director Bill Chambers — Reported on the materials for the cemetery software management 
implementation. Glen has been working on workstation upgrades. Lots of setups for new hires. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 14 of 248



City Attorney Nikki Thompson — Nothing of interest for the group this evening. 

Councilmember and Mayor's Reports 

Councilmember JoEllen Kesti — express thanks to John Coleman and planning commission. 

Councilmember Sarah Diamond —nothing to present at this time. 

Councilmember Chuck Owen — nothing at this time 

Councilmember Kevin Loy — working on skateboard exposition. Working on an operations manual with 
guidance. There are people that want to make it a success, Sept 2022 should be the startup date. 

Councilmember Glenn Allen — nothing at this time 

Councilmember Brendan McGoffin — nothing at this time 

Councilmember Karl de Jong — won't be at the next meeting. 

Mayor Johnson — Thanked council for coming together last Friday. Helps to get ready for the 2022 budget 
and gives lots of thoughts. Tomorrow afternoon, there will be another announcement from the Governor's 
office. Based on what he has to say, that will determine things like when the council will meet again in 
chambers, opening of city buildings and park facilities, and we are all looking forward to that. Also 
received a letter form the president of the Sedro-Woolley Museum, Dale Robertson, thanking the city and 
volunteers and to tell you about Nathan Salseina and Kevin Kesti and what gentlemen they are and how 
much we appreciate their work and help. Museum volunteers invite all out to see the new changes to the 
museum. 

Public Comments 

6:41 P.M.—opened for public comment. No requests were received. 
6:42 P.M.—closed public comment 

Public Hearings 

A request for approval of a Development Agreement between the City of Sedro-Woolley and Hodgin 
Corner, LLC for the scheduling and payment of General Facilities Charges. 
No written comments were received. No requests to make comments were made and Mayor Johnson 
closed comments at 6:43 P.M. 

Doug Merriman spoke about the Development Agreement stating it lays out obligations of both parties. It 
addresses how to time the payment of the general facility charges. Total amount to be paid is $686,000. 
Information is located on page 57 of the agenda packet. Developer would pay 5% of connection fees when 
they do first temporary occupancy permit. When they have 90 days of 90% occupancy and bank allows 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 15 of 248 

City Attorney Nikki Thompson — Nothing of interest for the group this evening. 

Councilmember and Mayor's Reports 

Councilmember JoEllen Kesti — express thanks to John Coleman and planning commission. 

Councilmember Sarah Diamond —nothing to present at this time. 

Councilmember Chuck Owen — nothing at this time 

Councilmember Kevin Loy — working on skateboard exposition. Working on an operations manual with 
guidance. There are people that want to make it a success, Sept 2022 should be the startup date. 

Councilmember Glenn Allen — nothing at this time 

Councilmember Brendan McGoffin — nothing at this time 

Councilmember Karl de Jong — won't be at the next meeting. 

Mayor Johnson — Thanked council for coming together last Friday. Helps to get ready for the 2022 budget 
and gives lots of thoughts. Tomorrow afternoon, there will be another announcement from the Governor's 
office. Based on what he has to say, that will determine things like when the council will meet again in 
chambers, opening of city buildings and park facilities, and we are all looking forward to that. Also 
received a letter form the president of the Sedro-Woolley Museum, Dale Robertson, thanking the city and 
volunteers and to tell you about Nathan Salseina and Kevin Kesti and what gentlemen they are and how 
much we appreciate their work and help. Museum volunteers invite all out to see the new changes to the 
museum. 

Public Comments 

6:41 P.M.—opened for public comment. No requests were received. 
6:42 P.M.—closed public comment 

Public Hearings 

A request for approval of a Development Agreement between the City of Sedro-Woolley and Hodgin 
Corner, LLC for the scheduling and payment of General Facilities Charges. 
No written comments were received. No requests to make comments were made and Mayor Johnson 
closed comments at 6:43 P.M. 

Doug Merriman spoke about the Development Agreement stating it lays out obligations of both parties. It 
addresses how to time the payment of the general facility charges. Total amount to be paid is $686,000. 
Information is located on page 57 of the agenda packet. Developer would pay 5% of connection fees when 
they do first temporary occupancy permit. When they have 90 days of 90% occupancy and bank allows 

City Attorney Nikki Thompson — Nothing of interest for the group this evening. 

Councilmember and Mayor's Reports 

Councilmember JoEllen Kesti — express thanks to John Coleman and planning commission. 

Councilmember Sarah Diamond —nothing to present at this time. 

Councilmember Chuck Owen — nothing at this time 

Councilmember Kevin Loy — working on skateboard exposition. Working on an operations manual with 
guidance. There are people that want to make it a success, Sept 2022 should be the startup date. 

Councilmember Glenn Allen — nothing at this time 

Councilmember Brendan McGoffin — nothing at this time 

Councilmember Karl de Jong — won't be at the next meeting. 

Mayor Johnson — Thanked council for coming together last Friday. Helps to get ready for the 2022 budget 
and gives lots of thoughts. Tomorrow afternoon, there will be another announcement from the Governor's 
office. Based on what he has to say, that will determine things like when the council will meet again in 
chambers, opening of city buildings and park facilities, and we are all looking forward to that. Also 
received a letter form the president of the Sedro-Woolley Museum, Dale Robertson, thanking the city and 
volunteers and to tell you about Nathan Salseina and Kevin Kesti and what gentlemen they are and how 
much we appreciate their work and help. Museum volunteers invite all out to see the new changes to the 
museum. 

Public Comments 

6:41 P.M.—opened for public comment. No requests were received. 
6:42 P.M.—closed public comment 

Public Hearings 

A request for approval of a Development Agreement between the City of Sedro-Woolley and Hodgin 
Corner, LLC for the scheduling and payment of General Facilities Charges. 
No written comments were received. No requests to make comments were made and Mayor Johnson 
closed comments at 6:43 P.M. 

Doug Merriman spoke about the Development Agreement stating it lays out obligations of both parties. It 
addresses how to time the payment of the general facility charges. Total amount to be paid is $686,000. 
Information is located on page 57 of the agenda packet. Developer would pay 5% of connection fees when 
they do first temporary occupancy permit. When they have 90 days of 90% occupancy and bank allows 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 15 of 248



them more money, they will then pay 45% of the fees for Step 2 and this has to occur within one year of 
Step 1. Third and final step is to pay the remaining 50% of the charges and that occurs again within one 
year of Step 2. So tonight we are looking for a motion to authorize the Mayor to sign the Development 
Agreement with Hodgin Corner, LLC based on these steps. Discussion followed between councilmembers 
and Doug Merriman. 

Motion was made by Councilmember McGoffin and seconded by Councilmember Loy. 
Motion carried 7-0. 

New Business 

1. Amendments to Regulations for Digital Signs ---John Coleman spoke about the regulations for 
digital signs in the City of Sedro-Woolley and, more specifically, the Central Business District. 
Does not change anything about residential zones. Digital signs are not allowed in any 
residential zones as well as nowhere on Metcalf or adjacent streets in the historical area of the 
Central Business District. Discussion and questions followed. Councilmember Kesti made a 
motion to approve ordinance 1982-21 Amendment to regulations for digital signs. Seconded by 
Councilmember Owen. Motion carried (7-0). 

2. Amendments to the Shoreline Master Program—John Coleman explained periodic amendments 
to the Shoreline Master Program. This is the City's rules for our shoreline jurisdictions. In 2016 
Sedro-Woolley basically created a whole new plan and this is just a brush up /update to the 
program to meet state standards within shoreline jurisdiction. This is just a first read to no rush to 
pass anything today. We will see this again at the next council meeting. 

Information Only Items 

1. Fire Department Monthly Incident Data — April 2021 
2. Sedro-Woolley Museum Volunteer Recognition 

Adjournment 

The meeting adjourned at 7:05 P.M. 

ATTEST: APPROVED: 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 16 of 248 

them more money, they will then pay 45% of the fees for Step 2 and this has to occur within one year of 
Step 1. Third and final step is to pay the remaining 50% of the charges and that occurs again within one 
year of Step 2. So tonight we are looking for a motion to authorize the Mayor to sign the Development 
Agreement with Hodgin Corner, LLC based on these steps. Discussion followed between councilmembers 
and Doug Merriman. 

Motion was made by Councilmember McGoffin and seconded by Councilmember Loy. 
Motion carried 7-0. 

New Business 

1. Amendments to Regulations for Digital Signs ---John Coleman spoke about the regulations for 
digital signs in the City of Sedro-Woolley and, more specifically, the Central Business District. 
Does not change anything about residential zones. Digital signs are not allowed in any 
residential zones as well as nowhere on Metcalf or adjacent streets in the historical area of the 
Central Business District. Discussion and questions followed. Councilmember Kesti made a 
motion to approve ordinance 1982-21 Amendment to regulations for digital signs. Seconded by 
Councilmember Owen. Motion carried (7-0). 

2. Amendments to the Shoreline Master Program—John Coleman explained periodic amendments 
to the Shoreline Master Program. This is the City's rules for our shoreline jurisdictions. In 2016 
Sedro-Woolley basically created a whole new plan and this is just a brush up /update to the 
program to meet state standards within shoreline jurisdiction. This is just a first read to no rush to 
pass anything today. We will see this again at the next council meeting. 

Information Only Items 

1. Fire Department Monthly Incident Data — April 2021 
2. Sedro-Woolley Museum Volunteer Recognition 

Adjournment 

The meeting adjourned at 7:05 P.M. 

ATTEST: APPROVED: 

them more money, they will then pay 45% of the fees for Step 2 and this has to occur within one year of 
Step 1. Third and final step is to pay the remaining 50% of the charges and that occurs again within one 
year of Step 2. So tonight we are looking for a motion to authorize the Mayor to sign the Development 
Agreement with Hodgin Corner, LLC based on these steps. Discussion followed between councilmembers 
and Doug Merriman. 

Motion was made by Councilmember McGoffin and seconded by Councilmember Loy. 
Motion carried 7-0. 

New Business 

1. Amendments to Regulations for Digital Signs ---John Coleman spoke about the regulations for 
digital signs in the City of Sedro-Woolley and, more specifically, the Central Business District. 
Does not change anything about residential zones. Digital signs are not allowed in any 
residential zones as well as nowhere on Metcalf or adjacent streets in the historical area of the 
Central Business District. Discussion and questions followed. Councilmember Kesti made a 
motion to approve ordinance 1982-21 Amendment to regulations for digital signs. Seconded by 
Councilmember Owen. Motion carried (7-0). 

2. Amendments to the Shoreline Master Program—John Coleman explained periodic amendments 
to the Shoreline Master Program. This is the City's rules for our shoreline jurisdictions. In 2016 
Sedro-Woolley basically created a whole new plan and this is just a brush up /update to the 
program to meet state standards within shoreline jurisdiction. This is just a first read to no rush to 
pass anything today. We will see this again at the next council meeting. 

Information Only Items 

1. Fire Department Monthly Incident Data — April 2021 
2. Sedro-Woolley Museum Volunteer Recognition 

Adjournment 

The meeting adjourned at 7:05 P.M. 

ATTEST: APPROVED: 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 16 of 248



0.6121144, 

City of Sedro-Woolley 
City Council Agenda Item 

TO: Mayor and City Council 

Agenda Item No. e-2 

Date: May 26, 2021 

Subject: Finance - Claims 

FROM: Jill Scott, Finance Manager 

Attached you will find the Claim Checks register proposed for 

payment for the period ending May 26, 2021. 

Motion to approve Claim Checks #195347 to #195434 plus EFT's in the 

amount of $908,970.16.

Motion to approve Payroll Checks #60373 to #60383 plus EFT's in the 

amount of $311,870.54.

If you have any comments, questions or concerns, please contact me 

for information during the working day at 360-855-1661. This will 

allow me to look up the invoices that are stored in our office. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 17 of 248 

0.6121144, 

City of Sedro-Woolley 
City Council Agenda Item 

TO: Mayor and City Council 

Agenda Item No. e.-2 

Date: May 26, 2021 

Subject: Finance - Claims 

FROM: Jill Scott, Finance Manager 

Attached you will find the Claim Checks register proposed for 

payment for the period ending May 26, 2021. 

Motion to approve Claim Checks #195347 to #195434 plus EFT's in the 

amount of $908,970.16.

Motion to approve Payroll Checks #60373 to #60383 plus EFT's in the 

amount of $311,870.54.

If you have any comments, questions or concerns, please contact me 

for information during the working day at 360-855-1661. This will 

allow me to look up the invoices that are stored in our office. 

0.6121144, 

City of Sedro-Woolley 
City Council Agenda Item 

TO: Mayor and City Council 

Agenda Item No. e.-2 

Date: May 26, 2021 

Subject: Finance - Claims 

FROM: Jill Scott, Finance Manager 

Attached you will find the Claim Checks register proposed for 

payment for the period ending May 26, 2021. 

Motion to approve Claim Checks #195347 to #195434 plus EFT's in the 

amount of $908,970.16.

Motion to approve Payroll Checks #60373 to #60383 plus EFT's in the 

amount of $311,870.54.

If you have any comments, questions or concerns, please contact me 

for information during the working day at 360-855-1661. This will 

allow me to look up the invoices that are stored in our office. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 17 of 248



CHECK REGISTER 
City Of Sedro-Woolley Time: 13:05:45 Date: 05/07/2021 

Trans Date 

05/07/2021 To: 05/07/2021 

Type Acct # Chk # Claimant Amount Memo 

Page: 1 

3913 05/07/2021 Claims 2 EFT WA St Dept Of Prof Licen 

001 - 521 20 41 040 - Intergov Svc-Gun Permits 234.00 

234.00 

001 Current Expense Fund 234.00 
  Claims: 
234.00 

CERTIFICATION: I, the undersigned, do hereby certify under penalty of perjury that the materials have 
been furnished, the services rendered or the labor performed as described, or that any advance payment 
is due and payable pursuant to a contract or is available as an option for full or partial fulfillment of a 
contractual obligation, and that the claim is a just, due and unpaid obligation against the City of Sedro 
Woolley, and that I am authorized to authenticate and certify to said claim. 

Finance Director Date 

Finance Committee Member Date 

Finance Committee Member Date 

Finance Committee Member Date 

234.00 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 18 of 248 

CHECK REGISTER 
City Of Sedro-Woolley Time: 13:05:45 Date: 05/07/2021 

Trans Date 

05/07/2021 To: 05/07/2021 

Type Acct # Chk # Claimant Amount Memo 

Page: 1 

3913 05/07/2021 Claims 2 EFT WA St Dept Of Prof Licen 

001 - 521 20 41 040 - Intergov Svc-Gun Permits 234.00 

234.00 

001 Current Expense Fund 234.00 
  Claims: 
234.00 

CERTIFICATION: I, the undersigned, do hereby certify under penalty of perjury that the materials have 
been furnished, the services rendered or the labor performed as described, or that any advance payment 
is due and payable pursuant to a contract or is available as an option for full or partial fulfillment of a 
contractual obligation, and that the claim is a just, due and unpaid obligation against the City of Sedro 
Woolley, and that I am authorized to authenticate and certify to said claim. 

Finance Director Date 

Finance Committee Member Date 

Finance Committee Member Date 

Finance Committee Member Date 

234.00 

CHECK REGISTER 
City Of Sedro-Woolley Time: 13:05:45 Date: 05/07/2021 

Trans Date 

05/07/2021 To: 05/07/2021 

Type Acct # Chk # Claimant Amount Memo 

Page: 1 

3913 05/07/2021 Claims 2 EFT WA St Dept Of Prof Licen 

001 - 521 20 41 040 - Intergov Svc-Gun Permits 234.00 

234.00 

001 Current Expense Fund 234.00 
  Claims: 
234.00 

CERTIFICATION: I, the undersigned, do hereby certify under penalty of perjury that the materials have 
been furnished, the services rendered or the labor performed as described, or that any advance payment 
is due and payable pursuant to a contract or is available as an option for full or partial fulfillment of a 
contractual obligation, and that the claim is a just, due and unpaid obligation against the City of Sedro 
Woolley, and that I am authorized to authenticate and certify to said claim. 

Finance Director Date 

Finance Committee Member Date 

Finance Committee Member Date 

Finance Committee Member Date 

234.00 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 18 of 248



CHECK REGISTER 
City Of Sedro-Woolley Time: 12:23:51 Date: 05/19/2021 

Trans Date Type Acct # 

4327 05/26/2021 Claims 2 

001 - 511 60 31 000 
001 - 514 23 49 010 
001 - 517 90 43 001 
001 - 517 90 43 001 
001 - 518 80 31 001 
001 - 518 80 41 000 
001 - 518 80 41 000 
001 - 518 80 41 000 
001 - 521 20 26 000 
001 - 521 20 26 000 
001 - 521 20 31 002 
001 - 521 20 31 002 
001 - 521 20 31 002 
001 - 521 20 31 002 
001 - 521 20 31 002 
001 - 521 20 31 002 
001 - 521 20 31 002 
001 - 521 20 31 002 
001 - 521 20 31 002 
001 - 521 20 31 002 
001 - 521 20 31 002 
001 - 521 20 31 002 
001 - 521 20 31 002 
001 - 521 20 31 002 
001 - 521 20 31 002 
001 - 521 20 31 002 
001 - 521 20 31 002 
001 - 521 20 31 002 
001 - 521 20 31 002 
001 - 521 20 31 002 
001 - 521 20 31 010 
001 - 521 20 31 010 
001 - 521 20 31 010 
001 - 521 20 48 000 
001 - 521 40 49 000 
001 - 521 40 49 000 
001 - 521 40 49 000 
001 - 521 40 49 000 
001 - 522 20 31 000 
001 - 522 20 31 010 
001 - 522 20 31 010 
001 - 522 20 35 000 
001 - 522 20 41 030 
001 - 522 21 31 010 
001 - 522 21 49 000 
001 - 522 21 49 020 
001 - 522 45 41 000 
001 - 524 20 49 010 
102 - 536 20 31 010 
412 - 537 50 48 000 
412 - 537 80 31 000 
103 - 542 30 31 010 
001 - 558 60 41 000 
101 - 576 80 31 003 
101 - 576 80 31 004 
101 - 576 80 35 000 
101 - 576 80 48 021 
001 - 594 21 64 000 
001 - 594 22 61 000 

594 Sedro-Woortek 58 64 000 

05/26/2021 To: 05/26/2021 

Chk # Claimant Amount Memo 

Page: 1 

EFT US Bank -- Purchase Cards 7,851.06 

- Supplies 12.00 
- Misc-Dues/Subscriptions 320.00 
- Employee Recognition 54.99 
- Employee Recognition 26.00 
- Repair & Maintenance Sup 211.86 
- Professional Services 850.73 
- Professional Services 40.66 
- Professional Services 2.03 
- Uniforms/Accessories 67.88 
- Uniforms/Accessories 175.95 
- Office/Operating Supplies 43.39 
- Office/Operating Supplies 12.99 
- Office/Operating Supplies 18.33 
- Office/Operating Supplies 23.86 
- Office/Operating Supplies 18.79 
- Office/Operating Supplies -28.20 
- Office/Operating Supplies 42.28 
- Office/Operating Supplies 10.76 
- Office/Operating Supplies 16.26 
- Office/Operating Supplies 44.56 
- Office/Operating Supplies 18.23 
- Office/Operating Supplies 26.58 
- Office/Operating Supplies 7.06 
- Office/Operating Supplies 24.94 
- Office/Operating Supplies 21.65 
- Office/Operating Supplies 303.74 
- Office/Operating Supplies 38.04 
- Office/Operating Supplies 9.75 
- Office/Operating Supplies 120.15 
- Office/Operating Supplies 10.30
- Printing/Publications 37.50 
- Printing/Publications 38.95 
- Printing/Publications 37.50 
- Repairs & Maintenance 183.35 
- Tuition/Registration 30.00 
- Tuition/Registration 50.00 
- Tuition/Registration 60.00 
- Tuition/Registration 545.00 
- Operating Supplies 301.54 
- Office Supplies 23.27 
- Office Supplies 13.00 
- Small Tools & Minor Equip 20.63 
- Investigation 11.00
- Office Supplies 12.00 
- Miscellaneous 80.91 
- Tuition & Registration 174.70 
- Advertising-Fire Prevent 110.00 
- Misc-Dues 50.00 
- Operating Supplies 86.33 
- Repairs/maint-equip 666.28 
- Operating Supplies 64.00
- Operating Supplies-Propane 18.26 
- Professional Services 289.32 
- Operating Sup - Parks Shop 301.54 
- Operating Sup - Comm Center 85.16 
- Small Tools & Minor Equip 847.84 
- Equipment 64.00 
- Machinery & Equipment 183.37 
- Fire Station 1.5 879.39 
- Office - -iiktbuncil Packet 40.66 Page 19 of 248 

CHECK REGISTER 
City Of Sedro-Woolley 

Trans Date Type Acct # 

Time: 12:23:51 Date: 05/19/2021 
05/26/2021 To: 05/26/2021 Page: 1 

Chk # Claimant Amount Memo 

4327 05/26/2021 Claims 2 EFT US Bank -- Purchase Cards 7,851.06 

001 - 511 60 31 000 - Supplies 12.00 
001 - 514 23 49 010 - Misc-Dues/Subscriptions 320.00 
001 - 517 90 43 001 - Employee Recognition 54.99 
001 - 517 90 43 001 - Employee Recognition 26.00 
001 - 518 80 31 001 - Repair & Maintenance Sup 211.86 
001 - 518 80 41 000 - Professional Services 850.73 
001 - 518 80 41 000 - Professional Services 40.66 
001 - 518 80 41 000 - Professional Services 2.03 
001 - 521 20 26 000 - Uniforms/Accessories 67.88 
001 - 521 20 26 000 - Uniforms/Accessories 175.95 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 43.39 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 12.99 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 18.33 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 23.86 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 18.79 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies -28.20 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 42.28 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 10.76 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 16.26 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 44.56 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 18.23 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 26.58 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 7.06 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 24.94 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 21.65 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 303.74 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 38.04 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 9.75 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 120.15 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 10.30 
001 - 521 20 31 010 - Printing/Publications 37.50 
001 - 521 20 31 010 - Printing/Publications 38.95 
001 - 521 20 31 010 - Printing/Publications 37.50 
001 - 521 20 48 000 - Repairs & Maintenance 183.35 
001 - 521 40 49 000 - Tuition/Registration 30.00 
001 - 521 40 49 000 - Tuition/Registration 50.00 
001 - 521 40 49 000 - Tuition/Registration 60.00 
001 - 521 40 49 000 - Tuition/Registration 545.00 
001 - 522 20 31 000 - Operating Supplies 301.54 
001 - 522 20 31 010 - Office Supplies 23.27 
001 - 522 20 31 010 - Office Supplies 13.00 
001 - 522 20 35 000 - Small Tools & Minor Equip 20.63 
001 - 522 20 41 030 - Investigation 11.00 
001 - 522 21 31 010 - Office Supplies 12.00 
001 - 522 21 49 000 - Miscellaneous 80.91 
001 - 522 21 49 020 - Tuition & Registration 174.70 
001 - 522 45 41 000 - Advertising-Fire Prevent 110.00 
001 - 524 20 49 010 - Misc-Dues 50.00 
102 - 536 20 31 010 - Operating Supplies 86.33 
412 - 537 50 48 000 - Repairs/maint-equip 666.28 
412 - 537 80 31 000 - Operating Supplies 64.00 
103 - 542 30 31 010 - Operating Supplies-Propane 18.26 
001 - 558 60 41 000 - Professional Services 289.32 
101 - 576 80 31 003 - Operating Sup - Parks Shop 301.54 
101 - 576 80 31 004 - Operating Sup - Comm Center 85.16 
101 - 576 80 35 000 - Small Tools & Minor Equip 847.84 
101 - 576 80 48 021 - Equipment 64.00 
001 - 594 21 64 000 - Machinery & Equipment 183.37 
001 - 594 22 61 000 - Fire Station 1.5 879.39 
001 - 594 58 64 000 - Office Equipment 40.66 

CHECK REGISTER 
City Of Sedro-Woolley 

Trans Date Type Acct # 

Time: 12:23:51 Date: 05/19/2021 
05/26/2021 To: 05/26/2021 Page: 1 

Chk # Claimant Amount Memo 

4327 05/26/2021 Claims 2 EFT US Bank -- Purchase Cards 7,851.06 

001 - 511 60 31 000 - Supplies 12.00 
001 - 514 23 49 010 - Misc-Dues/Subscriptions 320.00 
001 - 517 90 43 001 - Employee Recognition 54.99 
001 - 517 90 43 001 - Employee Recognition 26.00 
001 - 518 80 31 001 - Repair & Maintenance Sup 211.86 
001 - 518 80 41 000 - Professional Services 850.73 
001 - 518 80 41 000 - Professional Services 40.66 
001 - 518 80 41 000 - Professional Services 2.03 
001 - 521 20 26 000 - Uniforms/Accessories 67.88 
001 - 521 20 26 000 - Uniforms/Accessories 175.95 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 43.39 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 12.99 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 18.33 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 23.86 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 18.79 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies -28.20 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 42.28 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 10.76 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 16.26 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 44.56 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 18.23 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 26.58 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 7.06 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 24.94 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 21.65 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 303.74 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 38.04 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 9.75 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 120.15 
001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 10.30 
001 - 521 20 31 010 - Printing/Publications 37.50 
001 - 521 20 31 010 - Printing/Publications 38.95 
001 - 521 20 31 010 - Printing/Publications 37.50 
001 - 521 20 48 000 - Repairs & Maintenance 183.35 
001 - 521 40 49 000 - Tuition/Registration 30.00 
001 - 521 40 49 000 - Tuition/Registration 50.00 
001 - 521 40 49 000 - Tuition/Registration 60.00 
001 - 521 40 49 000 - Tuition/Registration 545.00 
001 - 522 20 31 000 - Operating Supplies 301.54 
001 - 522 20 31 010 - Office Supplies 23.27 
001 - 522 20 31 010 - Office Supplies 13.00 
001 - 522 20 35 000 - Small Tools & Minor Equip 20.63 
001 - 522 20 41 030 - Investigation 11.00 
001 - 522 21 31 010 - Office Supplies 12.00 
001 - 522 21 49 000 - Miscellaneous 80.91 
001 - 522 21 49 020 - Tuition & Registration 174.70 
001 - 522 45 41 000 - Advertising-Fire Prevent 110.00 
001 - 524 20 49 010 - Misc-Dues 50.00 
102 - 536 20 31 010 - Operating Supplies 86.33 
412 - 537 50 48 000 - Repairs/maint-equip 666.28 
412 - 537 80 31 000 - Operating Supplies 64.00 
103 - 542 30 31 010 - Operating Supplies-Propane 18.26 
001 - 558 60 41 000 - Professional Services 289.32 
101 - 576 80 31 003 - Operating Sup - Parks Shop 301.54 
101 - 576 80 31 004 - Operating Sup - Comm Center 85.16 
101 - 576 80 35 000 - Small Tools & Minor Equip 847.84 
101 - 576 80 48 021 - Equipment 64.00 
001 - 594 21 64 000 - Machinery & Equipment 183.37 
001 - 594 22 61 000 - Fire Station 1.5 879.39 
001 - 594 58 64 000 - Office Equipment 40.66 Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 19 of 248



CHECK REGISTER 
City Of Sedro-Woolley 

Trans Date Type 

05/26/2021 To: 05/26/2021 

Acct # Chk # Claimant 

Time: 12:23:51 Date: 05/19/2021 
Page: 2 

Amount Memo 

4253 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195347 A-1 Mobile Lock & Key 70.53 

101 - 576 80 48 014 - Winnie Houser Park 70.53 

4254 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195348 APSCO, LLC 529.65 

401 - 535 80 41 000 - Professional Services 529.65 

4255 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195349 Rick Severson, dba ATV Signs 606.52 

412 - 537 80 31 000 - Operating Supplies 173.60 
001 - 595 10 31 001 - Address & Street Signs-Reimb 432.92 

4256 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195350 AWC - Employee Benefit Trust 3,712.50 

001 - 521 20 27 000 - Retired Medical 3,712.50 

4257 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195351 Ackermann Electric Co. 119.57 

401 - 535 50 48 000 - Maintenance Contracts 119.57 

4258 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195352 All-Phase Electric Supply Co. 56.33 

101 - 576 80 31 006 - Operating Sup - City Hall 56.33 

4259 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195353 Amsterdam Printing & Lith 237.22 

001 - 514 23 31 000 - Supplies 237.22 

4260 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195354 Aramark Uniform Services 83.94 

401 - 535 80 49 000 - Laundry 14.17 
401 - 535 80 49 000 - Laundry 14.17 
401 - 535 80 49 000 - Laundry 14.17 
102 - 536 20 49 030 - Misc-laundry 1.05 
102 - 536 20 49 030 - Misc-laundry 1.04 
102 - 536 20 49 030 - Misc-laundry 1.04 
412 - 537 80 49 000 - Misc-Laundry 3.97 
412 - 537 80 49 000 - Misc-Laundry 3.98 
412 - 537 80 49 000 - Misc-Laundry 3.97 
103 - 542 30 49 000 - Misc-Laundry 8.79 
103 - 542 30 49 000 - Misc-Laundry 8.79 
103 - 542 30 49 000 - Misc-Laundry 8.80 

4261 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195355 Associated Petroluem Prod, Inc. 7,119.83 

001 - 518 20 32 000 - Auto Fuel 38.64 
001 - 521 20 32 000 - Auto Fuel 2,238.05 
001 - 522 20 32 000 - Auto Fuel/Diesel 1,280.93 
425 - 531 50 32 000 - Vehicle Fuel 97.74 
425 - 531 50 32 000 - Vehicle Fuel 93.49 
401 - 535 80 32 000 - Auto Fuel/Diesel 233.79 
412 - 537 80 32 000 - Auto Fuel/Diesel 108.34 
412 - 537 80 32 000 - Auto Fuel/Diesel 52.42 
412 - 537 80 32 000 - Auto Fuel/Diesel 1,234.12 
103 - 542 30 32 000 - Auto Fuel/Diesel 239.69 
103 - 542 30 32 000 - Auto Fuel/Diesel 144.98 
103 - 542 30 32 000 - Auto Fuel/Diesel 198.48 
101 - 576 80 32 000 - Auto Fuel/Diesel 1,033.35 
101 - 576 80 32 000 - Auto Fuel/Diesel 125.81 

4262 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195356 Avidex 36,270.81 

001 - 594 11 64 000 - Equipment (AV Upgrade) 36,270.81 

4263 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195357 Banner Bank 79,780.31 

105 - 592 72 81 105 - Interest On 2019 LTGO Bond 79,780.31 

4264 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195358 Bonner Electrical Contracting 2,993.02 
LLC 

101 - 594 76 31 000 - Buildings & Structures 2,993.02 

4265 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195359 Bound Tree Medical LLC 298.42 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 20 of 248 

CHECK REGISTER 
City Of Sedro-Woolley 

Trans Date Type 

05/26/2021 To: 05/26/2021 

Acct # Chk # Claimant 

Time: 12:23:51 Date: 05/19/2021 
Page: 2 

Amount Memo 

4253 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195347 A-1 Mobile Lock & Key 70.53 

101 - 576 80 48 014 - Winnie Houser Park 70.53 

4254 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195348 APSCO, LLC 529.65 

401 - 535 80 41 000 - Professional Services 529.65 

4255 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195349 Rick Severson, dba ATV Signs 606.52 

412 - 537 80 31 000 - Operating Supplies 173.60 
001 - 595 10 31 001 - Address & Street Signs-Reimb 432.92 

4256 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195350 AWC - Employee Benefit Trust 3,712.50 

001 - 521 20 27 000 - Retired Medical 3,712.50 

4257 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195351 Ackermann Electric Co. 119.57 

401 - 535 50 48 000 - Maintenance Contracts 119.57 

4258 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195352 All-Phase Electric Supply Co. 56.33 

101 - 576 80 31 006 - Operating Sup - City Hall 56.33 

4259 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195353 Amsterdam Printing & Lith 237.22 

001 - 514 23 31 000 - Supplies 237.22 

4260 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195354 Aramark Uniform Services 83.94 

401 - 535 80 49 000 - Laundry 14.17 
401 - 535 80 49 000 - Laundry 14.17 
401 - 535 80 49 000 - Laundry 14.17 
102 - 536 20 49 030 - Misc-laundry 1.05 
102 - 536 20 49 030 - Misc-laundry 1.04 
102 - 536 20 49 030 - Misc-laundry 1.04 
412 - 537 80 49 000 - Misc-Laundry 3.97 
412 - 537 80 49 000 - Misc-Laundry 3.98 
412 - 537 80 49 000 - Misc-Laundry 3.97 
103 - 542 30 49 000 - Misc-Laundry 8.79 
103 - 542 30 49 000 - Misc-Laundry 8.79 
103 - 542 30 49 000 - Misc-Laundry 8.80 

4261 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195355 Associated Petroluem Prod, Inc. 7,119.83 

001 - 518 20 32 000 - Auto Fuel 38.64 
001 - 521 20 32 000 - Auto Fuel 2,238.05 
001 - 522 20 32 000 - Auto Fuel/Diesel 1,280.93 
425 - 531 50 32 000 - Vehicle Fuel 97.74 
425 - 531 50 32 000 - Vehicle Fuel 93.49 
401 - 535 80 32 000 - Auto Fuel/Diesel 233.79 
412 - 537 80 32 000 - Auto Fuel/Diesel 108.34 
412 - 537 80 32 000 - Auto Fuel/Diesel 52.42 
412 - 537 80 32 000 - Auto Fuel/Diesel 1,234.12 
103 - 542 30 32 000 - Auto Fuel/Diesel 239.69 
103 - 542 30 32 000 - Auto Fuel/Diesel 144.98 
103 - 542 30 32 000 - Auto Fuel/Diesel 198.48 
101 - 576 80 32 000 - Auto Fuel/Diesel 1,033.35 
101 - 576 80 32 000 - Auto Fuel/Diesel 125.81 

4262 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195356 Avidex 36,270.81 

001 - 594 11 64 000 - Equipment (AV Upgrade) 36,270.81 

4263 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195357 Banner Bank 79,780.31 

105 - 592 72 81 105 - Interest On 2019 LTGO Bond 79,780.31 

4264 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195358 Bonner Electrical Contracting 2,993.02 
LLC 

101 - 594 76 31 000 - Buildings & Structures 2,993.02 

4265 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195359 Bound Tree Medical LLC 298.42 

CHECK REGISTER 
City Of Sedro-Woolley 

Trans Date Type 

05/26/2021 To: 05/26/2021 

Acct # Chk # Claimant 

Time: 12:23:51 Date: 05/19/2021 
Page: 2 

Amount Memo 

4253 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195347 A-1 Mobile Lock & Key 70.53 

101 - 576 80 48 014 - Winnie Houser Park 70.53 

4254 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195348 APSCO, LLC 529.65 

401 - 535 80 41 000 - Professional Services 529.65 

4255 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195349 Rick Severson, dba ATV Signs 606.52 

412 - 537 80 31 000 - Operating Supplies 173.60 
001 - 595 10 31 001 - Address & Street Signs-Reimb 432.92 

4256 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195350 AWC - Employee Benefit Trust 3,712.50 

001 - 521 20 27 000 - Retired Medical 3,712.50 

4257 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195351 Ackermann Electric Co. 119.57 

401 - 535 50 48 000 - Maintenance Contracts 119.57 

4258 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195352 All-Phase Electric Supply Co. 56.33 

101 - 576 80 31 006 - Operating Sup - City Hall 56.33 

4259 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195353 Amsterdam Printing & Lith 237.22 

001 - 514 23 31 000 - Supplies 237.22 

4260 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195354 Aramark Uniform Services 83.94 

401 - 535 80 49 000 - Laundry 14.17 
401 - 535 80 49 000 - Laundry 14.17 
401 - 535 80 49 000 - Laundry 14.17 
102 - 536 20 49 030 - Misc-laundry 1.05 
102 - 536 20 49 030 - Misc-laundry 1.04 
102 - 536 20 49 030 - Misc-laundry 1.04 
412 - 537 80 49 000 - Misc-Laundry 3.97 
412 - 537 80 49 000 - Misc-Laundry 3.98 
412 - 537 80 49 000 - Misc-Laundry 3.97 
103 - 542 30 49 000 - Misc-Laundry 8.79 
103 - 542 30 49 000 - Misc-Laundry 8.79 
103 - 542 30 49 000 - Misc-Laundry 8.80 

4261 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195355 Associated Petroluem Prod, Inc. 7,119.83 

001 - 518 20 32 000 - Auto Fuel 38.64 
001 - 521 20 32 000 - Auto Fuel 2,238.05 
001 - 522 20 32 000 - Auto Fuel/Diesel 1,280.93 
425 - 531 50 32 000 - Vehicle Fuel 97.74 
425 - 531 50 32 000 - Vehicle Fuel 93.49 
401 - 535 80 32 000 - Auto Fuel/Diesel 233.79 
412 - 537 80 32 000 - Auto Fuel/Diesel 108.34 
412 - 537 80 32 000 - Auto Fuel/Diesel 52.42 
412 - 537 80 32 000 - Auto Fuel/Diesel 1,234.12 
103 - 542 30 32 000 - Auto Fuel/Diesel 239.69 
103 - 542 30 32 000 - Auto Fuel/Diesel 144.98 
103 - 542 30 32 000 - Auto Fuel/Diesel 198.48 
101 - 576 80 32 000 - Auto Fuel/Diesel 1,033.35 
101 - 576 80 32 000 - Auto Fuel/Diesel 125.81 

4262 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195356 Avidex 36,270.81 

001 - 594 11 64 000 - Equipment (AV Upgrade) 36,270.81 

4263 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195357 Banner Bank 79,780.31 

105 - 592 72 81 105 - Interest On 2019 LTGO Bond 79,780.31 

4264 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195358 Bonner Electrical Contracting 2,993.02 
LLC 

101 - 594 76 31 000 - Buildings & Structures 2,993.02 

4265 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195359 Bound Tree Medical LLC 298.42 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 20 of 248



CHECK REGISTER 
City Of Sedro-Woolley 

Trans Date Type 

05/26/2021 To: 05/26/2021 

Acct # Chk # Claimant 

Time: 12:23:51 Date: 05/19/2021 
Page: 3 

Amount Memo 

001 - 522 21 31 000 - Operating Supplies - Medical 298.42 

4266 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195360 Brown & Caldwell 1,463.05 

401 - 594 35 63 000 - Engineering Services 1,463.05 

4267 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195361 Cardinal Health 112 LLC 23.74 

001 - 522 21 31 000 - Operating Supplies - Medical 23.74 

4268 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195362 Carletti Architects Ps 42,977.25 

401 - 594 35 63 000 - Engineering Services 12,636.10 
505 - 594 48 60 000 - Eng - PW Building 30,341.15 

4269 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195363 Cascade Natural Gas Corp 1,566.79 

001 - 521 20 47 000 - Public Utilities 29.12 
001 - 522 50 47 000 - Public Utilities 94.69 
401 - 535 80 47 000 - Public Utilities 229.28 
412 - 537 80 47 000 - Public Utilities 50.66 
103 - 542 63 47 000 - Public Utilities 13.83 
101 - 576 80 47 010 - Community Center 29.12 
101 - 576 80 47 020 - Senior Center 138.70 
101 - 576 80 47 050 - Hammer Square 18.33 
101 - 576 80 47 070 - City Hall 963.06 

4270 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195364 Central Welding Supply 204.90 

001 - 522 21 31 000 - Operating Supplies - Medical 204.90 

4271 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195365 Chuckanut Valley Veterinary 249.37 
Clinic 

001 - 521 20 41 020 - Veterinary Services 249.37 

4272 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195366 Code Publishing LLC 630.00 

001 - 511 30 34 000 - Code Book 630.00 

4273 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195367 Comcast 165.14 

101 - 576 80 47 020 - Senior Center 165.14 

4274 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195368 Databar, Inc 2,505.52 

425 - 531 50 42 010 - Postage 100.22 
401 - 535 80 42 015 - Postage 1,628.59 
412 - 537 80 42 010 - Postage 776.71 

4275 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195369 Dept Of Commerce 609,900.00 

410 - 591 35 72 000 - Principal Payment - PWTF 202,081.90 
410 - 591 35 72 000 - Principal Payment - PWTF 38,277.87 
410 - 591 35 72 000 - Principal Payment - PWTF 350,000.00 
410 - 592 35 83 410 - Interest Payment - PWTF 8,083.28 
410 - 592 35 83 410 - Interest Payment - PWTF 956.95 
410 - 592 35 83 410 - Interest Payment - PWTF 10,500.00 

4276 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195370 E 8t E Lumber, Inc. 3,839.00 

001 - 522 50 48 020 - Repair/Maint-Garage 10.56 
401 - 535 50 48 050 - Maint Of General Equip 35.35 
401 - 535 80 31 000 - Office Supplies 6.23 
412 - 537 80 31 000 - Operating Supplies 49.63 
412 - 537 80 31 000 - Operating Supplies 28.71 
412 - 537 80 31 000 - Operating Supplies 3.12 
101 - 576 80 31 001 - Operating Sup - Riverfront 32.55 
101 - 576 80 31 009 - Operating Sup - Bingham Park 16.26 
101 - 576 80 31 012 - Operating Sup - Hammer 29.67 
101 - 576 80 32 000 - Auto Fuel/Diesel 24.94 
101 - 576 80 48 003 - Bingham Caretaker 16.86 
101 - 576 80 48 016 - City Hall 61.43 
101 - 576 80 48 016 - City Hall 211.58 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 21 of 248 

CHECK REGISTER 
City Of Sedro-Woolley 

Trans Date Type 

05/26/2021 To: 05/26/2021 

Acct # Chk # Claimant 

Time: 12:23:51 Date: 05/19/2021 
Page: 3 

Amount Memo 

001 - 522 21 31 000 - Operating Supplies - Medical 298.42 

4266 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195360 Brown & Caldwell 1,463.05 

401 - 594 35 63 000 - Engineering Services 1,463.05 

4267 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195361 Cardinal Health 112 LLC 23.74 

001 - 522 21 31 000 - Operating Supplies - Medical 23.74 

4268 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195362 Carletti Architects Ps 42,977.25 

401 - 594 35 63 000 - Engineering Services 12,636.10 
505 - 594 48 60 000 - Eng - PW Building 30,341.15 

4269 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195363 Cascade Natural Gas Corp 1,566.79 

001 - 521 20 47 000 - Public Utilities 29.12 
001 - 522 50 47 000 - Public Utilities 94.69 
401 - 535 80 47 000 - Public Utilities 229.28 
412 - 537 80 47 000 - Public Utilities 50.66 
103 - 542 63 47 000 - Public Utilities 13.83 
101 - 576 80 47 010 - Community Center 29.12 
101 - 576 80 47 020 - Senior Center 138.70 
101 - 576 80 47 050 - Hammer Square 18.33 
101 - 576 80 47 070 - City Hall 963.06 

4270 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195364 Central Welding Supply 204.90 

001 - 522 21 31 000 - Operating Supplies - Medical 204.90 

4271 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195365 Chuckanut Valley Veterinary 249.37 
Clinic 

001 - 521 20 41 020 - Veterinary Services 249.37 

4272 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195366 Code Publishing LLC 630.00 

001 - 511 30 34 000 - Code Book 630.00 

4273 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195367 Comcast 165.14 

101 - 576 80 47 020 - Senior Center 165.14 

4274 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195368 Databar, Inc 2,505.52 

425 - 531 50 42 010 - Postage 100.22 
401 - 535 80 42 015 - Postage 1,628.59 
412 - 537 80 42 010 - Postage 776.71 

4275 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195369 Dept Of Commerce 609,900.00 

410 - 591 35 72 000 - Principal Payment - PWTF 202,081.90 
410 - 591 35 72 000 - Principal Payment - PWTF 38,277.87 
410 - 591 35 72 000 - Principal Payment - PWTF 350,000.00 
410 - 592 35 83 410 - Interest Payment - PWTF 8,083.28 
410 - 592 35 83 410 - Interest Payment - PWTF 956.95 
410 - 592 35 83 410 - Interest Payment - PWTF 10,500.00 

4276 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195370 E 8t E Lumber, Inc. 3,839.00 

001 - 522 50 48 020 - Repair/Maint-Garage 10.56 
401 - 535 50 48 050 - Maint Of General Equip 35.35 
401 - 535 80 31 000 - Office Supplies 6.23 
412 - 537 80 31 000 - Operating Supplies 49.63 
412 - 537 80 31 000 - Operating Supplies 28.71 
412 - 537 80 31 000 - Operating Supplies 3.12 
101 - 576 80 31 001 - Operating Sup - Riverfront 32.55 
101 - 576 80 31 009 - Operating Sup - Bingham Park 16.26 
101 - 576 80 31 012 - Operating Sup - Hammer 29.67 
101 - 576 80 32 000 - Auto Fuel/Diesel 24.94 
101 - 576 80 48 003 - Bingham Caretaker 16.86 
101 - 576 80 48 016 - City Hall 61.43 
101 - 576 80 48 016 - City Hall 211.58 

CHECK REGISTER 
City Of Sedro-Woolley 

Trans Date Type 

05/26/2021 To: 05/26/2021 

Acct # Chk # Claimant 

Time: 12:23:51 Date: 05/19/2021 
Page: 3 

Amount Memo 

001 - 522 21 31 000 - Operating Supplies - Medical 298.42 

4266 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195360 Brown & Caldwell 1,463.05 

401 - 594 35 63 000 - Engineering Services 1,463.05 

4267 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195361 Cardinal Health 112 LLC 23.74 

001 - 522 21 31 000 - Operating Supplies - Medical 23.74 

4268 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195362 Carletti Architects Ps 42,977.25 

401 - 594 35 63 000 - Engineering Services 12,636.10 
505 - 594 48 60 000 - Eng - PW Building 30,341.15 

4269 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195363 Cascade Natural Gas Corp 1,566.79 

001 - 521 20 47 000 - Public Utilities 29.12 
001 - 522 50 47 000 - Public Utilities 94.69 
401 - 535 80 47 000 - Public Utilities 229.28 
412 - 537 80 47 000 - Public Utilities 50.66 
103 - 542 63 47 000 - Public Utilities 13.83 
101 - 576 80 47 010 - Community Center 29.12 
101 - 576 80 47 020 - Senior Center 138.70 
101 - 576 80 47 050 - Hammer Square 18.33 
101 - 576 80 47 070 - City Hall 963.06 

4270 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195364 Central Welding Supply 204.90 

001 - 522 21 31 000 - Operating Supplies - Medical 204.90 

4271 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195365 Chuckanut Valley Veterinary 249.37 
Clinic 

001 - 521 20 41 020 - Veterinary Services 249.37 

4272 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195366 Code Publishing LLC 630.00 

001 - 511 30 34 000 - Code Book 630.00 

4273 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195367 Comcast 165.14 

101 - 576 80 47 020 - Senior Center 165.14 

4274 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195368 Databar, Inc 2,505.52 

425 - 531 50 42 010 - Postage 100.22 
401 - 535 80 42 015 - Postage 1,628.59 
412 - 537 80 42 010 - Postage 776.71 

4275 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195369 Dept Of Commerce 609,900.00 

410 - 591 35 72 000 - Principal Payment - PWTF 202,081.90 
410 - 591 35 72 000 - Principal Payment - PWTF 38,277.87 
410 - 591 35 72 000 - Principal Payment - PWTF 350,000.00 
410 - 592 35 83 410 - Interest Payment - PWTF 8,083.28 
410 - 592 35 83 410 - Interest Payment - PWTF 956.95 
410 - 592 35 83 410 - Interest Payment - PWTF 10,500.00 

4276 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195370 E 8t E Lumber, Inc. 3,839.00 

001 - 522 50 48 020 - Repair/Maint-Garage 10.56 
401 - 535 50 48 050 - Maint Of General Equip 35.35 
401 - 535 80 31 000 - Office Supplies 6.23 
412 - 537 80 31 000 - Operating Supplies 49.63 
412 - 537 80 31 000 - Operating Supplies 28.71 
412 - 537 80 31 000 - Operating Supplies 3.12 
101 - 576 80 31 001 - Operating Sup - Riverfront 32.55 
101 - 576 80 31 009 - Operating Sup - Bingham Park 16.26 
101 - 576 80 31 012 - Operating Sup - Hammer 29.67 
101 - 576 80 32 000 - Auto Fuel/Diesel 24.94 
101 - 576 80 48 003 - Bingham Caretaker 16.86 
101 - 576 80 48 016 - City Hall 61.43 
101 - 576 80 48 016 - City Hall 211.58 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 21 of 248



CHECK REGISTER 
City Of Sedro-Woolley 

Trans Date Type 

05/26/2021 To: 05/26/2021 

Acct # Chk # Claimant 

Time: 12:23:51 Date: 05/19/2021 
Page: 4 

Amount Memo 

101 - 576 
101 - 576 
101 - 576 
001 - 594 
001 - 594 
101 - 594 

80 
80 
80 
22 
22 
76 

48 
48 
48 
61 
61 
61 

016 -City Hall 7.28 
016 - City Hall 83.51 
019 - Skatepark 144.32 
000 -Fire Station 1.5 1,875.09 
000 -Fire Station 1.5 -46.09 
002 - Houser Park 1,248.00 

4277 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195371 Emerald Services, Inc. 250.38 

412 - 537 60 47 011 - Site Recycling Disposal 250.38 

4278 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195372 Enterprise Office Systems, Inc. 169.35 

001 - 512 50 31 000 - Supplies 122.56 
001 - 514 23 31 000 - Supplies 46.79 

4279 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195373 Fastenal Company 1,416.62 

401 - 535 50 48 050 - Maint Of General Equip 245.18 
401 - 535 80 31 010 - Operating Supplies 137.65 
401 - 535 80 31 010 - Operating Supplies 368.41 
401 - 535 80 35 010 - Safety Equipment 171.43 
412 - 537 80 31 000 - Operating Supplies 38.65 
412 - 537 80 31 000 - Operating Supplies 171.63 
103 - 542 30 31 000 - Operating Supplies 141.23 
103 - 542 30 31 000 - Operating Supplies 142.44 

4280 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195374 Generator Services NW, LLC 2,044.10 

001 - 521 20 48 000 - Repairs & Maintenance 119.35 
001 - 522 50 48 030 - Repair/Maint-Station 154.05 
425 - 531 50 48 000 - Repairs/Maintenance 119.35 
401 - 535 50 48 000 - Maintenance Contracts 1,532.00 
101 - 576 80 48 016 - City Hall 119.35 

4281 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195375 Humane Society Of Skagit 132.00 

001 - 521 20 41 021 - Humane Society 132.00 

4282 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195376 IWorQ Systems Inc. 4,200.00 

001 - 524 20 41 000 - Professional Services 400.00 
001 - 524 20 41 000 - Professional Services 1,000.00 
001 - 558 60 41 000 - Professional Services 400.00 
001 - 558 60 41 000 - Professional Services 1,000.00 
001 - 595 10 49 020 - Software Licenses/Support 400.00 
001 - 595 10 49 020 - Software Licenses/Support 1,000.00 

4283 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195377 Ideal Rent All 43.48 

001 - 594 22 61 000 - Fire Station 1.5 43.48 

4284 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195378 Instrument Technologies, Inc 130.00 

001 - 521 20 41 001 - Professional Services 130.00 

4285 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195379 L N Curtis 8c Sons 2,723.34 

001 - 521 20 26 000 - Uniforms/Accessories 188.74 
001 - 521 20 26 000 - Uniforms/Accessories 67.20 
001 - 521 20 26 000 - Uniforms/Accessories 114.86 
001 - 521 20 26 000 - Uniforms/Accessories 55.53 
001 - 521 20 26 000 - Uniforms/Accessories 180.15 
001 - 521 20 26 000 - Uniforms/Accessories 263.94 
001 - 521 20 26 020 - Balistic Vests 906.95 
001 - 521 20 26 020 - Balistic Vests 945.97 

4286 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195380 Les Schwab Tire Center 1,487.20 

001 - 521 20 48 010 - Repair & Maint - Auto 1,240.90 
412 - 537 50 48 000 - Repairs/maint-equip 34.72 
412 - 537 60 47 011 - Site Recycling Disposal 157.33 
412 - 537 60 47 011 - Site Recycling Disposal 54.25 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 22 of 248 

CHECK REGISTER 
City Of Sedro-Woolley 

Trans Date Type 

05/26/2021 To: 05/26/2021 

Acct # Chk # Claimant 

Time: 12:23:51 Date: 05/19/2021 
Page: 4 

Amount Memo 

101 - 576 
101 - 576 
101 - 576 
001 - 594 
001 - 594 
101 - 594 

80 
80 
80 
22 
22 
76 

48 
48 
48 
61 
61 
61 

016 - City Hall 7.28 
016 - City Hall 83.51 
019 - Skatepark 144.32 
000 - Fire Station 1.5 1,875.09 
000 - Fire Station 1.5 -46.09 
002 - Houser Park 1,248.00 

4277 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195371 Emerald Services, Inc. 250.38 

412 - 537 60 47 011 - Site Recycling Disposal 250.38 

4278 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195372 Enterprise Office Systems, Inc. 169.35 

001 - 512 50 31 000 - Supplies 122.56 
001 - 514 23 31 000 - Supplies 46.79 

4279 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195373 Fastenal Company 1,416.62 

401 - 535 50 48 050 - Maint Of General Equip 245.18 
401 - 535 80 31 010 - Operating Supplies 137.65 
401 - 535 80 31 010 - Operating Supplies 368.41 
401 - 535 80 35 010 - Safety Equipment 171.43 
412 - 537 80 31 000 - Operating Supplies 38.65 
412 - 537 80 31 000 - Operating Supplies 171.63 
103 - 542 30 31 000 - Operating Supplies 141.23 
103 - 542 30 31 000 - Operating Supplies 142.44 

4280 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195374 Generator Services NW, LLC 2,044.10 

001 - 521 20 48 000 - Repairs & Maintenance 119.35 
001 - 522 50 48 030 - Repair/Maint-Station 154.05 
425 - 531 50 48 000 - Repairs/Maintenance 119.35 
401 - 535 50 48 000 - Maintenance Contracts 1,532.00 
101 - 576 80 48 016 - City Hall 119.35 

4281 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195375 Humane Society Of Skagit 132.00 

001 - 521 20 41 021 - Humane Society 132.00 

4282 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195376 IWorQ Systems Inc. 4,200.00 

001 - 524 20 41 000 - Professional Services 400.00 
001 - 524 20 41 000 - Professional Services 1,000.00 
001 - 558 60 41 000 - Professional Services 400.00 
001 - 558 60 41 000 - Professional Services 1,000.00 
001 - 595 10 49 020 - Software Licenses/Support 400.00 
001 - 595 10 49 020 - Software Licenses/Support 1,000.00 

4283 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195377 Ideal Rent All 43.48 

001 - 594 22 61 000 - Fire Station 1.5 43.48 

4284 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195378 Instrument Technologies, Inc 130.00 

001 - 521 20 41 001 - Professional Services 130.00 

4285 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195379 L N Curtis 8c Sons 2,723.34 

001 - 521 20 26 000 - Uniforms/Accessories 188.74 
001 - 521 20 26 000 - Uniforms/Accessories 67.20 
001 - 521 20 26 000 - Uniforms/Accessories 114.86 
001 - 521 20 26 000 - Uniforms/Accessories 55.53 
001 - 521 20 26 000 - Uniforms/Accessories 180.15 
001 - 521 20 26 000 - Uniforms/Accessories 263.94 
001 - 521 20 26 020 - Balistic Vests 906.95 
001 - 521 20 26 020 - Balistic Vests 945.97 

4286 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195380 Les Schwab Tire Center 1,487.20 

001 - 521 20 48 010 - Repair & Maint - Auto 1,240.90 
412 - 537 50 48 000 - Repairs/maint-equip 34.72 
412 - 537 60 47 011 - Site Recycling Disposal 157.33 
412 - 537 60 47 011 - Site Recycling Disposal 54.25 

CHECK REGISTER 
City Of Sedro-Woolley 

Trans Date Type 

05/26/2021 To: 05/26/2021 

Acct # Chk # Claimant 

Time: 12:23:51 Date: 05/19/2021 
Page: 4 

Amount Memo 

101 - 576 
101 - 576 
101 - 576 
001 - 594 
001 - 594 
101 - 594 

80 
80 
80 
22 
22 
76 

48 
48 
48 
61 
61 
61 

016 - City Hall 7.28 
016 - City Hall 83.51 
019 - Skatepark 144.32 
000 - Fire Station 1.5 1,875.09 
000 - Fire Station 1.5 -46.09 
002 - Houser Park 1,248.00 

4277 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195371 Emerald Services, Inc. 250.38 

412 - 537 60 47 011 - Site Recycling Disposal 250.38 

4278 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195372 Enterprise Office Systems, Inc. 169.35 

001 - 512 50 31 000 - Supplies 122.56 
001 - 514 23 31 000 - Supplies 46.79 

4279 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195373 Fastenal Company 1,416.62 

401 - 535 50 48 050 - Maint Of General Equip 245.18 
401 - 535 80 31 010 - Operating Supplies 137.65 
401 - 535 80 31 010 - Operating Supplies 368.41 
401 - 535 80 35 010 - Safety Equipment 171.43 
412 - 537 80 31 000 - Operating Supplies 38.65 
412 - 537 80 31 000 - Operating Supplies 171.63 
103 - 542 30 31 000 - Operating Supplies 141.23 
103 - 542 30 31 000 - Operating Supplies 142.44 

4280 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195374 Generator Services NW, LLC 2,044.10 

001 - 521 20 48 000 - Repairs & Maintenance 119.35 
001 - 522 50 48 030 - Repair/Maint-Station 154.05 
425 - 531 50 48 000 - Repairs/Maintenance 119.35 
401 - 535 50 48 000 - Maintenance Contracts 1,532.00 
101 - 576 80 48 016 - City Hall 119.35 

4281 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195375 Humane Society Of Skagit 132.00 

001 - 521 20 41 021 - Humane Society 132.00 

4282 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195376 IWorQ Systems Inc. 4,200.00 

001 - 524 20 41 000 - Professional Services 400.00 
001 - 524 20 41 000 - Professional Services 1,000.00 
001 - 558 60 41 000 - Professional Services 400.00 
001 - 558 60 41 000 - Professional Services 1,000.00 
001 - 595 10 49 020 - Software Licenses/Support 400.00 
001 - 595 10 49 020 - Software Licenses/Support 1,000.00 

4283 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195377 Ideal Rent All 43.48 

001 - 594 22 61 000 - Fire Station 1.5 43.48 

4284 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195378 Instrument Technologies, Inc 130.00 

001 - 521 20 41 001 - Professional Services 130.00 

4285 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195379 L N Curtis 8c Sons 2,723.34 

001 - 521 20 26 000 - Uniforms/Accessories 188.74 
001 - 521 20 26 000 - Uniforms/Accessories 67.20 
001 - 521 20 26 000 - Uniforms/Accessories 114.86 
001 - 521 20 26 000 - Uniforms/Accessories 55.53 
001 - 521 20 26 000 - Uniforms/Accessories 180.15 
001 - 521 20 26 000 - Uniforms/Accessories 263.94 
001 - 521 20 26 020 - Balistic Vests 906.95 
001 - 521 20 26 020 - Balistic Vests 945.97 

4286 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195380 Les Schwab Tire Center 1,487.20 

001 - 521 20 48 010 - Repair & Maint - Auto 1,240.90 
412 - 537 50 48 000 - Repairs/maint-equip 34.72 
412 - 537 60 47 011 - Site Recycling Disposal 157.33 
412 - 537 60 47 011 - Site Recycling Disposal 54.25 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 22 of 248



CHECK REGISTER 
City Of Sedro-Woolley 

05/26/2021 To: 05/26/2021 

Trans Date Type Acct # Chk # Claimant 

Time: 12:23:51 Date: 05/19/2021 
Page: 5 

Amount Memo 

4287 05/26/2021 

4288 05/26/2021 

4289 05/26/2021 

4290 05/26/2021 

4291 05/26/2021 

4292 05/26/2021 

4293 05/26/2021 

4294 05/26/2021 

4295 05/26/2021 

4296 05/26/2021 

4297 05/26/2021 

4298 05/26/2021 

4299 05/26/2021 

4300 05/26/2021 

4301 05/26/2021 

4302 05/26/2021 

Claims 2 195381 Life Assist Inc. 

001 - 522 21 31 000 - Operating Supplies - Medical 
001 - 522 21 31 000 - Operating Supplies - Medical 

Claims 2 195382 Loggers And Contractors 

103 - 542 30 31 000 - Operating Supplies 

Claims 2 195383 Lyndon C. Lee 

001 - 558 60 41 001 - Professional Svcs-Reimb 

Claims 2 195384 William R McCann 

001 - 515 93 41 000 - Indigent Defender 

1,763.99 
38.08 

22.24 

1,029.68 

3,500.00 

Claims 2 195385 Motor Trucks International 

412 - 537 50 48 000 - Repairs/maint-equip 
412 - 537 50 48 000 - Repairs/maint-equip 

-12.82 
29.10 

Claims 2 195386 Walter E Nelson Co. of N. WA 

101 - 576 80 31 007 - Operating Sup - Library 117.58 

Claims 2 195387 NCL of WI, dba North Central 
Labs 

401 - 535 80 31 010 - Operating Supplies 236.51 

Claims 2 195388 Northern Safety Co Inc 

001 - 522 20 35 000 - Small Tools 81. Minor Equip 199.85 

Claims 2 195389 O'Reilly Auto Parts 

401 - 535 80 31 010 - Operating Supplies 3.79 

Claims 2 195390 OASYS, Inc. 

001 - 595 10 48 000 - Repair & Maintenance 1,190.99 

Claims 2 195391 Oliver-Hammer, Inc 

001 - 522 20 26 000 - Uniforms 813.75 
401 - 535 80 35 010 - Safety Equipment 178.98 

Claims 2 195392 Sarah Ortiz 

401 - 535 80 28 000 - Employee Wellness 49.88 

Claims 2 195393 Pacific Air Control 

101 - 576 80 48 015 - Library 735.63 
101 - 576 80 48 016 - City Hall 3,032.58 

Claims 2 195394 Pacific Style Lawn Maint. Inc. 

101 - 576 80 31 100 - Fertilizer/Herbicide 1,898.75 

Claims 2 195395 Pape' Group, dba Pape' 
Machinery Inc. 

101 - 576 80 48 021 - Equipment 1,414.62 

Claims 

001 - 521 20 41 
001 - 522 50 49 
401 - 535 80 31 
101 - 576 80 41 
101 - 576 80 41 

2 195396 Performance Systems 
Integration LLC 

001 - Professional Services 
050 - Fire/Theft Protection 
010 - Operating Supplies 
010 - Alarm Monitoring 
010 - Alarm Monitoring 

4303 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195397 Protek, Inc. dba 

001 - 521 20 48 010 - Repair & Maint - Auto 
001 - 521 20 48 010 - Repair & Maint - Auto 
001 - 522 20 48 000 - Repairs/Maint-Equip 

Sedro-WooW 522 20 48 000 - Repairs/16*-
UO
;•ciii ncil Packet 

36.17 
59.68 
19.90 
36.17 

238.70 

70.73 
70.73 
84.88 
76.69 

1,802.07 

22.24 

1,029.68 

3,500.00 

16.28 

117.58 

236.51 

199.85 

3.79 

1,190.99 

992.73 

49.88 

3,768.21 

1,898.75 

1,414.62 

390.62 

303.03 

Page 23 of 248 

CHECK REGISTER 
City Of Sedro-Woolley Time: 12:23:51 Date: 05/19/2021 

Trans Date 

05/26/2021 To: 05/26/2021 

Type Acct # Chk # Claimant Amount Memo 

Page: 5 

4287 05/26/2021 

4288 05/26/2021 

4289 05/26/2021 

4290 05/26/2021 

4291 05/26/2021 

4292 05/26/2021 

4293 05/26/2021 

4294 05/26/2021 

4295 05/26/2021 

4296 05/26/2021 

4297 05/26/2021 

4298 05/26/2021 

4299 05/26/2021 

4300 05/26/2021 

4301 05/26/2021 

4302 05/26/2021 

4303 05/26/2021 

Claims 2 195381 Life Assist Inc. 

001 - 522 21 31 000 - Operating Supplies - Medical 
001 - 522 21 31 000 - Operating Supplies - Medical 

Claims 2 195382 Loggers And Contractors 

103 - 542 30 31 000 - Operating Supplies 

Claims 2 195383 Lyndon C. Lee 

001 - 558 60 41 001 - Professional Svcs-Reimb 

Claims 2 195384 William R McCann 

001 - 515 93 41 000 - Indigent Defender 

1,763.99 
38.08 

22.24 

1,029.68 

3,500.00 

Claims 2 195385 Motor Trucks International 

412 - 537 50 48 000 - Repairs/maint-equip 
412 - 537 50 48 000 - Repairs/maint-equip 

-12.82 
29.10 

Claims 2 195386 Walter E Nelson Co. of N. WA 

101 - 576 80 31 007 - Operating Sup - Library 117.58 

Claims 2 195387 NCL of WI, dba North Central 
Labs 

401 - 535 80 31 010 - Operating Supplies 236.51 

Claims 2 195388 Northern Safety Co Inc 

001 - 522 20 35 000 - Small Tools 81. Minor Equip 199.85 

Claims 2 195389 O'Reilly Auto Parts 

401 - 535 80 31 010 - Operating Supplies 3.79 

Claims 2 195390 OASYS, Inc. 

001 - 595 10 48 000 - Repair & Maintenance 1,190.99 

Claims 2 195391 Oliver-Hammer, Inc 

001 - 522 20 26 000 - Uniforms 813.75 
401 - 535 80 35 010 - Safety Equipment 178.98 

Claims 2 195392 Sarah Ortiz 

401 - 535 80 28 000 - Employee Wellness 49.88 

Claims 2 195393 Pacific Air Control 

101 - 576 80 48 015 - Library 735.63 
101 - 576 80 48 016 - City Hall 3,032.58 

Claims 2 195394 Pacific Style Lawn Maint. Inc. 

101 - 576 80 31 100 - Fertilizer/Herbicide 1,898.75 

Claims 2 195395 Pape' Group, dba Pape' 
Machinery Inc. 

101 - 576 80 48 021 - Equipment 

Claims 2 195396 Performance Systems 
Integration LLC 

001 - 521 20 41 001 - Professional Services 
001 - 522 50 49 050 - Fire/Theft Protection 
401 - 535 80 31 010 - Operating Supplies 
101 - 576 80 41 010 - Alarm Monitoring 
101 - 576 80 41 010 - Alarm Monitoring 

Claims 2 195397 Protek, Inc. dba 

001 - 521 20 48 010 - Repair & Maint - Auto 
001 - 521 20 48 010 - Repair & Maint - Auto 
001 - 522 20 48 000 - Repairs/Maint-Equip 
001 - 522 20 48 000 - Repairs/Maint-Equip 

1,414.62 

36.17 
59.68 
19.90 
36.17 

238.70 

70.73 
70.73 
84.88 
76.69 

1,802.07 

22.24 

1,029.68 

3,500.00 

16.28 

117.58 

236.51 

199.85 

3.79 

1,190.99 

992.73 

49.88 

3,768.21 

1,898.75 

1,414.62 

390.62 

303.03 

CHECK REGISTER 
City Of Sedro-Woolley Time: 12:23:51 Date: 05/19/2021 

Trans Date 

05/26/2021 To: 05/26/2021 

Type Acct # Chk # Claimant Amount Memo 

Page: 5 

4287 05/26/2021 

4288 05/26/2021 

4289 05/26/2021 

4290 05/26/2021 

4291 05/26/2021 

4292 05/26/2021 

4293 05/26/2021 

4294 05/26/2021 

4295 05/26/2021 

4296 05/26/2021 

4297 05/26/2021 

4298 05/26/2021 

4299 05/26/2021 

4300 05/26/2021 

4301 05/26/2021 

4302 05/26/2021 

4303 05/26/2021 

Claims 2 195381 Life Assist Inc. 

001 - 522 21 31 000 - Operating Supplies - Medical 
001 - 522 21 31 000 - Operating Supplies - Medical 

Claims 2 195382 Loggers And Contractors 

103 - 542 30 31 000 - Operating Supplies 

Claims 2 195383 Lyndon C. Lee 

001 - 558 60 41 001 - Professional Svcs-Reimb 

Claims 2 195384 William R McCann 

001 - 515 93 41 000 - Indigent Defender 

1,763.99 
38.08 

22.24 

1,029.68 

3,500.00 

Claims 2 195385 Motor Trucks International 

412 - 537 50 48 000 - Repairs/maint-equip 
412 - 537 50 48 000 - Repairs/maint-equip 

-12.82 
29.10 

Claims 2 195386 Walter E Nelson Co. of N. WA 

101 - 576 80 31 007 - Operating Sup - Library 117.58 

Claims 2 195387 NCL of WI, dba North Central 
Labs 

401 - 535 80 31 010 - Operating Supplies 236.51 

Claims 2 195388 Northern Safety Co Inc 

001 - 522 20 35 000 - Small Tools 81. Minor Equip 199.85 

Claims 2 195389 O'Reilly Auto Parts 

401 - 535 80 31 010 - Operating Supplies 3.79 

Claims 2 195390 OASYS, Inc. 

001 - 595 10 48 000 - Repair & Maintenance 1,190.99 

Claims 2 195391 Oliver-Hammer, Inc 

001 - 522 20 26 000 - Uniforms 813.75 
401 - 535 80 35 010 - Safety Equipment 178.98 

Claims 2 195392 Sarah Ortiz 

401 - 535 80 28 000 - Employee Wellness 49.88 

Claims 2 195393 Pacific Air Control 

101 - 576 80 48 015 - Library 735.63 
101 - 576 80 48 016 - City Hall 3,032.58 

Claims 2 195394 Pacific Style Lawn Maint. Inc. 

101 - 576 80 31 100 - Fertilizer/Herbicide 1,898.75 

Claims 2 195395 Pape' Group, dba Pape' 
Machinery Inc. 

101 - 576 80 48 021 - Equipment 

Claims 2 195396 Performance Systems 
Integration LLC 

001 - 521 20 41 001 - Professional Services 
001 - 522 50 49 050 - Fire/Theft Protection 
401 - 535 80 31 010 - Operating Supplies 
101 - 576 80 41 010 - Alarm Monitoring 
101 - 576 80 41 010 - Alarm Monitoring 

Claims 2 195397 Protek, Inc. dba 

001 - 521 20 48 010 - Repair & Maint - Auto 
001 - 521 20 48 010 - Repair & Maint - Auto 
001 - 522 20 48 000 - Repairs/Maint-Equip 
001 - 522 20 48 000 - Repairs/Maint-Equip 

1,414.62 

36.17 
59.68 
19.90 
36.17 

238.70 

70.73 
70.73 
84.88 
76.69 

1,802.07 

22.24 

1,029.68 

3,500.00 

16.28 

117.58 

236.51 

199.85 

3.79 

1,190.99 

992.73 

49.88 

3,768.21 

1,898.75 

1,414.62 

390.62 

303.03 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 23 of 248



CHECK REGISTER 
City Of Sedro-Woolley 

Trans Date Type 

05/26/2021 To: 05/26/2021 

Acct # Chk # Claimant 

Time: 12:23:51 Date: 05/19/2021 
Page: 6 

Amount Memo 

4304 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195398 The Greg Prothman Comp. 1,222.00 

001 - 514 23 41 011 - Professional Services 1,222.00 

4305 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195399 Public Safety Psychological Svc 525.00 

001 - 521 20 41 001 - Professional Services 525.00 

4306 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195400 Public Utility Dis No1 3,685.90 

001 - 521 20 47 000 - Public Utilities 35.61 
001 - 522 50 47 000 - Public Utilities 344.39 
401 - 535 80 47 000 - Public Utilities 407.37 
102 - 536 20 47 000 - Public Utilities 222.63 
412 - 537 80 47 000 - Public Utilities 614.53 
103 - 542 63 47 000 - Public Utilities 82.69 
101 - 576 80 47 000 - Riverfront 681.54 
101 - 576 80 47 010 - Community Center 147.20 
101 - 576 80 47 020 - Senior Center 283.26 
101 - 576 80 47 050 - Hammer Square 106.06 
101 - 576 80 47 051 - Bingham / Memorial 152.81 
101 - 576 80 47 053 - Other Utilities 222.95 
101 - 576 80 47 070 - City Hall 384.86 

4307 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195401 Ramaker 81 Associates, Inc 5,980.00 

102 - 536 20 49 000 - Misc-Dues/Subscriptions 5,980.00 

4308 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195402 Rick's Refrigeration Inc 252.00 

412 - 537 60 47 011 - Site Recycling Disposal 252.00 

4309 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195403 Ricoh USA, Inc 338.92 

001 - 514 23 31 000 - Supplies 338.92 

4310 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195404 Ricoh USA, Inc 230.86 

001 - 514 23 45 000 - Operating Rentals/Leases 230.86 

4311 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195405 SWC Enterpr. LLC Seattle Pump 192.37 
& Equip Co 

401 - 535 50 48 010 - Maintenance Of Lines 192.37 

4312 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195406 Sedro-Woolley Auto Parts Inc 398.07 

401 - 535 50 48 050 - Maint Of General Equip 76.04 
412 - 537 50 48 000 - Repairs/maint-equip 234.09 
412 - 537 80 31 000 - Operating Supplies 18.42 
103 - 542 30 31 000 - Operating Supplies 21.69 
103 - 542 30 48 010 - Repair/Maintenance-Equip 36.14 
101 - 576 80 48 021 - Equipment 11.69 

4313 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195407 Sirchie Acquisition Co LLC 177.00 

001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 177.00 

4314 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195408 Skagit Cnty Information Svcs 5,728.26 

001 - 521 20 41 050 - Spillman System 5,728.26 

4315 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195409 Skagit Cnty Public Health 907.53 

001 - 566 00 41 000 - Skagit Co Public Health-2% Liq 907.53 

4316 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195410 Skagit Farmers Supply 52.53 

103 - 542 30 31 010 - Operating Supplies-Propane 36.60 
101 - 576 80 48 003 - Bingham Caretaker 5.09 
101 - 576 80 48 016 - City Hall 10.84 

4317 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195411 Skagit Law Group, PLLC 300.00 

425 - 531 50 41 003 - Collection Services 12.00 
401 - 535 80 49 040 - Misc-Filing Fees/Lien Exp 195.00 
412 - 537 80 49 020 - Misc-Filing Fees/Lien Exp 93.00 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 24 of 248 

CHECK REGISTER 
City Of Sedro-Woolley 

Trans Date Type 

05/26/2021 To: 05/26/2021 

Acct # Chk # Claimant 

Time: 12:23:51 Date: 05/19/2021 
Page: 6 

Amount Memo 

4304 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195398 The Greg Prothman Comp. 1,222.00 

001 - 514 23 41 011 - Professional Services 1,222.00 

4305 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195399 Public Safety Psychological Svc 525.00 

001 - 521 20 41 001 - Professional Services 525.00 

4306 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195400 Public Utility Dis No1 3,685.90 

001 - 521 20 47 000 - Public Utilities 35.61 
001 - 522 50 47 000 - Public Utilities 344.39 
401 - 535 80 47 000 - Public Utilities 407.37 
102 - 536 20 47 000 - Public Utilities 222.63 
412 - 537 80 47 000 - Public Utilities 614.53 
103 - 542 63 47 000 - Public Utilities 82.69 
101 - 576 80 47 000 - Riverfront 681.54 
101 - 576 80 47 010 - Community Center 147.20 
101 - 576 80 47 020 - Senior Center 283.26 
101 - 576 80 47 050 - Hammer Square 106.06 
101 - 576 80 47 051 - Bingham / Memorial 152.81 
101 - 576 80 47 053 - Other Utilities 222.95 
101 - 576 80 47 070 - City Hall 384.86 

4307 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195401 Ramaker 81 Associates, Inc 5,980.00 

102 - 536 20 49 000 - Misc-Dues/Subscriptions 5,980.00 

4308 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195402 Rick's Refrigeration Inc 252.00 

412 - 537 60 47 011 - Site Recycling Disposal 252.00 

4309 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195403 Ricoh USA, Inc 338.92 

001 - 514 23 31 000 - Supplies 338.92 

4310 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195404 Ricoh USA, Inc 230.86 

001 - 514 23 45 000 - Operating Rentals/Leases 230.86 

4311 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195405 SWC Enterpr. LLC Seattle Pump 192.37 
& Equip Co 

401 - 535 50 48 010 - Maintenance Of Lines 192.37 

4312 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195406 Sedro-Woolley Auto Parts Inc 398.07 

401 - 535 50 48 050 - Maint Of General Equip 76.04 
412 - 537 50 48 000 - Repairs/maint-equip 234.09 
412 - 537 80 31 000 - Operating Supplies 18.42 
103 - 542 30 31 000 - Operating Supplies 21.69 
103 - 542 30 48 010 - Repair/Maintenance-Equip 36.14 
101 - 576 80 48 021 - Equipment 11.69 

4313 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195407 Sirchie Acquisition Co LLC 177.00 

001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 177.00 

4314 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195408 Skagit Cnty Information Svcs 5,728.26 

001 - 521 20 41 050 - Spillman System 5,728.26 

4315 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195409 Skagit Cnty Public Health 907.53 

001 - 566 00 41 000 - Skagit Co Public Health-2% Liq 907.53 

4316 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195410 Skagit Farmers Supply 52.53 

103 - 542 30 31 010 - Operating Supplies-Propane 36.60 
101 - 576 80 48 003 - Bingham Caretaker 5.09 
101 - 576 80 48 016 - City Hall 10.84 

4317 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195411 Skagit Law Group, PLLC 300.00 

425 - 531 50 41 003 - Collection Services 12.00 
401 - 535 80 49 040 - Misc-Filing Fees/Lien Exp 195.00 
412 - 537 80 49 020 - Misc-Filing Fees/Lien Exp 93.00 

CHECK REGISTER 
City Of Sedro-Woolley 

Trans Date Type 

05/26/2021 To: 05/26/2021 

Acct # Chk # Claimant 

Time: 12:23:51 Date: 05/19/2021 
Page: 6 

Amount Memo 

4304 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195398 The Greg Prothman Comp. 1,222.00 

001 - 514 23 41 011 - Professional Services 1,222.00 

4305 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195399 Public Safety Psychological Svc 525.00 

001 - 521 20 41 001 - Professional Services 525.00 

4306 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195400 Public Utility Dis No1 3,685.90 

001 - 521 20 47 000 - Public Utilities 35.61 
001 - 522 50 47 000 - Public Utilities 344.39 
401 - 535 80 47 000 - Public Utilities 407.37 
102 - 536 20 47 000 - Public Utilities 222.63 
412 - 537 80 47 000 - Public Utilities 614.53 
103 - 542 63 47 000 - Public Utilities 82.69 
101 - 576 80 47 000 - Riverfront 681.54 
101 - 576 80 47 010 - Community Center 147.20 
101 - 576 80 47 020 - Senior Center 283.26 
101 - 576 80 47 050 - Hammer Square 106.06 
101 - 576 80 47 051 - Bingham / Memorial 152.81 
101 - 576 80 47 053 - Other Utilities 222.95 
101 - 576 80 47 070 - City Hall 384.86 

4307 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195401 Ramaker 81 Associates, Inc 5,980.00 

102 - 536 20 49 000 - Misc-Dues/Subscriptions 5,980.00 

4308 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195402 Rick's Refrigeration Inc 252.00 

412 - 537 60 47 011 - Site Recycling Disposal 252.00 

4309 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195403 Ricoh USA, Inc 338.92 

001 - 514 23 31 000 - Supplies 338.92 

4310 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195404 Ricoh USA, Inc 230.86 

001 - 514 23 45 000 - Operating Rentals/Leases 230.86 

4311 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195405 SWC Enterpr. LLC Seattle Pump 192.37 
& Equip Co 

401 - 535 50 48 010 - Maintenance Of Lines 192.37 

4312 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195406 Sedro-Woolley Auto Parts Inc 398.07 

401 - 535 50 48 050 - Maint Of General Equip 76.04 
412 - 537 50 48 000 - Repairs/maint-equip 234.09 
412 - 537 80 31 000 - Operating Supplies 18.42 
103 - 542 30 31 000 - Operating Supplies 21.69 
103 - 542 30 48 010 - Repair/Maintenance-Equip 36.14 
101 - 576 80 48 021 - Equipment 11.69 

4313 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195407 Sirchie Acquisition Co LLC 177.00 

001 - 521 20 31 002 - Office/Operating Supplies 177.00 

4314 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195408 Skagit Cnty Information Svcs 5,728.26 

001 - 521 20 41 050 - Spillman System 5,728.26 

4315 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195409 Skagit Cnty Public Health 907.53 

001 - 566 00 41 000 - Skagit Co Public Health-2% Liq 907.53 

4316 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195410 Skagit Farmers Supply 52.53 

103 - 542 30 31 010 - Operating Supplies-Propane 36.60 
101 - 576 80 48 003 - Bingham Caretaker 5.09 
101 - 576 80 48 016 - City Hall 10.84 

4317 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195411 Skagit Law Group, PLLC 300.00 

425 - 531 50 41 003 - Collection Services 12.00 
401 - 535 80 49 040 - Misc-Filing Fees/Lien Exp 195.00 
412 - 537 80 49 020 - Misc-Filing Fees/Lien Exp 93.00 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 24 of 248



CHECK REGISTER 
City Of Sedro-Woolley Time: 12:23:51 Date: 05/19/2021 

Trans Date 

05/26/2021 To: 05/26/2021 

Type Acct # Chk # Claimant Amount Memo 

Page: 7 

4318 05/26/2021 Claims 

4319 

4320 

4321 

4322 

4323 

4324 

4325 

05/26/2021 

05/26/2021 

05/26/2021 

05/26/2021 

05/26/2021 

05/26/2021 

05/26/2021 

4326 05/26/2021 

4328 05/26/2021 

4329 05/26/2021 

4330 05/26/2021 

4331 

4332 

4333 

4334 

05/26/2021 

05/26/2021 

05/26/2021 

05/26/2021 

2 195412 PNG Media LLC, dba Skagit 
Publishing 

001 - 511 60 31 001 - Legal Publications 

Claims 2 195413 Skagit River Steel 

412 - 537 80 31 000 - Operating Supplies 

Claims 2 195414 Smarsh Inc. 

001 - 518 80 41 000 - Professional Services 

Claims 2 195415 Staples, Inc. 

001 - 514 23 31 000 - Supplies 
001 - 524 20 31 000 - Off/Oper Supps & Books 
401 - 535 80 31 000 - Office Supplies 
412 - 537 80 31 010 - Office Supplies 
001 - 558 60 31 000 - Supplies/Books 
101 - 576 80 48 010 - Office Equip 
001 - 595 10 31 000 - Supplies 

Claims 2 195416 Stiles 8t Lehr Law Inc., PS 

001 - 512 50 41 010 - Municipal Court Judge 3,960.00 

Claims 2 195417 Systems Design West, LLC 

001 - 522 21 41 000 - EMS Professional Services-Sys 

Claims 2 195418 Toter LLC 

412 - 537 80 34 000 - Containers - Garbage 

80.70 

2,788.20 

117.35 

20.93 
6.98 

74.34 
64.67 

6.97 
114.73 

6.98 

3,193.00 

3,754.65 

Claims 2 195419 Traffic Safety Supply Co, Inc 

103 - 542 64 31 001 - Painting & Striping Supplies 
103 - 542 64 31 003 - Temporary Devises TCCD 
103 - 542 64 31 004 - Street Sign Materials 

997.09 
849.00 

1,720.23 

Claims 2 195420 Transportation Solutions, Inc. 

103 - 542 30 41 000 - Professional Services 10,000.00 
101 - 576 80 41 000 - Professional Services 10,106.25 

Claims 2 195421 HD Supp Facil. Maint, dba USA 
Blue Book 

401 - 535 50 48 050 - Maint Of General Equip 
401 - 535 50 48 050 - Maint Of General Equip 
401 - 535 80 31 010 - Operating Supplies 
401 - 535 80 31 010 - Operating Supplies 

Claims 2 195422 Uline, Inc. 

001 - 522 20 31 000 - Operating Supplies 
101 - 576 80 31 001 - Operating Sup - Riverfront 

Claims 2 195423 UniFirst Corp. 

001 - 522 20 26 000 - Uniforms 
001 - 522 20 26 000 - Uniforms 
001 - 522 20 26 000 - Uniforms 

Claims 2 195424 United Laboratories, Inc. 

573.55 
141.76 
698.23 
262.48 

522.57 
108.17 

283.63 
286.55 
283.63 

103 - 542 30 31 000 - Operating Supplies 814.29 

Claims 2 195425 Universal Field Services, Inc. 

001 - 595 20 63 082 - RW Trail Road Extension 1,832.63 

Claims 2 195426 Util Underground Loc Ctr 

401 - 535 80 31 010 - Operating Supplies 98.56 

Claims 2 195427 Caracal Enterp. LLC dba VenTek 
Intetnatonal 

;edro-Woolley City council Packet Page 25 of 248 

80.70 

2,788.20 

117.35 

295.60 

3,960.00 

3,193.00 

3,754.65 

3,566.32 

20,106.25 

1,676.02 

630.74 

853.81 

814.29 

1,832.63 

98.56 

2,061.50 

CHECK REGISTER 
City Of Sedro-Woolley 

Trans Date Type 

05/26/2021 To: 05/26/2021 

Acct # Chk # Claimant 

Time: 12:23:51 Date: 05/19/2021 
Page: 7 

Amount Memo 

4318 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195412 PNG Media LLC, dba Skagit 80.70 
Publishing 

001 - 511 60 31 001 - Legal Publications 80.70 

4319 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195413 Skagit River Steel 2,788.20 

412 - 537 80 31 000 - Operating Supplies 2,788.20 

4320 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195414 Smarsh Inc. 117.35 

001 - 518 80 41 000 - Professional Services 117.35 

4321 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195415 Staples, Inc. 295.60 

001 - 514 23 31 000 - Supplies 20.93 
001 - 524 20 31 000 - Off/Oper Supps & Books 6.98 
401 - 535 80 31 000 - Office Supplies 74.34 
412 - 537 80 31 010 - Office Supplies 64.67 
001 - 558 60 31 000 - Supplies/Books 6.97 
101 - 576 80 48 010 - Office Equip 114.73 
001 - 595 10 31 000 - Supplies 6.98 

4322 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195416 Stiles 8t Lehr Law Inc., PS 3,960.00 

001 - 512 50 41 010 - Municipal Court Judge 3,960.00 

4323 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195417 Systems Design West, LLC 3,193.00 

001 - 522 21 41 000 - EMS Professional Services-Sys 3,193.00 

4324 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195418 Toter LLC 3,754.65 

412 - 537 80 34 000 - Containers - Garbage 3,754.65 

4325 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195419 Traffic Safety Supply Co, Inc 3,566.32 

103 - 542 64 31 001 - Painting & Striping Supplies 997.09 
103 - 542 64 31 003 - Temporary Devises TCCD 849.00 
103 - 542 64 31 004 - Street Sign Materials 1,720.23 

4326 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195420 Transportation Solutions, Inc. 20,106.25 

103 - 542 30 41 000 - Professional Services 10,000.00 
101 - 576 80 41 000 - Professional Services 10,106.25 

4328 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195421 HD Supp Facil. Maint, dba USA 1,676.02 
Blue Book 

401 - 535 50 48 050 - Maint Of General Equip 573.55 
401 - 535 50 48 050 - Maint Of General Equip 141.76 
401 - 535 80 31 010 - Operating Supplies 698.23 
401 - 535 80 31 010 - Operating Supplies 262.48 

4329 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195422 Uline, Inc. 630.74 

001 - 522 20 31 000 - Operating Supplies 522.57 
101 - 576 80 31 001 - Operating Sup - Riverfront 108.17 

4330 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195423 UniFirst Corp. 853.81 

001 - 522 20 26 000 - Uniforms 283.63 
001 - 522 20 26 000 - Uniforms 286.55 
001 - 522 20 26 000 - Uniforms 283.63 

4331 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195424 United Laboratories, Inc. 814.29 

103 - 542 30 31 000 - Operating Supplies 814.29 

4332 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195425 Universal Field Services, Inc. 1,832.63 

001 - 595 20 63 082 - RW Trail Road Extension 1,832.63 

4333 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195426 Util Underground Loc Ctr 98.56 

401 - 535 80 31 010 - Operating Supplies 98.56 

4334 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195427 Caracal Enterp. LLC dba VenTek 2,061.50 
Internatonal 

CHECK REGISTER 
City Of Sedro-Woolley 

Trans Date Type 

05/26/2021 To: 05/26/2021 

Acct # Chk # Claimant 

Time: 12:23:51 Date: 05/19/2021 
Page: 7 

Amount Memo 

4318 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195412 PNG Media LLC, dba Skagit 80.70 
Publishing 

001 - 511 60 31 001 - Legal Publications 80.70 

4319 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195413 Skagit River Steel 2,788.20 

412 - 537 80 31 000 - Operating Supplies 2,788.20 

4320 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195414 Smarsh Inc. 117.35 

001 - 518 80 41 000 - Professional Services 117.35 

4321 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195415 Staples, Inc. 295.60 

001 - 514 23 31 000 - Supplies 20.93 
001 - 524 20 31 000 - Off/Oper Supps & Books 6.98 
401 - 535 80 31 000 - Office Supplies 74.34 
412 - 537 80 31 010 - Office Supplies 64.67 
001 - 558 60 31 000 - Supplies/Books 6.97 
101 - 576 80 48 010 - Office Equip 114.73 
001 - 595 10 31 000 - Supplies 6.98 

4322 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195416 Stiles 8t Lehr Law Inc., PS 3,960.00 

001 - 512 50 41 010 - Municipal Court Judge 3,960.00 

4323 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195417 Systems Design West, LLC 3,193.00 

001 - 522 21 41 000 - EMS Professional Services-Sys 3,193.00 

4324 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195418 Toter LLC 3,754.65 

412 - 537 80 34 000 - Containers - Garbage 3,754.65 

4325 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195419 Traffic Safety Supply Co, Inc 3,566.32 

103 - 542 64 31 001 - Painting & Striping Supplies 997.09 
103 - 542 64 31 003 - Temporary Devises TCCD 849.00 
103 - 542 64 31 004 - Street Sign Materials 1,720.23 

4326 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195420 Transportation Solutions, Inc. 20,106.25 

103 - 542 30 41 000 - Professional Services 10,000.00 
101 - 576 80 41 000 - Professional Services 10,106.25 

4328 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195421 HD Supp Facil. Maint, dba USA 1,676.02 
Blue Book 

401 - 535 50 48 050 - Maint Of General Equip 573.55 
401 - 535 50 48 050 - Maint Of General Equip 141.76 
401 - 535 80 31 010 - Operating Supplies 698.23 
401 - 535 80 31 010 - Operating Supplies 262.48 

4329 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195422 Uline, Inc. 630.74 

001 - 522 20 31 000 - Operating Supplies 522.57 
101 - 576 80 31 001 - Operating Sup - Riverfront 108.17 

4330 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195423 UniFirst Corp. 853.81 

001 - 522 20 26 000 - Uniforms 283.63 
001 - 522 20 26 000 - Uniforms 286.55 
001 - 522 20 26 000 - Uniforms 283.63 

4331 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195424 United Laboratories, Inc. 814.29 

103 - 542 30 31 000 - Operating Supplies 814.29 

4332 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195425 Universal Field Services, Inc. 1,832.63 

001 - 595 20 63 082 - RW Trail Road Extension 1,832.63 

4333 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195426 Util Underground Loc Ctr 98.56 

401 - 535 80 31 010 - Operating Supplies 98.56 

4334 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195427 Caracal Enterp. LLC dba VenTek 2,061.50 
Internatonal Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 25 of 248



CHECK REGISTER 
City Of Sedro-Woolley 

05/26/2021 To: 05/26/2021 

Trans Date Type Acct # Chk # Claimant 

Time: 12:23:51 Date: 
Page: 

Amount Memo 

05/19/2021 
8 

101 - 576 80 49 030 - Misc-Permits & Licenses 2,061.50 

4335 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195428 WA Cities Insurance Authority 140.00 

001 - 521 40 49 000 - Tuition/Registration 70.00 
001 - 521 40 49 000 - Tuition/Registration 70.00 

4336 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195429 WA St Criminal Justice 600.00 

001 - 521 40 49 000 - Tuition/Registration 600.00 

4337 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195430 WA St Dept Of L & I 868.30 

001 - 522 20 48 000 - Repairs/Maint-Equip 53.80 
401 - 535 80 31 000 - Office Supplies 196.90 
102 - 536 20 49 000 - Misc-Dues/Subscriptions 116.20 
412 - 537 80 31 000 - Operating Supplies 53.80 
103 - 542 30 49 010 - Misc-Dues/Subscriptions 53.80 
101 - 576 80 48 001 - Riverfront 53.80 
101 - 576 80 48 005 - Senior Center 26.90 
101 - 576 80 48 009 - Hammer Square 26.90 
101 - 576 80 48 016 - City Hall 143.10 
101 - 576 80 48 017 - Museum 116.20 
101 - 576 80 48 022 - Evidence Garage 26.90 

4338 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195431 Weed, Graafstra & Assoc. Inc. 7,665.00 
PS 

001 - 515 41 41 000 - Ext Legal-City Attorney 7,665.00 

4339 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195432 Woods Acquisition Corp 278.15 

001 - 522 20 35 000 - Small Tools & Minor Equip 19.47 
401 - 535 50 48 050 - Maint Of General Equip 258.68 

4340 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195433 NW Fiber LLC, dba Ziply Fiber 196.24 

001 - 522 20 42 020 - Telephone 132.95 
101 - 576 80 47 010 - Community Center 63.29 

4341 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195434 Zoll Medical Corporation 380.64 

001 - 522 21 31 000 - Operating Supplies - Medical 380.64 

001 Current Expense Fund 100,249.56 
101 Parks & Facilities Fund 31,215.75 
102 Cemetery Fund 6,408.29 
103 Street Fund 15,559.06 
105 Library Fund 79,780.31 
401 Sewer Operations Fund 23,043.13 
410 Sewer Capital Projects Reserve 609,900.00 
412 Solid Waste Operations Fund 11,816.11 
425 Stormwater Operations 422.80 
505 Public Works Facility Fund 30,341.15 

Claims: 908,736.16 
908,736.16 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 26 of 248 

CHECK REGISTER 
City Of Sedro-Woolley 

05/26/2021 To: 05/26/2021 

Trans Date Type Acct # Chk # Claimant 

Time: 12:23:51 Date: 
Page: 

Amount Memo 

05/19/2021 
8 

101 - 576 80 49 030 - Misc-Permits & Licenses 2,061.50 

4335 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195428 WA Cities Insurance Authority 140.00 

001 - 521 40 49 000 - Tuition/Registration 70.00 
001 - 521 40 49 000 - Tuition/Registration 70.00 

4336 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195429 WA St Criminal Justice 600.00 

001 - 521 40 49 000 - Tuition/Registration 600.00 

4337 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195430 WA St Dept Of L & I 868.30 

001 - 522 20 48 000 - Repairs/Maint-Equip 53.80 
401 - 535 80 31 000 - Office Supplies 196.90 
102 - 536 20 49 000 - Misc-Dues/Subscriptions 116.20 
412 - 537 80 31 000 - Operating Supplies 53.80 
103 - 542 30 49 010 - Misc-Dues/Subscriptions 53.80 
101 - 576 80 48 001 - Riverfront 53.80 
101 - 576 80 48 005 - Senior Center 26.90 
101 - 576 80 48 009 - Hammer Square 26.90 
101 - 576 80 48 016 - City Hall 143.10 
101 - 576 80 48 017 - Museum 116.20 
101 - 576 80 48 022 - Evidence Garage 26.90 

4338 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195431 Weed, Graafstra & Assoc. Inc. 7,665.00 
PS 

001 - 515 41 41 000 - Ext Legal-City Attorney 7,665.00 

4339 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195432 Woods Acquisition Corp 278.15 

001 - 522 20 35 000 - Small Tools & Minor Equip 19.47 
401 - 535 50 48 050 - Maint Of General Equip 258.68 

4340 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195433 NW Fiber LLC, dba Ziply Fiber 196.24 

001 - 522 20 42 020 - Telephone 132.95 
101 - 576 80 47 010 - Community Center 63.29 

4341 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195434 Zoll Medical Corporation 380.64 

001 - 522 21 31 000 - Operating Supplies - Medical 380.64 

001 Current Expense Fund 100,249.56 
101 Parks & Facilities Fund 31,215.75 
102 Cemetery Fund 6,408.29 
103 Street Fund 15,559.06 
105 Library Fund 79,780.31 
401 Sewer Operations Fund 23,043.13 
410 Sewer Capital Projects Reserve 609,900.00 
412 Solid Waste Operations Fund 11,816.11 
425 Stormwater Operations 422.80 
505 Public Works Facility Fund 30,341.15 

Claims: 908,736.16 
908,736.16 

CHECK REGISTER 
City Of Sedro-Woolley 

05/26/2021 To: 05/26/2021 

Trans Date Type Acct # Chk # Claimant 

Time: 12:23:51 Date: 
Page: 

Amount Memo 

05/19/2021 
8 

101 - 576 80 49 030 - Misc-Permits & Licenses 2,061.50 

4335 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195428 WA Cities Insurance Authority 140.00 

001 - 521 40 49 000 - Tuition/Registration 70.00 
001 - 521 40 49 000 - Tuition/Registration 70.00 

4336 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195429 WA St Criminal Justice 600.00 

001 - 521 40 49 000 - Tuition/Registration 600.00 

4337 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195430 WA St Dept Of L & I 868.30 

001 - 522 20 48 000 - Repairs/Maint-Equip 53.80 
401 - 535 80 31 000 - Office Supplies 196.90 
102 - 536 20 49 000 - Misc-Dues/Subscriptions 116.20 
412 - 537 80 31 000 - Operating Supplies 53.80 
103 - 542 30 49 010 - Misc-Dues/Subscriptions 53.80 
101 - 576 80 48 001 - Riverfront 53.80 
101 - 576 80 48 005 - Senior Center 26.90 
101 - 576 80 48 009 - Hammer Square 26.90 
101 - 576 80 48 016 - City Hall 143.10 
101 - 576 80 48 017 - Museum 116.20 
101 - 576 80 48 022 - Evidence Garage 26.90 

4338 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195431 Weed, Graafstra & Assoc. Inc. 7,665.00 
PS 

001 - 515 41 41 000 - Ext Legal-City Attorney 7,665.00 

4339 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195432 Woods Acquisition Corp 278.15 

001 - 522 20 35 000 - Small Tools & Minor Equip 19.47 
401 - 535 50 48 050 - Maint Of General Equip 258.68 

4340 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195433 NW Fiber LLC, dba Ziply Fiber 196.24 

001 - 522 20 42 020 - Telephone 132.95 
101 - 576 80 47 010 - Community Center 63.29 

4341 05/26/2021 Claims 2 195434 Zoll Medical Corporation 380.64 

001 - 522 21 31 000 - Operating Supplies - Medical 380.64 

001 Current Expense Fund 100,249.56 
101 Parks & Facilities Fund 31,215.75 
102 Cemetery Fund 6,408.29 
103 Street Fund 15,559.06 
105 Library Fund 79,780.31 
401 Sewer Operations Fund 23,043.13 
410 Sewer Capital Projects Reserve 609,900.00 
412 Solid Waste Operations Fund 11,816.11 
425 Stormwater Operations 422.80 
505 Public Works Facility Fund 30,341.15 

Claims: 908,736.16 
908,736.16 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 26 of 248



CHECK REGISTER 
City Of Sedro-Woolley Time: 12:23:51 Date: 05/19/2021 

Trans Date 

05/26/2021 To: 05/26/2021 Page: 9 

Type Acct# Chk# Claimant Amount Memo 

CERTIFICATION: I, the undersigned, do hereby certify under penalty of peijury that the materials have 
been furnished, the services rendered or the labor performed as described, or that any advance payment 
is due and payable pursuant to a contract or is available as an option for full or partial fulfillment of a 
contractual obligation, and that the claim is a just, due and unpaid obligation against the City of Sedro 
Woolley, and that I am authorized to authenticate and certify to said claim. 

Finance Director Date 

Finance Committee Member Date 

Finance Committee Member Date 

Finance Committee Member Date 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 27 of 248 

CHECK REGISTER 
City Of Sedro-Woolley Time: 12:23:51 Date: 05/19/2021 

Trans Date 

05/26/2021 To: 05/26/2021 Page: 9 

Type Acct# Chk# Claimant Amount Memo 

CERTIFICATION: I, the undersigned, do hereby certify under penalty of peijury that the materials have 
been furnished, the services rendered or the labor performed as described, or that any advance payment 
is due and payable pursuant to a contract or is available as an option for full or partial fulfillment of a 
contractual obligation, and that the claim is a just, due and unpaid obligation against the City of Sedro 
Woolley, and that I am authorized to authenticate and certify to said claim. 

Finance Director Date 

Finance Committee Member Date 

Finance Committee Member Date 

Finance Committee Member Date 

CHECK REGISTER 
City Of Sedro-Woolley Time: 12:23:51 Date: 05/19/2021 

Trans Date 

05/26/2021 To: 05/26/2021 Page: 9 

Type Acct# Chk# Claimant Amount Memo 

CERTIFICATION: I, the undersigned, do hereby certify under penalty of peijury that the materials have 
been furnished, the services rendered or the labor performed as described, or that any advance payment 
is due and payable pursuant to a contract or is available as an option for full or partial fulfillment of a 
contractual obligation, and that the claim is a just, due and unpaid obligation against the City of Sedro 
Woolley, and that I am authorized to authenticate and certify to said claim. 

Finance Director Date 

Finance Committee Member Date 

Finance Committee Member Date 

Finance Committee Member Date 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 27 of 248



CITY OF 

03 4 1}21724 144 11+ 

City of Sedro-Woolley 
City Council Agenda Item 

FROM: Lin Tucker, Police Chief 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Consent Agenda 

Agenda Item No. a=3 

Date: 5/26/2021 

Subject: Interlocal agreement — Whatcom County Parks —
Rifle Range 

A motion to authorize the Mayor to sign the interlocal agreement with Whatcom County Parks for use of 
the County's Plantation Rifle Range. 

ISSUE: 

The Police Department is presenting an Interlocal Cooperative Agreement between the City of Sedro-
Woolley and Whatcom County Parks. This agreement is the contract for use of the Plantation Range for 
firearms training. 

The interlocal agreement explains its purpose, lays out responsibilities and sets range fees for the year. 
These fees and rules vary a small amount year-to-year and the relationship between the City and 
Whatcom County Parks has been ongoing for about 30 years. 

FISCAL IMPACT, IF APPROPRIATE: 

The annual fee for usage of the facility is $6,289.30. This is included in the Department's 2021 budget.. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1) Interlocal agreement 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 28 of 248 

CITY OF 

03 4 1}21724 144 11+ 

City of Sedro-Woolley 
City Council Agenda Item 

FROM: Lin Tucker, Police Chief 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Consent Agenda 

Agenda Item No. a=3 

Date: 5/26/2021 

Subject: Interlocal agreement — Whatcom County Parks —
Rifle Range 

A motion to authorize the Mayor to sign the interlocal agreement with Whatcom County Parks for use of 
the County's Plantation Rifle Range. 

ISSUE: 

The Police Department is presenting an Interlocal Cooperative Agreement between the City of Sedro-
Woolley and Whatcom County Parks. This agreement is the contract for use of the Plantation Range for 
firearms training. 

The interlocal agreement explains its purpose, lays out responsibilities and sets range fees for the year. 
These fees and rules vary a small amount year-to-year and the relationship between the City and 
Whatcom County Parks has been ongoing for about 30 years. 

FISCAL IMPACT, IF APPROPRIATE: 

The annual fee for usage of the facility is $6,289.30. This is included in the Department's 2021 budget.. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1) Interlocal agreement 

CITY OF 

03 4 1}21724 144 11+ 

City of Sedro-Woolley 
City Council Agenda Item 

FROM: Lin Tucker, Police Chief 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Consent Agenda 

Agenda Item No. a=3 

Date: 5/26/2021 

Subject: Interlocal agreement — Whatcom County Parks —
Rifle Range 

A motion to authorize the Mayor to sign the interlocal agreement with Whatcom County Parks for use of 
the County's Plantation Rifle Range. 

ISSUE: 

The Police Department is presenting an Interlocal Cooperative Agreement between the City of Sedro-
Woolley and Whatcom County Parks. This agreement is the contract for use of the Plantation Range for 
firearms training. 

The interlocal agreement explains its purpose, lays out responsibilities and sets range fees for the year. 
These fees and rules vary a small amount year-to-year and the relationship between the City and 
Whatcom County Parks has been ongoing for about 30 years. 

FISCAL IMPACT, IF APPROPRIATE: 

The annual fee for usage of the facility is $6,289.30. This is included in the Department's 2021 budget.. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1) Interlocal agreement 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 28 of 248



INTERLOCAL COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN 

WHATCOM COUNTY (PARKS & RECREATION) 

AND THE SEDRO-WOOLLEY POLICE DEPARTMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into by and between Whatcom County (Parks & Recreation 
Department) ("County") and The Sedro-Woolley Police Department (Contracting Entity), collectively 
referred hereinafter as the "Parties." This Agreement is entered into pursuant to the authority granted by 
Chapter 39.34 RCW, Interlocal Cooperation Act. The Department or Party contracting with Whatcom 
County shall hereinafter be identified by name or as the "Contracting Entity." 

1. PURPOSE: 
For the use by the Contacting Entity of the County's Plantation Rifle Range (Range) located at 5102 
Samish Highway, Whatcom County, Washington. The Plantation Rifle Range has two separate 
shooting ranges identified and named as Pistol & Smallbore Rifle Range (Smallbore) and High Power 
Rifle & Trap Range (High Power). These facilities are to be used by the Contracting Entity in 
accordance with the use terms as set forth in this Agreement for Law Enforcement training purposes. 

The Contracting Entity is contracting with the County for use of the Range for the purpose of the 
Contracting Entity to provide firearms qualifications, practice or training for commissioned and non-
commissioned personnel of the Contracting Entity. 

It is understood and agreed by the Parties that the County shall provide no training or supervision at 
the Facility during the Contracting Entity's exclusive or individual use periods. The County shall provide, 
upon request by the Contracting Entity's Supervisor or Coordinator, assistance to the individual 
Supervisor or Coordinator, in familiarizing them with the operations of facilities, equipment, and other 
infrastructure necessary to facilitate the Contracting Entity's use under the terms of this Agreement. 

It is understood and agreed by the Parties that the Contracting Entity is a qualified law enforcement 
agency, or equivalent entity, such that their supervisor and/or participants are experienced with and 
trained in the use of firearms and firearm safety. The County shall have no duty to train or assist the 
Contracting Entity with firearm safety or rifle range safety. 

It is understood and agreed by the Parties that during the exclusive use of the Range by the Contracting 
Entity, there will be no County staff or agents present or provided at the Range, unless a County staff 
member is present doing other tasks or duties unrelated to the Contracting Entity's use of the Range. 
The County is not providing any County employees, staff or assistance, oversight or supervision to the 
Contracting Entity during their use at the Range. 

2. RESPONSIBILITIES 
WHATCOM COUNTY PARKS & RECREATION DEPARTMENT RESPONSIBILITIES: 
The Parks and Recreation Department shall make available to the Contracting Entity the Plantation 
Rifle Range at such time and under such conditions as are hereinafter set forth. 

CONTRACTING ENTITY RESPONSIBILITIES: 
A. The Contracting Entity shall provide all targets, target standards, ammunition and other materials 

necessary for the use of the Range. All ammunition used on the Indoor Range will be restricted to 
a round utilizing a Total Metal Jacket (TMJ) or Jacketed Hollow Point (JHP) bullet having muzzle 
energy not greater than 400 foot pounds. 

Sedro-Woolley — 2021 
Plantation Rifle Range Use Agreement Page 1 of 6 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 29 of 248 

INTERLOCAL COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN 

WHATCOM COUNTY (PARKS & RECREATION) 

AND THE SEDRO-WOOLLEY POLICE DEPARTMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into by and between Whatcom County (Parks & Recreation 
Department) ("County") and The Sedro-Woolley Police Department (Contracting Entity), collectively 
referred hereinafter as the "Parties." This Agreement is entered into pursuant to the authority granted by 
Chapter 39.34 RCW, Interlocal Cooperation Act. The Department or Party contracting with Whatcom 
County shall hereinafter be identified by name or as the "Contracting Entity." 

1. PURPOSE: 
For the use by the Contacting Entity of the County's Plantation Rifle Range (Range) located at 5102 
Samish Highway, Whatcom County, Washington. The Plantation Rifle Range has two separate 
shooting ranges identified and named as Pistol & Smallbore Rifle Range (Smallbore) and High Power 
Rifle & Trap Range (High Power). These facilities are to be used by the Contracting Entity in 
accordance with the use terms as set forth in this Agreement for Law Enforcement training purposes. 

The Contracting Entity is contracting with the County for use of the Range for the purpose of the 
Contracting Entity to provide firearms qualifications, practice or training for commissioned and non-
commissioned personnel of the Contracting Entity. 

It is understood and agreed by the Parties that the County shall provide no training or supervision at 
the Facility during the Contracting Entity's exclusive or individual use periods. The County shall provide, 
upon request by the Contracting Entity's Supervisor or Coordinator, assistance to the individual 
Supervisor or Coordinator, in familiarizing them with the operations of facilities, equipment, and other 
infrastructure necessary to facilitate the Contracting Entity's use under the terms of this Agreement. 

It is understood and agreed by the Parties that the Contracting Entity is a qualified law enforcement 
agency, or equivalent entity, such that their supervisor and/or participants are experienced with and 
trained in the use of firearms and firearm safety. The County shall have no duty to train or assist the 
Contracting Entity with firearm safety or rifle range safety. 

It is understood and agreed by the Parties that during the exclusive use of the Range by the Contracting 
Entity, there will be no County staff or agents present or provided at the Range, unless a County staff 
member is present doing other tasks or duties unrelated to the Contracting Entity's use of the Range. 
The County is not providing any County employees, staff or assistance, oversight or supervision to the 
Contracting Entity during their use at the Range. 

2. RESPONSIBILITIES 
WHATCOM COUNTY PARKS & RECREATION DEPARTMENT RESPONSIBILITIES: 
The Parks and Recreation Department shall make available to the Contracting Entity the Plantation 
Rifle Range at such time and under such conditions as are hereinafter set forth. 

CONTRACTING ENTITY RESPONSIBILITIES: 
A. The Contracting Entity shall provide all targets, target standards, ammunition and other materials 

necessary for the use of the Range. All ammunition used on the Indoor Range will be restricted to 
a round utilizing a Total Metal Jacket (TMJ) or Jacketed Hollow Point (JHP) bullet having muzzle 
energy not greater than 400 foot pounds. 

Sedro-Woolley — 2021 
Plantation Rifle Range Use Agreement Page 1 of 6 

INTERLOCAL COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN 

WHATCOM COUNTY (PARKS & RECREATION) 

AND THE SEDRO-WOOLLEY POLICE DEPARTMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into by and between Whatcom County (Parks & Recreation 
Department) ("County") and The Sedro-Woolley Police Department (Contracting Entity), collectively 
referred hereinafter as the "Parties." This Agreement is entered into pursuant to the authority granted by 
Chapter 39.34 RCW, Interlocal Cooperation Act. The Department or Party contracting with Whatcom 
County shall hereinafter be identified by name or as the "Contracting Entity." 

1. PURPOSE: 
For the use by the Contacting Entity of the County's Plantation Rifle Range (Range) located at 5102 
Samish Highway, Whatcom County, Washington. The Plantation Rifle Range has two separate 
shooting ranges identified and named as Pistol & Smallbore Rifle Range (Smallbore) and High Power 
Rifle & Trap Range (High Power). These facilities are to be used by the Contracting Entity in 
accordance with the use terms as set forth in this Agreement for Law Enforcement training purposes. 

The Contracting Entity is contracting with the County for use of the Range for the purpose of the 
Contracting Entity to provide firearms qualifications, practice or training for commissioned and non-
commissioned personnel of the Contracting Entity. 

It is understood and agreed by the Parties that the County shall provide no training or supervision at 
the Facility during the Contracting Entity's exclusive or individual use periods. The County shall provide, 
upon request by the Contracting Entity's Supervisor or Coordinator, assistance to the individual 
Supervisor or Coordinator, in familiarizing them with the operations of facilities, equipment, and other 
infrastructure necessary to facilitate the Contracting Entity's use under the terms of this Agreement. 

It is understood and agreed by the Parties that the Contracting Entity is a qualified law enforcement 
agency, or equivalent entity, such that their supervisor and/or participants are experienced with and 
trained in the use of firearms and firearm safety. The County shall have no duty to train or assist the 
Contracting Entity with firearm safety or rifle range safety. 

It is understood and agreed by the Parties that during the exclusive use of the Range by the Contracting 
Entity, there will be no County staff or agents present or provided at the Range, unless a County staff 
member is present doing other tasks or duties unrelated to the Contracting Entity's use of the Range. 
The County is not providing any County employees, staff or assistance, oversight or supervision to the 
Contracting Entity during their use at the Range. 

2. RESPONSIBILITIES 
WHATCOM COUNTY PARKS & RECREATION DEPARTMENT RESPONSIBILITIES: 
The Parks and Recreation Department shall make available to the Contracting Entity the Plantation 
Rifle Range at such time and under such conditions as are hereinafter set forth. 

CONTRACTING ENTITY RESPONSIBILITIES: 
A. The Contracting Entity shall provide all targets, target standards, ammunition and other materials 

necessary for the use of the Range. All ammunition used on the Indoor Range will be restricted to 
a round utilizing a Total Metal Jacket (TMJ) or Jacketed Hollow Point (JHP) bullet having muzzle 
energy not greater than 400 foot pounds. 

Sedro-Woolley — 2021 
Plantation Rifle Range Use Agreement Page 1 of 6 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 29 of 248



B. Schedule, in advance, with Whatcom County's representative exclusive use days for the Smallbore 
and High Power ranges. 

C. Assume full responsibility for safety of the entire Range during any period of exclusive use by the 
Contracting Entity. 

D. Be responsible for the conduct of members of the Contracting Entity while on the Range during 
exclusive use periods. Should any member violate the rules of the Range or safety rules, such 
member shall be immediately prohibited from further use of the Range that day and may not be 
allowed further use until such time the member is appropriately trained and the Contracting Entity 
feels assured that no further Range or safety rules will be violated by that member. 

E. Designate, and report to the County's Representative the name of an individual who shall act as a 
qualified supervisor and coordinator of all Contracting Entity's activities at the Range. This 
individual shall be the person with whom the County's Representative will work in connection with 
day-to-day matters of Range use, and who will be in direct charge during actual Range use. 

F. There shall be a Contracting Entity supervisor or coordinator and a Contracting Entity Range Safety 
Officer present at the Range at all times during exclusive use. The supervisor or coordinator shall 
terminate use of the range if any danger or safety risk is present at the facility and provide 
immediate electronic or verbal notice to the County, followed by a written notice to the County within 
24 hours detailing the danger or safety risk. The Range Safety Officer shall be responsible for 
supervising safe shooting activities, monitor and enforce safety and range rules, and range 
operations during times of exclusive use. (The Range Safety Officer may also function as the 
supervisor or coordinator.) 

G. A written report of all accidents, damage or injury that occurs shall be provided immediately or no 
later than 24 hours to the County. The written report shall provide sufficient details of the incident, 
including the date, time, circumstances and nature of injury or damage, and the name of the injured 
party, witnesses and Contracting Entity's Supervisor present at the time of the incident. The written 
report shall be submitted to Whatcom County Parks and Recreation Department Office or to the 
Range County personnel. 

H. Check out the Range key from the County's Representative. The Range key provides limited 
access to Range facilities. Access shall include: entry gate access, access to approved facilities, 
and public spaces. The Contracting Entity shall maintain control of the issued key at all times, 
including keeping the key secured when not in use and maintaining a log of any employees 
provided use of the key. The Contracting Entity shall not provide access to the key for vendors or 
contractors for any purpose. Any keys provided to the Contracting Entity may not be copied or 
duplicated. 

I. The Contracting Entity shall maintain a sign-in log for each exclusive use day. The log shall include, 
at a minimum, the signature of the Contracting Entity supervisor or coordinator, the Range Safety 
Officer, their phone numbers and all employees participating in Contracting Entity activities. The 
sign-in logs shall be provided to the County's Representative at least quarterly. 

J. The Contracting Entity and its participants must comply with all Federal, State and local laws. 

K. All litter, trash, or debris left by the Contracting Entity shall be picked up and disposed of in 
appropriate receptacles provided at the Range. 

L. No minors are allowed to be present at the Range during exclusive use. 

M. The Contracting Entity shall pay all costs associated with damage, destruction, or loss to the County 
at the Facilities as a result of the Contracting Entity's use and/or presence at the Range. 

Sedro-Woolley — 2021 
Plantation Rifle Range Use Agreement Page 2 of 6 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 30 of 248 

B. Schedule, in advance, with Whatcom County's representative exclusive use days for the Smallbore 
and High Power ranges. 

C. Assume full responsibility for safety of the entire Range during any period of exclusive use by the 
Contracting Entity. 

D. Be responsible for the conduct of members of the Contracting Entity while on the Range during 
exclusive use periods. Should any member violate the rules of the Range or safety rules, such 
member shall be immediately prohibited from further use of the Range that day and may not be 
allowed further use until such time the member is appropriately trained and the Contracting Entity 
feels assured that no further Range or safety rules will be violated by that member. 

E. Designate, and report to the County's Representative the name of an individual who shall act as a 
qualified supervisor and coordinator of all Contracting Entity's activities at the Range. This 
individual shall be the person with whom the County's Representative will work in connection with 
day-to-day matters of Range use, and who will be in direct charge during actual Range use. 

F. There shall be a Contracting Entity supervisor or coordinator and a Contracting Entity Range Safety 
Officer present at the Range at all times during exclusive use. The supervisor or coordinator shall 
terminate use of the range if any danger or safety risk is present at the facility and provide 
immediate electronic or verbal notice to the County, followed by a written notice to the County within 
24 hours detailing the danger or safety risk. The Range Safety Officer shall be responsible for 
supervising safe shooting activities, monitor and enforce safety and range rules, and range 
operations during times of exclusive use. (The Range Safety Officer may also function as the 
supervisor or coordinator.) 

G. A written report of all accidents, damage or injury that occurs shall be provided immediately or no 
later than 24 hours to the County. The written report shall provide sufficient details of the incident, 
including the date, time, circumstances and nature of injury or damage, and the name of the injured 
party, witnesses and Contracting Entity's Supervisor present at the time of the incident. The written 
report shall be submitted to Whatcom County Parks and Recreation Department Office or to the 
Range County personnel. 

H. Check out the Range key from the County's Representative. The Range key provides limited 
access to Range facilities. Access shall include: entry gate access, access to approved facilities, 
and public spaces. The Contracting Entity shall maintain control of the issued key at all times, 
including keeping the key secured when not in use and maintaining a log of any employees 
provided use of the key. The Contracting Entity shall not provide access to the key for vendors or 
contractors for any purpose. Any keys provided to the Contracting Entity may not be copied or 
duplicated. 

I. The Contracting Entity shall maintain a sign-in log for each exclusive use day. The log shall include, 
at a minimum, the signature of the Contracting Entity supervisor or coordinator, the Range Safety 
Officer, their phone numbers and all employees participating in Contracting Entity activities. The 
sign-in logs shall be provided to the County's Representative at least quarterly. 

J. The Contracting Entity and its participants must comply with all Federal, State and local laws. 

K. All litter, trash, or debris left by the Contracting Entity shall be picked up and disposed of in 
appropriate receptacles provided at the Range. 

L. No minors are allowed to be present at the Range during exclusive use. 

M. The Contracting Entity shall pay all costs associated with damage, destruction, or loss to the County 
at the Facilities as a result of the Contracting Entity's use and/or presence at the Range. 

Sedro-Woolley — 2021 
Plantation Rifle Range Use Agreement Page 2 of 6 

B. Schedule, in advance, with Whatcom County's representative exclusive use days for the Smallbore 
and High Power ranges. 

C. Assume full responsibility for safety of the entire Range during any period of exclusive use by the 
Contracting Entity. 

D. Be responsible for the conduct of members of the Contracting Entity while on the Range during 
exclusive use periods. Should any member violate the rules of the Range or safety rules, such 
member shall be immediately prohibited from further use of the Range that day and may not be 
allowed further use until such time the member is appropriately trained and the Contracting Entity 
feels assured that no further Range or safety rules will be violated by that member. 

E. Designate, and report to the County's Representative the name of an individual who shall act as a 
qualified supervisor and coordinator of all Contracting Entity's activities at the Range. This 
individual shall be the person with whom the County's Representative will work in connection with 
day-to-day matters of Range use, and who will be in direct charge during actual Range use. 

F. There shall be a Contracting Entity supervisor or coordinator and a Contracting Entity Range Safety 
Officer present at the Range at all times during exclusive use. The supervisor or coordinator shall 
terminate use of the range if any danger or safety risk is present at the facility and provide 
immediate electronic or verbal notice to the County, followed by a written notice to the County within 
24 hours detailing the danger or safety risk. The Range Safety Officer shall be responsible for 
supervising safe shooting activities, monitor and enforce safety and range rules, and range 
operations during times of exclusive use. (The Range Safety Officer may also function as the 
supervisor or coordinator.) 

G. A written report of all accidents, damage or injury that occurs shall be provided immediately or no 
later than 24 hours to the County. The written report shall provide sufficient details of the incident, 
including the date, time, circumstances and nature of injury or damage, and the name of the injured 
party, witnesses and Contracting Entity's Supervisor present at the time of the incident. The written 
report shall be submitted to Whatcom County Parks and Recreation Department Office or to the 
Range County personnel. 

H. Check out the Range key from the County's Representative. The Range key provides limited 
access to Range facilities. Access shall include: entry gate access, access to approved facilities, 
and public spaces. The Contracting Entity shall maintain control of the issued key at all times, 
including keeping the key secured when not in use and maintaining a log of any employees 
provided use of the key. The Contracting Entity shall not provide access to the key for vendors or 
contractors for any purpose. Any keys provided to the Contracting Entity may not be copied or 
duplicated. 

I. The Contracting Entity shall maintain a sign-in log for each exclusive use day. The log shall include, 
at a minimum, the signature of the Contracting Entity supervisor or coordinator, the Range Safety 
Officer, their phone numbers and all employees participating in Contracting Entity activities. The 
sign-in logs shall be provided to the County's Representative at least quarterly. 

J. The Contracting Entity and its participants must comply with all Federal, State and local laws. 

K. All litter, trash, or debris left by the Contracting Entity shall be picked up and disposed of in 
appropriate receptacles provided at the Range. 

L. No minors are allowed to be present at the Range during exclusive use. 

M. The Contracting Entity shall pay all costs associated with damage, destruction, or loss to the County 
at the Facilities as a result of the Contracting Entity's use and/or presence at the Range. 

Sedro-Woolley — 2021 
Plantation Rifle Range Use Agreement Page 2 of 6 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 30 of 248



USE OF THE RANGE 
A. The Contracting Entity shall have exclusive use of the Range in the year 2021 for ten (10) eight (8) 

hour days. The Contracting Entity will have the option of splitting an 8-hour day into two 4-hour 
days. All dates and times shall be determined by mutual agreement by the Contracting Entity and 
Whatcom County Parks and Recreation Department representatives. 
This exclusive use shall be by mutual agreement of both the Contracting Entity and the Whatcom 
County Parks and Recreation Department. Use dates scheduled, that are not canceled 48 hours 
in advance will be charged against the Contracting Entity's contract. 

B. Individual members of the Contracting Entity, who are counted as officers upon presentation of 
their Contracting Entity Law Enforcement identification card, shall be entitled to use of Range 
facilities without payment of regular fees. Provided, such use shall: 

• Be during periods when the Range is normally scheduled to be opened to the general public; 

• Be subject to all rules and conditions of use by the general public except for payment of fees; 

• Not interfere with normal, customary use of the Range; 

• The use is for practice and training as an officer. 

• Does not include supplies or Trap Range use. 

• Rights or use under this Agreement is not extended to Contracting Entity's family or friends. 

3. TERM OF AGREEMENT: 
The term of this Agreement shall be from January 1, 2021 through December 31, 2021. 

4. MANNER OF FINANCING: 
A. Contracting Entity shall pay a fee of six thousand two hundred eighty-nine dollars and thirty 

cents ($6,289.30). 

10 Days @ $590.95 per day = $ 5,909.50 (includes tax) 
20 Officers @ $18.99 per officer = $ 379.80 (includes tax) 

Total = $ 6,289.30 

B. The payment shall be due on or before sixty days of signed contract. Any additional days may be 
scheduled by mutual agreement of both parties. Payment for any use beyond the annual ten (10) 
day period shall be due within 30 days from approved contract. 

5. ADMINISTRATION: 
The following individuals are designated as representatives of the respective parties. The 
representatives shall be responsible for administration of this Agreement and for coordinating and 
monitoring performance under this Agreement. In the event such representatives are changed, the 
party making the change shall notify the other party. 

5.1 The Contracting Entity's representative shall be: 
Officer Derick Lowe 
(360) 661-6241 
dlowe@ci.sedro-woolley.wa.us 

5.2 Whatcom County's representative shall be: 
Reid Parker, Regional Park Supervisor 
(360) 296-6083 
RParker(@co.whatcom.wa.us 

Sedro-Woolley — 2021 
Plantation Rifle Range Use Agreement Page 3 of 6 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 31 of 248 

USE OF THE RANGE 
A. The Contracting Entity shall have exclusive use of the Range in the year 2021 for ten (10) eight (8) 

hour days. The Contracting Entity will have the option of splitting an 8-hour day into two 4-hour 
days. All dates and times shall be determined by mutual agreement by the Contracting Entity and 
Whatcom County Parks and Recreation Department representatives. 
This exclusive use shall be by mutual agreement of both the Contracting Entity and the Whatcom 
County Parks and Recreation Department. Use dates scheduled, that are not canceled 48 hours 
in advance will be charged against the Contracting Entity's contract. 

B. Individual members of the Contracting Entity, who are counted as officers upon presentation of 
their Contracting Entity Law Enforcement identification card, shall be entitled to use of Range 
facilities without payment of regular fees. Provided, such use shall: 

• Be during periods when the Range is normally scheduled to be opened to the general public; 

• Be subject to all rules and conditions of use by the general public except for payment of fees; 

• Not interfere with normal, customary use of the Range; 

• The use is for practice and training as an officer. 

• Does not include supplies or Trap Range use. 

• Rights or use under this Agreement is not extended to Contracting Entity's family or friends. 

3. TERM OF AGREEMENT: 
The term of this Agreement shall be from January 1, 2021 through December 31, 2021. 

4. MANNER OF FINANCING: 
A. Contracting Entity shall pay a fee of six thousand two hundred eighty-nine dollars and thirty 

cents ($6,289.30). 

10 Days @ $590.95 per day = $ 5,909.50 (includes tax) 
20 Officers @ $18.99 per officer = $ 379.80 (includes tax) 

Total = $ 6,289.30 

B. The payment shall be due on or before sixty days of signed contract. Any additional days may be 
scheduled by mutual agreement of both parties. Payment for any use beyond the annual ten (10) 
day period shall be due within 30 days from approved contract. 

5. ADMINISTRATION: 
The following individuals are designated as representatives of the respective parties. The 
representatives shall be responsible for administration of this Agreement and for coordinating and 
monitoring performance under this Agreement. In the event such representatives are changed, the 
party making the change shall notify the other party. 

5.1 The Contracting Entity's representative shall be: 
Officer Derick Lowe 
(360) 661-6241 
dlowe@ci.sedro-woolley.wa.us 

5.2 Whatcom County's representative shall be: 
Reid Parker, Regional Park Supervisor 
(360) 296-6083 
RParker(@co.whatcom.wa.us 

Sedro-Woolley — 2021 
Plantation Rifle Range Use Agreement Page 3 of 6 

USE OF THE RANGE 
A. The Contracting Entity shall have exclusive use of the Range in the year 2021 for ten (10) eight (8) 

hour days. The Contracting Entity will have the option of splitting an 8-hour day into two 4-hour 
days. All dates and times shall be determined by mutual agreement by the Contracting Entity and 
Whatcom County Parks and Recreation Department representatives. 
This exclusive use shall be by mutual agreement of both the Contracting Entity and the Whatcom 
County Parks and Recreation Department. Use dates scheduled, that are not canceled 48 hours 
in advance will be charged against the Contracting Entity's contract. 

B. Individual members of the Contracting Entity, who are counted as officers upon presentation of 
their Contracting Entity Law Enforcement identification card, shall be entitled to use of Range 
facilities without payment of regular fees. Provided, such use shall: 

• Be during periods when the Range is normally scheduled to be opened to the general public; 

• Be subject to all rules and conditions of use by the general public except for payment of fees; 

• Not interfere with normal, customary use of the Range; 

• The use is for practice and training as an officer. 

• Does not include supplies or Trap Range use. 

• Rights or use under this Agreement is not extended to Contracting Entity's family or friends. 

3. TERM OF AGREEMENT: 
The term of this Agreement shall be from January 1, 2021 through December 31, 2021. 

4. MANNER OF FINANCING: 
A. Contracting Entity shall pay a fee of six thousand two hundred eighty-nine dollars and thirty 

cents ($6,289.30). 

10 Days @ $590.95 per day = $ 5,909.50 (includes tax) 
20 Officers @ $18.99 per officer = $ 379.80 (includes tax) 

Total = $ 6,289.30 

B. The payment shall be due on or before sixty days of signed contract. Any additional days may be 
scheduled by mutual agreement of both parties. Payment for any use beyond the annual ten (10) 
day period shall be due within 30 days from approved contract. 

5. ADMINISTRATION: 
The following individuals are designated as representatives of the respective parties. The 
representatives shall be responsible for administration of this Agreement and for coordinating and 
monitoring performance under this Agreement. In the event such representatives are changed, the 
party making the change shall notify the other party. 

5.1 The Contracting Entity's representative shall be: 
Officer Derick Lowe 
(360) 661-6241 
dlowe@ci.sedro-woolley.wa.us 

5.2 Whatcom County's representative shall be: 
Reid Parker, Regional Park Supervisor 
(360) 296-6083 
RParker(@co.whatcom.wa.us 

Sedro-Woolley — 2021 
Plantation Rifle Range Use Agreement Page 3 of 6 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 31 of 248



6. TREATMENT OF ASSETS AND PROPERTY: 
No fixed assets or personal or real property will be jointly or cooperatively, acquired, held, used, or 
disposed of pursuant to this Agreement. 

7. INDEMNIFICATION: 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Contracting Entity agrees to indemnify, defend and hold the 
County and its departments, elected and appointed officials, employees, agents and volunteers, 
harmless from and against any and all claims, damages, losses and expenses, including but not limited 
to court costs, attorney's fees and alternative dispute resolution costs, for any personal injury, for any 
bodily injury, sickness, disease or death and for any damage to or destruction of any property (including 
the loss of use resulting therefrom) which 1) are caused in whole or in part by any act or omission, 
negligent or otherwise, of the Contracting Entity, its employees, agents, participants or volunteers or 
Contracting Entity's subcontractors and their employees, agents or volunteers; or 2) are directly or 
indirectly arising out of, resulting from, or in connection with Contracting Entity's activity and use 
under this Agreement; or 3) are based upon the Contracting Entity or their participants, employees, 
agents, or volunteers, or its subcontractors' use of, presence upon or proximity to the property of the 
County. This indemnification obligation of the Contracting Entity shall not apply in the limited 
circumstance where the claim, damage, loss or expense is caused by the sole negligence of the 
County. 

This indemnification obligation of the Contracting Entity shall not be limited in any way by the 
Washington State Industrial Insurance Act, RCW Title 51, or by application of any other workmen's 
compensation act, disability benefit act or other employee benefit act, and the Contracting Entity hereby 
expressly waives any immunity afforded by such acts. The foregoing indemnification obligations of the 
Contracting Entity are a material inducement to County to enter into this Agreement, and have been 
mutually negotiated by the parties. 

It is further provided that no liability shall attach to the County be reason of entering into this Agreement, 
except as expressly provided herein. The parties specifically agree that this Agreement is for the 
benefit of the parties only and this Agreement shall create no rights in any third party. The County 
reserves the right, but not the obligation, to participate in the defense of any claim, damages, losses 
or expenses and such participation shall not constitute a waiver of Contracting Entity's indemnity 
obligations under this Agreement. 

The Contracting Entity agrees all Contracting Entity's indemnity obligations shall survive the 
completion, expiration or termination of this Agreement. 

In the event the Contracting Entity enters into subcontracts to the extent allowed under this Agreement, 
the Contracting Entity's subcontractors shall indemnify the County on a basis equal to or exceeding 
Contracting Entity's indemnity obligations to the County. All insurance shall be per occurrence. 

8. INSURANCE: 
Each Party shall maintain its own insurance and/or self-insurance for its liabilities from damage to 
property and/or injuries to persons arising out of its activities associated with this Agreement as it 
deems reasonably appropriate and prudent. The maintenance of, or lack thereof of insurance and/or 
self-insurance shall not limit the liability of the indemnifying party to the indemnified party. 

9. TERMINATION: 
Any party hereto may terminate this Agreement upon thirty (30) days' notice in writing either personally 
delivered or mailed postage-prepaid by certified mail, return receipt requested, to the party's last known 
address for the purposes of giving notice under this paragraph. If this Agreement is so terminated, the 
parties shall be liable only for performance rendered or costs incurred in accordance with the terms of 
this Agreement prior to the effective date of termination. 

Sedro-Woolley — 2021 
Plantation Rifle Range Use Agreement Page 4 of 6 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 32 of 248 

6. TREATMENT OF ASSETS AND PROPERTY: 
No fixed assets or personal or real property will be jointly or cooperatively, acquired, held, used, or 
disposed of pursuant to this Agreement. 

7. INDEMNIFICATION: 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Contracting Entity agrees to indemnify, defend and hold the 
County and its departments, elected and appointed officials, employees, agents and volunteers, 
harmless from and against any and all claims, damages, losses and expenses, including but not limited 
to court costs, attorney's fees and alternative dispute resolution costs, for any personal injury, for any 
bodily injury, sickness, disease or death and for any damage to or destruction of any property (including 
the loss of use resulting therefrom) which 1) are caused in whole or in part by any act or omission, 
negligent or otherwise, of the Contracting Entity, its employees, agents, participants or volunteers or 
Contracting Entity's subcontractors and their employees, agents or volunteers; or 2) are directly or 
indirectly arising out of, resulting from, or in connection with Contracting Entity's activity and use 
under this Agreement; or 3) are based upon the Contracting Entity or their participants, employees, 
agents, or volunteers, or its subcontractors' use of, presence upon or proximity to the property of the 
County. This indemnification obligation of the Contracting Entity shall not apply in the limited 
circumstance where the claim, damage, loss or expense is caused by the sole negligence of the 
County. 

This indemnification obligation of the Contracting Entity shall not be limited in any way by the 
Washington State Industrial Insurance Act, RCW Title 51, or by application of any other workmen's 
compensation act, disability benefit act or other employee benefit act, and the Contracting Entity hereby 
expressly waives any immunity afforded by such acts. The foregoing indemnification obligations of the 
Contracting Entity are a material inducement to County to enter into this Agreement, and have been 
mutually negotiated by the parties. 

It is further provided that no liability shall attach to the County be reason of entering into this Agreement, 
except as expressly provided herein. The parties specifically agree that this Agreement is for the 
benefit of the parties only and this Agreement shall create no rights in any third party. The County 
reserves the right, but not the obligation, to participate in the defense of any claim, damages, losses 
or expenses and such participation shall not constitute a waiver of Contracting Entity's indemnity 
obligations under this Agreement. 

The Contracting Entity agrees all Contracting Entity's indemnity obligations shall survive the 
completion, expiration or termination of this Agreement. 

In the event the Contracting Entity enters into subcontracts to the extent allowed under this Agreement, 
the Contracting Entity's subcontractors shall indemnify the County on a basis equal to or exceeding 
Contracting Entity's indemnity obligations to the County. All insurance shall be per occurrence. 

8. INSURANCE: 
Each Party shall maintain its own insurance and/or self-insurance for its liabilities from damage to 
property and/or injuries to persons arising out of its activities associated with this Agreement as it 
deems reasonably appropriate and prudent. The maintenance of, or lack thereof of insurance and/or 
self-insurance shall not limit the liability of the indemnifying party to the indemnified party. 

9. TERMINATION: 
Any party hereto may terminate this Agreement upon thirty (30) days' notice in writing either personally 
delivered or mailed postage-prepaid by certified mail, return receipt requested, to the party's last known 
address for the purposes of giving notice under this paragraph. If this Agreement is so terminated, the 
parties shall be liable only for performance rendered or costs incurred in accordance with the terms of 
this Agreement prior to the effective date of termination. 

Sedro-Woolley — 2021 
Plantation Rifle Range Use Agreement Page 4 of 6 

6. TREATMENT OF ASSETS AND PROPERTY: 
No fixed assets or personal or real property will be jointly or cooperatively, acquired, held, used, or 
disposed of pursuant to this Agreement. 

7. INDEMNIFICATION: 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Contracting Entity agrees to indemnify, defend and hold the 
County and its departments, elected and appointed officials, employees, agents and volunteers, 
harmless from and against any and all claims, damages, losses and expenses, including but not limited 
to court costs, attorney's fees and alternative dispute resolution costs, for any personal injury, for any 
bodily injury, sickness, disease or death and for any damage to or destruction of any property (including 
the loss of use resulting therefrom) which 1) are caused in whole or in part by any act or omission, 
negligent or otherwise, of the Contracting Entity, its employees, agents, participants or volunteers or 
Contracting Entity's subcontractors and their employees, agents or volunteers; or 2) are directly or 
indirectly arising out of, resulting from, or in connection with Contracting Entity's activity and use 
under this Agreement; or 3) are based upon the Contracting Entity or their participants, employees, 
agents, or volunteers, or its subcontractors' use of, presence upon or proximity to the property of the 
County. This indemnification obligation of the Contracting Entity shall not apply in the limited 
circumstance where the claim, damage, loss or expense is caused by the sole negligence of the 
County. 

This indemnification obligation of the Contracting Entity shall not be limited in any way by the 
Washington State Industrial Insurance Act, RCW Title 51, or by application of any other workmen's 
compensation act, disability benefit act or other employee benefit act, and the Contracting Entity hereby 
expressly waives any immunity afforded by such acts. The foregoing indemnification obligations of the 
Contracting Entity are a material inducement to County to enter into this Agreement, and have been 
mutually negotiated by the parties. 

It is further provided that no liability shall attach to the County be reason of entering into this Agreement, 
except as expressly provided herein. The parties specifically agree that this Agreement is for the 
benefit of the parties only and this Agreement shall create no rights in any third party. The County 
reserves the right, but not the obligation, to participate in the defense of any claim, damages, losses 
or expenses and such participation shall not constitute a waiver of Contracting Entity's indemnity 
obligations under this Agreement. 

The Contracting Entity agrees all Contracting Entity's indemnity obligations shall survive the 
completion, expiration or termination of this Agreement. 

In the event the Contracting Entity enters into subcontracts to the extent allowed under this Agreement, 
the Contracting Entity's subcontractors shall indemnify the County on a basis equal to or exceeding 
Contracting Entity's indemnity obligations to the County. All insurance shall be per occurrence. 

8. INSURANCE: 
Each Party shall maintain its own insurance and/or self-insurance for its liabilities from damage to 
property and/or injuries to persons arising out of its activities associated with this Agreement as it 
deems reasonably appropriate and prudent. The maintenance of, or lack thereof of insurance and/or 
self-insurance shall not limit the liability of the indemnifying party to the indemnified party. 

9. TERMINATION: 
Any party hereto may terminate this Agreement upon thirty (30) days' notice in writing either personally 
delivered or mailed postage-prepaid by certified mail, return receipt requested, to the party's last known 
address for the purposes of giving notice under this paragraph. If this Agreement is so terminated, the 
parties shall be liable only for performance rendered or costs incurred in accordance with the terms of 
this Agreement prior to the effective date of termination. 

Sedro-Woolley — 2021 
Plantation Rifle Range Use Agreement Page 4 of 6 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 32 of 248



9. CHANGES, MODIFICATIONS, AMENDMENTS AND WAIVERS: 
The Agreement may be changed, modified, amended or waived only by written agreement executed 
by the Parties hereto. Waiver or breach of any term or condition of this Agreement shall not be 
considered a waiver of any prior or subsequent breach. 

10. EXTENSION: 
This Agreement be extended by mutual written consent of the parties, for a period of up to one year at 
a time, and for a total of no longer than three (3) years. 

11. SEVERABILITY: 
In the event any term or condition of this Agreement or application thereof to any person or 
circumstances is held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect other terms, conditions or applications of 
this Agreement which can be given effect without the invalid term, condition, or application. To this end 
the terms and conditions of this Agreement are declared severable. 

12. ENTIRE AGREEMENT: 
This Agreement contains all the terms and conditions agreed upon by the parties. All items incorporated 
herein by reference are attached. No other understandings, oral or otherwise, regarding the subject 
matter of this Agreement shall be deemed to exist or to bind any of the parties hereto. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement this day of 

APPROVED: 

SEDRO-WOOLLEY POLICE DEPARTMENT 

Dated this day of , 20_. 

Julia Johnson, Mayor 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

Nikki Thompson, City Attorney 

Sedro-Woolley — 2021 
Plantation Rifle Range Use Agreement Page 5 of 6 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 33 of 248 

9. CHANGES, MODIFICATIONS, AMENDMENTS AND WAIVERS: 
The Agreement may be changed, modified, amended or waived only by written agreement executed 
by the Parties hereto. Waiver or breach of any term or condition of this Agreement shall not be 
considered a waiver of any prior or subsequent breach. 

10. EXTENSION: 
This Agreement be extended by mutual written consent of the parties, for a period of up to one year at 
a time, and for a total of no longer than three (3) years. 

11. SEVERABILITY: 
In the event any term or condition of this Agreement or application thereof to any person or 
circumstances is held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect other terms, conditions or applications of 
this Agreement which can be given effect without the invalid term, condition, or application. To this end 
the terms and conditions of this Agreement are declared severable. 

12. ENTIRE AGREEMENT: 
This Agreement contains all the terms and conditions agreed upon by the parties. All items incorporated 
herein by reference are attached. No other understandings, oral or otherwise, regarding the subject 
matter of this Agreement shall be deemed to exist or to bind any of the parties hereto. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement this day of 

APPROVED: 

SEDRO-WOOLLEY POLICE DEPARTMENT 

Dated this day of , 20_. 

Julia Johnson, Mayor 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

Nikki Thompson, City Attorney 

Sedro-Woolley — 2021 
Plantation Rifle Range Use Agreement Page 5 of 6 

9. CHANGES, MODIFICATIONS, AMENDMENTS AND WAIVERS: 
The Agreement may be changed, modified, amended or waived only by written agreement executed 
by the Parties hereto. Waiver or breach of any term or condition of this Agreement shall not be 
considered a waiver of any prior or subsequent breach. 

10. EXTENSION: 
This Agreement be extended by mutual written consent of the parties, for a period of up to one year at 
a time, and for a total of no longer than three (3) years. 

11. SEVERABILITY: 
In the event any term or condition of this Agreement or application thereof to any person or 
circumstances is held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect other terms, conditions or applications of 
this Agreement which can be given effect without the invalid term, condition, or application. To this end 
the terms and conditions of this Agreement are declared severable. 

12. ENTIRE AGREEMENT: 
This Agreement contains all the terms and conditions agreed upon by the parties. All items incorporated 
herein by reference are attached. No other understandings, oral or otherwise, regarding the subject 
matter of this Agreement shall be deemed to exist or to bind any of the parties hereto. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement this day of 

APPROVED: 

SEDRO-WOOLLEY POLICE DEPARTMENT 

Dated this day of , 20_. 

Julia Johnson, Mayor 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

Nikki Thompson, City Attorney 

Sedro-Woolley — 2021 
Plantation Rifle Range Use Agreement Page 5 of 6 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 33 of 248



WHATCOM COUNTY 

Satpal Sidhu, County Executive 

STATE OF WASHINGTON) 
) ss. 

COUNTY OF WHATCOM ) 

On this day of , 20_, before me personally appeared Satpal Sidhu, to me known 
to be the County Executive of WHATCOM COUNTY and who executed the above instrument and 
who acknowledged to me the act of signing and sealing thereof. 

Given under my hand and official seal this  day of , 20 . 

NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the State of Washington, 
residing at 
My Commission expires: 

WHATCOM COUNTY PARKS & RECREATION 
DEPARTMENT 

Michael McFarlane, Director 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

County Deputy Prosecuting Attorney 

Sedro-Woolley — 2021 
Plantation Rifle Range Use Agreement Page 6 of 6 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 34 of 248 

WHATCOM COUNTY 

Satpal Sidhu, County Executive 

STATE OF WASHINGTON) 
) ss. 

COUNTY OF WHATCOM ) 

On this day of , 20_, before me personally appeared Satpal Sidhu, to me known 
to be the County Executive of WHATCOM COUNTY and who executed the above instrument and 
who acknowledged to me the act of signing and sealing thereof. 

Given under my hand and official seal this  day of , 20 . 

NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the State of Washington, 
residing at 
My Commission expires: 

WHATCOM COUNTY PARKS & RECREATION 
DEPARTMENT 

Michael McFarlane, Director 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

County Deputy Prosecuting Attorney 

Sedro-Woolley — 2021 
Plantation Rifle Range Use Agreement Page 6 of 6 

WHATCOM COUNTY 

Satpal Sidhu, County Executive 

STATE OF WASHINGTON) 
) ss. 

COUNTY OF WHATCOM ) 

On this day of , 20_, before me personally appeared Satpal Sidhu, to me known 
to be the County Executive of WHATCOM COUNTY and who executed the above instrument and 
who acknowledged to me the act of signing and sealing thereof. 

Given under my hand and official seal this  day of , 20 . 

NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the State of Washington, 
residing at 
My Commission expires: 

WHATCOM COUNTY PARKS & RECREATION 
DEPARTMENT 

Michael McFarlane, Director 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

County Deputy Prosecuting Attorney 

Sedro-Woolley — 2021 
Plantation Rifle Range Use Agreement Page 6 of 6 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 34 of 248



O,sli-R91144,
City of Sedro-Woolley 
City Council Agenda Item 

Name: 

Address: 

Narrative: 

Name: 

Address 

Narrative: 

Name: 

Address: 

Narrative: 

Name: 

Address: 

Narrative: 

Name: 

Address: 

Narrative: 

Agenda Item No. j 

Date: May 26, 2021 

Subject: Public Comments 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 35 of 248 

O.111,.§:":iihe 
City of Sedro-Woolley 
City Council Agenda Item 

Name: 

Address: 

Narrative: 

Name: 

Address 

Narrative: 

Name: 

Address: 

Narrative: 

Name: 

Address: 

Narrative: 

Name: 

Address: 

Narrative: 

Agenda Item No. j 

Date: May 26, 2021 

Subject: Public Comments 

O.111,.§:":iihe 
City of Sedro-Woolley 
City Council Agenda Item 

Name: 

Address: 

Narrative: 

Name: 

Address 

Narrative: 

Name: 

Address: 

Narrative: 

Name: 

Address: 

Narrative: 

Name: 

Address: 

Narrative: 

Agenda Item No. j 

Date: May 26, 2021 

Subject: Public Comments 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 35 of 248



velletg 0§711;;c4ASC440-ekes-

City of Sedro-Woolley 
City Council Agenda Item 

FROM: John Coleman, AICP, Planning Director 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 

Agenda Item No. 

Date: May 26, 2021 

Subject: Amendments to the Shoreline Master 
Program 

Make a motion to adopt Ordinance No.1983-21, an ordinance or the city of Sedro-Woolley, Washington 
adopting amendments to the Shoreline Master Program. 

ISSUE: 

Should the City Council adopt the Planning Commission's recommended amendments to the Shoreline 
Master Program? 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY INFORMATION: 

The Washington State Shoreline Management Act (SMA) requires that each city and county with shorelines of 
the state must prepare and adopt a Shoreline Master Program (SMP) that is based on state laws and rules 
but is tailored to the specific geographic, economic and environmental needs of the community. Sedro-
Woolley last adopted SMP documents in 2016 and is now finishing a required periodic update of the SMP in 
accordance with State rules and guidelines. There are not many changes to the SMP as a result of this 
update. Changes include updates to bring the SMP into compliance with changes to the RCW and the WAC, 
reformatting and updating any information presented in the SMP that is outdated or no longer relevant. 

The proposed amendments to the adopted SMP can be seen in Exhibit 1 of the attached ordinance. 
Amendments to the SMP include updates for cost thresholds and minor adjustments to language consistent 
with Ecology example language. There are no substantial changes to this document as part of the 2021 
periodic review process. 

The proposed changes also include minor amendments to the Shoreline Critical Area Regulations (which is 
Appendix C to SMP). Amendments to the adopted Shoreline Critical Area Regulations include new wetland 
buffer tables and minor language changes that provide more clarity consistent with Department of Ecology 
example language and guidance. The amendments to this document will result in increased wetland buffer 
requirements that are based on the impact of adjacent land uses. The two requirements are described in two 
corresponding tables. Changes to this document also include clarified requirements for a 25% reduction in 
wetland buffer widths. The clarifications specify that a report by a qualified professional will be required to 
demonstrate that the functions and values of the wetland are not decreased with a 25% buffer reduction. The 
changes can be seen on pages 29-31 of Appendix C to the SMP. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 36 of 248 

-,IN 
CITY OF 

$ 1492V,224 

-,IN 
CITY OF 

$ 1492V,224 
   
   
  City of Sedro-Woolley 
  City Council Agenda Item 

     Agenda Item No. ____l-1__________ 

     Date:      May 26, 2021 

      
     Subject: Amendments to the Shoreline Master 

Program 

       

 
  
  

FROM:    John Coleman, AICP, Planning Director 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:   

 
Make a motion to adopt Ordinance No.1983-21, an ordinance or the city of Sedro-Woolley, Washington 
adopting amendments to the Shoreline Master Program.  
 

 
ISSUE:   
 
Should the City Council adopt the Planning Commission’s recommended amendments to the Shoreline 
Master Program? 
 
 
BACKGROUND / SUMMARY INFORMATION:  
 

The Washington State Shoreline Management Act (SMA) requires that each city and county with shorelines of 
the state must prepare and adopt a Shoreline Master Program (SMP) that is based on state laws and rules 
but is tailored to the specific geographic, economic and environmental needs of the community. Sedro-
Woolley last adopted SMP documents in 2016 and is now finishing a required periodic update of the SMP in 
accordance with State rules and guidelines. There are not many changes to the SMP as a result of this 
update. Changes include updates to bring the SMP into compliance with changes to the RCW and the WAC, 
reformatting and updating any information presented in the SMP that is outdated or no longer relevant. 

 

The proposed amendments to the adopted SMP can be seen in Exhibit 1 of the attached ordinance. 
Amendments to the SMP include updates for cost thresholds and minor adjustments to language consistent 
with Ecology example language. There are no substantial changes to this document as part of the 2021 
periodic review process.  

 

The proposed changes also include minor amendments to the Shoreline Critical Area Regulations (which is 
Appendix C to SMP). Amendments to the adopted Shoreline Critical Area Regulations include new wetland 
buffer tables and minor language changes that provide more clarity consistent with Department of Ecology 
example language and guidance. The amendments to this document will result in increased wetland buffer 
requirements that are based on the impact of adjacent land uses. The two requirements are described in two 
corresponding tables. Changes to this document also include clarified requirements for a 25% reduction in 
wetland buffer widths. The clarifications specify that a report by a qualified professional will be required to 
demonstrate that the functions and values of the wetland are not decreased with a 25% buffer reduction. The 
changes can be seen on pages 29-31 of Appendix C to the SMP. 

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 36 of 248



After holding a public hearing on March 16, 2021, the Planning Commission reviewed the proposed 
amendments. The Planning Commission made a motion to recommend that the City Council approve the 
proposed amendments (Exhibit 1 of the proposed Ordinance). The Planning Commission's Findings of Fact, 
Conclusions and Recommendation (Attachment 2 of this memo) addresses the topics they discussed and the 
procedural history of their review. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Proposed Ordinance No.1983-21 adopting amendments to the Shoreline Master Program. 
2. Planning Commission Findings of Fact, Conclusions and Recommendation. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 37 of 248 

After holding a public hearing on March 16, 2021, the Planning Commission reviewed the proposed 
amendments. The Planning Commission made a motion to recommend that the City Council approve the 
proposed amendments (Exhibit 1 of the proposed Ordinance). The Planning Commission’s Findings of Fact, 
Conclusions and Recommendation (Attachment 2 of this memo) addresses the topics they discussed and the 
procedural history of their review.  

 
 
 ATTACHMENTS:  

 
1. Proposed Ordinance No.1983-21 adopting amendments to the Shoreline Master Program. 
2. Planning Commission Findings of Fact, Conclusions and Recommendation.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 37 of 248



Attachment A to Council memo 

Ordinance 1983-21 to adopt amendments to the Shoreline Master Program 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 38 of 248 

Attachment A to Council memo 

 
Ordinance 1983-21 to adopt amendments to the Shoreline Master Program 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 38 of 248



ORDINANCE NO. 1983-21 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF SEDRO-WOOLLEY, WASHINGTON, ADOPTING 
AMENDMENTS TO THE SHORELINE MASTER PROGRAM. 

WHEREAS, the Washington State Shoreline Management Act (SMA) requires that local 
jurisdictions develop master plans that constitute use regulations for shorelines of statewide 
significance, and 

WHEREAS, in accordance with the SMA, the City adopted major amendments to the city 
Shoreline Master Program (SMP) through Ordinance 1847-16 in 2016, and 

WHEREAS, the City of Sedro-Woolley is required to update its Shoreline Master Program 
pursuant to the SMA in 2021; and 

WHEREAS, the Growth Management Act (GMA) mandates that the City maintain a 
Comprehensive Plan including goals directed at management of the City shorelines; and 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission, acting as the Shorelines Citizens Advisory Committee, 
held one public visioning meeting on January 19, 2021 and two public hearings (February 16 and 
March 16, 2021) and has reviewed and recommended that the City Council approve updated 
SMP documents; and 

WHEREAS, the requirements for public participation in the development of this amendment as 
required by the GMA, SMA and SWMC have all been met; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to RCW 36.70A.106, a notice of intent to adopt amendments to the city 
development regulations was sent to the Washington State Department of Commerce on March 
11, 2021; and 

WHEREAS, in compliance with the terms, conditions and procedures of the State Environmental 
Policy Act (SEPA) and Chapter 2.88 SWMC, an environmental assessment of the proposed 
amendments to the SMP was performed and a determination of non-significance (DNS) was 
issued March 31, 2021 and no appeals were filed prior to the close of the appeal period on April 
14, 2021; and 

WHEREAS, City Council concludes that the amendments to the SMP will result in no net loss in 
shoreline ecological function relative to the baseline due to its implementation and will 
ultimately produce a net improvement in shoreline ecological function; and 

WHEREAS, the Sedro-Woolley City Council concludes that the amendments to the SMP are 
consistent with and meets the Guidelines established under WAC 173.26, including conducting 
open houses and public hearings, notice, consultation with parties of interest and solicitation of 
comments from tribes, government agencies and the Department of Ecology; and 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 39 of 248 

ORDINANCE NO. 1983-21 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF SEDRO-WOOLLEY, WASHINGTON, ADOPTING 

AMENDMENTS TO THE SHORELINE MASTER PROGRAM. 

 

 

WHEREAS, the Washington State Shoreline Management Act (SMA) requires that local 

jurisdictions develop master plans that constitute use regulations for shorelines of statewide 

significance, and  

 

WHEREAS, in accordance with the SMA, the City adopted major amendments to the city 

Shoreline Master Program (SMP) through Ordinance 1847-16 in 2016, and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Sedro-Woolley is required to update its Shoreline Master Program 

pursuant to the SMA in 2021; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Growth Management Act (GMA) mandates that the City maintain a 

Comprehensive Plan including goals directed at management of the City shorelines; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission, acting as the Shorelines Citizens Advisory Committee, 

held one public visioning meeting on January 19, 2021 and two public hearings (February 16 and 

March 16, 2021) and has reviewed and recommended that the City Council approve updated 

SMP documents; and 

 

WHEREAS, the requirements for public participation in the development of this amendment as 

required by the GMA, SMA and SWMC have all been met; and  

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to RCW 36.70A.106, a notice of intent to adopt amendments to the city 

development regulations was sent to the Washington State Department of Commerce on March 

11, 2021; and 

 

WHEREAS, in compliance with the terms, conditions and procedures of the State Environmental 

Policy Act (SEPA) and Chapter 2.88 SWMC, an environmental assessment of the proposed 

amendments to the SMP was performed and a determination of non-significance (DNS) was 

issued March 31, 2021 and no appeals were filed prior to the close of the appeal period on April 

14, 2021; and 

 

WHEREAS, City Council concludes that the amendments to the SMP will result in no net loss in 

shoreline ecological function relative to the baseline due to its implementation and will 

ultimately produce a net improvement in shoreline ecological function; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Sedro-Woolley City Council concludes that the amendments to the SMP are 

consistent with and meets the Guidelines established under WAC 173.26, including conducting 

open houses and public hearings, notice, consultation with parties of interest and solicitation of 

comments from tribes, government agencies and the Department of Ecology; and  

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 39 of 248



WHEREAS, the Sedro-Woolley City Council's adoption of the amendments to the SMP will be 
determined to be fmal by the Department of Ecology following the Department of Ecology's 
required review and appeal period; and 

WHEREAS, the Sedro-Woolley City Council concludes that the amendments to the SMP are 
consistent with and meets the Guidelines established under WAC 173.26, including conducting 
open houses and public hearings, notice, consultation with parties of interest and solicitation of 
comments from tribes, government agencies and the Department of Ecology; and 

WHEREAS, the Sedro-Woolley City Council concludes that the SMP is consistent with and 
implements the SMA (RCW 90.28) and the Growth Management Act (RCW 36.70A); and 

WHEREAS, the City Council has concluded that it is in the best interest of the public health, 
safety and welfare to adopt this ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council adopts the forgoing as its findings of fact justifying its adoption of 
this Ordinance; now, therefore, 

THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SEDRO-WOOLLEY, WASHINGTON, DO 
HEREBY ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. Exhibit 1 attached hereto and incorporated herein in its entirety by this reference 
is hereby adopted as the City of Sedro-Woolley Shoreline Master Program and shall be codified 
under Chapter 17.96 of the Sedro-Woolley Municipal Code. SWMC 17.96.010 is amended to 
read as follows: 

The city of Sedro-Woolley shoreline master program is set forth in Exhibit 1 attached to 
Ordinance No. 1847 16 Ordinance No. 1983-21. A copy of the Sedro-Woolley shoreline 
master program (and any amendments thereto) is available at the office of the Sedro-
Woolley planning department. 

Section 2. Upon adoption of this ordinance, staff is directed to submit the SMP amendments 
for final Department of Ecology approval as outlined in WAC 173-26-110. 

Section 3. This ordinance shall be in force and take effect five (5) days after its publication 
according to law. 

Section 4. If any section, sentence, clause, or phrase of this ordinance should be held to be 
invalid or unconstitutional by a court of competent jurisdiction, such invalidity or 
unconstitutionality shall not affect the validity or constitutionality of any other section, sentence, 
clause, or phrase of this ordinance. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 40 of 248 

 

WHEREAS, the Sedro-Woolley City Council’s adoption of the amendments to the SMP will be 

determined to be final by the Department of Ecology following the Department of Ecology’s 

required review and appeal period; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Sedro-Woolley City Council concludes that the amendments to the SMP are 

consistent with and meets the Guidelines established under WAC 173.26, including conducting 

open houses and public hearings, notice, consultation with parties of interest and solicitation of 

comments from tribes, government agencies and the Department of Ecology; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Sedro-Woolley City Council concludes that the SMP is consistent with and 

implements the SMA (RCW 90.28) and the Growth Management Act (RCW 36.70A); and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council has concluded that it is in the best interest of the public health, 

safety and welfare to adopt this ordinance; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council adopts the forgoing as its findings of fact justifying its adoption of 

this Ordinance; now, therefore,  

 

 

THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SEDRO-WOOLLEY, WASHINGTON, DO 

HEREBY ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

 

 

Section 1.   Exhibit 1 attached hereto and incorporated herein in its entirety by this reference 

is hereby adopted as the City of Sedro-Woolley Shoreline Master Program and shall be codified 

under Chapter 17.96 of the Sedro-Woolley Municipal Code. SWMC 17.96.010 is amended to 

read as follows: 

 

The city of Sedro-Woolley shoreline master program is set forth in Exhibit 1 attached to 

Ordinance No. 1847-16 Ordinance No. 1983-21. A copy of the Sedro-Woolley shoreline 

master program (and any amendments thereto) is available at the office of the Sedro-

Woolley planning department. 

 

Section 2.  Upon adoption of this ordinance, staff is directed to submit the SMP amendments 

for final Department of Ecology approval as outlined in WAC 173-26-110. 

 

Section 3.  This ordinance shall be in force and take effect five (5) days after its publication 

according to law.  

 

Section 4.  If any section, sentence, clause, or phrase of this ordinance should be held to be 

invalid or unconstitutional by a court of competent jurisdiction, such invalidity or 

unconstitutionality shall not affect the validity or constitutionality of any other section, sentence, 

clause, or phrase of this ordinance. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 40 of 248



PASSED by majority vote of the members of the Sedro-Woolley City Council this 26th day of 
May, 2021, and signed in authentication of its passage this day of May, 2021. 

By: 
JULIA JOHNSON, Mayor 

Attest: 
DOUG MERRIMAN, Finance Director 

Approved as to form: 

NIKKI THOMPSON, City Attorney 

Published: , 2021 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 41 of 248 

PASSED by majority vote of the members of the Sedro-Woolley City Council this 26th day of 

May, 2021, and signed in authentication of its passage this _________ day of May, 2021. 

 

 

By:      ______________________________________ 

JULIA JOHNSON, Mayor      

 

 

 

Attest: ______________________________________  

  DOUG MERRIMAN, Finance Director 

 

Approved as to form: 

 

 

___________________________________  

NIKKI THOMPSON, City Attorney 

 

Published: ___________, 2021 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 41 of 248



CITY OF 

V0"N 
DRO : WO OLL

Ze\ iko .nJ To THE NORTH 
CASCADE 

City of Sedro-Woolley 
Shoreline Management Program Update 

J 

Shoreline Management Program 
SEPTEMBER 20I3FEBRUARY 2021 

City of Sedro-Woolley 
Department of Ecology Grant No. 1921-CiSedr-00052G1400233

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 42 of 248 

4,41,k4; 
CITY OF 

/el:AO -WO OLL 
TO THE NORTH SC,941,8

GO"

City of Sedro-Woolley 
Shoreline Management Program Update 

4 

4itffir 
1r 

.404. 4.• 

ur 

S a1 

3 

Shoreline Management Program 
SEPTEMBElk-2043FEBRUARY  2021 

City of Sedro-Woolley 
Department of Ecology Grant No. 1921-CiSedr-00052G-1400233

74, 

‘. 

w 

 

 
 

City of Sedro-Woolley 
Shoreline Management Program Update 

 

 
 

Shoreline Management Program  
SEPTEMBER 2013FEBRUARY 2021 

 
City of Sedro-Woolley 

Department of Ecology Grant No. 1921-CiSedr-00052G1100233 

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 42 of 248

jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit 1To OrdinanceNo.1983-21



Contents 
Chapter 1 — Introduction 4 
Chapter 2 — Definitions 6 
Chapter 3 — Shoreline Management Goals 18 

A. INTRODUCTION 18 
B. SPECIFIC SHORELINE GOALS 18 

1. Economic Development Element 18 
2. Public Access Element 19 
3. Recreation Element 19 
4. Circulation Element 20 
5. Shoreline Land Use Element 20 
6. Conservation Element 20 
7. Historic/Cultural/Scientific/Educational Element 21 
8. Flood Hazard Management Element 21 

Chapter 4 — Shoreline Environment Designations 22 
I. General 22 
II. "Urban Conservancy' environment 23 
III. "Aquatic" Environment 24 
IV. Shoreline Environment Designation Maps 25 
V. Consistency with Comprehensive Plan 25 
VI. Preferred Uses 26 
VII. Shoreline Use Preferences and Shorelines of Statewide Significance 27 

Chapter 5 — Policies and Regulations 30 
5.1 — General Policies and Regulations 30 

A. Policies and Regulations Applicable to all Shorelines 30 
B. Archaeological and Historic Resources 31 
C. Critical Areas 32 
D. Flood Hazard Reduction 33 
E. Public Access 34 
F. Vegetation Conservation 37 
G. Water Quality 38 

5.2 - Shoreline Use and Modification Tables 39 
A. Permitted Use and Modification Table 39 
B. Shoreline Modification Table 40 

5.3 - Specific Shoreline Use Policies and Regulations 41 
A. Introduction 41 
B. Prohibited Uses 41 
C. Agriculture 41 
D. Boating Facilities 43 
E. Commercial Development 44 
F. In-Stream Structures 46 
G. Recreational Development 47 
H. Residential Development 48 
I. Transportation Facilities 49 
J. Utilities  50 

5.4 Shoreline Modification Provisions 52 

- 2 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 43 of 248 

 - 2 - 

 

 

 

 

Contents 
Chapter 1 – Introduction .............................................................................................................. 4 

Chapter 2 – Definitions ................................................................................................................ 6 

Chapter 3 – Shoreline Management Goals ............................................................................ 18 

A. INTRODUCTION ............................................................................................................... 18 

B. SPECIFIC SHORELINE GOALS .................................................................................... 18 

1. Economic Development Element ................................................................................ 18 

2. Public Access Element ................................................................................................. 19 

3. Recreation Element ....................................................................................................... 19 

4. Circulation Element ....................................................................................................... 20 

5. Shoreline Land Use Element ....................................................................................... 20 

6. Conservation Element ................................................................................................... 20 

7. Historic/Cultural/Scientific/Educational Element ....................................................... 21 

8. Flood Hazard Management Element .......................................................................... 21 

Chapter 4 – Shoreline Environment Designations ................................................................ 22 

I. General ................................................................................................................................. 22 

II. “Urban Conservancy” environment ................................................................................. 23 

III. “Aquatic” Environment ..................................................................................................... 24 

IV. Shoreline Environment Designation Maps ................................................................... 25 

V. Consistency with Comprehensive Plan ......................................................................... 25 

VI. Preferred Uses .................................................................................................................. 26 

VII. Shoreline Use Preferences and Shorelines of Statewide Significance .................. 27 

Chapter 5 – Policies and Regulations ..................................................................................... 30 

5.1 – General Policies and Regulations ............................................................................. 30 

A. Policies and Regulations Applicable to all Shorelines ............................................. 30 

B. Archaeological and Historic Resources ..................................................................... 31 

C. Critical Areas .................................................................................................................. 32 

D. Flood Hazard Reduction .............................................................................................. 33 

E. Public Access ................................................................................................................. 34 

F. Vegetation Conservation .............................................................................................. 37 

G. Water Quality ................................................................................................................. 38 

5.2 – Shoreline Use and Modification Tables .................................................................... 39 

A. Permitted Use and Modification Table ....................................................................... 39 

B. Shoreline Modification Table ....................................................................................... 40 

5.3 – Specific Shoreline Use Policies and Regulations ................................................... 41 

A. Introduction ..................................................................................................................... 41 

B. Prohibited Uses ............................................................................................................. 41 

C. Agriculture ...................................................................................................................... 41 

D. Boating Facilities ........................................................................................................... 43 

E. Commercial Development ............................................................................................ 44 

F. In-Stream Structures ..................................................................................................... 46 

G. Recreational Development .......................................................................................... 47 

H. Residential Development ............................................................................................. 48 

I. Transportation Facilities ................................................................................................. 49 

J. Utilities ............................................................................................................................. 50 

5.4 Shoreline Modification Provisions ................................................................................. 52 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 43 of 248



A. Introduction 52 
B. General Policies and Regulations 52 
C. Shoreline Stabilization 54 
D. Piers and Docks 56 
E. Fill  58 
F. Breakwaters, Jetties and Weirs 59 
G. Dredging and Dredge Material Disposal 60 
H. Shoreline Habitat and Natural Systems Enhancement Projects 61 

Chapter 6 — Administrative Provisions 63 
A. General 63 
B. SHORELINE SUBSTANTIAL DEVELOPMENT PERMITS 63 
C. CONDITIONAL USE PERMITS 67 
D. VARIANCES 69 
E. NONCONFORMING USE AND DEVELOPMENT 70 
F. REVISIONS TO PERMITS 72 
G. ENFORCEMENT 73 

Appendix A — Shoreline Characterization and Analysis & Cumulative Impacts (Not 
adopted as part of the SMP) 

Appendix B - Restoration Plan 

Appendix C - Shoreline Critical Areas Regulations 

- 3 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 44 of 248 

 - 3 - 

 

 

 

 

A. Introduction ..................................................................................................................... 52 

B. General Policies and Regulations .............................................................................. 52 

C. Shoreline Stabilization .................................................................................................. 54 

D. Piers and Docks ............................................................................................................ 56 

E. Fill..................................................................................................................................... 58 

F. Breakwaters, Jetties and Weirs ................................................................................... 59 

G. Dredging and Dredge Material Disposal ................................................................... 60 

H. Shoreline Habitat and Natural Systems Enhancement Projects ........................... 61 

Chapter 6 – Administrative Provisions .................................................................................... 63 

A. General ............................................................................................................................... 63 

B. SHORELINE SUBSTANTIAL DEVELOPMENT PERMITS ........................................ 63 

C. CONDITIONAL USE PERMITS ...................................................................................... 67 

D. VARIANCES ...................................................................................................................... 69 

E. NONCONFORMING USE AND DEVELOPMENT ....................................................... 70 

F. REVISIONS TO PERMITS............................................................................................... 72 

G. ENFORCEMENT .............................................................................................................. 73 

 

Appendix A – Shoreline Characterization and Analysis & Cumulative Impacts (Not 
adopted as part of the SMP) 
 
Appendix B - Restoration Plan 
 
Appendix C - Shoreline Critical Areas Regulations 

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 44 of 248



Chapter 1 — Introduction 

Washington's Shoreline Management Act (SMA) was passed by the State Legislature in 
1971 and adopted by the public in a referendum. The SMA was created in response to 
a growing concern among residents of the state that serious and permanent damage 
was being done to shorelines by unplanned and uncoordinated development. The goal 
of the SMA was "to prevent the inherent harm in an uncoordinated and piecemeal 
development of the state's shorelines." While protecting shoreline resources by 
regulating development, the SMA is also intended to provide for appropriate shoreline 
use by encouraging land uses that enhance and conserve shoreline functions and 
values. 

The SMA has three broad policies: 

1. Encourage water-dependent and water-oriented uses: "uses shall be preferred 
which are consistent with control of pollution and prevention of damage to the 
natural environment, or are unique to or dependent upon use of the states' 
shorelines...." 

2. Promote public access: "the public's opportunity to enjoy the physical and 
aesthetic qualities of natural shorelines of the state shall be preserved to the 
greatest extent feasible consistent with the overall best interest of the state and 
the people generally." 

3. Protect shoreline natural resources, including "...the land and its vegetation and 
wildlife, and the water of the state and their aquatic life...." 

Under the SMA, the shoreline jurisdiction includes water areas that have been 
designated as either "shorelines of statewide significance" or "shorelines" and their 
adjacent shorelands, defined as the upland area within 200 feet of the OHWM and 
floodways and contiguous floodplain areas landward two hundred feet from such 
floodways, as well as any associated wetlands (RCW 90.58.030). The Skagit River is 
regulated under the SMA and the City's Shoreline Master Program (SMP). The Skagit 
River is also designated as "shoreline of statewide significance" under the SMA. 

The primary responsibility for administering the SMA is assigned to local governments 
through the mechanism of local shoreline master programs, adopted under guidelines 
established by Ecology. The guidelines (WAC 173-26) establish goals and policies that 
provide a framework for development standards and use regulations in the shoreline. 
The SMP is based on state guidelines but tailored to the specific conditions and needs 
of individual communities. The SMP is also meant to be a comprehensive vision of how 
the shoreline area will be managed over time. 

The SMP provides both policies and regulations to govern development and other 
activities in the City's shorelines. The SMP (or "Master Program") consists of 
environmental designations for the shoreline segments and goals, policies, and 
regulations applicable to uses and modifications within the Shoreline Management Zone 

- 4 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 45 of 248 

 - 4 - 

 

 

 

 

Chapter 1 – Introduction  
 

 
Washington’s Shoreline Management Act (SMA) was passed by the State Legislature in 
1971 and adopted by the public in a referendum. The SMA was created in response to 
a growing concern among residents of the state that serious and permanent damage 
was being done to shorelines by unplanned and uncoordinated development. The goal 
of the SMA was “to prevent the inherent harm in an uncoordinated and piecemeal 
development of the state’s shorelines.” While protecting shoreline resources by 
regulating development, the SMA is also intended to provide for appropriate shoreline 
use by encouraging land uses that enhance and conserve shoreline functions and 
values. 
 
The SMA has three broad policies: 
 

1. Encourage water-dependent and water-oriented uses: "uses shall be preferred 
which are consistent with control of pollution and prevention of damage to the 
natural environment, or are unique to or dependent upon use of the states' 
shorelines....” 

2. Promote public access: “the public’s opportunity to enjoy the physical and 
aesthetic qualities of natural shorelines of the state shall be preserved to the 
greatest extent feasible consistent with the overall best interest of the state and 
the people generally."  

3. Protect shoreline natural resources, including "...the land and its vegetation and 
wildlife, and the water of the state and their aquatic life...."  

 
Under the SMA, the shoreline jurisdiction includes water areas that have been 
designated as either “shorelines of statewide significance” or “shorelines” and their 
adjacent shorelands, defined as the upland area within 200 feet of the OHWM and 
floodways and contiguous floodplain areas landward two hundred feet from such 
floodways, as well as any associated wetlands (RCW 90.58.030). The Skagit River is 
regulated under the SMA and the City’s Shoreline Master Program (SMP). The Skagit 
River is also designated as “shoreline of statewide significance” under the SMA.  
 
The primary responsibility for administering the SMA is assigned to local governments 
through the mechanism of local shoreline master programs, adopted under guidelines 
established by Ecology. The guidelines (WAC 173-26) establish goals and policies that 
provide a framework for development standards and use regulations in the shoreline. 
The SMP is based on state guidelines but tailored to the specific conditions and needs 
of individual communities. The SMP is also meant to be a comprehensive vision of how 
the shoreline area will be managed over time.  
 
The SMP provides both policies and regulations to govern development and other 
activities in the City’s shorelines. The SMP (or “Master Program”) consists of 
environmental designations for the shoreline segments and goals, policies, and 
regulations applicable to uses and modifications within the Shoreline Management Zone 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 45 of 248



(SMZ - synonymous with shoreline jurisdiction). Appendices to the SMP include an 
inventory of existing shoreline conditions; analysis and characterization of the 
shorelines of the City; a shorelines restoration planning report; and shoreline critical 
area regulations. The restoration plan and critical area regulations are considered part 
of the officially adopted SMP. 

In 2003, the state legislature established funding, timelines, and guidelines requiring all 
cities and counties to update their SMP. The City of Sedro-Woolley has developed a 
comprehensive SMP update with the assistance of a grant administered by the 
Washington State Department of Ecology. The document has been prepared consistent 
with the SMA and its implementing guidelines. The City's SMP provides goals, policies, 
development regulations, and permitting procedures for "shorelines of the state" in the 
city of Sedro-Woolley. RCW 36.70A.480 governs the relationship between shoreline 
master programs and development regulations to protect critical areas that are adopted 
under Chapter 36.70A RCW. 

Consistent with state guidelines (WAC 173-26-201, Comprehensive Process to Prepare 
or Amend Shoreline Master Programs) a first step in the comprehensive Master 
Program update process is development of a shoreline inventory and characterization. 
The inventory and characterization documents current shoreline conditions and 
provides a basis for updating the City's Master Program goals, policies, and regulations. 
The characterization identifies existing conditions, evaluates existing functions and 
values of shoreline resources, and explores opportunities for conservation and 
restoration of ecological functions. 

State guidelines also require that local governments develop Master Program policies 
that promote "restoration" of damaged shoreline ecological functions and develop a 
"real and meaningful" strategy to implement restoration objectives. Planning for 
shoreline restoration includes identifying opportunities (both programmatic and site-
specific), establishing goals and policies, working cooperatively with other regional 
entities, and supporting restoration through other regulatory and non-regulatory 
programs. 

This document has been reviewed to ensure that property rights shall not be infringed 
upon (as demonstrated by the use of such techniques as administrative reductions and 
variances) and meets the principals of the SMA (WAC173.26-186(5)). 

During the development of the SMP update the City worked with a Citizen's Advisory 
Committee for several months. Special thanks go out to Committee members Pat 
Huggins, Rick Judd, Jim Johnson, Stephanie Lokkebo, Jennifer Aylor, Eric Johnson, 
and Joe Franett. 

- 5 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 46 of 248 

 - 5 - 

 

 

 

 

(SMZ – synonymous with shoreline jurisdiction). Appendices to the SMP include an 
inventory of existing shoreline conditions; analysis and characterization of the 
shorelines of the City; a shorelines restoration planning report; and shoreline critical 
area regulations. The restoration plan and critical area regulations are considered part 
of the officially adopted SMP.  
 
In 2003, the state legislature established funding, timelines, and guidelines requiring all 
cities and counties to update their SMP. The City of Sedro-Woolley has developed a 
comprehensive SMP update with the assistance of a grant administered by the 
Washington State Department of Ecology. The document has been prepared consistent 
with the SMA and its implementing guidelines. The City’s SMP provides goals, policies, 
development regulations, and permitting procedures for “shorelines of the state” in the 
city of Sedro-Woolley. RCW 36.70A.480 governs the relationship between shoreline 
master programs and development regulations to protect critical areas that are adopted 
under Chapter 36.70A RCW. 
 
Consistent with state guidelines (WAC 173-26-201, Comprehensive Process to Prepare 
or Amend Shoreline Master Programs) a first step in the comprehensive Master 
Program update process is development of a shoreline inventory and characterization. 
The inventory and characterization documents current shoreline conditions and 
provides a basis for updating the City’s Master Program goals, policies, and regulations. 
The characterization identifies existing conditions, evaluates existing functions and 
values of shoreline resources, and explores opportunities for conservation and 
restoration of ecological functions. 
 
State guidelines also require that local governments develop Master Program policies 
that promote “restoration” of damaged shoreline ecological functions and develop a 
“real and meaningful” strategy to implement restoration objectives. Planning for 
shoreline restoration includes identifying opportunities (both programmatic and site-
specific), establishing goals and policies, working cooperatively with other regional 
entities, and supporting restoration through other regulatory and non-regulatory 
programs. 
 
This document has been reviewed to ensure that property rights shall not be infringed 
upon (as demonstrated by the use of such techniques as administrative reductions and 
variances) and meets the principals of the SMA (WAC173.26-186(5)). 
 
During the development of the SMP update the City worked with a Citizen’s Advisory 
Committee for several months. Special thanks go out to Committee members Pat 
Huggins, Rick Judd, Jim Johnson, Stephanie Lokkebo, Jennifer Aylor, Eric Johnson, 
and Joe Franett. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 46 of 248



Chapter 2 — Definitions 

"Accessory structure" means a structure, either attached or detached, from a principal 
or main building and located on the same lot and which is customarily incidental and 
subordinate to the principal building or use. 

"Act" or "SMA" means the Washington State Shoreline Management Act, Chapter 
90.58 RCW. 

"Agricultural activities" means agricultural uses and practices including, but not limited 
to: Producing, breeding, or increasing agricultural products; rotating and changing 
agricultural crops; allowing land used for agricultural activities to lie fallow in which it is 
plowed and tilled but left unseeded; allowing land used for agricultural activities to lie 
dormant as a result of adverse agricultural market conditions; allowing land used for 
agricultural activities to lie dormant because the land is enrolled in a local, state, or 
federal conservation program, or the land is subject to a conservation easement; 
conducting agricultural operations; maintaining, repairing, and replacing agricultural 
equipment; maintaining, repairing, and replacing agricultural facilities, provided that the 
replacement facility is no closer to the shoreline than the original facility; and 
maintaining agricultural lands under production or cultivation. 

"Agricultural products" includes, but is not limited to, horticultural, viticultural, 
floricultural, vegetable, fruit, berry, grain, hops, hay, straw, turf, sod, seed, and apiary 
products; feed or forage for livestock; Christmas trees; hybrid cottonwood and similar 
hardwood trees grown as crops and harvested within twenty years of planting; and 
livestock including both the animals themselves and animal products including, but not 
limited to, meat, upland finfish, poultry and poultry products, and dairy products. 

"Agricultural equipment" and "agricultural facilities" includes, but is not limited to: 

(a) The following used in agricultural operations: Equipment; machinery; constructed 
shelters, buildings, and ponds; fences; upland finfish rearing facilities; water diversion, 
withdrawal, conveyance, and use equipment and facilities including, but not limited to, 
pumps, pipes, tapes, canals, ditches, and drains; 

(b) Corridors and facilities for transporting personnel, livestock, and equipment to, 
from, and within agricultural lands; 

(c) Farm residences and associated equipment, lands, and facilities; and 

(d) Roadside stands and on-farm markets for marketing fruit or vegetables; 

"Agricultural land" means those specific land areas on which agricultural activities are 
conducted as of the date of adoption of a local master program pursuant to these 
guidelines as evidenced by aerial photography or other documentation. After the 

- 6 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 47 of 248 

 - 6 - 

 

 

 

 

Chapter 2 – Definitions  
 
“Accessory structure” means a structure, either attached or detached, from a principal 
or main building and located on the same lot and which is customarily incidental and 
subordinate to the principal building or use. 
 
"Act" or “SMA” means the Washington State Shoreline Management Act, Chapter 
90.58 RCW. 
 
"Agricultural activities" means agricultural uses and practices including, but not limited 
to: Producing, breeding, or increasing agricultural products; rotating and changing 
agricultural crops; allowing land used for agricultural activities to lie fallow in which it is 
plowed and tilled but left unseeded; allowing land used for agricultural activities to lie 
dormant as a result of adverse agricultural market conditions; allowing land used for 
agricultural activities to lie dormant because the land is enrolled in a local, state, or 
federal conservation program, or the land is subject to a conservation easement; 
conducting agricultural operations; maintaining, repairing, and replacing agricultural 
equipment; maintaining, repairing, and replacing agricultural facilities, provided that the 
replacement facility is no closer to the shoreline than the original facility; and 
maintaining agricultural lands under production or cultivation. 
 
"Agricultural products" includes, but is not limited to, horticultural, viticultural, 
floricultural, vegetable, fruit, berry, grain, hops, hay, straw, turf, sod, seed, and apiary 
products; feed or forage for livestock; Christmas trees; hybrid cottonwood and similar 
hardwood trees grown as crops and harvested within twenty years of planting; and 
livestock including both the animals themselves and animal products including, but not 
limited to, meat, upland finfish, poultry and poultry products, and dairy products. 
 
"Agricultural equipment" and "agricultural facilities" includes, but is not limited to: 
 
     (a) The following used in agricultural operations: Equipment; machinery; constructed 
shelters, buildings, and ponds; fences; upland finfish rearing facilities; water diversion, 
withdrawal, conveyance, and use equipment and facilities including, but not limited to, 
pumps, pipes, tapes, canals, ditches, and drains; 
 
     (b) Corridors and facilities for transporting personnel, livestock, and equipment to, 
from, and within agricultural lands; 
 
     (c) Farm residences and associated equipment, lands, and facilities; and 
 
     (d) Roadside stands and on-farm markets for marketing fruit or vegetables; 
 
"Agricultural land" means those specific land areas on which agricultural activities are 
conducted as of the date of adoption of a local master program pursuant to these 
guidelines as evidenced by aerial photography or other documentation. After the 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 47 of 248



effective date of the master program, land converted to agricultural use is subject to 
compliance with the requirements of the master program. 

"Amendment" means a revision, update, addition, deletion, and/or reenactment to an 
existing shoreline master program. 

"Aquaculture" means the culture or farming of fish, shellfish, or other aquatic plants 
and animals. Aquaculture does not include the harvest of wild geoduck associated with 
the state managed wildstock geoduck fishery. 

"Associated wetlands" means those wetlands which are in proximity to and either 
influence or are influenced by a lake or stream subject to the Shoreline Management 
Act. 

"Best available science" refers to information gathered, analyzed and presented based 
on professional experience, expertise, and judgment, and established scientific 
principles and practices. Such principles and practices include peer review, use of 
scientific methodology, logical analysis and reasonable inference, statistical analysis, 
rigorous referencing within the scientific literature, and conclusions drawn from within an 
accepted scientific framework and placed in an appropriate scientific context. 

"Best management practices (BMPs)" refer to physical, structural, and/or managerial 
practices, that when used singly or in combination, prevent or reduce water pollution. 
Source control BMPs include those which keep the pollutant from ever coming in 
contact with stormwater, and stormwater treatment BMPs include those which consist of 
various methods of treating stormwater. See also Chapters 13.36 and 13.40 SWMC 
(Stormwater Management). 

"Bioengineering" means project designs or construction methods which use live woody 
vegetation or a combination of live woody vegetation and specially developed natural or 
synthetic materials to establish a complex root grid within the existing bank which is 
resistant to erosion, provides bank stability, and maintains a healthy riparian 
environment with habitat features important to fish life. Use of wood structures or limited 
use of clean angular rock may be allowable to provide stability for establishment of the 
vegetation. 

"Channel migration zone (CMZ)" means the area along a river within which the 
channel(s) can be reasonably predicted to migrate over time as a result of natural and 
normally occurring hydrological and related processes when considered with the 
characteristics of the river and its surroundings. 
"Channelization" means the straightening, deepening, or widening of a stream channel 
for the purpose of increasing the stream's carrying capacity. 

"City" means the city of Sedro-Woolley. 

- 7 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 48 of 248 

 - 7 - 

 

 

 

 

effective date of the master program, land converted to agricultural use is subject to 
compliance with the requirements of the master program. 
 
"Amendment" means a revision, update, addition, deletion, and/or reenactment to an 
existing shoreline master program. 
 
"Aquaculture" means the culture or farming of fish, shellfish, or other aquatic plants 
and animals. Aquaculture does not include the harvest of wild geoduck associated with 
the state managed wildstock geoduck fishery. 
 
“Associated wetlands” means those wetlands which are in proximity to and either 
influence or are influenced by a lake or stream subject to the Shoreline Management 
Act. 
 
“Best available science” refers to information gathered, analyzed and presented based 
on professional experience, expertise, and judgment, and established scientific 
principles and practices. Such principles and practices include peer review, use of 
scientific methodology, logical analysis and reasonable inference, statistical analysis, 
rigorous referencing within the scientific literature, and conclusions drawn from within an 
accepted scientific framework and placed in an appropriate scientific context. 
 
“Best management practices (BMPs)” refer to physical, structural, and/or managerial 
practices, that when used singly or in combination, prevent or reduce water pollution. 
Source control BMPs include those which keep the pollutant from ever coming in 
contact with stormwater, and stormwater treatment BMPs include those which consist of 
various methods of treating stormwater. See also Chapters 13.36 and 13.40 SWMC 
(Stormwater Management). 
 
"Bioengineering" means project designs or construction methods which use live woody 
vegetation or a combination of live woody vegetation and specially developed natural or 
synthetic materials to establish a complex root grid within the existing bank which is 
resistant to erosion, provides bank stability, and maintains a healthy riparian 
environment with habitat features important to fish life. Use of wood structures or limited 
use of clean angular rock may be allowable to provide stability for establishment of the 
vegetation. 
 
"Channel migration zone (CMZ)" means the area along a river within which the 
channel(s) can be reasonably predicted to migrate over time as a result of natural and 
normally occurring hydrological and related processes when considered with the 
characteristics of the river and its surroundings. 
“Channelization” means the straightening, deepening, or widening of a stream channel 
for the purpose of increasing the stream’s carrying capacity. 
 
“City” means the city of Sedro-Woolley. 
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 48 of 248



"Community pier" or "community dock" means a pier or dock including a gangway 
and/or float which is intended for use in common by lot owners or residents of a 
subdivision or residential planned development district. 

Consumer Price Index means for any calendar year, that year's annual average 
consumer price index, Seattle Washington area, for urban wage earners and clerical 
workers, all items, compiled by the Bureau of Labor and Statistics, United States 
Department of Labor. 

County is Skagit County outside the city limits of Sedro-Woolley. 

"Critical areas" as defined under chapter 36.70A RCW includes the following areas and 
ecosystems: 

(a) Wetlands; 

(b) Areas with a critical recharging effect on aquifers used for potable waters; 

(c) Fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas; 

(d) Frequently flooded areas; and 

(e) Geologically hazardous areas. 

"Development" means a use consisting of the construction or exterior alteration of 
structures; dredging; drilling; dumping; filling; removal of any sand, gravel, or minerals; 
bulkheading; driving of piling; placing of obstructions; or any project of a permanent or 
temporary nature which interferes with the normal public use of the surface of the 
waters overlying lands subject to the act at any stage of water level. 

"Development regulations" means the controls placed on development or land uses 
by a county or city, including, but not limited to, zoning ordinances, critical areas 
ordinances, all portions of a shoreline master program other than goals and policies 
approved or adopted under chapter 90.58 RCW, planned unit development ordinances, 
subdivision ordinances, and binding site plan ordinances together with any amendments 
thereto. 

"Director" means the city of Sedro-Woolley Planning Director or his/her designee. 

"Dock" means a structure that abuts the shoreline and floats upon the water and is used 
as a landing or moorage place for recreational purposes. 

"Ecological functions" or "shoreline functions" means the work performed or role 
played by the physical, chemical, and biological processes that contribute to the 
maintenance of the aquatic and terrestrial environments that constitute the shoreline's 
natural ecosystem. 

- 8 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 49 of 248 

 - 8 - 

 

 

 

 

“Community pier” or “community dock" means a pier or dock including a gangway 
and/or float which is intended for use in common by lot owners or residents of a 
subdivision or residential planned development district. 
 
Consumer Price Index means for any calendar year, that year's annual average 
consumer price index, Seattle Washington area, for urban wage earners and clerical 
workers, all items, compiled by the Bureau of Labor and Statistics, United States 
Department of Labor. 
 
County is Skagit County outside the city limits of Sedro-Woolley. 
 
"Critical areas" as defined under chapter 36.70A RCW includes the following areas and 
ecosystems: 
 
     (a) Wetlands; 
 
     (b) Areas with a critical recharging effect on aquifers used for potable waters; 
 
     (c) Fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas; 
 
     (d) Frequently flooded areas; and 
 
     (e) Geologically hazardous areas. 
 
"Development" means a use consisting of the construction or exterior alteration of 
structures; dredging; drilling; dumping; filling; removal of any sand, gravel, or minerals; 
bulkheading; driving of piling; placing of obstructions; or any project of a permanent or 
temporary nature which interferes with the normal public use of the surface of the 
waters overlying lands subject to the act at any stage of water level. 
 
"Development regulations" means the controls placed on development or land uses 
by a county or city, including, but not limited to, zoning ordinances, critical areas 
ordinances, all portions of a shoreline master program other than goals and policies 
approved or adopted under chapter 90.58 RCW, planned unit development ordinances, 
subdivision ordinances, and binding site plan ordinances together with any amendments 
thereto. 
 
“Director” means the city of Sedro-Woolley Planning Director or his/her designee. 
 
“Dock” means a structure that abuts the shoreline and floats upon the water and is used 
as a landing or moorage place for recreational purposes. 
 
"Ecological functions" or "shoreline functions" means the work performed or role 
played by the physical, chemical, and biological processes that contribute to the 
maintenance of the aquatic and terrestrial environments that constitute the shoreline's 
natural ecosystem. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 49 of 248



"Ecology" means the Washington State Department of Ecology. 

"Ecosystem-wide processes" means the suite of naturally occurring physical and 
geologic processes of erosion, transport, and deposition; and specific chemical 
processes that shape landforms within a specific shoreline ecosystem and determine 
both the types of habitat and the associated ecological functions. 

"Exempt" developments are those set forth in WAC 173-27-040 and RCW 90.58.030 
(3)(e), 90.58.140(9), 90.58.147,90.58.355 , and 90.58.515 which are not required to 
obtain a substantial development permit but which must otherwise comply with 
applicable provisions of the act and the local master program. 

"Fair market value" of a development is the open market bid price for conducting the 
work, using the equipment and facilities, and purchase of the goods, services and 
materials necessary to accomplish the development. This would normally equate to the 
cost of hiring a contractor to undertake the development from start to finish, including 
the cost of labor, materials, equipment and facility usage, transportation and contractor 
overhead and profit. The fair market value of the development shall include the fair 
market value of any donated, contributed or found labor, equipment or materials. 

"Feasible" means, for the purpose of this chapter, that an action, such as a 
development project, mitigation, or preservation requirement, meets all of the following 
conditions: 

(a) The action can be accomplished with technologies and methods that have been 
used in the past in similar circumstances, or studies or tests have demonstrated in 
similar circumstances that such approaches are currently available and likely to achieve 
the intended results; 

(b) The action provides a reasonable likelihood of achieving its intended purpose; 
and 

(c) The action does not physically preclude achieving the project's primary intended 
legal use. 

In cases where these guidelines require certain actions unless they are infeasible, 
the burden of proving infeasibility is on the applicant. 

In determining an action's infeasibility, the reviewing agency may weigh the action's 
relative public costs and public benefits, considered in the short- and long-term time 
frames. 

"Fill" means the addition of soil, sand, rock, gravel, sediment, earth retaining structure, 
or other material to an area waterward of the OHWM, in wetlands, or on shorelands in a 
manner that raises the elevation or creates dry land. 

- 9 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 50 of 248 

 - 9 - 

 

 

 

 

 
"Ecology" means the Washington State Department of Ecology. 
 
"Ecosystem-wide processes" means the suite of naturally occurring physical and 
geologic processes of erosion, transport, and deposition; and specific chemical 
processes that shape landforms within a specific shoreline ecosystem and determine 
both the types of habitat and the associated ecological functions. 
 
"Exempt" developments are those set forth in WAC 173-27-040 and RCW 90.58.030 
(3)(e), 90.58.140(9), 90.58.147,90.58.355 , and 90.58.515 which are not required to 
obtain a substantial development permit but which must otherwise comply with 
applicable provisions of the act and the local master program. 
 
"Fair market value" of a development is the open market bid price for conducting the 
work, using the equipment and facilities, and purchase of the goods, services and 
materials necessary to accomplish the development. This would normally equate to the 
cost of hiring a contractor to undertake the development from start to finish, including 
the cost of labor, materials, equipment and facility usage, transportation and contractor 
overhead and profit. The fair market value of the development shall include the fair 
market value of any donated, contributed or found labor, equipment or materials. 
 
"Feasible" means, for the purpose of this chapter, that an action, such as a 
development project, mitigation, or preservation requirement, meets all of the following 
conditions: 
 
     (a) The action can be accomplished with technologies and methods that have been 
used in the past in similar circumstances, or studies or tests have demonstrated in 
similar circumstances that such approaches are currently available and likely to achieve 
the intended results; 
 
     (b) The action provides a reasonable likelihood of achieving its intended purpose; 
and 
 
     (c) The action does not physically preclude achieving the project's primary intended 
legal use. 
 
     In cases where these guidelines require certain actions unless they are infeasible, 
the burden of proving infeasibility is on the applicant. 
 
     In determining an action's infeasibility, the reviewing agency may weigh the action's 
relative public costs and public benefits, considered in the short- and long-term time 
frames. 
 
"Fill" means the addition of soil, sand, rock, gravel, sediment, earth retaining structure, 
or other material to an area waterward of the OHWM, in wetlands, or on shorelands in a 
manner that raises the elevation or creates dry land. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 50 of 248



"Flood hazard reduction" activities include actions taken to reduce flood damage or 
hazards. Flood hazard reduction measures may consist of nonstructural or indirect 
measures, such as setbacks, land use controls, wetland restoration, dike removal, use 
relocation, bioengineering measures, and storm water management programs; and of 
structural measures, such as dikes, levees, and floodwalls intended to contain flow 
within the channel, channel realignment, and elevation of structures consistent with the 
National Flood Insurance Program. 

"Flood plain" is synonymous with one hundred-year flood plain and means that land 
area susceptible to inundation with a one percent chance of being equaled or exceeded 
in any given year. The limit of this area shall be based upon flood ordinance regulation 
maps or a reasonable method which meets the objectives of the SMA. 

"Floodway" means the area, as identified in this Master Program, that has been 
established in the most current federal emergency management agency flood insurance 
rate maps (FIRM) or floodway maps. 

"Geotechnical report" or "geotechnical analysis" means a scientific study or 
evaluation conducted by a qualified expert that includes a description of the ground and 
surface hydrology and geology, the affected land form and its susceptibility to mass 
wasting, erosion, and other geologic hazards or processes, conclusions and 
recommendations regarding the effect of the proposed development on geologic 
conditions, the adequacy of the site to be developed, the impacts of the proposed 
development, alternative approaches to the proposed development, and measures to 
mitigate potential site-specific and cumulative geological and hydrological impacts of the 
proposed development, including the potential adverse impacts to adjacent and down-
current properties. Geotechnical reports shall conform to accepted technical standards 
and must be prepared by qualified professional engineers or geologists who have 
professional expertise about the regional and local shoreline geology and processes. 

"Grading" means the movement or redistribution of the soil, sand, rock, gravel, 
sediment, or other material on a site in a manner that alters the natural contour of the 
land. 

"Hazardous substances" means those wastes designated by WAC 173-340-200, and 
regulated as hazardous substances by the Department of Ecology. 

"Hearings board" means the shorelines hearings board established by Chapter 90.58 
RCW. 

"Height" means a measurement from average grade level to the highest point of a 
structure: provided, that television antennas, chimneys, and similar appurtenances shall 
not be used in calculating height, except where such appurtenances obstruct the view of 
the shoreline of a substantial number of residences on areas adjoining such shorelines, 

- 10 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 51 of 248 

 - 10 - 

 

 

 

 

 
“Flood hazard reduction” activities include actions taken to reduce flood damage or 
hazards. Flood hazard reduction measures may consist of nonstructural or indirect 
measures, such as setbacks, land use controls, wetland restoration, dike removal, use 
relocation, bioengineering measures, and storm water management programs; and of 
structural measures, such as dikes, levees, and floodwalls intended to contain flow 
within the channel, channel realignment, and elevation of structures consistent with the 
National Flood Insurance Program. 
 
"Flood plain" is synonymous with one hundred-year flood plain and means that land 
area susceptible to inundation with a one percent chance of being equaled or exceeded 
in any given year. The limit of this area shall be based upon flood ordinance regulation 
maps or a reasonable method which meets the objectives of the SMA. 
 
"Floodway" means the area, as identified in this Master Program, that has been 
established in the most current federal emergency management agency flood insurance 
rate maps (FIRM) or floodway maps. 
 
"Geotechnical report" or "geotechnical analysis" means a scientific study or 
evaluation conducted by a qualified expert that includes a description of the ground and 
surface hydrology and geology, the affected land form and its susceptibility to mass 
wasting, erosion, and other geologic hazards or processes, conclusions and 
recommendations regarding the effect of the proposed development on geologic 
conditions, the adequacy of the site to be developed, the impacts of the proposed 
development, alternative approaches to the proposed development, and measures to 
mitigate potential site-specific and cumulative geological and hydrological impacts of the 
proposed development, including the potential adverse impacts to adjacent and down-
current properties. Geotechnical reports shall conform to accepted technical standards 
and must be prepared by qualified professional engineers or geologists who have 
professional expertise about the regional and local shoreline geology and processes. 
 
"Grading" means the movement or redistribution of the soil, sand, rock, gravel, 
sediment, or other material on a site in a manner that alters the natural contour of the 
land. 
 
“Hazardous substances” means those wastes designated by WAC 173-340-200, and 
regulated as hazardous substances by the Department of Ecology. 
 
"Hearings board" means the shorelines hearings board established by Chapter 90.58 
RCW. 
 
"Height" means a measurement from average grade level to the highest point of a 
structure: provided, that television antennas, chimneys, and similar appurtenances shall 
not be used in calculating height, except where such appurtenances obstruct the view of 
the shoreline of a substantial number of residences on areas adjoining such shorelines, 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 51 of 248



or the master program specifically requires that such appurtenances be included: 
provided further, that temporary construction equipment is excluded in this calculation. 

"In-stream structural uses" means a structure placed by humans within a stream or 
river waterward of the ordinary high-water mark that either causes or has the potential 
to cause water impoundment or the diversion, obstruction, or modification of water flow. 
Instream structures may include those for hydroelectric generation, irrigation, water 
supply, flood control, transportation, utility service transmission, fish habitat 
enhancement, or other purpose. 

"Master Program," "shoreline master program" or "SMP" means the City of Sedro-
Woolley's Shoreline Master Program. 

"May" means the action is acceptable, provided it conforms to the provisions of this 
chapter. 

"Mineral resource lands" means lands primarily devoted to the extraction of minerals 
or that have known or potential long-term commercial significance for the extraction of 
minerals. 

"Must" means a mandate; the action is required. 

"Nonwater-oriented uses" means those uses that are not water-dependent, water-
related, or water-enjoyment. 

"Nonconforming use and development" means a shoreline use or development which 
was lawfully constructed or established prior to the effective date of the SMA or the 
applicable master program or amendments thereto, but which do not confirm to present 
regulations or standards of the program. 

"Ordinary high water mark" on all lakes, streams, and tidal water is that mark that will 
be found by examining the bed and banks and ascertaining where the presence and 
action of waters are so common and usual, and so long continued in all ordinary years, 
as to mark upon the soil a character distinct from that of the abutting upland, in respect 
to vegetation as that condition exists on June 1, 1971, as it may naturally change 
thereafter, or as it may change thereafter in accordance with permits issued by a local 
government or the department: PROVIDED, That in any area where the ordinary high 
water mark cannot be found, the ordinary high water mark adjoining salt water shall be 
the line of mean higher high tide and the ordinary high water mark adjoining freshwater 
shall be the line of mean high water. 

"Permit" means a Substantial Development Permit, shoreline conditional use permit, or 
shoreline variance issued in compliance with the SMA and the Sedro-Woolley Shoreline 
Master Program. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 52 of 248 

 - 11 - 

 

 

 

 

or the master program specifically requires that such appurtenances be included: 
provided further, that temporary construction equipment is excluded in this calculation. 
 
“In-stream structural uses” means a structure placed by humans within a stream or 
river waterward of the ordinary high-water mark that either causes or has the potential 
to cause water impoundment or the diversion, obstruction, or modification of water flow. 
Instream structures may include those for hydroelectric generation, irrigation, water 
supply, flood control, transportation, utility service transmission, fish habitat 
enhancement, or other purpose. 
 
"Master Program," "shoreline master program" or “SMP” means the City of Sedro-
Woolley’s Shoreline Master Program.  
 
"May" means the action is acceptable, provided it conforms to the provisions of this 
chapter. 
 
“Mineral resource lands” means lands primarily devoted to the extraction of minerals 
or that have known or potential long-term commercial significance for the extraction of 
minerals. 
 
"Must" means a mandate; the action is required. 
 
"Nonwater-oriented uses" means those uses that are not water-dependent, water-
related, or water-enjoyment. 
 
“Nonconforming use and development” means a shoreline use or development which 
was lawfully constructed or established prior to the effective date of the SMA or the 
applicable master program or amendments thereto, but which do not confirm to present 
regulations or standards of the program. 
 
"Ordinary high water mark" on all lakes, streams, and tidal water is that mark that will 
be found by examining the bed and banks and ascertaining where the presence and 
action of waters are so common and usual, and so long continued in all ordinary years, 
as to mark upon the soil a character distinct from that of the abutting upland, in respect 
to vegetation as that condition exists on June 1, 1971, as it may naturally change 
thereafter, or as it may change thereafter in accordance with permits issued by a local 
government or the department: PROVIDED, That in any area where the ordinary high 
water mark cannot be found, the ordinary high water mark adjoining salt water shall be 
the line of mean higher high tide and the ordinary high water mark adjoining freshwater 
shall be the line of mean high water. 
 
“Permit” means a Substantial Development Permit, shoreline conditional use permit, or 
shoreline variance issued in compliance with the SMA and the Sedro-Woolley Shoreline 
Master Program. 
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 52 of 248



"Pier" means a structure that abuts the shoreline and is built over the water on pilings 
and is used as a landing or moorage place for recreational purposes. 

"Primary association" means the use of a habitat area by a species for breeding, 
nesting, rearing young, roosting, feeding, or foraging on a regular basis. 

"Priority habitat" means a habitat type with unique or significant value to one or more 
species. An area classified and mapped as priority habitat must have one or more of the 
following attributes: 

• Comparatively high fish or wildlife density; 
• Comparatively high fish or wildlife species diversity; 
• Fish spawning habitat; 
• Important wildlife habitat; 
• Important fish or wildlife seasonal range; 
• Important fish or wildlife movement corridor; 
• Rearing and foraging habitat; 
• Important marine mammal haul-out; 
• Refugia habitat; 
• Limited availability; 
• High vulnerability to habitat alteration; 
• Unique or dependent species; or 
• Shellfish bed. 

A priority habitat may be described by a unique vegetation type or by a dominant 
plant species that is of primary importance to fish and wildlife (such as oak woodlands 
or eelgrass meadows). A priority habitat may also be described by a successional stage 
(such as, old growth and mature forests). Alternatively, a priority habitat may consist of 
a specific habitat element (such as a consolidated marine/estuarine shoreline, talus 
slopes, caves, snags) of key value to fish and wildlife. A priority habitat may contain 
priority and/or nonpriority fish and wildlife. 

"Priority species" means species requiring protective measures and/or management 
guidelines to ensure their persistence at genetically viable population levels. Priority 
species are those that meet any of the criteria listed below. 

(a) Criterion 1. State-listed or state proposed species. State-listed species are those 
native fish and wildlife species legally designated as endangered (WAC 232-12-014), 
threatened (WAC 232-12-011), or sensitive (WAC 232-12-011). State proposed species 
are those fish and wildlife species that will be reviewed by the department of fish and 
wildlife (POL-M-6001) for possible listing as endangered, threatened, or sensitive 
according to the process and criteria defined in WAC 232-12-297. 

(b) Criterion 2. Vulnerable aggregations. Vulnerable aggregations include those 
species or groups of animals susceptible to significant population declines, within a 
specific area or statewide, by virtue of their inclination to congregate. Examples include 

- 12 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 53 of 248 

 - 12 - 

 

 

 

 

“Pier” means a structure that abuts the shoreline and is built over the water on pilings 
and is used as a landing or moorage place for recreational purposes. 
 
“Primary association” means the use of a habitat area by a species for breeding, 
nesting, rearing young, roosting, feeding, or foraging on a regular basis. 
 
"Priority habitat" means a habitat type with unique or significant value to one or more 
species. An area classified and mapped as priority habitat must have one or more of the 
following attributes: 
 
     • Comparatively high fish or wildlife density; 
     • Comparatively high fish or wildlife species diversity; 
     • Fish spawning habitat; 
     • Important wildlife habitat; 
     • Important fish or wildlife seasonal range; 
     • Important fish or wildlife movement corridor; 
     • Rearing and foraging habitat; 
     • Important marine mammal haul-out; 
     • Refugia habitat; 
     • Limited availability; 
     • High vulnerability to habitat alteration; 
     • Unique or dependent species; or 
     • Shellfish bed. 
 
     A priority habitat may be described by a unique vegetation type or by a dominant 
plant species that is of primary importance to fish and wildlife (such as oak woodlands 
or eelgrass meadows). A priority habitat may also be described by a successional stage 
(such as, old growth and mature forests). Alternatively, a priority habitat may consist of 
a specific habitat element (such as a consolidated marine/estuarine shoreline, talus 
slopes, caves, snags) of key value to fish and wildlife. A priority habitat may contain 
priority and/or nonpriority fish and wildlife. 
 
"Priority species" means species requiring protective measures and/or management 
guidelines to ensure their persistence at genetically viable population levels. Priority 
species are those that meet any of the criteria listed below. 
 
     (a) Criterion 1. State-listed or state proposed species. State-listed species are those 
native fish and wildlife species legally designated as endangered (WAC 232-12-014), 
threatened (WAC 232-12-011), or sensitive (WAC 232-12-011). State proposed species 
are those fish and wildlife species that will be reviewed by the department of fish and 
wildlife (POL-M-6001) for possible listing as endangered, threatened, or sensitive 
according to the process and criteria defined in WAC 232-12-297. 
 
     (b) Criterion 2. Vulnerable aggregations. Vulnerable aggregations include those 
species or groups of animals susceptible to significant population declines, within a 
specific area or statewide, by virtue of their inclination to congregate. Examples include 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 53 of 248



heron colonies, seabird concentrations, and marine mammal congregations. 

(c) Criterion 3. Species of recreational, commercial, and/or tribal importance. Native 
and nonnative fish, shellfish, and wildlife species of recreational or commercial 
importance and recognized species used for tribal ceremonial and subsistence 
purposes that are vulnerable to habitat loss or degradation. 

(d) Criterion 4. Species listed under the federal Endangered Species Act as either 
proposed, threatened, or endangered. 

"Provisions" means policies, regulations, standards, guideline criteria or environment 
designations. 

"Public interest" means the interest shared by the citizens of the state or community at 
large in the affairs of government, or some interest by which their rights or liabilities are 
affected including, but not limited to, an effect on public property or on health, safety, or 
general welfare resulting from a use or development. 

"Public facilities" mean and include streets, roads, highways, sidewalks, street and 
road lighting systems, traffic signals, domestic water systems, storm and sanitary sewer 
systems, parks and recreation facilities, and schools. 

"Qualified expert" means a person having substantially demonstrated experience as a 
practicing specialist with a minimum of five years experience working full time in the 
profession and who has a degree in a related field from an accredited college or 
university or who has equivalent training. 

"Restore," "restoration" or "ecological restoration" means the reestablishment or 
upgrading of impaired ecological shoreline processes or functions. This may be 
accomplished through measures including, but not limited to, revegetation, removal of 
intrusive shoreline structures and removal or treatment of toxic materials. Restoration 
does not imply a requirement for returning the shoreline area to aboriginal or pre-
European settlement conditions. 

"Shall" means a mandate; the action must be done. 

"Shorelands" or "shoreland areas" means those lands extending landward for two 
hundred feet in all directions as measured on a horizontal plane from the ordinary high 
water mark; floodways and contiguous floodplain areas landward two hundred feet from 
such floodways; and all wetlands and river deltas associated with the streams, lakes, 
and tidal waters that are subject to the provisions of RCW 90.58.030; the same as to 
location by the Department of Ecology. 

"Shoreline areas" and "shoreline jurisdiction" is synonymous with "Shorelines 
Management Zone" (SMZ) as defined in this master program. 

- 13 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 54 of 248 

 - 13 - 

 

 

 

 

heron colonies, seabird concentrations, and marine mammal congregations. 
 
     (c) Criterion 3. Species of recreational, commercial, and/or tribal importance. Native 
and nonnative fish, shellfish, and wildlife species of recreational or commercial 
importance and recognized species used for tribal ceremonial and subsistence 
purposes that are vulnerable to habitat loss or degradation. 
 
     (d) Criterion 4. Species listed under the federal Endangered Species Act as either 
proposed, threatened, or endangered. 
 
"Provisions" means policies, regulations, standards, guideline criteria or environment 
designations. 
 
"Public interest" means the interest shared by the citizens of the state or community at 
large in the affairs of government, or some interest by which their rights or liabilities are 
affected including, but not limited to, an effect on public property or on health, safety, or 
general welfare resulting from a use or development. 
 
“Public facilities” mean and include streets, roads, highways, sidewalks, street and 
road lighting systems, traffic signals, domestic water systems, storm and sanitary sewer 
systems, parks and recreation facilities, and schools. 
 
“Qualified expert” means a person having substantially demonstrated experience as a 
practicing specialist with a minimum of five years experience working full time in the 
profession and who has a degree in a related field from an accredited college or 
university or who has equivalent training. 
 
"Restore," "restoration" or "ecological restoration" means the reestablishment or 
upgrading of impaired ecological shoreline processes or functions. This may be 
accomplished through measures including, but not limited to, revegetation, removal of 
intrusive shoreline structures and removal or treatment of toxic materials. Restoration 
does not imply a requirement for returning the shoreline area to aboriginal or pre-
European settlement conditions. 
 
"Shall" means a mandate; the action must be done. 
 
”Shorelands” or ”shoreland areas” means those lands extending landward for two 
hundred feet in all directions as measured on a horizontal plane from the ordinary high 
water mark; floodways and contiguous floodplain areas landward two hundred feet from 
such floodways; and all wetlands and river deltas associated with the streams, lakes, 
and tidal waters that are subject to the provisions of RCW 90.58.030; the same as to 
location by the Department of Ecology. 
 
"Shoreline areas" and "shoreline jurisdiction" is synonymous with "Shorelines 
Management Zone" (SMZ) as defined in this master program. 
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 54 of 248



"Shorelines of the state" are the total of all "shorelines" and "shorelines of statewide 
significance" within the state. 

"Shorelines of statewide significance" in Sedro-Woolley are identified as the Skagit 
River within the city limits, shorelands, and wetlands associated with the Skagit River 
(see RCW 90.58.030(2)(e)). 

"Shoreline Management Zone (SMZ)" as used in this document, is meant to define the 
area of the City's shoreline jurisdiction as allowed by RCW 90.58.030. The SMZ 
extends a minimum of 200 feet upland from the line of the ordinary high water mark 
(OHWM) of the Skagit River and floodways and contiguous floodplain areas landward 
two hundred feet from such floodways. The floodplain and floodway are defined by the 
current effective US Army Corps of Engineers Flood Insurance Rate Maps (FIRM). The 
SMZ includes associated wetlands, but not wetland buffers. The SMZ extends 
waterward of the OHWM to mid-channel of the Skagit River. 

"Shoreline modifications" means those actions that modify the physical configuration 
or qualities of the shoreline area, usually through the construction of a physical element 
such as a dike, breakwater, pier, weir, dredged basin, fill, bulkhead, or other shoreline 
structure. They can include other actions, such as clearing, grading, or application of 
chemicals. 

"Should" means that the particular action is required unless there is a demonstrated, 
compelling reason, based on policy of the SMA, against taking the action. 

"Significant vegetation removal" means the removal or alteration of trees, shrubs, 
and/or ground cover by clearing, grading, cutting, burning, chemical means, or other 
activity that causes significant ecological impacts to functions provided by such 
vegetation. The removal of invasive or noxious weeds does not constitute significant 
vegetation removal. Tree pruning, not including tree topping, where it does not affect 
ecological functions, does not constitute significant vegetation removal. 

"State master program" means the cumulative total of all shoreline master programs 
and amendments thereto approved or adopted by rule by the department. 

"Structure" means a permanent or temporary edifice or building, or any piece of work 
artificially built or composed of parts joined together in some definite manner, whether 
installed on, above, or below the surface of the ground or water, except for vessels. 

"Substantially degrade" means to cause significant ecological impact. 

"Substantial development" shall mean any development of which the total cost or fair 
market value exceeds &i,x-seven thousand four hundred  and sixteen forty-seven dollars 
(or the value as amended or adjusted for inflation per RCW 90.58.030 (3) (e)), or any 
development which materially interferes with the normal public use of the water or 

- 14 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 55 of 248 

I I 

 - 14 - 

 

 

 

 

"Shorelines of the state" are the total of all "shorelines" and "shorelines of statewide 
significance" within the state. 
 
“Shorelines of statewide significance” in Sedro-Woolley are identified as the Skagit 
River within the city limits, shorelands, and wetlands associated with the Skagit River 
(see RCW 90.58.030(2)(e)). 
 
“Shoreline Management Zone (SMZ)” as used in this document, is meant to define the 
area of the City’s shoreline jurisdiction as allowed by RCW 90.58.030. The SMZ 
extends a minimum of 200 feet upland from the line of the ordinary high water mark 
(OHWM) of the Skagit River and floodways and contiguous floodplain areas landward 
two hundred feet from such floodways. The floodplain and floodway are defined by the 
current effective US Army Corps of Engineers Flood Insurance Rate Maps (FIRM). The 
SMZ includes associated wetlands, but not wetland buffers. The SMZ extends 
waterward of the OHWM to mid-channel of the Skagit River.  
 
"Shoreline modifications" means those actions that modify the physical configuration 
or qualities of the shoreline area, usually through the construction of a physical element 
such as a dike, breakwater, pier, weir, dredged basin, fill, bulkhead, or other shoreline 
structure. They can include other actions, such as clearing, grading, or application of 
chemicals. 
 
"Should" means that the particular action is required unless there is a demonstrated, 
compelling reason, based on policy of the SMA, against taking the action. 
 
"Significant vegetation removal" means the removal or alteration of trees, shrubs, 
and/or ground cover by clearing, grading, cutting, burning, chemical means, or other 
activity that causes significant ecological impacts to functions provided by such 
vegetation. The removal of invasive or noxious weeds does not constitute significant 
vegetation removal. Tree pruning, not including tree topping, where it does not affect 
ecological functions, does not constitute significant vegetation removal. 
 
"State master program" means the cumulative total of all shoreline master programs 
and amendments thereto approved or adopted by rule by the department. 
 
"Structure" means a permanent or temporary edifice or building, or any piece of work 
artificially built or composed of parts joined together in some definite manner, whether 
installed on, above, or below the surface of the ground or water, except for vessels. 
 
"Substantially degrade" means to cause significant ecological impact. 
 
"Substantial development" shall mean any development of which the total cost or fair 
market value exceeds six seven thousand four hundred and sixteen forty-seven dollars 
(or the value as amended or adjusted for inflation per RCW 90.58.030 (3) (e)), or any 
development which materially interferes with the normal public use of the water or 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 55 of 248



shorelines of the state. As further defined in Chapter 6, Section B, the following shall not 
be considered substantial developments for the purpose of this chapter: 

(a) Normal maintenance or repair of existing structures or developments, including 
damage by accident, fire, or elements; 

(b) Construction of the normal protective bulkhead common to single-family 
residences; 

(c) Emergency construction necessary to protect property from damage by the 
elements; 

(d) Construction and practices normal or necessary for farming, irrigation, and 
ranching activities, including agricultural service roads and utilities on shorelands, and 
the construction and maintenance of irrigation structures including but not limited to 
head gates, pumping facilities, and irrigation channels. A feedlot of any size, all 
processing plants, other activities of a commercial nature, alteration of the contour of 
the shorelands by leveling or filling other than that which results from normal cultivation, 
shall not be considered normal or necessary farming or ranching activities. A feedlot 
shall be an enclosure or facility used or capable of being used for feeding livestock hay, 
grain, silage, or other livestock feed, but shall not include land for growing crops or 
vegetation for livestock feeding and/or grazing, nor shall it include normal livestock 
wintering operations; 

(e) Construction or modification of navigational aids such as channel markers and 
anchor buoys; 

(f) Construction on shorelands by an owner, lessee, or contract purchaser of a 
single-family residence for his own use or for the use of his or her family, which 
residence does not exceed a height of thirty-five feet above average grade level and 
which meets all requirements of the state agency or local government having jurisdiction 
thereof, other than requirements imposed pursuant to this chapter; 

(g) Construction of a dock, including a community dock, designed for pleasure craft 
only, for the private noncommercial use of the owner, lessee, or contract purchaser of 
single and multiple-family residences.  H UUUK Is id lid11U111(1 and tnuurdge facility for 
watercraft and uuvo not include recreational decks, storage facilities, or other 
appurtenances. This exception applies in freshwaters, if the fair market value of the 
dock does not exceed twenty-twoten thousand, five hundred dollars ($22,500) for docks 
that are constructed to replace existing docks, are of equal or lesser square footage 
than the existing dock being replaced or eleven thousand two hundred dollars ($11,200) 
for all other docks constructed in fresh waters., but ifHowever, if subsequent 
construction having a fair market value exceeding two thousand fivc hundred dollars 

,curs within five years of completion of the prior constructionoccurs within five years of 
completion of the prior construction, and the combined fair market value of the 
subsequent and prior construction exceeds the amount specified above  , the 
subsequent construction shall be considered a substantial development for the purpose 
of this chapter; 

(h) Operation, maintenance, or construction of canals, waterways, drains, reservoirs, 
or other facilities that now exist or are hereafter created or developed as a part of an 
irrigation system for the primary purpose of making use of system waters, including 
return flow and artificially stored groundwater for the irrigation of lands; 

- 15 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 56 of 248 

 - 15 - 

 

 

 

 

shorelines of the state. As further defined in Chapter 6, Section B, the following shall not 
be considered substantial developments for the purpose of this chapter: 
 
     (a) Normal maintenance or repair of existing structures or developments, including 
damage by accident, fire, or elements; 
     (b) Construction of the normal protective bulkhead common to single-family 
residences; 
     (c) Emergency construction necessary to protect property from damage by the 
elements; 
     (d) Construction and practices normal or necessary for farming, irrigation, and 
ranching activities, including agricultural service roads and utilities on shorelands, and 
the construction and maintenance of irrigation structures including but not limited to 
head gates, pumping facilities, and irrigation channels. A feedlot of any size, all 
processing plants, other activities of a commercial nature, alteration of the contour of 
the shorelands by leveling or filling other than that which results from normal cultivation, 
shall not be considered normal or necessary farming or ranching activities. A feedlot 
shall be an enclosure or facility used or capable of being used for feeding livestock hay, 
grain, silage, or other livestock feed, but shall not include land for growing crops or 
vegetation for livestock feeding and/or grazing, nor shall it include normal livestock 
wintering operations; 
     (e) Construction or modification of navigational aids such as channel markers and 
anchor buoys; 
     (f) Construction on shorelands by an owner, lessee, or contract purchaser of a 
single-family residence for his own use or for the use of his or her family, which 
residence does not exceed a height of thirty-five feet above average grade level and 
which meets all requirements of the state agency or local government having jurisdiction 
thereof, other than requirements imposed pursuant to this chapter; 
     (g) Construction of a dock, including a community dock, designed for pleasure craft 
only, for the private noncommercial use of the owner, lessee, or contract purchaser of 
single and multiple-family residences. A dock is a landing and moorage facility for 
watercraft and does not include recreational decks, storage facilities, or other 
appurtenances. This exception applies in freshwaters, if the fair market value of the 
dock does not exceed twenty-twoten thousand, five hundred dollars ($22,500) for docks 
that are constructed to replace existing docks, are of equal or lesser square footage 
than the existing dock being replaced or eleven thousand two hundred dollars ($11,200) 
for all other docks constructed in fresh waters., but ifHowever, if subsequent 
construction having a fair market value exceeding two thousand five hundred dollars 
occurs within five years of completion of the prior constructionoccurs within five years of 
completion of the prior construction, and the combined fair market value of the 
subsequent and prior construction exceeds the amount specified above , the 
subsequent construction shall be considered a substantial development for the purpose 
of this chapter; 
     (h) Operation, maintenance, or construction of canals, waterways, drains, reservoirs, 
or other facilities that now exist or are hereafter created or developed as a part of an 
irrigation system for the primary purpose of making use of system waters, including 
return flow and artificially stored groundwater for the irrigation of lands; 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 56 of 248



(i) The marking of property lines or corners on state owned lands, when such 
marking does not significantly interfere with normal public use of the surface of the 
water; 

(j) Operation and maintenance of any system of dikes, ditches, drains, or other 
facilities existing on September 8, 1975, which were created, developed, or utilized 
primarily as a part of an agricultural drainage or diking system; 

(k) Site exploration and investigation activities that are prerequisite to preparation of 
an application for development authorization under this chapter, if: 

(i) The activity does not interfere with the normal public use of the surface 
waters; 
(ii) The activity will have no significant adverse impact on the environment 

including, but not limited to, fish, wildlife, fish or wildlife habitat, water quality, and 
aesthetic values; 

(iii) The activity does not involve the installation of a structure, and upon 
completion of the activity the vegetation and land configuration of the site are 

restored to conditions existing before the activity; 
(iv) A private entity seeking development authorization under this section first 

posts a performance bond or provides other evidence of financial responsibility to the 
local jurisdiction to ensure that the site is restored to preexisting conditions; and 

(v) The activity is not subject to the permit requirements of RCW 90.58.550; 

(I) The process of removing or controlling an aquatic noxious weed, as defined in 
RCW 17.26.020, through the use of an herbicide or other treatment methods applicable 
to weed control that are recommended by a final environmental impact statement 
published by the department of agriculture or the department jointly with other state 
agencies under chapter 43.21C RCW. 

"Unavoidable impacts" refer to affecting critical areas where site conditions preclude 
avoidance because of density requirements, critical areas that bisect parcels such as 
streams or linear wetlands, or parcels that contain many small wetlands. 

"Vessel" includes ships, boats, barges, or any other floating craft which are designed 
and used for navigation and do not interfere with the normal public use of the water. 

"Water-dependent use" means a use or portion of a use which cannot exist in a 
location that is not adjacent to the water and which is dependent on the water by reason 
of the intrinsic nature of its operations. 

"Water-enjoyment use" means a recreational use or other use that facilitates public 
access to the shoreline as a primary characteristic of the use; or a use that provides for 
recreational use or aesthetic enjoyment of the shoreline for a substantial number of 
people as a general characteristic of the use and which through location, design, and 
operation ensures the public's ability to enjoy the physical and aesthetic qualities of the 
shoreline. In order to qualify as a water-enjoyment use, the use must be open to the 

- 16 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 57 of 248 

 - 16 - 

 

 

 

 

     (i) The marking of property lines or corners on state owned lands, when such 
marking does not significantly interfere with normal public use of the surface of the 
water; 
     (j) Operation and maintenance of any system of dikes, ditches, drains, or other 
facilities existing on September 8, 1975, which were created, developed, or utilized 
primarily as a part of an agricultural drainage or diking system; 
     (k) Site exploration and investigation activities that are prerequisite to preparation of 
an application for development authorization under this chapter, if: 
 
      (i) The activity does not interfere with the normal public use of the surface 
 waters; 
     (ii) The activity will have no significant adverse impact on the environment 
including, but not limited to, fish, wildlife, fish or wildlife habitat, water quality, and 
aesthetic values; 
      (iii) The activity does not involve the installation of a structure, and upon 
 completion of the activity the vegetation and land configuration of the site  are 
restored to conditions existing before the activity; 
    (iv) A private entity seeking development authorization under this section  first 
posts a performance bond or provides other evidence of financial  responsibility to the 
local jurisdiction to ensure that the site is restored to  preexisting conditions; and 
      (v) The activity is not subject to the permit requirements of RCW 90.58.550; 
 
     (l) The process of removing or controlling an aquatic noxious weed, as defined in 
RCW 17.26.020, through the use of an herbicide or other treatment methods applicable 
to weed control that are recommended by a final environmental impact statement 
published by the department of agriculture or the department jointly with other state 
agencies under chapter 43.21C RCW. 
 
“Unavoidable impacts” refer to affecting critical areas where site conditions preclude 
avoidance because of density requirements, critical areas that bisect parcels such as 
streams or linear wetlands, or parcels that contain many small wetlands. 
 
"Vessel" includes ships, boats, barges, or any other floating craft which are designed 
and used for navigation and do not interfere with the normal public use of the water. 
 
"Water-dependent use" means a use or portion of a use which cannot exist in a 
location that is not adjacent to the water and which is dependent on the water by reason 
of the intrinsic nature of its operations. 
 
"Water-enjoyment use" means a recreational use or other use that facilitates public 
access to the shoreline as a primary characteristic of the use; or a use that provides for 
recreational use or aesthetic enjoyment of the shoreline for a substantial number of 
people as a general characteristic of the use and which through location, design, and 
operation ensures the public's ability to enjoy the physical and aesthetic qualities of the 
shoreline. In order to qualify as a water-enjoyment use, the use must be open to the 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 57 of 248



general public and the shoreline-oriented space within the project must be devoted to 
the specific aspects of the use that fosters shoreline enjoyment. 

"Water-oriented use" means a use that is water-dependent, water-related, or water-
enjoyment, or a combination of such uses. 

"Water quality" means the physical characteristics of water within shoreline jurisdiction, 
including water quantity, hydrological, physical, chemical, aesthetic, recreation-related, 
and biological characteristics. Where used in this Master Program, the term "water 
quantity" refers only to development and uses regulated under this Master Program and 
affecting water quantity, such as impermeable surfaces and storm water handling 
practices. Water quantity, for purposes of this chapter, does not mean the withdrawal 
of ground water or diversion of surface water pursuant to RCW 90.03.250 through 
90.03.340. 

"Water-related use" means a use or portion of a use which is not intrinsically 
dependent on a waterfront location but whose economic viability is dependent upon a 
waterfront location because: 

(a) The use has a functional requirement for a waterfront location such as the arrival 
or shipment of materials by water or the need for large quantities of water; or 

(b) The use provides a necessary service supportive of the water-dependent uses 
and the proximity of the use to its customers makes its services less expensive and/or 
more convenient. 

"Wetland" or "wetlands" means areas that are inundated or saturated by surface water 
or groundwater at a frequency and duration sufficient to support, and that under normal 
circumstances do support, a prevalence of vegetation typically adapted for life in 
saturated soil conditions. Wetlands generally include swamps, marshes, bogs, and 
similar areas. Wetlands do not include those artificial wetlands intentionally created from 
nonwetland sites, including, but not limited to, irrigation and drainage ditches, grass-
lined swales, canals, detention facilities, wastewater treatment facilities, farm ponds, 
and landscape amenities, or those wetlands created after July I, 1990, that were 
unintentionally created as a result of the construction of a road, street or highway. 
However, wetlands may include these artificial wetlands intentionally created from 
nonwetland areas created to mitigate conversion of wetlands, if permitted by the City. 

- 17 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 58 of 248 

 - 17 - 

 

 

 

 

general public and the shoreline-oriented space within the project must be devoted to 
the specific aspects of the use that fosters shoreline enjoyment. 
 
"Water-oriented use" means a use that is water-dependent, water-related, or water-
enjoyment, or a combination of such uses. 
 
"Water quality" means the physical characteristics of water within shoreline jurisdiction, 
including water quantity, hydrological, physical, chemical, aesthetic, recreation-related, 
and biological characteristics. Where used in this Master Program, the term "water 
quantity" refers only to development and uses regulated under this Master Program and 
affecting water quantity, such as impermeable surfaces and storm water handling 
practices. Water quantity, for purposes of this chapter, does not mean the withdrawal 
of ground water or diversion of surface water pursuant to RCW 90.03.250 through 
90.03.340. 
 
"Water-related use" means a use or portion of a use which is not intrinsically 
dependent on a waterfront location but whose economic viability is dependent upon a 
waterfront location because: 
 
     (a) The use has a functional requirement for a waterfront location such as the arrival 
or shipment of materials by water or the need for large quantities of water; or 
 
     (b) The use provides a necessary service supportive of the water-dependent uses 
and the proximity of the use to its customers makes its services less expensive and/or 
more convenient. 
 
“Wetland” or “wetlands” means areas that are inundated or saturated by surface water 
or groundwater at a frequency and duration sufficient to support, and that under normal 
circumstances do support, a prevalence of vegetation typically adapted for life in 
saturated soil conditions. Wetlands generally include swamps, marshes, bogs, and 
similar areas. Wetlands do not include those artificial wetlands intentionally created from 
nonwetland sites, including, but not limited to, irrigation and drainage ditches, grass-
lined swales, canals, detention facilities, wastewater treatment facilities, farm ponds, 
and landscape amenities, or those wetlands created after July l, 1990, that were 
unintentionally created as a result of the construction of a road, street or highway. 
However, wetlands may include these artificial wetlands intentionally created from 
nonwetland areas created to mitigate conversion of wetlands, if permitted by the City. 
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 58 of 248



Chapter 3 — Shoreline Management Goals 

A. INTRODUCTION 

The Shoreline Management Act recognizes that the shorelines and the waters they 
encompass are valuable for economically productive industrial and commercial uses, 
recreation, navigation, residential amenity, scientific research and education. The SMA 
also recognizes that they are fragile in that they depend upon balanced physical, 
biological, and chemical systems that may be adversely altered by natural forces 
(earthquakes, volcanic eruptions, landslides, storms, droughts, floods) and human 
conduct. Sedro-Woolley's Shoreline Goals are intended to acknowledge and balance 
the conflicting nature of the shoreline use. 

The SMA identifies eight program elements that must be addressed (if applicable) to 
effectuate the policies of the Act: Economic Development, Public Access, Recreational, 
Shoreline Land Use, Conservation, Circulation, Historic / Cultural / Scientific / 
Educational and Flood Hazard Management (RCW90.58.100(2)). For each of those 
program elements, the City of Sedro-Woolley has identified shoreline goals. These 
goals establish the basis from which the environmental designations, policies, 
regulations, and administrative procedures of the Shoreline Master Program are 
developed. The goal statements are listed below under their corresponding shoreline 
elements and have been reviewed for consistency with the Goals of the 
Comprenensivessivc. Plan. 

B. SPECIFIC SHORELINE GOALS 

1. Economic Development Element 

Per RCW 90.58.100(2)(a) master programs shall include "an economic development 
element for the location and design of industries, projects of statewide significance, 
transportation facilities, port facilities, tourist facilities, commerce and other 
developments that are particularly dependent on their location on or use of the 
shorelines of the state." The city owns the majority of the land within the SMZ. The 
Sedro-Woolley SMZ does not contain any commercial or industrial development. 
However, there are a few residential parcels at the edge of the SMZ and a couple 
industrially zoned parcels that are adjacent to wetlands in the flood plain that may be 
jurisdictional. 

- 18 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 59 of 248 

 - 18 - 

 

 

 

 

Chapter 3 – Shoreline Management Goals 
 

A. INTRODUCTION 

 
The Shoreline Management Act recognizes that the shorelines and the waters they 
encompass are valuable for economically productive industrial and commercial uses, 
recreation, navigation, residential amenity, scientific research and education. The SMA 
also recognizes that they are fragile in that they depend upon balanced physical, 
biological, and chemical systems that may be adversely altered by natural forces 
(earthquakes, volcanic eruptions, landslides, storms, droughts, floods) and human 
conduct. Sedro-Woolley’s Shoreline Goals are intended to acknowledge and balance 
the conflicting nature of the shoreline use. 
 
The SMA identifies eight program elements that must be addressed (if applicable) to 
effectuate the policies of the Act: Economic Development, Public Access, Recreational, 
Shoreline Land Use, Conservation, Circulation, Historic / Cultural / Scientific / 
Educational and Flood Hazard Management (RCW90.58.100(2)). For each of those 
program elements, the City of Sedro-Woolley has identified shoreline goals. These 
goals establish the basis from which the environmental designations, policies, 
regulations, and administrative procedures of the Shoreline Master Program are 
developed. The goal statements are listed below under their corresponding shoreline 
elements and have been reviewed for consistency with the Goals of the 
Comprehensivessive Plan. 
 

B. SPECIFIC SHORELINE GOALS  

 

1. Economic Development Element 

 
Per RCW 90.58.100(2)(a) master programs shall include “an economic development 
element for the location and design of industries, projects of statewide significance, 
transportation facilities, port facilities, tourist facilities, commerce and other 
developments that are particularly dependent on their location on or use of the 
shorelines of the state.” The city owns the majority of the land within the SMZ. The 
Sedro-Woolley SMZ does not contain any commercial or industrial development. 
However, there are a few residential parcels at the edge of the SMZ and a couple 
industrially zoned parcels that are adjacent to wetlands in the flood plain that may be 
jurisdictional.  
 
 
 
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 59 of 248



Shoreline Economic Development Goals: 

SED1: Promote tourism through park-oriented recreational opportunities in those 
shoreline areas that can reasonably tolerate such uses during peak use periods without 
destroying the integrity and character of the shoreline. 

SED2: Increase economic opportunities in Sedro-Woolley by encouraging compatible 
recreational opportunities within the SMZ as a means to support local businesses. 

SED3: Support the continued use of industrial properties for such purposes. 

2. Public Access Element 

Per RCW 90.58.100(2)(b) master programs shall include "a public access element 
making provision for public access to publicly owned areas." The majority of the Sedro-
Woolley SMZ is publicly owned. Public access is a major part of the shoreline plan. 

Shoreline Public Access Goals: 

SPA1: Increase and enhance public access to publicly-owned shoreline areas so the 
public may enjoy the amenities of the shoreline, consistent with the natural shoreline 
character, private rights, and public safety. 
SPA2: Integrate public access to shorelines as a part of a public recreational system 
throughout Sedro-Woolley and Skagit County. 
SPA3: Maintain the existing water access such as the boat launch and develop 
additional pedestrian-only river access. 

3. Recreation Element 

Per RCW 90.58.100(2)(c) master programs shall include "a recreational element for the 
preservation and enlargement of recreational opportunities, including but not limited to 
parks, tidelands, beaches, and recreational areas." 

Shoreline Recreation Goals: 

SRI: Encourage diverse, water-oriented recreational opportunities in those shoreline 
areas that can reasonably tolerate such uses during peak use periods without 
destroying the integrity and character of the shoreline. 
SR2: Maintain and improve Riverfront Park and adjacent recreational lands as a 
regional recreational destination. 
SR3: Create public access to the Skagit River through the park and trail system that will 
not endanger life or property, nor impair the rights of owners of private property in the 
SMZ. 

- 19 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 60 of 248 

 - 19 - 

 

 

 

 

Shoreline Economic Development Goals: 
 
SED1: Promote tourism through park-oriented recreational opportunities in those 
shoreline areas that can reasonably tolerate such uses during peak use periods without 
destroying the integrity and character of the shoreline. 
 
SED2: Increase economic opportunities in Sedro-Woolley by encouraging compatible 
recreational opportunities within the SMZ as a means to support local businesses. 
 
SED3: Support the continued use of industrial properties for such purposes. 
 
 

2. Public Access Element 

  
Per RCW 90.58.100(2)(b) master programs shall include “a public access element 
making provision for public access to publicly owned areas.” The majority of the Sedro-
Woolley SMZ is publicly owned. Public access is a major part of the shoreline plan. 
 
Shoreline Public Access Goals: 
 
SPA1: Increase and enhance public access to publicly-owned shoreline areas so the 
public may enjoy the amenities of the shoreline, consistent with the natural shoreline 
character, private rights, and public safety. 
SPA2: Integrate public access to shorelines as a part of a public recreational system 
throughout Sedro-Woolley and Skagit County. 
SPA3: Maintain the existing water access such as the boat launch and develop 
additional pedestrian-only river access. 
 

3. Recreation Element 

 
Per RCW 90.58.100(2)(c) master programs shall include “a recreational element for the 
preservation and enlargement of recreational opportunities, including but not limited to 
parks, tidelands, beaches, and recreational areas.” 
 
Shoreline Recreation Goals:  
 
SR1: Encourage diverse, water-oriented recreational opportunities in those shoreline 
areas that can reasonably tolerate such uses during peak use periods without 
destroying the integrity and character of the shoreline. 
SR2: Maintain and improve Riverfront Park and adjacent recreational lands as a 
regional recreational destination. 
SR3: Create public access to the Skagit River through the park and trail system that will 
not endanger life or property, nor impair the rights of owners of private property in the 
SMZ. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 60 of 248



4. Circulation Element 

Per RCW 90.58.100(2)(d) master programs shall include "a circulation element 
consisting of the general location and extent of existing and proposed major 
thoroughfares, transportation routes, terminals, and other public utilities and facilities, all 
correlated with the shoreline use element." 

Shoreline Circulation Goals: 

SC1: Encourage routes for non-motorized transportation to and throughout the city-
owned shoreline resources. 
SC2: Maintain safe, reasonable, and adequate vehicular, bicycle, and pedestrian 
circulation systems to shoreline. 
SC3: Maintain the existing circulation system through the SMZ while ensuring that 
routes accessing the SMZ will have the least possible adverse effect on unique or 
fragile shoreline features and existing ecological systems, and, when possible, 
contribute to the functional and visual enhancement of the shoreline. 

5. Shoreline Land Use Element 

Per RCW 90.58.100(2)(e) master programs shall include "a use element which 
considers the proposed general distribution and general location and extent of the use 
on shorelines and adjacent land areas for housing, business, industry, transportation, 
agriculture, natural resources, recreation, education, public buildings and grounds, and 
other categories of public and private uses of the land." 

Shoreline Land Use Goals: 

SLU1: Promote land and water uses that will honor the existing and ongoing human 
uses and protect the natural environment as intended by the Shoreline Management 
Act. 
SLU2: Promote land and water uses consistent with the SMA, the Sedro-Woolley 
Comprehensive Plan, and Sedro-Woolley Zoning Code. 

6. Conservation Element 

Per RCW 90.58.100(2)(f) master programs shall include "a conservation element for the 
preservation of natural resources, including but not limited to scenic vistas, aesthetics, 
and vital estuarine areas for fisheries and wildlife protection." 

- 20 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 61 of 248 

 - 20 - 

 

 

 

 

  

4. Circulation Element 

 
Per RCW 90.58.100(2)(d) master programs shall include “a circulation element 
consisting of the general location and extent of existing and proposed major 
thoroughfares, transportation routes, terminals, and other public utilities and facilities, all 
correlated with the shoreline use element.” 
 
 
Shoreline Circulation Goals:  
 
SC1: Encourage routes for non-motorized transportation to and throughout the city-
owned shoreline resources. 
SC2: Maintain safe, reasonable, and adequate vehicular, bicycle, and pedestrian 
circulation systems to shoreline. 
SC3: Maintain the existing circulation system through the SMZ while ensuring that 
routes accessing the SMZ will have the least possible adverse effect on unique or 
fragile shoreline features and existing ecological systems, and, when possible, 
contribute to the functional and visual enhancement of the shoreline. 
 

5. Shoreline Land Use Element 

 
Per RCW 90.58.100(2)(e) master programs shall include “a use element which 
considers the proposed general distribution and general location and extent of the use 
on shorelines and adjacent land areas for housing, business, industry, transportation, 
agriculture, natural resources, recreation, education, public buildings and grounds, and 
other categories of public and private uses of the land.” 
 
Shoreline Land Use Goals:  
 
SLU1: Promote land and water uses that will honor the existing and ongoing human 
uses and protect the natural environment as intended by the Shoreline Management 
Act. 
SLU2: Promote land and water uses consistent with the SMA, the Sedro-Woolley 
Comprehensive Plan, and Sedro-Woolley Zoning Code. 
  

6. Conservation Element 

 
Per RCW 90.58.100(2)(f) master programs shall include “a conservation element for the 
preservation of natural resources, including but not limited to scenic vistas, aesthetics, 
and vital estuarine areas for fisheries and wildlife protection.” 
 
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 61 of 248



Shoreline Conservation Goals: 

SCO1: Comply with SMA rules regarding restoration of areas which are biologically and 
aesthetically degraded to the greatest extent feasible while maintaining appropriate use 
of the shoreline. 
SCO2: Protect and preserve the unique and nonrenewable resources and amenities of 
the shoreline for the use and enjoyment of present and future generations. 

7. Historic/Cultural/Scientific/Educational Element 

Per RCW 90.58.100(2)(g) master programs shall include "a historic, cultural, scientific, 
and educational element for the protection and restoration of buildings, sites, and areas 
having historic, cultural, scientific, or educational values." 

Shoreline Historical/Cultural/Scientific/Educational Goals: 

SH1: Identify, protect, preserve, and restore important archaeological, historical, and 
cultural sites located in the city's SMZ for their educational and scientific value, as well 
as for the recreational enjoyment of the general public. 
SH2: Encourage organized educational projects and programs that use the city-owned 
shoreline resources. 

8. Flood Hazard Management Element 

Per RCW 90.58.100(2)(h) master programs shall include "an element that gives 
consideration to the statewide interest in the prevention and minimization of flood 
damages." 

Flood Hazard Management Goals: 

FHM1: Comply with and complement the city's Flood Damage Prevention regulations 
found in Chapter 17.66 SWMC. 
FHM2: To safely accommodate compatible uses in the flood plain and flood way while 
protecting integrity and character of the shoreline. 

- 21 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 62 of 248 

I _ I _ 

 - 21 - 

 

 

 

 

Shoreline Conservation Goals:  
 
SCO1: Comply with SMA rules regarding restoration of areas which are biologically and 
aesthetically degraded to the greatest extent feasible while maintaining appropriate use 
of the shoreline. 
SCO2: Protect and preserve the unique and nonrenewable resources and amenities of 
the shoreline for the use and enjoyment of present and future generations. 
 

7. Historic/Cultural/Scientific/Educational Element 

 
Per RCW 90.58.100(2)(g) master programs shall include “an historic, cultural, scientific, 
and educational element for the protection and restoration of buildings, sites, and areas 
having historic, cultural, scientific, or educational values.” 
 
Shoreline Historical/Cultural/Scientific/Educational Goals:  
 
SH1: Identify, protect, preserve, and restore important archaeological, historical, and 
cultural sites located in the city’s SMZ for their educational and scientific value, as well 
as for the recreational enjoyment of the general public. 
SH2: Encourage organized educational projects and programs that use the city-owned 
shoreline resources.  
 

8. Flood Hazard Management Element 

 
Per RCW 90.58.100(2)(h) master programs shall include “an element that gives 
consideration to the statewide interest in the prevention and minimization of flood 
damages.” 
 
Flood Hazard Management Goals:  
 
FHM1: Comply with and complement the city’s Flood Damage Prevention regulations 
found in Chapter 17.66 SWMC. 
FHM2: To safely accommodate compatible uses in the flood plain and flood way while 
protecting integrity and character of the shoreline. 
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 62 of 248



Chapter 4 — Shoreline Environment Designations 

1. General 
Under the SMA, all shorelines of the state meeting the criteria established are 
categorized into a shoreline environment designation. These designations are used to 
plan and manage shoreline resources through the development of the SMP. This 
system applies appropriate policies and regulations to distinctively different shoreline 
areas. 

The purpose of shoreline environment designations is to differentiate between areas 
whose geographical, hydrological, topographical, or other features imply differing 
objectives for the use and future development of the city's shorelines. 

The assignment of each geographical area into an environmental category is based on, 
and is reflective of, the existing use pattern; the biological and physical character of the 
shoreline; the goals and aspirations of the local citizenry; and the criteria in the SMA 
guidelines (WAC 173-26-211). 

Each environment designation represents a particular emphasis in the type of uses and 
development that should be allowed. The environment designation system is designed 
to encourage uses in each environment that enhance or are compatible with the 
character of the environment, while at the same time requiring reasonable standards 
and restrictions on development so that the character of the environment is not 
adversely impacted. 

Each environment designation category includes: (1) a purpose statement which 
clarifies the meaning and intent of the designation; (2) criteria to be used as a basis for 
classifying a specific shoreline area with that environment designation; and (3) general 
management policies designed to guide management decisions and development 
consistent with the character of the environment. 

The state recommends six basic environmental designations in WAC 173-26-211(5). 
Those designations are "high-intensity," "shoreline residential," "urban conservancy," 
"rural conservancy," "natural," and "aquatic." 

There is only one reach of shoreline in the Sedro-Woolley SMZ. That reach is used 
almost entirely for park purposes and is shown in Figure 1- SMZ. Therefore the most 
appropriate designation for the terrestrial lands in this reach is urban conservancy. The 
regulatory jurisdiction, referred to herein as the Shoreline Management Zone (SMZ), 
extends a minimum of 200 feet upland from the line of the ordinary high water mark 
(OHWM) of the Skagit River and floodways and contiguous floodplain areas landward 
two hundred feet from such floodways. The floodplain and floodway are defined by the 

- 22 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 63 of 248 

 - 22 - 

 

 

 

 

Chapter 4 – Shoreline Environment Designations 
 

I. General 

Under the SMA, all shorelines of the state meeting the criteria established are 
categorized into a shoreline environment designation. These designations are used to 
plan and manage shoreline resources through the development of the SMP. This 
system applies appropriate policies and regulations to distinctively different shoreline 
areas.  

 

The purpose of shoreline environment designations is to differentiate between areas 
whose geographical, hydrological, topographical, or other features imply differing 
objectives for the use and future development of the city’s shorelines.  

 
The assignment of each geographical area into an environmental category is based on, 
and is reflective of, the existing use pattern; the biological and physical character of the 
shoreline; the goals and aspirations of the local citizenry; and the criteria in the SMA 
guidelines (WAC 173-26-211).  
 
Each environment designation represents a particular emphasis in the type of uses and 
development that should be allowed. The environment designation system is designed 
to encourage uses in each environment that enhance or are compatible with the 
character of the environment, while at the same time requiring reasonable standards 
and restrictions on development so that the character of the environment is not 
adversely impacted.  
 
Each environment designation category includes: (1) a purpose statement which 
clarifies the meaning and intent of the designation; (2) criteria to be used as a basis for 
classifying a specific shoreline area with that environment designation; and (3) general 
management policies designed to guide management decisions and development 
consistent with the character of the environment. 
 
The state recommends six basic environmental designations in WAC 173-26-211(5). 
Those designations are "high-intensity," "shoreline residential," "urban conservancy," 
"rural conservancy," "natural," and "aquatic." 
 
There is only one reach of shoreline in the Sedro-Woolley SMZ. That reach is used 
almost entirely for park purposes and is shown in Figure 1- SMZ. Therefore the most 
appropriate designation for the terrestrial lands in this reach is urban conservancy. The 
regulatory jurisdiction, referred to herein as the Shoreline Management Zone (SMZ), 
extends a minimum of 200 feet upland from the line of the ordinary high water mark 
(OHWM) of the Skagit River and floodways and contiguous floodplain areas landward 
two hundred feet from such floodways. The floodplain and floodway are defined by the 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 63 of 248



US Army Corps of Engineers 1989 Flood Insurance Rate Maps (Firm). The SMZ 
includes associated wetlands within the flood plain, but not wetland buffers. Wetland 
buffers in the floodplain will be regulated under the city's critical areas ordinance and 
not the SMP. The City of Sedro-Woolley's SMZ extends beyond the ordinary high water 
mark to the approximately to the middle of the Skagit River. The submerged land 
waterward of the ordinary water mark shall be assigned the aquatic environment 
designation. WAC 173-26-211(5)(e) defines the urban conservancy environment 
designation. WAC 173-26-211(5)(c) defines the aquatic designation. Both of those 
designations are detailed below. 

11. "Urban Conservancy" environment 
A. Purpose. The purpose of the "urban conservancy" environment is to protect and 
restore ecological functions of open space, flood plain and other sensitive lands where 
they exist in urban and developed settings, while allowing a variety of compatible uses 
such as urban parks. 

B. Management policies. 

(1) Uses that preserve the natural character of the area or promote preservation of 
open space, flood plain or sensitive lands either directly or over the long term should be 
the primary allowed uses. Uses that result in restoration of ecological functions should 
be allowed if the use is otherwise compatible with the purpose of the environment and 
the setting. 

(2) Standards should be established for shoreline stabilization measures, vegetation 
conservation, water quality, and shoreline modifications within the "urban conservancy" 
designation. These standards shall ensure that new development does not result in a 
net loss of shoreline ecological functions or further degrade other shoreline values. 

(3) Public access and public recreation objectives should be implemented whenever 
feasible and significant ecological impacts can be mitigated. 

(4) Water-oriented uses should be given priority over nonwater-oriented uses. For 
shoreline areas adjacent to commercially navigable waters, water-dependent uses 
should be given highest priority. 

C. Designation criteria. Assign an "urban conservancy" environment designation to 
shoreline areas appropriate and planned for development that is compatible with 
maintaining or restoring of the ecological functions of the area, that are not generally 
suitable for water-dependent uses and that lie in incorporated municipalities, urban 
growth areas, or commercial or industrial "limited areas of more intensive rural 
development" if any of the following characteristics apply: 

(1) They are suitable for water-related or water-enjoyment uses; 

- 23 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 64 of 248 

 - 23 - 

 

 

 

 

US Army Corps of Engineers 1989 Flood Insurance Rate Maps (Firm). The SMZ 
includes associated wetlands within the flood plain, but not wetland buffers. Wetland 
buffers in the floodplain will be regulated under the city’s critical areas ordinance and 
not the SMP. The City of Sedro-Woolley’s SMZ extends beyond the ordinary high water 
mark to the approximately to the middle of the Skagit River. The submerged land 
waterward of the ordinary water mark shall be assigned the aquatic environment 
designation. WAC 173-26-211(5)(e) defines the urban conservancy environment 
designation. WAC 173-26-211(5)(c) defines the aquatic designation. Both of those 
designations are detailed below. 
 

II. “Urban Conservancy” environment  

A. Purpose. The purpose of the "urban conservancy" environment is to protect and 
restore ecological functions of open space, flood plain and other sensitive lands where 
they exist in urban and developed settings, while allowing a variety of compatible uses 
such as urban parks. 
 
B.  Management policies. 
 
     (1) Uses that preserve the natural character of the area or promote preservation of 
open space, flood plain or sensitive lands either directly or over the long term should be 
the primary allowed uses. Uses that result in restoration of ecological functions should 
be allowed if the use is otherwise compatible with the purpose of the environment and 
the setting. 
 
     (2) Standards should be established for shoreline stabilization measures, vegetation 
conservation, water quality, and shoreline modifications within the "urban conservancy" 
designation. These standards shall ensure that new development does not result in a 
net loss of shoreline ecological functions or further degrade other shoreline values.  
 
     (3) Public access and public recreation objectives should be implemented whenever 
feasible and significant ecological impacts can be mitigated. 
 
     (4) Water-oriented uses should be given priority over nonwater-oriented uses. For 
shoreline areas adjacent to commercially navigable waters, water-dependent uses 
should be given highest priority. 
 
C.  Designation criteria. Assign an "urban conservancy" environment designation to 
shoreline areas appropriate and planned for development that is compatible with 
maintaining or restoring of the ecological functions of the area, that are not generally 
suitable for water-dependent uses and that lie in incorporated municipalities, urban 
growth areas, or commercial or industrial "limited areas of more intensive rural 
development" if any of the following characteristics apply: 
 
     (1) They are suitable for water-related or water-enjoyment uses; 
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 64 of 248



(2) They are open space, flood plain or other sensitive areas that should not be more 
intensively developed; 

(3) They have potential for ecological restoration; 

(4) They retain important ecological functions, even though partially developed; or 

(5) They have the potential for development that is compatible with ecological 
restoration. 

Lands that may otherwise qualify for designation as urban conservancy and which 
are designated as "mineral resource lands" pursuant to RCW 36.70A.170 and WAC 
365-190-070 may be assigned a designation within the "urban conservancy" 
environment that allows mining and associated uses in addition to other uses consistent 
with the urban conservancy environment. 

D. Designated Area. The entirety of the Sedro-Woolley SMZ landward of the ordinary 
high water mark. 

III. "Aquatic" Environment 

A. Purpose. The purpose of the "aquatic" environment is to protect, restore, and 
manage the unique characteristics and resources of the areas waterward of the ordinary 
high-water mark. 

B. Management policies. 

(1) New over-water structures allowed only for water-dependent uses, public access, 
or ecological restoration. 

(2) The size of new over-water structures should be limited to the minimum 
necessary to support the structure's intended use. 

(3) In order to reduce the impacts of shoreline development and increase effective 
use of water resources, multiple use of over-water facilities should be encouraged. 

(4) All developments and uses on navigable waters or their beds should be located 
and designed to minimize interference with surface navigation, to consider impacts to 
public views, and to allow for the safe, unobstructed passage of fish and wildlife, 
particularly those species dependent on migration. 

(5) Uses that adversely impact the ecological functions of critical freshwater habitats 
should not be allowed except where necessary to achieve the objectives of RCW 
90.58.020, and then only when their impacts are mitigated according to the sequence 
described in WAC 173-26-201 (2)(e) as necessary to assure no net loss of ecological 

- 24 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 65 of 248 

 - 24 - 

 

 

 

 

     (2) They are open space, flood plain or other sensitive areas that should not be more 
intensively developed; 
 
     (3) They have potential for ecological restoration; 
 
     (4) They retain important ecological functions, even though partially developed; or 
 
     (5) They have the potential for development that is compatible with ecological 
restoration. 
 
     Lands that may otherwise qualify for designation as urban conservancy and which 
are designated as "mineral resource lands" pursuant to RCW 36.70A.170 and WAC 
365-190-070 may be assigned a designation within the "urban conservancy" 
environment that allows mining and associated uses in addition to other uses consistent 
with the urban conservancy environment.  
 
D. Designated Area. The entirety of the Sedro-Woolley SMZ landward of the ordinary 
high water mark. 
 

III. “Aquatic” Environment 

 
A. Purpose. The purpose of the "aquatic" environment is to protect, restore, and 
manage the unique characteristics and resources of the areas waterward of the ordinary 
high-water mark. 
 
B. Management policies. 
 
     (1) New over-water structures allowed only for water-dependent uses, public access, 
or ecological restoration. 
 
     (2) The size of new over-water structures should be limited to the minimum 
necessary to support the structure's intended use. 
 
     (3) In order to reduce the impacts of shoreline development and increase effective 
use of water resources, multiple use of over-water facilities should be encouraged. 
 
     (4) All developments and uses on navigable waters or their beds should be located 
and designed to minimize interference with surface navigation, to consider impacts to 
public views, and to allow for the safe, unobstructed passage of fish and wildlife, 
particularly those species dependent on migration. 
 
     (5) Uses that adversely impact the ecological functions of critical freshwater habitats 
should not be allowed except where necessary to achieve the objectives of RCW 
90.58.020, and then only when their impacts are mitigated according to the sequence 
described in WAC 173-26-201 (2)(e) as necessary to assure no net loss of ecological 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 65 of 248

http://apps.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=36.70A.170
http://apps.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=365-190-070
http://apps.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=90.58.020
http://apps.leg.wa.gov/wac/default.aspx?cite=173-26-201


functions. 

(6) Shoreline uses and modifications should be designed and managed to prevent 
degradation of water quality and alteration of natural hydrographic conditions. 

(7) Shoreline space should be reserved primarily for shoreline preferred uses. Such 
planning should consider upland and in-water uses, water quality, navigation, presence 
of aquatic vegetation, existing shellfish protection districts and critical habitats, 
aesthetics, public access and views. 

C. Designation criteria. Assign an "aquatic" environment designation to lands waterward 
of the ordinary high-water mark. 

D. Designated Area. The stretch of the Skagit River adjacent to the City of Sedro-
Woolley, waterward of the ordinary high water mark extending half-way across the width 
of the river. 

IV. Shoreline Environment Designation Maps 

The City of Sedro-Woolley Shoreline Environment Designations Map (Map 4.1) 
indicates the location of both the Urban Conservancy and the Aquatic Environments 
under the jurisdiction of this SMP. The official copy of this map shall be kept by the 
Planning Department. This official copy shall be available for public inspection at all 
times during normal business hours. Unofficial copies shall be included as part of all 
distributed copies of this SMP. 
Per WAC 173-27-211(2)(e), all areas within SMZ that are not mapped and/or 
designated are automatically assigned a "urban conservancy" designation if within a 
municipality or urban growth area, or the comparable environment designation of the 
applicable master program until the shoreline can be re-designated through a master 
program amendment. 

V. Consistency with Comprehensive Plan 

RCW 90.58.340 requires that policies for lands adjacent to the shorelines be consistent 
with the SMA, implementing rules, and the city's SMP. Conversely, local comprehensive 
plans constitute the underlying framework within which master program provisions 
should fit. The Growth Management Act, where applicable, designates shoreline master 
program policies as an element of the comprehensive plan and requires that all 
elements be internally consistent. The GMA also requires development regulations to 
be consistent with the comprehensive plan. 
The Shoreline Guidelines identify three criteria for use in evaluating the consistency 
between master program environment designation provisions and the corresponding 
comprehensive plan elements and development regulations. In order for shoreline 
designation provisions, local comprehensive plan land use designations, and 

- 25 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 66 of 248 

 - 25 - 

 

 

 

 

functions. 
 
     (6) Shoreline uses and modifications should be designed and managed to prevent 
degradation of water quality and alteration of natural hydrographic conditions. 
 
     (7) Shoreline space should be reserved primarily for shoreline preferred uses. Such 
planning should consider upland and in-water uses, water quality, navigation, presence 
of aquatic vegetation, existing shellfish protection districts and critical habitats, 
aesthetics, public access and views. 
 
C. Designation criteria. Assign an "aquatic" environment designation to lands waterward 
of the ordinary high-water mark. 
 
D. Designated Area. The stretch of the Skagit River adjacent to the City of Sedro-
Woolley, waterward of the ordinary high water mark extending half-way across the width 
of the river.  
 

IV. Shoreline Environment Designation Maps 

 
The City of Sedro-Woolley Shoreline Environment Designations Map (Map 4.1) 
indicates the location of both the Urban Conservancy and the Aquatic Environments 
under the jurisdiction of this SMP. The official copy of this map shall be kept by the 
Planning Department. This official copy shall be available for public inspection at all 
times during normal business hours. Unofficial copies shall be included as part of all 
distributed copies of this SMP. 
Per WAC 173-27-211(2)(e), all areas within SMZ that are not mapped and/or 
designated are automatically assigned a "urban conservancy" designation if within a 
municipality or urban growth area, or the comparable environment designation of the 
applicable master program until the shoreline can be re-designated through a master 
program amendment.  
 

V. Consistency with Comprehensive Plan 

 
RCW 90.58.340 requires that policies for lands adjacent to the shorelines be consistent 
with the SMA, implementing rules, and the city’s SMP. Conversely, local comprehensive 
plans constitute the underlying framework within which master program provisions 
should fit. The Growth Management Act, where applicable, designates shoreline master 
program policies as an element of the comprehensive plan and requires that all 
elements be internally consistent. The GMA also requires development regulations to 
be consistent with the comprehensive plan. 
The Shoreline Guidelines identify three criteria for use in evaluating the consistency 
between master program environment designation provisions and the corresponding 
comprehensive plan elements and development regulations. In order for shoreline 
designation provisions, local comprehensive plan land use designations, and 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 66 of 248



development regulations to be internally consistent, all three of the conditions below 
should be met: 
A. Provisions not precluding one another. 
Comprehensive plan provisions and shoreline environment designation provisions 
should not preclude one another. To meet this criterion, the provisions of both the 
comprehensive plan and the master program must be able to be met. Further, when 
considered together and applied to any one piece of property, the master program use 
policies and regulations and the local zoning or other use regulations should not conflict 
in a manner that all viable uses of the property are precluded. 
B. Use compatibility. 
Land use policies and regulations should protect preferred shoreline uses from being 
impacted by incompatible uses. The intent is to prevent water oriented uses, especially 
water dependent uses, from being restricted on shoreline areas because of impacts to 
nearby non-water-oriented uses. To be consistent, master programs, comprehensive 
plans, and development regulations should prevent new uses that are not compatible 
with preferred uses from locating where they may restrict preferred uses or 
development. 
C. Sufficient infrastructure. 
Infrastructure and services provided in the comprehensive plan should be sufficient to 
support allowed shoreline uses. Shoreline uses should not be allowed where the 
comprehensive plan does not provide sufficient roads, utilities, and other services to 
support them. Infrastructure plans must also be mutually consistent with shoreline 
designations. Where they do exist, utility services routed through shoreline areas shall 
not be a sole justification for more intense development. 

VI. Preferred Uses 

The SMA establishes policy that preference be given to uses that are unique to or 
dependent upon a shoreline location. Consistent with this policy, these guidelines use 
the terms "water-dependent," "water-related," and "water-enjoyment," (see WAC 173-
26-020), when discussing appropriate uses for various shoreline areas. 

Shoreline areas, being a limited ecological and economic resource, are the setting for 
competing uses and ecological protection and restoration activities. Consistent with 
RCW 90.58.020 and WAC 173-26-171 through 173-26-186, local governments shall, 
when determining allowable uses and resolving use conflicts on shorelines within their 
jurisdiction, apply the following preferences and priorities in the order listed below: 

A. Reserve appropriate areas for protecting and restoring ecological functions to control 
pollution and prevent damage to the natural environment and public health. In reserving 
areas, local governments should consider areas that are ecologically intact from the 
uplands through the aquatic zone of the area, aquatic areas that adjoin permanently 
protected uplands, and tidelands in public ownership. Local governments should ensure 
that these areas are reserved consistent with constitutional limits. 

- 26 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 67 of 248 

 - 26 - 

 

 

 

 

development regulations to be internally consistent, all three of the conditions below 
should be met: 
A. Provisions not precluding one another. 
Comprehensive plan provisions and shoreline environment designation provisions 
should not preclude one another. To meet this criterion, the provisions of both the 
comprehensive plan and the master program must be able to be met. Further, when 
considered together and applied to any one piece of property, the master program use 
policies and regulations and the local zoning or other use regulations should not conflict 
in a manner that all viable uses of the property are precluded. 
B. Use compatibility. 
Land use policies and regulations should protect preferred shoreline uses from being 
impacted by incompatible uses. The intent is to prevent water oriented uses, especially 
water dependent uses, from being restricted on shoreline areas because of impacts to 
nearby non-water-oriented uses. To be consistent, master programs, comprehensive 
plans, and development regulations should prevent new uses that are not compatible 
with preferred uses from locating where they may restrict preferred uses or 
development. 
C. Sufficient infrastructure. 
Infrastructure and services provided in the comprehensive plan should be sufficient to 
support allowed shoreline uses. Shoreline uses should not be allowed where the 
comprehensive plan does not provide sufficient roads, utilities, and other services to 
support them. Infrastructure plans must also be mutually consistent with shoreline 
designations. Where they do exist, utility services routed through shoreline areas shall 
not be a sole justification for more intense development. 
 

VI. Preferred Uses 

 
The SMA establishes policy that preference be given to uses that are unique to or 
dependent upon a shoreline location. Consistent with this policy, these guidelines use 
the terms "water-dependent," "water-related," and "water-enjoyment," (see WAC 173-
26-020), when discussing appropriate uses for various shoreline areas. 
 
Shoreline areas, being a limited ecological and economic resource, are the setting for 
competing uses and ecological protection and restoration activities. Consistent with 
RCW 90.58.020 and WAC 173-26-171 through 173-26-186, local governments shall, 
when determining allowable uses and resolving use conflicts on shorelines within their 
jurisdiction, apply the following preferences and priorities in the order listed below: 
 
A. Reserve appropriate areas for protecting and restoring ecological functions to control 
pollution and prevent damage to the natural environment and public health. In reserving 
areas, local governments should consider areas that are ecologically intact from the 
uplands through the aquatic zone of the area, aquatic areas that adjoin permanently 
protected uplands, and tidelands in public ownership. Local governments should ensure 
that these areas are reserved consistent with constitutional limits. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 67 of 248



B. Reserve shoreline areas for water-dependent and associated water-related uses. 
Harbor areas, established pursuant to Article )(V of the state Constitution, and other 
areas that have reasonable commercial navigational accessibility and necessary 
support facilities such as transportation and utilities should be reserved for water-
dependent and water-related uses that are associated with commercial navigation 
unless the local governments can demonstrate that adequate shoreline is reserved for 
future water-dependent and water-related uses and unless protection of the existing 
natural resource values of such areas preclude such uses. Local governments may 
prepare master program provisions to allow mixed-use developments that include and 
support water-dependent uses and address specific conditions that affect water-
dependent uses. 

C. Reserve shoreline areas for other water-related and water-enjoyment uses that are 
compatible with ecological protection and restoration objectives. 

D. Locate single-family residential uses where they are appropriate and can be 
developed without significant impact to ecological functions or displacement of water-
dependent uses. 

E. Limit nonwater-oriented uses to those locations where the above described uses are 
inappropriate or where nonwater-oriented uses demonstrably contribute to the 
objectives of the Shoreline Management Act. 

Evaluation pursuant to the above criteria, local economic and land use conditions, and 
policies and regulations that assure protection of shoreline resources, may result in 
determination that other uses are considered as necessary or appropriate and may be 
accommodated provided that the preferred uses are reasonably provided for in the 
jurisdiction (WAC 173-26-201(2)(d). 

VII. Shoreline Use Preferences and Shorelines of Statewide Significance 

In addition to the preferences above, RCW 90.58.020 and WAC 173-26-181 also 
require that in developing master programs for shorelines of statewide significance, the 
local jurisdiction give preferences to uses in the following order: 

A. Recognize and protect the statewide interest over local interest; 
B. Preserve the natural character of the shoreline; 
C. Result in long term over short term benefit; 
D. Protect the resources and ecology of the shoreline; 
E. Increase public access to publicly owned areas of the shorelines; 
F. Increase recreational opportunities for the public in the shoreline; 
G. Provide for any other element as defined in RCW 90.58.100 deemed appropriate or 
necessary. (WAC 173-26-251(2)) 

- 27 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 68 of 248 

 - 27 - 

 

 

 

 

B. Reserve shoreline areas for water-dependent and associated water-related uses. 
Harbor areas, established pursuant to Article XV of the state Constitution, and other 
areas that have reasonable commercial navigational accessibility and necessary 
support facilities such as transportation and utilities should be reserved for water-
dependent and water-related uses that are associated with commercial navigation 
unless the local governments can demonstrate that adequate shoreline is reserved for 
future water-dependent and water-related uses and unless protection of the existing 
natural resource values of such areas preclude such uses. Local governments may 
prepare master program provisions to allow mixed-use developments that include and 
support water-dependent uses and address specific conditions that affect water-
dependent uses. 
 
C. Reserve shoreline areas for other water-related and water-enjoyment uses that are 
compatible with ecological protection and restoration objectives. 
 
D. Locate single-family residential uses where they are appropriate and can be 
developed without significant impact to ecological functions or displacement of water-
dependent uses. 
 
E. Limit nonwater-oriented uses to those locations where the above described uses are 
inappropriate or where nonwater-oriented uses demonstrably contribute to the 
objectives of the Shoreline Management Act. 
 
Evaluation pursuant to the above criteria, local economic and land use conditions, and 
policies and regulations that assure protection of shoreline resources, may result in 
determination that other uses are considered as necessary or appropriate and may be 
accommodated provided that the preferred uses are reasonably provided for in the 
jurisdiction (WAC 173-26-201(2)(d). 
 

VII. Shoreline Use Preferences and Shorelines of Statewide Significance 

 
In addition to the preferences above, RCW 90.58.020 and WAC 173-26-181 also 
require that in developing master programs for shorelines of statewide significance, the 
local jurisdiction give preferences to uses in the following order:  
 
A. Recognize and protect the statewide interest over local interest;  
B. Preserve the natural character of the shoreline;  
C. Result in long term over short term benefit;  
D. Protect the resources and ecology of the shoreline;  
E. Increase public access to publicly owned areas of the shorelines;  
F. Increase recreational opportunities for the public in the shoreline;  
G. Provide for any other element as defined in RCW 90.58.100 deemed appropriate or 
necessary. (WAC 173-26-251(2))  
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 68 of 248



Shoreline ecological resources are linked to other environments, thus implementation of 
ecological objectives requires effective management of whole ecosystems. The SMA 
requires adherence to the concept of "optimum implementation;" an imperative to 
identify, understand, and manage ecosystem-wide processes and ecological functions 
that sustain resources of statewide importance. Sedro-Woolley SMP provides for 
optimum implementation of the statewide interest as set forth in the policy of RCW 
90.58.020 and the applicable guidelines. 

- 28 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 69 of 248 

 - 28 - 

 

 

 

 

Shoreline ecological resources are linked to other environments, thus implementation of 
ecological objectives requires effective management of whole ecosystems. The SMA 
requires adherence to the concept of “optimum implementation;” an imperative to 
identify, understand, and manage ecosystem-wide processes and ecological functions 
that sustain resources of statewide importance. Sedro-Woolley SMP provides for 
optimum implementation of the statewide interest as set forth in the policy of RCW 
90.58.020 and the applicable guidelines. 
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 69 of 248



pity of Sedro-Woolley SMP
Urban Consrevancy & Aquatic Environment Designations 

c=c4ze,xasesecro

/  n qmoaccei; 

• 

ri3m3." 

Ir 

@«c 

Line indicates 
200 foot setback 
from the floodway 

u 

t
o

ii 

I 

GREEN horizontal 
lines indicate 
Urban Conservancy 
environment designation 

0 

if
c.a. rmcotommmor% 

.mamtma•mammigmat, 

£ 

S\<ag\t Rev eC

a 

peamcat 0 
n 
0 

ri
CM.=M3MMG =Mnne 

Oomm0 0 

Wetland boundaries depic 
are approximate. Wetland 
not been formally delineat 
surveyed and are intendec 
planning purposes only. 
Additional site-specific 
evaluation may be needec 
confirm or verify the bounc 

t 

E 

Per WAC 173-27-211(2)(e), 
within shoreline jurisdiction t 
are not mapped and/or desi 
are automatically assigned z 
"urban conservancy" design 
if within the city or urban grc 
area, or the comparable 
environment designation un 
the shoreline can be 
re-designated through 
a master program am en dm 

BLUE diagonal 
• lines indicate 
• Aquatic 

-.
I 

environment designation 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 70 of 248 

City  of Sedro-Woolley SMP
Urban Consrevancy & Aquatic Environment Designations 

ImalEc=ccmaccontcoc.g-

O 

r .ccc.ccg 

.7.127112OftECCCCJI 17 

L CCIZZOCCO.Q.C.CCMCCcOCCOC,700C0C=0.0CCS 

GREEN horizontal 
lines indicate 
Urban Conservancy 
environment designation 

Line indicates 
200 foot setback 
from the floodway 

L_J ri

2=== ,aasaaa2' 

P0tionacil 

220naccotonnno=tt, 

0 

u 

a 

a 
tokrT2 ,00,9.00. 

numemnait 

a 
a 

FriZmICII3000 EI:Ip3CRTIDSIIDINP 

Wetland boundaries depict 
are approximate. Wetlands 
not been formally delineate 
surveyed and are intended 
planning purposes only. 
Additional site-specific 
evaluation may be needed 
confirm or verify the bound; 

Per WAC 173-27-211(2)(e), 
within shoreline jurisdiction t 
are not mapped and/or desic 
are automatically assigned e 
"urban conservancy" design 
if within the city or urban gro 
area, or the comparable 
environment designation unt 
the shoreline can be 
re-designated through 
a master program am endm e 

BLUE diagonal 
lines indicate 
Aquatic 
environment designation 

City of Sedro-Woolley SMP 
Urban Consrevancy & Aquatic Environment Designations 

Y~MBECCcit ccn.tron 

0 

Line indicates 
200 foot setback 
from the floodway 

rt-.__ c[00:00 CCO.,.. r.„CCUCCCOCCOI0, 17CCOC,COZOCCS 

GREEN horizontal 
lines indicate 
Urban Conservancy 
environment designation 

skagk River 

r, 
g00, =CC 3,0,0C =, 

 ig 

C.100000... 

PI 

?I 

603,r103. .. 0020 -0000=nr.' 

Wetland boundaries depicted 
are approximate. Wetlands have 
not been formally delineated or 
surveyed and are intended for 
planning purposes only. 
Additional site-specific 
evaluation may be needed to 
confirm or verify the boundaries 

Per WAC 173-27-211(2)(e). areas 
within shoreline jurisdiction that 
are not mapped and/or designated 
are automatically assigned an 
"urban conservancy" designation 
if within the city or urban growth 
area. or the comparable 
environment designation until 
the shoreline can be 
re-designated through 
a master program amendment. 

BLUE diagonal 
lines indicate 
Aquatic 
environment designation 

Legend 

Go❑ccfi+~ 

and 

D
e

si
g

n
a

tio
n

s 

 
- 

2
9

 -
 

    

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 70 of 248



Chapter 5— Policies and Regulations 

5.1 — General Policies and Regulations 

A. Policies and Regulations Applicable to all Shorelines 
1. Applicability 
a. The goals listed in Section III of this Master Program provide broad guidance and 
direction and have been used by the City in developing the following SMP policies. 
b. The goals and policies, taken together, constitute the Shoreline Element of the 
Sedro-Woolley Comprehensive Plan. 
c. It is through the regulations that the SMP policies are implemented. The regulations 
describe the standards required for all shoreline uses and modifications in the City's two 
environmental designations and are part of the Municipal Code. 

2. Policies 
a. The Director of the Planning Department (Director) will periodically initiate review of 
conditions on the shoreline and conduct appropriate analysis to determine whether or 
not other actions are necessary to protect and restore the ecology, protect human 
health and safety, upgrade visual qualities, and enhance residential, commercial, and 
recreational uses on the City's shorelines. Specific issues to address in such 
evaluations include, but are not limited to: 
i. Upland vegetation; 
ii. Conservation of aquatic vegetation (control of noxious weeds and enhancement of 
vegetation that supports more desirable ecological and recreational conditions); 
iii. Water quality; 
iv. Changing visual character as a result of new development, including redevelopment 
and individual vegetation conservation practices; and 
v. Shoreline stabilization and modifications. 
b. Where appropriate, the Planning Department will implement the policies of this 
Master Program in all land use activities, such as development permitting, public 
construction, and public health and safety. Specifically, such activities include, but are 
not limited to: 
i. Water quality and storm water management activities, including those outside SMZ, 
but affecting the shorelines of statewide significance; 
ii. Aquatic vegetation management; 
iii. Health and safety activities; and 
iv. Public works and utilities development. 
c. The Planning Department will notify affected federal, state, county, and tribal 
governments when shoreline development permit applications are submitted. 

3. Regulations 
a. All proposed shoreline uses and developments, including those uses and 
developments that do not require a shoreline permit, shall conform to the provisions of 
the Shoreline Management Act, Chapter 90.58 RCW, as such provisions are 

- 30 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 71 of 248 

 - 30 - 

 

 

 

 

Chapter 5 – Policies and Regulations 

5.1 – General Policies and Regulations 

 

A. Policies and Regulations Applicable to all Shorelines  

1. Applicability  
a. The goals listed in Section III of this Master Program provide broad guidance and 
direction and have been used by the City in developing the following SMP policies.  
b. The goals and policies, taken together, constitute the Shoreline Element of the 
Sedro-Woolley Comprehensive Plan.  
c. It is through the regulations that the SMP policies are implemented. The regulations 
describe the standards required for all shoreline uses and modifications in the City’s two 
environmental designations and are part of the Municipal Code.  
 
2. Policies  
a. The Director of the Planning Department (Director) will periodically initiate review of 
conditions on the shoreline and conduct appropriate analysis to determine whether or 
not other actions are necessary to protect and restore the ecology, protect human 
health and safety, upgrade visual qualities, and enhance residential, commercial, and 
recreational uses on the City’s shorelines. Specific issues to address in such 
evaluations include, but are not limited to:  
i. Upland vegetation;  
ii. Conservation of aquatic vegetation (control of noxious weeds and enhancement of 
vegetation that supports more desirable ecological and recreational conditions);  
iii. Water quality;  
iv. Changing visual character as a result of new development, including redevelopment 
and individual vegetation conservation practices; and 
v. Shoreline stabilization and modifications.  
b. Where appropriate, the Planning Department will implement the policies of this 
Master Program in all land use activities, such as development permitting, public 
construction, and public health and safety. Specifically, such activities include, but are 
not limited to:  
i. Water quality and storm water management activities, including those outside SMZ, 
but affecting the shorelines of statewide significance;  
ii. Aquatic vegetation management;  
iii. Health and safety activities; and  
iv. Public works and utilities development. 
c. The Planning Department will notify affected federal, state, county, and tribal 
governments when shoreline development permit applications are submitted.  
 
3. Regulations  
a. All proposed shoreline uses and developments, including those uses and 
developments that do not require a shoreline permit, shall conform to the provisions of 
the Shoreline Management Act, Chapter 90.58 RCW, as such provisions are 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 71 of 248



implemented by the specific regulations of the Master Program applicable to such uses, 
as more fully described herein. 
b. All new shoreline modifications must be in support of an allowable shoreline use that 
conforms to the provisions of the Master Program. Except as otherwise noted herein, all 
proposed shoreline modifications not associated with a legally existing or an approved 
shoreline use are prohibited. 
c. Shoreline uses, modifications, and conditions listed as "prohibited" shall not be 
eligible for consideration as a shoreline variance or for a shoreline conditional use 
permit. 
d. Where regulations included in this Master Program appear to produce conflicting 
requirements, the shoreline regulations that are most consistent with the City's existing 
zoning requirements and its Comprehensive Plan shall be applied, absent clear and 
convincing evidence that application of such regulations would violate the provisions of 
the Shoreline Management Act, as expressed in RCW 90.58.020. 
e. See Administrative Provisions (Section VI of SMP) for regulations pertaining to 
shoreline exemptions, variances, conditional uses, and nonconforming uses. 

B. Archaeological and Historic Resources 
1. Applicability 
The following provisions apply to archaeological and historic resources that are either 
recorded with the Washington State Department of Archaeology and Historic 
Preservation (DAHP) or are revealed during the course of development or modification 
activity within the Sedro-Woolley SMZ. 

2. Policies 
Due to the limited and irreplaceable nature of the resource, public or private uses, 
activities, and development should be prevented from destroying or damaging any site 
having historic, cultural, scientific, or educational value as identified by the appropriate 
authorities and deemed worthy of protection and preservation. 

3. Regulations 
a. All shoreline permits shall contain provisions that require developers to immediately 
stop work and notify the Planning Department if any sites or items of possible 
archaeological value are uncovered during excavation. In such cases, the developer 
shall be required to provide a site inspection and evaluation by a professional 
archaeologist to ensure that all possible valuable archaeological data are properly 
salvaged or mapped. 
b. Archaeological sites located in the Sedro-Woolley SMZ are subject to Chapter 27.44 
RCW (Indian Graves and Records) and Chapter 27.53 RCW (Archaeological Sites and 
Resources) and shall comply with Chapter 25-48 WAC (Archaeological Excavation and 
Removal Permit), as well as the provisions of the Master Program. 
c. All shoreline permits and exemptions issued in areas documented to contain 
archaeological resources require a site inspection or evaluation by a professional 
archaeologist in coordination with affected tribes. 

- 31 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 72 of 248 

 - 31 - 

 

 

 

 

implemented by the specific regulations of the Master Program applicable to such uses, 
as more fully described herein.  
b. All new shoreline modifications must be in support of an allowable shoreline use that 
conforms to the provisions of the Master Program. Except as otherwise noted herein, all 
proposed shoreline modifications not associated with a legally existing or an approved 
shoreline use are prohibited.  
c. Shoreline uses, modifications, and conditions listed as "prohibited" shall not be 
eligible for consideration as a shoreline variance or for a shoreline conditional use 
permit.  
d. Where regulations included in this Master Program appear to produce conflicting 
requirements, the shoreline regulations that are most consistent with the City’s existing 
zoning requirements and its Comprehensive Plan shall be applied, absent clear and 
convincing evidence that application of such regulations would violate the provisions of 
the Shoreline Management Act, as expressed in RCW 90.58.020.  
e. See Administrative Provisions (Section VI of SMP) for regulations pertaining to 
shoreline exemptions, variances, conditional uses, and nonconforming uses.  
 

B. Archaeological and Historic Resources  

1. Applicability  
The following provisions apply to archaeological and historic resources that are either 
recorded with the Washington State Department of Archaeology and Historic 
Preservation (DAHP) or are revealed during the course of development or modification 
activity within the Sedro-Woolley SMZ. 
 
2. Policies  
Due to the limited and irreplaceable nature of the resource, public or private uses, 
activities, and development should be prevented from destroying or damaging any site 
having historic, cultural, scientific, or educational value as identified by the appropriate 
authorities and deemed worthy of protection and preservation.  
 
3. Regulations  
a. All shoreline permits shall contain provisions that require developers to immediately 
stop work and notify the Planning Department if any sites or items of possible 
archaeological value are uncovered during excavation. In such cases, the developer 
shall be required to provide a site inspection and evaluation by a professional 
archaeologist to ensure that all possible valuable archaeological data are properly 
salvaged or mapped.  
b. Archaeological sites located in the Sedro-Woolley SMZ are subject to Chapter 27.44 
RCW (Indian Graves and Records) and Chapter 27.53 RCW (Archaeological Sites and 
Resources) and shall comply with Chapter 25-48 WAC (Archaeological Excavation and 
Removal Permit), as well as the provisions of the Master Program.  
c. All shoreline permits and exemptions issued in areas documented to contain 
archaeological resources require a site inspection or evaluation by a professional 
archaeologist in coordination with affected tribes. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 72 of 248



d. In the event that unforeseen factors constituting an emergency as defined in RCW 
90.58.030 necessitate rapid action to retrieve or preserve artifacts or data identified 
above, the project may be exempted from the permit requirement of these regulations. 
The City shall notify the State Department of Ecology, the State Attorney General's 
Office, and the DAHP of such a waiver. 
e. Archaeological excavations may be permitted, subject to the provisions of this 
program. 

C. Critical Areas 
1. Applicability 
a. Wetlands occurring in the City's SMZ, [Note: The City is not opting for the expansion 
of the SMZ, as provided for in RCW 90.58.030(2)(d)(ii)]. 
b. Fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas are regulated by SWMC 17.65.500-530, 
"Article V. Fish and Wildlife Habitat Conservation Areas," which has been incorporated 
into Appendix C — "Shoreline Critical Areas Regulations." 
c. The main stem of the Skagit River, which is designated an Aquatic Environment in 
this SMP, and provides the critical ecological function of fish passage to upstream 
spawning and rearing habitats. 
d. The language adopted as part of this SMP has been reviewed and determined to 
meet the standard of no net loss of ecological functions. 

2. Policies 
a. In implementing this Master Program, the Planning Department will take necessary 
steps to ensure compliance with Chapter 43.21C RCW, the Washington State 
Environmental Policy Act of 1971, and its implementing guidelines. 
b. All significant adverse impacts to the shoreline should follow recommended mitigation 
sequencing provided for in Appendix C. 
c. Applicable sections of the Critical Area Ordinance (CAO) pertaining to wetlands have 
been incorporated into the SMP and have been included as Appendix C. 
d. If provisions of the Shoreline Wetland Regulations (Appendix C), and other parts of 
the Master Program seem to conflict, the regulations most directly implementing the 
objectives of the Shoreline Management Act, as determined by the Planning 
Department, shall apply unless specifically stated otherwise. 
e. In as much as the main stem of the Skagit River serves the critical function of fish 
passage, the SMP shall be applicable for the purposes of protection of this function by 
minimizing and avoiding any adverse impacts waterward of the ordinary high water 
mark. 

3. Regulations 
a. All project proposals that occur within the Shoreline Management Zone (see Figure 
1), shall comply with Chapter 17.66 SWMC, Flood Damage Prevention and the 
provisions of this SMP. 
b. All project proposals that involve alteration of wetlands within the SMZ must comply 
with the wetland regulations in Appendix C of the SMP. 

- 32 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 73 of 248 

 - 32 - 

 

 

 

 

d. In the event that unforeseen factors constituting an emergency as defined in RCW 
90.58.030 necessitate rapid action to retrieve or preserve artifacts or data identified 
above, the project may be exempted from the permit requirement of these regulations. 
The City shall notify the State Department of Ecology, the State Attorney General's 
Office, and the DAHP of such a waiver.  
e. Archaeological excavations may be permitted, subject to the provisions of this 
program.  
 

C. Critical Areas  

1. Applicability  
a. Wetlands occurring in the City’s SMZ, [Note: The City is not opting for the expansion 
of the SMZ, as provided for in RCW 90.58.030(2)(d)(ii)].  
b. Fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas are regulated by SWMC 17.65.500-530, 
“Article V. Fish and Wildlife Habitat Conservation Areas,” which has been incorporated 
into Appendix C – “Shoreline Critical Areas Regulations.”  
c. The main stem of the Skagit River, which is designated an Aquatic Environment in 
this SMP, and provides the critical ecological function of fish passage to upstream 
spawning and rearing habitats.  
d. The language adopted as part of this SMP has been reviewed and determined to 
meet the standard of no net loss of ecological functions.  
 
2. Policies  
a. In implementing this Master Program, the Planning Department will take necessary 
steps to ensure compliance with Chapter 43.21C RCW, the Washington State 
Environmental Policy Act of 1971, and its implementing guidelines.  
b. All significant adverse impacts to the shoreline should follow recommended mitigation 
sequencing provided for in Appendix C. 
c. Applicable sections of the Critical Area Ordinance (CAO) pertaining to wetlands have 
been incorporated into the SMP and have been included as Appendix C.  
d. If provisions of the Shoreline Wetland Regulations (Appendix C), and other parts of 
the Master Program seem to conflict, the regulations most directly implementing the 
objectives of the Shoreline Management Act, as determined by the Planning 
Department, shall apply unless specifically stated otherwise.  
e. In as much as the main stem of the Skagit River serves the critical function of fish 
passage, the SMP shall be applicable for the purposes of protection of this function by 
minimizing and avoiding any adverse impacts waterward of the ordinary high water 
mark. 
 
3. Regulations  
a. All project proposals that occur within the Shoreline Management Zone (see Figure 
1), shall comply with Chapter 17.66 SWMC, Flood Damage Prevention and the 
provisions of this SMP.  
b. All project proposals that involve alteration of wetlands within the SMZ must comply 
with the wetland regulations in Appendix C of the SMP.  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 73 of 248



c. All project proposals that may alter fish and wildlife conservation areas shall comply 
with Fish and Wildlife Habitat Conservation Areas regulations in Appendix C and the 
provisions of this SMP. 
d. All project proposals shall comply with Chapter 43.21C RCW, the Washington State 
Environmental Policy Act. 

D. Flood Hazard Reduction 
1. Applicability 
a. The provisions in this section apply to those areas within the SMZ lying along the 
Skagit River floodplain corridor and as identified on Federal Emergency Management 
Agency (FEMA) floodplain maps. The provisions in this section are intended to address 
two concerns especially relevant to river shorelines: 
i. Protecting human safety and minimizing flood hazard to human activities and 
property; and 
ii. Protecting and contributing to the restoration of ecosystem-wide processes and 
ecological functions found in the applicable watershed or sub-basin. 

2. Policies 
a. Implement a comprehensive program to manage the City's floodplain corridor that 
integrates the following City ordinances and activities: 
i. Regulations of the Master Program as codified in the SWMC; 
ii. The Floodplain Management Prevention, Chapter 17.66 SWMC; 
iii. The development standards of the underlying zoning district; 
iv. The City stormwater management plan and implementing regulations; and 
vii. The City's participation in flood risk management programs, including the Federal 
Emergency Management Act and the Washington State Flood Control Assistance 
Account Program. 
b. In regulating development on shorelines within SMA jurisdiction, endeavor to achieve 
the following: 
i. Maintenance of human safety; 
ii. Protection and, where appropriate, the restoration of the physical integrity of the 
ecological system processes; 
iii. Protection of water quality and natural groundwater movement; 
iv. Protection of fish, vegetation, and other life forms and their habitat vital to the aquatic 
food chain; 
v. Protection of existing legal uses unless the City determines, in the exercise of its 
reasonable discretion, that relocation of an existing, non-conforming use or structure is 
the only feasible option based on a written determination of the State Department of 
Ecology that such use presents a substantial and imminent hazard to the shoreline, and 
violates the requirements of the Shoreline Management Act; and 
vi. Protection of recreational resources and scenic values. 
c. Continue to undertake flood risk management planning in a coordinated manner with 
affected property owners and public agencies. 
d. In designing publicly financed or subsidized works, give consideration to providing 
public pedestrian access to the shoreline, particularly in the City-owned park properties. 

- 33 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 74 of 248 

 - 33 - 

 

 

 

 

c. All project proposals that may alter fish and wildlife conservation areas shall comply 
with Fish and Wildlife Habitat Conservation Areas regulations in Appendix C and the 
provisions of this SMP.  
d. All project proposals shall comply with Chapter 43.21C RCW, the Washington State 
Environmental Policy Act. 
 

D. Flood Hazard Reduction  

1. Applicability  
a. The provisions in this section apply to those areas within the SMZ lying along the 
Skagit River floodplain corridor and as identified on Federal Emergency Management 
Agency (FEMA) floodplain maps. The provisions in this section are intended to address 
two concerns especially relevant to river shorelines: 
i. Protecting human safety and minimizing flood hazard to human activities and 
property; and  
ii. Protecting and contributing to the restoration of ecosystem-wide processes and 
ecological functions found in the applicable watershed or sub-basin.  
 
2. Policies  
a. Implement a comprehensive program to manage the City’s floodplain corridor that 
integrates the following City ordinances and activities:  
i. Regulations of the Master Program as codified in the SWMC;  
ii. The Floodplain Management Prevention, Chapter 17.66 SWMC;  
iii. The development standards of the underlying zoning district;  
iv. The City stormwater management plan and implementing regulations; and 
vii. The City’s participation in flood risk management programs, including the Federal 
Emergency Management Act and the Washington State Flood Control Assistance 
Account Program.  
b. In regulating development on shorelines within SMA jurisdiction, endeavor to achieve 
the following:  
i. Maintenance of human safety;  
ii. Protection and, where appropriate, the restoration of the physical integrity of the 
ecological system processes;  
iii. Protection of water quality and natural groundwater movement;  
iv. Protection of fish, vegetation, and other life forms and their habitat vital to the aquatic 
food chain;  
v. Protection of existing legal uses unless the City determines, in the exercise of its 
reasonable discretion, that relocation of an existing, non-conforming use or structure is 
the only feasible option based on a written determination of the State Department of 
Ecology that such use presents a substantial and imminent hazard to the shoreline, and 
violates the requirements of the Shoreline Management Act; and  
vi. Protection of recreational resources and scenic values.  
c. Continue to undertake flood risk management planning in a coordinated manner with 
affected property owners and public agencies.  
d. In designing publicly financed or subsidized works, give consideration to providing 
public pedestrian access to the shoreline, particularly in the City-owned park properties.  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 74 of 248



3. Regulations 
a. Uses that may be appropriate and/or necessarily located in the channel migration 
zone or floodway include uses delineated in WAC 173-26-221(3)(c)(i) when consistent 
with language elsewhere in the SMP. 
b. New structural flood hazard reduction measures shall be allowed only where 
demonstrated to be necessary, and when non-structural methods are infeasible and 
mitigation is accomplished. 
c. New structural flood hazard reduction measures shall be allowed only landward of 
associated wetlands and buffer areas except where no alternative exists as 
documented in a geotechnical analysis per WAC 173-26-221(3)(c)(ii) & (iii). 
d. Designs for flood hazard management and shoreline stabilization measures in river 
corridors must be prepared by qualified professional engineers, geologists, and/or 
hydrologists who have expertise in local riverine processes. 
e. Existing hydrological connections to the floodplain and associated wetlands shall be 
maintained where feasible. 
f. New publicly funded dikes or levees are required to dedicate and improve public 
access per WAC-173-26-221(3)(c)(iv). 
g. Removal of gravel from the Skagit River for purposes of flood risk reduction is not 
allowed unless a biological and geomorphological study demonstrates a long-term 
benefit to flood hazard reduction, no net loss of ecological functions, and extraction is 
part of a comprehensive flood management solution. 

E. Public Access 
1. Applicability 
a. Shoreline public access is the physical ability of the general public to reach and touch 
the water's edge and/or the ability to have a view of the water and the shoreline from 
upland locations. Public access facilities may include picnic areas, pathways and trails, 
floats and docks, promenades, viewing platforms, boat launches, and improved street 
ends. 
b. The City owns most of the river's edge property in the SMZ. Public access to the 
shoreline is of high priority when and where access can be safely accommodated. The 
stretch of Skagit River through the SMZ is fast moving, cold and varies in bank height 
and volume. The bank is typically steep in the SMZ. These factors make recreation on 
the shores of or in the waters of the river perilous at times, thus direct access to the 
river should be carefully managed. 

2. Policies 
a. Public access should be considered in the review of all private and public 
developments with the exception of the following: 
i. Residential developments of four or fewer lots; or 
ii. Where deemed inappropriate due to health, safety, and environmental concerns. 
b. Developments, uses, and activities on or near the shoreline should not impair or 
detract from the public's right to access the water or the rights of navigation. 

- 34 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 75 of 248 

 - 34 - 

 

 

 

 

 
3. Regulations  
a. Uses that may be appropriate and/or necessarily located in the channel migration 
zone or floodway include uses delineated in WAC 173-26-221(3)(c)(i) when consistent 
with language elsewhere in the SMP. 
b. New structural flood hazard reduction measures shall be allowed only where 
demonstrated to be necessary, and when non-structural methods are infeasible and 
mitigation is accomplished.  
c. New structural flood hazard reduction measures shall be allowed only landward of 
associated wetlands and buffer areas except where no alternative exists as 
documented in a geotechnical analysis per WAC 173-26-221(3)(c)(ii) & (iii).  
d. Designs for flood hazard management and shoreline stabilization measures in river 
corridors must be prepared by qualified professional engineers, geologists, and/or 
hydrologists who have expertise in local riverine processes. 
e. Existing hydrological connections to the floodplain and associated wetlands shall be 
maintained where feasible. 
f. New publicly funded dikes or levees are required to dedicate and improve public 
access per WAC-173-26-221(3)(c)(iv). 
g. Removal of gravel from the Skagit River for purposes of flood risk reduction is not 
allowed unless a biological and geomorphological study demonstrates a long-term 
benefit to flood hazard reduction, no net loss of ecological functions, and extraction is 
part of a comprehensive flood management solution.  
 

E. Public Access  

1. Applicability  
a. Shoreline public access is the physical ability of the general public to reach and touch 
the water's edge and/or the ability to have a view of the water and the shoreline from 
upland locations. Public access facilities may include picnic areas, pathways and trails, 
floats and docks, promenades, viewing platforms, boat launches, and improved street 
ends.  
b. The City owns most of the river’s edge property in the SMZ. Public access to the 
shoreline is of high priority when and where access can be safely accommodated. The 
stretch of Skagit River through the SMZ is fast moving, cold and varies in bank height 
and volume. The bank is typically steep in the SMZ. These factors make recreation on 
the shores of or in the waters of the river perilous at times, thus direct access to the 
river should be carefully managed. 
 
2. Policies  
a. Public access should be considered in the review of all private and public 
developments with the exception of the following:  
i. Residential developments of four or fewer lots; or 
ii. Where deemed inappropriate due to health, safety, and environmental concerns.  
b. Developments, uses, and activities on or near the shoreline should not impair or 
detract from the public's right to access the water or the rights of navigation.  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 75 of 248



c. Public access should be provided as close as possible to the water's edge without 
causing significant ecological impacts or placing users in harms-way and should be 
designed in accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act. 
d. Opportunities for public access should be identified on publicly-owned shorelines. 
e. Public access should be designed to provide for public safety and comfort and to 
ensure no adverse impacts on adjoining private property and the individual privacy of 
such property owners. Where public access is provided, a physical barrier or other 
means of separation should be utilized that clearly delineates public and private space, 
and which will discourage trespass onto adjoining private property. 
f. Views from the upland areas adjacent to the shoreline should be enhanced and 
preserved to the extent practical and where they do not conflict with other goals and 
provisions of the Master Program. Enhancement of views should not be construed to 
mean excessive removal of existing native vegetation that partially impairs views. 
g. Development projects should demonstrate that views from public properties, public 
streets, and/or a significant number of residences are not adversely impacted. 
h. Public access and interpretive displays should be provided as part of publicly-funded 
restoration projects where significant adverse ecological impacts can be avoided. 
i. The acquisition of suitable upland properties to provide access to publicly-owned 
shorelands should be encouraged where feasible and practical. 

3. Regulations 
a. Except as provided in regulations 'b' and 'c' below, shoreline substantial 
developments and/or shoreline conditional uses shall provide public access based on 
nexus and proportionality where any of the following conditions are present: 
i. Where a development or use will create increased demand for public access to the 
shoreline, the development or use shall provide public access to mitigate this impact; 
ii. Where a development or use will interfere with existing public access, the 
development or use shall provide public access to mitigate this impact. Impacts to public 
access may include blocking access or discouraging use of existing on-site or nearby 
accesses; 
iii. Where a use that is not a priority shoreline use under the Shoreline Management Act 
locates on a shoreline of statewide significance, the use or development shall provide 
public access to mitigate this impact; 
iv. Where a use or development will interfere with a public use of lands or waters 
subject to the Public Trust Doctrine, the development shall provide public access to 
mitigate this impact; or 
v. Where the development is proposed by a public entity or on public lands. 
b. An applicant need not provide public access where the Planning Department 
determines that one or more of the following conditions apply: 
i. Residential developments of four or fewer lots; 
ii. The new use is accessory to an existing primary permitted use; 
iii. If access were provided, unavoidable health or safety hazards to the public would 
exist that cannot be prevented by any practical means; 
iv. Inherent security requirements of the use cannot be satisfied through the application 
of alternative design features or other solutions; 

- 35 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 76 of 248 

 - 35 - 

 

 

 

 

c. Public access should be provided as close as possible to the water's edge without 
causing significant ecological impacts or placing users in harms-way and should be 
designed in accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act. 
d. Opportunities for public access should be identified on publicly-owned shorelines.  
e. Public access should be designed to provide for public safety and comfort and to 
ensure no adverse impacts on adjoining private property and the individual privacy of 
such property owners. Where public access is provided, a physical barrier or other 
means of separation should be utilized that clearly delineates public and private space, 
and which will discourage trespass onto adjoining private property.  
f. Views from the upland areas adjacent to the shoreline should be enhanced and 
preserved to the extent practical and where they do not conflict with other goals and 
provisions of the Master Program. Enhancement of views should not be construed to 
mean excessive removal of existing native vegetation that partially impairs views.  
g. Development projects should demonstrate that views from public properties, public 
streets, and/or a significant number of residences are not adversely impacted.  
h. Public access and interpretive displays should be provided as part of publicly-funded 
restoration projects where significant adverse ecological impacts can be avoided.  
i. The acquisition of suitable upland properties to provide access to publicly-owned 
shorelands should be encouraged where feasible and practical.  
 
3. Regulations  
a. Except as provided in regulations ‘b’ and ‘c’ below, shoreline substantial 
developments and/or shoreline conditional uses shall provide public access based on 
nexus and proportionality where any of the following conditions are present:  
i. Where a development or use will create increased demand for public access to the 
shoreline, the development or use shall provide public access to mitigate this impact;  
ii. Where a development or use will interfere with existing public access, the 
development or use shall provide public access to mitigate this impact. Impacts to public 
access may include blocking access or discouraging use of existing on-site or nearby 
accesses;  
iii. Where a use that is not a priority shoreline use under the Shoreline Management Act 
locates on a shoreline of statewide significance, the use or development shall provide 
public access to mitigate this impact; 
iv. Where a use or development will interfere with a public use of lands or waters 
subject to the Public Trust Doctrine, the development shall provide public access to 
mitigate this impact; or  
v. Where the development is proposed by a public entity or on public lands.  
b. An applicant need not provide public access where the Planning Department 
determines that one or more of the following conditions apply:  
i. Residential developments of four or fewer lots;  
ii. The new use is accessory to an existing primary permitted use; 
iii. If access were provided, unavoidable health or safety hazards to the public would 
exist that cannot be prevented by any practical means;  
iv. Inherent security requirements of the use cannot be satisfied through the application 
of alternative design features or other solutions;  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 76 of 248



v. The cost, as determined by the Planning Department, of providing the access, 
easement, or an alternative amenity is unreasonably disproportionate to the total long-
term cost of the proposed development; 
vi. Significant ecological impacts would result from the public access that cannot be 
mitigated; 
vii. Significant undue and unavoidable conflict between any access provisions and the 
proposed use and/or adjacent uses would occur and cannot be mitigated; or 
viii. Public access requirements have already been satisfied via prior transfer of property 
rights to the City by the applicant, or the applicant's predecessor in interest, which 
property rights have been or will be used, to provide public access to the Skagit River. 
c. In order to meet any of the conditions T through `viii' above, the applicant must first 
demonstrate, and the Planning Department determine in its findings, that all reasonable 
alternatives have been exhausted, including, but not limited to: 
i. Regulating access by such means as maintaining a gate and/or limiting hours of use; 
ii. Designing separation of uses and activities (e.g. fences, terracing, use of one-way 
glazing, hedges, landscaping, etc.); and 
iii. Developing provisions for access at a site geographically separated from the 
proposal such as a street end, vista, or trail system. 
d. Public access provided by shoreline street ends, public utilities, and rights-of-way 
shall not be diminished. 
e. Public access sites shall be connected directly to the nearest public street or public 
right-of-way and shall include provisions for physically impaired persons, where 
feasible. 
f. Public access easements and permit conditions shall be recorded on the deed of title 
and/or on the face of a plat or short plat as a condition of approval of the authorized 
land use, in perpetuity. 
g. Minimum width of public access easements shall be 20 feet, unless the City 
determines that undue hardship would result. In such cases, easement width may be 
reduced only to the minimum extent necessary to relieve the hardship. 
h. Approved signs that indicate the public's right of access and hours of access shall be 
installed, and maintained by the applicant in conspicuous locations at public access 
sites. Signs may control or restrict public access as a condition of permit approval. 
i. Future actions by the successors in interest or other parties shall not diminish the 
usefulness or value of the public access provided. 
j. Building heights shall be limited to protect view corridors where applicable and shall 
be consistent with bulk restrictions of the underlying zoning designation; 35 feet is the 
standard maximum height in all zoning designations. 
h. Public access shall be required for all shoreline development by public entities, 
including the City, Port District, county and state agencies, and public utility districts, 
unless the public access is shown to be incompatible due to reasons of safety, security, 
or impact to the shoreline environment. 

- 36 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 77 of 248 

 - 36 - 

 

 

 

 

v. The cost, as determined by the Planning Department, of providing the access, 
easement, or an alternative amenity is unreasonably disproportionate to the total long-
term cost of the proposed development;  
vi. Significant ecological impacts would result from the public access that cannot be 
mitigated;  
vii. Significant undue and unavoidable conflict between any access provisions and the 
proposed use and/or adjacent uses would occur and cannot be mitigated; or  
viii. Public access requirements have already been satisfied via prior transfer of property 
rights to the City by the applicant, or the applicant’s predecessor in interest, which 
property rights have been or will be used, to provide public access to the Skagit River.  
c. In order to meet any of the conditions ‘i’ through ‘viii’ above, the applicant must first 
demonstrate, and the Planning Department determine in its findings, that all reasonable 
alternatives have been exhausted, including, but not limited to:  
i. Regulating access by such means as maintaining a gate and/or limiting hours of use;  
ii. Designing separation of uses and activities (e.g. fences, terracing, use of one-way 
glazing, hedges, landscaping, etc.); and  
iii. Developing provisions for access at a site geographically separated from the 
proposal such as a street end, vista, or trail system. 
d. Public access provided by shoreline street ends, public utilities, and rights-of-way 
shall not be diminished.  
e. Public access sites shall be connected directly to the nearest public street or public 
right-of-way and shall include provisions for physically impaired persons, where 
feasible.  
f. Public access easements and permit conditions shall be recorded on the deed of title 
and/or on the face of a plat or short plat as a condition of approval of the authorized 
land use, in perpetuity.  
g. Minimum width of public access easements shall be 20 feet, unless the City 
determines that undue hardship would result. In such cases, easement width may be 
reduced only to the minimum extent necessary to relieve the hardship.  
h. Approved signs that indicate the public's right of access and hours of access shall be 
installed, and maintained by the applicant in conspicuous locations at public access 
sites. Signs may control or restrict public access as a condition of permit approval.  
i. Future actions by the successors in interest or other parties shall not diminish the 
usefulness or value of the public access provided.  
j. Building heights shall be limited to protect view corridors where applicable and shall 
be consistent with bulk restrictions of the underlying zoning designation; 35 feet is the 
standard maximum height in all zoning designations.  
h. Public access shall be required for all shoreline development by public entities, 
including the City, Port District, county and state agencies, and public utility districts, 
unless the public access is shown to be incompatible due to reasons of safety, security, 
or impact to the shoreline environment. 
 
 
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 77 of 248



F. Vegetation Conservation 
1. Applicability 
a. The following provisions apply to any activity that results in the removal of or impact 
to shoreline vegetation, whether or not that activity requires a shoreline permit, except 
as noted herein. Such activities include clearing, grading, grubbing, and trimming of 
vegetation. These provisions also apply to vegetation protection and enhancement 
activities. 

2. Policies 
a. Vegetation within the City shoreline areas should be enhanced over time to provide a 
greater level of ecological function, human safety, and property protection. To this end, 
shoreline management activities, including the provisions and implementation of the 
Master Program, should be based on a comprehensive approach that considers the 
ecological functions currently and potentially provided by vegetation on different 
sections of the shoreline, as described in the Shoreline Inventory and Characterization 
Report of the SMP (Appendix A). 
b. The Master Program, in conjunction with other City development regulations, should 
establish a coordinated and effective set of provisions and programs to protect and 
restore functions provided by shoreline vegetation. 
c. Aquatic weed management should stress prevention first. Where active removal or 
destruction is necessary, it should be the minimum to allow water-dependent activities 
to continue, minimize negative impacts to native plant communities, and include 
appropriate handling or disposal of weeds. 

3. Regulations 
a. All development, including clearing and grading, shall minimize vegetation removal in 
areas of SMZ to that necessary to accommodate the proposed development. In order to 
implement this regulation, applicants proposing development that includes significant 
vegetation removal, clearing, or grading within areas of SMZ must provide, as a part of 
a Substantial Development Permit application or a shoreline exemption certificate 
application, a site plan drawn to scale, indicating existing and proposed land contours, 
dimensions and locations of all existing and proposed structures and improvements, a 
general indication of the character of vegetation found on the site, and the extent of 
proposed clearing and/or grading. (WAC173-27-180(9)) The City may require that the 
proposed development or extent of clearing and grading be modified to reduce the 
impacts to ecological functions. Note that this provision does not apply to the removal of 
noxious and invasive plant species. 
b. Vegetation restoration of disturbed shorelines shall use diverse native plant material 
similar to that which originally occurred on-site, unless the City finds that such material 
is not appropriate. 
c. A condition of all development shall be that those shorelands on the site not occupied 
by structures, city park-uses, landscaping, accessory uses, or other areas dedicated to 
human activities shall be revegetated with native vegetation, to the extent reasonably 
practicable given the applicable shoreline conditions and the likelihood of long term 
survival of such vegetation if it is reintroduced; except that such revegetation is not 
required landward of a flood risk reduction structure. 

- 37 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 78 of 248 

 - 37 - 

 

 

 

 

F. Vegetation Conservation  

1. Applicability  
a. The following provisions apply to any activity that results in the removal of or impact 
to shoreline vegetation, whether or not that activity requires a shoreline permit, except 
as noted herein. Such activities include clearing, grading, grubbing, and trimming of 
vegetation. These provisions also apply to vegetation protection and enhancement 
activities.  
 
2. Policies  
a. Vegetation within the City shoreline areas should be enhanced over time to provide a 
greater level of ecological function, human safety, and property protection. To this end, 
shoreline management activities, including the provisions and implementation of the 
Master Program, should be based on a comprehensive approach that considers the 
ecological functions currently and potentially provided by vegetation on different 
sections of the shoreline, as described in the Shoreline Inventory and Characterization 
Report of the SMP (Appendix A).  
b. The Master Program, in conjunction with other City development regulations, should 
establish a coordinated and effective set of provisions and programs to protect and 
restore functions provided by shoreline vegetation.  
c. Aquatic weed management should stress prevention first. Where active removal or 
destruction is necessary, it should be the minimum to allow water-dependent activities 
to continue, minimize negative impacts to native plant communities, and include 
appropriate handling or disposal of weeds.  
 
3. Regulations  
a. All development, including clearing and grading, shall minimize vegetation removal in 
areas of SMZ to that necessary to accommodate the proposed development. In order to 
implement this regulation, applicants proposing development that includes significant 
vegetation removal, clearing, or grading within areas of SMZ must provide, as a part of 
a Substantial Development Permit application or a shoreline exemption certificate 
application, a site plan drawn to scale, indicating existing and proposed land contours, 
dimensions and locations of all existing and proposed structures and improvements, a 
general indication of the character of vegetation found on the site, and the extent of 
proposed clearing and/or grading. (WAC173-27-180(9)) The City may require that the 
proposed development or extent of clearing and grading be modified to reduce the 
impacts to ecological functions. Note that this provision does not apply to the removal of 
noxious and invasive plant species.  
b. Vegetation restoration of disturbed shorelines shall use diverse native plant material 
similar to that which originally occurred on-site, unless the City finds that such material 
is not appropriate.  
c. A condition of all development shall be that those shorelands on the site not occupied 
by structures, city park-uses, landscaping, accessory uses, or other areas dedicated to 
human activities shall be revegetated with native vegetation, to the extent reasonably 
practicable given the applicable shoreline conditions and the likelihood of long term 
survival of such vegetation if it is reintroduced; except that such revegetation is not 
required landward of a flood risk reduction structure. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 78 of 248



d. The enhancement of vegetation shall be a condition of all development in the 
shoreline environments, except where the City finds that: 
i. Vegetation enhancement is not feasible on the project site when such enhancement 
will impede views of the river from city parks or will impede the recreational uses of city 
parks. 
ii. The restoration of ecological processes and functions can be better achieved through 
other measures. 
iii. Sufficient native vegetation already exists. 
e. Selective pruning and removal of trees for purposes of safety and protection of public 
views of the river is allowed, provided such pruning is the minimum necessary. 
f. Aquatic weed control shall only occur when native plant communities and associated 
habitats are threatened or where an existing water dependent use is restricted by the 
presence of weeds. Aquatic weed control shall occur in compliance with all other 
applicable laws and standards. 
g. The control of aquatic weeds by hand pulling, mechanical harvesting, or placement of 
aqua screens shall be considered normal maintenance and repair and, therefore, 
exempt from the requirement to obtain a shoreline substantial development permit. 
h. Use of herbicides to control aquatic weeds shall be prohibited, except where no 
reasonable alternative exists and weed control is demonstrated to be in the public 
interest. A conditional use permit shall be required in such case. 

G. Water Quality 
1. Applicability 
The following section applies to all development and uses in areas of SMZ that may 
affect water quality. 

2. Policies 
a. All shoreline uses and activities should be located, designed, constructed, and 
maintained to avoid significant ecological impacts by alteration of water quality, quantity, 
or hydrology. 
b. The City should require reasonable setbacks, buffers, stormwater storage and, where 
appropriate, encourage low impact development techniques and materials to achieve 
the objective of lessening negative impacts on water quality. 
c. All measures for controlling erosion, stream flow rates, or flood waters through the 
use of flood risk reduction works should be located, designed, constructed, and 
maintained so that net off-site impacts related to water do not degrade existing water 
quality. 
d. As a general policy, the City should seek to improve water quality, quantity, and flow 
characteristics in order to protect and restore ecological functions and ecosystem-wide 
processes of shorelines within the SMZ. 
e. All measures for the treatment of runoff for the purpose of maintaining and/or 
enhancing water quality should be completed on-site before shoreline development 
impacts waters off-site. 

- 38 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 79 of 248 

 - 38 - 

 

 

 

 

d. The enhancement of vegetation shall be a condition of all development in the 
shoreline environments, except where the City finds that:  
i. Vegetation enhancement is not feasible on the project site when such enhancement 
will impede views of the river from city parks or will impede the recreational uses of city 
parks.  
ii. The restoration of ecological processes and functions can be better achieved through 
other measures.  
iii. Sufficient native vegetation already exists. 
e. Selective pruning and removal of trees for purposes of safety and protection of public 
views of the river is allowed, provided such pruning is the minimum necessary.  
f. Aquatic weed control shall only occur when native plant communities and associated 
habitats are threatened or where an existing water dependent use is restricted by the 
presence of weeds. Aquatic weed control shall occur in compliance with all other 
applicable laws and standards. 
g. The control of aquatic weeds by hand pulling, mechanical harvesting, or placement of 
aqua screens shall be considered normal maintenance and repair and, therefore, 
exempt from the requirement to obtain a shoreline substantial development permit.  
h. Use of herbicides to control aquatic weeds shall be prohibited, except where no 
reasonable alternative exists and weed control is demonstrated to be in the public 
interest. A conditional use permit shall be required in such case.  
 

G. Water Quality  

1. Applicability  
The following section applies to all development and uses in areas of SMZ that may 
affect water quality.  
 
2. Policies  
a. All shoreline uses and activities should be located, designed, constructed, and 
maintained to avoid significant ecological impacts by alteration of water quality, quantity, 
or hydrology.  
b. The City should require reasonable setbacks, buffers, stormwater storage and, where 
appropriate, encourage low impact development techniques and materials to achieve 
the objective of lessening negative impacts on water quality.  
c. All measures for controlling erosion, stream flow rates, or flood waters through the 
use of flood risk reduction works should be located, designed, constructed, and 
maintained so that net off-site impacts related to water do not degrade existing water 
quality.  
d. As a general policy, the City should seek to improve water quality, quantity, and flow 
characteristics in order to protect and restore ecological functions and ecosystem-wide 
processes of shorelines within the SMZ. 
e. All measures for the treatment of runoff for the purpose of maintaining and/or 
enhancing water quality should be completed on-site before shoreline development 
impacts waters off-site. 
 
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 79 of 248



3. Regulations 
a. All shoreline development, both during and after construction, shall avoid or minimize 
significant ecological impacts, including any increase in surface runoff, through control, 
treatment, and release of surface water runoff so that the receiving water quality and 
shoreline properties and features are not adversely affected. Control measures may 
include, but are not limited to, dikes, catch basins or settling ponds, oil interceptor 
drains, grassy swales, and planted buffers. 
b. All development shall conform to local, state, and federal water quality regulations, 
provided the regulations do not conflict with the Master Program. 

5.2 - Shoreline Use and Modification Tables 

A. Permitted Use and Modification Table 

Shoreline Use 
Shoreline Environment Designations 

Aquatic Urban Conservancy 

Agriculture N/A Permitted 

Aquaculture Not Permitted Not Permitted 

Boating Facilities Permitted Permitted 

Commercial Development Permitted Permitted 

Forest Practices N/A Not Permitted 

Industry Not Permitted Not Permitted 

In-Stream Structural Uses Permitted N/A 

Mining Not Permitted Not Permitted 

Recreational Development Permitted Permitted 

Residential Development Not Permitted Permitted 

Transportation and 
Parking Permitted Permitted 

Utilities Permitted Permitted 

- 39 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 80 of 248 

 - 39 - 

 

 

 

 

3. Regulations 
a. All shoreline development, both during and after construction, shall avoid or minimize 
significant ecological impacts, including any increase in surface runoff, through control, 
treatment, and release of surface water runoff so that the receiving water quality and 
shoreline properties and features are not adversely affected. Control measures may 
include, but are not limited to, dikes, catch basins or settling ponds, oil interceptor 
drains, grassy swales, and planted buffers. 
b. All development shall conform to local, state, and federal water quality regulations, 
provided the regulations do not conflict with the Master Program. 
 

5.2 – Shoreline Use and Modification Tables  

 

A. Permitted Use and Modification Table  

 

Shoreline Use 

Shoreline Environment Designations 

Aquatic  Urban Conservancy 

Agriculture N/A Permitted 

Aquaculture Not Permitted Not Permitted 

Boating Facilities Permitted Permitted 

Commercial Development Permitted Permitted 

Forest Practices N/A Not Permitted 

Industry Not Permitted Not Permitted 

In-Stream Structural Uses Permitted N/A 

Mining Not Permitted Not Permitted 

Recreational Development Permitted Permitted 

Residential Development Not Permitted Permitted 

Transportation and 
Parking 

Permitted Permitted 

Utilities Permitted Permitted 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 80 of 248



B. Shoreline Modification Table 

Shoreline Modifications 
Shoreline Environment Designations 

Aquatic Urban Conservancy 

Piers and Docks Permitted Permitted 

Shoreline Stabilization Conditional Permitted 

Fill Conditional Conditional 

Breakwaters, Jetties and 
Weirs 

Conditional Not Applicable 

Dredging Conditional Not Applicable 

Dredge Material Disposal Not Permitted Conditional 

Enhancement Projects Permitted Permitted 

- 40 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 81 of 248 

 - 40 - 

 

 

 

 

B. Shoreline Modification Table  

 

Shoreline Modifications 

Shoreline Environment Designations 

Aquatic  Urban Conservancy 

Piers and Docks  Permitted Permitted 

Shoreline Stabilization Conditional Permitted 

Fill Conditional Conditional 

Breakwaters, Jetties and 
Weirs 

Conditional Not Applicable 

Dredging  Conditional Not Applicable 

Dredge Material Disposal Not Permitted Conditional 

Enhancement Projects Permitted Permitted  

 
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 81 of 248



5.3 - Specific Shoreline Use Policies and Regulations 

A. Introduction 

Shoreline use activities are developments or activities that exist or are anticipated to 
occupy shoreline locations. Regulations are developed on the premise that all 
appropriate shoreline uses require some degree of control to minimize adverse effects 
to the shoreline environment and adjoining properties. Each proposed development 
within the Shoreline Management Act's jurisdiction will be evaluated to determine its 
conformance with the use activity policies and regulations, as well as the Shoreline 
Management Element goals and policies, the SMA, and the SMP. 
Even uses and activities that are exempt from the requirements for a shoreline 
substantial development permit must be consistent with the policies and regulations of 
the SMP, the SMA, and its provisions. 

B. Prohibited Uses 

The following uses are prohibited in all shoreline environments unless addressed 
separately in this shoreline master program under another use. 

1. Aquaculture. There are no aquaculture activities in the SMZ. Per zoning regulations 
on the lands within the SMZ, aquaculture is not a permitted use, therefore aquaculture 
is not allowed in the SMZ; 
2. Mining. There are no mining activities or mining lands in the SMZ, therefore mining is 
not allowed in the SMZ; 
3. Forest Practices. There are no forestry lands in the SMZ, therefore forest practices 
are not allowed in the SMZ; and 
4. Industrial development. There is no industrially zoned property in the SMZ, therefore 
there are no industrial activities allowed in the SMZ. 

C. Agriculture 

1. Applicability 
a. Agriculture includes, but is not limited to, the production of horticultural, vinicultural, 
floricultural, livestock, dairy, apiary, vegetable, or animal products or of berries, grain, 
hay, straw, turf, seed, or Christmas trees; the operation and maintenance of farm and 
stock ponds, drainage ditches, or irrigation systems; normal crop rotation and crop 
change; and the normal maintenance and repair of existing structures, facilities, and 
lands currently under production or cultivation. Excluded are agricultural processing 
industries. 
b. Uses and shoreline modifications associated with agriculture that are identified as 
separate use activities in this program, such as industry, shoreline stabilization, and 
flood risk management, are subject to the regulations established for those uses in 
addition to the standards established in this section. 

- 41 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 82 of 248 

 - 41 - 

 

 

 

 

5.3 – Specific Shoreline Use Policies and Regulations 

 

A. Introduction 

  
Shoreline use activities are developments or activities that exist or are anticipated to 
occupy shoreline locations. Regulations are developed on the premise that all 
appropriate shoreline uses require some degree of control to minimize adverse effects 
to the shoreline environment and adjoining properties. Each proposed development 
within the Shoreline Management Act’s jurisdiction will be evaluated to determine its 
conformance with the use activity policies and regulations, as well as the Shoreline 
Management Element goals and policies, the SMA, and the SMP. 
Even uses and activities that are exempt from the requirements for a shoreline 
substantial development permit must be consistent with the policies and regulations of 
the SMP, the SMA, and its provisions.  

B. Prohibited Uses 

 
The following uses are prohibited in all shoreline environments unless addressed 
separately in this shoreline master program under another use. 
 
1. Aquaculture. There are no aquaculture activities in the SMZ. Per zoning regulations 
on the lands within the SMZ, aquaculture is not a permitted use, therefore aquaculture 
is not allowed in the SMZ; 
2. Mining. There are no mining activities or mining lands in the SMZ, therefore mining is 
not allowed in the SMZ;  
3. Forest Practices. There are no forestry lands in the SMZ, therefore forest practices 
are not allowed in the SMZ; and 
4. Industrial development. There is no industrially zoned property in the SMZ, therefore 
there are no industrial activities allowed in the SMZ. 

C. Agriculture 

  
1. Applicability 
a. Agriculture includes, but is not limited to, the production of horticultural, vinicultural, 
floricultural, livestock, dairy, apiary, vegetable, or animal products or of berries, grain, 
hay, straw, turf, seed, or Christmas trees; the operation and maintenance of farm and 
stock ponds, drainage ditches, or irrigation systems; normal crop rotation and crop 
change; and the normal maintenance and repair of existing structures, facilities, and 
lands currently under production or cultivation. Excluded are agricultural processing 
industries. 
b. Uses and shoreline modifications associated with agriculture that are identified as 
separate use activities in this program, such as industry, shoreline stabilization, and 
flood risk management, are subject to the regulations established for those uses in 
addition to the standards established in this section.  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 82 of 248



c. new agricultural uses shall be located and designed to assure no net loss of 
ecological functions and not have a significant adverse impact on other shoreline 
resources and values. 
d. Conversion of agricultural land to non-agricultural uses is consistent with the 
environment designation, and regulations applicable to the proposed use do not result 
in a net loss of ecological functions. 

2. Policies 
a. A vegetative buffer should be maintained between agricultural lands and water 
bodies or wetlands in order to reduce harmful bank erosion and resulting sedimentation, 
enhance water quality, reduce flood risk, and maintain habitat for fish and wildlife. 
b. Animal feeding operations, retention and storage ponds associated with agricultural 
activities, and feedlot waste and manure storage should be located out of the SMZ and 
constructed to prevent contamination of water bodies and degradation of the adjacent 
shoreline environment. 
c. Appropriate farm management techniques and new development construction should 
be utilized to prevent contamination of nearby water bodies and adverse effects on 
valuable plant, fish, and animal life from fertilizer and pesticide use and application. 
d. Where ecological functions have been degraded, new development should be 
conditioned with the requirement for ecological restoration. 

3. Regulations 
a. Agricultural uses are allowed in the Urban Conservancy environment as a permitted 
use. 
b. Agricultural development shall conform to applicable state and federal policies and 
regulations, provided they are consistent with the Shoreline Management Act and this 
Master Program. 
c. New manure lagoons, confinement lots, feeding operations, lot wastes, stockpiles of 
manure solids, aerial spraying, and storage of noxious chemicals are prohibited within 
the SMZ. 
d. A buffer of natural or planted native vegetation shall be maintained between areas of 
new development for crops, grazing, or other agricultural activity and adjacent waters, 
channel migration zones, and wetlands. The City's critical areas regulations (Appendix 
C) will be used to determine the extent and composition of the buffer when the 
application for a permit or letter of exemption is submitted. 
e. Stream banks and water bodies shall be protected from damage due to concentration 
and overgrazing of livestock by providing the following: 
i. Suitable bridges, culverts, or ramps for stock crossing. 
ii. Ample supplies of clean fresh water in tanks on dry land for stock watering. 
iii. Fencing or other grazing controls to prevent bank compaction, bank erosion, or the 
overgrazing of or damage to buffer vegetation. 
f. Agricultural practices shall prevent and control erosion of soils and bank materials 
within shoreline areas and minimize siltation, turbidity, pollution, and other 
environmental degradation of watercourses and wetlands. 
g. Agricultural chemicals shall be applied in a manner that prevents the direct runoff of 
chemical-laden waters into water bodies or aquifer recharge areas. 

- 42 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 83 of 248 

 - 42 - 

 

 

 

 

c. new agricultural uses shall be located and designed to assure no net loss of 
ecological functions and not have a significant adverse impact on other shoreline 
resources and values. 
d. Conversion of agricultural land to non-agricultural uses is consistent with the 
environment designation, and regulations applicable to the proposed use do not result 
in a net loss of ecological functions. 
 
2. Policies 
a. A vegetative buffer should be maintained between agricultural lands and water 
bodies or wetlands in order to reduce harmful bank erosion and resulting sedimentation, 
enhance water quality, reduce flood risk, and maintain habitat for fish and wildlife. 
b. Animal feeding operations, retention and storage ponds associated with agricultural 
activities, and feedlot waste and manure storage should be located out of the SMZ and 
constructed to prevent contamination of water bodies and degradation of the adjacent 
shoreline environment. 
c. Appropriate farm management techniques and new development construction should 
be utilized to prevent contamination of nearby water bodies and adverse effects on 
valuable plant, fish, and animal life from fertilizer and pesticide use and application. 
d. Where ecological functions have been degraded, new development should be 
conditioned with the requirement for ecological restoration. 
 
3. Regulations 
a. Agricultural uses are allowed in the Urban Conservancy environment as a permitted 
use. 
b. Agricultural development shall conform to applicable state and federal policies and 
regulations, provided they are consistent with the Shoreline Management Act and this 
Master Program. 
c. New manure lagoons, confinement lots, feeding operations, lot wastes, stockpiles of 
manure solids, aerial spraying, and storage of noxious chemicals are prohibited within 
the SMZ. 
d. A buffer of natural or planted native vegetation shall be maintained between areas of 
new development for crops, grazing, or other agricultural activity and adjacent waters, 
channel migration zones, and wetlands. The City’s critical areas regulations (Appendix 
C) will be used to determine the extent and composition of the buffer when the 
application for a permit or letter of exemption is submitted.  
e. Stream banks and water bodies shall be protected from damage due to concentration 
and overgrazing of livestock by providing the following:  
i. Suitable bridges, culverts, or ramps for stock crossing.  
ii. Ample supplies of clean fresh water in tanks on dry land for stock watering.  
iii. Fencing or other grazing controls to prevent bank compaction, bank erosion, or the 
overgrazing of or damage to buffer vegetation.  
f. Agricultural practices shall prevent and control erosion of soils and bank materials 
within shoreline areas and minimize siltation, turbidity, pollution, and other 
environmental degradation of watercourses and wetlands.  
g. Agricultural chemicals shall be applied in a manner that prevents the direct runoff of 
chemical-laden waters into water bodies or aquifer recharge areas.  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 83 of 248



h. The creation of new agricultural lands by diking, draining, or filling channel migration 
zones and associated wetlands shall be prohibited. 
i. Development on agricultural land that does not meet the definition of agricultural 
activities and the conversion of agricultural land to nonagricultural uses, shall be 
consistent with the environment designation, and the general and specific use 
regulations applicable to the proposed use and do not result in a net loss of ecological 
functions associated with the shoreline per WAC 173-26-241(3)(a)(iv). 

D. Boating Facilities 

1. Applicability 
a. Existing boat launches and future piers, docks and boat launches. 
b. For the purposes of this section, the term "boating facilities" excludes docks serving 
four or fewer single-family residences. Shoreline master programs shall contain 
provisions to assure no net loss of ecological functions as a result of development of 
boating facilities while providing the boating public recreational opportunities on waters 
of the state. 

2. Policies 
a. Boating facilities should be located only at sites with suitable environmental 
conditions, shoreline configuration, access, and neighboring uses. 
b. Boating facilities should meet health, safety, and welfare requirements. 
c. Boating facilities should be sited and designed to avoid or minimize potentially 
significant ecological impacts, including impacts on sediment movement, water 
circulation and quality, and fish and wildlife habitat. 
d. The proposed size of the structure and intensity of use or uses of any boating facility 
should be compatible with the surrounding environment and land and water uses. 
e. Signage in the Aquatic Designation should be limited non-commercial, directional 
type signs. 
f. Public access is required for new boating facilities. 

3. Regulations 
a. Proposals for boating facilities shall include, at a minimum, the following information: 
i. Description of the proposed structure, including its size, location, design, and any 
shoreline stabilization or other modification required by the project; 
ii. Ownership of shorelands and/or bedlands; 
iii. Proposed location of piers or docks relative to property lines and the OHWM; and 
iv. Location, width, height, and length of piers or docks on adjacent properties within 
300 feet. 
b. Piers and docks shall not be allowed in critical freshwater aquatic habitats, unless it 
can be established that the dock or pier project, including auxiliary impacts and 
established mitigation measures, will not be detrimental to the natural habitat or species 
of concern, and will not result in loss of ecological function. 
c. Regulations specific to piers and docks are found in Section 5.4(D) of this chapter. 
d. Boating facilities may not be used for extended moorage and/or live aboard vessels. 
e. Boating facilities shall not significantly interfere with use of navigable waters. 

- 43 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 84 of 248 

 - 43 - 

 

 

 

 

h. The creation of new agricultural lands by diking, draining, or filling channel migration 
zones and associated wetlands shall be prohibited. 
i. Development on agricultural land that does not meet the definition of agricultural 
activities and the conversion of agricultural land to nonagricultural uses, shall be 
consistent with the environment designation, and the general and specific use 
regulations applicable to the proposed use and do not result in a net loss of ecological 
functions associated with the shoreline per WAC 173-26-241(3)(a)(iv). 

D. Boating Facilities 

 
1. Applicability  
a. Existing boat launches and future piers, docks and boat launches.  
b. For the purposes of this section, the term “boating facilities” excludes docks serving 
four or fewer single-family residences. Shoreline master programs shall contain 
provisions to assure no net loss of ecological functions as a result of development of 
boating facilities while providing the boating public recreational opportunities on waters 
of the state.  
 
2. Policies  
a. Boating facilities should be located only at sites with suitable environmental 
conditions, shoreline configuration, access, and neighboring uses.  
b. Boating facilities should meet health, safety, and welfare requirements.  
c. Boating facilities should be sited and designed to avoid or minimize potentially 
significant ecological impacts, including impacts on sediment movement, water 
circulation and quality, and fish and wildlife habitat.  
d. The proposed size of the structure and intensity of use or uses of any boating facility 
should be compatible with the surrounding environment and land and water uses.  
e. Signage in the Aquatic Designation should be limited non-commercial, directional 
type signs.  
f. Public access is required for new boating facilities. 
 
3. Regulations  
a. Proposals for boating facilities shall include, at a minimum, the following information:  
i. Description of the proposed structure, including its size, location, design, and any 
shoreline stabilization or other modification required by the project;  
ii. Ownership of shorelands and/or bedlands;  
iii. Proposed location of piers or docks relative to property lines and the OHWM; and  
iv. Location, width, height, and length of piers or docks on adjacent properties within 
300 feet. 
b. Piers and docks shall not be allowed in critical freshwater aquatic habitats, unless it 
can be established that the dock or pier project, including auxiliary impacts and 
established mitigation measures, will not be detrimental to the natural habitat or species 
of concern, and will not result in loss of ecological function.  
c. Regulations specific to piers and docks are found in Section 5.4(D) of this chapter.  
d. Boating facilities may not be used for extended moorage and/or live aboard vessels.  
e. Boating facilities shall not significantly interfere with use of navigable waters.  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 84 of 248



f. Boating facilities shall be allowed only for water-dependent uses or public access. 
g. Boating facilities shall use construction techniques and be constructed of materials 
and use coatings that conform to best management practices for the situation as 
recommended by the appropriate state and federal agencies, as well as conform to City 
building codes. 
h. All boating facilities shall be maintained in a safe and sound condition so as to not 
constitute a hazard to the public. 
i. Pilings employed shall be installed so that the top elevation is at least one foot above 
extreme high water. 
j. When potentially toxic or hazardous materials are used in boating facilities 
construction, precautions shall be taken to ensure their containment. 
k. Signs on boating facilities shall be limited to water craft navigation information and 
directional and/or public safety information. 
I. Lighting shall be the minimum necessary to locate the boating facilities at night. Lights 
shall be directed to prevent light spillage onto water surfaces. 
m. No boating facilities shall be designed or constructed without consulting with all local 
flood risk reduction authorities. 
m. Permit applications for boating facilities shall demonstrate that no increase in 
potential flood damage would result from construction, use, or maintenance of the 
proposed structures, including during seasonal changes in stream flow. 
n. No boating facilities proposed on beds or shores owned by the State of Washington 
shall be designed or constructed without prior authorization of the Department of 
Natural Resources, which is the leasing authority. (RCW 79.105.210) 
o. All boating facilities must comply with the Clean Water Act and the Endangered 
Species Act. 

E. Commercial Development 

1. Applicability 
a. Commercial development means those uses that are involved in business trade 
including, but are not limited to, occupied building space used for the conducting of 
retail, office, artisan, restaurant, lodging, childcare, professional business, government 
services, entertainment, and privately operated recreational uses. 
b. Because current access to the Skagit River within Sedro-Woolley is publicly owned, 
commercial activities on the water may include public-private partnerships between the 
public entity and private commercial entity. 
c. At the time of adoption of the SMP, existing commercial uses in the SMZ consist of 
non-water-oriented uses. 
d. Piers and docks, bulkheads, shoreline stabilization, flood risk management 
measures, and other shoreline modifications are sometimes associated with commercial 
development and are subject to shoreline modification regulations, in addition to the 
standards for commercial development established herein. 
e. Temporary activities such as events, fairs and shows (and activities associated with 
such events) are not considered commercial development for the purposes of this 
section. 

- 44 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 85 of 248 

 - 44 - 

 

 

 

 

f. Boating facilities shall be allowed only for water-dependent uses or public access.  
g. Boating facilities shall use construction techniques and be constructed of materials 
and use coatings that conform to best management practices for the situation as 
recommended by the appropriate state and federal agencies, as well as conform to City 
building codes.  
h. All boating facilities shall be maintained in a safe and sound condition so as to not 
constitute a hazard to the public.  
i. Pilings employed shall be installed so that the top elevation is at least one foot above 
extreme high water.  
j. When potentially toxic or hazardous materials are used in boating facilities 
construction, precautions shall be taken to ensure their containment.  
k. Signs on boating facilities shall be limited to water craft navigation information and 
directional and/or public safety information.  
l. Lighting shall be the minimum necessary to locate the boating facilities at night. Lights 
shall be directed to prevent light spillage onto water surfaces.  
m. No boating facilities shall be designed or constructed without consulting with all local 
flood risk reduction authorities. 
m. Permit applications for boating facilities shall demonstrate that no increase in 
potential flood damage would result from construction, use, or maintenance of the 
proposed structures, including during seasonal changes in stream flow.  
n. No boating facilities proposed on beds or shores owned by the State of Washington 
shall be designed or constructed without prior authorization of the Department of 
Natural Resources, which is the leasing authority. (RCW 79.105.210)  
o. All boating facilities must comply with the Clean Water Act and the Endangered 
Species Act.  

E. Commercial Development 

 
1. Applicability  
a. Commercial development means those uses that are involved in business trade 
including, but are not limited to, occupied building space used for the conducting of 
retail, office, artisan, restaurant, lodging, childcare, professional business, government 
services, entertainment, and privately operated recreational uses. 
b. Because current access to the Skagit River within Sedro-Woolley is publicly owned, 
commercial activities on the water may include public-private partnerships between the 
public entity and private commercial entity.  
c. At the time of adoption of the SMP, existing commercial uses in the SMZ consist of 
non-water-oriented uses.  
d. Piers and docks, bulkheads, shoreline stabilization, flood risk management 
measures, and other shoreline modifications are sometimes associated with commercial 
development and are subject to shoreline modification regulations, in addition to the 
standards for commercial development established herein.  
e. Temporary activities such as events, fairs and shows (and activities associated with 
such events) are not considered commercial development for the purposes of this 
section. 
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 85 of 248



2. Policies 
a. New commercial development, either private of public/private partnerships, on 
shorelines should be reviewed and permitted by the City of Sedro-Woolley. 
b. Commercial development should be encouraged to utilize existing transportation 
corridors and minimize the number of ingress/egress points. Ingress/egress should be 
designed to minimize potential conflicts with and impact on regular corridor traffic. 
c. Multiple use concepts, which include open space and recreation, should be 
encouraged in commercial developments. 
d. Commercial development should be visually compatible with the surrounding area. 
e. Preference should be given first to water-dependent uses, then to water-oriented 
commercial uses. 

3. Regulations 
a. The Planning Department shall require and utilize the following information in its 
review of commercial development proposals: 
i. The nature of the commercial activity (e.g., water-dependent, water-related, water-
enjoyment, non-water-oriented), including an accounting of specific shoreline use 
components; 
ii. The economic and land use justification for a shoreline location; 
iii. Design measures to take advantage of the proposed location; 
iv. Provisions for public visual and/or physical access to the shoreline; 
v. Provisions to ensure that the development will not cause significant adverse 
environmental impacts; 
vi. Layout, size, height, materials, colors, and general appearance, including massing, 
bulk, and relative scale of all proposed structures; and 
vii. Pedestrian and vehicular circulation, public access, site furniture and other features, 
such as pavement, landscaping, view corridors. 
b. Non-water-oriented commercial developments shall be permitted in accordance with 
the provisions of the Master Program, where at least two of the following three criteria 
are satisfied: 
i. A water-oriented use is not reasonably expected to locate on the proposed site due to 
topography, applicable zoning code restrictions, incompatible surrounding land uses, 
physical features, or the site's separation from the water; 
ii. The proposed development does not displace existing, authorized water-oriented 
uses; 
iii. The proposed development will be of appreciable public benefit by improving or 
providing public use, enjoyment, or access to the shoreline. 
c. Commercial development shall be designed to avoid or minimize ecological impacts, 
to protect human health and safety, and to avoid significant adverse impacts to 
surrounding uses and the area's visual qualities. To this end, the Planning Department 
may adjust the project dimensions and/or prescribe operation intensity and screening 
standards as deemed appropriate. Need and special considerations for landscaping and 
buffer areas shall also be subject to review. 
d. Non-water-dependent commercial development shall be required to provide physical 
or visual access to the shoreline or other opportunities for the public to enjoy the 
shorelines of the state. 

- 45 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 86 of 248 

 - 45 - 

 

 

 

 

2. Policies  
a. New commercial development, either private of public/private partnerships, on 
shorelines should be reviewed and permitted by the City of Sedro-Woolley.  
b. Commercial development should be encouraged to utilize existing transportation 
corridors and minimize the number of ingress/egress points. Ingress/egress should be 
designed to minimize potential conflicts with and impact on regular corridor traffic.  
c. Multiple use concepts, which include open space and recreation, should be 
encouraged in commercial developments.  
d. Commercial development should be visually compatible with the surrounding area.  
e. Preference should be given first to water-dependent uses, then to water-oriented 
commercial uses. 
 
3. Regulations  
a. The Planning Department shall require and utilize the following information in its 
review of commercial development proposals:  
i. The nature of the commercial activity (e.g., water-dependent, water-related, water-
enjoyment, non-water-oriented), including an accounting of specific shoreline use 
components;  
ii. The economic and land use justification for a shoreline location;  
iii. Design measures to take advantage of the proposed location;  
iv. Provisions for public visual and/or physical access to the shoreline;  
v. Provisions to ensure that the development will not cause significant adverse 
environmental impacts;  
vi. Layout, size, height, materials, colors, and general appearance, including massing, 
bulk, and relative scale of all proposed structures; and 
vii. Pedestrian and vehicular circulation, public access, site furniture and other features, 
such as pavement, landscaping, view corridors. 
b. Non-water-oriented commercial developments shall be permitted in accordance with 
the provisions of the Master Program, where at least two of the following three criteria 
are satisfied:  
i. A water-oriented use is not reasonably expected to locate on the proposed site due to 
topography, applicable zoning code restrictions, incompatible surrounding land uses, 
physical features, or the site’s separation from the water;  
ii. The proposed development does not displace existing, authorized water-oriented 
uses;  
iii. The proposed development will be of appreciable public benefit by improving or 
providing public use, enjoyment, or access to the shoreline.  
c. Commercial development shall be designed to avoid or minimize ecological impacts, 
to protect human health and safety, and to avoid significant adverse impacts to 
surrounding uses and the area’s visual qualities. To this end, the Planning Department 
may adjust the project dimensions and/or prescribe operation intensity and screening 
standards as deemed appropriate. Need and special considerations for landscaping and 
buffer areas shall also be subject to review.  
d. Non-water-dependent commercial development shall be required to provide physical 
or visual access to the shoreline or other opportunities for the public to enjoy the 
shorelines of the state.  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 86 of 248



e. All new commercial development and redevelopment proposals will be reviewed by 
the Planning Department for ecological restoration and public access opportunities 
where practical and feasible. When restoration and/or public access plans indicate 
opportunities exist, the Planning Department may require that those opportunities are 
either implemented as part of the development project or that the project design be 
altered so that those opportunities are not diminished. 
f. All commercial loading and service areas shall be located on the upland side of the 
commercial activities, or provisions must be made to set back and screen the loading 
and service area from the shoreline and water body. 

F. In-Stream Structures 

1. Applicability 
a. In-stream structures are constructed waterward of the OHWM and either cause or 
have the potential to cause water impoundment or diversion, obstruction, or modification 
of water flow. 
b. In-stream structures may include those for hydroelectric generation, irrigation, water 
supply, flood risk reduction, transportation, utility service transmission, fish habitat 
enhancement, or other purpose. (WAC 173-26-241(3)(g)) 
c. This section is applicable to both the structures themselves and their support facilities 
and applies to their construction, operation, and maintenance, as well as the expansion 
of existing structures and facilities. 

2. Policies 
In-stream structures should provide for the protection, preservation, and restoration of 
ecosystem-wide processes, ecological functions, and cultural resources, including, but 
not limited to, fish and fish passage, wildlife and water resources, hydrogeologic 
processes, and natural scenic vistas. 

3. Regulations 
a. Unless specifically allowed elsewhere in the SMP, in-stream structures are permitted 
only for the purposes of environmental restoration and bridge maintenance. 
b. In-stream structures may be required to provide public access, if public access 
improvements do not create significant ecological impacts or other adverse 
environmental impacts to and along the affected shoreline or create a safety hazard to 
the public. 
c. Public access provisions shall include, but not be limited to, any combination of trails, 
vistas, parking, and any necessary sanitation facilities. 
d. In-stream structures shall be designed and constructed to protect and preserve 
ecosystem-wide processes, ecological functions, and cultural resources, including, fish 
and fish passage, wildlife and water resources, hydrogeologic processes, and natural 
scenic vistas. 

- 46 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 87 of 248 

 - 46 - 

 

 

 

 

e. All new commercial development and redevelopment proposals will be reviewed by 
the Planning Department for ecological restoration and public access opportunities 
where practical and feasible. When restoration and/or public access plans indicate 
opportunities exist, the Planning Department may require that those opportunities are 
either implemented as part of the development project or that the project design be 
altered so that those opportunities are not diminished.  
f. All commercial loading and service areas shall be located on the upland side of the 
commercial activities, or provisions must be made to set back and screen the loading 
and service area from the shoreline and water body.  

F. In-Stream Structures 

  
1. Applicability  
a. In-stream structures are constructed waterward of the OHWM and either cause or 
have the potential to cause water impoundment or diversion, obstruction, or modification 
of water flow.  
b. In-stream structures may include those for hydroelectric generation, irrigation, water 
supply, flood risk reduction, transportation, utility service transmission, fish habitat 
enhancement, or other purpose. (WAC 173-26-241(3)(g))  
c. This section is applicable to both the structures themselves and their support facilities 
and applies to their construction, operation, and maintenance, as well as the expansion 
of existing structures and facilities.  
 
2. Policies  
In-stream structures should provide for the protection, preservation, and restoration of 
ecosystem-wide processes, ecological functions, and cultural resources, including, but 
not limited to, fish and fish passage, wildlife and water resources, hydrogeologic 
processes, and natural scenic vistas.  
 
3. Regulations  
a. Unless specifically allowed elsewhere in the SMP, in-stream structures are permitted 
only for the purposes of environmental restoration and bridge maintenance.  
b. In-stream structures may be required to provide public access, if public access 
improvements do not create significant ecological impacts or other adverse 
environmental impacts to and along the affected shoreline or create a safety hazard to 
the public.  
c. Public access provisions shall include, but not be limited to, any combination of trails, 
vistas, parking, and any necessary sanitation facilities.  
d. In-stream structures shall be designed and constructed to protect and preserve 
ecosystem-wide processes, ecological functions, and cultural resources, including, fish 
and fish passage, wildlife and water resources, hydrogeologic processes, and natural 
scenic vistas. 
 
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 87 of 248



G. Recreational Development 

1. Applicability 
a. Recreational development includes public and private (commercial) facilities for 
passive recreational activities such as hiking, fishing, photography, viewing, and bird-
watching. It also includes facilities for active or more intensive uses, such as parks with 
sports facilities, and other outdoor recreation areas. 
b. This section applies to both public and privately-owned shoreline facilities intended 
for use by the public or private club, group, association or individual. 

2. Policies 
a. Shoreline recreational development should be given priority and should be primarily 
related to access, enjoyment, and use of the water and shorelines. 
b. Recreational developments and plans should promote the primacy of preserving the 
natural character, resources, and ecological functions and processes of shoreline 
environments. 
c. A variety of compatible recreational experiences and activities should be encouraged 
to satisfy diverse recreational needs. 
d. Water-dependent recreational uses (such as fishing and boating) and water-
enjoyment uses (such as viewing and picnicking) should have priority over non-water-
oriented recreational uses, such as baseball or soccer. 
e. The linkage of shoreline parks, recreation areas, and public access points with linear 
systems, such as hiking trails, bicycle paths, and easements should be encouraged. 
f. Recreational facilities should be integrated with public access systems. 
g. Due to steep banks and swift currents in the stretch of the Skagit River in Sedro-
Woolley, in-water recreation such as swimming and wading should be discouraged. 

3. Regulations 
a. Non-water-oriented recreational developments may be permitted only where it can be 
demonstrated that: 
i. A water-oriented use is not reasonably expected to locate on the proposed site due to 
topography and/or other physical features, surrounding land uses, or the site's 
separation from the water. 
ii. The proposed use does not usurp or displace land currently occupied by a water-
oriented use and will not interfere with adjacent water-oriented uses. 
iii. The proposed use will be of appreciable public benefit by maintaining ecological 
functions together with public use, enjoyment, or access to the shoreline. 
b. Accessory structures and parking associated with recreational uses shall not be 
located in the SMZ unless the City determines there is no other practical option. 
c. All new recreational development proposals will be reviewed by the City for ecological 
restoration and public access opportunities. When restoration and/or public access 
plans indicate opportunities exist, the City may require that those opportunities are 
either implemented as part of the development project or that the project design be 
altered so that those opportunities are not diminished. 

- 47 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 88 of 248 

 - 47 - 

 

 

 

 

G. Recreational Development 

 
1. Applicability  
a. Recreational development includes public and private (commercial) facilities for 
passive recreational activities such as hiking, fishing, photography, viewing, and bird-
watching. It also includes facilities for active or more intensive uses, such as parks with 
sports facilities, and other outdoor recreation areas.  
b. This section applies to both public and privately-owned shoreline facilities intended 
for use by the public or private club, group, association or individual.  
 
2. Policies  
a. Shoreline recreational development should be given priority and should be primarily 
related to access, enjoyment, and use of the water and shorelines.  
b. Recreational developments and plans should promote the primacy of preserving the 
natural character, resources, and ecological functions and processes of shoreline 
environments. 
c. A variety of compatible recreational experiences and activities should be encouraged 
to satisfy diverse recreational needs.  
d. Water-dependent recreational uses (such as fishing and boating) and water-
enjoyment uses (such as viewing and picnicking) should have priority over non-water-
oriented recreational uses, such as baseball or soccer.  
e. The linkage of shoreline parks, recreation areas, and public access points with linear 
systems, such as hiking trails, bicycle paths, and easements should be encouraged.  
f. Recreational facilities should be integrated with public access systems.  
g. Due to steep banks and swift currents in the stretch of the Skagit River in Sedro-
Woolley, in-water recreation such as swimming and wading should be discouraged.  
 
3. Regulations  
a. Non-water-oriented recreational developments may be permitted only where it can be 
demonstrated that:  
i. A water-oriented use is not reasonably expected to locate on the proposed site due to 
topography and/or other physical features, surrounding land uses, or the site’s 
separation from the water.  
ii. The proposed use does not usurp or displace land currently occupied by a water-
oriented use and will not interfere with adjacent water-oriented uses.  
iii. The proposed use will be of appreciable public benefit by maintaining ecological 
functions together with public use, enjoyment, or access to the shoreline.  
b. Accessory structures and parking associated with recreational uses shall not be 
located in the SMZ unless the City determines there is no other practical option.  
c. All new recreational development proposals will be reviewed by the City for ecological 
restoration and public access opportunities. When restoration and/or public access 
plans indicate opportunities exist, the City may require that those opportunities are 
either implemented as part of the development project or that the project design be 
altered so that those opportunities are not diminished.  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 88 of 248



d. All new non-water-oriented recreational development, where allowed, shall be 
conditioned with the requirement to provide public access and ecological restoration 
where practical. 
e. Recreation facilities shall demonstrate that they are located, designed and operated 
in a manner consistent with the purpose of the environmental designation in which they 
are located and will result in no net loss of shoreline ecological functions or ecosystem-
wide processes (WAC 173-26-241(3)(i)). 

H. Residential Development 

1. Applicability 
a. The Shoreline Management Act identifies single-family residences as a priority use 
when (and only when) developed in a manner consistent with the control of pollution 
and prevention of damage to the natural environment. Although some owner-occupied, 
single-family residences are exempt from the substantial development permit process, 
they still must comply with all of the provisions of the Master Program. Subdivisions and 
short subdivisions must also comply with all of the provisions of this section and the 
Master Program. All development is subject to the variance and conditional use 
requirements and permit processes, when indicated. 
b. Existing single-family residential development along the shoreline is limited in extent.. 

2. Policies 
a. Recognizing the single-purpose, irreversible, and space-consumptive nature of 
single-family, detached residential development in the SMZ, new development of this 
type should provide adequate setbacks and natural buffers from the water and ample 
open space between structures to provide space for outdoor recreation, to protect and 
restore ecological functions and ecosystem-wide processes where feasible, to preserve 
views, and to minimize use conflicts. 
b. New residential development should be designed so as to not cause significant 
ecological impacts or significant adverse impacts to shoreline characteristics, public 
access and views, and to improve public use of the shoreline and the water. 
c. Multi-family and single-family attached residential development should be designed to 
take advantage of public access opportunities to the shoreline, including joint use for 
community recreation facilities, provided such access does not conflict with residential 
privacy, and does not present a life safety or security issue. 
d. Access, utilities, and public services shall be available and adequate to serve existing 
needs and/or planned future development. 

3. Regulations 
a. Over-water residences and floating homes are prohibited. 
b. Multi-family and single-family attached residential uses are allowed where identified 
as permitted uses in the underlying zoning district. Community and/or public access 
shall be provided for new multi-family residential development and for subdivision of 
land for more than four parcels consistent with the Public Access section of this Master 
Program. 

- 48 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 89 of 248 

 - 48 - 

 

 

 

 

d. All new non-water-oriented recreational development, where allowed, shall be 
conditioned with the requirement to provide public access and ecological restoration 
where practical.  
e. Recreation facilities shall demonstrate that they are located, designed and operated 
in a manner consistent with the purpose of the environmental designation in which they 
are located and will result in no net loss of shoreline ecological functions or ecosystem-
wide processes (WAC 173-26-241(3)(i)). 

H. Residential Development 

 
1. Applicability  
a. The Shoreline Management Act identifies single-family residences as a priority use 
when (and only when) developed in a manner consistent with the control of pollution 
and prevention of damage to the natural environment. Although some owner-occupied, 
single-family residences are exempt from the substantial development permit process, 
they still must comply with all of the provisions of the Master Program. Subdivisions and 
short subdivisions must also comply with all of the provisions of this section and the 
Master Program. All development is subject to the variance and conditional use 
requirements and permit processes, when indicated.  
b. Existing single-family residential development along the shoreline is limited in extent..  
 
2. Policies  
a. Recognizing the single-purpose, irreversible, and space-consumptive nature of 
single-family, detached residential development in the SMZ, new development of this 
type should provide adequate setbacks and natural buffers from the water and ample 
open space between structures to provide space for outdoor recreation, to protect and 
restore ecological functions and ecosystem-wide processes where feasible, to preserve 
views, and to minimize use conflicts.  
b. New residential development should be designed so as to not cause significant 
ecological impacts or significant adverse impacts to shoreline characteristics, public 
access and views, and to improve public use of the shoreline and the water.  
c. Multi-family and single-family attached residential development should be designed to 
take advantage of public access opportunities to the shoreline, including joint use for 
community recreation facilities, provided such access does not conflict with residential 
privacy, and does not present a life safety or security issue.  
d. Access, utilities, and public services shall be available and adequate to serve existing 
needs and/or planned future development.  
 
3. Regulations  
a. Over-water residences and floating homes are prohibited.  
b. Multi-family and single-family attached residential uses are allowed where identified 
as permitted uses in the underlying zoning district. Community and/or public access 
shall be provided for new multi-family residential development and for subdivision of 
land for more than four parcels consistent with the Public Access section of this Master 
Program.  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 89 of 248



c. The creation of new lots shall be prohibited unless all of the following can be 
demonstrated. 
i. A primary residence can be built on each new lot without any of the following being 
necessary: 

a.) New structural shoreline stabilization; 
b.) New structures in the required shoreline setback, geologically hazardous 

areas, wetland, required wetland buffer, critical habitat, or critical habitat buffer; 
c.) Causing significant erosion or reduction in slope stability; and 
d.) Causing increased flood risk or erosion in the new development or to other 

properties. 
ii. Adequate sewer, water, access, and utilities can be provided. 
iii. The intensity and type of development is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan 
and development regulations. 
iv. Potential significant adverse environmental impacts (including significant ecological 
impacts) can be avoided or mitigated to achieve no net loss of ecological functions. 

I. Transportation Facilities 

1. Applicability 
a. Transportation facilities are those structures and developments that aid in land and 
water surface movement of people, goods, and services. They include roads and 
highways, bridges and causeways, bikeways, trails, and railroad facilities. 
b. The policies and regulations identified in this section pertain to any project, within any 
environment, that proposes to change existing transportation facilities or introduce new 
such facilities. 

2. Policies 
a. Circulation routes to and on shorelands should include systems for pedestrian, 
bicycle, and public transportation where appropriate. 
b. Circulation systems should support existing and proposed shoreline uses that are 
consistent with the Master Program. 
c. Trail and bicycle paths should be encouraged along shorelines and should be 
constructed in a manner compatible with the natural character, resources, and ecology 
of the shoreline. 
d. When existing transportation corridors are abandoned, they should be reused for 
water-dependent use or public access. 
e. Abandoned or unused road or railroad rights-of-way that offer opportunities for public 
access to the water should be acquired and/or retained for such use. 

3. Regulations 
a. Applications for redevelopment of transportation facilities in the SMZ shall include the 
following information: 
i. Demonstration of the need for the facility. 
ii. An analysis of alternative alignments or routes including, where feasible, alignments 
or routes outside the SMZ. 

- 49 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 90 of 248 

 - 49 - 

 

 

 

 

c. The creation of new lots shall be prohibited unless all of the following can be 
demonstrated. 
i. A primary residence can be built on each new lot without any of the following being 
necessary:  
 a.) New structural shoreline stabilization;  
 b.) New structures in the required shoreline setback, geologically hazardous 
areas, wetland, required wetland buffer, critical habitat, or critical habitat buffer;  
 c.) Causing significant erosion or reduction in slope stability; and  
 d.) Causing increased flood risk or erosion in the new development or to other 
properties.  
ii. Adequate sewer, water, access, and utilities can be provided.  
iii. The intensity and type of development is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan 
and development regulations.  
iv. Potential significant adverse environmental impacts (including significant ecological 
impacts) can be avoided or mitigated to achieve no net loss of ecological functions.  

I. Transportation Facilities 

 
1. Applicability  
a. Transportation facilities are those structures and developments that aid in land and 
water surface movement of people, goods, and services. They include roads and 
highways, bridges and causeways, bikeways, trails, and railroad facilities.  
b. The policies and regulations identified in this section pertain to any project, within any 
environment, that proposes to change existing transportation facilities or introduce new 
such facilities.  
 
2. Policies  
a. Circulation routes to and on shorelands should include systems for pedestrian, 
bicycle, and public transportation where appropriate.  
b. Circulation systems should support existing and proposed shoreline uses that are 
consistent with the Master Program.  
c. Trail and bicycle paths should be encouraged along shorelines and should be 
constructed in a manner compatible with the natural character, resources, and ecology 
of the shoreline.  
d. When existing transportation corridors are abandoned, they should be reused for 
water-dependent use or public access.  
e. Abandoned or unused road or railroad rights-of-way that offer opportunities for public 
access to the water should be acquired and/or retained for such use. 
 
3. Regulations  
a. Applications for redevelopment of transportation facilities in the SMZ shall include the 
following information:  
i. Demonstration of the need for the facility.  
ii. An analysis of alternative alignments or routes including, where feasible, alignments 
or routes outside the SMZ.  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 90 of 248



iii. An analysis of potential impacts complying with the State Environmental Policy Act, 
including an analysis of comparative impacts of feasible alternative routes. 
iv. Description of construction, including location, construction type, and materials. 
v. If needed, description of mitigation and restoration measures. 
b. All new and expanded transportation facilities development shall be conditioned with 
the requirement to mitigate significant adverse impacts consistent with this Master 
Program. 
c. All redeveloped transportation facilities in the SMZ shall be consistent with the 
Comprehensive Plan and applicable Capital Improvement Plans. 
d. Redeveloped transportation facilities shall include provisions for pedestrian, bicycle, 
and public transportation where appropriate as determined by the City. 
e. Circulation planning and projects shall support existing and proposed shoreline uses 
that are consistent with the Master Program. 
f. Redeveloped transportation facilities shall not diminish, but may modify public access 
to the shoreline. 
g. Parking is only allowed in support of an allowed use. 

J. Utilities 

1. Applicability 
a. Utilities are services and facilities that produce, transmit, carry, store, process, or 
dispose of electric power, natural gas, water, sewage, solid waste, telecommunications, 
etc. 
b. The provisions in this section apply to primary uses and activities, such as solid 
waste handling and disposal, sewage treatment plants and outfalls, public high tension 
utility lines on public property or easements, power generating or transfer facilities, gas 
distribution lines and storage facilities, and wireless telecommunications. 

2. Policies 
a. New utility facilities should be located so as not to require extensive shoreline 
protection works. 
b. Utility facilities and corridors should be located so as to protect scenic views. 
Whenever possible, such facilities should be placed underground or alongside or under 
bridges. 
c. Utility facilities and rights-of-way should be designed to preserve the natural 
landscape and to minimize conflicts with present and planned land uses. 

3. Regulations 
a. Applications for new or expanded utility facility development in areas of shoreline 
jurisdiction shall include the following: 
i. Demonstration of the need for the facility; 
ii. An analysis of alternative alignments or routes including, where feasible, alignments 
or routes outside the SMZ; 
iii. An analysis of potential impacts complying with the State Environmental Policy Act, 
including an analysis of comparative impacts of feasible alternative routes or locations; 
iv. Description of construction, including location, construction type, and materials; 

- 50 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 91 of 248 

 - 50 - 

 

 

 

 

iii. An analysis of potential impacts complying with the State Environmental Policy Act, 
including an analysis of comparative impacts of feasible alternative routes.  
iv. Description of construction, including location, construction type, and materials.  
v. If needed, description of mitigation and restoration measures.  
b. All new and expanded transportation facilities development shall be conditioned with 
the requirement to mitigate significant adverse impacts consistent with this Master 
Program.  
c. All redeveloped transportation facilities in the SMZ shall be consistent with the 
Comprehensive Plan and applicable Capital Improvement Plans.  
d. Redeveloped transportation facilities shall include provisions for pedestrian, bicycle, 
and public transportation where appropriate as determined by the City.  
e. Circulation planning and projects shall support existing and proposed shoreline uses 
that are consistent with the Master Program.  
f. Redeveloped transportation facilities shall not diminish, but may modify public access 
to the shoreline.  
g. Parking is only allowed in support of an allowed use. 

J. Utilities 

 
1. Applicability  
a. Utilities are services and facilities that produce, transmit, carry, store, process, or 
dispose of electric power, natural gas, water, sewage, solid waste, telecommunications, 
etc.  
b. The provisions in this section apply to primary uses and activities, such as solid 
waste handling and disposal, sewage treatment plants and outfalls, public high tension 
utility lines on public property or easements, power generating or transfer facilities, gas 
distribution lines and storage facilities, and wireless telecommunications.  
 
2. Policies  
a. New utility facilities should be located so as not to require extensive shoreline 
protection works.  
b. Utility facilities and corridors should be located so as to protect scenic views. 
Whenever possible, such facilities should be placed underground or alongside or under 
bridges.  
c. Utility facilities and rights-of-way should be designed to preserve the natural 
landscape and to minimize conflicts with present and planned land uses.  
 
3. Regulations  
a. Applications for new or expanded utility facility development in areas of shoreline 
jurisdiction shall include the following:  
i. Demonstration of the need for the facility;  
ii. An analysis of alternative alignments or routes including, where feasible, alignments 
or routes outside the SMZ;  
iii. An analysis of potential impacts complying with the State Environmental Policy Act, 
including an analysis of comparative impacts of feasible alternative routes or locations;  
iv. Description of construction, including location, construction type, and materials;  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 91 of 248



v. Location of other utility facilities in the vicinity of the proposed project and plans to 
include the facilities of other types of utilities in the project; 
vi. Plans for reclamation of areas disturbed during construction; 
vii. Plans for control of erosion and turbidity during construction and operation; and 
viii. Identification of potential for locating the proposed facility at an existing utility facility 
site or within an existing utility right-of-way. 
b. All utility facilities shall be designed and located to minimize harm to shoreline 
ecological functions, preserve the natural landscape, and minimize conflicts with 
present and planned land and shoreline uses while meeting the needs of future 
populations in areas planned to accommodate growth. The Planning Department may 
require the relocation or redesign of proposed utility development in order to ensure no 
net loss of ecological functions. 
c. Transmission facilities for the conveyance of services, such as power lines, cables, 
and pipelines, shall be located to cause minimum harm to the shoreline and shall be 
located outside of the SMZ where feasible. 
d. Utilities should be located in existing rights-of-way and corridors whenever possible. 
e. Restoration of ecological functions shall be a condition of new and expanded non-
water-dependent utility facilities. 
f. Utility development shall, through coordination with local government agencies, 
provide for compatible, multiple use of sites and rights-of-way. Such uses include 
shoreline access points, trail systems, and other forms of recreation and transportation, 
providing such uses will not unduly interfere with utility operations, endanger public 
health and safety, or create a significant and disproportionate liability for the owner. 
g. Existing above-ground lines shall be moved underground during normal replacement 
processes. 
h. Transmission and distribution facilities shall cross areas of shoreline jurisdiction by 
the shortest, most direct route feasible, unless such route would cause significant 
environmental damage. 
i. Clearing of vegetation for the installation or maintenance of utilities shall be kept to a 
minimum and upon project completion any disturbed areas shall be restored to their 
pre-project condition or better. 
j. Wireless telecommunication towers, such as radio and cell phone towers, are 
specifically prohibited in the SMZ. 

- 51 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 92 of 248 

 - 51 - 

 

 

 

 

v. Location of other utility facilities in the vicinity of the proposed project and plans to 
include the facilities of other types of utilities in the project;  
vi. Plans for reclamation of areas disturbed during construction;  
vii. Plans for control of erosion and turbidity during construction and operation; and  
viii. Identification of potential for locating the proposed facility at an existing utility facility 
site or within an existing utility right-of-way.  
b. All utility facilities shall be designed and located to minimize harm to shoreline 
ecological functions, preserve the natural landscape, and minimize conflicts with 
present and planned land and shoreline uses while meeting the needs of future 
populations in areas planned to accommodate growth. The Planning Department may 
require the relocation or redesign of proposed utility development in order to ensure no 
net loss of ecological functions.  
c. Transmission facilities for the conveyance of services, such as power lines, cables, 
and pipelines, shall be located to cause minimum harm to the shoreline and shall be 
located outside of the SMZ where feasible.  
d. Utilities should be located in existing rights-of-way and corridors whenever possible.  
e. Restoration of ecological functions shall be a condition of new and expanded non-
water-dependent utility facilities.  
f. Utility development shall, through coordination with local government agencies, 
provide for compatible, multiple use of sites and rights-of-way. Such uses include 
shoreline access points, trail systems, and other forms of recreation and transportation, 
providing such uses will not unduly interfere with utility operations, endanger public 
health and safety, or create a significant and disproportionate liability for the owner.  
g. Existing above-ground lines shall be moved underground during normal replacement 
processes.  
h. Transmission and distribution facilities shall cross areas of shoreline jurisdiction by 
the shortest, most direct route feasible, unless such route would cause significant 
environmental damage.  
i. Clearing of vegetation for the installation or maintenance of utilities shall be kept to a 
minimum and upon project completion any disturbed areas shall be restored to their 
pre-project condition or better.  
j. Wireless telecommunication towers, such as radio and cell phone towers, are 
specifically prohibited in the SMZ.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 92 of 248



5.4 Shoreline Modification Provisions 

A. Introduction 

1. Shoreline modifications are actions that modify the physical configuration or qualities 
of the shoreline area. They are typically construction activities such as building a dike or 
dredging a basin, but they can include other actions such as clearing, grading, or 
application of chemicals. 
2. Shoreline modifications are undertaken in support of or in preparation for shoreline 
uses. Shoreline uses generally are ongoing and the policies and regulations related to 
them must deal with functional relationships inherent in the individual uses, and pertain 
to long term management. Modifications represent a physical alteration of the shoreline 
so the regulations related to them must deal with more immediate, time-limited physical 
impacts. Shoreline modifications usually are undertaken in support of or in preparation 
for a shoreline use; for example, fill (shoreline modification) required for a cargo terminal 
(industrial use) or dredging (shoreline modification) to allow for a marina (boating facility 
use). Generally, shoreline modification activities are undertaken for the following 
reasons: 
a. To prepare a site for a shoreline use 
b. To provide shoreline stabilization or shoreline protection 
c. To support developed upland areas 
3. The policies and regulations in this section are intended to prevent or mitigate the 
adverse environmental impacts of proposed shoreline modifications. General 
provisions, which apply to all shoreline modification activities, are followed by provisions 
tailored to specific shoreline modification activities. This chapter provides policies and 
regulations that apply to all shoreline modifications within shoreline jurisdiction including 
shoreline stabilization measures, piers and docks, fill, breakwaters, jetties and weirs, 
dredging and dredging material disposal and SMZ. 

B. General Policies and Regulations 

1. Applicability 
The following provisions apply to all shoreline modification activities, whether such 
proposals address a single property or multiple properties. 

2. Policies 
a. Structural shoreline modifications should be limited in number and extent and allowed 
only where they are demonstrated to be necessary to support or protect an allowed 
primary structure or existing development and uses that are in danger of loss or 
substantial damage or are necessary for reconfiguration of the shoreline for mitigation 
or enhancement purposes. 
b. The Planning Department should ensure that shoreline modifications individually and 
cumulatively do not result in a net loss of ecological functions. This is to be achieved by 
giving preference to those types of shoreline modifications that have a lesser impact on 

- 52 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 93 of 248 

 - 52 - 

 

 

 

 

5.4 Shoreline Modification Provisions 

 

A. Introduction 

1. Shoreline modifications are actions that modify the physical configuration or qualities 
of the shoreline area. They are typically construction activities such as building a dike or 
dredging a basin, but they can include other actions such as clearing, grading, or 
application of chemicals.  
2. Shoreline modifications are undertaken in support of or in preparation for shoreline 
uses. Shoreline uses generally are ongoing and the policies and regulations related to 
them must deal with functional relationships inherent in the individual uses, and pertain 
to long term management. Modifications represent a physical alteration of the shoreline 
so the regulations related to them must deal with more immediate, time-limited physical 
impacts. Shoreline modifications usually are undertaken in support of or in preparation 
for a shoreline use; for example, fill (shoreline modification) required for a cargo terminal 
(industrial use) or dredging (shoreline modification) to allow for a marina (boating facility 
use). Generally, shoreline modification activities are undertaken for the following 
reasons:  
a. To prepare a site for a shoreline use  
b. To provide shoreline stabilization or shoreline protection  
c. To support developed upland areas  
3. The policies and regulations in this section are intended to prevent or mitigate the 
adverse environmental impacts of proposed shoreline modifications. General 
provisions, which apply to all shoreline modification activities, are followed by provisions 
tailored to specific shoreline modification activities. This chapter provides policies and 
regulations that apply to all shoreline modifications within shoreline jurisdiction including 
shoreline stabilization measures, piers and docks, fill, breakwaters, jetties and weirs, 
dredging and dredging material disposal and SMZ.  
 

B. General Policies and Regulations 

 
1. Applicability  
The following provisions apply to all shoreline modification activities, whether such 
proposals address a single property or multiple properties.  
 
2. Policies  
a. Structural shoreline modifications should be limited in number and extent and allowed 
only where they are demonstrated to be necessary to support or protect an allowed 
primary structure or existing development and uses that are in danger of loss or 
substantial damage or are necessary for reconfiguration of the shoreline for mitigation 
or enhancement purposes.  
b. The Planning Department should ensure that shoreline modifications individually and 
cumulatively do not result in a net loss of ecological functions. This is to be achieved by 
giving preference to those types of shoreline modifications that have a lesser impact on 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 93 of 248



ecological functions and by requiring mitigation of identified impacts resulting from 
shoreline modifications. 
c. Where applicable, the Planning Department should require provisions be based on 
"best available science," scientific and technical information, and a comprehensive 
analysis of site specific conditions for river and stream systems. 
d. Ecological functions impaired by development activities should be enhanced and/or 
restored where feasible and appropriate while accommodating permitted uses. As 
shoreline modifications occur, the Planning Department should incorporate all feasible 
measures to protect ecological shoreline functions and ecosystem-wide processes. 
e. When shoreline modifications are necessary, they should be as compatible as 
possible with ecological shoreline processes and functions. 

3. Regulations 
a. In reviewing shoreline permits, the Planning Department shall require steps to reduce 
significant ecological impacts according to the mitigation sequence in WAC 173-26-
201(2)(e) (Environmental Impact Mitigation). 
b. In areas where the river system is not constrained by existing flood risk reduction 
structures, structural shoreline modification measures shall be permitted only if 
nonstructural measures are unable to achieve the same purpose. Nonstructural 
measures considered shall include alternative site designs, increased setbacks, 
drainage improvements, relocation, and vegetation enhancement. 
c. Proponents of shoreline modification projects shall obtain all applicable federal and 
state permits and shall meet all permit requirements. 
d. In addition to the permit information required by WAC 173-27-190 (Permits for 
Substantial Development, Conditional Use, or Variance), the City shall require and 
consider the following information when reviewing shoreline modification proposals: 
i. Construction materials and methods; 
ii. Project location relative to the ordinary high water mark; 
iii. General direction and speed of prevailing winds; 
iv. Profile rendition of beach and uplands; 
v. Upland soil type, slope, and material; 
vi. Physical or geologic stability of uplands; and 
vii. Potential impact to natural shoreline processes, adjacent properties, and upland 
stability. 
e. Shoreline modification materials shall be only those approved by applicable state 
agencies. No toxic (e.g. creosote) or quickly degradable materials, or those that 
deteriorate under ultraviolet exposure (plastic or fiberglass) shall be used. 
f. Only shoreline activities that are appropriate to the specific type of shoreline and 
environmental conditions for which they are proposed shall be allowed. 

- 53 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 94 of 248 

 - 53 - 

 

 

 

 

ecological functions and by requiring mitigation of identified impacts resulting from 
shoreline modifications.  
c. Where applicable, the Planning Department should require provisions be based on 
“best available science,” scientific and technical information, and a comprehensive 
analysis of site specific conditions for river and stream systems.  
d. Ecological functions impaired by development activities should be enhanced and/or 
restored where feasible and appropriate while accommodating permitted uses. As 
shoreline modifications occur, the Planning Department should incorporate all feasible 
measures to protect ecological shoreline functions and ecosystem-wide processes.  
e. When shoreline modifications are necessary, they should be as compatible as 
possible with ecological shoreline processes and functions.  
 
3. Regulations  
a. In reviewing shoreline permits, the Planning Department shall require steps to reduce 
significant ecological impacts according to the mitigation sequence in WAC 173-26-
201(2)(e) (Environmental Impact Mitigation).  
b. In areas where the river system is not constrained by existing flood risk reduction 
structures, structural shoreline modification measures shall be permitted only if 
nonstructural measures are unable to achieve the same purpose. Nonstructural 
measures considered shall include alternative site designs, increased setbacks, 
drainage improvements, relocation, and vegetation enhancement.  
c. Proponents of shoreline modification projects shall obtain all applicable federal and 
state permits and shall meet all permit requirements.  
d. In addition to the permit information required by WAC 173-27-190 (Permits for 
Substantial Development, Conditional Use, or Variance), the City shall require and 
consider the following information when reviewing shoreline modification proposals:  
i. Construction materials and methods;  
ii. Project location relative to the ordinary high water mark;  
iii. General direction and speed of prevailing winds;  
iv. Profile rendition of beach and uplands;  
v. Upland soil type, slope, and material;  
vi. Physical or geologic stability of uplands; and  
vii. Potential impact to natural shoreline processes, adjacent properties, and upland 
stability.  
e. Shoreline modification materials shall be only those approved by applicable state 
agencies. No toxic (e.g. creosote) or quickly degradable materials, or those that 
deteriorate under ultraviolet exposure (plastic or fiberglass) shall be used.  
f. Only shoreline activities that are appropriate to the specific type of shoreline and 
environmental conditions for which they are proposed shall be allowed. 
 
 
 
 
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 94 of 248



C. Shoreline Stabilization 

1. Applicability 
a. Shoreline stabilization includes actions taken to address erosion impacts to property, 
dwellings, or essential structures caused by natural processes, such as current, flood, 
wind, or wave action. These include both nonstructural and structural methods. 
b. Nonstructural methods include building setbacks, relocation of the structure to be 
protected, groundwater management, and planning and regulatory measures to avoid 
the need for structural stabilization. 
c. New stabilization measures include the enlargement of existing stabilization 
structures. WAC 173-27-040(2)(b) (Developments Exempt from Substantial 
Development Permit Requirement) defines normal replacement and repair of existing 
structures and notes that normal maintenance and repair actions are not exempt from 
substantial development permits if they are anticipated to "cause substantial adverse 
effects to shoreline resources or the environment." 

2. Policies 
a. Shoreline stabilization and flood risk management measures would be allowed only 
when adequate evidence is presented that one of the following conditions exist: 
i. High water or erosion threatens public works and properties, including roads, bridges, 
railroads, and utility systems. 
ii. High water or significant erosion damages or threatens existing homes and residential 
areas. 
iii. High water or significant erosion damages or threatens to damage existing 
commercial and industrial uses and developments. 
b. Dikes, levees, revetments and other flood risk reduction structures should be the 
minimum size necessary and be designed and constructed primarily as a means to 
minimize damage to existing development. 
c. Ensure that publicly financed or subsidized shoreline erosion control measures do not 
restrict appropriate public access to the shoreline except where such access is 
determined to be infeasible because of incompatible uses, safety, security, or harm to 
ecological functions. 
d. Structural or "hard" shoreline stabilization techniques and structures should be 
allowed only after it is demonstrated that non-structural or "soft" shoreline protection 
measures are not feasible. 
e. New development (including newly created parcels) is to be designed and located to 
prevent the need for future shoreline stabilization, based upon geotechnical analysis. 
f. Impacts to sediment transport should be avoided or minimized. 

3. Regulations 
a. Shoreline stabilization measures along the shoreline that incorporate ecological 
restoration through the placement of rocks, gravel or sand and native shoreline 
vegetation may be allowed. 
b. New or enlarged structural shoreline stabilization measures for an existing 
development shall not be allowed unless there is conclusive evidence, documented by a 
geotechnical analysis that the structure is in danger from shoreline erosion. The 

- 54 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 95 of 248 

 - 54 - 

 

 

 

 

C. Shoreline Stabilization 

  
1. Applicability  
a. Shoreline stabilization includes actions taken to address erosion impacts to property, 
dwellings, or essential structures caused by natural processes, such as current, flood, 
wind, or wave action. These include both nonstructural and structural methods.  
b. Nonstructural methods include building setbacks, relocation of the structure to be 
protected, groundwater management, and planning and regulatory measures to avoid 
the need for structural stabilization. 
c. New stabilization measures include the enlargement of existing stabilization 
structures. WAC 173-27-040(2)(b) (Developments Exempt from Substantial 
Development Permit Requirement) defines normal replacement and repair of existing 
structures and notes that normal maintenance and repair actions are not exempt from 
substantial development permits if they are anticipated to “cause substantial adverse 
effects to shoreline resources or the environment.”  
 
2. Policies  
a. Shoreline stabilization and flood risk management measures would be allowed only 
when adequate evidence is presented that one of the following conditions exist:  
i. High water or erosion threatens public works and properties, including roads, bridges, 
railroads, and utility systems.  
ii. High water or significant erosion damages or threatens existing homes and residential 
areas.  
iii. High water or significant erosion damages or threatens to damage existing 
commercial and industrial uses and developments.  
b. Dikes, levees, revetments and other flood risk reduction structures should be the 
minimum size necessary and be designed and constructed primarily as a means to 
minimize damage to existing development.  
c. Ensure that publicly financed or subsidized shoreline erosion control measures do not 
restrict appropriate public access to the shoreline except where such access is 
determined to be infeasible because of incompatible uses, safety, security, or harm to 
ecological functions. 
d. Structural or “hard” shoreline stabilization techniques and structures should be 
allowed only after it is demonstrated that non-structural or “soft” shoreline protection 
measures are not feasible. 
e. New development (including newly created parcels) is to be designed and located to 
prevent the need for future shoreline stabilization, based upon geotechnical analysis. 
f. Impacts to sediment transport should be avoided or minimized. 
  
3. Regulations  
a. Shoreline stabilization measures along the shoreline that incorporate ecological 
restoration through the placement of rocks, gravel or sand and native shoreline 
vegetation may be allowed. 
b. New or enlarged structural shoreline stabilization measures for an existing 
development shall not be allowed unless there is conclusive evidence, documented by a 
geotechnical analysis that the structure is in danger from shoreline erosion. The 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 95 of 248



geotechnical report must include estimates of erosion rates and damage within three 
years and must evaluate on-site drainage issues and address drainage problems away 
from the shoreline edge before considering structural shoreline stabilization. The project 
design and analysis must also evaluate vegetation enhancement as a means of 
reducing erosion and promoting bank stability. The report must demonstrate that "soft" 
shoreline protection measures or bioengineering erosion control designs will not provide 
adequate upland protection of existing structures or would pose a threat or risk to 
adjacent property. 
c. An existing shoreline stabilization structure shall not be replaced with a similar 
structure unless there is need to protect primary structures from erosion caused by 
currents or waves. At the discretion of the City Engineer, the demonstration of need 
does not necessarily require a geotechnical report by a licensed geotechnical engineer 
or related licensed professional. The replacement structure shall be designed, located, 
sized, and constructed to minimize harm to ecological functions. Replacement walls or 
bulkheads shall not encroach waterward of the OHWM or existing structures unless the 
residence was occupied prior to January 1, 1992 and there are overriding safety or 
environmental concerns. In such cases, the replacement structure shall abut the 
existing shoreline stabilization structure and be the minimum size necessary. Soft 
shoreline stabilization that restores ecological functions may be permitted waterward of 
the OHWM. 
d. Provided that regulation #3c above has been met, the replacement of lawfully 
established, existing bulkheads or revetments shall be allowed, subject to the following 
priority system: 
i. First priority. The first priority for replacement of bulkheads or revetments shall be to 
install "soft" shoreline protection measures or bioengineering erosion control designs. 
ii. Second priority. The second priority for replacement of existing bulkheads or 
revetments shall be to install "hard" shoreline protection measures only when "soft" 
measures would not provide adequate upland protection of existing structures or would 
pose a threat or risk to adjacent property. 
iii. Third priority. The third priority for replacement of bulkheads or revetments shall be 
landward of the existing bulkhead. 
iv. Fourth Priority. The fourth priority for replacement of existing bulkheads or 
revetments shall be to replace in place (at the bulkhead's existing location). 
v. Fifth Priority. The fifth and last priority for replacement of existing bulkheads shall be 
a one-time replacement no greater than three feet waterward of the existing bulkhead. 
Under this fifth priority, documentation must be provided that habitat will not be 
adversely impacted and habitat friendly materials shall be used. The property owner 
shall also demonstrate that removing the existing structure would either cause 
irreversible environmental damages, or undermine and damage the residential structure 
on the property. 
e. When evaluating a proposal against the above priority system, at a minimum the 
following criteria shall be considered: 
i. Existing topography; 
ii. Existing development; 
iii. Location of abutting bulkheads; and 
iv. Impact to habitat. 

- 55 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 96 of 248 

 - 55 - 

 

 

 

 

geotechnical report must include estimates of erosion rates and damage within three 
years and must evaluate on-site drainage issues and address drainage problems away 
from the shoreline edge before considering structural shoreline stabilization. The project 
design and analysis must also evaluate vegetation enhancement as a means of 
reducing erosion and promoting bank stability. The report must demonstrate that “soft” 
shoreline protection measures or bioengineering erosion control designs will not provide 
adequate upland protection of existing structures or would pose a threat or risk to 
adjacent property. 
c. An existing shoreline stabilization structure shall not be replaced with a similar 
structure unless there is need to protect primary structures from erosion caused by 
currents or waves. At the discretion of the City Engineer, the demonstration of need 
does not necessarily require a geotechnical report by a licensed geotechnical engineer 
or related licensed professional. The replacement structure shall be designed, located, 
sized, and constructed to minimize harm to ecological functions. Replacement walls or 
bulkheads shall not encroach waterward of the OHWM or existing structures unless the 
residence was occupied prior to January 1, 1992 and there are overriding safety or 
environmental concerns. In such cases, the replacement structure shall abut the 
existing shoreline stabilization structure and be the minimum size necessary. Soft 
shoreline stabilization that restores ecological functions may be permitted waterward of 
the OHWM.  
d. Provided that regulation #3c above has been met, the replacement of lawfully 
established, existing bulkheads or revetments shall be allowed, subject to the following 
priority system: 
i. First priority. The first priority for replacement of bulkheads or revetments shall be to 
install “soft” shoreline protection measures or bioengineering erosion control designs. 
ii. Second priority. The second priority for replacement of existing bulkheads or 
revetments shall be to install “hard” shoreline protection measures only when “soft” 
measures would not provide adequate upland protection of existing structures or would 
pose a threat or risk to adjacent property. 
iii. Third priority. The third priority for replacement of bulkheads or revetments shall be 
landward of the existing bulkhead. 
iv. Fourth Priority. The fourth priority for replacement of existing bulkheads or 
revetments shall be to replace in place (at the bulkhead’s existing location). 
v. Fifth Priority. The fifth and last priority for replacement of existing bulkheads shall be 
a one-time replacement no greater than three feet waterward of the existing bulkhead. 
Under this fifth priority, documentation must be provided that habitat will not be 
adversely impacted and habitat friendly materials shall be used. The property owner 
shall also demonstrate that removing the existing structure would either cause 
irreversible environmental damages, or undermine and damage the residential structure 
on the property. 
e. When evaluating a proposal against the above priority system, at a minimum the 
following criteria shall be considered: 
i. Existing topography; 
ii. Existing development; 
iii. Location of abutting bulkheads; and 
iv. Impact to habitat. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 96 of 248



g. Whenever feasible, trees and vegetation shading streams and rivers shall be retained 
when riprap is placed. 
h. No work may commence without the responsible person or agency having obtained 
either a shoreline permit or statement of exemption from the Planning Department. 
i. Flood risk reduction structures shall conform to all City, state, and federal policies and 
regulations including the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers criteria for design. 
j. Bulkheads or revetments shall be designed, constructed and maintained in a manner 
that does not degrade ecological function including fish habitat, and shall conform to the 
requirements of the Washington State Department of Fish and Wildlife criteria and 
guidelines. 
k. The City may require and utilize the following information, in addition to the standard 
permit information required by WAC 173-27 (Shoreline Management Permit and 
Enforcement Procedures), in its review of all bioengineering projects: 
i. Proposed construction timing; 
ii. Hydrologic analysis, including predicted flood flows; 
iii. Site vegetation, soil types, and slope stability analysis; 
iv. Proposed project materials, including rock size, shape, and quantity; plant types; and 
soil preparation; 
v. Existing and proposed slope profiles, including location of OHWM; 
vi. Proposed designs for transition areas between the project site and adjacent 
properties; and 
vii. Documentation (including photographs) of existing (preconstruction) shoreline 
characteristics. 
I. Bioengineering projects shall use native trees, shrubs, and/or grasses, unless such an 
approach is infeasible. 
m. All bioengineering projects shall include a program for monitoring and maintenance. 
n. No structures will be permitted or constructed without consulting with all local flood 
agencies (i.e. City of Sedro-Woolley, Dike Districts, and Skagit County). 

D. Piers and Docks 

1. Applicability 
a. Piers are built on fixed platforms above the water, while docks float upon the water. 
b. The beds and shores (aquatic lands) of all navigable waters in the state, except those 
sold according to law, are under the ownership of the State of Washington. Prior 
authorization for their use must be obtained from the Department of Natural Resources. 

2. Policies 
a. Pier and dock construction should be restricted to the minimum size necessary to 
meet the needs of the proposed use. 
b. Multiple-use and expansion of legally existing piers, wharves, and docks should be 
encouraged over the addition of new facilities. Joint-use facilities are preferred over new 
single-use piers, docks, and floats. 
c. Piers and docks should be sited and designed to avoid or minimize potentially 
significant ecological impacts, including impacts on sediment movement, water 
circulation and quality, and fish and wildlife habitat. 

- 56 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 97 of 248 

 - 56 - 

 

 

 

 

g. Whenever feasible, trees and vegetation shading streams and rivers shall be retained 
when riprap is placed. 
h. No work may commence without the responsible person or agency having obtained 
either a shoreline permit or statement of exemption from the Planning Department.  
i. Flood risk reduction structures shall conform to all City, state, and federal policies and 
regulations including the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers criteria for design.  
j. Bulkheads or revetments shall be designed, constructed and maintained in a manner 
that does not degrade ecological function including fish habitat, and shall conform to the 
requirements of the Washington State Department of Fish and Wildlife criteria and 
guidelines. 
k. The City may require and utilize the following information, in addition to the standard 
permit information required by WAC 173-27 (Shoreline Management Permit and 
Enforcement Procedures), in its review of all bioengineering projects:  
i. Proposed construction timing;  
ii. Hydrologic analysis, including predicted flood flows;  
iii. Site vegetation, soil types, and slope stability analysis;  
iv. Proposed project materials, including rock size, shape, and quantity; plant types; and 
soil preparation;  
v. Existing and proposed slope profiles, including location of OHWM;  
vi. Proposed designs for transition areas between the project site and adjacent 
properties; and  
vii. Documentation (including photographs) of existing (preconstruction) shoreline 
characteristics.  
l. Bioengineering projects shall use native trees, shrubs, and/or grasses, unless such an 
approach is infeasible.  
m. All bioengineering projects shall include a program for monitoring and maintenance.  
n. No structures will be permitted or constructed without consulting with all local flood 
agencies (i.e. City of Sedro-Woolley, Dike Districts, and Skagit County).  

D. Piers and Docks 

 
1. Applicability  
a. Piers are built on fixed platforms above the water, while docks float upon the water.  
b. The beds and shores (aquatic lands) of all navigable waters in the state, except those 
sold according to law, are under the ownership of the State of Washington. Prior 
authorization for their use must be obtained from the Department of Natural Resources.  
 
2. Policies  
a. Pier and dock construction should be restricted to the minimum size necessary to 
meet the needs of the proposed use.  
b. Multiple-use and expansion of legally existing piers, wharves, and docks should be 
encouraged over the addition of new facilities. Joint-use facilities are preferred over new 
single-use piers, docks, and floats.  
c. Piers and docks should be sited and designed to avoid or minimize potentially 
significant ecological impacts, including impacts on sediment movement, water 
circulation and quality, and fish and wildlife habitat.  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 97 of 248



d. The proposed size of the structure and intensity of use or uses of any pier or dock 
should be compatible with the surrounding environment and land and water uses. 

3. Regulations 
a. Proposals for piers or docks shall include, at a minimum, the following information: 
i. Description of the proposed structure, including its size, location, design, and any 
shoreline stabilization or other modification required by the project; 
ii. Ownership of shorelands and/or bedlands; 
iii. Proposed location of piers or docks relative to property lines and the OHWM; and 
iv. Location, width, height, and length of piers or docks on adjacent properties within 
300 feet. 
b. Piers and docks shall not be allowed in critical freshwater aquatic habitats, unless it 
can be established that the dock or pier project, including auxiliary impacts and 
established mitigation measures, will not be detrimental to the natural habitat or species 
of concern, and will not result in loss of ecological function. 
c. Piers and docks shall not significantly interfere with use of navigable waters. 
d. Boating facilities may not be used for extended moorage and/or live aboard vessels. 
e. The length of piers and docks shall be limited in constricted water bodies to assure 
navigability and protect public use of the river. The Planning Department may require 
reconfiguration of pier and dock proposals, where necessary, to protect navigation, 
public use, or ecological functions. 
f. New piers and docks shall be allowed only for water-dependent uses or public access. 
Water-related and water-enjoyment uses may be allowed as part of mixed-use 
development on over-water structures where they are clearly auxiliary to and in support 
of water-dependent uses, provided the minimum size requirement needed to meet the 
water-dependent use is not violated. New pier or dock construction shall be permitted 
only when the applicant has demonstrated that a specific need exists to support the 
intended water-dependent uses. 
g. New residential development of more than two dwellings shall provide joint use or 
community docks, rather than individual docks. 
h. Piers and docks shall use construction techniques and be constructed of materials 
and use coatings that conform to best management practices for the situation as 
recommended by the appropriate state and federal agencies, as well as conform to City 
building codes. 
i. All piers and docks shall be maintained in a safe and sound condition so as to not 
constitute a hazard to the public. 
j. Abandoned or unsafe piers and docks shall be removed or repaired promptly by the 
owner. No over-water field applications of paint, preservative treatment, or other 
chemical compounds shall be permitted, except in accordance with best management 
practices set forth by applicable state agencies. 
j. Pilings employed shall be installed so that the top elevation is at least one foot above 
extreme high water. 
k. When potentially toxic or hazardous materials are used in pier or dock construction, 
precautions shall be taken to ensure their containment. 
I. Overhead wiring or plumbing is not permitted on piers or docks. 

- 57 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 98 of 248 

 - 57 - 

 

 

 

 

d. The proposed size of the structure and intensity of use or uses of any pier or dock 
should be compatible with the surrounding environment and land and water uses.  
 
3. Regulations  
a. Proposals for piers or docks shall include, at a minimum, the following information:  
i. Description of the proposed structure, including its size, location, design, and any 
shoreline stabilization or other modification required by the project;  
ii. Ownership of shorelands and/or bedlands;  
iii. Proposed location of piers or docks relative to property lines and the OHWM; and  
iv. Location, width, height, and length of piers or docks on adjacent properties within 
300 feet.  
b. Piers and docks shall not be allowed in critical freshwater aquatic habitats, unless it 
can be established that the dock or pier project, including auxiliary impacts and 
established mitigation measures, will not be detrimental to the natural habitat or species 
of concern, and will not result in loss of ecological function.  
c. Piers and docks shall not significantly interfere with use of navigable waters.  
d. Boating facilities may not be used for extended moorage and/or live aboard vessels.  
e. The length of piers and docks shall be limited in constricted water bodies to assure 
navigability and protect public use of the river. The Planning Department may require 
reconfiguration of pier and dock proposals, where necessary, to protect navigation, 
public use, or ecological functions.  
f. New piers and docks shall be allowed only for water-dependent uses or public access. 
Water-related and water-enjoyment uses may be allowed as part of mixed-use 
development on over-water structures where they are clearly auxiliary to and in support 
of water-dependent uses, provided the minimum size requirement needed to meet the 
water-dependent use is not violated. New pier or dock construction shall be permitted 
only when the applicant has demonstrated that a specific need exists to support the 
intended water-dependent uses.  
g. New residential development of more than two dwellings shall provide joint use or 
community docks, rather than individual docks.  
h. Piers and docks shall use construction techniques and be constructed of materials 
and use coatings that conform to best management practices for the situation as 
recommended by the appropriate state and federal agencies, as well as conform to City 
building codes.  
i. All piers and docks shall be maintained in a safe and sound condition so as to not 
constitute a hazard to the public.  
j. Abandoned or unsafe piers and docks shall be removed or repaired promptly by the 
owner. No over-water field applications of paint, preservative treatment, or other 
chemical compounds shall be permitted, except in accordance with best management 
practices set forth by applicable state agencies.  
j. Pilings employed shall be installed so that the top elevation is at least one foot above 
extreme high water.  
k. When potentially toxic or hazardous materials are used in pier or dock construction, 
precautions shall be taken to ensure their containment.  
l. Overhead wiring or plumbing is not permitted on piers or docks.  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 98 of 248



m. Lighting shall be the minimum necessary to locate the dock at night. Lights shall be 
directed to prevent light spillage onto water surfaces. 
n. Other than safety railings and safety equipment and lighting, no structures are 
allowed on over-water portions of piers and docks. 
o. No piers or docks shall be designed or constructed without consulting with all local 
flood risk reduction authorities (City of Sedro-Woolley, Dike Districts, and Skagit 
County). 
p. Permit applications for new piers or docks shall demonstrate that no increase in 
potential flood damage would result from construction, use, or maintenance of the 
proposed structures, including during seasonal changes in stream flow. 
q. No piers or docks proposed on beds or shores owned by the State of Washington 
shall be designed or constructed without prior authorization of the Department of 
Natural Resources, which is the leasing authority. (RCW 79.105.210) 
r. All piers and docks must comply with the Clean Water Act and the Endangered 
Species Act. 

E. Fill 

1. Applicability 
a. Fill is the addition of soil, sand, rock, gravel, sediment, earth retaining structure, or 
other material to an area waterward of the OHWM, in wetlands, or on shore lands in a 
manner that raises the elevation or creates dry land. 
b. Any fill activity conducted within the SMZ must comply with the provisions herein. 

2. Policies 
Fills waterward of OHWM should be allowed only when necessary to facilitate water-
dependent and/or public access uses, cleanup and disposal of contaminated sediments, 
consistent with this Master Program. 

3. Regulations 
a. Applications for fill permits shall include the following: 
i. Proposed use of the fill area; 
ii. Physical, chemical and biological characteristics of the fill material; 
iii. Source of fill material; 
iv. Method of placement and compaction; 
v. Location of fill relative to natural and/or existing drainage patterns and wetlands; 
vi. Location of the fill perimeter relative to the OHWM; 
vii. Perimeter erosion control or stabilization means; and 
viii. Type of surfacing and runoff control devices. 
b. Fill waterward of OHWM may be permitted only when: 
i. In conjunction with a water-dependent use or public access permitted by this Master 
Program; 
ii. In conjunction with a bridge or navigational structure for which there is a 
demonstrated public need and where no feasible upland sites, design solutions, or 
routes exist; or 
iii. As part of an approved shoreline restoration project. 

- 58 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 99 of 248 

 - 58 - 

 

 

 

 

m. Lighting shall be the minimum necessary to locate the dock at night. Lights shall be 
directed to prevent light spillage onto water surfaces.  
n. Other than safety railings and safety equipment and lighting, no structures are 
allowed on over-water portions of piers and docks.  
o. No piers or docks shall be designed or constructed without consulting with all local 
flood risk reduction authorities (City of Sedro-Woolley, Dike Districts, and Skagit 
County).  
p. Permit applications for new piers or docks shall demonstrate that no increase in 
potential flood damage would result from construction, use, or maintenance of the 
proposed structures, including during seasonal changes in stream flow.  
q. No piers or docks proposed on beds or shores owned by the State of Washington 
shall be designed or constructed without prior authorization of the Department of 
Natural Resources, which is the leasing authority. (RCW 79.105.210)  
r. All piers and docks must comply with the Clean Water Act and the Endangered 
Species Act. 

E. Fill 

  
1. Applicability  
a. Fill is the addition of soil, sand, rock, gravel, sediment, earth retaining structure, or 
other material to an area waterward of the OHWM, in wetlands, or on shore lands in a 
manner that raises the elevation or creates dry land.  
b. Any fill activity conducted within the SMZ must comply with the provisions herein.  
 
2. Policies  
Fills waterward of OHWM should be allowed only when necessary to facilitate water-
dependent and/or public access uses, cleanup and disposal of contaminated sediments, 
consistent with this Master Program.  
 
3. Regulations  
a. Applications for fill permits shall include the following:  
i. Proposed use of the fill area;  
ii. Physical, chemical and biological characteristics of the fill material;  
iii. Source of fill material;  
iv. Method of placement and compaction;  
v. Location of fill relative to natural and/or existing drainage patterns and wetlands;  
vi. Location of the fill perimeter relative to the OHWM;  
vii. Perimeter erosion control or stabilization means; and  
viii. Type of surfacing and runoff control devices.  
b. Fill waterward of OHWM may be permitted only when:  
i. In conjunction with a water-dependent use or public access permitted by this Master 
Program;  
ii. In conjunction with a bridge or navigational structure for which there is a 
demonstrated public need and where no feasible upland sites, design solutions, or 
routes exist; or  
iii. As part of an approved shoreline restoration project.  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 99 of 248



c. Waterward of OHWM, pile or pier supports shall be utilized whenever feasible in 
preference to fills. Fills for approved road development in floodways or wetlands shall 
be permitted only if pile or pier supports are proven infeasible. 
d. Fills landward of the OHWM should be allowed as part of the construction and 
reconstruction of public recreational uses in the Urban Conservancy environment. 
e. Fills landward of the OHWM should be allowed as part of the construction and 
reconstruction of dikes, levees, revetments and other flood risk reduction structures 
consistent with plans approved by the Dike District and the City of Sedro-Woolley SMP. 
f. Fills landward of flood risk reduction measures may be permitted. 
g. Shoreline fill shall be designed and located so there will be no significant ecological 
impacts and no alteration of local currents, surface water drainage, channel migration, 
or flood waters that would result in a hazard to adjacent life, property, and natural 
resource systems. 
h. Environmental cleanup action involving excavation/fill, as part of an interagency 
environmental clean-up plan, as authorized by the Planning Department, may be 
permitted. 
i. Sanitary fills shall not be located in areas of the SMZ. 
j. A shoreline conditional use permit is required for fill in the Urban Conservancy 
shoreline environment. Fill is not permitted in the Aquatic environment. 
k. Proposed fills on beds and/or shores of navigable waters owned by the State of 
Washington shall require prior authorization of the Washington Department of Natural 
Resources. 

F. Breakwaters, Jetties and Weirs 

1. Applicability 
a. Jetties are structures that are generally perpendicular to shore extending through or 
past the intertidal zone. They are built singly or in pairs at harbor entrances or river 
mouths mainly to prevent shoaling or accretion from littoral drift in entrance channels, 
which may or may not be dredged. Jetties also serve to protect channels from storm 
waves or cross currents, and stabilize inlets through barrier beaches. 
b. Breakwaters are an offshore structure that is generally built parallel to shore that may 
or may not be connected to land, and may be floating or stationary. Their primary 
purpose is to protect harbors, moorages and navigation activity from wave and wind 
action by creating stillwater areas along shore. A secondary purpose is to protect 
shorelines from wave caused erosion. 
c. Groins are a barrier type structure extending from back shore into the water, the 
purpose of which is to interrupt sediment movement along the shore. 

2. Policies 
Breakwaters, jetties, groins, and weirs located waterward of the OHWM are allowed 
only where necessary to support water-dependent uses, public access, shoreline 
stabilization, or other specific public purpose, such as fish and wildlife habitat 
enhancement. 

- 59 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 100 of 248 

 - 59 - 

 

 

 

 

c. Waterward of OHWM, pile or pier supports shall be utilized whenever feasible in 
preference to fills. Fills for approved road development in floodways or wetlands shall 
be permitted only if pile or pier supports are proven infeasible.  
d. Fills landward of the OHWM should be allowed as part of the construction and 
reconstruction of public recreational uses in the Urban Conservancy environment. 
e. Fills landward of the OHWM should be allowed as part of the construction and 
reconstruction of dikes, levees, revetments and other flood risk reduction structures 
consistent with plans approved by the Dike District and the City of Sedro-Woolley SMP.  
f. Fills landward of flood risk reduction measures may be permitted.  
g. Shoreline fill shall be designed and located so there will be no significant ecological 
impacts and no alteration of local currents, surface water drainage, channel migration, 
or flood waters that would result in a hazard to adjacent life, property, and natural 
resource systems.  
h. Environmental cleanup action involving excavation/fill, as part of an interagency 
environmental clean-up plan, as authorized by the Planning Department, may be 
permitted.  
i. Sanitary fills shall not be located in areas of the SMZ.  
j. A shoreline conditional use permit is required for fill in the Urban Conservancy 
shoreline environment. Fill is not permitted in the Aquatic environment. 
k. Proposed fills on beds and/or shores of navigable waters owned by the State of 
Washington shall require prior authorization of the Washington Department of Natural 
Resources.  

F. Breakwaters, Jetties and Weirs 

  
1. Applicability  
a. Jetties are structures that are generally perpendicular to shore extending through or 
past the intertidal zone. They are built singly or in pairs at harbor entrances or river 
mouths mainly to prevent shoaling or accretion from littoral drift in entrance channels, 
which may or may not be dredged. Jetties also serve to protect channels from storm 
waves or cross currents, and stabilize inlets through barrier beaches. 
b. Breakwaters are an offshore structure that is generally built parallel to shore that may 
or may not be connected to land, and may be floating or stationary. Their primary 
purpose is to protect harbors, moorages and navigation activity from wave and wind 
action by creating stillwater areas along shore. A secondary purpose is to protect 
shorelines from wave caused erosion.  
c. Groins are a barrier type structure extending from back shore into the water, the 
purpose of which is to interrupt sediment movement along the shore. 
 
2. Policies 
Breakwaters, jetties, groins, and weirs located waterward of the OHWM are allowed 
only where necessary to support water-dependent uses, public access, shoreline 
stabilization, or other specific public purpose, such as fish and wildlife habitat 
enhancement.  
 
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 100 of 248



3. Regulations 
a. A conditional use permit shall be required, except for those structures installed to 
protect or restore ecological functions, such as woody debris installed in streams. 
b. Breakwaters, jetties, groins, and weirs shall be designed to protect critical areas and 
shall provide for mitigation according to the sequence defined in WAC 173-26-201(2)(e). 

G. Dredging and Dredge Material Disposal 

1. Applicability 
Dredging is the removal or displacement of earth or sediment (gravel, sand, mud, silt 
and/or other material or debris) from a river, stream, or associated wetland. 

2. Policies 
a. Dredging operations should be planned and conducted to so as to avoid adverse 
impacts to other shoreline uses, properties, and values. 
b. When allowed, dredging and dredge material disposal within the SMZ should be 
limited to the minimum amount necessary. 

3. Regulations 
a. Dredging will only be permitted in the following situations: 
i. In conjunction with a water-dependent use of water bodies or adjacent shorelands. 
New development siting and design shall avoid the need for new and maintenance 
dredging; and 
ii. For projects associated with MTCA or CERCLA habitat restoration, or 
iii. Any other significant restoration effort approved by a shoreline CUP. 
b. Dredging in wetlands is prohibited unless it is part of an approved habitat restoration 
or enhancement project. 
c. Dredged materials must be deposited on an approved upland site. 
d. Dredging and dredge disposal within the SMZ shall be permitted only where it is 
demonstrated that the proposed actions will not: 
i. Result in significant and/or ongoing damage to water quality, fish, and other essential 
aquatic biological elements; 
ii. Adversely alter natural drainage and circulation patterns, currents, river flows or 
significantly reduce flood water capacities; or 
iii. Cause other significant adverse ecological impacts. 
e. Dredging shall utilize techniques that cause minimum dispersal and broadcast of 
bottom material. 
f. When dredging is permitted, the dredging shall be the minimum necessary to 
accommodate the proposed use and unavoidable impacts shall be mitigated. 
g. Permit applications for shoreline dredging and dredge material disposal may be 
required to include the following information: 
i. Physical, chemical, and biological assessment of the proposed dredged material 
applicable to the particular dredging site. 
ii. Specific data to be considered include: 

a) Physical - Grain size, clay, silt, sand, or gravel as determined by sieve analysis; 

- 60 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 101 of 248 

 - 60 - 

 

 

 

 

3. Regulations 
a. A conditional use permit shall be required, except for those structures installed to 
protect or restore ecological functions, such as woody debris installed in streams.  
b. Breakwaters, jetties, groins, and weirs shall be designed to protect critical areas and 
shall provide for mitigation according to the sequence defined in WAC 173-26-201(2)(e). 

G. Dredging and Dredge Material Disposal 

 
1. Applicability  
Dredging is the removal or displacement of earth or sediment (gravel, sand, mud, silt 
and/or other material or debris) from a river, stream, or associated wetland.  
 
2. Policies  
a. Dredging operations should be planned and conducted to so as to avoid adverse 
impacts to other shoreline uses, properties, and values.  
b. When allowed, dredging and dredge material disposal within the SMZ should be 
limited to the minimum amount necessary.  
 
3. Regulations  
a. Dredging will only be permitted in the following situations:  
i. In conjunction with a water-dependent use of water bodies or adjacent shorelands. 
New development siting and design shall avoid the need for new and maintenance 
dredging; and  
ii. For projects associated with MTCA or CERCLA habitat restoration, or  
iii. Any other significant restoration effort approved by a shoreline CUP.  
b. Dredging in wetlands is prohibited unless it is part of an approved habitat restoration 
or enhancement project.  
c. Dredged materials must be deposited on an approved upland site.  
d. Dredging and dredge disposal within the SMZ shall be permitted only where it is 
demonstrated that the proposed actions will not:  
i. Result in significant and/or ongoing damage to water quality, fish, and other essential 
aquatic biological elements;  
ii. Adversely alter natural drainage and circulation patterns, currents, river flows or 
significantly reduce flood water capacities; or  
iii. Cause other significant adverse ecological impacts.  
e. Dredging shall utilize techniques that cause minimum dispersal and broadcast of 
bottom material.  
f. When dredging is permitted, the dredging shall be the minimum necessary to 
accommodate the proposed use and unavoidable impacts shall be mitigated.  
g. Permit applications for shoreline dredging and dredge material disposal may be 
required to include the following information:  
i. Physical, chemical, and biological assessment of the proposed dredged material 
applicable to the particular dredging site.  
ii. Specific data to be considered include:  
 

a) Physical - Grain size, clay, silt, sand, or gravel as determined by sieve analysis;  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 101 of 248



b) Chemical - Including conventional parameters, metals, and organics; 
c) Biological - Bioassays to determine the suitability of dredged material for a 

selected disposal option; 
d) Dredging volumes, methods, schedule, frequency, hours of operation and 

procedures; 
e) Method of disposal, including the location, size, capacity, and physical 

characteristics of the disposal site, transportation method and routes, hours of 
operation, schedule; 

f) Stability of bedlands adjacent to proposed dredging area; 
g) Hydraulic analyses, including current flows, direction and projected impacts. 

Hydraulic modeling studies are required for large scale, extensive dredging 
projects, in order to identify existing hydrological and geological patterns and 
probable effects of dredging; 

h) Assessment of water quality impacts; and 
i) Biological assessment including migratory, seasonal, and spawning use areas. 

h. New development shall be located and designed to avoid or minimize the need for 
new or maintenance dredging where feasible. 
i. Maintenance dredging of established navigation channels, public access facilities, and 
basins is restricted to maintaining previously dredged and/or existing authorized 
location, depth, and width. 
j. Dredging of beds or shores of navigable waters owned by the State of Washington 
shall require prior authorization of the Washington Department of Natural Resources. 
k. Disposal of dredge material in the Urban Conservancy requires a shoreline 
conditional use permit. 

H. Shoreline Habitat and Natural Systems Enhancement Projects 

1. Applicability 
a. Shoreline restoration and/or enhancement is the improvement of the natural 
character and ecological functions of the shoreline. 
b. Where appropriate, using native vegetation is encouraged. The materials used are 
dependent on the intended use of the restored or enhanced shoreline area. 
c. The Shoreline Restoration Plan (Appendix B) identifies ecological enhancement and 
restoration measures. 

2. Policies 
a. Shoreline enhancement and/or restoration should be considered as an alternative to 
structural shoreline stabilization and protection measures where feasible. 
b. All shoreline restoration and/or enhancement projects should protect the integrity of 
adjacent natural resources including aquatic habitats and water quality. 
c. Where possible, shoreline restoration and/or enhancement should use maintenance-
free or low-maintenance designs. 
d. The recommendations of the Shoreline Restoration Report, prepared as part of the 
SMP, should be promoted wherever feasible. 

- 61 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 102 of 248 

 - 61 - 

 

 

 

 

b) Chemical - Including conventional parameters, metals, and organics;  
c) Biological - Bioassays to determine the suitability of dredged material for a 

selected disposal option;  
d) Dredging volumes, methods, schedule, frequency, hours of operation and 

procedures;  
e) Method of disposal, including the location, size, capacity, and physical 

characteristics of the disposal site, transportation method and routes, hours of 
operation, schedule;  

f) Stability of bedlands adjacent to proposed dredging area;  
g) Hydraulic analyses, including current flows, direction and projected impacts. 

Hydraulic modeling studies are required for large scale, extensive dredging 
projects, in order to identify existing hydrological and geological patterns and 
probable effects of dredging;  

h) Assessment of water quality impacts; and  
i) Biological assessment including migratory, seasonal, and spawning use areas.  

 
h. New development shall be located and designed to avoid or minimize the need for 
new or maintenance dredging where feasible.  
i. Maintenance dredging of established navigation channels, public access facilities, and 
basins is restricted to maintaining previously dredged and/or existing authorized 
location, depth, and width.  
j. Dredging of beds or shores of navigable waters owned by the State of Washington 
shall require prior authorization of the Washington Department of Natural Resources. 
k. Disposal of dredge material in the Urban Conservancy requires a shoreline 
conditional use permit.  

H. Shoreline Habitat and Natural Systems Enhancement Projects 

 
1. Applicability  
a. Shoreline restoration and/or enhancement is the improvement of the natural 
character and ecological functions of the shoreline.  
b. Where appropriate, using native vegetation is encouraged. The materials used are 
dependent on the intended use of the restored or enhanced shoreline area.  
c. The Shoreline Restoration Plan (Appendix B) identifies ecological enhancement and 
restoration measures.  
 
2. Policies  
a. Shoreline enhancement and/or restoration should be considered as an alternative to 
structural shoreline stabilization and protection measures where feasible.  
b. All shoreline restoration and/or enhancement projects should protect the integrity of 
adjacent natural resources including aquatic habitats and water quality.  
c. Where possible, shoreline restoration and/or enhancement should use maintenance-
free or low-maintenance designs. 
d. The recommendations of the Shoreline Restoration Report, prepared as part of the 
SMP, should be promoted wherever feasible.  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 102 of 248



e. Shoreline restoration and/or enhancement should not extend waterward more than 
necessary to achieve the intended results. 

3. Regulations 
a. Shoreline enhancement may be permitted if the project proponent demonstrates that 
no significant change to sediment transport or river current will result that would 
adversely affect ecological processes, properties, or habitat. 
b. Shoreline restoration and/or enhancement projects shall use best available science 
and best management practices. 
c. Shoreline restoration and ecological enhancement projects may be permitted in all 
shoreline environments, provided: 
i. The project's purpose is the restoration of natural character and ecological functions 
of the shoreline, and 
ii. It is consistent with the implementation of an approved comprehensive restoration 
plan, or the project will provide a proven ecological benefit and is consistent with this 
Master Program. 
d. Shoreline restoration and ecological enhancement must meet the U.S. Army Corps of 
Engineers PL8499 flood structure maintenance regulations. 

- 62 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 103 of 248 

 - 62 - 

 

 

 

 

e. Shoreline restoration and/or enhancement should not extend waterward more than 
necessary to achieve the intended results.  
 
3. Regulations  
a. Shoreline enhancement may be permitted if the project proponent demonstrates that 
no significant change to sediment transport or river current will result that would 
adversely affect ecological processes, properties, or habitat.  
b. Shoreline restoration and/or enhancement projects shall use best available science 
and best management practices.  
c. Shoreline restoration and ecological enhancement projects may be permitted in all 
shoreline environments, provided:  
i. The project’s purpose is the restoration of natural character and ecological functions 
of the shoreline, and  
ii. It is consistent with the implementation of an approved comprehensive restoration 
plan, or the project will provide a proven ecological benefit and is consistent with this 
Master Program.  
d. Shoreline restoration and ecological enhancement must meet the U.S. Army Corps of 
Engineers PL8499 flood structure maintenance regulations. 
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 103 of 248



Chapter 6 — Administrative Provisions 

A. General 

1. All proposed uses and development occurring within the SMZ must conform to 
Chapter 90.58 RCW, the Shoreline Management Act and the provisions of this SMP, 
whether or not a permit is required. 

2. The City will periodically review the cumulative effect of actions taken within the 
shoreline to ensure that the goal of no net loss of shoreline environmental functions 
is being met. 

3. "The City," for the purposes of making administrative decisions and processing 
permits as may be required by the SMP, means the Planning Department and its 
Director or Administrator. 

4. The process of reviewing proposals shall be designed to assure that regulatory or 
administrative actions do not unconstitutionally infringe upon private property rights 
in accordance with WAC 173-26-186(5). 

5. As per RCW 36.70B.110(11), the City of Sedro-Woolley has adopted procedures for 
administrative interpretation of its development regulations (SWMC 2.90.070 and 
SWMC 17.04.040). Such procedures shall include Shoreline Master Program 
regulations. Administrative interpretations are Type I processes. 

6. Substantial development applications are subject to Type II permit review; shoreline 
exemptions and substantial development permit revisions are Type I permits; and 
conditional use permits and variances require Type III review. 

7. The regulations of the SMP shall be used in conjunction with the regulations 
contained in the Sedro-Woolley Municipal Code (SWMC). Where there is a conflict 
between the SWMC and the SMP, the SMP shall control. 

B. SHORELINE SUBSTANTIAL DEVELOPMENT PERMITS 
1. A shoreline substantial development permit shall be required for projects occurring 

within the City's shoreline jurisdiction pursuant to the requirements and procedures 
contained in Chapter 173-27 WAC (Shoreline Management Permit and Enforcement 
Procedures); except that: 

a) A substantial development permit is not required for projects that are below 
the threshold levels established in WAC 173-27-040(2), "Developments 
Exempt from Substantial Development Permit Requirement," as follows: 

i. Any development of which the total cost or fair market value, whichever is 
higher, does not exceed $7,0476,41-6, if such development does not 
materially interfere with the normal public use of the water or shorelines of 
the state. [Note: The State of Washington requires that every five years 
the dollar threshold for this exemption be adjusted for inflation by the 
Washington Office of Financial Management (OFM). The adjustment is 
based upon changes in the Consumer Price Index during that time period. 
(see Chapter 2, Definitions) The OFM must calculate the new dollar 
threshold and transmit it to the Office of the Code Reviser for publication 

- 63 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 104 of 248 

I I 

 - 63 - 

 

 

 

 

Chapter 6 – Administrative Provisions 

A. General 

 
1. All proposed uses and development occurring within the SMZ must conform to 

Chapter 90.58 RCW, the Shoreline Management Act and the provisions of this SMP, 
whether or not a permit is required.  

2. The City will periodically review the cumulative effect of actions taken within the 
shoreline to ensure that the goal of no net loss of shoreline environmental functions 
is being met.  

3. “The City,” for the purposes of making administrative decisions and processing 
permits as may be required by the SMP, means the Planning Department and its 
Director or Administrator.  

4. The process of reviewing proposals shall be designed to assure that regulatory or 
administrative actions do not unconstitutionally infringe upon private property rights 
in accordance with WAC 173-26-186(5).  

5. As per RCW 36.70B.110(11), the City of Sedro-Woolley has adopted procedures for 
administrative interpretation of its development regulations (SWMC 2.90.070 and 
SWMC 17.04.040). Such procedures shall include Shoreline Master Program 
regulations. Administrative interpretations are Type I processes. 

6. Substantial development applications are subject to Type II permit review; shoreline 
exemptions and substantial development permit revisions are Type I permits; and 
conditional use permits and variances require Type III review.  

7. The regulations of the SMP shall be used in conjunction with the regulations 
contained in the Sedro-Woolley Municipal Code (SWMC). Where there is a conflict 
between the SWMC and the SMP, the SMP shall control.  

 
 

B. SHORELINE SUBSTANTIAL DEVELOPMENT PERMITS  

1. A shoreline substantial development permit shall be required for projects occurring 
within the City’s shoreline jurisdiction pursuant to the requirements and procedures 
contained in Chapter 173-27 WAC (Shoreline Management Permit and Enforcement 
Procedures); except that:  

a) A substantial development permit is not required for projects that are below 
the threshold levels established in WAC 173-27-040(2), “Developments 
Exempt from Substantial Development Permit Requirement,” as follows:  

i. Any development of which the total cost or fair market value, whichever is 
higher, does not exceed $7,0476,416, if such development does not 
materially interfere with the normal public use of the water or shorelines of 
the state. [Note: The State of Washington requires that every five years 
the dollar threshold for this exemption be adjusted for inflation by the 
Washington Office of Financial Management (OFM). The adjustment is 
based upon changes in the Consumer Price Index during that time period. 
(see Chapter 2, Definitions) The OFM must calculate the new dollar 
threshold and transmit it to the Office of the Code Reviser for publication 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 104 of 248



in the Washington State Register at least one month before the new dollar 
threshold is to take effect. WAC 173-27-040(2)(a)] For purposes of 
determining whether or not a permit is required, the total cost or fair 
market value shall be based on the value of development that is occurring 
on shorelines of the state as defined in RCW 90.58.030(2)(c). The total 
cost or fair market value of the development shall include the fair market 
value of any donated, contributed or found labor, equipment or materials; 

ii. Normal maintenance or repair of existing structures or developments, 
including damage by accident, fire or elements. "Normal maintenance" 
includes those usual acts to prevent a decline, lapse, or cessation from a 
lawfully established condition. "Normal repair" means to restore a 
development to a state comparable to its original condition, including but 
not limited to its size, shape, configuration, location and external 
appearance, within a reasonable period after decay or partial destruction, 
except where repair causes substantial adverse effects to shoreline 
resource or environment. Replacement of a structure or development may 
be authorized as repair where such replacement is the common method of 
repair for the type of structure or development and the replacement 
structure or development is comparable to the original structure or 
development including but not limited to its size, shape, configuration, 
location and external appearance and the replacement does not cause 
substantial adverse effects to shoreline resources or environment; 

iii. Emergency construction necessary to protect property from damage by 
the elements. An "emergency' is an unanticipated and imminent threat to 
public health, safety, or the environment which requires immediate action 
within a time too short to allow full compliance with the applicable chapter 
(Chapter 173-27 WAC); 

iv. Construction and practices normal or necessary for farming, irrigation, and 
ranching activities, including agricultural service roads and utilities on 
shorelands, construction of a barn or similar agricultural structure, and the 
construction and maintenance of irrigation structures including, but not 
limited to head gates, pumping facilities, and irrigation channels. Provided, 
that a feedlot of any size; all process plants; other activities of a 
commercial nature; alteration of the contour of the shorelands by leveling 
or filling other than that which results from normal cultivation, shall not be 
considered normal or necessary farming or ranching activities; 

v. Construction or modification of navigational aids such as channel markers 
and anchor buoys; 

vi. Construction on shorelands by an owner, lessee or contract purchaser of 
a single-family residence for their own use or for the use of their family, 
which residence does not exceed a height of thirty-five feet above average 
grade level and which meets all requirements of the state agency or local 
government having jurisdiction thereof, other than requirements imposed 
pursuant to Chapter 90.58 RCW; 

vii. Construction of a dock, including a community dock, designed for pleasure 
craft only, for the private noncommercial use of the owner, lessee, or 

- 64 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 105 of 248 

 - 64 - 

 

 

 

 

in the Washington State Register at least one month before the new dollar 
threshold is to take effect. WAC 173-27-040(2)(a)] For purposes of 
determining whether or not a permit is required, the total cost or fair 
market value shall be based on the value of development that is occurring 
on shorelines of the state as defined in RCW 90.58.030(2)(c). The total 
cost or fair market value of the development shall include the fair market 
value of any donated, contributed or found labor, equipment or materials; 

ii. Normal maintenance or repair of existing structures or developments, 
including damage by accident, fire or elements. "Normal maintenance" 
includes those usual acts to prevent a decline, lapse, or cessation from a 
lawfully established condition. "Normal repair" means to restore a 
development to a state comparable to its original condition, including but 
not limited to its size, shape, configuration, location and external 
appearance, within a reasonable period after decay or partial destruction, 
except where repair causes substantial adverse effects to shoreline 
resource or environment. Replacement of a structure or development may 
be authorized as repair where such replacement is the common method of 
repair for the type of structure or development and the replacement 
structure or development is comparable to the original structure or 
development including but not limited to its size, shape, configuration, 
location and external appearance and the replacement does not cause 
substantial adverse effects to shoreline resources or environment; 

iii. Emergency construction necessary to protect property from damage by 
the elements. An “emergency” is an unanticipated and imminent threat to 
public health, safety, or the environment which requires immediate action 
within a time too short to allow full compliance with the applicable chapter 
(Chapter 173-27 WAC);  

iv. Construction and practices normal or necessary for farming, irrigation, and 
ranching activities, including agricultural service roads and utilities on 
shorelands, construction of a barn or similar agricultural structure, and the 
construction and maintenance of irrigation structures including, but not 
limited to head gates, pumping facilities, and irrigation channels. Provided, 
that a feedlot of any size; all process plants; other activities of a 
commercial nature; alteration of the contour of the shorelands by leveling 
or filling other than that which results from normal cultivation, shall not be 
considered normal or necessary farming or ranching activities; 

v. Construction or modification of navigational aids such as channel markers 
and anchor buoys;  

vi. Construction on shorelands by an owner, lessee or contract purchaser of 
a single-family residence for their own use or for the use of their family, 
which residence does not exceed a height of thirty-five feet above average 
grade level and which meets all requirements of the state agency or local 
government having jurisdiction thereof, other than requirements imposed 
pursuant to Chapter 90.58 RCW;  

vii. Construction of a dock, including a community dock, designed for pleasure 
craft only, for the private noncommercial use of the owner, lessee, or 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 105 of 248



contract purchaser of single-family and multiple-family residences. This 
exception applies if the fair market value of the dock does not exceed ten 
thousand dollars, but if subsequent construction having a fair market value 
exceeding two thousand five hundred dollars occurs within five years of 
completion of the prior construction, the subsequent construction shall be 
considered a substantial development for the purpose of this chapter; 

viii. Operation, maintenance, or construction of canals, waterways, drains, 
reservoirs, or other facilities that now exist or are hereafter created or 
developed as part of an irrigation system for the primary purpose of 
making use of system waters, including return flow and artificially stored 
ground water from the irrigation of lands; 

ix. The marking of property lines or corners on state-owned lands, when such 
marking does not significantly interfere with normal public use of the 
surface of the water; 

x. Operation and maintenance of any system of dikes, ditches, drains, or 
other facilities existing on September 8, 1975, which were created, 
developed or utilized primarily as a part of an agricultural drainage or 
diking system; 

xi. Any project with a certification from the governor pursuant to Chapter 
80.50 RCW; 

xii. Site exploration and investigation activities that are prerequisite to 
preparation of an application for development authorization, if: 

a. The activity does not interfere with the normal public use of the 
surface waters; 

b. The activity will have no significant adverse impact on the 
environment including, but not limited to fish, wildlife, fish or wildlife 
habitat, water quality, and aesthetic values; 

c. The activity does not involve the installation of any structure, and 
upon completion of the activity the vegetation and land configuration 
of the site are restored to conditions existing before the activity; 

d. A private entity seeking development authorization under this section 
first posts a performance bond or provides other evidence of financial 
responsibility to the local jurisdiction to ensure that the site is restored 
to preexisting conditions; and 

e. The activity is not subject to the permit requirements of RCW 
90.58.550. 

xiii. The process of removing or controlling aquatic noxious weeds, as defined 
in RCW 17.26.020, through the use of an herbicide or other treatment 
methods applicable to weed control that are recommended by a final 
environmental impact statement published by the Department of 
Agriculture or the Department of Ecology jointly with other state agencies 
under Chapter 43.21C RCW; 

xiv. Watershed restoration projects as defined within the SMP (See Sedro-
Woolley Restoration Plan); 

xv. A public or private project that is designed to improve fish or wildlife 
habitat or fish passage, when all of the following apply; 

- 65 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 106 of 248 

 - 65 - 

 

 

 

 

contract purchaser of single-family and multiple-family residences. This 
exception applies if the fair market value of the dock does not exceed ten 
thousand dollars, but if subsequent construction having a fair market value 
exceeding two thousand five hundred dollars occurs within five years of 
completion of the prior construction, the subsequent construction shall be 
considered a substantial development for the purpose of this chapter; 

viii. Operation, maintenance, or construction of canals, waterways, drains, 
reservoirs, or other facilities that now exist or are hereafter created or 
developed as part of an irrigation system for the primary purpose of 
making use of system waters, including return flow and artificially stored 
ground water from the irrigation of lands; 

ix. The marking of property lines or corners on state-owned lands, when such 
marking does not significantly interfere with normal public use of the 
surface of the water;  

x. Operation and maintenance of any system of dikes, ditches, drains, or 
other facilities existing on September 8, 1975, which were created, 
developed or utilized primarily as a part of an agricultural drainage or 
diking system;  

xi. Any project with a certification from the governor pursuant to Chapter 
80.50 RCW;  

xii. Site exploration and investigation activities that are prerequisite to 
preparation of an application for development authorization, if:  

a. The activity does not interfere with the normal public use of the 
surface waters;  

b. The activity will have no significant adverse impact on the 
environment including, but not limited to fish, wildlife, fish or wildlife 
habitat, water quality, and aesthetic values;  

c. The activity does not involve the installation of any structure, and 
upon completion of the activity the vegetation and land configuration 
of the site are restored to conditions existing before the activity;  

d. A private entity seeking development authorization under this section 
first posts a performance bond or provides other evidence of financial 
responsibility to the local jurisdiction to ensure that the site is restored 
to preexisting conditions; and  

e. The activity is not subject to the permit requirements of RCW 
90.58.550.  

xiii. The process of removing or controlling aquatic noxious weeds, as defined 
in RCW 17.26.020, through the use of an herbicide or other treatment 
methods applicable to weed control that are recommended by a final 
environmental impact statement published by the Department of 
Agriculture or the Department of Ecology jointly with other state agencies 
under Chapter 43.21C RCW;  

xiv. Watershed restoration projects as defined within the SMP (See Sedro-
Woolley Restoration Plan);  

xv. A public or private project that is designed to improve fish or wildlife 
habitat or fish passage, when all of the following apply;  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 106 of 248



a. The project has been approved in writing by the Department of Fish 
and Wildlife; 

b. The project has received hydraulic project approval by the 
Department of Fish and Wildlife pursuant to Chapter 77.55 RCW; and 

c. The project has been determined to be substantially consistent with 
the Sedro-Woolley Shoreline Master Program. 

xvi. Standard subdivisions and short plats; however, physical improvements 
being made as part of a plat's conditions of approval that meet the 
definition of substantial development, require a shoreline permit before 
any construction activities can occur. 

b) A substantial development permit is not required for those actions described 
in WAC 173-27-045 (Developments Not Subject to the Shoreline 
Management Act), as follows: 

i. Pursuant to RCW 90.58.485, regarding Environmental Excellence 
Program agreements, notwithstanding any other provision of law, any 
legal requirement under the Shoreline Management Act, including any 
standard, limitation, rule, or order is superseded and pre-placed in 
accordance with the terms and provisions of an Environmental Excellence 
Program agreement, entered into under Chapter 43.21K RCW. 
Pursuant to RCW 90.58.355 regarding hazardous substance remedial 
actions, the procedural requirements of the SMA shall not apply to any 
person conducting a remedial action at a facility pursuant to a consent 
decree, order, or agreed order issued pursuant to Chapter 70.105D RCW. 

iii. The holder of a certification from the governor pursuant to Chapter 80.50 
RCW shall not be required to obtain a permit under Chapter 90.58 RCW. 

2. A shoreline substantial development permit application is a Type II permit, as per 
SWMC 2.90.070, "Permit Classifications." 

3. All projects proposed within the SMZ require a pre-application meeting in 
accordance with the requirements of SWMC 2.90.070. 

4. Applications for Shoreline Substantial Development Permits shall be accompanied 
by the materials listed in SWMC 2.90.100, unless waived by the Planning 
Department according to the process outlined within SWMC 2.90.050. 

5. The "effective date of a Substantial Development Permit" is the date of filinareceipt. 
The date of filinqreceipi is the date the Department of Ecology receives the City's 
final decision. The date of filingreceip. starts the two-year clock for beginning of 
construction and establishes the appeal period of the permit to the Shoreline 
Hearings Board. The effective date does not include periods of pendency for other 
related permits or legal actions. 

6. Upon the review of materials submitted by an applicant, the Director can, at his or 
her discretion, require peer review be completed by a consultant chosen by the 
Director, at the sole expense of the applicant. 

7. Notification of the public shall be as required by SWMC 2.90.075, "Public notice 
requirements." 

- 66 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 107 of 248 

 - 66 - 

 

 

 

 

a. The project has been approved in writing by the Department of Fish 
and Wildlife;  

b. The project has received hydraulic project approval by the 
Department of Fish and Wildlife pursuant to Chapter 77.55 RCW; and  

c. The project has been determined to be substantially consistent with 
the Sedro-Woolley Shoreline Master Program.  

xvi. Standard subdivisions and short plats; however, physical improvements 
being made as part of a plat’s conditions of approval that meet the 
definition of substantial development, require a shoreline permit before 
any construction activities can occur.  

 
b) A substantial development permit is not required for those actions described 

in WAC 173-27-045 (Developments Not Subject to the Shoreline 
Management Act), as follows:   

 
i. Pursuant to RCW 90.58.485, regarding Environmental Excellence 

Program agreements, notwithstanding any other provision of law, any 
legal requirement under the Shoreline Management Act, including any 
standard, limitation, rule, or order is superseded and pre-placed in 
accordance with the terms and provisions of an Environmental Excellence 
Program agreement, entered into under Chapter 43.21K RCW. 

ii. Pursuant to RCW 90.58.355 regarding hazardous substance remedial 
actions, the procedural requirements of the SMA shall not apply to any 
person conducting a remedial action at a facility pursuant to a consent 
decree, order, or agreed order issued pursuant to Chapter 70.105D RCW. 

iii. The holder of a certification from the governor pursuant to Chapter 80.50 
RCW shall not be required to obtain a permit under Chapter 90.58 RCW. 

 
2. A shoreline substantial development permit application is a Type II permit, as per 

SWMC 2.90.070, “Permit Classifications.”  
3. All projects proposed within the SMZ require a pre-application meeting in 

accordance with the requirements of SWMC 2.90.070.  
4. Applications for Shoreline Substantial Development Permits shall be accompanied 

by the materials listed in SWMC 2.90.100, unless waived by the Planning 
Department according to the process outlined within SWMC 2.90.050.  

5. The “effective date of a Substantial Development Permit” is the date of filingreceipt. 
The date of filingreceipt is the date the Department of Ecology receives the City’s 
final decision. The date of filingreceipt starts the two-year clock for beginning of 
construction and establishes the appeal period of the permit to the Shoreline 
Hearings Board. The effective date does not include periods of pendency for other 
related permits or legal actions.  

6. Upon the review of materials submitted by an applicant, the Director can, at his or 
her discretion, require peer review be completed by a consultant chosen by the 
Director, at the sole expense of the applicant.  

7. Notification of the public shall be as required by SWMC 2.90.075, “Public notice 
requirements.”  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 107 of 248



8. Type II applications are those applications where a final decision is made by the 
Director or the Directors designee after public notice, but without a public hearing. 
The decision may be appealed in an open record appeal hearing to the Hearing 
Examiner. (SWMC 2.90.090) 

9. Time requirements for Substantial Development Permits are as follows (See WAC 
173-27-090 for complete language.): 

a) Construction activities shall commence, or where no construction activities 
are involved, the use or activity shall commence within two years of the 
effective date of a Substantial Development Permit. 

b) The period for commencement of construction or use may be extended once 
for a one year period, if a request based on reasonable factors is filed before 
the expiration date and notice of the proposed extension is given to parties of 
record. 

c) The authorization to conduct development activities shall terminate five years 
after the effective date of a Substantial Development Permit. 

d) The authorization period to conduct development activities may be extended 
once for a one year period, if a request based on reasonable factors is filed 
before the expiration date and notice of the proposed extension is given to 
parties of record. 

e) The time periods in sections (a) and (c), above, do not include the time during 
which a use or activity was not actually pursued due to the pendency of 
administrative appeals or legal actions or due to the need to obtain any other 
government permits and approvals for the development that authorize the 
development to proceed, including all reasonably related administrative or 
legal actions on any such permits or approvals. 

10. Permit Review Procedures shall be as follows: 
a) The Planning Department maintains records of project review actions 

resulting in issuance of permits, including shoreline substantial development 
permits. 

b) Copies of Shoreline Management Act Permit Data Sheet and Transmittal 
Letters forwarded to the Department of Ecology shall be utilized for evaluation 
of the potential cumulative effects of previous and proposed actions in 
shoreline areas. 

11.Appeals to the Shorelines Hearings Board, as per SWMC 2.90.090(G), shall be 
consistent with RCW 90.58.140. 

C. CONDITIONAL USE PERMITS 
1. The purpose of a conditional use permit is to allow greater flexibility in administering 

the use regulations of the Master Program in a manner consistent with the policies of 
the SMA. Conditional use permits may also be granted in circumstances where 
denial of the permit would result in a thwarting of the policy enumerated in the SMA. 

2. A shoreline conditional use permit is a Type III permit, as per SWMC 2.90.070. 

- 67 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 108 of 248 

 - 67 - 

 

 

 

 

8. Type II applications are those applications where a final decision is made by the 
Director or the Director’s designee after public notice, but without a public hearing. 
The decision may be appealed in an open record appeal hearing to the Hearing 
Examiner. (SWMC 2.90.090)  

9. Time requirements for Substantial Development Permits are as follows (See WAC 
173-27-090 for complete language.):  

a) Construction activities shall commence, or where no construction activities 
are involved, the use or activity shall commence within two years of the 
effective date of a Substantial Development Permit. 

b) The period for commencement of construction or use may be extended once 
for a one year period, if a request based on reasonable factors is filed before 
the expiration date and notice of the proposed extension is given to parties of 
record. 

c) The authorization to conduct development activities shall terminate five years 
after the effective date of a Substantial Development Permit. 

d) The authorization period to conduct development activities may be extended 
once for a one year period, if a request based on reasonable factors is filed 
before the expiration date and notice of the proposed extension is given to 
parties of record. 

e) The time periods in sections (a) and (c), above, do not include the time during 
which a use or activity was not actually pursued due to the pendency of 
administrative appeals or legal actions or due to the need to obtain any other 
government permits and approvals for the development that authorize the 
development to proceed, including all reasonably related administrative or 
legal actions on any such permits or approvals. 

 
10. Permit Review Procedures shall be as follows:  

a) The Planning Department maintains records of project review actions 
resulting in issuance of permits, including shoreline substantial development 
permits.  

b) Copies of Shoreline Management Act Permit Data Sheet and Transmittal 
Letters forwarded to the Department of Ecology shall be utilized for evaluation 
of the potential cumulative effects of previous and proposed actions in 
shoreline areas.  

11. Appeals to the Shorelines Hearings Board, as per SWMC 2.90.090(G), shall be 
consistent with RCW 90.58.140.  

 
 

C. CONDITIONAL USE PERMITS  

1. The purpose of a conditional use permit is to allow greater flexibility in administering 
the use regulations of the Master Program in a manner consistent with the policies of 
the SMA. Conditional use permits may also be granted in circumstances where 
denial of the permit would result in a thwarting of the policy enumerated in the SMA.  

2. A shoreline conditional use permit is a Type III permit, as per SWMC 2.90.070.  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 108 of 248



3. The Hearing Examiner shall, following an open record public hearing, have the 
authority to make the final decision. The Hearing Examiner decision may be 
appealed in a closed record appeal to the City Council. 

4. The application for a shoreline conditional use permit shall be processed pursuant 
to: 

a) The legislative policies stated in the Shoreline Management Act, RCW 
90.58.020 (Legislative Findings-State Policy Enunciated—Use Preference) 
and 

b) The Shoreline Master Program of the City of Sedro-Woolley 
5. The criteria for approving conditional uses shall be consistent with WAC 173-27-160 

(Review Criteria for Conditional Use Permits) and include the following: 
a) That the proposed use is consistent with the policies of RCW 90.58.020, the 

Master Program, and the SWMC; 
b) That the proposed use will not interfere with the normal public use of public 

shorelines; 
c) That the proposed use of the site and design of the project is compatible with 

other authorized uses within the area and with uses planned for the area 
under the Comprehensive Plan and the SMP; 

d) That the proposed use will cause no significant adverse effects to the 
shoreline environment in which it is to be located; and 

e) That the public interest suffers no substantial detrimental effect. 

6. To ensure compliance with the applicable criteria stated in the Sedro-Woolley 
Municipal Code, the Hearing Examiner shall have the authority to require and 
approve a specific plan for a proposed use, to impose performance standards in the 
form of conditions of approval that make the use compatible with other permitted 
uses in the area, and to expand the requirements set forth in the Sedro-Woolley 
Municipal Code, by means of conditions that are applicable to the proposed use. In 
no case shall the City have the authority to decrease the requirements of the City's 
municipal code when considering an application for a conditional shoreline 
development permit; any such decrease shall only be granted upon the issuance of 
a variance. 

7. Where plans are required to be submitted and approved as part of the application for 
a shoreline conditional use permit, modifications of the original plans may be made 
only after a review has been conducted and approval granted by the Hearing 
Examiner. 

8. In the granting of all conditional use permits, consideration shall be given to the 
cumulative impact of additional requests for like actions in the area. For example, if 
conditional use permits were granted for other developments in the area where 
similar circumstances exist, the total of the conditional uses shall also remain 
consistent with the policies of RCW 90.58.020 and shall not produce substantial 
adverse effects to the shoreline environment. 

9. Other uses which are not classified or set forth in the Master Program may be 
authorized as conditional uses provided the applicant can demonstrate consistency 
with the requirements of WAC 173-27-160 and the requirements for conditional uses 
contained in the Master Program. 

- 68 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 109 of 248 

 - 68 - 

 

 

 

 

3. The Hearing Examiner shall, following an open record public hearing, have the 
authority to make the final decision. The Hearing Examiner decision may be 
appealed in a closed record appeal to the City Council.  

4. The application for a shoreline conditional use permit shall be processed pursuant 
to:  

a) The legislative policies stated in the Shoreline Management Act, RCW 
90.58.020 (Legislative Findings—State Policy Enunciated—Use Preference) 
and 

b) The Shoreline Master Program of the City of Sedro-Woolley 
5. The criteria for approving conditional uses shall be consistent with WAC 173-27-160 

(Review Criteria for Conditional Use Permits) and include the following:  
a) That the proposed use is consistent with the policies of RCW 90.58.020, the 

Master Program, and the SWMC;  
b) That the proposed use will not interfere with the normal public use of public 

shorelines;  
c) That the proposed use of the site and design of the project is compatible with 

other authorized uses within the area and with uses planned for the area 
under the Comprehensive Plan and the SMP;  

d) That the proposed use will cause no significant adverse effects to the 
shoreline environment in which it is to be located; and  

e) That the public interest suffers no substantial detrimental effect.  
 

6. To ensure compliance with the applicable criteria stated in the Sedro-Woolley 
Municipal Code, the Hearing Examiner shall have the authority to require and 
approve a specific plan for a proposed use, to impose performance standards in the 
form of conditions of approval that make the use compatible with other permitted 
uses in the area, and to expand the requirements set forth in the Sedro-Woolley 
Municipal Code, by means of conditions that are applicable to the proposed use. In 
no case shall the City have the authority to decrease the requirements of the City’s 
municipal code when considering an application for a conditional shoreline 
development permit; any such decrease shall only be granted upon the issuance of 
a variance.  

7. Where plans are required to be submitted and approved as part of the application for 
a shoreline conditional use permit, modifications of the original plans may be made 
only after a review has been conducted and approval granted by the Hearing 
Examiner. 

8. In the granting of all conditional use permits, consideration shall be given to the 
cumulative impact of additional requests for like actions in the area. For example, if 
conditional use permits were granted for other developments in the area where 
similar circumstances exist, the total of the conditional uses shall also remain 
consistent with the policies of RCW 90.58.020 and shall not produce substantial 
adverse effects to the shoreline environment. 

9. Other uses which are not classified or set forth in the Master Program may be 
authorized as conditional uses provided the applicant can demonstrate consistency 
with the requirements of WAC 173-27-160 and the requirements for conditional uses 
contained in the Master Program. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 109 of 248



10.After approval of a conditional use permit, the Planning Department shall submit the 
permit to Ecology for the Ecology's approval, approval with conditions, or denial. 
Ecology shall render and transmit to the Planning Department and the applicant its 
final decision approving, approving with conditions, or disapproving the permit within 
thirty days of the date of submittal by local government pursuant to WAC 173-27-
110. 

11. The "effective date of variances and conditional use permits" is the date of the 
Ecology's decision letter. 

12. The Planning Department shall provide notification of the Ecology's final decision to 
those interested persons having requested notification. 

D. VARIANCES 
1. The purpose of a shoreline variance is strictly limited to granting relief to specific 

bulk, dimensional, or performance standards set forth in the Master Program where 
there are extraordinary or unique circumstances relating to the physical character or 
configuration of the property such that the strict implementation of the Master 
Program would impose unnecessary hardship on the applicant or thwart the policies 
set forth in the SMA. 

2. Variances from the use regulations of the Master Program are prohibited. 
3. Shoreline variances are Type III permits, as per SWMC 2.90.070. 
4. The Hearing Examiner shall, following an open record public hearing, have the 

authority to make the final decision. The Hearing Examiner decision may be 
appealed to the City Council. 

5. The criteria for granting shoreline variances shall be consistent with WAC 173-27-
170 (Review Criteria for Variance Permits) and include the following: 

a) Shoreline variances should be granted in a circumstance where denial of 
the permit would result in a thwarting of the policy enumerated in the SMA. 
In all instances, extraordinary circumstances should be shown, and the 
public interest shall suffer no substantial detrimental effect. 

b) Variances for development that will be located landward of the ordinary 
high water mark may be authorized provided the applicant can 
demonstrate all of the following: 

i. That the strict application of the bulk, dimensional, or performance 
standards as set forth in the Master Program precludes or significantly 
interferes with reasonable permitted use of the property. 

ii. That the hardship is specifically related to the property and is the result 
of unique conditions, such as irregular lot shape, size, or natural 
features, and the application of the Master Program, and not, for 
example, from deed restrictions or the applicant's own actions. 

iii. That the design of the project is compatible with other permitted 
activities in the area and will not cause adverse effects to adjacent 
properties or the shoreline environmental designation. 

iv. That the variance authorized does not constitute a grant of special 
privilege not enjoyed by other properties in the area. 

- 69 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 110 of 248 

 - 69 - 

 

 

 

 

10. After approval of a conditional use permit, the Planning Department shall submit the 
permit to Ecology for the Ecology's approval, approval with conditions, or denial. 
Ecology shall render and transmit to the Planning Department and the applicant its 
final decision approving, approving with conditions, or disapproving the permit within 
thirty days of the date of submittal by local government pursuant to WAC 173-27-
110. 

11. The “effective date of variances and conditional use permits” is the date of the 
Ecology’s decision letter. 

12. The Planning Department shall provide notification of the Ecology's final decision to 
those interested persons having requested notification. 
 

 

D. VARIANCES  

1. The purpose of a shoreline variance is strictly limited to granting relief to specific 
bulk, dimensional, or performance standards set forth in the Master Program where 
there are extraordinary or unique circumstances relating to the physical character or 
configuration of the property such that the strict implementation of the Master 
Program would impose unnecessary hardship on the applicant or thwart the policies 
set forth in the SMA.  

2. Variances from the use regulations of the Master Program are prohibited.  
3. Shoreline variances are Type III permits, as per SWMC 2.90.070.  
4. The Hearing Examiner shall, following an open record public hearing, have the 

authority to make the final decision. The Hearing Examiner decision may be 
appealed to the City Council.  

5. The criteria for granting shoreline variances shall be consistent with WAC 173-27-
170 (Review Criteria for Variance Permits) and include the following:  

a) Shoreline variances should be granted in a circumstance where denial of 
the permit would result in a thwarting of the policy enumerated in the SMA. 
In all instances, extraordinary circumstances should be shown, and the 
public interest shall suffer no substantial detrimental effect. 

b) Variances for development that will be located landward of the ordinary 
high water mark may be authorized provided the applicant can 
demonstrate all of the following: 

i. That the strict application of the bulk, dimensional, or performance 
standards as set forth in the Master Program precludes or significantly 
interferes with reasonable permitted use of the property.  

ii. That the hardship is specifically related to the property and is the result 
of unique conditions, such as irregular lot shape, size, or natural 
features, and the application of the Master Program, and not, for 
example, from deed restrictions or the applicant’s own actions.  

iii. That the design of the project is compatible with other permitted 
activities in the area and will not cause adverse effects to adjacent 
properties or the shoreline environmental designation.  

iv. That the variance authorized does not constitute a grant of special 
privilege not enjoyed by other properties in the area. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 110 of 248



v. That the variance requested will be the minimum necessary to afford 
relief. 

vi. That the public interest will suffer no substantial detrimental effect. 
c) Variances for development that will be located waterward of the OHWM 

may be authorized, provided the applicant can satisfy all of the criteria 
specified in Subsection 'b' of this section. The applicant must also 
demonstrate that the public rights of navigation and use of the shorelines 
will not be adversely affected by the granting of the variance, and that the 
strict application of the bulk, dimensional, or performance standards set 
forth in the Master Program precludes all reasonable use of the property. 

d) In granting of all shoreline variances, consideration shall be given to the 
cumulative impact of additional requests or like actions in the area. 

6. After approval of a variance permit, the Planning Department shall submit the permit 
to Ecology for the Ecology's approval, approval with conditions, or denial. Ecology 
shall render and transmit to the Planning Department and the applicant its final 
decision approving, approving with conditions, or disapproving the permit within 
thirty days of the date of submittal by local government pursuant to WAC 173-27-
110. 

7. The "effective date of variances and conditional use permits" is the date of the 
Ecology's decision letter. 

8. The Planning Department shall provide notification of the Ecology's final decision to 
those interested persons having requested notification. 

E. NONCONFORMING USE AND DEVELOPMENT 
1. The following definitions and standards shall apply to nonconforming structures and 

uses regulated by this Master Program: 
a) "Nonconforming use or development" means a shoreline use or 

development that was lawfully constructed or established prior to the 
effective date of the Sedro-Woolley Shoreline Master Program or 
amendments thereto, but does not conform to current regulations or 
standards of the program. 

b) Structures that were legally established and are used for a conforming 
use, but are nonconforming with regard to shoreline setback requirements 
may be maintained and repaired and may be enlarged or expanded 
provided that any such enlargement or expansion: 

i. will not extend the footprint of the structure any closer to the shoreline 
than the current design; 

ii. will not interfere with, or obstruct dedicated public access routes to the 
shoreline, per applicable requirements set out herein; 

iii. will meet any construction standards enacted by the City to protect 
adjacent flood risk management structures, 

iv. will be consistent with the current, or another authorized, conforming 
use; and 

v. will adhere to underlying Municipal Code and building regulations. 

- 70 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 111 of 248 

 - 70 - 

 

 

 

 

v. That the variance requested will be the minimum necessary to afford 
relief.  

vi. That the public interest will suffer no substantial detrimental effect.  
c) Variances for development that will be located waterward of the OHWM 

may be authorized, provided the applicant can satisfy all of the criteria 
specified in Subsection ‘b’ of this section. The applicant must also 
demonstrate that the public rights of navigation and use of the shorelines 
will not be adversely affected by the granting of the variance, and that the 
strict application of the bulk, dimensional, or performance standards set 
forth in the Master Program precludes all reasonable use of the property.  

d) In granting of all shoreline variances, consideration shall be given to the 
cumulative impact of additional requests or like actions in the area.  

6. After approval of a variance permit, the Planning Department shall submit the permit 
to Ecology for the Ecology's approval, approval with conditions, or denial. Ecology 
shall render and transmit to the Planning Department and the applicant its final 
decision approving, approving with conditions, or disapproving the permit within 
thirty days of the date of submittal by local government pursuant to WAC 173-27-
110. 

7. The “effective date of variances and conditional use permits” is the date of the 
Ecology’s decision letter. 

8. The Planning Department shall provide notification of the Ecology's final decision to 
those interested persons having requested notification. 

 

E. NONCONFORMING USE AND DEVELOPMENT  

1. The following definitions and standards shall apply to nonconforming structures and 
uses regulated by this Master Program:  

a) “Nonconforming use or development" means a shoreline use or 
development that was lawfully constructed or established prior to the 
effective date of the Sedro-Woolley Shoreline Master Program or 
amendments thereto, but does not conform to current regulations or 
standards of the program. 

b) Structures that were legally established and are used for a conforming 
use, but are nonconforming with regard to shoreline setback requirements 
may be maintained and repaired and may be enlarged or expanded 
provided that any such enlargement or expansion:  

i. will not extend the footprint of the structure any closer to the shoreline 
than the current design;  

ii. will not interfere with, or obstruct dedicated public access routes to the 
shoreline, per applicable requirements set out herein;  

iii. will meet any construction standards enacted by the City to protect 
adjacent flood risk management structures,  

iv. will be consistent with the current, or another authorized, conforming 
use; and  

v. will adhere to underlying Municipal Code and building regulations.  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 111 of 248



c) Uses and development that were legally established and are 
nonconforming with regard to the use regulations of the Master Program 
may continue as legal nonconforming uses. Such uses shall not be 
enlarged or expanded unless otherwise permitted in Subsection E except 
that nonconforming single-family residences that are located landward of 
the ordinary high water mark may be enlarged or expanded in 
conformance with applicable bulk and dimensional standards by the 
addition of space to the main structure or by the addition of normal 
appurtenances as defined in WAC 173-27-040(2)(g), "Developments 
Exempt from Substantial Development Permit Requirement, Single-family 
Residence," upon approval of a shoreline conditional use permit. 

d) A use that is listed as a shoreline conditional use, but existed prior to 
adoption of the Master Program or any relevant amendment and for which 
a conditional use permit has not been obtained shall be considered a 
nonconforming use. 

e) A use that is listed as a shoreline conditional use, but existed prior to the 
applicability of the Master Program to the site and for which a conditional 
use permit has not been obtained shall be considered a nonconforming 
use. 

f) A structure for which a variance has been issued shall be considered a 
legal nonconforming structure and the requirements of this section shall 
apply as they apply to preexisting nonconformities. 

g) A structure that is being used, or has been used for a nonconforming use, 
may be used for a different nonconforming use only upon the approval of 
a shoreline conditional use permit. A shoreline conditional use permit for 
any such new nonconforming use may be approved only upon a finding 
that: 

i. No reasonable alternative conforming use is practical; and 
ii. The proposed use will be at least as consistent with the policies and 

provisions of the SMA and the Master Program and as compatible with 
the uses in the area as the preexisting use. 

In addition, such conditions may be attached to the permit as are 
deemed necessary to assure compliance with the above findings, the 

requirements of the Master Program and the Shoreline Management Act, and 
to assure that the use will not become a nuisance or a hazard. 
h) A nonconforming structure that is moved any distance within the SMZ 

must be brought into conformance with the Master Program, unless such 
relocation has been expressly authorized through a previous shoreline 
permit. 

i) If a nonconforming development in the SMZ is damaged to an extent not 
exceeding seventy-five percent of the replacement cost of the original 
development, it may be reconstructed to those configurations existing 
immediately prior to the time the development was damaged, provided 
that application is made for the permits necessary to restore the 
development within six months of the date the damage occurred, all 

-71 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 112 of 248 

 - 71 - 

 

 

 

 

c) Uses and development that were legally established and are 
nonconforming with regard to the use regulations of the Master Program 
may continue as legal nonconforming uses. Such uses shall not be 
enlarged or expanded unless otherwise permitted in Subsection E except 
that nonconforming single-family residences that are located landward of 
the ordinary high water mark may be enlarged or expanded in 
conformance with applicable bulk and dimensional standards by the 
addition of space to the main structure or by the addition of normal 
appurtenances as defined in WAC 173-27-040(2)(g), “Developments 
Exempt from Substantial Development Permit Requirement, Single-family 
Residence,” upon approval of a shoreline conditional use permit.  

d) A use that is listed as a shoreline conditional use, but existed prior to 
adoption of the Master Program or any relevant amendment and for which 
a conditional use permit has not been obtained shall be considered a 
nonconforming use.  

e) A use that is listed as a shoreline conditional use, but existed prior to the 
applicability of the Master Program to the site and for which a conditional 
use permit has not been obtained shall be considered a nonconforming 
use.  

f) A structure for which a variance has been issued shall be considered a 
legal nonconforming structure and the requirements of this section shall 
apply as they apply to preexisting nonconformities.  

g) A structure that is being used, or has been used for a nonconforming use, 
may be used for a different nonconforming use only upon the approval of 
a shoreline conditional use permit. A shoreline conditional use permit for 
any such new nonconforming use may be approved only upon a finding 
that:  

i. No reasonable alternative conforming use is practical; and  
ii. The proposed use will be at least as consistent with the policies and 

provisions of the SMA and the Master Program and as compatible with 
the uses in the area as the preexisting use.  

 In addition, such conditions may be attached to the permit as are 
 deemed necessary to assure compliance with the above findings,  the 
requirements of the Master Program and the Shoreline Management Act, and 
to assure that the use will not become a nuisance or a hazard. 
h) A nonconforming structure that is moved any distance within the SMZ 

must be brought into conformance with the Master Program, unless such 
relocation has been expressly authorized through a previous shoreline 
permit.  

i) If a nonconforming development in the SMZ is damaged to an extent not 
exceeding seventy-five percent of the replacement cost of the original 
development, it may be reconstructed to those configurations existing 
immediately prior to the time the development was damaged, provided 
that application is made for the permits necessary to restore the 
development within six months of the date the damage occurred, all 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 112 of 248



j) 

permits are obtained and the restoration is completed within two years of 
permit issuance. 
An undeveloped lot, tract, parcel, site, or division of land located landward 
of the OHWM that was established in accordance with local and state 
subdivision requirements prior to the effective date of the Sedro-Woolley 
Shoreline Master Program, but does not conform to the present lot size 
standards or is not configured to allow for reasonable use that would meet 
current shoreline setback requirements, may be developed if permitted by 
other land use regulations of the SWMC and so long as such development 
conforms to all other requirements of the Master Program and the SMA. In 
this case, a SMP variance shall be required. 

F. REVISIONS TO PERMITS 
1. When an applicant seeks to revise a shoreline substantial development permit, 

shoreline conditional use permit, or shoreline variance, whether such permit or 
variance was granted under this SMP, or under the Skagit County SMP utilized prior 
to adoption of the Sedro-Woolley SMP, the Planning Department shall request from 
the applicant detailed plans and text describing the proposed changes to the project. 
If the staff determines that the proposed changes are within the general scope and 
intent of the original substantial development permit, conditional use permit or 
variance, as the case may be, the revision may be approved by the Planning 
Director, without the need for the applicant to file a new Substantial Development 
Permit application, provided the development is consistent with the SMA, WAC 173-
27-100 (Revisions to Permits), and the Master Program. 

2. "Within the scope and intent of the original permit" means the following: 
a) No additional over-water construction will be involved, except that pier, 

dock, or float construction may be increased by 500 square feet or 10 
percent from the provisions of the original permit, whichever is less. 

b) Lot coverage and height may be increased a maximum of 10 percent from 
the provisions of the original permit, 

c) The revised permit shall not authorize development to exceed height, lot 
coverage, setback, or any other requirements of the Master Program 
except as authorized under a variance granted as the original permit or a 
part thereof. 

d) Additional or revised landscaping is consistent with the conditions 
attached to the original permit and with the Shoreline Master Program. 

e) The use authorized pursuant to the original permit is not changed. 
f) No adverse environmental impact will be caused by the project revision. 

3. If the revision, or the sum of the revision and any previously approved revisions, will 
violate the criteria specified above, the Planning Department shall require the 
applicant to apply for a new shoreline substantial development or conditional use 
permit or variance, as appropriate, in the manner provided for herein. 

4. If proposed revisions to the original permit involve a conditional use or variance, the 
Planning Department shall submit the proposed revision to the Ecology for review. 

- 72 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 113 of 248 

 - 72 - 

 

 

 

 

permits are obtained and the restoration is completed within two years of 
permit issuance. 

j) An undeveloped lot, tract, parcel, site, or division of land located landward 
of the OHWM that was established in accordance with local and state 
subdivision requirements prior to the effective date of the Sedro-Woolley 
Shoreline Master Program, but does not conform to the present lot size 
standards or is not configured to allow for reasonable use that would meet 
current shoreline setback requirements, may be developed if permitted by 
other land use regulations of the SWMC and so long as such development 
conforms to all other requirements of the Master Program and the SMA. In 
this case, a SMP variance shall be required.  

 
 

F. REVISIONS TO PERMITS  

1. When an applicant seeks to revise a shoreline substantial development permit, 
shoreline conditional use permit, or shoreline variance, whether such permit or 
variance was granted under this SMP, or under the Skagit County SMP utilized prior 
to adoption of the Sedro-Woolley SMP, the Planning Department shall request from 
the applicant detailed plans and text describing the proposed changes to the project. 
If the staff determines that the proposed changes are within the general scope and 
intent of the original substantial development permit, conditional use permit or 
variance, as the case may be, the revision may be approved by the Planning 
Director, without the need for the applicant to file a new Substantial Development 
Permit application, provided the development is consistent with the SMA, WAC 173-
27-100 (Revisions to Permits), and the Master Program.  

2. “Within the scope and intent of the original permit” means the following: 
a) No additional over-water construction will be involved, except that pier, 

dock, or float construction may be increased by 500 square feet or 10 
percent from the provisions of the original permit, whichever is less.  

b) Lot coverage and height may be increased a maximum of 10 percent from 
the provisions of the original permit,  

c) The revised permit shall not authorize development to exceed height, lot 
coverage, setback, or any other requirements of the Master Program 
except as authorized under a variance granted as the original permit or a 
part thereof. 

d) Additional or revised landscaping is consistent with the conditions 
attached to the original permit and with the Shoreline Master Program.  

e) The use authorized pursuant to the original permit is not changed.  
f) No adverse environmental impact will be caused by the project revision.  

3. If the revision, or the sum of the revision and any previously approved revisions, will 
violate the criteria specified above, the Planning Department shall require the 
applicant to apply for a new shoreline substantial development or conditional use 
permit or variance, as appropriate, in the manner provided for herein. 

4. If proposed revisions to the original permit involve a conditional use or variance, the 
Planning Department shall submit the proposed revision to the Ecology for review. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 113 of 248



The Planning Department shall indicate that the revision is being submitted under 
the requirements of WAC 173-27-100. Ecology shall respond with its final decision 
on the proposed revision request within 15 days of the date of receipt filing  by the 
DOE. WAC 173-27-100(6). 

G. ENFORCEMENT 
1. In the event of failure to comply with the plans approved by the Planning Department 

or with any conditions imposed upon the shoreline development permit, the permit 
shall immediately become void and any continuation of the use activity shall be 
construed as being in violation of Sedro-Woolley Municipal Code and subject to the 
provisions of Title 18 SWMC, "Code Enforcement." 

Any person failing to conform to the terms of a permit issued in accordance with the 
SMP or who undertakes development on the shorelines of the state without first 
obtaining any permit required by the SMP shall be subject to a civil penalty as per RCW 
90.58.210 and WAC 173-27-280. 

- 73 - 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 114 of 248 

I I 

 - 73 - 

 

 

 

 

The Planning Department shall indicate that the revision is being submitted under 
the requirements of WAC 173-27-100. Ecology shall respond with its final decision 
on the proposed revision request within 15 days of the date of receipt filing by the 
DOE. WAC 173-27-100(6). 

 

G. ENFORCEMENT  

1. In the event of failure to comply with the plans approved by the Planning Department 
or with any conditions imposed upon the shoreline development permit, the permit 
shall immediately become void and any continuation of the use activity shall be 
construed as being in violation of Sedro-Woolley Municipal Code and subject to the 
provisions of Title 18 SWMC, “Code Enforcement.”  

Any person failing to conform to the terms of a permit issued in accordance with the 
SMP or who undertakes development on the shorelines of the state without first 
obtaining any permit required by the SMP shall be subject to a civil penalty as per RCW 
90.58.210 and WAC 173-27-280. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 114 of 248



CITY OF 
DR0 -W00LL4, ,\ 

0 THE NORTH CAsr  4r-/ s ,44 Al I

City of Sedro-Woolley 
Grant No. 1921-CiSedr-00052 61100233 

City of Sedro-Woolley 
Shoreline Management Program Update 

• 

Restoration Plan 
Appendix B to SMP 

October 2013 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 115 of 248 

CITY OP 

\ 

' $ lej - TO TE NORTH CASc - ......

I llatO " HWOO Lp ito.

0 ,0, 1 0 1

- - 
• 

77> 

• 

d'S 
• 

, 

CITY OP 

\ 

' $ lej - TO TE NORTH CASc - ......

I llatO " HWOO Lp ito.

0 ,0, 1 0 1

- - 
• 

77> 

• 

d'S 
• 

, 

 
 

City of Sedro-Woolley 
Grant No. 1921-CiSedr-00052 G1100233 

 

City of Sedro-Woolley 
Shoreline Management Program Update 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Restoration Plan 
Appendix B to SMP 

October 2013 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 115 of 248



Table of Contents 

INTRODUCTION - RESTORATION PLAN 2 

SHORELINE INVENTORY AND SPECIFIC LOCAL CONDITIONS 3 

LAND USE 3 

RESTORATION OPPORTUNITIES 7 

MAPS 8 

City of Sedro-Woolley SMP 1 Restoration Plan 
City Council Packet Page 116 of 248 

City of Sedro-Woolley SMP 1  Restoration Plan 

Table of Contents 
 

INTRODUCTION – RESTORATION PLAN ............................................................................................ 2 

SHORELINE INVENTORY AND SPECIFIC LOCAL CONDITIONS .................................................. 3 

LAND USE .................................................................................................................................................. 3 

RESTORATION OPPORTUNITIES ......................................................................................................... 7 

MAPS ............................................................................................................................................................ 8 

 
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 116 of 248



Introduction - Restoration Plan 

The Shoreline Management Act (Act) makes protection of shoreline 
environments an essential statewide goal, with an emphasis on maintenance, 
protection, restoration, and preservation. The Act requires local master programs 
include goals and policies for restoration of impaired shoreline ecological 
functions that are consistent with the principles embodied in WAC 173-26-
186(8)(c). These principles include the following: 

• Master program provisions shall identify existing policies and programs 
that contribute to planned restoration goals and identify any additional 
policies and programs that local government will implement to achieve its 
goals; 

• Master program elements regarding restoration should make real and 
meaningful use of established or funded non-regulatory policies and 
programs that contribute to restoration of ecological functions; 

• Restoration efforts should appropriately consider the direct or indirect 
effects of other regulatory or non-regulatory programs under other local, 
state, and federal laws, as well as any restoration effects that may flow 
indirectly from shoreline development regulations and mitigation 
standards; 

• Utilize a process that identifies, inventories, and ensures meaningful 
understanding of existing and potential ecological functions of affected 
shorelines; 

• Develop policies and regulations designed to achieve no net loss of those 
ecological functions; 

• In jurisdictions containing shorelines with impaired ecological functions, 
develop goals and policies that provide for restoration of those functions; 
and 

• Evaluate and consider cumulative impacts of reasonably foreseeable 
future development on shoreline ecological functions and other shoreline 
functions. 

The Act also recognizes that restoration planning can vary dramatically between 
jurisdictions based on the jurisdiction's size, extent and condition of its 
shorelines, availability of funding and restoration tools, and the nature of the 
ecological functions to be restored. 
The City of Sedro-Woolley's frontage along a qualifying water of the state (Skagit 
River — a water of statewide significance) is relatively small compared to other 
jurisdictions; there are roughly 1,400 linear feet of Skagit River waterfront 
adjacent to the southern boundary of Sedro-Woolley. However, due of the extent 
of the floodway landward from the river, there are about 44.75 acres of shoreline 
jurisdiction. There is a moderate opportunity for restoration within this area. 

City of Sedro-Woolley SMP 2 Restoration Plan 
City Council Packet Page 117 of 248 

City of Sedro-Woolley SMP 2  Restoration Plan 

Introduction – Restoration Plan 
 
The Shoreline Management Act (Act) makes protection of shoreline 
environments an essential statewide goal, with an emphasis on maintenance, 
protection, restoration, and preservation. The Act requires local master programs 
include goals and policies for restoration of impaired shoreline ecological 
functions that are consistent with the principles embodied in WAC 173-26-
186(8)(c). These principles include the following: 
 

 Master program provisions shall identify existing policies and programs 
that contribute to planned restoration goals and identify any additional 
policies and programs that local government will implement to achieve its 
goals; 

 Master program elements regarding restoration should make real and 
meaningful use of established or funded non-regulatory policies and 
programs that contribute to restoration of ecological functions; 

 Restoration efforts should appropriately consider the direct or indirect 
effects of other regulatory or non-regulatory programs under other local, 
state, and federal laws, as well as any restoration effects that may flow 
indirectly from shoreline development regulations and mitigation 
standards; 

 Utilize a process that identifies, inventories, and ensures meaningful 
understanding of existing and potential ecological functions of affected 
shorelines; 

 Develop policies and regulations designed to achieve no net loss of those 
ecological functions; 

 In jurisdictions containing shorelines with impaired ecological functions, 
develop goals and policies that provide for restoration of those functions; 
and 

 Evaluate and consider cumulative impacts of reasonably foreseeable 
future development on shoreline ecological functions and other shoreline 
functions. 

 
The Act also recognizes that restoration planning can vary dramatically between 
jurisdictions based on the jurisdiction’s size, extent and condition of its 
shorelines, availability of funding and restoration tools, and the nature of the 
ecological functions to be restored. 
The City of Sedro-Woolley’s frontage along a qualifying water of the state (Skagit 
River – a water of statewide significance) is relatively small compared to other 
jurisdictions; there are roughly 1,400 linear feet of Skagit River waterfront 
adjacent to the southern boundary of Sedro-Woolley. However, due of the extent 
of the floodway landward from the river, there are about 44.75 acres of shoreline 
jurisdiction. There is a moderate opportunity for restoration within this area. 
 
 
 
 
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 117 of 248



Shoreline Inventory and Specific Local Conditions 

The Sedro-Woolley jurisdictional shorelands are contained within the 100 year 
FEMA flood plain. Maps 1.1 and 1.2 indicate the preliminary shoreline jurisdiction 
as determined in the Sedro-Woolley Preliminary Assessment of Shoreline 
Jurisdiction report. These maps show the entire city for perspective of the Skagit 
River's influence on the City and the region. Maps 1.1 and 1.2 also show 
wetlands in the vicinity of Sedro-Woolley. Any wetlands that are adjacent to or 
within City limits and the 100 year flood plain are also under SMP jurisdiction. 
The shoreline reach is depicted in Maps 2.1 and 2.2; these maps offer a closer 
view to aid in the detailed examination of existing or baseline conditions upon 
which the development of shoreline master program provisions will be examined. 

The City of Sedro-Woolley falls within Ecology's Water Resource Inventory Area 
(WRIA) #3, which is encompasses the lower portion of the Skagit River 
watershed. There are roughly 1,400 linear feet of Skagit River adjacent to the 
southern boundary of Sedro-Woolley. Through this section, the river is highly 
channelized, despite being in the lower floodplain of the river. The current is 
typically swift moving and the river bank mostly steep, though not armored. Some 
areas of low-bank exist in the jurisdiction, though those areas are very small. 
There are no man made dikes on the Skagit River in the Sedro-Woolley area. 

Land Use 

There are 34 acres of Public Zoning, 5 acres of Open Space and 3.5 acres of 
Residential 7 zoning in the preliminary shoreline jurisdiction. 

The 3.5 acres of Residential zoned land contains no structures. This area does 
include parking facilities and landscaping for an assisted living facility. However, 
the facility building itself lies outside the 100 year floodplain, thus outside the 
shoreline jurisdiction. 

The 5 acres of Open Space Zoning contains two little league baseball fields and 
a pump house that belongs to Skagit Public Utility District #1 (PUD). PUD 
provides water to the City of Sedro-Woolley and other Skagit County 
municipalities. 

34 acres of shoreline jurisdiction are in the Public Zone. On this land is Riverfront 
Park a large City park adjacent to the Skagit River, south of River Road. The 
River typically runs fast through this stretch, so public access to the river is 
severely restricted. A public boat launch exists at the eastern edge of the park. 
The boat launch is catalogued by the Washington State Recreation and 
Conservation Office as the Sedro-Woolley (WDFW) - Skagit River boat launch, 
having a gravel parking lot and vault-style restroom. 

City of Sedro-Woolley SMP 3 Restoration Plan 
City Council Packet Page 118 of 248 

City of Sedro-Woolley SMP 3  Restoration Plan 

Shoreline Inventory and Specific Local Conditions 
 
The Sedro-Woolley jurisdictional shorelands are contained within the 100 year 
FEMA flood plain. Maps 1.1 and 1.2 indicate the preliminary shoreline jurisdiction 
as determined in the Sedro-Woolley Preliminary Assessment of Shoreline 
Jurisdiction report. These maps show the entire city for perspective of the Skagit 
River’s influence on the City and the region. Maps 1.1 and 1.2 also show 
wetlands in the vicinity of Sedro-Woolley. Any wetlands that are adjacent to or 
within City limits and the 100 year flood plain are also under SMP jurisdiction. 
The shoreline reach is depicted in Maps 2.1 and 2.2; these maps offer a closer 
view to aid in the detailed examination of existing or baseline conditions upon 
which the development of shoreline master program provisions will be examined. 
 
The City of Sedro-Woolley falls within Ecology’s Water Resource Inventory Area 
(WRIA) #3, which is encompasses the lower portion of the Skagit River 
watershed. There are roughly 1,400 linear feet of Skagit River adjacent to the 
southern boundary of Sedro-Woolley. Through this section, the river is highly 
channelized, despite being in the lower floodplain of the river. The current is 
typically swift moving and the river bank mostly steep, though not armored. Some 
areas of low-bank exist in the jurisdiction, though those areas are very small. 
There are no man made dikes on the Skagit River in the Sedro-Woolley area.  
 
 
 
Land Use 
 
There are 34 acres of Public Zoning, 5 acres of Open Space and 3.5 acres of 
Residential 7 zoning in the preliminary shoreline jurisdiction.  
 
The 3.5 acres of Residential zoned land contains no structures. This area does 
include parking facilities and landscaping for an assisted living facility. However, 
the facility building itself lies outside the 100 year floodplain, thus outside the 
shoreline jurisdiction. 
 
The 5 acres of Open Space Zoning contains two little league baseball fields and 
a pump house that belongs to Skagit Public Utility District #1 (PUD). PUD 
provides water to the City of Sedro-Woolley and other Skagit County 
municipalities.  
 
34 acres of shoreline jurisdiction are in the Public Zone. On this land is Riverfront 
Park a large City park adjacent to the Skagit River, south of River Road. The 
River typically runs fast through this stretch, so public access to the river is 
severely restricted. A public boat launch exists at the eastern edge of the park. 
The boat launch is catalogued by the Washington State Recreation and 
Conservation Office as the Sedro-Woolley (WDFW) - Skagit River boat launch, 
having a gravel parking lot and vault-style restroom.  
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 118 of 248



Riverfront Park has children's play areas, roughly 10 acres of open fields, several 
more acres of treed river bank area, and a RV park. There are five permanent 
structures in this area of Public zone: a caretakers residence (manufactured 
home); two picnic shelters with restroom facilities; one pole building style picnic 
shelter; and a band shell (amphitheater), which is also an open structure (roof on 
four poles). With the exception of the amphitheater, all the structures are on a 
high area in the park that may be above the floodway, but within the floodplain. 
To the knowledge of longtime City employees, these structures have not flooded. 
The 100 year floodplain map may be inaccurate, as anecdotal information 
suggests that the raised area in the park where these four structures are located 
is actually above 100 year floodplain elevation. Floodplain and floodway data 
was retrieved from the US Army Corps of Engineers GIS database. The FEMA 
floodway GIS information also excludes a large "island" in the shape of a city 
parcel from the floodway. Though it is likely that much of that island is not in the 
floodway, the shape of that island is likely not to be accurate. FEMA will be 
consulted to remedy this mapping irregularity and fill in the gap in the existing 
data. The amphitheater in this island area, but is likely in the floodway. It has 
been constructed as on open structure so as not to impede flowing water (and to 
withstand flowing water and accompanying floating debris). 

To the west of the main park area is a narrow tract of treed, undeveloped land 
between River Road and a housing development. In this area there is a channel 
that is dry for much of the area. Although it is not an approved City park use, this 
area is frequented by BMX and mountain bike riders. 

North of River Road the Public zone contains a dog park and another 
approximately 10 acres of unused area containing a non-fish bearing, intermittent 
stream. The vegetation in this area is a mix of field weeds (blackberry, thistle, 
grasses, etc.), scrub brush and alder trees. 

The City's development regulations (zoning (Title 17 SWMC), subdivision (Title 
16 SWMC) and building (Title 15 SWMC) codes) apply to land use and 
development within City limits. Both the development regulations and the City 
Comprehensive Plan are growth management compliant. Therefore, the goals, 
policies and regulations of the Washington State Growth Management Act (RCW 
36.70A), including the critical areas requirements have been satisfied. 

The City provides sewer services to all areas located within the City, collecting 
and treating wastewater at the Wastewater Treatment Plant located at the edge 
of the 100 year floodplain but well outside shoreline jurisdiction. The shoreline 
jurisdiction is not served by the City sewer system, therefore there is no sewer 
infrastructure in the jurisdiction. The Sedro-Woolley wastewater plant discharges 
into Skagit River West of the shoreline jurisdiction. Discharge has received 
primary and secondary treatments before being released to the river. Discharges 
from the plant are regulated by the Washington Department of Ecology under 
NPDES permits, which includes performance standards and monitoring 
requirements. The Sedro-Woolley Wastewater treatment plant has been awarded 

City of Sedro-Woolley SMP 4 Restoration Plan 
City Council Packet Page 119 of 248 

City of Sedro-Woolley SMP 4  Restoration Plan 

Riverfront Park has children’s play areas, roughly 10 acres of open fields, several 
more acres of treed river bank area, and a RV park. There are five permanent 
structures in this area of Public zone: a caretaker’s residence (manufactured 
home); two picnic shelters with restroom facilities; one pole building style picnic 
shelter; and a band shell (amphitheater), which is also an open structure (roof on 
four poles). With the exception of the amphitheater, all the structures are on a 
high area in the park that may be above the floodway, but within the floodplain. 
To the knowledge of longtime City employees, these structures have not flooded. 
The 100 year floodplain map may be inaccurate, as anecdotal information 
suggests that the raised area in the park where these four structures are located 
is actually above 100 year floodplain elevation. Floodplain and floodway data 
was retrieved from the US Army Corps of Engineers GIS database. The FEMA 
floodway GIS information also excludes a large “island” in the shape of a city 
parcel from the floodway. Though it is likely that much of that island is not in the 
floodway, the shape of that island is likely not to be accurate. FEMA will be 
consulted to remedy this mapping irregularity and fill in the gap in the existing 
data. The amphitheater in this island area, but is likely in the floodway. It has 
been constructed as on open structure so as not to impede flowing water (and to 
withstand flowing water and accompanying floating debris).  
 
To the west of the main park area is a narrow tract of treed, undeveloped land 
between River Road and a housing development. In this area there is a channel 
that is dry for much of the area. Although it is not an approved City park use, this 
area is frequented by BMX and mountain bike riders. 
 
North of River Road the Public zone contains a dog park and another 
approximately 10 acres of unused area containing a non-fish bearing, intermittent 
stream. The vegetation in this area is a mix of field weeds (blackberry, thistle, 
grasses, etc.), scrub brush and alder trees.  
 
The City’s development regulations (zoning (Title 17 SWMC), subdivision (Title 
16 SWMC) and building (Title 15 SWMC) codes) apply to land use and 
development within City limits. Both the development regulations and the City 
Comprehensive Plan are growth management compliant. Therefore, the goals, 
policies and regulations of the Washington State Growth Management Act (RCW 
36.70A), including the critical areas requirements have been satisfied.  
 
The City provides sewer services to all areas located within the City, collecting 
and treating wastewater at the Wastewater Treatment Plant located at the edge 
of the 100 year floodplain but well outside shoreline jurisdiction. The shoreline 
jurisdiction is not served by the City sewer system, therefore there is no sewer 
infrastructure in the jurisdiction. The Sedro-Woolley wastewater plant discharges 
into Skagit River West of the shoreline jurisdiction. Discharge has received 
primary and secondary treatments before being released to the river. Discharges 
from the plant are regulated by the Washington Department of Ecology under 
NPDES permits, which includes performance standards and monitoring 
requirements. The Sedro-Woolley Wastewater treatment plant has been awarded 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 119 of 248



the Outstanding Performance Award from Ecology 11 of the past 13 years, 
including the past 5 years consecutively. 

Impervious surfaces have the potential to affect shorelines, hydrology and water 
quality. The City operates under a Phase II stormwater permit from Ecology and 
has a compliant stormwater utility. The shoreline jurisdiction is characterized by 
uses put in place before stormwater regulations were developed. In total there 
are approximately 6.5 acres of impervious driving surfaces in the shoreline 
jurisdiction. Roughly 55% of that impervious surface is in gravel parking areas in 
Riverfront Park, the RV park and the boat launch parking lot. River Road makes 
up about 30%, and parking areas on the north side of River Road accounts for 
about 15% of the impervious surface in the area. 

Vegetation in the shoreline jurisdiction largely consists of maintained grass fields, 
of which there are approximately 15.75 acres. Much of this maintained area is 
regularly used play area and ballfields, but some of it is easily maintained 
landscaping for the assisted living facility. 

An area of tree and brush cover (approximately 10 acres) lies in the northeast 
portion of the shoreline jurisdiction. Most of the tree cover (approximately 12.5 
acres) lies near the river, primarily in the western portion of the park. The 
understory is comprised largely of salmonberry where there is an understory. 
Other areas have unmaintained grass or are sparsely vegetated. The BMX riders 
may have an effect on the vegetation in this area, however it is unknown how 
hydrology, soils or human alteration has affected the vegetation in the shoreline 
jurisdiction. No studies of the vegetation in this area, or any other part of the 
jurisdiction, have been performed. There is room for additional studies of the 
vegetation in the area. 

The Skagit River is a historically dynamic river. Since the removal of the logjams 
that the river was known for, as well as other human modifications such as the 
upriver dams, the river has maintained its current river channel in the area 
adjacent to Sedro-Woolley. There is no armoring on the north bank of the Skagit 
River where it is adjacent to the City's shoreline jurisdiction. Historic dredging or 
filling is not known; this is another area where information is lacking. 
Observations of the shoreline offer no indication of recent human modification of 
the river bank through this stretch, with one exception. There is a concrete boat 
launch on the eastern side of Riverfront Park. 

The shoreline jurisdiction is almost entirely in public ownership. The only 
restrictions to public access in the area is signage and fencing in place on some 
high-bank areas to discourage access for safety reasons. The River runs swiftly 
past the shoreline jurisdiction, and the cold water temperatures make the river 
unsafe without watercraft. 

There is a public boat launch and handicapped accessible fishing area at 
Riverfront Park. In addition, there are some low-bank sections that make river 
access possible for those willing to walk off of paved surfaces using an 

City of Sedro-Woolley SMP 5 Restoration Plan 
City Council Packet Page 120 of 248 

City of Sedro-Woolley SMP 5  Restoration Plan 

the Outstanding Performance Award from Ecology 11 of the past 13 years, 
including the past 5 years consecutively. 
 
Impervious surfaces have the potential to affect shorelines, hydrology and water 
quality. The City operates under a Phase II stormwater permit from Ecology and 
has a compliant stormwater utility. The shoreline jurisdiction is characterized by 
uses put in place before stormwater regulations were developed. In total there 
are approximately 6.5 acres of impervious driving surfaces in the shoreline 
jurisdiction. Roughly 55% of that impervious surface is in gravel parking areas in 
Riverfront Park, the RV park and the boat launch parking lot. River Road makes 
up about 30%, and parking areas on the north side of River Road accounts for 
about 15% of the impervious surface in the area. 
 
Vegetation in the shoreline jurisdiction largely consists of maintained grass fields, 
of which there are approximately 15.75 acres. Much of this maintained area is 
regularly used play area and ballfields, but some of it is easily maintained 
landscaping for the assisted living facility.  
 
An area of tree and brush cover (approximately 10 acres) lies in the northeast 
portion of the shoreline jurisdiction. Most of the tree cover (approximately 12.5 
acres) lies near the river, primarily in the western portion of the park. The 
understory is comprised largely of salmonberry where there is an understory. 
Other areas have unmaintained grass or are sparsely vegetated. The BMX riders 
may have an effect on the vegetation in this area, however it is unknown how 
hydrology, soils or human alteration has affected the vegetation in the shoreline 
jurisdiction. No studies of the vegetation in this area, or any other part of the 
jurisdiction, have been performed. There is room for additional studies of the 
vegetation in the area.   
 
The Skagit River is a historically dynamic river. Since the removal of the logjams 
that the river was known for, as well as other human modifications such as the 
upriver dams, the river has maintained its current river channel in the area 
adjacent to Sedro-Woolley. There is no armoring on the north bank of the Skagit 
River where it is adjacent to the City’s shoreline jurisdiction. Historic dredging or 
filling is not known; this is another area where information is lacking. 
Observations of the shoreline offer no indication of recent human modification of 
the river bank through this stretch, with one exception. There is a concrete boat 
launch on the eastern side of Riverfront Park. 
 
The shoreline jurisdiction is almost entirely in public ownership. The only 
restrictions to public access in the area is signage and fencing in place on some 
high-bank areas to discourage access for safety reasons. The River runs swiftly 
past the shoreline jurisdiction, and the cold water temperatures make the river 
unsafe without watercraft.  
 
There is a public boat launch and handicapped accessible fishing area at 
Riverfront Park. In addition, there are some low-bank sections that make river 
access possible for those willing to walk off of paved surfaces using an 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 120 of 248



impromptu trail system. Because most of the shoreline jurisdiction is in public 
ownership, additional recreation opportunities may be possible in the future. 
Floodway restrictions will dictate acceptable uses in the shoreline jurisdiction. 
Current inventory of uses include: 

• Baseball fields 
• Off-leash dog park 
• Boat launch 
• RV campground 
• Play equipment 
• Amphitheater 
• Multiple picnic shelters 
• Trails 
• Fishing 
• BMX and mountain bike course (unofficial feature) 
• Basketball court 
• Public restrooms 
• Open fields (used for car show, carnival, other community gatherings) 

Appendix C to the SMP contains critical areas regulations for wetlands, aquifer 
recharge areas, geologically hazardous areas, fish and wildlife conservation 
areas and frequently flooded areas within the shoreline jurisdiction. The inventory 
of critical areas was based on a wide range of information sources, including City 
GIS, critical area inventories, Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife 
databases, and other relevant maps and literature obtained from the Washington 
Department of Natural Resources (DNR), Ecology, National Marine Fisheries 
Service, and U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. 

The river channel has been static in the in recent history. Channel migration has 
been analyzed by Skagit County based on Ecology's criteria and has elected to 
define the Skagit River CMZ very broadly and through the Sedro-Woolley area, 
the CMZ extends approximately 10,000 feet (1.89 miles) landward from the city's 
shoreline jurisdiction. This places the extent of the CMZ near the northern border 
of the city, approximately 11,500 feet (2.17 miles) northward from the river bank. 
Based on the recent history of the river channel and the lack of steep rivers 
affecting the city's shoreline jurisdiction, river migration is not anticipated in the 
near future. However the city is aware of the potential for channel migration. 

The floodplain extends northward from the river bank to a steep embankment at 
the south portion of the city's developed area. This embankment is the 
approximate edge of the 100 year floodplain. The only development below the 
bank is parks infrastructure such as ball fields and play equipment; infrastructure 
that will neither impede floodwaters nor be severely damaged as a result of a 
flood. There are some impervious surfaces in the floodplain that may affect 
overland storm and floodwater infiltration. However, the amount of impervious 
area is a small portion of the overall shoreline jurisdiction within the floodplain 
and is not likely to have an ill effect on infiltration rates or water quality. 

City of Sedro-Woolley SMP 6 Restoration Plan 
City Council Packet Page 121 of 248 

City of Sedro-Woolley SMP 6  Restoration Plan 

impromptu trail system. Because most of the shoreline jurisdiction is in public 
ownership, additional recreation opportunities may be possible in the future. 
Floodway restrictions will dictate acceptable uses in the shoreline jurisdiction. 
Current inventory of uses include: 
 

 Baseball fields 

 Off-leash dog park 

 Boat launch 

 RV campground 

 Play equipment 

 Amphitheater 

 Multiple picnic shelters 

 Trails 

 Fishing 

 BMX and mountain bike course (unofficial feature) 

 Basketball court 

 Public restrooms 

 Open fields (used for car show, carnival, other community gatherings) 
 
Appendix C to the SMP contains critical areas regulations for wetlands, aquifer 
recharge areas, geologically hazardous areas, fish and wildlife conservation 
areas and frequently flooded areas within the shoreline jurisdiction. The inventory 
of critical areas was based on a wide range of information sources, including City 
GIS, critical area inventories, Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife 
databases, and other relevant maps and literature obtained from the Washington 
Department of Natural Resources (DNR), Ecology, National Marine Fisheries 
Service, and U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. 
 
The river channel has been static in the in recent history. Channel migration has 
been analyzed by Skagit County based on Ecology’s criteria and has elected to 
define the Skagit River CMZ very broadly and through the Sedro-Woolley area, 
the CMZ extends approximately 10,000 feet (1.89 miles) landward from the city’s 
shoreline jurisdiction. This places the extent of the CMZ near the northern border 
of the city, approximately 11,500 feet (2.17 miles) northward from the river bank. 
Based on the recent history of the river channel and the lack of steep rivers 
affecting the city’s shoreline jurisdiction, river migration is not anticipated in the 
near future. However the city is aware of the potential for channel migration.  
 
The floodplain extends northward from the river bank to a steep embankment at 
the south portion of the city’s developed area. This embankment is the 
approximate edge of the 100 year floodplain. The only development below the 
bank is parks infrastructure such as ball fields and play equipment; infrastructure 
that will neither impede floodwaters nor be severely damaged as a result of a 
flood. There are some impervious surfaces in the floodplain that may affect 
overland storm and floodwater infiltration. However, the amount of impervious 
area is a small portion of the overall shoreline jurisdiction within the floodplain 
and is not likely to have an ill effect on infiltration rates or water quality.  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 121 of 248



There is anecdotal information that a portion of Riverfront Park was operated as 
a private solid-waste disposal site prior to the city taking ownership. The highest 
area in the park is understood to be layer of soil over mounded garbage. That hill 
is the highest point in the preliminary shoreline jurisdiction. The structures on top 
of the hill area not known to have ever flood, thus it is assumed that the top of the 
hill is possibly out of the flood way, potentially out of the 100 year floodplain; this 
information cannot be determined conclusively from the FEMA FIRM map and 
floodway maps, as those maps show evidence of inaccurate data. Information 
about the years of operation and any potential hazards is sparse. Further 
research is necessary, but the site is known and appropriate measures to avoid 
interaction with the subsoil taken by the City. The structures on the hill are 
thought to have been constructed in the mid to late 1970's. 

Restoration Opportunities 

As noted, the great majority of land within the shoreline jurisdiction is City-owned. 
This allows the City greater control of restoration projects within the shoreline 
jurisdiction. Restoration of the City-owned sites will occur as funds become 
available, either through the City's CAO program or other sources that may 
become available. At this time no benchmarks or timelines have been 
established. Direct City restoration actions are limited to those sites actually 
owned by the City. Preservation of existing ecological functions on privately-
owned lands will be accomplished through the goals, policies and regulations 
within the SMP. 

The former solid waste disposal site within Riverfront Park represents a potential 
restoration opportunity, though permitting and financial constraints may 
complicate the issue. With the exception of the caretaker's home, the structures 
built atop the landfill are important to the citizens of Sedro-Woolley. Any 
mitigation in this area should protect these public assets. 

Other plant restoration opportunities exist in the northeast section of the 
jurisdiction where the vegetation is unmanaged. Invasive weeds have taken 
foothold in large portions of this area eliminating the opportunity for public access 
and creating a less desirable species habitat. Public-private partnerships to plan 
and execute vegetation enhancement projects are encouraged. 

City of Sedro-Woolley SMP 7 Restoration Plan 
City Council Packet Page 122 of 248 

City of Sedro-Woolley SMP 7  Restoration Plan 

 
There is anecdotal information that a portion of Riverfront Park was operated as 
a private solid-waste disposal site prior to the city taking ownership. The highest 
area in the park is understood to be layer of soil over mounded garbage. That hill 
is the highest point in the preliminary shoreline jurisdiction. The structures on top 
of the hill area not known to have ever flood, thus it is assumed that the top of the 
hill is possibly out of the flood way, potentially out of the 100 year floodplain; this 
information cannot be determined conclusively from the FEMA FIRM map and 
floodway maps, as those maps show evidence of inaccurate data. Information 
about the years of operation and any potential hazards is sparse. Further 
research is necessary, but the site is known and appropriate measures to avoid 
interaction with the subsoil taken by the City. The structures on the hill are 
thought to have been constructed in the mid to late 1970’s. 
 
 
Restoration Opportunities 
 
As noted, the great majority of land within the shoreline jurisdiction is City-owned. 
This allows the City greater control of restoration projects within the shoreline 
jurisdiction. Restoration of the City-owned sites will occur as funds become 
available, either through the City’s CAO program or other sources that may 
become available. At this time no benchmarks or timelines have been 
established. Direct City restoration actions are limited to those sites actually 
owned by the City. Preservation of existing ecological functions on privately-
owned lands will be accomplished through the goals, policies and regulations 
within the SMP.   
 
The former solid waste disposal site within Riverfront Park represents a potential 
restoration opportunity, though permitting and financial constraints may 
complicate the issue. With the exception of the caretaker’s home, the structures 
built atop the landfill are important to the citizens of Sedro-Woolley. Any 
mitigation in this area should protect these public assets.  
 
Other plant restoration opportunities exist in the northeast section of the 
jurisdiction where the vegetation is unmanaged. Invasive weeds have taken 
foothold in large portions of this area eliminating the opportunity for public access 
and creating a less desirable species habitat. Public-private partnerships to plan 
and execute vegetation enhancement projects are encouraged.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 122 of 248



VILy PI u7GUll v-vvvviivy vnrir- vpuialG~® 

Map shows FEMA floodway & 
required 200 foot shorelands 
jurisdiction within the 100 year 
floodplain. Also shows 
Sedro-Woolley's preliminary 
shoreline jurisdiction. Wetlands 
that are within both the city 
limits and the 100 year flood 
plain are under SMP jurisdiction. 
Only areas within city limits are 
under city jurisdicion. 

Wetland boundaries depicted 
are approximate. Wetlands have 
not been formally delineated or 
surveyed and are intended for 
planning purposes only. 
Additional site-specific 
evaluation may be needed to 
confirm or verify the boundaries 

potentially jurisdictional wetland 

1.
R.cu,...04=p00' 0 000 7,7

..g01 

O 

9 

 40. 

0 
000umi. 

0•00 

potentially jurisdictional wetland 

Area in GREEN inside city limits 
is preliminary shoreline jurisdiction 

potentially jurisdictional 
wetland 

Roodway plus 
200 foot buffer 

Nk-, `I Extent of Flo 

Angular shaped shaped area that is not included 
in FEMA floodway map is likely a mapping 
error. It is assumed that this entire area will be 
in shoreline jurisdiction. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet ag to 

VILy WI qt./GUI %.0'1111%. .011Gy %/mu- UPFJUCILV 

Map shows FEMA floodway & 
required 200 foot shorelands 
jurisdiction within the 100 year 
floodplain. Also shows 
Sedro-Woolley's preliminary 
shoreline jurisdiction. Wetlands 
that are within both the city 
limits and the 100 year flood 
plain are under SMP jurisdiction. 
Only areas within city limits are 
under city jurisdicion. 

Wetland boundaries depicted 
are approximate. Wetlands have 
not been formally delineated or 
surveyed and are intended for 
planning purposes only. 
Additional site-specific 
evaluation may be needed to 
confirm or verify the boundaries 

potentially jurisdictional wetland 

1.

If 

9 

4,0 

o e: Da• 0r) 

0 

/ 

/". U =1.•=2,
11 Emil

potentially jurisdictional wetland 

Area in GREEN inside city limits 
is preliminary shoreline jurisdiction 

—,4f? 
• ..• 

ri 

potentially jurisdictional 
wetland 

/ 

Roodway plus 
200 foot buffer 

Nk- ̀ I Extent of Flo 

Angular shaped area that is not included 
n FEMA floodway map is likely a mapping 
error. It is assumed that this entire area will be 
n shoreline jurisdiction. 

City of Sedro-Woolley SMP 
Map shcws FENIA floodway & 
required 200 foot shorelands 
jurisdiction within the 100 year 
floodplain. Also shows 
Sedro-Woolley's preliminary 
shoreline jurisdiction. Wetlands 
that are Nithin both the city 
limits and the 100 year flood 
plain are under SNIP jurisdiction. 
Only areas within city limits are 
under city jurisdicion. 

Wetland boundaries depicted 
are approximate. Wetlands have 
not beer. formally delineated or 
surveyed and are intended for 
planning purposes only. 
Additional site-specific 
evaluation may be needed to 
confirm or verify the boundaries 

Cf, 

potentially jurisdictional wetland 

c Amu ntr 
toz oo.ARretry. 

09°'

a 

On 

j--

rl 

potentially jurisdictional wetland 

'1' 
potentially jurisdictional 
wetland 

7 

:IF' I 1  

L' jr1 

V Area in GREEN inside city limits I Li; 
  _ 1.1 

is preliminary shoreline jurisdiction  ' -

skag\k

/, 

Roadway plus 
200 foot buffer 

] 

Extent of Floodway 

(g)
( 3c 

Angular shaped area that is not included 
in FEMAfloodway map is likely a mapping 
error. It is assumed that this entire area will be 
in shoreline jurisdiction. 

7.6C< A:CC 

Legend 

in
e

 J
u

ri
sd

ic
io

n
 

C
it
y
 o

f 
S

e
d

ro
-W

o
o

lle
y
 S

M
P

 
8
 

 R
e
s
to

ra
ti
o
n

 P
la

n
 

M
A

P
S

 

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 123 of 248



e;p1T, .11 

Map shows FEMA floodway & 
required 200 foot shorelands 
jurisdiction within the 100 year 
floodplain. Also shows 
Sedro-Woolley's preliminary 
shoreline jurisdiction. Wetlands 
that are within both the city 
limits and the 100 year flood 
plain are under SMP jurisdiction. 
Only areas within city limits are 
under city jurisdicion. 

Wetland boundaries depicted 
are approximate. Wetlands have 
not been formally delineated or 
surveyed and are intended for 
planning purposes only. 
Additional site-specific 
evaluation may be needed to 
confirm or verify the boundaries 

  potentially jurisdictional wetland 

O 

A-7 

7.q 

Ms 

.;T[ 
potentially jurisdictional 
wetland 

ZCC 

potentially jurisdictional 
wetland 

!.-t1 

Cch DLC 

-1 Floodway plus 
200 foot buffer 

Extent of Floodwe 
S 

.„ , • r4-q; • 
r 

Area in GREEN inside city limits 
is preliminary shoreline jurisdiction 

s\(avt"\e' 
a s5';3••'. ./:. 

Angular shaped area that is not included 
in FEMA floodway map is likely a mapping 
error. It is assumed that this entire area will be 
in shoreline jurisdiction. 

iRacr 

3,sdn,'>Woolley r" Council Packet Page 124 of 248 

riEr WX. 

ir r 
of, 

Map shows FEMA floodway & 
required 200 foot shorelands 
jurisdiction within the 100 year 
floodplain. Also shows 
Sedro-Woolley's preliminary 
shoreline jurisdiction. Wetlands 
that are within both the city 
limits and the 100 year flood 
plain are under SMP jurisdiction. 
Only areas within city limits are 
under city jurisdicion. 

Wetland boundaries depicted 
are approximate. Wetlands have 
not been formally delineated or 
surveyed and are intended for 
planning purposes only. 
Additional site-specific 
evaluation may be needed to 
confirm or verify the boundaries 

potentially jurisdictional wetland 

F. 

I 

kr 4

cE 

( 

qt(i 

potentially jurisdictional 
wetland 

LS z•-sz 

[117'.'t

kk

II 

A( 

C' jXTM 

irtIncc".

rt  p r,C,„ 

s•U
n 

EGA n 

potentially jurisdictional 
wetland 

Area in GREEN inside city limits 
is preliminary shoreline jurisdiction 

dOi POW1

C Cs

Floodway plus 
200 foot buffer

 r: 

Extent of Floodwe 

-;t•J JrC, 

oe0-1;

S\<agll• 1:1\jet

3: 

• 

Angular shaped area that is not included 
in FEMA floodway map is likely a mapping 
error. It is assumed that this entire area will be 

Irffi 1 

'rf yak in shoreline jurisdiction. 

City of Sedro-Woolley SMP Update _-*-•  ,...._ 1-.-, 
Map shows FEMA floodway & 1.5 
required 200 foot shorelands 
jurisdiction within the 100 year
floodplain. Also shows 

.:.'Sedro-Woolley's preliminary .. 
shoreline jurisdiction. Wetlands 'I' ' 
that are within both the city n1 .. 

) f . ,' J. limits and the 100 year flood J 
plain are under SMP jurisdiction.
Only areas within city limits are 
under city jurisdic ion. 

:cc cc 

Wetland boundaries depicted 
are approximate. Wetlands have 
not been formally delineated or 
surveyed and are intended for 
planning purposes only. 
Additional site-specific 
evaluation may be needed to 
confirm or verify the boundaries 

potentially jurisdictional wetland 

• 

potentially jurisdictional 
wetland 

=n=c, = 
=ri 

ul 

ci 

4,

— potentially jurisdictional 
wetland 

Area in GREEN inside city limits 
is preliminary shoreline jurisdiction 

• 
S\(a19°-

- 

' E.,A, COZZCC, • „. u 

, • 

A

Floodway plus 
200 foot buffer 

rExtent of Floodway 

Angular shaped area that is not included 
in FEMA floodway map is likely a mapping 
error. It is assumed that this entire area will be 
in shoreline jurisdiction. 

Legend 

HAI • 

l ". 1 o and 
:meg r• egue 

C
h

a
ra

ct
e

ri
za

tio
n

 

oes 

in
e
 J

u
ri
s
d
ic

io
n
 

C
it
y
 o

f 
S

e
d

ro
-W

o
o

lle
y
 S

M
P

 
9
 

 R
e
s
to

ra
ti
o
n

 P
la

n
  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 124 of 248



Mbar • M. II • • - W- W • W • • 
`MM.' 

M. 

Map shows FEMA floodway & 
required 200 foot shorelands 
jurisdiction within the 100 year 
floodplain. Also shows 
Sedro-Woolley's preliminary 
shoreline jurisdiction. Only 
areas within city limits are 
under city jurisdicion. 
ic:ZZ,ZZ///7/ 

0 

Area shown with GREEN horizontal 
lines is preliminary shoreline jurisdiction 
inside city limits 

Skagit Rrver 

r bsomenatowamsimmi.olp 

Wetland boundaries depicted 
are approximate. Wetlands ha 
not been formally delineated o 
surveyed and are intended for 
planning purposes only. 
Additional site-specific 
evaluation may be needed to 
confirm or verify the boundarie 

Angular shaped area that is not included 
in FEMA floodway map is likely a mapping 
error. It is assumed that this entire area will be 
in shoreline jurisdiction. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 125 of 248 

VIA' — • • V — w • • w • • - - - - • — U-

Map shows FEMA floodway & 
required 200 foot shorelands 
jurisdiction within the 100 year 
floodplain. Also shows 
Sedro-Woolley's preliminary 
shoreline jurisdiction. Only 
areas within city limits are 
under city jurisdicion. 

0 

-,mratelei ....!.......8•4100ftetril?E400■••• 

Area shown with GREEN horizontal 
lines is preliminary shoreline jurisdiction 
inside city limits 

Skagit Rrver

r bsoNteatowamsimmiwir 

Wetland boundaries depicted 
are approximate. Wetlands ha 
not been formally delineated o 
surveyed and are intended for 
planning purposes only. 
Additional site-specific 
evaluation may be needed to 
confirm or verify the boundarie 

Angular shaped area that is not included 
in FEMA floodway map is likely a mapping 
error. It is assumed that this entire area will be 
in shoreline jurisdiction. 

• 

iCitlf of Sedro-Woolley SMP Update 
Map shows FEMA floodway & 
required 200 foot shorelands 
jurisdiction within the 100 year 
floodplain. Also shows 
Sedro-Woolley's preliminary 
shoreline jurisdiction. Only 
areas within city limits are 
under city jurisdicion. 

C,-.C,CC.CcCj 

Area shown with GREEN horizontal 
lines is preliminary shoreline jurisdiction 
inside city limits 

S\KagA

Wetland boundaries depicted 
are approximate. Wetlands have 
not been formally delineated or 
surveyed and are intended for 
planning purposes only. 
Additional site-specific 
evaluation may be needed to 
confirm or verify the boundaries 

Angular shaped area that is not included 
in FEMA floodway map is likely a mapping 
error. It is assumed that this entire area will be 
in shoreline jurisdiction. 

Legend 

0 
U)

•_ 

C
it
y
 o

f 
S

e
d

ro
-W

o
o

lle
y
 S

M
P

 
1

0
 

 R
e
s
to

ra
ti
o
n

 P
la

n
 

 
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 125 of 248



tielLy Lal OULU Umilif4"..niGy *31111.-  L./F.0%101G 
4i i F. P • k T • 

Map shows FEMA floodway & 
required 200 foot shorelands 
jurisdiction within the 100 year 
floodplain, Also shows 
Sedro-Woolley's preliminary 
shoreline jurisdiction, Only 
areas within city limits are 
under city jurisdicion.

H 

H 
ALL LEH 
H 

n
4 33 V.1.32 

.133323a lJ 

ti

H 

FL 
HH 

it

100 Year Floodplain 

Floodway and 200' 
shoreline buffer 

.23 'SLIM], 

C 

500 Year Floodplain 

vi;rr,r% ,74
. h-fol 

itri xxx ill 

t. 

rp. 

'k. glik 

500 Year Floodplain 

rXr [Ix U.1 Err rE.I Kr• tx ILK Itr Err rE:p 

Area shown with GREEN horizontal
lines is preliminary shoreline jurisdiction 
inside Orly limits 

Ct 

SVigitC:&‘\jec

ri 

Frl

fr 

EMI LEE EX.. at Le,

100 Year Floodplain 

ELI:CCL CGS LEC-cCr. cE.L-ccti 
"tretj 

500 Year Floodplain 

Floodway and 200' shoreline buffer 

Angular shaped area that is not included 
in FEMA floodwav map is likely a mapping 
error_ It is assumed that this entire area will be 
in shoreline jurisdiction. 

Wetland boundaries and OHWM are approximate 

• 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 126 of 248 

%.rity V - 1111 16/MIIVy *„.711111- viauCiLC 

Map shows FEMA floodway & 
required 200 foot shorelands 
jurisdiction within the 100 year 
floodplain. Also shows 
Sedro-Woolley's preliminary 
shoreline jurisdiction. Only 
areas within city limits are 
under city jurisdicion. 

H 

A333 33 

uii 

H

H

6.11 

1100 Year Floodplain 

Floodway and 2001 
shoreline buffer 

•*1O15{;*-iteen:' 

.31243 L ea

;1','"4 

, r

' P T. ••• 

k#4; - • _ 

lipr 
§ 7 c Cr 

T74i' 1,4t 
r 

500 Year Floodplain 

•
Yk 

I 

r 

r 

• 'W 

- 

•AIK. --f 

500 Year Floodplain 

/mITKrtmirriElmEKIECxxxrE tx ILL CCI SE 

m. 

Area shown with GREEN horizontal 
lines is preliminary shoreline jurisdiction 
inside city limits 

[1.

n. . 

H. 

sE27.1. -4- ; 

-----

3-1.140

M 

s\(avt"R‘\le' 

r , s far°, 

17,, ELI7.Mr2rrrirre. 

H 

100 Year Floodplain 

Frt..kr, CECkCCI.LC4.-cC 

500 Year Floodplain 

Floodway and 200' shoreline buffer 

Annular shaped area that is not included 
in FEMA floodway map is likely a mapping 
error_ it is assumed that this entire area will be 
in shoreline jurisdiction. 

Wetland boundaries and OHWM are approximate 

City of Sedro-Woolley SMP Update 
Map shows FEMA floodway & 
required 200 foot shorelands 
jurisdiction within the 100 year 
floodplain. Also shows 
Sedro-Woolley's preliminary 
shoreline jurisdiction. Only 
areas within city limits are 
under city jurisdicion. 

100 Year Floodplain 

Floodway and 200' 
shoreline buffer 

500 Year Floodplain 

"tt !4 
1. 

ifxxxelcar 

..3,:rxxxxx3.:13zasa 

500 Year Floodplain 

[re Er‘cxx.licr_TrEz.LrErt-zrr...i.t-LCCr...0 

Area shown with GREEN horizontal 
lines is preliminary shoreline jurisdiction 
inside city limits 

rxr...mx Cc. 

100 Year Floodplain 

SkagA \\lec

ri Erc.c. 

Trl..CC,CC, CC, cC, cC,cc4 

6rre
u

yr 

500 Year Floodplain 

Floodway and 200' shoreline buffer 

Angular shaped area that is not included 
in FEMA floodway map is likely a mapping 
error. It is assumed that this entire area will be 
in shoreline jurisdiction. 

Wetland boundaries and OHWM are approximate 

ir.r" k • 

Legend 

C
it
y
 o

f 
S

e
d

ro
-W

o
o

lle
y
 S

M
P

 
1
1
 

 R
e
s
to

ra
ti
o
n

 P
la

n
 

 

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 126 of 248



Appendix C to Shoreline Management Program - Shoreline Critical Areas Regulations 

Article I. General Provisions 

Introduction. 

This chapter shall be known as the Shoreline Master Program (SMP) Critical Areas Regulations and it is adopted 

as part of the SMP to assist in orderly development, conserve the value of property, safeguard the public 

welfare, and provide protection for defined critical areas within the City of Sedro-Woolley's shoreline jurisdiction. 

The ordinance codified in this chapter was developed under the directives of the Shoreline Management Act to 

conserve, protect, and provide no-net-loss of critical areas ecological functions and values within the shoreline 

jurisdiction. Critical areas are defined as wetlands, aquifer recharge areas, flood hazard areas, geologically 

hazardous areas, and fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas. Some of these areas, such as geologic 

hazards and flood hazard areas are critical because of the hazard they represent to public health. Others, such 

as fish and wildlife habitats and wetlands are critical because of their public value. 

Critical areas will be designated by definition and then classified through site assessments so that they can be 

identified using scientifically based criteria, protected, or their functions and values mitigated resulting in no-net-

loss. The use of site assessments to confirm the actual presence and classification of critical areas is central to 

the management approach developed under this chapter. 

The ordinance codified in this chapter was drafted to provide regulatory structure for identification, designation, 

protection, and mitigation of critical areas in the shoreline jurisdiction. This chapter allows staff to provide site 

visits, preliminary reviews, and pre-application meetings to assist in the identification of critical areas in the 

shoreline jurisdiction. 

Critical Area Maps. Maps are useful primarily as an indicator of the distribution and extent of critical areas. Maps 

will be used wherever possible as part of the screening process for evaluating individual applications. Critical 

areas maps may be updated as critical areas are delineated through the application process. Although a number 

of map resources are utilized in this chapter, regulatory measures such as buffer requirements are based upon 

the identification of critical areas during the permit, development authorization, or other approval processes. 

These maps include the location of known or potential critical areas and are based on the best available science 

information, and include natural resource information, gathered through field inventory, as well as information 

prepared by applicable state and federal agencies. These maps shall be referred to as the "Critical Areas Maps" 

of the city of Sedro-Woolley. 

Application, purpose. 

A. This chapter shall apply to land use, development, structures, facilities, and platting located in the shoreline 

jurisdiction, alternately referred to as the shoreline management zone (SMZ), of the city of Sedro-Woolley, within 

the geographical areas that meet the definitions and criteria for critical areas regulation as set forth in this 

chapter. No development activity or alteration of land, water, or vegetation within a critical area or its standard 

buffer, except as specifically allowed by this chapter, shall be allowed without prior authorization by the director. 

1 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 127 of 248 

1 
 

Appendix C to Shoreline Management Program - Shoreline Critical Areas Regulations 

 

Article I. General Provisions 

Introduction. 

This chapter shall be known as the Shoreline Master Program (SMP) Critical Areas Regulations and it is adopted 

as part of the SMP to assist in orderly development, conserve the value of property, safeguard the public 

welfare, and provide protection for defined critical areas within the City of Sedro-Woolley’s shoreline jurisdiction. 

The ordinance codified in this chapter was developed under the directives of the Shoreline Management Act to 

conserve, protect, and provide no-net-loss of critical areas ecological functions and values within the shoreline 

jurisdiction. Critical areas are defined as wetlands, aquifer recharge areas, flood hazard areas, geologically 

hazardous areas, and fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas. Some of these areas, such as geologic 

hazards and flood hazard areas are critical because of the hazard they represent to public health. Others, such 

as fish and wildlife habitats and wetlands are critical because of their public value. 

Critical areas will be designated by definition and then classified through site assessments so that they can be 

identified using scientifically based criteria, protected, or their functions and values mitigated resulting in no-net-

loss. The use of site assessments to confirm the actual presence and classification of critical areas is central to 

the management approach developed under this chapter. 

The ordinance codified in this chapter was drafted to provide regulatory structure for identification, designation, 

protection, and mitigation of critical areas in the shoreline jurisdiction. This chapter allows staff to provide site 

visits, preliminary reviews, and pre-application meetings to assist in the identification of critical areas in the 

shoreline jurisdiction. 

Critical Area Maps. Maps are useful primarily as an indicator of the distribution and extent of critical areas. Maps 

will be used wherever possible as part of the screening process for evaluating individual applications. Critical 

areas maps may be updated as critical areas are delineated through the application process. Although a number 

of map resources are utilized in this chapter, regulatory measures such as buffer requirements are based upon 

the identification of critical areas during the permit, development authorization, or other approval processes. 

These maps include the location of known or potential critical areas and are based on the best available science 

information, and include natural resource information, gathered through field inventory, as well as information 

prepared by applicable state and federal agencies. These maps shall be referred to as the “Critical Areas Maps” 

of the city of Sedro-Woolley.  

Application, purpose. 

A.    This chapter shall apply to land use, development, structures, facilities, and platting located in the shoreline 

jurisdiction, alternately referred to as the shoreline management zone (SMZ), of the city of Sedro-Woolley, within 

the geographical areas that meet the definitions and criteria for critical areas regulation as set forth in this 

chapter. No development activity or alteration of land, water, or vegetation within a critical area or its standard 

buffer, except as specifically allowed by this chapter, shall be allowed without prior authorization by the director. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 127 of 248



For critical areas (and their buffers) located outside of the SMZ, see the Sedro-Woolley Critical Areas Ordinance 

in Chapter 17.65 SWMC. 

B. The purpose of these regulations is to: 

1. Protect human life, property, and the public health and safety of the citizens of Sedro-Woolley; 

2. Minimize the expenditure of public money; 

3. Maintain the city's flood insurance eligibility while avoiding regulations which are unnecessarily 

restrictive or difficult to administer; 

4. Ensure that wetland, fish and wildlife habitat, and other critical area functions and values are 

protected or mitigated for no-net-loss to provide public benefits in accordance with the Shoreline 

Management Act. 

C. The following shall constitute critical areas: 

1. Wetlands and Riparian Corridors, Including Brickyard Creek, Willard Creek, Hanson Creek and 

Tributaries. Wetlands and riparian corridors serve many important ecological and environmental 

functions and help to protect public health, safety and welfare by providing flood storage and 

conveyance, erosion control, fish and shellfish production, fish and wildlife habitat, recreation, water 

quality protection, water storage, education, scientific research and other public benefits. It is the 

purpose of this chapter to protect these functions to prevent the continual loss of wetlands and riparian 

corridors, and where practical to enhance or restore wetlands and riparian corridors functions and 

values. 

2. Areas with a Critical Recharging Effect on Aquifers Used for Potable Water. Potable water is an 

essential life-sustaining element. Sedro-Woolley's drinking water comes from Public Utility District #1, 

rather than groundwater supplies. Once groundwater is contaminated, it is difficult, costly, and 

sometimes impossible to clean-up. It is the purpose of this chapter to prevent contamination and 

depletion, avoid exorbitant clean-up costs, hardships and potential physical harm to people. There are 

some existing wells used for irrigation in the city limits that are not mapped. 

3. Fish and Wildlife Habitat Conservation Areas. In addition to their intrinsic value, certain species of 

fish and wildlife represent important historic, cultural, recreational and economic resources. Many 

species serve as indicators of the condition of the environment and the quality of life that local residents 

have invested in, enjoy and respect. It is the purpose of this chapter to protect, restore where practical, 

and enhance fish and wildlife populations and their associated habitats. 

4. Frequently Flooded Areas. It is the purpose of this chapter to promote the public health, safety, and 

general welfare, and to minimize public and private losses due to flood conditions in the floodplain and 

the floodway according to the provisions established under this code; and 

5. Geologically Hazardous Areas. Geologically hazardous areas include areas susceptible to the 

effects of erosion, sliding, earthquake, or other geologic events. They pose a threat to the health and 

safety of citizens when incompatible residential, commercial, industrial, or infrastructure development is 

sited in areas of a hazard. Geologic hazards pose a risk to life, property, and resources when steep 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 128 of 248 

2 
 

For critical areas (and their buffers) located outside of the SMZ, see the Sedro-Woolley Critical Areas Ordinance 

in Chapter 17.65 SWMC. 

B.    The purpose of these regulations is to: 

1.    Protect human life, property, and the public health and safety of the citizens of Sedro-Woolley; 

2.    Minimize the expenditure of public money; 

3.    Maintain the city’s flood insurance eligibility while avoiding regulations which are unnecessarily 

restrictive or difficult to administer; 

4.    Ensure that wetland, fish and wildlife habitat, and other critical area functions and values are 

protected or mitigated for no-net-loss to provide public benefits in accordance with the Shoreline 

Management Act. 

C.    The following shall constitute critical areas: 

1.    Wetlands and Riparian Corridors, Including Brickyard Creek, Willard Creek, Hanson Creek and 

Tributaries. Wetlands and riparian corridors serve many important ecological and environmental 

functions and help to protect public health, safety and welfare by providing flood storage and 

conveyance, erosion control, fish and shellfish production, fish and wildlife habitat, recreation, water 

quality protection, water storage, education, scientific research and other public benefits. It is the 

purpose of this chapter to protect these functions to prevent the continual loss of wetlands and riparian 

corridors, and where practical to enhance or restore wetlands and riparian corridors functions and 

values. 

2.    Areas with a Critical Recharging Effect on Aquifers Used for Potable Water. Potable water is an 

essential life-sustaining element. Sedro-Woolley’s drinking water comes from Public Utility District #1, 

rather than groundwater supplies. Once groundwater is contaminated, it is difficult, costly, and 

sometimes impossible to clean-up. It is the purpose of this chapter to prevent contamination and 

depletion, avoid exorbitant clean-up costs, hardships and potential physical harm to people. There are 

some existing wells used for irrigation in the city limits that are not mapped. 

3.    Fish and Wildlife Habitat Conservation Areas. In addition to their intrinsic value, certain species of 

fish and wildlife represent important historic, cultural, recreational and economic resources. Many 

species serve as indicators of the condition of the environment and the quality of life that local residents 

have invested in, enjoy and respect. It is the purpose of this chapter to protect, restore where practical, 

and enhance fish and wildlife populations and their associated habitats. 

4.    Frequently Flooded Areas. It is the purpose of this chapter to promote the public health, safety, and 

general welfare, and to minimize public and private losses due to flood conditions in the floodplain and 

the floodway according to the provisions established under this code; and 

5.    Geologically Hazardous Areas. Geologically hazardous areas include areas susceptible to the 

effects of erosion, sliding, earthquake, or other geologic events. They pose a threat to the health and 

safety of citizens when incompatible residential, commercial, industrial, or infrastructure development is 

sited in areas of a hazard. Geologic hazards pose a risk to life, property, and resources when steep 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 128 of 248



slopes are destabilized by inappropriate activities and development or when structures or facilities are 

sited in areas susceptible to natural or human caused geologic events. Some geologic hazards can be 

reduced or mitigated by engineering, design, or modified construction practices so that risks to health 

and safety are acceptable. When technology cannot reduce risks to acceptable levels, building and 

other construction within identified geologically hazardous areas shall be prohibited. 

D. Exemptions from Critical Areas Review Requirements. Subject to the limitations established in this chapter 

the following developments, associated uses and activities shall be exempt from the critical areas review 

procedures: 

1. Emergency activities necessary to reduce or prevent an immediate threat to public health, safety, 

and welfare. Such emergency is an unanticipated, imminent threat to the public health or safety or to 

the environment that requires immediate action within a period of time too short to allow full compliance 

with this chapter (However, emergency activities are subject to WAC 173-27-040(2)(d) — emergencies 

exempt from shoreline substantial development permits); 

2. Ongoing agriculture activities, including related development and activities that do not result in an 

expansion or further expansion into a critical area or its standard buffer; 

3. Normal and routine maintenance or repair of existing structures, utilities, sewage disposal systems, 

potable water systems, drainage facilities, ponds or public and private roads and driveways associated 

with existing residential or commercial development; normal maintenance, repair, or operation of 

existing structures, facilities, and improved areas accessory to a single-family residential use; and such 

maintenance activities are limited to existing landscaping improvements and do not expand into critical 

areas or associated buffers, do not expose soils, do not alter topography, do not destroy or clear native 

vegetation, and do not diminish water quality or quantity; 

4. Modification of any existing residence that does not add to or alter the existing use and does not 

expand the building footprint or increase septic effluent; 

5. Activities involving artificially created wetlands or artificial watercourses intentionally created from 

nonwetland sites, including, but not limited to, grass-lined swales, irrigation and drainage ditches, road 

side ditches, stormwater detention facilities, and landscape features, except those features that provide 

critical habitat for anadromous fish and those features that were created as mitigation pursuant to the 

provisions of this chapter; 

6. Passive outdoor recreation activities that do not adversely impact critical areas or their buffers; 

7. Education and scientific research activities that do not adversely impact critical areas or their 

buffers. 

8. Those activities listed in section VI (B) (1) of the SMP are exempt from shoreline substantial 

development permits. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 129 of 248 

3 
 

slopes are destabilized by inappropriate activities and development or when structures or facilities are 

sited in areas susceptible to natural or human caused geologic events. Some geologic hazards can be 

reduced or mitigated by engineering, design, or modified construction practices so that risks to health 

and safety are acceptable. When technology cannot reduce risks to acceptable levels, building and 

other construction within identified geologically hazardous areas shall be prohibited. 

D.    Exemptions from Critical Areas Review Requirements. Subject to the limitations established in this chapter 

the following developments, associated uses and activities shall be exempt from the critical areas review 

procedures: 

1.    Emergency activities necessary to reduce or prevent an immediate threat to public health, safety, 

and welfare. Such emergency is an unanticipated, imminent threat to the public health or safety or to 

the environment that requires immediate action within a period of time too short to allow full compliance 

with this chapter (However, emergency activities are subject to WAC 173-27-040(2)(d) – emergencies 

exempt from shoreline substantial development permits); 

2.    Ongoing agriculture activities, including related development and activities that do not result in an 

expansion or further expansion into a critical area or its standard buffer; 

3.    Normal and routine maintenance or repair of existing structures, utilities, sewage disposal systems, 

potable water systems, drainage facilities, ponds or public and private roads and driveways associated 

with existing residential or commercial development; normal maintenance, repair, or operation of 

existing structures, facilities, and improved areas accessory to a single-family residential use; and such 

maintenance activities are limited to existing landscaping improvements and do not expand into critical 

areas or associated buffers, do not expose soils, do not alter topography, do not destroy or clear native 

vegetation, and do not diminish water quality or quantity; 

4.    Modification of any existing residence that does not add to or alter the existing use and does not 

expand the building footprint or increase septic effluent; 

5.    Activities involving artificially created wetlands or artificial watercourses intentionally created from 

nonwetland sites, including, but not limited to, grass-lined swales, irrigation and drainage ditches, road 

side ditches, stormwater detention facilities, and landscape features, except those features that provide 

critical habitat for anadromous fish and those features that were created as mitigation pursuant to the 

provisions of this chapter; 

6.    Passive outdoor recreation activities that do not adversely impact critical areas or their buffers; 

7.    Education and scientific research activities that do not adversely impact critical areas or their 

buffers.  

8.    Those activities listed in section VI (B) (1) of the SMP are exempt from shoreline substantial 

development permits.  

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 129 of 248



Definitions. 

As used in this chapter: 

"Anadromous fish" refers to a fish species that ascend rivers from the sea to spawn. 

"Aquifer recharge areas, critical" refer to areas where an aquifer that is a source of drinking water is vulnerable to 

contamination that would affect the potability of water. 

"Artificial watercourse" refers to ditches and other water conveyance systems, not constructed from natural 

watercourses, which are artificially constructed and actively maintained for irrigation and drainage. Artificial 

watercourses include lateral field ditches used to drain farmland where the ditch did not replace a natural 

watercourse, roadside ditches, stormwater systems, or any other constructed drainage ditch. 

"Best available science" refers to information gathered, analyzed and presented based on professional 

experience, expertise, and judgment, and established scientific principles and practices. Such principles and 

practices include peer review, use of scientific methodology, logical analysis and reasonable inference, statistical 

analysis, rigorous referencing within the scientific literature, and conclusions drawn from within an accepted 

scientific framework and placed in an appropriate scientific context. 

"Best management practices (BMPs)" refer to physical, structural, and/or managerial practices, that when used 

singly or in combination, prevent or reduce water pollution. Source control BMPs include those which keep the 

pollutant from ever coming in contact with stormwater, and stormwater treatment BMPs include those which 

consist of various methods of treating stormwater. See also SWMC Chapter 13.36 and Chapter 13.40 

(Stormwater Management). 

"Biological assessment" refers to a study prepared by a qualified biologist that describes the biotic and abiotic 

aspects of the site and surrounding area. This includes, but is not limited to, the flora, fauna, plant communities, 

habitat(s), streams, wetlands, soils, and topography of and on the site and adjacent area. 

"Buffer, critical area" is an area that provides a reasonable margin of safety through protection of slope stability, 

attenuation of surface water flows and landslide hazards reasonably necessary to minimize risk to the public 

from loss of life or well-being or property damage resulting from natural disasters; or an area which is an integral 

part of a stream or wetland ecosystem or wildlife habitat and that provides shading, input of organic debris and 

coarse sediments, room for variation in stream or wetland boundaries, habitat for wildlife, and protection from 

harmful intrusion necessary to protect the public from losses suffered when the functions and values of aquatic 

resources are degraded. 

"Compensatory mitigation" is replacing project-induced critical area losses or impacts, and includes, but is not 

limited to, restoration, creation, or enhancement. 

"Critical areas" mean and include the following areas and ecosystems: 

1. Wetlands; 

2. Areas with a critical recharging effect on aquifers used for potable water; 

3. Fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas; 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 130 of 248 

4 
 

Definitions. 

As used in this chapter: 

“Anadromous fish” refers to a fish species that ascend rivers from the sea to spawn. 

“Aquifer recharge areas, critical” refer to areas where an aquifer that is a source of drinking water is vulnerable to 

contamination that would affect the potability of water. 

“Artificial watercourse” refers to ditches and other water conveyance systems, not constructed from natural 

watercourses, which are artificially constructed and actively maintained for irrigation and drainage. Artificial 

watercourses include lateral field ditches used to drain farmland where the ditch did not replace a natural 

watercourse, roadside ditches, stormwater systems, or any other constructed drainage ditch. 

“Best available science” refers to information gathered, analyzed and presented based on professional 

experience, expertise, and judgment, and established scientific principles and practices. Such principles and 

practices include peer review, use of scientific methodology, logical analysis and reasonable inference, statistical 

analysis, rigorous referencing within the scientific literature, and conclusions drawn from within an accepted 

scientific framework and placed in an appropriate scientific context. 

“Best management practices (BMPs)” refer to physical, structural, and/or managerial practices, that when used 

singly or in combination, prevent or reduce water pollution. Source control BMPs include those which keep the 

pollutant from ever coming in contact with stormwater, and stormwater treatment BMPs include those which 

consist of various methods of treating stormwater. See also SWMC Chapter 13.36 and Chapter 13.40 

(Stormwater Management). 

“Biological assessment” refers to a study prepared by a qualified biologist that describes the biotic and abiotic 

aspects of the site and surrounding area. This includes, but is not limited to, the flora, fauna, plant communities, 

habitat(s), streams, wetlands, soils, and topography of and on the site and adjacent area. 

“Buffer, critical area” is an area that provides a reasonable margin of safety through protection of slope stability, 

attenuation of surface water flows and landslide hazards reasonably necessary to minimize risk to the public 

from loss of life or well-being or property damage resulting from natural disasters; or an area which is an integral 

part of a stream or wetland ecosystem or wildlife habitat and that provides shading, input of organic debris and 

coarse sediments, room for variation in stream or wetland boundaries, habitat for wildlife, and protection from 

harmful intrusion necessary to protect the public from losses suffered when the functions and values of aquatic 

resources are degraded. 

“Compensatory mitigation” is replacing project-induced critical area losses or impacts, and includes, but is not 

limited to, restoration, creation, or enhancement. 

“Critical areas” mean and include the following areas and ecosystems: 

1.    Wetlands; 

2.    Areas with a critical recharging effect on aquifers used for potable water; 

3.    Fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas; 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 130 of 248

http://www.codepublishing.com/wa/sedrowoolley/html/SedroWoolley13/SedroWoolley1336.html#13.36
http://www.codepublishing.com/wa/sedrowoolley/html/SedroWoolley13/SedroWoolley1340.html#13.40


4. Frequently flooded areas; and 

5. Geologically hazardous areas. 

"Delineation" is the precise determination of wetland boundaries in the field according to the application of 

specific methodology as described in the approved U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Wetlands Delineation Manual 

and applicable regional supplements. 

"Development" means a use consisting of the construction or exterior alteration of structures; dredging; drilling; 

dumping; filling; removal of any sand, gravel, or minerals; bulkheading; driving of piling; placing of obstructions; 

or any project of a permanent or temporary nature which interferes with the normal public use of the surface of 

the waters overlying lands subject to the act at any stage of water level. 

"Director" means the city of Sedro-Woolley planning director or his/her designee. 

"Fish and Wildlife Habitat Conservation Areas (HCA)" refer to areas with which endangered, threatened, 

sensitive, priority species, their habitat, streams, stream corridors, or mature forested areas, as indicated by 

local, state, or federal governmental agencies have a primary association. 

"Geologically hazardous areas" are areas that because of their susceptibility to erosion, sliding, earthquake, or 

other geological events, are not suited to siting commercial, residential, or industrial development consistent with 

public health or safety concerns. 

"Habitats of local importance" mean and include a seasonal range or habitat element with which a given species 

has a primary association, and which, if altered, may reduce the likelihood that the species will maintain and 

reproduce over the long-term. These might include areas of high relative density or species richness, breeding 

habitat, winter range, and movement corridors. These might also include habitats that are of limited availability or 

high vulnerability to alteration, such as cliffs, talus, mature forests, corridors, and wetlands. 

"In-lieu of fee" refers to a fee paid as compensation for impacting a critical area in place of completing 

compensatory mitigation. Any in-lieu fee paid shall go towards protection of habitat commensurate to 

compensate the lost functions and values of the critical area affected by a development. 

"Mean sea level" means the average height of the sea for all stages of tide, also equals National Geodetic 

Vertical Datum. 

"Mobile home or manufactured home" means any structure designed or used as a permanent residence, built on 

a permanent chassis, and transportable to site of placement in one or more sections. 

"Mobile home park or manufactured home park" means a parcel of land in one ownership containing two or more 

mobile homes or manufactured homes, sited for habitation. 

"Native vegetation" refers to plant species that are indigenous to the Sedro-Woolley area. 

"Natural watercourse" refers to any stream in existence prior to settlement that originated from a natural source. 

An example of a natural watercourse is a stream that originates in a wetland or upland area, flows through 

5 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 131 of 248 

5 
 

4.    Frequently flooded areas; and 

5.    Geologically hazardous areas. 

“Delineation” is the precise determination of wetland boundaries in the field according to the application of 

specific methodology as described in the approved U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Wetlands Delineation Manual 

and applicable regional supplements. 

“Development” means a use consisting of the construction or exterior alteration of structures; dredging; drilling; 

dumping; filling; removal of any sand, gravel, or minerals; bulkheading; driving of piling; placing of obstructions; 

or any project of a permanent or temporary nature which interferes with the normal public use of the surface of 

the waters overlying lands subject to the act at any stage of water level. 

“Director” means the city of Sedro-Woolley planning director or his/her designee. 

“Fish and Wildlife Habitat Conservation Areas (HCA)” refer to areas with which endangered, threatened, 

sensitive, priority species, their habitat, streams, stream corridors, or mature forested areas, as indicated by 

local, state, or federal governmental agencies have a primary association. 

“Geologically hazardous areas” are areas that because of their susceptibility to erosion, sliding, earthquake, or 

other geological events, are not suited to siting commercial, residential, or industrial development consistent with 

public health or safety concerns. 

“Habitats of local importance” mean and include a seasonal range or habitat element with which a given species 

has a primary association, and which, if altered, may reduce the likelihood that the species will maintain and 

reproduce over the long-term. These might include areas of high relative density or species richness, breeding 

habitat, winter range, and movement corridors. These might also include habitats that are of limited availability or 

high vulnerability to alteration, such as cliffs, talus, mature forests, corridors, and wetlands. 

“In-lieu of fee” refers to a fee paid as compensation for impacting a critical area in place of completing 

compensatory mitigation. Any in-lieu fee paid shall go towards protection of habitat commensurate to 

compensate the lost functions and values of the critical area affected by a development. 

“Mean sea level” means the average height of the sea for all stages of tide, also equals National Geodetic 

Vertical Datum. 

“Mobile home or manufactured home” means any structure designed or used as a permanent residence, built on 

a permanent chassis, and transportable to site of placement in one or more sections. 

“Mobile home park or manufactured home park” means a parcel of land in one ownership containing two or more 

mobile homes or manufactured homes, sited for habitation. 

“Native vegetation” refers to plant species that are indigenous to the Sedro-Woolley area. 

“Natural watercourse” refers to any stream in existence prior to settlement that originated from a natural source. 

An example of a natural watercourse is a stream that originates in a wetland or upland area, flows through 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 131 of 248



agricultural, rural, and/or urban areas, and ultimately empties into a saltwater bay or another watercourse. A 

natural watercourse may have been ditched or piped. 

"Primary association" means the use of a habitat area by a species for breeding, nesting, rearing young, 

roosting, feeding, or foraging on a regular basis. 

"Public facilities" mean and include streets, roads, highways, sidewalks, street and road lighting systems, traffic 

signals, domestic water systems, storm and sanitary sewer systems, parks and recreation facilities, and schools. 

"Public services" mean and include fire protection and suppression, law enforcement, public health, education, 

recreation, environmental protection, and other governmental services. 

"Qualified expert" means a person having substantially demonstrated experience as a practicing specialist with a 

minimum of five years experience working full time in the profession and who has a degree in a related field from 

an accredited college or university or who has equivalent training. 

"Residential health care facilities" mean facilities caring for elderly or infirm persons wherein clients are partly or 

entirely residents or detainees thereof. Includes hospitals, convalescent homes and homes for the elderly where 

some supervision or health care is provided. 

"Seismic hazard areas" are areas subject to severe risk of damage as a result of earthquake induced ground 

shaking, slope failure, settlement, or soil liquefaction. The city of Sedro-Woolley is located in Seismic Zone 3 and 

construction is required to comply with the Uniform Building Code seismic standards. 

"Species of local importance" are those species that are of local concern due to their population status or their 

sensitivity to habitat manipulation. 

"Steep slope areas" are areas with slopes greater than fifteen percent. 

"Structure" means a permanent or temporary edifice or building, or any piece of work artificially built or 

composed of parts joined together in some definite manner, whether installed on, above, or below the surface of 

the ground or water, except for vessels. 

"Substantial improvement" means any repair, reconstruction, or improvement to a structure, the cost of which 

equals or exceeds fifty percent of the market value of the structure either: 

1. Before the improvement is started; or 

2. If the structure has been damaged and is being restored, before the damage occurred. 

This term does not, however, include either: 

1. Any project for improvement of a structure to correct existing violations of state or local health, 

sanitary, or safety code specifications which have been identified by the local code enforcement official 

and which are necessary to assure safe living conditions; or 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 132 of 248 

6 
 

agricultural, rural, and/or urban areas, and ultimately empties into a saltwater bay or another watercourse. A 

natural watercourse may have been ditched or piped. 

“Primary association” means the use of a habitat area by a species for breeding, nesting, rearing young, 

roosting, feeding, or foraging on a regular basis. 

“Public facilities” mean and include streets, roads, highways, sidewalks, street and road lighting systems, traffic 

signals, domestic water systems, storm and sanitary sewer systems, parks and recreation facilities, and schools. 

“Public services” mean and include fire protection and suppression, law enforcement, public health, education, 

recreation, environmental protection, and other governmental services. 

“Qualified expert” means a person having substantially demonstrated experience as a practicing specialist with a 

minimum of five years experience working full time in the profession and who has a degree in a related field from 

an accredited college or university or who has equivalent training. 

“Residential health care facilities” mean facilities caring for elderly or infirm persons wherein clients are partly or 

entirely residents or detainees thereof. Includes hospitals, convalescent homes and homes for the elderly where 

some supervision or health care is provided. 

“Seismic hazard areas” are areas subject to severe risk of damage as a result of earthquake induced ground 

shaking, slope failure, settlement, or soil liquefaction. The city of Sedro-Woolley is located in Seismic Zone 3 and 

construction is required to comply with the Uniform Building Code seismic standards. 

“Species of local importance” are those species that are of local concern due to their population status or their 

sensitivity to habitat manipulation. 

“Steep slope areas” are areas with slopes greater than fifteen percent. 

“Structure” means a permanent or temporary edifice or building, or any piece of work artificially built or 

composed of parts joined together in some definite manner, whether installed on, above, or below the surface of 

the ground or water, except for vessels. 

“Substantial improvement” means any repair, reconstruction, or improvement to a structure, the cost of which 

equals or exceeds fifty percent of the market value of the structure either: 

1.    Before the improvement is started; or 

2.    If the structure has been damaged and is being restored, before the damage occurred. 

This term does not, however, include either: 

1.    Any project for improvement of a structure to correct existing violations of state or local health, 

sanitary, or safety code specifications which have been identified by the local code enforcement official 

and which are necessary to assure safe living conditions; or 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 132 of 248



2. Any alteration of a structure listed in the National or State Register of Historic Places. 

"Unavoidable impacts" refer to affecting critical areas where site conditions preclude avoidance because of 

density requirements, critical areas that bisect parcels such as streams or linear wetlands, or parcels that contain 

many small wetlands. 

"Urban growth" refers to growth that makes intensive use of land for the location of buildings, structures, and 

impermeable surfaces to such a degree as to be incompatible with the primary use of such land for the 

production of food, other agricultural produce, or fiber, or the extraction of mineral resources. When allowed to 

spread over wide areas, urban growth typically requires urban governmental services. "Characterized by urban 

growth" refers to land having urban growth located on it, or to land located in relationship to an area with urban 

growth on it as to be appropriate for urban growth. 

'Wetland" or "wetlands" means areas that are inundated or saturated by surface water or groundwater at a 

frequency and duration sufficient to support, and that under normal circumstances do support, a prevalence of 

vegetation typically adapted for life in saturated soil conditions. Wetlands generally include swamps, marshes, 

bogs, and similar areas. Wetlands do not include those artificial wetlands intentionally created from nonwetland 

sites, including, but not limited to, irrigation and drainage ditches, grass-lined swales, canals, detention facilities, 

wastewater treatment facilities, farm ponds, and landscape amenities, or those wetlands created after July I, 

1990, that were unintentionally created as a result of the construction of a road, street or highway. However, 

wetlands may include these artificial wetlands intentionally created from nonwetland areas created to mitigate 

conversion of wetlands, if permitted by the city. 

'Wetland mitigation bank" means a wetland area that has been restored, created, enhanced, or (in exceptional 

circumstances) preserved, which is then set aside to compensate for future conversions of wetlands for 

development activities. A wetland bank may be created when a government agency, a corporation, or a nonprofit 

organization undertakes such activities under a formal agreement with a regulatory agency. The value of a bank 

is determined by quantifying the wetland values restored or created in terms of "credits." 

Authority. 

The ordinance codified in this chapter is adopted under the authority of Chapter 90.58 RCW. 

Applicability, jurisdiction and coordination. 

A. Relationship to Other Federal, State and County Jurisdictional Agencies' Regulations. Many state, federal 

and regional regulations apply to projects conducted within critical areas. Uses otherwise allowed by local codes 

do not eliminate other agency regulatory requirements. 

1. Federal regulations include: 

a. Clean Water Act, Section 404, 401; 

b. Coastal Zone Management Act; 

c. Endangered Species Act; 

d. Federal Water Pollution Control Act; 

e. Food Security Act—Swampbuster; 

f. National Environmental Policy Act; 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 133 of 248 

7 
 

2.    Any alteration of a structure listed in the National or State Register of Historic Places. 

“Unavoidable impacts” refer to affecting critical areas where site conditions preclude avoidance because of 

density requirements, critical areas that bisect parcels such as streams or linear wetlands, or parcels that contain 

many small wetlands. 

“Urban growth” refers to growth that makes intensive use of land for the location of buildings, structures, and 

impermeable surfaces to such a degree as to be incompatible with the primary use of such land for the 

production of food, other agricultural produce, or fiber, or the extraction of mineral resources. When allowed to 

spread over wide areas, urban growth typically requires urban governmental services. “Characterized by urban 

growth” refers to land having urban growth located on it, or to land located in relationship to an area with urban 

growth on it as to be appropriate for urban growth. 

“Wetland” or “wetlands” means areas that are inundated or saturated by surface water or groundwater at a 

frequency and duration sufficient to support, and that under normal circumstances do support, a prevalence of 

vegetation typically adapted for life in saturated soil conditions. Wetlands generally include swamps, marshes, 

bogs, and similar areas. Wetlands do not include those artificial wetlands intentionally created from nonwetland 

sites, including, but not limited to, irrigation and drainage ditches, grass-lined swales, canals, detention facilities, 

wastewater treatment facilities, farm ponds, and landscape amenities, or those wetlands created after July l, 

1990, that were unintentionally created as a result of the construction of a road, street or highway. However, 

wetlands may include these artificial wetlands intentionally created from nonwetland areas created to mitigate 

conversion of wetlands, if permitted by the city. 

“Wetland mitigation bank” means a wetland area that has been restored, created, enhanced, or (in exceptional 

circumstances) preserved, which is then set aside to compensate for future conversions of wetlands for 

development activities. A wetland bank may be created when a government agency, a corporation, or a nonprofit 

organization undertakes such activities under a formal agreement with a regulatory agency. The value of a bank 

is determined by quantifying the wetland values restored or created in terms of “credits.”  

Authority. 

The ordinance codified in this chapter is adopted under the authority of Chapter 90.58 RCW.  

Applicability, jurisdiction and coordination. 

A.    Relationship to Other Federal, State and County Jurisdictional Agencies’ Regulations. Many state, federal 

and regional regulations apply to projects conducted within critical areas. Uses otherwise allowed by local codes 

do not eliminate other agency regulatory requirements. 

1.    Federal regulations include: 

a.    Clean Water Act, Section 404, 401; 

b.    Coastal Zone Management Act; 

c.    Endangered Species Act; 

d.    Federal Water Pollution Control Act; 

e.    Food Security Act—Swampbuster; 

f.     National Environmental Policy Act; 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 133 of 248



g. National Floodplain Insurance Program; 

h. River and Harbor Act, Section 10. 

2. State regulations include: 

a. RCW 43.21C State Environmental Policy Act; 

b. RCW 75.20 Hydraulic Project Approval; 

c. RCW 76.09 Forest Practices Regulations; 

d. RCW 77.12 Bald Eagle Protection Rules; 

e. RCW 78.44 Surface Mining Act; 

f. RCW 86.16 Floodplains; 

g. RCW 90.03 State Water Code; 

h. RCW 90.48 State Water Pollution Control Act; 

i. RCW 90.58 Shoreline Management Act. 

3. Local regulations include: 

a. SWMC Chapter 2.88, Environmental Policy; 
b. SWMC Chapter 13.36, Stormwater Management Standards. 

B. Jurisdictional Substitution. In cases where other agencies possess jurisdictional control over critical areas 

and it is determined by the director that the permit conditions in permits issued by those other agencies satisfy 

the requirements of this chapter, those requirements may substitute for the requirements of this chapter. Such 

requirements shall be a condition of critical area approval and be enforceable under this chapter. Such agencies 

may include, but are not limited to, the United States Army Corps of Engineers, Environmental Protection 

Agency, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service; local tribes, the Washington State Department of Ecology, Washington 

State Department of Natural Resources and Washington State Department of Fish and Wildlife. The applicant 

shall be notified in writing when any such substitution is made. 

Resource information and maps. 

A. Critical areas defined and identified in this chapter shall be mapped whenever possible. These maps shall 

be advisory and used by the director to provide guidance in determining applicability of the standards to a 

property. Sites which include critical areas, whether mapped or not mapped, shall be subject to the provisions of 

this chapter. The adopted shoreline areas map in the SMP, the aerial topographic map of the city of Sedro-

Woolley, October 2003 and subsequent updates, along with wetland delineation maps in the city of Sedro-

Woolley land use files, are the advisory maps, along with the "Flood Insurance Study, City of Sedro-Woolley," 

dated December 1, 1989, and any revisions thereto, with accompanying flood insurance rate map (FIRM), dated 

December 1, 1989. That document is on file at Sedro-Woolley City Hall, 325 Metcalf Street. 

B. Recognizing the necessity for accurate geographic information, a comprehensive inventory identifying the 

location, size, and other characteristics of critical areas shall be compiled as new data is available. 

C. The results of the inventory shall be transferred to maps and published. These maps shall be available at 

the planning department for public inspection. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 134 of 248 

8 
 

g.    National Floodplain Insurance Program; 

h.    River and Harbor Act, Section 10. 

 

2.    State regulations include: 

a.    RCW 43.21C State Environmental Policy Act; 

b.    RCW 75.20 Hydraulic Project Approval; 

c.    RCW 76.09 Forest Practices Regulations; 

d.    RCW 77.12 Bald Eagle Protection Rules; 

e.    RCW 78.44 Surface Mining Act; 

f.     RCW 86.16 Floodplains; 

g.    RCW 90.03 State Water Code; 

h.    RCW 90.48 State Water Pollution Control Act; 

i.     RCW 90.58 Shoreline Management Act. 

 

3.    Local regulations include: 

a.    SWMC Chapter 2.88, Environmental Policy; 

b.    SWMC Chapter 13.36, Stormwater Management Standards. 

 

B.    Jurisdictional Substitution. In cases where other agencies possess jurisdictional control over critical areas 

and it is determined by the director that the permit conditions in permits issued by those other agencies satisfy 

the requirements of this chapter, those requirements may substitute for the requirements of this chapter. Such 

requirements shall be a condition of critical area approval and be enforceable under this chapter. Such agencies 

may include, but are not limited to, the United States Army Corps of Engineers, Environmental Protection 

Agency, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service; local tribes, the Washington State Department of Ecology, Washington 

State Department of Natural Resources and Washington State Department of Fish and Wildlife. The applicant 

shall be notified in writing when any such substitution is made.  

Resource information and maps. 

A.    Critical areas defined and identified in this chapter shall be mapped whenever possible. These maps shall 

be advisory and used by the director to provide guidance in determining applicability of the standards to a 

property. Sites which include critical areas, whether mapped or not mapped, shall be subject to the provisions of 

this chapter. The adopted shoreline areas map in the SMP, the aerial topographic map of the city of Sedro-

Woolley, October 2003 and subsequent updates, along with wetland delineation maps in the city of Sedro-

Woolley land use files, are the advisory maps, along with the “Flood Insurance Study, City of Sedro-Woolley,” 

dated December 1, 1989, and any revisions thereto, with accompanying flood insurance rate map (FIRM), dated 

December 1, 1989. That document is on file at Sedro-Woolley City Hall, 325 Metcalf Street. 

B.    Recognizing the necessity for accurate geographic information, a comprehensive inventory identifying the 

location, size, and other characteristics of critical areas shall be compiled as new data is available. 

C.    The results of the inventory shall be transferred to maps and published. These maps shall be available at 

the planning department for public inspection. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 134 of 248



D. When completed, critical area maps shall serve as guides to the location and extent of such critical areas. 

E. Critical area maps, with the exception of the flood insurance rate map used to designate certain flood 

hazard areas, are provided only as a general guide to alert the user to the possible distribution, location and 

extent of critical areas. Map identification of critical areas provides only approximate boundaries and locations. 

The actual locations and boundaries of critical areas, as well as their quality and quantity, shall be based upon 

the presence of the features applicable to each critical area element in this chapter. Maps shall not be 

considered a regulatory standard or substitute for site specific assessments. The application of definitions, 

methodologies and performance standards pursuant to the site specific assessment requirements provided in 

this chapter is the controlling factor in determining the actual presence and extent of critical areas. 

F. The critical area maps utilize the best information currently available and will be updated on a continual 

basis by the director. 

G. On a regular basis, formal requests shall be made for updated information to the resource agencies 

responsible for updating their respective map information. Incorporation of such updated information into the 

critical areas maps shall be made. 

H. Critical areas mapped under the site assessment requirements of this chapter shall be compiled in a 

database and incorporated into critical area maps. This map information shall be utilized to facilitate tracking of 

compliance with the requirements of this chapter to ensure long-term protection of critical areas. 

General requirements and authorizations required. 

A. All proposals specified in subsection "Application of standards" (below), and located in critical areas shall 

meet the following general requirements: 

1. Site. Complete stabilization of all portions of a site which are disturbed or impacted by the proposed 

development, including all development coverage and construction activity areas, shall be required. 

Complete stabilization of all portions of a site refers to the process and actions necessary to ensure that 

existing and proposed site improvements are stabilized, and that all on-site areas and adjacent 

properties which are disturbed or impacted are stabilized. The proposed development shall be limited 

and controlled to avoid adverse impacts and potential harm and ensure safe, stable and compatible 

development appropriate to site conditions. Other reasonable and appropriate solutions to solve site 

stability problems may be required by the director. 

2. Adjacent Site, Surrounding Area, and Drainage Basin. The proposed development shall ensure 

safe, stable and compatible development which avoids adverse environmental impacts and potential 

harm to adjacent sites, the surrounding neighborhood, and the drainage basin. Detailed analysis of 

impacts of the development upon wetlands, riparian corridors, native vegetation and wildlife habitats, 

water quality, natural water temperature, slope and soil conditions, and surface water drainage may be 

required at the request of the director when site and area conditions indicate the need for this analysis. 

Supplemental technical reports may be required by the director to specify measures to preserve, 

protect, and maintain adjacent sites and the drainage basin and ensure safe, stable and compatible 

development. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 135 of 248 

9 
 

D.    When completed, critical area maps shall serve as guides to the location and extent of such critical areas. 

E.    Critical area maps, with the exception of the flood insurance rate map used to designate certain flood 

hazard areas, are provided only as a general guide to alert the user to the possible distribution, location and 

extent of critical areas. Map identification of critical areas provides only approximate boundaries and locations. 

The actual locations and boundaries of critical areas, as well as their quality and quantity, shall be based upon 

the presence of the features applicable to each critical area element in this chapter. Maps shall not be 

considered a regulatory standard or substitute for site specific assessments. The application of definitions, 

methodologies and performance standards pursuant to the site specific assessment requirements provided in 

this chapter is the controlling factor in determining the actual presence and extent of critical areas. 

F.    The critical area maps utilize the best information currently available and will be updated on a continual 

basis by the director. 

G.    On a regular basis, formal requests shall be made for updated information to the resource agencies 

responsible for updating their respective map information. Incorporation of such updated information into the 

critical areas maps shall be made. 

H.    Critical areas mapped under the site assessment requirements of this chapter shall be compiled in a 

database and incorporated into critical area maps. This map information shall be utilized to facilitate tracking of 

compliance with the requirements of this chapter to ensure long-term protection of critical areas.  

General requirements and authorizations required. 

A.    All proposals specified in subsection “Application of standards” (below), and located in critical areas shall 

meet the following general requirements: 

1.    Site. Complete stabilization of all portions of a site which are disturbed or impacted by the proposed 

development, including all development coverage and construction activity areas, shall be required. 

Complete stabilization of all portions of a site refers to the process and actions necessary to ensure that 

existing and proposed site improvements are stabilized, and that all on-site areas and adjacent 

properties which are disturbed or impacted are stabilized. The proposed development shall be limited 

and controlled to avoid adverse impacts and potential harm and ensure safe, stable and compatible 

development appropriate to site conditions. Other reasonable and appropriate solutions to solve site 

stability problems may be required by the director. 

2.    Adjacent Site, Surrounding Area, and Drainage Basin. The proposed development shall ensure 

safe, stable and compatible development which avoids adverse environmental impacts and potential 

harm to adjacent sites, the surrounding neighborhood, and the drainage basin. Detailed analysis of 

impacts of the development upon wetlands, riparian corridors, native vegetation and wildlife habitats, 

water quality, natural water temperature, slope and soil conditions, and surface water drainage may be 

required at the request of the director when site and area conditions indicate the need for this analysis. 

Supplemental technical reports may be required by the director to specify measures to preserve, 

protect, and maintain adjacent sites and the drainage basin and ensure safe, stable and compatible 

development. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 135 of 248



B. With the exception of activities identified as exempt under subsection D of "Application, purpose" (above) 

and subsection "Application of standards" (below), any land use activity that can impair the functions and values 

of critical areas or their buffers through a development activity or by disturbance of the soil or water, and/or by 

removal of, or damage to, existing vegetation shall require critical areas review and written authorization 

pursuant to this chapter. Vegetation destruction or removal, other than the normal maintenance of existing 

landscaping identified as exempt under subsection M of "Application of standards" (below), shall be prohibited 

within a critical area or its required buffer, unless there is an approved mitigation plan pursuant to the 

requirements of the particular critical area that demonstrates there will be no adverse impact to the critical area 

with the proposed vegetation removal and disturbance of the soil or water and includes any mitigation or buffer 

enhancement necessary to address critical areas impacts. Authorizations required under this chapter overlay 

other permit and approval requirements of the Sedro-Woolley Municipal Code. Regardless of whether a 

development permit or approval is required, any proposed alteration that can adversely affect a critical area or its 

standard buffers' functions must comply with the substantive and procedural requirements of this chapter. Critical 

areas review pursuant to this chapter shall be conducted as part of the underlying permit or approval, where 

applicable. It is the responsibility of the landowner, or designee, who conducts or proposes to undertake land use 

activities that can adversely impact critical areas or their buffers to obtain authorization prior to commencing such 

activities. In some cases, the typical thresholds that trigger review and permits have been reduced to zero for 

any development activity located within a critical area or its required buffer. 

C. Procedures: No substantial shoreline development permit or other authorization required shall be granted 

until the applicant has demonstrated compliance with the applicable provisions of the SMP and this chapter. 

1. The applicant shall demonstrate that the proposal submitted conforms to the purposes and 

standards of the SMP and this chapter, assesses impacts on the critical area from activities and uses 

proposed, and identifies protective mechanisms adequate to meet the requirements of this chapter. 

2. The director or designee shall review each proposal and determine if the proposal is consistent with 

applicable regulations of the SMP and this chapter and if the protective mechanisms proposed are 

sufficient to protect the critical area, public health, safety and welfare, and if so, shall condition approval 

accordingly. If not, the director shall specify conditions of approval. If the director determines that there 

are no conditions under which the proposal could be approved, then the director shall deny the 

proposal. 

Any proposed development or land division shall be conditioned as necessary to mitigate impacts to critical 

areas as required by this chapter and any project that cannot adequately mitigate its impacts to critical areas 

shall be denied. 

Conflicts with Other Provisions: If any provision of this chapter conflicts with any other applicable code provision, 

the one which most implements the provisions of RCW 90.58.020 shall prevail. 

3. Satisfaction of the requirements of this chapter shall also be sufficient to satisfy the requirement for 

critical areas analysis and mitigation pursuant to RCW 43.21C the State Environmental Policy Act and 

SWMC Chapter 2.88, Environmental Policy. 

10 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 136 of 248 

10 
 

B.    With the exception of activities identified as exempt under subsection D of “Application, purpose” (above) 

and subsection “Application of standards” (below), any land use activity that can impair the functions and values 

of critical areas or their buffers through a development activity or by disturbance of the soil or water, and/or by 

removal of, or damage to, existing vegetation shall require critical areas review and written authorization 

pursuant to this chapter. Vegetation destruction or removal, other than the normal maintenance of existing 

landscaping identified as exempt under subsection M of “Application of standards” (below), shall be prohibited 

within a critical area or its required buffer, unless there is an approved mitigation plan pursuant to the 

requirements of the particular critical area that demonstrates there will be no adverse impact to the critical area 

with the proposed vegetation removal and disturbance of the soil or water and includes any mitigation or buffer 

enhancement necessary to address critical areas impacts. Authorizations required under this chapter overlay 

other permit and approval requirements of the Sedro-Woolley Municipal Code. Regardless of whether a 

development permit or approval is required, any proposed alteration that can adversely affect a critical area or its 

standard buffers’ functions must comply with the substantive and procedural requirements of this chapter. Critical 

areas review pursuant to this chapter shall be conducted as part of the underlying permit or approval, where 

applicable. It is the responsibility of the landowner, or designee, who conducts or proposes to undertake land use 

activities that can adversely impact critical areas or their buffers to obtain authorization prior to commencing such 

activities. In some cases, the typical thresholds that trigger review and permits have been reduced to zero for 

any development activity located within a critical area or its required buffer. 

C.    Procedures: No substantial shoreline development permit or other authorization required shall be granted 

until the applicant has demonstrated compliance with the applicable provisions of the SMP and this chapter. 

1.    The applicant shall demonstrate that the proposal submitted conforms to the purposes and 

standards of the SMP and this chapter, assesses impacts on the critical area from activities and uses 

proposed, and identifies protective mechanisms adequate to meet the requirements of this chapter. 

2.    The director or designee shall review each proposal and determine if the proposal is consistent with 

applicable regulations of the SMP and this chapter and if the protective mechanisms proposed are 

sufficient to protect the critical area, public health, safety and welfare, and if so, shall condition approval 

accordingly. If not, the director shall specify conditions of approval. If the director determines that there 

are no conditions under which the proposal could be approved, then the director shall deny the 

proposal. 

Any proposed development or land division shall be conditioned as necessary to mitigate impacts to critical 

areas as required by this chapter and any project that cannot adequately mitigate its impacts to critical areas 

shall be denied. 

Conflicts with Other Provisions: If any provision of this chapter conflicts with any other applicable code provision, 

the one which most implements the provisions of RCW 90.58.020 shall prevail. 

3.    Satisfaction of the requirements of this chapter shall also be sufficient to satisfy the requirement for 

critical areas analysis and mitigation pursuant to RCW 43.21C the State Environmental Policy Act and 

SWMC Chapter 2.88, Environmental Policy. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 136 of 248



Public notice and records. 

A. Public notice for projects subject to the provisions of this chapter shall be provided pursuant to the 

requirements of SWMC Chapter 2.90, Consolidated Planning Procedures. 

B. Records of all critical area assessments and related land use approvals and conditioning shall be 

maintained and be made available to the public upon request. 

Application submittal requirements. 

In addition to the application submittal requirements specified in the Administrative Provisions section of the 

SMP, all development proposals in the SMZ and subject to this chapter, may include at the director's request, 

the following additional information: 

A. Surveyed Site Plan. A surveyed site plan shall be prepared by a state of Washington licensed surveyor and 

shall include the following, all or in part when required by the director: 

1. Existing topography at two-foot contour intervals on site within twenty-five feet of the site's abutting 

boundaries, and within the full width of abutting public and private rights-of-way and easements. 

2. Terrain and drainage flow characteristics within the site, within twenty-five feet of the site's abutting 

boundaries, and within the full width of abutting public and private rights-of-way and easements. 

3. Proposed location and boundaries of all required undisturbed fenced areas and buffers on-site and 

on adjacent lands. 

4. Location of all vegetation, including location and description of all trees over six inches in diameter 

measured five feet above the base of the trunk, shrubs over eight feet tall or six feet wide, and noting 

their species. 

5. Location and boundaries of all existing and proposed site improvements on the site and within 

twenty-five feet of the site's property boundaries, and the full width of abutting public and private rights-

of-way and easements. This shall include the limits of development coverage, impervious surfaces and 

construction activity areas (noting total square footage and percentage of site occupied). 

6. Location of all grading activities in progress or proposed, and all drainage control facilities or 

systems in existence in progress or proposed within twenty-five feet of the site's property boundaries, 

and the full width of abutting public and private rights-of-way and easements. 

7. Location of all existing and proposed utilities (water, sewer, gas, electric, phone, cable, etc.), both 

above and below ground, on-site, on adjacent lands within twenty-five feet of the site's property lines, 

and in the full width of abutting public rights-of-way, and proposed methods and locations for the 

proposed development to hookup to these services. 

8. Such other additional site plan information as necessary to complete review of a project or waive 

specific submittal requirements when not necessary for project review. 
11 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 137 of 248 

11 
 

 

Public notice and records. 

A.    Public notice for projects subject to the provisions of this chapter shall be provided pursuant to the 

requirements of SWMC Chapter 2.90, Consolidated Planning Procedures. 

B.    Records of all critical area assessments and related land use approvals and conditioning shall be 

maintained and be made available to the public upon request. 

Application submittal requirements. 

In addition to the application submittal requirements specified in the Administrative Provisions section of the 

SMP, all development proposals in the SMZ and subject to this chapter, may include at the director’s request, 

the following additional information: 

A.    Surveyed Site Plan. A surveyed site plan shall be prepared by a state of Washington licensed surveyor and 

shall include the following, all or in part when required by the director: 

1.    Existing topography at two-foot contour intervals on site within twenty-five feet of the site’s abutting 

boundaries, and within the full width of abutting public and private rights-of-way and easements. 

2.    Terrain and drainage flow characteristics within the site, within twenty-five feet of the site’s abutting 

boundaries, and within the full width of abutting public and private rights-of-way and easements. 

3.    Proposed location and boundaries of all required undisturbed fenced areas and buffers on-site and 

on adjacent lands. 

4.    Location of all vegetation, including location and description of all trees over six inches in diameter 

measured five feet above the base of the trunk, shrubs over eight feet tall or six feet wide, and noting 

their species. 

5.    Location and boundaries of all existing and proposed site improvements on the site and within 

twenty-five feet of the site’s property boundaries, and the full width of abutting public and private rights-

of-way and easements. This shall include the limits of development coverage, impervious surfaces and 

construction activity areas (noting total square footage and percentage of site occupied). 

6.    Location of all grading activities in progress or proposed, and all drainage control facilities or 

systems in existence in progress or proposed within twenty-five feet of the site’s property boundaries, 

and the full width of abutting public and private rights-of-way and easements. 

7.    Location of all existing and proposed utilities (water, sewer, gas, electric, phone, cable, etc.), both 

above and below ground, on-site, on adjacent lands within twenty-five feet of the site’s property lines, 

and in the full width of abutting public rights-of-way, and proposed methods and locations for the 

proposed development to hookup to these services. 

8.    Such other additional site plan information as necessary to complete review of a project or waive 

specific submittal requirements when not necessary for project review. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 137 of 248



B. Technical Reports. Technical reports shall be prepared as required by the director detailing geological, 

hydrological, drainage, and other site conditions, to comply with the development standards in subsection 

"General requirements and authorizations required" above and pursuant to SWMC Chapter 13.36, Stormwater 

Management Standards. The reports shall be used to condition development to prevent potential harm and to 

protect the critical nature of the site, adjacent properties, and the drainage basin. Technical reports prepared by 

consultants not contracted with the city of Sedro-Woolley for the work shall be subject to third party review by the 

city of Sedro-Woolley's independent consultant/expert at the applicant's expense. Appeals of the decision by the 

director in consultation with the city's independent consultant/expert shall be subject to the administrative 

appeals procedures in SWMC Chapter 2.90. In making the decision, the city may also rely on opinions from 

agencies including, but not limited to, the United States Army Corps of Engineers, Environmental Protection 

Agency, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service; local tribes, the Washington State Department of Ecology, Washington 

State Department of Natural Resources and Washington State Department of Fish and Wildlife. 

Administration. 

A. The planning director in consultation with the city engineer and the building official shall be responsible for 

the administration of this chapter, including: 

1. Review applications for development in the city limits to verify compliance with this chapter; 

2. Reviewing applications for development in the city limits to assure that all necessary permits have 

been obtained from those federal, state or local government agencies from which prior approval is 

required; 

3. Recording and maintaining records of: 

a. As-built elevation above mean sea level of the lowest floor including basement of all new and 

substantially improved structures requiring a floodplain approval and whether same structure 

contains a basement, 

b. Certification by registered professional engineer or architect as required by this chapter, 

c. Floodplain approvals and other actions pursuant to the administration of this chapter; 

4. Notification to adjacent communities and the Department of Ecology and the Department of Fish 

and Wildlife prior to any alteration or relocation of a watercourse with copy to FEMA, and maintenance 

within the altered or relocated portion of such watercourse so that flood-carrying capacity is not 

diminished; 

5. When base flood elevation data has not been provided, obtaining, reviewing, and reasonably 

utilizing any base flood elevation and floodway data that should become available from a federal, state 

or other source in order to administer standards and floodways; 

6. Issuance of development permits pursuant to SWMC Chapter 17.68, Home Occupation Permits, 

and SWMC Chapter 15.04, Building Code before construction or development begins within the city 

limits; 

12 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 138 of 248 

12 
 

B.    Technical Reports. Technical reports shall be prepared as required by the director detailing geological, 

hydrological, drainage, and other site conditions, to comply with the development standards in subsection 

“General requirements and authorizations required” above and pursuant to SWMC Chapter 13.36, Stormwater 

Management Standards. The reports shall be used to condition development to prevent potential harm and to 

protect the critical nature of the site, adjacent properties, and the drainage basin. Technical reports prepared by 

consultants not contracted with the city of Sedro-Woolley for the work shall be subject to third party review by the 

city of Sedro-Woolley’s independent consultant/expert at the applicant’s expense. Appeals of the decision by the 

director in consultation with the city’s independent consultant/expert shall be subject to the administrative 

appeals procedures in SWMC Chapter 2.90. In making the decision, the city may also rely on opinions from 

agencies including, but not limited to, the United States Army Corps of Engineers, Environmental Protection 

Agency, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service; local tribes, the Washington State Department of Ecology, Washington 

State Department of Natural Resources and Washington State Department of Fish and Wildlife.  

Administration. 

A.    The planning director in consultation with the city engineer and the building official shall be responsible for 

the administration of this chapter, including: 

1.    Review applications for development in the city limits to verify compliance with this chapter; 

2.    Reviewing applications for development in the city limits to assure that all necessary permits have 

been obtained from those federal, state or local government agencies from which prior approval is 

required; 

3.    Recording and maintaining records of: 

a.    As-built elevation above mean sea level of the lowest floor including basement of all new and 

substantially improved structures requiring a floodplain approval and whether same structure 

contains a basement, 

b.    Certification by registered professional engineer or architect as required by this chapter, 

c.    Floodplain approvals and other actions pursuant to the administration of this chapter; 

4.    Notification to adjacent communities and the Department of Ecology and the Department of Fish 

and Wildlife prior to any alteration or relocation of a watercourse with copy to FEMA, and maintenance 

within the altered or relocated portion of such watercourse so that flood-carrying capacity is not 

diminished; 

5.    When base flood elevation data has not been provided, obtaining, reviewing, and reasonably 

utilizing any base flood elevation and floodway data that should become available from a federal, state 

or other source in order to administer standards and floodways; 

6.    Issuance of development permits pursuant to SWMC Chapter 17.68, Home Occupation Permits, 

and SWMC Chapter 15.04, Building Code before construction or development begins within the city 

limits; 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 138 of 248

http://www.codepublishing.com/wa/sedrowoolley/html/SedroWoolley13/SedroWoolley1336.html#13.36
http://www.codepublishing.com/wa/sedrowoolley/html/SedroWoolley02/SedroWoolley0290.html#2.90
http://www.codepublishing.com/wa/sedrowoolley/html/SedroWoolley17/SedroWoolley1768.html#17.68
http://www.codepublishing.com/wa/sedrowoolley/html/SedroWoolley15/SedroWoolley1504.html#15.04


7. Maintain for public inspection all records pertaining to the provisions of this code. 

B. This chapter shall be administered in accordance with Chapters 90.58 RCW and 173-26 WAC. This chapter 

shall be revised as necessary to conform with any changes in state rules pertaining to flood control zones which 

may be adopted by the State Department of Ecology subsequent to the effective date of delegation of the state's 

permit program to the city. 

C. The administrative procedure for critical areas review shall be as follows: 

1. All applications for approval of activities requiring written authorization pursuant to subsection 

"General requirements and authorizations required" (above) shall require the submission of a critical 

areas checklist completed and filed by the applicant on the forms provided by the planning department. 

If not otherwise required, all applications for critical areas review shall include a description of the 

proposed activity and a site plan showing the location of the proposed activity and associated area of 

disturbance in relation to all known critical areas or critical area indicators. Upon receipt of the 

application, the director shall determine whether the proposed activity fits within any of the exempt 

activities found in subsection "Application of standards" (above). If the proposed activity is so allowed 

and meets the associated conditions for such an allowance, no other critical areas review shall be 

required, except as necessary for the director to ensure that any conditions for such an allowance are 

met in practice. The director shall note this determination in the application file and provide written 

authorization for the project or activity to proceed as proposed in the application when undertaken in 

accordance with any conditions for such an allowance. 

Proposed activities identified under subsection "Application of standards" (above) that do not meet the conditions 

for such an allowance or that the director determines may result in significant adverse impacts to a critical area 

or its buffer shall be subject to standard shoreline critical areas review. 

2. Upon determination that the proposed activity requires detailed critical areas review, and upon 

receipt of a completed critical areas checklist, the director shall use the following method to determine 

whether critical areas or their required buffers will possibly be affected by the proposed activity: 

a. Review the critical areas checklist together with the maps and other critical areas resources 

identified in the relevant sections of this chapter; 

b. Complete the critical areas staff checklist; 

c. Inspect the site; and 

d. Complete the critical areas field indicator form. 

3. If the director determines that critical area indicators are not present within two hundred feet of the 

proposed activity or within a distance otherwise specified in this chapter, then the review required 

pursuant to this chapter is complete, except as necessary for the director to ensure that the proposed 

activity is undertaken as described in the application and as shown on the site plan. The director shall 

note this determination in the application file and provide written authorization for the project or activity 

to proceed as proposed in the application or, where applicable, with any specific conditions of approval. 

This determination shall not constitute approval of any use or activity or its compliance with the 

13 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 139 of 248 

13 
 

7.    Maintain for public inspection all records pertaining to the provisions of this code. 

B.    This chapter shall be administered in accordance with Chapters 90.58 RCW and 173-26 WAC. This chapter 

shall be revised as necessary to conform with any changes in state rules pertaining to flood control zones which 

may be adopted by the State Department of Ecology subsequent to the effective date of delegation of the state’s 

permit program to the city. 

C.    The administrative procedure for critical areas review shall be as follows: 

1.    All applications for approval of activities requiring written authorization pursuant to subsection 

“General requirements and authorizations required” (above) shall require the submission of a critical 

areas checklist completed and filed by the applicant on the forms provided by the planning department. 

If not otherwise required, all applications for critical areas review shall include a description of the 

proposed activity and a site plan showing the location of the proposed activity and associated area of 

disturbance in relation to all known critical areas or critical area indicators. Upon receipt of the 

application, the director shall determine whether the proposed activity fits within any of the exempt 

activities found in subsection “Application of standards” (above). If the proposed activity is so allowed 

and meets the associated conditions for such an allowance, no other critical areas review shall be 

required, except as necessary for the director to ensure that any conditions for such an allowance are 

met in practice. The director shall note this determination in the application file and provide written 

authorization for the project or activity to proceed as proposed in the application when undertaken in 

accordance with any conditions for such an allowance. 

Proposed activities identified under subsection “Application of standards” (above) that do not meet the conditions 

for such an allowance or that the director determines may result in significant adverse impacts to a critical area 

or its buffer shall be subject to standard shoreline critical areas review. 

2.     Upon determination that the proposed activity requires detailed critical areas review, and upon 

receipt of a completed critical areas checklist, the director shall use the following method to determine 

whether critical areas or their required buffers will possibly be affected by the proposed activity: 

a.    Review the critical areas checklist together with the maps and other critical areas resources 

identified in the relevant sections of this chapter; 

b.    Complete the critical areas staff checklist; 

c.    Inspect the site; and 

d.    Complete the critical areas field indicator form. 

 

3.     If the director determines that critical area indicators are not present within two hundred feet of the 

proposed activity or within a distance otherwise specified in this chapter, then the review required 

pursuant to this chapter is complete, except as necessary for the director to ensure that the proposed 

activity is undertaken as described in the application and as shown on the site plan. The director shall 

note this determination in the application file and provide written authorization for the project or activity 

to proceed as proposed in the application or, where applicable, with any specific conditions of approval. 

This determination shall not constitute approval of any use or activity or its compliance with the 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 139 of 248



requirements of this chapter, outside the scope of that stated in the application. Any proposed change in 

use or scope of activity from that contained in the application shall be subject to further review under 

this chapter. The applicant shall acknowledge in writing that this determination by the director regarding 

the apparent absence of critical area indicators and the likelihood that critical areas will not be affected 

is not intended as an expert certification regarding the presence or absence of critical areas and that the 

critical areas review process is subject to possible reopening if new information is received as described 

in subsection (C)(4) of this section. If the applicant wants greater assurance of the accuracy of any such 

critical area indicators determination, the applicant shall hire a qualified critical areas expert to provide 

such assurances. 

4. Reopening of Review Process. 

a. If at any time prior to completion of the public input process on the associated permit or 

approval, the director receives new evidence that a critical area may be present within two 

hundred feet of the project area or within a distance otherwise specified in this chapter, then the 

director shall reopen the critical areas review process pursuant to this chapter and shall require 

whatever level of critical areas review and mitigation as is required by this chapter. 

b. Once the public input process on the associated permit or approval is completed and the 

record is closed, then the director's determination regarding critical areas pursuant to this chapter 

shall be final; provided, however, that the director shall not be prevented from reopening the 

critical areas review process, if staff relied on misinformation provided by the applicant in the 

application or checklist. For the purposes of this subsection, "misinformation" means information 

regarding the nature and/or location of the proposed activity as presented in the application or 

regarding the presence of a critical area or critical area indicators on the subject property which 

the applicant knew or should have known was relevant at the time of the submittal of the checklist. 

Prior to reopening a critical areas review under this subsection, the director shall make a site visit. 

No critical areas review shall be reopened under this section unless the director determines, after 

the site visit, that the applicant provided misinformation. 

c. If a critical areas review is reopened under this subsection after a permit or approval is 

granted, the burden of proof on whether the applicant submitted "misinformation" at the time of the 

submittal of the checklist shall be on the director. The applicant or landowner who submitted the 

critical areas checklist upon which the misinformation was discovered shall be the responsible 

party for compliance with this chapter, including any necessary mitigation. 

5. If the director determines that critical area indicators are present within two hundred feet of the 

proposed activity or within a distance otherwise specified in this chapter, then the director shall note this 

determination in the application file and the applicant shall be required to provide the critical areas site 

assessment specified in this chapter. Development of a site assessment may precede a site visit, 

provided, that no disturbance of vegetation or land surface occurs prior to authorization. 

6. Critical Areas Determination and Conditions of Approval. Based on the critical areas site 

assessment report and other available critical areas information, the director shall make a determination 

14 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 140 of 248 

14 
 

requirements of this chapter, outside the scope of that stated in the application. Any proposed change in 

use or scope of activity from that contained in the application shall be subject to further review under 

this chapter. The applicant shall acknowledge in writing that this determination by the director regarding 

the apparent absence of critical area indicators and the likelihood that critical areas will not be affected 

is not intended as an expert certification regarding the presence or absence of critical areas and that the 

critical areas review process is subject to possible reopening if new information is received as described 

in subsection (C)(4) of this section. If the applicant wants greater assurance of the accuracy of any such 

critical area indicators determination, the applicant shall hire a qualified critical areas expert to provide 

such assurances. 

4.    Reopening of Review Process. 

a.    If at any time prior to completion of the public input process on the associated permit or 

approval, the director receives new evidence that a critical area may be present within two 

hundred feet of the project area or within a distance otherwise specified in this chapter, then the 

director shall reopen the critical areas review process pursuant to this chapter and shall require 

whatever level of critical areas review and mitigation as is required by this chapter. 

b.    Once the public input process on the associated permit or approval is completed and the 

record is closed, then the director’s determination regarding critical areas pursuant to this chapter 

shall be final; provided, however, that the director shall not be prevented from reopening the 

critical areas review process, if staff relied on misinformation provided by the applicant in the 

application or checklist. For the purposes of this subsection, “misinformation” means information 

regarding the nature and/or location of the proposed activity as presented in the application or 

regarding the presence of a critical area or critical area indicators on the subject property which 

the applicant knew or should have known was relevant at the time of the submittal of the checklist. 

Prior to reopening a critical areas review under this subsection, the director shall make a site visit. 

No critical areas review shall be reopened under this section unless the director determines, after 

the site visit, that the applicant provided misinformation. 

c.    If a critical areas review is reopened under this subsection after a permit or approval is 

granted, the burden of proof on whether the applicant submitted “misinformation” at the time of the 

submittal of the checklist shall be on the director. The applicant or landowner who submitted the 

critical areas checklist upon which the misinformation was discovered shall be the responsible 

party for compliance with this chapter, including any necessary mitigation. 

5.    If the director determines that critical area indicators are present within two hundred feet of the 

proposed activity or within a distance otherwise specified in this chapter, then the director shall note this 

determination in the application file and the applicant shall be required to provide the critical areas site 

assessment specified in this chapter. Development of a site assessment may precede a site visit, 

provided, that no disturbance of vegetation or land surface occurs prior to authorization. 

6.    Critical Areas Determination and Conditions of Approval. Based on the critical areas site 

assessment report and other available critical areas information, the director shall make a determination 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 140 of 248



on the proposed activity. A determination to approve a proposed activity shall include designation of 

protected critical areas (PCAs) pursuant to subsection "Protected critical area requirements" (below) 

and stipulation of binding conditions and required mitigation, monitoring, maintenance or other 

conditions of approval pursuant to this chapter. If the director determines that there are no conditions 

under which the proposed activity could be approved, then the director shall deny the proposal. 

Critical areas checklist, site assessment and conditions of approval. 

A. Critical Areas Checklist. Every application for an activity that might alter or adversely affect a critical area or 

associated buffer shall include a critical area checklist on a form provided by the director. The checklist shall 

identify all critical area indicators and/or all known critical areas within two hundred feet of the proposed activity 

or within a distance otherwise specified in this chapter. The checklist shall be signed by the applicant and shall 

inform the applicant that if the information on the checklist is later determined incorrect, then any permit or 

approval issued based on misinformation may be rescinded and the site required to be restored to its original 

condition prior to disturbance. 

B. Site Assessment Required. If, after the site visit, the director determines that the proposed activity area is 

within two hundred feet, or within a distance otherwise specified in this chapter, of an area that may contain 

critical area indicators, or if the director determines that the proposed activity will adversely impact a critical area 

within the SMZ or its associated buffer, then a complete critical areas site assessment shall be required. Critical 

areas site assessments, as described in more detail in the various sections for each type of critical area, shall be 

submitted as part of a complete application for a development permit or other approval of land use activities 

having the potential to impact critical areas or their buffers, by a qualified expert. 

C. Site Assessment Preparation. The critical area site assessment shall be prepared by a qualified expert for 

the type of critical area or areas involved and shall contain the information specified for each type of critical area. 

In general, the site assessment shall include critical area inventory, assessment of impacts and, where 

applicable, proposed mitigation, land use restrictions and landowner management, maintenance and monitoring 

responsibilities. The qualified expert may consult with the director prior to or during preparation of the site 

assessment to obtain approval of modifications to the contents of the site assessment where, in the judgment of 

the qualified expert, more or less information is required to adequately address the critical area impacts and 

required mitigation. The director shall allow for peer review and receipt of recommendations from qualified 

resource agency personnel as part of the process for approval of qualified experts. 

D. Any site plans required by this chapter may be combined into a single site plan wherever possible. 

E. Critical Areas Determination and Conditions of Approval. Upon receipt of a properly completed site 

assessment report, the director shall make a formal determination on the proposed activity as to whether it 

meets the requirements of this chapter and under what conditions. In making this determination, the director 

shall utilize the information provided in the site assessment report and all other resource information available. If 

the director determines that additional technical information or input is necessary or warranted, the director shall 

contact appropriate federal, state or tribal agencies to provide review and comment on the proposed activity. 

Formal determinations made by the director shall include the basis and rationale for the determination, as well as 

detailed specification of related conditions of approval, land use prohibitions, and required landowner mitigation, 

15 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 141 of 248 

15 
 

on the proposed activity. A determination to approve a proposed activity shall include designation of 

protected critical areas (PCAs) pursuant to subsection “Protected critical area requirements” (below) 

and stipulation of binding conditions and required mitigation, monitoring, maintenance or other 

conditions of approval pursuant to this chapter. If the director determines that there are no conditions 

under which the proposed activity could be approved, then the director shall deny the proposal.  

Critical areas checklist, site assessment and conditions of approval. 

A.    Critical Areas Checklist. Every application for an activity that might alter or adversely affect a critical area or 

associated buffer shall include a critical area checklist on a form provided by the director. The checklist shall 

identify all critical area indicators and/or all known critical areas within two hundred feet of the proposed activity 

or within a distance otherwise specified in this chapter. The checklist shall be signed by the applicant and shall 

inform the applicant that if the information on the checklist is later determined incorrect, then any permit or 

approval issued based on misinformation may be rescinded and the site required to be restored to its original 

condition prior to disturbance. 

B.    Site Assessment Required. If, after the site visit, the director determines that the proposed activity area is 

within two hundred feet, or within a distance otherwise specified in this chapter, of an area that may contain 

critical area indicators, or if the director determines that the proposed activity will adversely impact a critical area 

within the SMZ or its associated buffer, then a complete critical areas site assessment shall be required. Critical 

areas site assessments, as described in more detail in the various sections for each type of critical area, shall be 

submitted as part of a complete application for a development permit or other approval of land use activities 

having the potential to impact critical areas or their buffers, by a qualified expert. 

C.    Site Assessment Preparation. The critical area site assessment shall be prepared by a qualified expert for 

the type of critical area or areas involved and shall contain the information specified for each type of critical area. 

In general, the site assessment shall include critical area inventory, assessment of impacts and, where 

applicable, proposed mitigation, land use restrictions and landowner management, maintenance and monitoring 

responsibilities. The qualified expert may consult with the director prior to or during preparation of the site 

assessment to obtain approval of modifications to the contents of the site assessment where, in the judgment of 

the qualified expert, more or less information is required to adequately address the critical area impacts and 

required mitigation. The director shall allow for peer review and receipt of recommendations from qualified 

resource agency personnel as part of the process for approval of qualified experts. 

D.    Any site plans required by this chapter may be combined into a single site plan wherever possible. 

E.    Critical Areas Determination and Conditions of Approval. Upon receipt of a properly completed site 

assessment report, the director shall make a formal determination on the proposed activity as to whether it 

meets the requirements of this chapter and under what conditions. In making this determination, the director 

shall utilize the information provided in the site assessment report and all other resource information available. If 

the director determines that additional technical information or input is necessary or warranted, the director shall 

contact appropriate federal, state or tribal agencies to provide review and comment on the proposed activity. 

Formal determinations made by the director shall include the basis and rationale for the determination, as well as 

detailed specification of related conditions of approval, land use prohibitions, and required landowner mitigation, 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 141 of 248



management, monitoring and/or maintenance. All such requirements shall be clearly shown on plans filed with 

the director. 

F. Complete Record. A complete record of all formal determinations by the director, along with related critical 

areas checklists, site assessments, binding agreements, conditions of approval, land use prohibitions, required 

mitigation and a full record of comments received from federal, state or tribal agencies, shall be maintained and 

made available to the public upon request. 

Application of standards. 

The standards of this chapter shall apply to all public and private proposals for new structures, proposed 

additions to structures, short subdivisions and subdivisions, and grading and drainage activity located on either 

public or private property in the SMZ. Projects may be exempted from the detailed critical area review 

requirements of this chapter when the following situations and/or conditions apply: 

A. Emergencies that Threaten the Public Health, Safety and Welfare. An emergency is an unanticipated and 

imminent threat to the public health or safety or to the environment which requires immediate action within a 

period of time too short to allow full compliance with this chapter. Emergency actions that create an impact to a 

critical area or its buffer shall use reasonable methods that can address the emergency but also that have the 

least possible impact to the critical area or its buffer. The responsible party shall restore the critical area and 

buffer after the emergency to the extent feasible, as determined by the city planner. The person or agency 

undertaking such action shall notify the director within one working day or as soon as practical following 

commencement of the emergency activity. Following such notification, the director shall determine if the action 

taken was within the scope of the emergency actions allowed in this subsection. If the director determines that 

the action taken or any part of the action taken was beyond the scope of allowed emergency actions, then the 

enforcement provision shall apply. 

B. Normal and routine maintenance or repair of existing structures, utilities, sewage disposal systems, potable 

water systems, drainage facilities, ponds, or public and private roads and driveways associated with preexisting 

residential or commercial development, provided any maintenance or repair activities shall use reasonable 

methods with the least amount of potential impact to the critical areas and any impact to a critical area or its 

buffer shall be restored after the maintenance to the extent feasible. 

C. Normal maintenance, repair, or operation of legally existing structures, facilities, and improved areas 

accessory to a single-family residential use, provided any maintenance or repair activities shall use reasonable 

methods with the least amount of potential impact to the critical area and any impact to a critical area or its buffer 

shall be restored after the maintenance to the extent feasible. 

D. Modification of an existing single-family residence that does not change the use from residential, does not 

expand the building footprint or increase sewer effluent, and does not adversely impact critical areas or their 

buffers. 

E. Modification of other than a single-family use which does not expand the building footprint, alter the use or 

increase septic effluent, pursuant to the requirements of the nonconforming use and structure provisions, and 

does not adversely impact critical areas or their buffers. 

16 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 142 of 248 

16 
 

management, monitoring and/or maintenance. All such requirements shall be clearly shown on plans filed with 

the director. 

F.    Complete Record. A complete record of all formal determinations by the director, along with related critical 

areas checklists, site assessments, binding agreements, conditions of approval, land use prohibitions, required 

mitigation and a full record of comments received from federal, state or tribal agencies, shall be maintained and 

made available to the public upon request.  

Application of standards. 

The standards of this chapter shall apply to all public and private proposals for new structures, proposed 

additions to structures, short subdivisions and subdivisions, and grading and drainage activity located on either 

public or private property in the SMZ. Projects may be exempted from the detailed critical area review 

requirements of this chapter when the following situations and/or conditions apply: 

A.    Emergencies that Threaten the Public Health, Safety and Welfare. An emergency is an unanticipated and 

imminent threat to the public health or safety or to the environment which requires immediate action within a 

period of time too short to allow full compliance with this chapter. Emergency actions that create an impact to a 

critical area or its buffer shall use reasonable methods that can address the emergency but also that have the 

least possible impact to the critical area or its buffer. The responsible party shall restore the critical area and 

buffer after the emergency to the extent feasible, as determined by the city planner. The person or agency 

undertaking such action shall notify the director within one working day or as soon as practical following 

commencement of the emergency activity. Following such notification, the director shall determine if the action 

taken was within the scope of the emergency actions allowed in this subsection. If the director determines that 

the action taken or any part of the action taken was beyond the scope of allowed emergency actions, then the 

enforcement provision shall apply. 

B.    Normal and routine maintenance or repair of existing structures, utilities, sewage disposal systems, potable 

water systems, drainage facilities, ponds, or public and private roads and driveways associated with preexisting 

residential or commercial development, provided any maintenance or repair activities shall use reasonable 

methods with the least amount of potential impact to the critical areas and any impact to a critical area or its 

buffer shall be restored after the maintenance to the extent feasible. 

C.    Normal maintenance, repair, or operation of legally existing structures, facilities, and improved areas 

accessory to a single-family residential use, provided any maintenance or repair activities shall use reasonable 

methods with the least amount of potential impact to the critical area and any impact to a critical area or its buffer 

shall be restored after the maintenance to the extent feasible. 

D.    Modification of an existing single-family residence that does not change the use from residential, does not 

expand the building footprint or increase sewer effluent, and does not adversely impact critical areas or their 

buffers. 

E.    Modification of other than a single-family use which does not expand the building footprint, alter the use or 

increase septic effluent, pursuant to the requirements of the nonconforming use and structure provisions, and 

does not adversely impact critical areas or their buffers. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 142 of 248



F. Outdoor recreational activities which do not adversely impact critical areas or their buffers. 

G. The harvesting of wild crops in a manner that is not injurious to natural reproduction of such crops and 

provided the harvesting does not require tilling soil, planting crops, or changing existing topography, water 

conditions or water sources and provided further that the activity does not adversely impact critical areas or their 

buffers. 

H. The operation and maintenance of diking and drainage systems that do not alter their historic condition. 

I. Education and scientific research activities that do not adversely impact critical areas or their buffers. 

J. Construction or modification of navigational aids and channels markers. 

K. Site investigation work necessary for land use applications such as surveys, soil logs, percolation tests and 

other related activities which do not adversely impact critical areas or their buffers. In every case, critical area 

impacts shall be minimized and disturbed areas shall be immediately restored. 

L. Maintenance activities such as mowing and normal pruning or removal of nonnative plant species such as 

blackberries, Japanese knotweed, reed canary grass, provided, that such maintenance activities are limited to 

existing landscaping improvements and do not expand into critical areas or associated buffers, do not expose 

soils, do not alter topography, do not destroy or clear native vegetation, and do not diminish water quality or 

quantity. 

M. Fish, wildlife, wetland and/or riparian enhancement activities not required as mitigation, provided, that the 

project is approved by the U.S. Department of Fish and Wildlife, the Washington State Department of Fish and 

Wildlife, the Washington State Department of Ecology, or the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. 

N. Developments in the floodplain other than the following shall require a floodplain approval: 

1. Minor structures and additions for which a building permit is not required and which create no new 

residence such as a slab on grade, or a storage building less than one hundred twenty square feet in 

area, or other structures exempt from permits in the Uniform Building Code; 

2. Normal maintenance, resurfacing and rebuilding, at comparable grade of streets, and accessways; 

3. Underground improvements and excavations; 

4. Maintenance and minor repair of existing improvements; 

5. Improvements to structures listed on the National or State Register of Historic Places, subject to 

subsection "General construction and maintenance standards" (below); 

6. Other minor developments that cause no significant impoundment or displacement of floodwaters, 

such as open fences, signs and small unenclosed structures. 

17 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 143 of 248 

17 
 

F.    Outdoor recreational activities which do not adversely impact critical areas or their buffers. 

G.    The harvesting of wild crops in a manner that is not injurious to natural reproduction of such crops and 

provided the harvesting does not require tilling soil, planting crops, or changing existing topography, water 

conditions or water sources and provided further that the activity does not adversely impact critical areas or their 

buffers. 

H.    The operation and maintenance of diking and drainage systems that do not alter their historic condition. 

I.    Education and scientific research activities that do not adversely impact critical areas or their buffers. 

J.    Construction or modification of navigational aids and channels markers. 

K.    Site investigation work necessary for land use applications such as surveys, soil logs, percolation tests and 

other related activities which do not adversely impact critical areas or their buffers. In every case, critical area 

impacts shall be minimized and disturbed areas shall be immediately restored. 

L.    Maintenance activities such as mowing and normal pruning or removal of nonnative plant species such as 

blackberries, Japanese knotweed, reed canary grass, provided, that such maintenance activities are limited to 

existing landscaping improvements and do not expand into critical areas or associated buffers, do not expose 

soils, do not alter topography, do not destroy or clear native vegetation, and do not diminish water quality or 

quantity. 

M.    Fish, wildlife, wetland and/or riparian enhancement activities not required as mitigation, provided, that the 

project is approved by the U.S. Department of Fish and Wildlife, the Washington State Department of Fish and 

Wildlife, the Washington State Department of Ecology, or the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. 

N.    Developments in the floodplain other than the following shall require a floodplain approval: 

1.    Minor structures and additions for which a building permit is not required and which create no new 

residence such as a slab on grade, or a storage building less than one hundred twenty square feet in 

area, or other structures exempt from permits in the Uniform Building Code; 

2.    Normal maintenance, resurfacing and rebuilding, at comparable grade of streets, and accessways; 

3.    Underground improvements and excavations; 

4.    Maintenance and minor repair of existing improvements; 

5.    Improvements to structures listed on the National or State Register of Historic Places, subject to 

subsection “General construction and maintenance standards” (below); 

6.    Other minor developments that cause no significant impoundment or displacement of floodwaters, 

such as open fences, signs and small unenclosed structures. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 143 of 248



All such activities shall be carried out in ways that cause the least impact to critical areas and their buffers. If any 

damage is caused to a critical area or buffer in connection with such activity, the critical area and its buffer must 

be restored to the extent feasible. To be exempt does not give permission to destroy a critical area or ignore risk. 

Proponents of such activities shall be responsible for notifying the director if any damage occurs and shall 

provide all necessary restoration or mitigation. For information on identifying, protecting or mitigating adverse 

impacts to critical areas, refer to sections in this chapter on wetlands, aquifer recharge areas, geologically 

hazardous areas, fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas, and flood hazard areas. 

General construction and maintenance standards. 

All proposals located in a shoreline critical area or buffer regulated by the SMP shall meet the following general 

construction and maintenance standards: 

A. All buffer areas and other designated protected areas shall be fenced with a highly visible and durable 

protective barrier during construction to prevent access and protect critical areas. 

B. All disturbed areas on the site, including development coverage and construction activity areas, shall be 

controlled in a manner sufficient to control drainage and prevent erosion during construction, and revegetated to 

promote drainage control and prevent erosion after construction. In cases where erosion potential is severe, the 

director may require a vegetation and revegetation report to be prepared by a qualified professional with 

landscaping, plant ecology and botany education and experience. All revegetation shall consist of trees, shrubs, 

and ground cover that is suitable for the location and does not require permanent irrigation systems for long-term 

survival. 

C. When development is proposed in critical areas, grading activities shall be strictly limited to areas located on 

the most environmentally suitable portion of the site, as determined by the director in consultation with qualified 

experts. 

D. All drainage associated with the development shall be connected to approved drainage control systems with 

approved discharge points in compliance with standards set by the city engineer, as specified in Titles 13 and 15 

SWMC. 

E. When calculating detention requirements, all disturbed area on the site shall be calculated as development 

coverage, including revegetated areas. 

F. A development proposal's design shall account for a one-in-one-hundred-year seismic and flood event, 

unless a design for a greater event is required by other applicable codes. The International Building Code's 

construction standards for seismic design shall constitute compliance with this section. 

G. All grading in critical areas shall not occur prior to March 31st and shall be stabilized by October 31st unless 

demonstrated to the satisfaction of the director based on approved technical analysis that no environmental 

harm or safety issues would result from grading between November 1st and March 31st. 

H. Construction activity shall adhere to a prepared schedule to be approved by the director prior to issuance of 

a building permit. This schedule shall include, but not be limited to a schedule for compliance with project 

18 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 144 of 248 

18 
 

All such activities shall be carried out in ways that cause the least impact to critical areas and their buffers. If any 

damage is caused to a critical area or buffer in connection with such activity, the critical area and its buffer must 

be restored to the extent feasible. To be exempt does not give permission to destroy a critical area or ignore risk. 

Proponents of such activities shall be responsible for notifying the director if any damage occurs and shall 

provide all necessary restoration or mitigation. For information on identifying, protecting or mitigating adverse 

impacts to critical areas, refer to sections in this chapter on wetlands, aquifer recharge areas, geologically 

hazardous areas, fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas, and flood hazard areas. 

General construction and maintenance standards. 

All proposals located in a shoreline critical area or buffer regulated by the SMP shall meet the following general 

construction and maintenance standards: 

A.    All buffer areas and other designated protected areas shall be fenced with a highly visible and durable 

protective barrier during construction to prevent access and protect critical areas. 

B.    All disturbed areas on the site, including development coverage and construction activity areas, shall be 

controlled in a manner sufficient to control drainage and prevent erosion during construction, and revegetated to 

promote drainage control and prevent erosion after construction. In cases where erosion potential is severe, the 

director may require a vegetation and revegetation report to be prepared by a qualified professional with 

landscaping, plant ecology and botany education and experience. All revegetation shall consist of trees, shrubs, 

and ground cover that is suitable for the location and does not require permanent irrigation systems for long-term 

survival. 

C.    When development is proposed in critical areas, grading activities shall be strictly limited to areas located on 

the most environmentally suitable portion of the site, as determined by the director in consultation with qualified 

experts. 

D.    All drainage associated with the development shall be connected to approved drainage control systems with 

approved discharge points in compliance with standards set by the city engineer, as specified in Titles 13 and 15 

SWMC. 

E.    When calculating detention requirements, all disturbed area on the site shall be calculated as development 

coverage, including revegetated areas. 

F.    A development proposal’s design shall account for a one-in-one-hundred-year seismic and flood event, 

unless a design for a greater event is required by other applicable codes. The International Building Code’s 

construction standards for seismic design shall constitute compliance with this section. 

G.    All grading in critical areas shall not occur prior to March 31st and shall be stabilized by October 31st unless 

demonstrated to the satisfaction of the director based on approved technical analysis that no environmental 

harm or safety issues would result from grading between November 1st and March 31st. 

H.    Construction activity shall adhere to a prepared schedule to be approved by the director prior to issuance of 

a building permit. This schedule shall include, but not be limited to a schedule for compliance with project 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 144 of 248



conditions, limits of construction and work activities, equipment to be used, start and duration of each phase, and 

work sequencing. 

I. The director may require additional construction practices and methods and requirements, including, but not 

limited to best management practices and limitations on construction equipment permitted on the site, to protect 

critical areas on-site, on adjacent sites, and within the drainage basin. 

J. Dumping or filling is prohibited in special flood risk areas, wetlands or their buffers and any other non-

designated dumping sites. Dumping includes deposit of yard waste, trash, litter, refuse, dirt, concrete, asphalt, 

rocks or similar materials, but shall not include work authorized by approved plans and permits. 

Reasonable use exception. 

The Shoreline Variance process of the SMP shall be used to address the reasonable use of a constrained 

parcel. 

Critical area and buffer mitigation requirements—General provisions. 

A. Buffers. 

1. As described in more detail in each relevant section, buffers have in some cases been determined 

necessary and appropriate to protect critical areas and their functions or to prevent risk from a critical 

area hazard. In those sections of this chapter where specific buffers are identified, those buffers are 

deemed "required" or "standard" buffers. If a project or activity does not propose any alteration of those 

buffers or of the associated critical area and the director determines that these buffers are adequate to 

protect the critical area or to prevent risk of a hazard from the critical area, then no additional mitigation 

will be required. Once the critical area and its buffer have properly been delineated through a critical 

areas assessment and any conditions of approval have been established to ensure protection of the 

critical area function, no further critical areas mitigation assessment is required, except as necessary to 

ensure that long-term protection of critical areas and buffers is met in practice through compliance with 

subsection "Protected critical area requirements" (below). The applicant shall ensure the protection of 

critical area by performing a site assessment on the entire parcel. 

2. If, however, based on a site assessment by a qualified expert, unique features of the particular 

critical area or its buffer or of the proposed development, the qualified expert determines that additional 

buffers and/or mitigation measures beyond these buffers are necessary to adequately protect the 

function of the critical area or to prevent risk of a hazard from the critical area, the director may impose 

such additional mitigation requirements, provided the qualified expert can demonstrate, based on best 

available science, why that additional mitigation or buffering is required to adequately protect the critical 

area function or to prevent hazard from a critical area. 

3. Further, if the applicant proposes to reduce these buffers or to alter the critical area or its required 

buffer, then the applicant shall demonstrate pursuant to subsection "Protected critical area 

requirements" (below), based on best available science, why such buffer and/or critical area 

modification, together with such alternative mitigation proposed in the critical areas assessment, is 

sufficient to provide equal or better protection of the critical area function or provide no increased risk of 

19 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 145 of 248 

19 
 

conditions, limits of construction and work activities, equipment to be used, start and duration of each phase, and 

work sequencing. 

I.    The director may require additional construction practices and methods and requirements, including, but not 

limited to best management practices and limitations on construction equipment permitted on the site, to protect 

critical areas on-site, on adjacent sites, and within the drainage basin. 

J.    Dumping or filling is prohibited in special flood risk areas, wetlands or their buffers and any other non-

designated dumping sites. Dumping includes deposit of yard waste, trash, litter, refuse, dirt, concrete, asphalt, 

rocks or similar materials, but shall not include work authorized by approved plans and permits.  

Reasonable use exception. 

The Shoreline Variance process of the SMP shall be used to address the reasonable use of a constrained 

parcel. 

Critical area and buffer mitigation requirements—General provisions. 

A.    Buffers. 

1.    As described in more detail in each relevant section, buffers have in some cases been determined 

necessary and appropriate to protect critical areas and their functions or to prevent risk from a critical 

area hazard. In those sections of this chapter where specific buffers are identified, those buffers are 

deemed “required” or “standard” buffers. If a project or activity does not propose any alteration of those 

buffers or of the associated critical area and the director determines that these buffers are adequate to 

protect the critical area or to prevent risk of a hazard from the critical area, then no additional mitigation 

will be required. Once the critical area and its buffer have properly been delineated through a critical 

areas assessment and any conditions of approval have been established to ensure protection of the 

critical area function, no further critical areas mitigation assessment is required, except as necessary to 

ensure that long-term protection of critical areas and buffers is met in practice through compliance with 

subsection “Protected critical area requirements” (below). The applicant shall ensure the protection of 

critical area by performing a site assessment on the entire parcel. 

2.    If, however, based on a site assessment by a qualified expert, unique features of the particular 

critical area or its buffer or of the proposed development, the qualified expert determines that additional 

buffers and/or mitigation measures beyond these buffers are necessary to adequately protect the 

function of the critical area or to prevent risk of a hazard from the critical area, the director may impose 

such additional mitigation requirements, provided the qualified expert can demonstrate, based on best 

available science, why that additional mitigation or buffering is required to adequately protect the critical 

area function or to prevent hazard from a critical area. 

3.    Further, if the applicant proposes to reduce these buffers or to alter the critical area or its required 

buffer, then the applicant shall demonstrate pursuant to subsection “Protected critical area 

requirements” (below), based on best available science, why such buffer and/or critical area 

modification, together with such alternative mitigation proposed in the critical areas assessment, is 

sufficient to provide equal or better protection of the critical area function or provide no increased risk of 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 145 of 248



a hazard from the critical area and provided, that the reduction of a standard buffer by more than 25% 

shall require a shoreline variance. 

4. The critical areas assessment and the conditions of approval shall make adequate provision for 

long-term protection related to critical areas and buffers, and shall include the requirements established 

in subsection "Protected critical area requirements" (below). 

However, critical areas and/or buffers identified as Protected Critical Areas (PCAs) as defined in this chapter do 

not require any provisions for public access, and appropriate restrictions may be included in the easement or title 

documents. Critical areas and/or buffers identified as PCAs are however subject to periodic inspection by the 

director, upon prior notification to the landowner, to ensure long-term protection. 

5. Protected Critical Areas (PCAs). 

a. For proposed land divisions, critical areas and their associated buffers identified through the 

site assessment and city review process shall be designated as PCAs and placed in separate 

tracts or easements and protected through protective covenants shown on the face of the 

recorded plat. Protected critical areas shall be placed in separate tracts under a single owner, 

unless an easement or alternative method is shown to provide superior protection overtime. An 

example of an easement that is preferable to a separate tract would be an easement conveyed to 

a third-party conservation advocacy group. 

b. For development projects or land use activities not involving a new land division, the critical 

area and its associated buffer identified through the site assessment process shall instead be 

identified as a PCA by either easement, open space designation or permit conditions, all including 

restrictive covenants and recorded with the auditor on a site plan to insure long-term protection. 

Critical areas and/or buffers identified as PCAs are subject to periodic inspection, upon prior 

notification to the landowner, to ensure long-term protection. 

6. If a portion of a parcel contains a proposed development project that triggers a shoreline 

development permit, and has not had its critical areas and associated buffers delineated because it was 

outside the project or area affected by the project, then further critical areas assessment may be 

required in the future prior to any change of use, or new development permit for that portion of the site. 

B. Mitigation. All proposed alterations to shoreline critical areas or associated buffers shall require mitigation 

sufficient to provide for and maintain the functional values of the critical area or to prevent risk from a critical area 

hazard and shall give adequate consideration to the reasonable economically viable use of the property. 

Mitigation of one critical area impact should not result in unmitigated impacts to another critical area. Mitigation 

may include, but is not limited to: buffers, setbacks, limits on clearing and grading, best management practices 

for erosion control and maintenance of water quality, compensatory mitigation or other conditions appropriate to 

avoid or mitigate identified adverse impacts. 

C. Preferred Mitigation Sequence. Mitigation includes avoiding, minimizing or compensating for adverse 

impacts to regulated critical areas or their buffers. The preferred sequence of mitigation is defined below: 

20 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 146 of 248 

20 
 

a hazard from the critical area and provided, that the reduction of a standard buffer by more than 25% 

shall require a shoreline variance. 

4.    The critical areas assessment and the conditions of approval shall make adequate provision for 

long-term protection related to critical areas and buffers, and shall include the requirements established 

in subsection “Protected critical area requirements” (below). 

However, critical areas and/or buffers identified as Protected Critical Areas (PCAs) as defined in this chapter do 

not require any provisions for public access, and appropriate restrictions may be included in the easement or title 

documents. Critical areas and/or buffers identified as PCAs are however subject to periodic inspection by the 

director, upon prior notification to the landowner, to ensure long-term protection. 

5.    Protected Critical Areas (PCAs). 

a.    For proposed land divisions, critical areas and their associated buffers identified through the 

site assessment and city review process shall be designated as PCAs and placed in separate 

tracts or easements and protected through protective covenants shown on the face of the 

recorded plat. Protected critical areas shall be placed in separate tracts under a single owner, 

unless an easement or alternative method is shown to provide superior protection overtime. An 

example of an easement that is preferable to a separate tract would be an easement conveyed to 

a third-party conservation advocacy group. 

b.    For development projects or land use activities not involving a new land division, the critical 

area and its associated buffer identified through the site assessment process shall instead be 

identified as a PCA by either easement, open space designation or permit conditions, all including 

restrictive covenants and recorded with the auditor on a site plan to insure long-term protection. 

Critical areas and/or buffers identified as PCAs are subject to periodic inspection, upon prior 

notification to the landowner, to ensure long-term protection. 

6.    If a portion of a parcel contains a proposed development project that triggers a shoreline 

development permit, and has not had its critical areas and associated buffers delineated because it was 

outside the project or area affected by the project, then further critical areas assessment may be 

required in the future prior to any change of use, or new development permit for that portion of the site. 

B.    Mitigation. All proposed alterations to shoreline critical areas or associated buffers shall require mitigation 

sufficient to provide for and maintain the functional values of the critical area or to prevent risk from a critical area 

hazard and shall give adequate consideration to the reasonable economically viable use of the property. 

Mitigation of one critical area impact should not result in unmitigated impacts to another critical area. Mitigation 

may include, but is not limited to: buffers, setbacks, limits on clearing and grading, best management practices 

for erosion control and maintenance of water quality, compensatory mitigation or other conditions appropriate to 

avoid or mitigate identified adverse impacts. 

C.    Preferred Mitigation Sequence. Mitigation includes avoiding, minimizing or compensating for adverse 

impacts to regulated critical areas or their buffers. The preferred sequence of mitigation is defined below: 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 146 of 248



1. Avoid the impact altogether by not taking a certain action or parts of an action; 

2. Minimize the impacts by limiting the degree or magnitude of the action and its implementation by 

using appropriate technology, or by taking affirmative steps to avoid or reduce impacts; 

3. Rectify the impact by repairing, rehabilitating or restoring the affected environment to the conditions 

existing at the time of the initiation of the project or activity; 

4. Reduce or eliminate the impact overtime by preservation and maintenance operations during the 

life of the action; 

5. Compensate for the impact by replacing, enhancing, or providing substitute resources or 

environments; 

6. All proposed mitigation shall be included in the critical areas assessment. The critical areas 

mitigation shall include the following: 

a. Description of existing conditions, functions, and values, 

b. Description and quantification of impacts, 

c. Description of proposed mitigations (critical areas lost/critical areas gained), 

d. Functional analysis of mitigation/analysis of prevention of risk hazard, 

e. Proposed applicant or landowner monitoring or inspection measures and schedule, including 

specification of method and frequency of submittal of reports on results, and 

f. Contingency plan. 

Such assessments must follow the Washington State Department of Ecology's standards. 

D. The director shall make the final determination regarding required mitigation. Required mitigation shall be 

included in an approved mitigation plan. 

E. Financial Assurance. The director or his/her designee shall require the complete mitigation proposed in the 

site assessment to be completed prior to final approval of the development permit. For all projects with an 

estimated mitigation cost of four thousand dollars or over, the director shall require financial assurance that will 

assure compliance with the mitigation plan if the complete mitigation proposed in the site assessment cannot be 

completed prior to final approval of the development permit. Financial assurance shall be in the form of either a 

surety bond, performance bond, assignment of savings account or an irrevocable letter of credit guaranteed by 

an acceptable financial institution with terms and conditions acceptable to the city attorney, shall be in the 

amount of one hundred twenty-five percent of the estimated cost of the uncompleted actions or construction, and 

shall be assigned in favor of the city of Sedro-Woolley. The term of the financial assurance shall remain in place 

until the required mitigation is complete. 

21 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 147 of 248 

21 
 

1.    Avoid the impact altogether by not taking a certain action or parts of an action; 

2.    Minimize the impacts by limiting the degree or magnitude of the action and its implementation by 

using appropriate technology, or by taking affirmative steps to avoid or reduce impacts; 

3.    Rectify the impact by repairing, rehabilitating or restoring the affected environment to the conditions 

existing at the time of the initiation of the project or activity; 

4.    Reduce or eliminate the impact overtime by preservation and maintenance operations during the 

life of the action; 

5.    Compensate for the impact by replacing, enhancing, or providing substitute resources or 

environments; 

6.    All proposed mitigation shall be included in the critical areas assessment. The critical areas 

mitigation shall include the following: 

a.    Description of existing conditions, functions, and values, 

b.    Description and quantification of impacts, 

c.    Description of proposed mitigations (critical areas lost/critical areas gained), 

d.    Functional analysis of mitigation/analysis of prevention of risk hazard, 

e.    Proposed applicant or landowner monitoring or inspection measures and schedule, including 

specification of method and frequency of submittal of reports on results, and 

f.    Contingency plan. 

Such assessments must follow the Washington State Department of Ecology’s standards. 

D.    The director shall make the final determination regarding required mitigation. Required mitigation shall be 

included in an approved mitigation plan. 

E.    Financial Assurance. The director or his/her designee shall require the complete mitigation proposed in the 

site assessment to be completed prior to final approval of the development permit. For all projects with an 

estimated mitigation cost of four thousand dollars or over, the director shall require financial assurance that will 

assure compliance with the mitigation plan if the complete mitigation proposed in the site assessment cannot be 

completed prior to final approval of the development permit. Financial assurance shall be in the form of either a 

surety bond, performance bond, assignment of savings account or an irrevocable letter of credit guaranteed by 

an acceptable financial institution with terms and conditions acceptable to the city attorney, shall be in the 

amount of one hundred twenty-five percent of the estimated cost of the uncompleted actions or construction, and 

shall be assigned in favor of the city of Sedro-Woolley. The term of the financial assurance shall remain in place 

until the required mitigation is complete. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 147 of 248



F. Monitoring of Critical Areas Mitigation. On a regular basis, but no longer than once every two years, the 

director shall make a significant sampling of projects and activities for which critical area site assessments were 

required, including mitigation plans, potentially impacting fish-bearing streams and/or Category I, II or III 

wetlands. The sample shall be taken from permits or approvals issued more than ten months prior to the 

sampling date. The selected sites shall be inspected for critical area and buffer size and condition and for 

compliance with any required mitigation or other conditions of approval. Results of such sampling shall be 

included in the permanent record for the project or activity, shall be reported to the city council, and shall also be 

utilized for enforcement purposes. 

Protected critical area (PCA) requirements. 

A. PCA Identification and Recording. 

1. PCA Identification. Approval of development projects which trigger a development permit and other 

land use activities that can cause adverse impacts to critical areas and/or their buffers shall require the 

identification and designation of PCAs by the director. This section is intended to apply to unique critical 

area elements such as buffers or wellhead protection areas that can cause adverse impacts; location in 

the floodplain unless adjacent to a wetland or riparian corridor does not require recording of a PCA. 

PCAs shall include all critical areas and associated buffers on the proposed project site which have 

been identified through the site assessment process. 

2. PCA Recording. All PCAs shall be recorded with the county auditor in accordance with the 

procedures established under this section. The applicant shall be responsible for all fees and other 

costs associated with recording of PCAs. 

3. Binding Agreements. For each project or activity that requires recording of PCAs, the following 

information shall be recorded with the auditor as part of a binding agreement between the landowner 

and the city which shall run with the land and be readily available to the public upon request: 

a. Binding agreement signed by the landowner and the director or designee which stipulates any 

special conditions of approval, protective covenants, binding conditions, or other requirements 

such as use restrictions, required mitigation, and/or landowner maintenance or monitoring 

requirements established at the time of approval; 

b. Required final plat map or site plan clearly showing the locations of PCAs, existing vegetation 

and permanent buffer edge markers; 

c. Additional information necessary to document the critical areas inventory at the time of 

approval, including descriptions of identified critical areas, their locations, functions and values, 

and existing critical areas or buffer vegetation; 

d. Identification of any local responsibilities beyond those required by this chapter; 

e. Reference to the file containing the complete record of information pertaining to approval of 

the project or activity. 

22 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 148 of 248 

22 
 

F.    Monitoring of Critical Areas Mitigation. On a regular basis, but no longer than once every two years, the 

director shall make a significant sampling of projects and activities for which critical area site assessments were 

required, including mitigation plans, potentially impacting fish-bearing streams and/or Category I, II or III 

wetlands. The sample shall be taken from permits or approvals issued more than ten months prior to the 

sampling date. The selected sites shall be inspected for critical area and buffer size and condition and for 

compliance with any required mitigation or other conditions of approval. Results of such sampling shall be 

included in the permanent record for the project or activity, shall be reported to the city council, and shall also be 

utilized for enforcement purposes.  

Protected critical area (PCA) requirements. 

A.    PCA Identification and Recording. 

1.    PCA Identification. Approval of development projects which trigger a development permit and other 

land use activities that can cause adverse impacts to critical areas and/or their buffers shall require the 

identification and designation of PCAs by the director. This section is intended to apply to unique critical 

area elements such as buffers or wellhead protection areas that can cause adverse impacts; location in 

the floodplain unless adjacent to a wetland or riparian corridor does not require recording of a PCA. 

PCAs shall include all critical areas and associated buffers on the proposed project site which have 

been identified through the site assessment process. 

2.    PCA Recording. All PCAs shall be recorded with the county auditor in accordance with the 

procedures established under this section. The applicant shall be responsible for all fees and other 

costs associated with recording of PCAs. 

3.    Binding Agreements. For each project or activity that requires recording of PCAs, the following 

information shall be recorded with the auditor as part of a binding agreement between the landowner 

and the city which shall run with the land and be readily available to the public upon request: 

a.    Binding agreement signed by the landowner and the director or designee which stipulates any 

special conditions of approval, protective covenants, binding conditions, or other requirements 

such as use restrictions, required mitigation, and/or landowner maintenance or monitoring 

requirements established at the time of approval; 

b.    Required final plat map or site plan clearly showing the locations of PCAs, existing vegetation 

and permanent buffer edge markers; 

c.    Additional information necessary to document the critical areas inventory at the time of 

approval, including descriptions of identified critical areas, their locations, functions and values, 

and existing critical areas or buffer vegetation; 

d.    Identification of any local responsibilities beyond those required by this chapter; 

e.    Reference to the file containing the complete record of information pertaining to approval of 

the project or activity. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 148 of 248



4. Permanent Buffer Edge Markers. Except as provided under subsection a of this subsection, the 

outer edges of all PCAs, with the exception of aquifer recharge areas, shall be clearly marked on-site by 

the applicant or landowner with permanent rebar stakes and critical area markers. Critical area markers 

may be either approved critical area signs or inexpensive steel posts painted a standard color approved 

by the director that is clearly identifiable as a critical area marker. Installation of permanent markers 

shall be the responsibility of the landowner. 

a. The director may waive or modify the requirement for permanent buffer edge markers, 

provided, that any such decision shall be based on a site-specific determination that future 

verification of PCA locations will not be substantially more difficult without the placement of 

permanent markers and that such waiver or modification will not result in reduced long-term 

protection of critical areas. The determination shall be included in the permanent record and made 

available to the public upon request. 

b. Where such permanent markers are required, the director shall specify their frequency of 

placement and general location. Permanent markers shall be placed to locate the edge of the PCA 

to an approximate accuracy of within five percent of the specified buffer width or within five feet, 

whichever is larger. The spacing intervals of the markers shall be such as to provide comparable 

accuracy of line-of-sight determination of buffer edges. The locations of all required 

stakes/markers shall be shown on the plat map or site map recorded with the auditor. 

B. Protected Critical Area (PCA) Designations for New Land Divisions. 

1. For land divisions where site assessments have occurred pursuant to subsection (A)(1) of this 

section, all PCAs shall be placed into separate tracts or easements, whose uses shall be regulated by 

the provisions of this chapter and any conditions of approval, including protective covenants and binding 

agreements as provided for under subsection A of this section. Area within a PCA can be included in 

total acreage for development purposes and may be used in lot area or density calculations. PCAs may 

be owned and maintained by the owner of the lot of which they are a part or transferred to the 

homeowners association or land trust. Protected critical areas shall be placed in separate tracts under a 

single owner, unless an easement or alternative method is shown to provide superior protection 

overtime. An example of an easement that is preferable to a separate tract would be an easement 

conveyed to a third-party conservation advocacy group. 

2. Recording. PCA designations shall be recorded with the auditor as part of the plat approval 

process. 

The auditor file number referencing the agreement shall be on the face of the plat and its provisions shall run 

with the land, 

3. PCA Descriptions. The location of PCAs shall be clearly identified on site plans and on preliminary 

and final plat maps. PCAs shall be labeled using the letters A through Z, or another labeling system 

approved by the director. Where more than one lot is involved, each lot shall carry independent labeling 

as described in subsection (D)(1) of this section. 

23 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 149 of 248 

23 
 

4.    Permanent Buffer Edge Markers. Except as provided under subsection a of this subsection, the 

outer edges of all PCAs, with the exception of aquifer recharge areas, shall be clearly marked on-site by 

the applicant or landowner with permanent rebar stakes and critical area markers. Critical area markers 

may be either approved critical area signs or inexpensive steel posts painted a standard color approved 

by the director that is clearly identifiable as a critical area marker. Installation of permanent markers 

shall be the responsibility of the landowner. 

a.    The director may waive or modify the requirement for permanent buffer edge markers, 

provided, that any such decision shall be based on a site-specific determination that future 

verification of PCA locations will not be substantially more difficult without the placement of 

permanent markers and that such waiver or modification will not result in reduced long-term 

protection of critical areas. The determination shall be included in the permanent record and made 

available to the public upon request. 

b.    Where such permanent markers are required, the director shall specify their frequency of 

placement and general location. Permanent markers shall be placed to locate the edge of the PCA 

to an approximate accuracy of within five percent of the specified buffer width or within five feet, 

whichever is larger. The spacing intervals of the markers shall be such as to provide comparable 

accuracy of line-of-sight determination of buffer edges. The locations of all required 

stakes/markers shall be shown on the plat map or site map recorded with the auditor. 

B.    Protected Critical Area (PCA) Designations for New Land Divisions. 

1.    For land divisions where site assessments have occurred pursuant to subsection (A)(1) of this 

section, all PCAs shall be placed into separate tracts or easements, whose uses shall be regulated by 

the provisions of this chapter and any conditions of approval, including protective covenants and binding 

agreements as provided for under subsection A of this section. Area within a PCA can be included in 

total acreage for development purposes and may be used in lot area or density calculations. PCAs may 

be owned and maintained by the owner of the lot of which they are a part or transferred to the 

homeowners association or land trust. Protected critical areas shall be placed in separate tracts under a 

single owner, unless an easement or alternative method is shown to provide superior protection 

overtime. An example of an easement that is preferable to a separate tract would be an easement 

conveyed to a third-party conservation advocacy group. 

2.    Recording. PCA designations shall be recorded with the auditor as part of the plat approval 

process. 

The auditor file number referencing the agreement shall be on the face of the plat and its provisions shall run 

with the land, 

3.    PCA Descriptions. The location of PCAs shall be clearly identified on site plans and on preliminary 

and final plat maps. PCAs shall be labeled using the letters A through Z, or another labeling system 

approved by the director. Where more than one lot is involved, each lot shall carry independent labeling 

as described in subsection (D)(1) of this section. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 149 of 248



4. Ingress, Egress and Use. Owners of PCAs shall grant ingress and egress by the director or his or 

her agent for monitoring and evaluation of compliance with established conditions of approval, binding 

conditions or any required mitigation. As part of an approved land division, the use limitations required 

of a designated and regulated critical area according to the provisions of this chapter, including the 

conclusions of the critical areas site assessment report and any conditions of approval, protective 

covenants and other binding conditions, shall be clearly stated on the face of the recorded plat. 

C. PCAs on Preexisting Lots. 

1. For development proposals and other land use activities that can adversely impact critical areas on 

preexisting lots, not part of a proposed land division or other form of multiple lot development, PCAs 

shall be identified on a scaled site plan showing the location of the PCA, structures (existing and 

proposed) and their distances from the PCA and lot lines to show relative location within the subject 

parcel(s). The project or activity shall be conditioned for critical area protection and the resulting 

information recorded with the auditor as defined under subsection A of this section. The site plan may 

be prepared by the applicant and all distances and locations of structures may be measured from the 

established PCA boundary to within plus or minus five feet. 

2. Ingress and Egress. Owners of PCAs shall grant ingress and egress to the director or designee for 

monitoring and evaluation of compliance with established conditions of approval, binding conditions or 

any required mitigation. 

D. PCA Mapping, Labeling, and Area Calculations. 

1. All PCAs Shall be Mapped. The area shall be delineated on the final plat map or on a site plan to 

an accuracy of plus or minus five feet horizontal and monumented in the field by a qualified expert 

pursuant to subsection (A)(4) of this section. If a survey was not used to map the critical area, a note on 

the final plat map shall be recorded stating that a legal survey was not performed to delineate the critical 

area and that the surveyor is not incurring liability for the exact boundaries of the critical area on the plat 

map. 

2. During construction phases of development, clear temporary marking using flagging and staking 

shall be maintained along the outer limits of the delineated PCA or the limits of the proposed site 

disturbance outside of the PCA. Prior to the start of construction activity, and as necessary during 

construction, temporary markings shall be inspected and approved by the director or designee. The 

person responsible for inspecting the temporary flagging shall provide written confirmation to be 

included in the record as to whether or not the flagging has been installed consistent with the permit 

requirements prior to commencement of the permitted activity. 

3. All PCAs shall include the necessary labeling to show calculated area (in square feet or acreage), 

and type and/or class of critical area within each lot. This information shall be noted on the face of the 

approved plat or site plan. 

4. Signs or Fencing Required as Part of Critical Area Mitigation. The director shall require permanent 

signs or fencing where the director determines that it is a necessary component of a mitigation plan. 
24 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 150 of 248 

24 
 

4.    Ingress, Egress and Use. Owners of PCAs shall grant ingress and egress by the director or his or 

her agent for monitoring and evaluation of compliance with established conditions of approval, binding 

conditions or any required mitigation. As part of an approved land division, the use limitations required 

of a designated and regulated critical area according to the provisions of this chapter, including the 

conclusions of the critical areas site assessment report and any conditions of approval, protective 

covenants and other binding conditions, shall be clearly stated on the face of the recorded plat. 

C.    PCAs on Preexisting Lots. 

1.    For development proposals and other land use activities that can adversely impact critical areas on 

preexisting lots, not part of a proposed land division or other form of multiple lot development, PCAs 

shall be identified on a scaled site plan showing the location of the PCA, structures (existing and 

proposed) and their distances from the PCA and lot lines to show relative location within the subject 

parcel(s). The project or activity shall be conditioned for critical area protection and the resulting 

information recorded with the auditor as defined under subsection A of this section. The site plan may 

be prepared by the applicant and all distances and locations of structures may be measured from the 

established PCA boundary to within plus or minus five feet. 

2.    Ingress and Egress. Owners of PCAs shall grant ingress and egress to the director or designee for 

monitoring and evaluation of compliance with established conditions of approval, binding conditions or 

any required mitigation. 

D.    PCA Mapping, Labeling, and Area Calculations. 

1.    All PCAs Shall be Mapped. The area shall be delineated on the final plat map or on a site plan to 

an accuracy of plus or minus five feet horizontal and monumented in the field by a qualified expert 

pursuant to subsection (A)(4) of this section. If a survey was not used to map the critical area, a note on 

the final plat map shall be recorded stating that a legal survey was not performed to delineate the critical 

area and that the surveyor is not incurring liability for the exact boundaries of the critical area on the plat 

map. 

2.    During construction phases of development, clear temporary marking using flagging and staking 

shall be maintained along the outer limits of the delineated PCA or the limits of the proposed site 

disturbance outside of the PCA. Prior to the start of construction activity, and as necessary during 

construction, temporary markings shall be inspected and approved by the director or designee. The 

person responsible for inspecting the temporary flagging shall provide written confirmation to be 

included in the record as to whether or not the flagging has been installed consistent with the permit 

requirements prior to commencement of the permitted activity. 

3.    All PCAs shall include the necessary labeling to show calculated area (in square feet or acreage), 

and type and/or class of critical area within each lot. This information shall be noted on the face of the 

approved plat or site plan. 

4.    Signs or Fencing Required as Part of Critical Area Mitigation. The director shall require permanent 

signs or fencing where the director determines that it is a necessary component of a mitigation plan. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 150 of 248



Examples include situations where variances to the dimensional requirement of this chapter have been 

granted and the development will occur within a PCA; or where the sensitivity of the PCA will be 

impacted unless access to the PCA is limited (such as changes of use to farming where livestock is 

involved). 

The intent is to provide clear and sufficient notice, identification and protection of critical areas on-site where 

damage to a critical area or buffer by humans or livestock is probable due to the proximity of the adjacent 

activity. 

5. Sign, Marker and Fence Maintenance. It is the responsibility of the landowner, or any subsequent 

landowner, to maintain the required PCA markers, signs or fences in working order throughout the 

duration of the development project or land use activity. Maintenance includes any necessary 

replacement. Removal of required signs, markers or fences without prior written approval of the director 

shall be considered a violation of this chapter. 

Incentives. 

The following incentives are intended to minimize the burden to individual property owners from application of 

the provisions of this chapter and assist the city in achieving the goals of this chapter: 

A. Open Space. Any property owner on whose property a critical area or its associated buffer is located and 

who proposes to put the critical area and buffer in a separate open space tract may apply for current use 

property tax assessment on that separate tract pursuant to RCW 84.34. 

B. Conservation Easement. Any person who owns an identified critical area or its associated buffer may place 

a conservation easement over that portion of the property by naming a qualified designee under RCW 64.04.130 

as beneficiary of the conservation easement. This conservation easement can be used in lieu of the creation of a 

separate critical areas tract to qualify for open space tax assessment described in subsection A of this section. 

The purpose of the easement shall be to preserve, protect, maintain, restore and limit future use of the property 

affected. The terms of the conservation easement may include prohibitions or restrictions on access and shall be 

approved by the property owner and the qualified designee. 

General natural resource preservation requirements. 

A. For purposes of this section, natural resource lands shall be those lands designated by Skagit County as 

agricultural, forest or mineral resource lands of long-term commercial significance, and those lands within the 

city's urban growth area which are currently managed as natural resource lands but which may be designated as 

an urban reserve area or transitional area, and those lands designated as mineral resource sites within the city 

limits. 

B. All short plats, subdivisions, development permits and building permits issued for development activities on, 

or within five hundred feet of, lands designated as agricultural lands, forest lands or mineral resource lands, shall 

contain a notice that: "The subject property is within or near designated agricultural, forest or mineral resource 

lands on which a variety of commercial activities and management practices may occur that are not compatible 

with residential development for certain periods of limited duration." 

25 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 151 of 248 

25 
 

Examples include situations where variances to the dimensional requirement of this chapter have been 

granted and the development will occur within a PCA; or where the sensitivity of the PCA will be 

impacted unless access to the PCA is limited (such as changes of use to farming where livestock is 

involved). 

The intent is to provide clear and sufficient notice, identification and protection of critical areas on-site where 

damage to a critical area or buffer by humans or livestock is probable due to the proximity of the adjacent 

activity. 

5.    Sign, Marker and Fence Maintenance. It is the responsibility of the landowner, or any subsequent 

landowner, to maintain the required PCA markers, signs or fences in working order throughout the 

duration of the development project or land use activity. Maintenance includes any necessary 

replacement. Removal of required signs, markers or fences without prior written approval of the director 

shall be considered a violation of this chapter.  

Incentives. 

The following incentives are intended to minimize the burden to individual property owners from application of 

the provisions of this chapter and assist the city in achieving the goals of this chapter: 

A.    Open Space. Any property owner on whose property a critical area or its associated buffer is located and 

who proposes to put the critical area and buffer in a separate open space tract may apply for current use 

property tax assessment on that separate tract pursuant to RCW 84.34. 

B.    Conservation Easement. Any person who owns an identified critical area or its associated buffer may place 

a conservation easement over that portion of the property by naming a qualified designee under RCW 64.04.130 

as beneficiary of the conservation easement. This conservation easement can be used in lieu of the creation of a 

separate critical areas tract to qualify for open space tax assessment described in subsection A of this section. 

The purpose of the easement shall be to preserve, protect, maintain, restore and limit future use of the property 

affected. The terms of the conservation easement may include prohibitions or restrictions on access and shall be 

approved by the property owner and the qualified designee.  

General natural resource preservation requirements. 

A.    For purposes of this section, natural resource lands shall be those lands designated by Skagit County as 

agricultural, forest or mineral resource lands of long-term commercial significance, and those lands within the 

city’s urban growth area which are currently managed as natural resource lands but which may be designated as 

an urban reserve area or transitional area, and those lands designated as mineral resource sites within the city 

limits. 

B.    All short plats, subdivisions, development permits and building permits issued for development activities on, 

or within five hundred feet of, lands designated as agricultural lands, forest lands or mineral resource lands, shall 

contain a notice that: “The subject property is within or near designated agricultural, forest or mineral resource 

lands on which a variety of commercial activities and management practices may occur that are not compatible 

with residential development for certain periods of limited duration.” 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 151 of 248



C. To protect natural resource lands from conflicting uses, such as residential subdivisions, mobile home 

parks, multifamily residential or other such uses, and to provide a buffer for such uses from the incompatible 

activities associated with natural resource uses, subdivisions, mobile home parks, planned developments, and 

multifamily or cluster residential developments shall provide an open space buffer on the perimeter of the 

development next to the natural resource site(s). This buffer shall be at least fifty feet in width, planted with 

appropriate vegetation based upon the existing site conditions and adjacent uses, and shall include a fence as 

required by the director. This buffer area shall be designated as a separate tract within the plat or development, 

to be maintained through a homeowner's association, or may be preserved through a conservation easement 

through private individual lots. In either case, setbacks for structures, as required under the zoning ordinance, 

shall be from the property line or easement delineating the edge of the buffer area. 

Natural resource area covenants, tracts, notices and dedications. 

A. Covenants. All natural resource buffers established in compliance with this chapter shall be placed in a 

protective covenant. 

B. Tracts. The city may require that any area classified as a natural resource area be placed in a separate 

tract, rather than included in a protective covenant. Such a tract shall be: 

1. Placed in the same ownership as the parcel it was segregated from; 

2. Placed into an undivided common ownership of all lots within a proposed subdivision, short plat, 

planned development or binding site plan; or 

3. Dedicated to a public agency who is willing to accept the tract for long-term management of the 

protected resource. 

C. Notice on Title. The owner of property adjacent to a natural resource site, on which a development proposal 

is submitted shall file with the Skagit County auditor a notice in the public record of the presence of a natural 

resource area, or buffer area easement or tract, the limitations on actions in or affecting such areas, and the 

applicability of this chapter to the property. The applicant shall submit proof that the notice has been filed for 

recording before the city may approve any development proposal on the site. The notice shall run with the land 

and failure to provide such notice to any purchaser prior to transferring any interest in the property shall be a 

violation of this chapter. 

D. The covenant requirements of this section shall not apply to activities permitted, under the provisions of this 

chapter, within utility easements or street rights-of-way. 

Article II. Shoreland Wetlands 

Shoreland Wetlands designations. 

Wetlands within the SMZ shall be identified and designated through a site visit and/or a site assessment utilizing 

the definitions, methods and standards set forth in the current approved U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Manual 

and applicable regional supplements. 

Shoreland Wetlands initial project review. 

A. A site visit shall be conducted to confirm the presence of wetland indicators listed in the critical areas 

checklist or identified on critical areas map references as being within two hundred feet of a proposed project or 

activity. A positive confirmation by the director that site indicators are present or that the proposed project may 

impact the wetland area will then require a professional site assessment. 

26 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 152 of 248 

26 
 

C.    To protect natural resource lands from conflicting uses, such as residential subdivisions, mobile home 

parks, multifamily residential or other such uses, and to provide a buffer for such uses from the incompatible 

activities associated with natural resource uses, subdivisions, mobile home parks, planned developments, and 

multifamily or cluster residential developments shall provide an open space buffer on the perimeter of the 

development next to the natural resource site(s). This buffer shall be at least fifty feet in width, planted with 

appropriate vegetation based upon the existing site conditions and adjacent uses, and shall include a fence as 

required by the director. This buffer area shall be designated as a separate tract within the plat or development, 

to be maintained through a homeowner’s association, or may be preserved through a conservation easement 

through private individual lots. In either case, setbacks for structures, as required under the zoning ordinance, 

shall be from the property line or easement delineating the edge of the buffer area.  

Natural resource area covenants, tracts, notices and dedications. 

A.    Covenants. All natural resource buffers established in compliance with this chapter shall be placed in a 

protective covenant. 

B.    Tracts. The city may require that any area classified as a natural resource area be placed in a separate 

tract, rather than included in a protective covenant. Such a tract shall be: 

1.    Placed in the same ownership as the parcel it was segregated from; 

2.    Placed into an undivided common ownership of all lots within a proposed subdivision, short plat, 

planned development or binding site plan; or 

3.    Dedicated to a public agency who is willing to accept the tract for long-term management of the 

protected resource. 

C.    Notice on Title. The owner of property adjacent to a natural resource site, on which a development proposal 

is submitted shall file with the Skagit County auditor a notice in the public record of the presence of a natural 

resource area, or buffer area easement or tract, the limitations on actions in or affecting such areas, and the 

applicability of this chapter to the property. The applicant shall submit proof that the notice has been filed for 

recording before the city may approve any development proposal on the site. The notice shall run with the land 

and failure to provide such notice to any purchaser prior to transferring any interest in the property shall be a 

violation of this chapter. 

D.    The covenant requirements of this section shall not apply to activities permitted, under the provisions of this 

chapter, within utility easements or street rights-of-way.  

Article II. Shoreland Wetlands 

Shoreland Wetlands designations. 

Wetlands within the SMZ shall be identified and designated through a site visit and/or a site assessment utilizing 

the definitions, methods and standards set forth in the current approved U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Manual 

and applicable regional supplements.  

Shoreland Wetlands initial project review. 

A.    A site visit shall be conducted to confirm the presence of wetland indicators listed in the critical areas 

checklist or identified on critical areas map references as being within two hundred feet of a proposed project or 

activity. A positive confirmation by the director that site indicators are present or that the proposed project may 

impact the wetland area will then require a professional site assessment. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 152 of 248



B. The director shall use the following map references to assist in making a determination: 

1. Wetlands mapped under the National Wetland Inventory by the U.S. Department of Interior; Fish 

and Wildlife Service; 

2. Areas mapped as hydric soils under the Soil Survey of Skagit County Area, Washington by the 

United States Department of Agriculture; Soil Conservation Service; 

3. A water of the state as defined under WAC 222-16-030 and maintained in the Washington State 

Department of Natural Resources Stream Type Maps; 

4. Wetlands previously identified through the methodology specified under in this chapter for another 

project; and 

5. City of Sedro-Woolley critical areas map as updated periodically by the planning department. 

Shoreland Wetlands site assessment requirements. 

If a wetlands site assessment is required, it shall meet the following requirements: 

A. A wetland reconnaissance shall be performed by a qualified wetlands professional. The reconnaissance 

shall identify the presence of wetlands within two hundred feet of the project or activity area, if practicable. If this 

wetland reconnaissance demonstrates no wetlands within two hundred feet of the activity area, then no further 

study is required; 

B. A wetland delineation shall be performed as part of a site assessment where a wetland reconnaissance 

confirms the presence of a wetland or the applicant chooses to perform a delineation instead of a wetland 

reconnaissance. The delineation shall be performed by a qualified wetland professional trained in conducting 

delineations in accordance with the methodology specified in this section; 

C. Wetlands Site Assessment. The site assessment shall be prepared by a qualified expert wetland 

professional consistent with this section. The site assessment shall include the following: 

1. Site plan prepared in accordance with the requirements of this chapter indicating the presence of 

wetlands within two hundred feet of the project or activity area. This site plan information may be 

prepared by the applicant with review by the qualified wetlands professional. If the applicant together 

with assistance from the director cannot obtain permission for access to properties within two hundred 

feet of the activity area then an approximation of the extent of off-site wetlands within two hundred feet 

of the area may be completed based on aerial interpretation and/or visual observation from nearby 

vantage points, 

2. Wetland rating based upon Washington State Department of Ecology's Washington State Wetland 

Rating System for Western Washington 2014 update (Ecology Publication #14-06-029, effective 

January 2015) or subsequent revisions, 

3. Delineation report including a site map indicating wetland boundaries and the locations of all data 

points, 
27 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 153 of 248 

27 
 

B.    The director shall use the following map references to assist in making a determination: 

1.    Wetlands mapped under the National Wetland Inventory by the U.S. Department of Interior; Fish 

and Wildlife Service; 

2.    Areas mapped as hydric soils under the Soil Survey of Skagit County Area, Washington by the 

United States Department of Agriculture; Soil Conservation Service; 

3.    A water of the state as defined under WAC 222-16-030 and maintained in the Washington State 

Department of Natural Resources Stream Type Maps; 

4.    Wetlands previously identified through the methodology specified under in this chapter for another 

project; and 

5.    City of Sedro-Woolley critical areas map as updated periodically by the planning department.  

Shoreland Wetlands site assessment requirements. 

If a wetlands site assessment is required, it shall meet the following requirements: 

A.    A wetland reconnaissance shall be performed by a qualified wetlands professional. The reconnaissance 

shall identify the presence of wetlands within two hundred feet of the project or activity area, if practicable. If this 

wetland reconnaissance demonstrates no wetlands within two hundred feet of the activity area, then no further 

study is required; 

B.    A wetland delineation shall be performed as part of a site assessment where a wetland reconnaissance 

confirms the presence of a wetland or the applicant chooses to perform a delineation instead of a wetland 

reconnaissance. The delineation shall be performed by a qualified wetland professional trained in conducting 

delineations in accordance with the methodology specified in this section; 

C.    Wetlands Site Assessment. The site assessment shall be prepared by a qualified expert wetland 

professional consistent with this section. The site assessment shall include the following: 

1.    Site plan prepared in accordance with the requirements of this chapter indicating the presence of 

wetlands within two hundred feet of the project or activity area. This site plan information may be 

prepared by the applicant with review by the qualified wetlands professional. If the applicant together 

with assistance from the director cannot obtain permission for access to properties within two hundred 

feet of the activity area then an approximation of the extent of off-site wetlands within two hundred feet 

of the area may be completed based on aerial interpretation and/or visual observation from nearby 

vantage points, 

2.    Wetland rating based upon Washington State Department of Ecology’s Washington State Wetland 

Rating System for Western Washington 2014 update (Ecology Publication #14-06-029, effective 

January 2015) or subsequent revisions, 

3.    Delineation report including a site map indicating wetland boundaries and the locations of all data 

points, 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 153 of 248



4. Values and functions assessments shall include but not be limited to discussion of water quality, 

fish and wildlife habitat, flood and stream flow attenuation, recreation and aesthetics, 

5. Project description and impact assessment shall include a detailed narrative describing the project, 

its relationship to the wetland and its potential impact to the wetland, 

6. Any proposed mitigation plan shall include a discussion on how the project has been designed to 

avoid and minimize adverse impacts to wetlands, compensate for the loss of existing functions and 

values of wetlands, and should follow the general mitigation plan requirements described below under 

section "Wetland mitigation standards" and Guidance on Wetlands Mitigation in Washington - Parts 1 

and 1, April 2004, or subsequent revisions, and shall be consistent with the city of Sedro-Woolley 

comprehensive plan; and 

7. Approval of any activity that can adversely affect regulated wetlands shall conform to the 
requirements set forth in the above section "Protected critical area requirements." 

Alteration of shoreland wetlands. 

A. A regulated wetland in the SMZ or its required buffer can only be altered if the wetlands site assessment 

shows that the proposed alteration does not degrade the quantitative and qualitative functioning of the wetland, 

or any degradation can be adequately mitigated to protect or compensate for the wetland functions that are lost. 

Any alteration approved pursuant to this section shall include mitigation necessary to mitigate the impacts of the 

proposed alteration on the wetland as described in following section "Wetland mitigation standards." 

B. Stormwater discharges to wetlands shall be controlled and treated to provide all known and reasonable 

methods of prevention, control, and treatment as mandated in the State Water Quality Standards, WAC 173-

201A, as required by state law and implemented in SWMC Title 15, Buildings and Construction. 

Shorleand wetland mitigation standards. 

A. Mitigation Plan Requirements. Along with the other provisions of the other subsections below, the following 

items are required as part of a mitigation plan: 

1. Description of project or activity and impact assessment shall include a detailed narrative 

describing the project or activity, its relationship to the wetland and its potential impact to the shoreline 

jurisdiction wetland. 

2. Any proposed mitigation plan shall include a discussion on how the project or activity has been 

designed to avoid and minimize adverse impacts to wetlands and should follow the general mitigation 

plan requirements described in this section and in Guidance on Wetlands Mitigation in Washington -

Parts 1 and 1, April 2004, and subsequent revisions. 

B. Standard Wetland Buffers Requirements. Buffers satisfy the first step in the mitigation sequence set forth in 

this section. They are necessary in order to avoid potential project generated impacts. Buffers help maintain 

water quality and habitat diversity while stabilizing hydrology and minimizing direct human disturbance to 

wetlands. Buffer widths are based on wetland rating, the functions that the buffer is expected to perform, and the 

28 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 154 of 248 

28 
 

4.    Values and functions assessments shall include but not be limited to discussion of water quality, 

fish and wildlife habitat, flood and stream flow attenuation, recreation and aesthetics, 

5.    Project description and impact assessment shall include a detailed narrative describing the project, 

its relationship to the wetland and its potential impact to the wetland, 

6.    Any proposed mitigation plan shall include a discussion on how the project has been designed to 

avoid and minimize adverse impacts to wetlands, compensate for the loss of existing functions and 

values of wetlands, and should follow the general mitigation plan requirements described below under 

section “Wetland mitigation standards” and Guidance on Wetlands Mitigation in Washington - Parts 1 

and 1, April 2004, or subsequent revisions, and shall be consistent with the city of Sedro-Woolley 

comprehensive plan; and 

7.    Approval of any activity that can adversely affect regulated wetlands shall conform to the 

requirements set forth in the above section “Protected critical area requirements.” 

Alteration of shoreland wetlands. 

A.    A regulated wetland in the SMZ or its required buffer can only be altered if the wetlands site assessment 

shows that the proposed alteration does not degrade the quantitative and qualitative functioning of the wetland, 

or any degradation can be adequately mitigated to protect or compensate for the wetland functions that are lost. 

Any alteration approved pursuant to this section shall include mitigation necessary to mitigate the impacts of the 

proposed alteration on the wetland as described in following section “Wetland mitigation standards.” 

B.    Stormwater discharges to wetlands shall be controlled and treated to provide all known and reasonable 

methods of prevention, control, and treatment as mandated in the State Water Quality Standards, WAC 173-

201A, as required by state law and implemented in SWMC Title 15, Buildings and Construction. 

Shorleand wetland mitigation standards. 

A.    Mitigation Plan Requirements. Along with the other provisions of the other subsections below, the following 

items are required as part of a mitigation plan: 

1.    Description of project or activity and impact assessment shall include a detailed narrative 

describing the project or activity, its relationship to the wetland and its potential impact to the shoreline 

jurisdiction wetland. 

2.    Any proposed mitigation plan shall include a discussion on how the project or activity has been 

designed to avoid and minimize adverse impacts to wetlands and should follow the general mitigation 

plan requirements described in this section and in Guidance on Wetlands Mitigation in Washington - 

Parts 1 and 1, April 2004, and subsequent revisions. 

B.    Standard Wetland Buffers Requirements. Buffers satisfy the first step in the mitigation sequence set forth in 

this section. They are necessary in order to avoid potential project generated impacts. Buffers help maintain 

water quality and habitat diversity while stabilizing hydrology and minimizing direct human disturbance to 

wetlands. Buffer widths are based on wetland rating, the functions that the buffer is expected to perform, and the 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 154 of 248

http://www.codepublishing.com/wa/sedrowoolley/html/SedroWoolley15/SedroWoolley15.html#15


intensity of the proposed land use. The following standard buffers shall be required for regulated wetlands unless 

otherwise provided for in this section: 

Category of Wetland Land Use with Land Use with Land Use with 
Low Impact* Moderate Impact* High Impact* 

IV 25 40 50 
III 75 110 150 
II 150 225 300 
I 150 225 300 

* See Table below for types of land uses that can result in low, moderate and high impacts to wetlands. 

Level of Impact Types of Land Use Based on Common Zoning Designations * 
from Proposed Land 

Use 

High • Commercial 
• Industrial 

• Institutional 
• Mixed-use developments 
• Retail sales 

• Residential (more than 1 unit/acre) 
• Conversion to high-intensity agriculture (dairies, nurseries, 

• 

greenhouses, growing and harvesting crops requiring annual tilling 
and raising and maintaining animals, etc.) 
High-intensity recreation (golf courses, ball fields, etc.) 

Moderate • Residential (1 unit/acre or less) 
• Moderate-intensity open space (hard surface trails, parks with biking, 

• 
jogging, etc.) 
Conversion to moderate-intensity agriculture (orchards, hay fields, etc.) 

• Paved trails 
• Building of logging roads 
• Utility corridor or right-of-way shared by several utilities and 

including access/maintenance road 
Low • Forestry (cutting of trees only) 

• Low-intensity open space (hiking, bird-watching, preservation of 

• 

natural resources, native berry picking, etc.) 

Unpaved trails 
• Utility corridor without a maintenance road and little or no 

• 

vegetation management. 

Wetland enhancement. 

Category I 450 

Category II 140 

CategoPY44 50 

CategoPY-Pi 25 

29 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 155 of 248 

- 

- - 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- - 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

29 
 

intensity of the proposed land use. The following standard buffers shall be required for regulated wetlands unless 

otherwise provided for in this section: 

Category of Wetland 
Land Use with 
Low Impact* 

Land Use with 
Moderate Impact* 

Land Use with 
High Impact* 

IV 25 40 50 

III 75 110 150 

II 150 225 300 

I 150 225 300 

* See Table below for types of land uses that can result in low, moderate and high impacts to wetlands. 

Level of Impact 

 from Proposed Land 

Use 

Types of Land Use Based on Common Zoning Designations * 

High  Commercial 

 Industrial 

 Institutional 

 Mixed-use developments 

 Retail sales 

 Residential (more than 1 unit/acre) 

 Conversion to high-intensity agriculture (dairies, nurseries, 
greenhouses, growing and harvesting crops requiring annual tilling 
and raising and maintaining animals, etc.) 

 High-intensity recreation (golf courses, ball fields, etc.) 

 

Moderate  Residential (1 unit/acre or less) 

 Moderate-intensity open space (hard surface trails, parks with biking, 
jogging, etc.) 

 Conversion to moderate-intensity agriculture (orchards, hay fields, etc.) 

 Paved trails 

 Building of logging roads 

 Utility corridor or right-of-way shared by several utilities and 
including access/maintenance road 

Low  Forestry (cutting of trees only) 

 Low-intensity open space (hiking, bird-watching, preservation of 
natural resources, native berry picking, etc.) 

 Unpaved trails 

 Utility corridor without a maintenance road and little or no 
vegetation management. 

 Wetland enhancement. 

 

Category I 150 

Category II 110 

Category III 50 

Category IV 25 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 155 of 248



1. Wetland buffers shall be measured horizontally in a landward direction from the wetland edge, as 

delineated in the field. Where lands adjacent to a wetland display a continuous slope of twenty-five 

percent or greater, the buffer shall include such sloping areas. Where the horizontal distance of the 

sloping area is greater than the required standard buffer, the buffer shall be extended to a point twenty-

five feet beyond the top of the bank of the sloping area; 

2. Except as otherwise specified, wetland buffers shall be retained in their natural condition; 

3. Where buffer disturbance or alteration has or will occur in conjunction with regulated activities, 

revegetation with native vegetation shall be required and completed as per a mitigation plan approved 

by the director. 

C. As described generally in subsection A of this section, if an applicant does not propose to alter the required 

buffer, then no additional wetland impact mitigation shall be required. 

D. If an applicant proposes to decrease or alter a required buffer or alter a wetland pursuant to the above 

section "Reasonable use exceptions," the applicant shall demonstrate through the shoreline variance process 

why such buffer and/or wetland modification, together with such alternative mitigation proposed in the wetland 

area assessment is sufficient to adequately protect the wetland functions and values or compensate for 

disturbance to the functions and values of the wetland. A buffer reduction of less than 25% the standard buffer 

may be accomplished without engaging the shoreline variance permit process. 

E. Performance Based Buffer Alternatives. Buffer widths may be increased, decreased or averaged in 

accordance with the following provisions. In implementing alternative buffer widths, the director may require 

fourteen days for review and comment from appropriate federal, state or tribal natural resource agencies to 

ensure the use of best available science and relevant comments will be conditions of project approval. All 

comments shall be included in the public record along with the basis and rationale for requirement or approval of 

any such alternative buffer widths. 

1. Buffer Width Increasing. Standard buffers may be increased upon a determination by the qualified 

wetland expert with confirmation from the Washington State Departments of Ecology and/or Fish and 

Wildlife that buffer width averaging is not adequate to protect the functions and values of the wetland 

and increased buffer widths are necessary to: 

a. Maintain viable populations of existing species listed by the federal or state government as 

endangered, threatened or sensitive; 

b. Maintain critical habitat for those species referenced in subsection (E)(1)(a) of this section; 

c. Protect wetlands against severe erosion that standard erosion control measures will not 

effectively address; or 

d. If the wetland contains variations in sensitivity, increasing the buffer widths will only be done 

where necessary to preserve the structure, function and value of the wetland. 

30 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 156 of 248 

30 
 

1.    Wetland buffers shall be measured horizontally in a landward direction from the wetland edge, as 

delineated in the field. Where lands adjacent to a wetland display a continuous slope of twenty-five 

percent or greater, the buffer shall include such sloping areas. Where the horizontal distance of the 

sloping area is greater than the required standard buffer, the buffer shall be extended to a point twenty-

five feet beyond the top of the bank of the sloping area; 

2.    Except as otherwise specified, wetland buffers shall be retained in their natural condition; 

3.    Where buffer disturbance or alteration has or will occur in conjunction with regulated activities, 

revegetation with native vegetation shall be required and completed as per a mitigation plan approved 

by the director. 

C.    As described generally in subsection A of this section, if an applicant does not propose to alter the required 

buffer, then no additional wetland impact mitigation shall be required. 

D.    If an applicant proposes to decrease or alter a required buffer or alter a wetland pursuant to the above 

section “Reasonable use exceptions,” the applicant shall demonstrate through the shoreline variance process 

why such buffer and/or wetland modification, together with such alternative mitigation proposed in the wetland 

area assessment is sufficient to adequately protect the wetland functions and values or compensate for 

disturbance to the functions and values of the wetland. A buffer reduction of less than 25% the standard buffer 

may be accomplished without engaging the shoreline variance permit process. 

E.    Performance Based Buffer Alternatives. Buffer widths may be increased, decreased or averaged in 

accordance with the following provisions. In implementing alternative buffer widths, the director may require 

fourteen days for review and comment from appropriate federal, state or tribal natural resource agencies to 

ensure the use of best available science and relevant comments will be conditions of project approval. All 

comments shall be included in the public record along with the basis and rationale for requirement or approval of 

any such alternative buffer widths. 

1.    Buffer Width Increasing. Standard buffers may be increased upon a determination by the qualified 

wetland expert with confirmation from the Washington State Departments of Ecology and/or Fish and 

Wildlife that buffer width averaging is not adequate to protect the functions and values of the wetland 

and increased buffer widths are necessary to: 

a.    Maintain viable populations of existing species listed by the federal or state government as 

endangered, threatened or sensitive; 

b.    Maintain critical habitat for those species referenced in subsection (E)(1)(a) of this section; 

c.    Protect wetlands against severe erosion that standard erosion control measures will not 

effectively address; or 

d.    If the wetland contains variations in sensitivity, increasing the buffer widths will only be done 

where necessary to preserve the structure, function and value of the wetland. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 156 of 248



2. Buffer Width Decreasing. Decreasing of standard buffer widths by up to 25% of the standard buffer 

without a variance will be allowed administratively, provided, that in decreasing a standard buffer width, 

the functions and values of the wetland are not decreased.  H wetland delineation report prepared by a 

quaimea professional will De requirea to aemonstrate mat the functions and values of the wetland are 

not decreased. 

3. Buffer Width Averaging. Wetland buffers may be averaged, provided, that the total buffer area on 

the lot is not less than that required within the standard buffer, and that averaging will not reduce the 

wetland functional values. The city may require buffer width averaging in order to protect a particular 

portion of the wetland or buffer which is especially sensitive, or to incorporate existing significant 

vegetation or habitat areas into the buffer. Any reduction in buffer width as part of buffer width averaging 

shall not exceed twenty-five percent of the standard buffer width. 

F. Allowed Uses in Buffers. Low impact uses and activities which are consistent with the purpose and function 

of the habitat buffer and do not detract from its integrity may be permitted within the buffer depending on the 

sensitivity of the habitat involved, provided, that such activity shall not result in a decrease in wetland functional 

values and shall not prevent or inhibit the buffer's recovery to at least prealtered condition or function. Examples 

of uses and activities which may be permitted in appropriate cases, as long as the activity does not retard the 

overall recovery of the buffer, include removal of noxious vegetation, pedestrian trails, revegetation of 

stormwater facilities, and viewing platforms. Pedestrian trails should consist of permeable surfaces, be not more 

than five feet in width, minimize wetlands crossings, be located in the outer twenty-five percent of a wetlands 

buffer, and be designed to minimize impact on a wetland. Buffer widths should be increased to compensate for 

the loss due to the width of the trail if the buffer is less than fifty feet in width. 

G. Establishment of Limits of Clearing. The location of the outer extent of the wetland buffer and the limits of 

the areas to be disturbed shall be marked in the field and be included as a condition of a development permit or 

approval. Such field markings may be field-approved by the director prior to the commencement of permitted 

activities. Markings shall be maintained throughout the duration of any construction activities. 

H. Exceptions to Mitigation Requirements. Requirements for mitigation do not apply under the following 

circumstances: 

1. When a wetland alteration is intended exclusively for the enhancement or restoration of an existing 

regulated wetland and the proposal will not result in a loss of wetland function and value, subject to the 

following conditions: 

a. The enhancement or restoration project shall not be associated with a development activity; 

b. An enhancement or restoration plan shall be submitted for site plan review. The restoration or 

enhancement plan must include the information required in this chapter. 

2. When a wetland is a part of a development activity that is permitted by the Corp of Engineers NWP 

14 permitting crossing of wetlands as part of road construction, provided, that the applicant shall comply 

with any compensatory mitigation required by the NWP 14, Ecology's 401 Water Quality Certification, 

or Ecology's Coastal Zone Management Consistency Determination. 
31 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 157 of 248 

31 
 

2.    Buffer Width Decreasing. Decreasing of standard buffer widths by up to 25% of the standard buffer 

without a variance will be allowed administratively, provided, that in decreasing a standard buffer width, 

the functions and values of the wetland are not decreased. A wetland delineation report prepared by a 

qualified professional will be required to demonstrate that the functions and values of the wetland are 

not decreased.  

3.    Buffer Width Averaging. Wetland buffers may be averaged, provided, that the total buffer area on 

the lot is not less than that required within the standard buffer, and that averaging will not reduce the 

wetland functional values. The city may require buffer width averaging in order to protect a particular 

portion of the wetland or buffer which is especially sensitive, or to incorporate existing significant 

vegetation or habitat areas into the buffer. Any reduction in buffer width as part of buffer width averaging 

shall not exceed twenty-five percent of the standard buffer width. 

F.    Allowed Uses in Buffers. Low impact uses and activities which are consistent with the purpose and function 

of the habitat buffer and do not detract from its integrity may be permitted within the buffer depending on the 

sensitivity of the habitat involved, provided, that such activity shall not result in a decrease in wetland functional 

values and shall not prevent or inhibit the buffer’s recovery to at least prealtered condition or function. Examples 

of uses and activities which may be permitted in appropriate cases, as long as the activity does not retard the 

overall recovery of the buffer, include removal of noxious vegetation, pedestrian trails, revegetation of 

stormwater facilities, and viewing platforms. Pedestrian trails should consist of permeable surfaces, be not more 

than five feet in width, minimize wetlands crossings, be located in the outer twenty-five percent of a wetlands 

buffer, and be designed to minimize impact on a wetland. Buffer widths should be increased to compensate for 

the loss due to the width of the trail if the buffer is less than fifty feet in width. 

G.    Establishment of Limits of Clearing. The location of the outer extent of the wetland buffer and the limits of 

the areas to be disturbed shall be marked in the field and be included as a condition of a development permit or 

approval. Such field markings may be field-approved by the director prior to the commencement of permitted 

activities. Markings shall be maintained throughout the duration of any construction activities. 

H.    Exceptions to Mitigation Requirements. Requirements for mitigation do not apply under the following 

circumstances: 

1.    When a wetland alteration is intended exclusively for the enhancement or restoration of an existing 

regulated wetland and the proposal will not result in a loss of wetland function and value, subject to the 

following conditions: 

a.    The enhancement or restoration project shall not be associated with a development activity; 

b.    An enhancement or restoration plan shall be submitted for site plan review. The restoration or 

enhancement plan must include the information required in this chapter. 

2.    When a wetland is a part of a development activity that is permitted by the Corp of Engineers NWP 

14 permitting crossing of wetlands as part of road construction, provided, that the applicant shall comply 

with any compensatory mitigation required by the NWP 14, Ecology’s 401 Water Quality Certification,  

or Ecology’s Coastal Zone Management Consistency Determination. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 157 of 248



I. Compensatory Mitigation. 

1. General Provisions. 

a. In selection compensation actions, applicants should consider the following order of 

preference: 

i. Restoring wetlands on upland sites which were formerly wetlands, 

ii. Creating wetlands on disturbed upland sites such as those with vegetative cover 

consisting primarily of exotic introduced species, 

iii. Enhancing significantly degraded wetlands, 

iv. Preserving high-quality wetlands which are under imminent threat, 

v. In-lieu fees, 

vi. Preservation of other habitat; 

b. Compensatory mitigation shall be conducted on property which shall be protected and 

managed to avoid further loss or degradation. The applicant shall provide for long-term 

preservation of the compensation area; 

c. Compensatory mitigation shall follow an approved compensatory mitigation plan pursuant to 

criteria in the above section titled "Alteration of wetlands" and reflect the restoration/creation ratios 

specified in subsection (1)(2) of this section; 

d. Enhancement of existing wetlands may be considered for compensation as further described 

in subsection (1)(2) of this section; 

e. Compensation shall be completed prior to, concurrently with, or bonded to enable mitigation to 

occur after wetland loss, or, in the case of an enforcement action, prior to further development of 

the site. 

2. On-Site Compensation. As a condition of any development permit or approval which results in on-

site loss or degradation of regulated wetlands and/or wetland buffers, the director shall require of the 

applicant compensatory mitigation to offset impacts resulting from the actions of the applicant. On-site 

compensation is generally preferred over off-site compensation if practicable. 

Except under subsection H of this section, any person who alters or proposes to alter regulated wetlands shall 

restore or create areas of wetland in order to compensate for wetland losses. The following ratios in the table 

below apply to creation or restoration which is in-kind (i.e., the same type of wetland) on-site, and is 

accomplished prior to or concurrently with loss. The first number specifies the acreage of wetlands to be restored 

or created and the second specifies the acreage of wetlands lost: 

Wetland On-Site Restoration/Creation Ratios: 

Wetland Created: Wetland Area Lost 

Category I 6:1 

Category II 3:1 

Category III 2:1 

32 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 158 of 248 

32 
 

I.    Compensatory Mitigation. 

1.    General Provisions. 

a.    In selection compensation actions, applicants should consider the following order of 

preference: 

i.    Restoring wetlands on upland sites which were formerly wetlands, 

ii.    Creating wetlands on disturbed upland sites such as those with vegetative cover 

consisting primarily of exotic introduced species, 

iii.    Enhancing significantly degraded wetlands, 

iv.    Preserving high-quality wetlands which are under imminent threat, 

v.    In-lieu fees, 

vi.    Preservation of other habitat; 

b.    Compensatory mitigation shall be conducted on property which shall be protected and 

managed to avoid further loss or degradation. The applicant shall provide for long-term 

preservation of the compensation area; 

c.    Compensatory mitigation shall follow an approved compensatory mitigation plan pursuant to 

criteria in the above section titled “Alteration of wetlands” and reflect the restoration/creation ratios 

specified in subsection (I)(2) of this section; 

d.    Enhancement of existing wetlands may be considered for compensation as further described 

in subsection (I)(2) of this section; 

e.    Compensation shall be completed prior to, concurrently with, or bonded to enable mitigation to 

occur after wetland loss, or, in the case of an enforcement action, prior to further development of 

the site. 

2.    On-Site Compensation. As a condition of any development permit or approval which results in on-

site loss or degradation of regulated wetlands and/or wetland buffers, the director shall require of the 

applicant compensatory mitigation to offset impacts resulting from the actions of the applicant. On-site 

compensation is generally preferred over off-site compensation if practicable. 

Except under subsection H of this section, any person who alters or proposes to alter regulated wetlands shall 

restore or create areas of wetland in order to compensate for wetland losses. The following ratios in the table 

below apply to creation or restoration which is in-kind (i.e., the same type of wetland) on-site, and is 

accomplished prior to or concurrently with loss. The first number specifies the acreage of wetlands to be restored 

or created and the second specifies the acreage of wetlands lost: 

Wetland On-Site Restoration/Creation Ratios: 

Wetland Created: Wetland Area Lost 

Category I 6:1 

Category II 3:1 

Category III 2:1 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 158 of 248



Category IV 1.5:1 

These ratios apply to creation or restoration of a nonwetland area, which is, the same category as the impacted 

wetland, timed prior to or concurrent with the alteration, and has a high probability of success. 

These ratios may be increased under the following circumstances: 

a. Uncertainty as to the probable success of the proposed restoration or creation; 

b. Significant period of time between impact and replication of wetland functions; 

c. Proposed mitigation will result in lower category wetland or reduced functions than the 

wetland being impacted; or 

d. The impact was an unauthorized impact. 

These ratios may be decreased under the following circumstances: 

a. Documentation by a qualified wetland specialist demonstrates that the proposed mitigation 

actions have a very high likelihood of success; 

b. Documentation by a qualified wetlands specialist demonstrates that the proposed mitigation 

actions will provide significantly greater functions and values than the wetland being impacted; or 

c. The proposed mitigation actions are conducted in advance of the impact and are shown to be 

successful. 

Wetlands Enhancement 

Any applicant proposing to impact wetlands may propose to enhance existing significantly degraded wetlands in 

order to compensate for wetland losses. Applicants proposing to enhance wetlands must produce a report that 

identifies how enhancement will increase the functions of the degraded wetland and how this increase will 

adequately compensate for the loss of wetland area and function at the impact site. An enhancement proposal 

must also show whether existing wetland functions will be reduced by the enhancement actions. 

At a minimum, enhancement acreage shall be four times the acreage required for creation or restoration unless it 

is demonstrated that the enhancement proposal would result in no loss of wetlands area or wetlands functions, in 

which case it may be reduced, but not below the acreage required for creation or restoration. 

3. Off-Site Compensation. Off-site compensation allows replacement of wetlands away from the site 

on which the wetland has been impacted by a regulated activity. Off-site compensation will be 

conducted in accordance with the restoration/creation ratios described in subsection (1)(2) of this section 

and selecting compensation sites in subsection (1)(5) of this section. Off-site compensation should occur 

within the same drainage basin of the same watershed where the wetland loss occurs. In such 

instances, the stormwater storage function provided by a wetlands must be provided for within the 

design of the development project. Off-site compensation can be allowed only under one or more of the 

following circumstances: 

a. On-site compensation is not feasible due to hydrology, soils, or other factors; 

b. On-site compensation is not feasible due to limited site constraints needed to meet density 

requirements; 

33 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 159 of 248 

33 
 

Category IV 1.5:1 

These ratios apply to creation or restoration of a nonwetland area, which is, the same category as the impacted 

wetland, timed prior to or concurrent with the alteration, and has a high probability of success. 

These ratios may be increased under the following circumstances: 

a.    Uncertainty as to the probable success of the proposed restoration or creation; 

b.    Significant period of time between impact and replication of wetland functions; 

c.    Proposed mitigation will result in lower category wetland or reduced functions than the 

wetland being impacted; or 

d.    The impact was an unauthorized impact. 

These ratios may be decreased under the following circumstances: 

a.    Documentation by a qualified wetland specialist demonstrates that the proposed mitigation 

actions have a very high likelihood of success; 

b.    Documentation by a qualified wetlands specialist demonstrates that the proposed mitigation 

actions will provide significantly greater functions and values than the wetland being impacted; or 

c.    The proposed mitigation actions are conducted in advance of the impact and are shown to be 

successful. 

Wetlands Enhancement 

Any applicant proposing to impact wetlands may propose to enhance existing significantly degraded wetlands in 

order to compensate for wetland losses. Applicants proposing to enhance wetlands must produce a report that 

identifies how enhancement will increase the functions of the degraded wetland and how this increase will 

adequately compensate for the loss of wetland area and function at the impact site. An enhancement proposal 

must also show whether existing wetland functions will be reduced by the enhancement actions. 

At a minimum, enhancement acreage shall be four times the acreage required for creation or restoration unless it 

is demonstrated that the enhancement proposal would result in no loss of wetlands area or wetlands functions, in 

which case it may be reduced, but not below the acreage required for creation or restoration. 

3.    Off-Site Compensation. Off-site compensation allows replacement of wetlands away from the site 

on which the wetland has been impacted by a regulated activity. Off-site compensation will be 

conducted in accordance with the restoration/creation ratios described in subsection (I)(2) of this section 

and selecting compensation sites in subsection (I)(5) of this section. Off-site compensation should occur 

within the same drainage basin of the same watershed where the wetland loss occurs. In such 

instances, the stormwater storage function provided by a wetlands must be provided for within the 

design of the development project. Off-site compensation can be allowed only under one or more of the 

following circumstances: 

a.    On-site compensation is not feasible due to hydrology, soils, or other factors; 

b.    On-site compensation is not feasible due to limited site constraints needed to meet density 

requirements; 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 159 of 248



c. On-site compensation is not practical due to probable adverse impacts from surrounding land 

uses or would conflict with a federal, state or county public safety directive; 

d. Potential functional values at the site of the proposed restoration are greater than the lost 

wetland functional values; 

e. When the wetland to be altered is of a limited functional value and is degraded, compensation 

shall be of the wetland community types needed most in the location of compensation and those 

most likely to succeed with the highest functional value possible. 

4. Out-of-kind compensation can be allowed when out-of-kind replacement will best meet the 

provisions of subsection (1)(1) of this section and the mitigation sequence outlined in this section. 

5. Selecting Compensation Sites. General provisions. 

a. Except in the case of cooperative compensation projects in selecting compensation sites, 

applicants shall pursue locations in the following order of preference: 

i. Filled, drained, or cleared sites which were formerly wetlands and where appropriate 

hydrology exists, 

ii. Upland sites, adjacent to wetlands, if the upland is significantly disturbed and does not 

contain a mature forested or shrub community of native species, and where the appropriate 

natural hydrology exists, 

iii. Within wildlife corridors; 

b. Where out-of-kind replacement is accepted, greater restoration/creation ratios may be 

required. 

J. Timing. Construction of compensation projects shall be timed to reduce impacts to existing wildlife and 

plants. Construction shall be timed to assure that grading and soil movement occurs during the dry season and 

planting of vegetation shall be specifically timed to needs of the target species. 

K. Alternative Compensation Projects. The director may encourage, facilitate and approve innovative wetland 

mitigation projects. Advance compensation or mitigation banking are examples of alternative compensation 

projects allowed under the provisions of this section wherein one or more applicant(s), or an organization with 

demonstrated capability, may undertake a compensation project together if it is demonstrated that all of the 

following circumstances exist: 

1. Creation of one or several larger wetlands may be preferable to many small wetlands; 

2. The group demonstrates the organizational and fiscal capability to act cooperatively; 

3. The group demonstrates that long-term management of the compensation area will be provided; 

4. There is a clear potential for success of the proposed compensation at the identified compensation 

site; 

5. Conducting compensation as part of a cooperative process does not reduce or eliminate the 

required replacement ratios outlined in subsection (1)(2) of this section. Exception: (a) where a 

34 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 160 of 248 

34 
 

c.    On-site compensation is not practical due to probable adverse impacts from surrounding land 

uses or would conflict with a federal, state or county public safety directive; 

d.    Potential functional values at the site of the proposed restoration are greater than the lost 

wetland functional values; 

e.    When the wetland to be altered is of a limited functional value and is degraded, compensation 

shall be of the wetland community types needed most in the location of compensation and those 

most likely to succeed with the highest functional value possible. 

4.    Out-of-kind compensation can be allowed when out-of-kind replacement will best meet the 

provisions of subsection (I)(1) of this section and the mitigation sequence outlined in this section. 

5.    Selecting Compensation Sites. General provisions. 

a.    Except in the case of cooperative compensation projects in selecting compensation sites, 

applicants shall pursue locations in the following order of preference: 

i.    Filled, drained, or cleared sites which were formerly wetlands and where appropriate 

hydrology exists, 

ii.    Upland sites, adjacent to wetlands, if the upland is significantly disturbed and does not 

contain a mature forested or shrub community of native species, and where the appropriate 

natural hydrology exists, 

iii.    Within wildlife corridors; 

b.    Where out-of-kind replacement is accepted, greater restoration/creation ratios may be 

required. 

J.    Timing. Construction of compensation projects shall be timed to reduce impacts to existing wildlife and 

plants. Construction shall be timed to assure that grading and soil movement occurs during the dry season and 

planting of vegetation shall be specifically timed to needs of the target species. 

K.    Alternative Compensation Projects. The director may encourage, facilitate and approve innovative wetland 

mitigation projects. Advance compensation or mitigation banking are examples of alternative compensation 

projects allowed under the provisions of this section wherein one or more applicant(s), or an organization with 

demonstrated capability, may undertake a compensation project together if it is demonstrated that all of the 

following circumstances exist: 

1.    Creation of one or several larger wetlands may be preferable to many small wetlands; 

2.    The group demonstrates the organizational and fiscal capability to act cooperatively; 

3.    The group demonstrates that long-term management of the compensation area will be provided; 

4.    There is a clear potential for success of the proposed compensation at the identified compensation 

site; 

5.    Conducting compensation as part of a cooperative process does not reduce or eliminate the 

required replacement ratios outlined in subsection (I)(2) of this section. Exception: (a) where a 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 160 of 248



compensatory mitigation plan including a five-year monitoring agreement is included as a condition of 

approval where woody vegetation is not a part of the replacement plan, such plan shall allow for one is 

to one resulting replacement ratios upon successful completion of the monitoring agreement; and (b) 

where a compensatory mitigation plan including a ten-year monitoring agreement is included as a 

condition of approval where woody vegetation is part of the replacement plan, such plan shall allow for 

one is to one resulting replacement ratios upon successful completion of the monitoring agreement. 

Provided further, no reduction of the required replacement ratios outlined in subsection (1)(2) of this 

section shall be allowed unless the applicant can demonstrate that there will be no loss of resulting 

wetlands function or area overtime. The applicant may be required to provide additional replacement 

area to allow for probably loss of area during the period of establishment; 

6. Wetland mitigation banking programs consistent with the provisions outlined in the wetland 

mitigation bank rule (WAC 173-700) will be considered as a method of compensation for unavoidable, 

adverse wetland impacts associated with future development. Credits from a wetland mitigation bank 

may be approved for use as compensation for unavoidable impacts to wetlands when; 

a. The bank is certified under state rules; 

b. The Administrator determines that the wetland mitigation bank provides appropriate 

compensation for the authorized impacts; and 

c. The proposed use of credits is consistent with the terms and conditions of the certified bank 

instrument. 

Replacement ratios for projects using bank credits shall be consistent with replacement ratios specified 

in the certified bank instrument. Credits from certified wetland mitigation bank may be used to 

compensate for impacts located within the service area specified in the certified bank instrument. In 

some cases, the service area of the bank may include portions of more than one adjacent drainage 

basin for specific wetland functions. 

Article Ill. Aquifer Recharge Areas 

Aquifer recharge areas. 

A. Intent. This section establishes areas determined to be critical in maintaining both groundwater quantity and 

quality in the shoreline jurisdiction. This section specifies regulatory requirements to be enacted when 

development within these areas is proposed to occur and provides a methodology by which the level of review 

and any mitigation required is determined. The intent of this section is to: 

1. Define minimum regulatory requirements to protect groundwater quality and quantity for existing 

and future use; 

2. Identify the practices, alternatives, or mitigations that can minimize the adverse impacts of 

proposed projects; and 

3. Insure adequate design, construction, management, and operations to protect groundwater quality 

and quantity. 

35 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 161 of 248 

35 
 

compensatory mitigation plan including a five-year monitoring agreement is included as a condition of 

approval where woody vegetation is not a part of the replacement plan, such plan shall allow for one is 

to one resulting replacement ratios upon successful completion of the monitoring agreement; and (b) 

where a compensatory mitigation plan including a ten-year monitoring agreement is included as a 

condition of approval where woody vegetation is part of the replacement plan, such plan shall allow for 

one is to one resulting replacement ratios upon successful completion of the monitoring agreement. 

Provided further, no reduction of the required replacement ratios outlined in subsection (I)(2) of this 

section shall be allowed unless the applicant can demonstrate that there will be no loss of resulting 

wetlands function or area overtime. The applicant may be required to provide additional replacement 

area to allow for probably loss of area during the period of establishment; 

6.    Wetland mitigation banking programs consistent with the provisions outlined in the wetland 

mitigation bank rule (WAC 173-700) will be considered as a method of compensation for unavoidable, 

adverse wetland impacts associated with future development. Credits from a wetland mitigation bank 

may be approved for use as compensation for unavoidable impacts to wetlands when; 

a. The bank is certified under state rules; 

b. The Administrator determines that the wetland mitigation bank provides appropriate 

compensation for the authorized impacts; and 

c. The proposed use of credits is consistent with the terms and conditions of the certified bank 

instrument. 

Replacement ratios for projects using bank credits shall be consistent with replacement ratios specified 

in the certified bank instrument. Credits from certified wetland mitigation bank may be used to 

compensate for impacts located within the service area specified in the certified bank instrument. In 

some cases, the service area of the bank may include portions of more than one adjacent drainage 

basin for specific wetland functions.  

Article III. Aquifer Recharge Areas 

Aquifer recharge areas. 

A.    Intent. This section establishes areas determined to be critical in maintaining both groundwater quantity and 

quality in the shoreline jurisdiction. This section specifies regulatory requirements to be enacted when 

development within these areas is proposed to occur and provides a methodology by which the level of review 

and any mitigation required is determined. The intent of this section is to: 

1.    Define minimum regulatory requirements to protect groundwater quality and quantity for existing 

and future use; 

2.    Identify the practices, alternatives, or mitigations that can minimize the adverse impacts of 

proposed projects; and 

3.    Insure adequate design, construction, management, and operations to protect groundwater quality 

and quantity. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 161 of 248



B. Existing and future beneficial uses of groundwater shall be maintained and protected and degradation of 

groundwater quality that would interfere with or become injurious to beneficial uses shall be avoided or 

minimized. 

C. Wherever groundwaters are determined to be of a higher quality than the criteria established for such 

waters under this section, the existing water quality shall be protected, and contaminants that will reduce the 

existing quality thereof shall not be allowed to enter such waters, except in those instances where it can be 

demonstrated that: 

1. An overriding consideration of the public interest will be served; and 

2. All contaminants proposed for entry into such groundwater(s) shall be provided with all known, 

available, and reasonable methods of prevention, control, and treatment prior to entry. 

D. It is the intent of this regulation to be consistent with and implement the requirements of RCW 90.48, RCW 

90.54, WAC 173-200, WAC 173-201A, WAC 173-160, WAC 246-290, and WAC 246-291, as the same may 

hereafter be amended. 

Aquifer recharge area designations. 

Two categories are designated for aquifer recharge areas. These categories are designated to assist the director 

in determining the level of assessment necessary to evaluate specific land use proposals. The categories are 

based on the determination that certain areas require additional scrutiny of the potential impacts of a proposed 

land use with consideration given to hydrogeologic vulnerability. All designated areas are subject to change as 

data and information are updated or become available. 

A. Designation Categories. 

1. Category I areas are those so designated because of the need to provide them special protection 

due to a specific preexisting land use, or because they are identified by the local, state or federal 

government as areas in need of special aquifer protection where a proposed land use may pose a 

potential risk which increases aquifer vulnerability. 

Category I includes areas served by groundwater which have been designated as a "Sole Source Aquifer Area" 

under the Federal Safe Drinking Water Act; areas identified within a "closed" or "low-flow" stream watershed 

designated by the Department of Ecology pursuant to RCW 90.22; areas identified by the Department of Ecology 

as sea water intrusion areas; and areas designated as 'Wellhead Protection Areas" pursuant to WAC 246-290-

135(4) and the groundwater contribution area in WAC 246-291-100(2)(e). Wellhead protection areas shall, for 

the purpose of this regulation, include the identified recharge areas associated with either Group A public water 

supply wells, those Group B wells with a wellhead protection plan filed with the Skagit County Health 

Department, or plats served by five or more individual wells where the average lot size is equal to or less than 

two acres for which a well head protection plan has been completed and filed with the Skagit County Health 

Department. Category I areas are shown on the aquifer recharge area map. 

2. Category II is designated as areas not identified as Category I areas. 

36 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 162 of 248 

36 
 

B.    Existing and future beneficial uses of groundwater shall be maintained and protected and degradation of 

groundwater quality that would interfere with or become injurious to beneficial uses shall be avoided or 

minimized. 

C.    Wherever groundwaters are determined to be of a higher quality than the criteria established for such 

waters under this section, the existing water quality shall be protected, and contaminants that will reduce the 

existing quality thereof shall not be allowed to enter such waters, except in those instances where it can be 

demonstrated that: 

1.    An overriding consideration of the public interest will be served; and 

2.    All contaminants proposed for entry into such groundwater(s) shall be provided with all known, 

available, and reasonable methods of prevention, control, and treatment prior to entry. 

D.    It is the intent of this regulation to be consistent with and implement the requirements of RCW 90.48, RCW 

90.54, WAC 173-200, WAC 173-201A, WAC 173-160, WAC 246-290, and WAC 246-291, as the same may 

hereafter be amended. 

Aquifer recharge area designations. 

Two categories are designated for aquifer recharge areas. These categories are designated to assist the director 

in determining the level of assessment necessary to evaluate specific land use proposals. The categories are 

based on the determination that certain areas require additional scrutiny of the potential impacts of a proposed 

land use with consideration given to hydrogeologic vulnerability. All designated areas are subject to change as 

data and information are updated or become available. 

A.    Designation Categories. 

1.    Category I areas are those so designated because of the need to provide them special protection 

due to a specific preexisting land use, or because they are identified by the local, state or federal 

government as areas in need of special aquifer protection where a proposed land use may pose a 

potential risk which increases aquifer vulnerability. 

Category I includes areas served by groundwater which have been designated as a “Sole Source Aquifer Area” 

under the Federal Safe Drinking Water Act; areas identified within a “closed” or “low-flow” stream watershed 

designated by the Department of Ecology pursuant to RCW 90.22; areas identified by the Department of Ecology 

as sea water intrusion areas; and areas designated as “Wellhead Protection Areas” pursuant to WAC 246-290-

135(4) and the groundwater contribution area in WAC 246-291-100(2)(e). Wellhead protection areas shall, for 

the purpose of this regulation, include the identified recharge areas associated with either Group A public water 

supply wells, those Group B wells with a wellhead protection plan filed with the Skagit County Health 

Department, or plats served by five or more individual wells where the average lot size is equal to or less than 

two acres for which a well head protection plan has been completed and filed with the Skagit County Health 

Department. Category I areas are shown on the aquifer recharge area map. 

2.    Category II is designated as areas not identified as Category I areas. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 162 of 248



3. When any portion of the proposed project area lies partly within a Category I area, the proposed 

project shall be subject to the level of scrutiny provided for Category I area. 

Aquifer recharge applicability and prohibited activities. 

A. Applicability. All development projects are subject to the provisions of this section except for the following: 

1. Existing activities that currently and legally exist at the time this chapter became effective. 

However, expansions or changes in use are subject to this section and the review process contained in 

this chapter. 

2. Single-family residential building permits, including accessory building permits, which are outside 

Category I areas. 

3. Residential short plats outside Category I areas where each lot is two and one-half acres or 

greater. 

4. Single-family residential building permits where a site assessment report was required to be 

completed for the land division, in which case, to meet the conditions of this exemption, the applicant 

must comply with the recorded plat notes and the applicable mitigations contained in the site 

assessment report. 

B. Prohibited Activities. The following activities are prohibited in the shoreline jurisdiction due to the probability 

and/or potential magnitude of their adverse effects on groundwater: 

1. Landfill activities as defined in WAC 173-304 and WAC 173-351; 

2. Untreated sewage waste disposal wells; 

3. Cesspools; 

4. Industrial process water and disposal wells; 

5. Radioactive waste disposal; and 

6. Radioactive disposal sites. 

Aquifer recharge initial project review. 

A. General Procedures. Applicants for all development projects not allowed under SWMC Section the 

exemptions listed in this chapter shall be required, through a site assessment report prepared to evaluate 

potential impacts to aquifer recharge areas, and appropriate mitigation measures to reduce or eliminate the 

potential for adversely impacting aquifer recharge areas shall be identified. The level of study and report detail 

required will be determined by the director based on the type of land use being proposed, the designated aquifer 

recharge area category, and the vulnerability of the underlying aquifer(s) to contamination. The goal of this 

section is to require applicants to identify and characterize vulnerability only to the level necessary to determine 

appropriate mitigation measures necessary, to either reduce potential adverse impacts to established 

parameters or eliminate potential adverse impacts to underlying aquifer(s). 

37 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 163 of 248 

37 
 

3.    When any portion of the proposed project area lies partly within a Category I area, the proposed 

project shall be subject to the level of scrutiny provided for Category I area.  

Aquifer recharge applicability and prohibited activities. 

A.    Applicability. All development projects are subject to the provisions of this section except for the following: 

1.    Existing activities that currently and legally exist at the time this chapter became effective. 

However, expansions or changes in use are subject to this section and the review process contained in 

this chapter. 

2.    Single-family residential building permits, including accessory building permits, which are outside 

Category I areas. 

3.    Residential short plats outside Category I areas where each lot is two and one-half acres or 

greater. 

4.    Single-family residential building permits where a site assessment report was required to be 

completed for the land division, in which case, to meet the conditions of this exemption, the applicant 

must comply with the recorded plat notes and the applicable mitigations contained in the site 

assessment report. 

B.    Prohibited Activities. The following activities are prohibited in the shoreline jurisdiction due to the probability 

and/or potential magnitude of their adverse effects on groundwater: 

1.    Landfill activities as defined in WAC 173-304 and WAC 173-351; 

2.    Untreated sewage waste disposal wells; 

3.    Cesspools; 

4.    Industrial process water and disposal wells; 

5.    Radioactive waste disposal; and 

6.    Radioactive disposal sites. 

Aquifer recharge initial project review. 

A.    General Procedures. Applicants for all development projects not allowed under SWMC Section the 

exemptions listed in this chapter shall be required, through a site assessment report prepared to evaluate 

potential impacts to aquifer recharge areas, and appropriate mitigation measures to reduce or eliminate the 

potential for adversely impacting aquifer recharge areas shall be identified. The level of study and report detail 

required will be determined by the director based on the type of land use being proposed, the designated aquifer 

recharge area category, and the vulnerability of the underlying aquifer(s) to contamination. The goal of this 

section is to require applicants to identify and characterize vulnerability only to the level necessary to determine 

appropriate mitigation measures necessary, to either reduce potential adverse impacts to established 

parameters or eliminate potential adverse impacts to underlying aquifer(s). 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 163 of 248



B. Scoping. The level of study which will be required of the applicant by the director for a given development 

will be based on an initial project review that may include staff from the planning and health departments, and a 

hydrogeologist. 

Elements for the report that are required at a minimum and other elements that may be required as part of the 

scope for the study are listed in the next subsection "Aquifer recharge site assessment report." Subsequent 

findings from the study or other information made available after the initial project review may obligate the 

applicant to additional evaluation, development of a mitigation plan, and/or development of a groundwater 

monitoring plan. The following outlines the review process: 

1. The director and health officer shall review the project and determine the required scope of the site 

assessment report. The scope of site assessment required shall be conveyed to the applicant and/or his 

or her representative in writing. The applicant may present evidence to the director and health officer to 

justify reduction in the scope for the site assessment report. 

2. The site assessment report shall be submitted for review. The director and/or health officer shall 

either approve the site assessment report as submitted, require additional evaluation, or require 

development of a mitigation plan. If additional information is required beyond the initial site assessment 

report, the applicant and/or his or her representative shall be notified in writing of the specifics of the 

information required. The applicant may present evidence in writing to the reviewing official to justify 

modification of the requirement for additional information or present alternative or additional mitigation 

measures in lieu of further study. 

3. When, to the satisfaction of the director, all information is provided and mitigation(s) established as 

being in compliance with this section, the director shall make appropriate recommendations for project 

permit approval. 

Aquifer recharge site assessment report. 

A. The scope of the site assessment report shall be determined based on the initial project review specified in 

above subsection. The scope of the report may be reduced by utilizing appropriate mitigation measures, or if the 

water quality or quantity issue(s) are already known. 

B. The site assessment report shall be prepared by, or under the direction of, and signed by a professional 

engineer, licensed in the state of Washington, trained and qualified to analyze geologic, hydrologic, and 

groundwater flow systems; or by a geologist or hydrogeologist who earns his or her livelihood from the field of 

geology and/or hydrogeology and has received a degree in geological sciences from an accredited four-year 

institution of higher education and who has relevant training and experience analyzing geologic, hydrologic, and 

groundwater flow systems. 

C. Site Assessment Report Requirements. A site plan shall be prepared in accordance with the requirements 

of this code. In addition, a site assessment report shall include: 

1. A description of the project including those activities, practices, materials, or chemicals that have a 

potential to adversely affect the quantity or quality of underlying aquifer(s); 

38 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 164 of 248 

38 
 

B.    Scoping. The level of study which will be required of the applicant by the director for a given development 

will be based on an initial project review that may include staff from the planning and health departments, and a 

hydrogeologist. 

Elements for the report that are required at a minimum and other elements that may be required as part of the 

scope for the study are listed in the next subsection “Aquifer recharge site assessment report.” Subsequent 

findings from the study or other information made available after the initial project review may obligate the 

applicant to additional evaluation, development of a mitigation plan, and/or development of a groundwater 

monitoring plan. The following outlines the review process: 

1.    The director and health officer shall review the project and determine the required scope of the site 

assessment report. The scope of site assessment required shall be conveyed to the applicant and/or his 

or her representative in writing. The applicant may present evidence to the director and health officer to 

justify reduction in the scope for the site assessment report. 

2.    The site assessment report shall be submitted for review. The director and/or health officer shall 

either approve the site assessment report as submitted, require additional evaluation, or require 

development of a mitigation plan. If additional information is required beyond the initial site assessment 

report, the applicant and/or his or her representative shall be notified in writing of the specifics of the 

information required. The applicant may present evidence in writing to the reviewing official to justify 

modification of the requirement for additional information or present alternative or additional mitigation 

measures in lieu of further study. 

3.    When, to the satisfaction of the director, all information is provided and mitigation(s) established as 

being in compliance with this section, the director shall make appropriate recommendations for project 

permit approval.  

Aquifer recharge site assessment report. 

A.    The scope of the site assessment report shall be determined based on the initial project review specified in 

above subsection. The scope of the report may be reduced by utilizing appropriate mitigation measures, or if the 

water quality or quantity issue(s) are already known. 

B.    The site assessment report shall be prepared by, or under the direction of, and signed by a professional 

engineer, licensed in the state of Washington, trained and qualified to analyze geologic, hydrologic, and 

groundwater flow systems; or by a geologist or hydrogeologist who earns his or her livelihood from the field of 

geology and/or hydrogeology and has received a degree in geological sciences from an accredited four-year 

institution of higher education and who has relevant training and experience analyzing geologic, hydrologic, and 

groundwater flow systems. 

C.    Site Assessment Report Requirements. A site plan shall be prepared in accordance with the requirements 

of this code. In addition, a site assessment report shall include: 

1.    A description of the project including those activities, practices, materials, or chemicals that have a 

potential to adversely affect the quantity or quality of underlying aquifer(s); 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 164 of 248



2. Identification of appropriate mitigation measures and description of how they will prevent 

degradation of underlying aquifer(s); 

3. A site plan or another appropriately scaled map showing the approximate location of known or 

geologically representative well(s) (abandoned and active), spring(s), and surface watercourses within 

one thousand feet of the subject project property. All well logs available through the health department 

for identified wells within one thousand feet of the project property shall be included; 

4. A description of the site-specific hydrogeologic characteristics regarding impact to the quantity or 

quality of underlying aquifer(s). At a minimum this will include a description of the lithology, depth to and 

static water level of known underlying aquifer(s), and depiction of groundwater flow direction and 

patterns on the appropriate map; 

5. Identification of the initial receptors of potential adverse impacts located hydraulically downgradient 

from the project within one thousand feet or as otherwise directed by the director and/or health officer. 

D. Additional Site Assessment Elements. After the initial project review, one or more of the site assessment 

elements listed below may be required based upon the proposed project activity, aquifer recharge area 

classification, complexity of underlying hydrogeologic conditions, and/or the perceived potential to adversely 

impact hydraulically downgradient receptors. One or more of these additional elements may also be required if 

the applicant chooses to demonstrate that certain mitigation measures are not necessary to protect the quantity 

or quality of the underlying aquifer(s), or that the project does not pose a detrimental risk to hydraulically 

downgradient receptors: 

1. Lithologic characteristics and stratigraphic relationships of the affected aquifer(s) and overlying 

geologic units (includes soil types) including thickness, horizontal and vertical extent, permeability, and 

infiltration rates of surface soils; 

2. Delineation of identified structural features such as faults, fractures, and fissures; 

3. Aquifer characteristics including determination of recharge and discharge areas, transmissivity, 

storage, hydraulic conductivity, porosity, and estimate of groundwater flow direction, velocity and 

patterns for the affected aquifer(s); 

4. Estimate of precipitation, evaporation, and evapotranspiration rates for the project area; 

5. Preparation of appropriate hydrogeologic cross sections depicting at a minimum underlying 

lithology and stratigraphy, aquifer(s), and potential or probable contaminant pathways from a chemical 

release; 

6. Contaminant fate and transport including probable migration pathways and travel time of potential 

contaminant release(s) from the site through the unsaturated zone to the aquifer(s) and through the 

aquifer(s), and how the contaminant(s) may be attenuated within the unsaturated zone and the 

aquifer(s). Includes consideration of advection, dispersion, and diffusion of contaminants in the 

groundwater; 

39 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 165 of 248 

39 
 

2.    Identification of appropriate mitigation measures and description of how they will prevent 

degradation of underlying aquifer(s); 

3.    A site plan or another appropriately scaled map showing the approximate location of known or 

geologically representative well(s) (abandoned and active), spring(s), and surface watercourses within 

one thousand feet of the subject project property. All well logs available through the health department 

for identified wells within one thousand feet of the project property shall be included; 

4.    A description of the site-specific hydrogeologic characteristics regarding impact to the quantity or 

quality of underlying aquifer(s). At a minimum this will include a description of the lithology, depth to and 

static water level of known underlying aquifer(s), and depiction of groundwater flow direction and 

patterns on the appropriate map; 

5.    Identification of the initial receptors of potential adverse impacts located hydraulically downgradient 

from the project within one thousand feet or as otherwise directed by the director and/or health officer. 

D.    Additional Site Assessment Elements. After the initial project review, one or more of the site assessment 

elements listed below may be required based upon the proposed project activity, aquifer recharge area 

classification, complexity of underlying hydrogeologic conditions, and/or the perceived potential to adversely 

impact hydraulically downgradient receptors. One or more of these additional elements may also be required if 

the applicant chooses to demonstrate that certain mitigation measures are not necessary to protect the quantity 

or quality of the underlying aquifer(s), or that the project does not pose a detrimental risk to hydraulically 

downgradient receptors: 

1.    Lithologic characteristics and stratigraphic relationships of the affected aquifer(s) and overlying 

geologic units (includes soil types) including thickness, horizontal and vertical extent, permeability, and 

infiltration rates of surface soils; 

2.    Delineation of identified structural features such as faults, fractures, and fissures; 

3.    Aquifer characteristics including determination of recharge and discharge areas, transmissivity, 

storage, hydraulic conductivity, porosity, and estimate of groundwater flow direction, velocity and 

patterns for the affected aquifer(s); 

4.    Estimate of precipitation, evaporation, and evapotranspiration rates for the project area; 

5.    Preparation of appropriate hydrogeologic cross sections depicting at a minimum underlying 

lithology and stratigraphy, aquifer(s), and potential or probable contaminant pathways from a chemical 

release; 

6.    Contaminant fate and transport including probable migration pathways and travel time of potential 

contaminant release(s) from the site through the unsaturated zone to the aquifer(s) and through the 

aquifer(s), and how the contaminant(s) may be attenuated within the unsaturated zone and the 

aquifer(s). Includes consideration of advection, dispersion, and diffusion of contaminants in the 

groundwater; 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 165 of 248



7. Delineation of areas potentially affected by contaminant migration on the ground surface and/or 

through the affected aquifer(s); 

8. Determination of background or existing groundwater quality underlying the project area; 

9. Development of a groundwater monitoring program to measure potential impacts of the 

development to underlying aquifer(s); 

10. Development of a spill plan and/or contingency plan describing the specific actions, which will tie 

taken if a release of a contaminant(s) occurs, or if groundwater monitoring results indicate a 

contaminant(s) from the site has entered the underlying aquifer(s); 

11. The degree of continuity between groundwater and nearby surface water including potential 

impact to "closed" or "low-flow' streams (as described in subsection "aquifer recharge mitigation" below) 

from proposed groundwater withdrawals, and potential impacts to surface water quality from site runoff 

or contaminated groundwater discharge; 

12. In conjunction with the Department of Ecology Seawater Intrusion Policy and subsequent policies 

or ordinances, applicable projects shall be required to determine appropriate pumping rates and 

schedules that maintain dynamic drawdown levels above mean sea level; 

13. Applicable projects such as special use permits, short plats, or long plats shall test existing and/or 

test wells for nitrate levels and where appropriate calculate the nitrate loading rate at full build-out of the 

project. If the calculated nitrate loading in the intended water supply equals or exceeds five mg/L nitrate 

as nitrogen, the proposal will need to develop a mitigation plan. The point of compliance shall be 

determined based on project specifics. 

Aquifer recharge area mitigation. 

The health department shall review development proposals to assess aquifer(s) vulnerability and establish 

needed mitigation. Where determined to be necessary through the site assessment process, development 

approvals shall include conditions designed to prevent significant degradation of water quality or reduction in 

water quantity in aquifer recharge areas. The project shall not cause degradation of the groundwater quality 

below the standards described in WAC 173-200 or Department of Ecology's seawater intrusion policy. 

Wellhead Protection Mitigation. Where a wellhead protection plan that addresses the project area exists, the 

director and/or health officer shall use the recommendations contained in the wellhead protection plan as a basis 

for formulating mitigations. In the absence of such a mitigation plan, the health department and Public Utility 

District #1 shall jointly develop mitigations, a summary of which shall be signed by the applicant and recorded 

with the applicant's property title. All new development shall be required to connect to the Public Utility District #1 

Water System. 

Aquifer recharge public notice and review. 

In addition to the provisions for public notice provided in the above section "Application submittal requirements," 

the director shall make the site assessment report available for public review upon approval of the following 

projects which have undergone critical areas review pursuant to this chapter: 

40 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 166 of 248 

40 
 

7.    Delineation of areas potentially affected by contaminant migration on the ground surface and/or 

through the affected aquifer(s); 

8.    Determination of background or existing groundwater quality underlying the project area; 

9.    Development of a groundwater monitoring program to measure potential impacts of the 

development to underlying aquifer(s); 

10.    Development of a spill plan and/or contingency plan describing the specific actions, which will tie 

taken if a release of a contaminant(s) occurs, or if groundwater monitoring results indicate a 

contaminant(s) from the site has entered the underlying aquifer(s); 

11.    The degree of continuity between groundwater and nearby surface water including potential 

impact to “closed” or “low-flow” streams (as described in subsection “aquifer recharge mitigation” below) 

from proposed groundwater withdrawals, and potential impacts to surface water quality from site runoff 

or contaminated groundwater discharge; 

12.    In conjunction with the Department of Ecology Seawater Intrusion Policy and subsequent policies 

or ordinances, applicable projects shall be required to determine appropriate pumping rates and 

schedules that maintain dynamic drawdown levels above mean sea level; 

13.    Applicable projects such as special use permits, short plats, or long plats shall test existing and/or 

test wells for nitrate levels and where appropriate calculate the nitrate loading rate at full build-out of the 

project. If the calculated nitrate loading in the intended water supply equals or exceeds five mg/L nitrate 

as nitrogen, the proposal will need to develop a mitigation plan. The point of compliance shall be 

determined based on project specifics.  

Aquifer recharge area mitigation. 

The health department shall review development proposals to assess aquifer(s) vulnerability and establish 

needed mitigation. Where determined to be necessary through the site assessment process, development 

approvals shall include conditions designed to prevent significant degradation of water quality or reduction in 

water quantity in aquifer recharge areas. The project shall not cause degradation of the groundwater quality 

below the standards described in WAC 173-200 or Department of Ecology’s seawater intrusion policy. 

Wellhead Protection Mitigation. Where a wellhead protection plan that addresses the project area exists, the 

director and/or health officer shall use the recommendations contained in the wellhead protection plan as a basis 

for formulating mitigations. In the absence of such a mitigation plan, the health department and Public Utility 

District #1 shall jointly develop mitigations, a summary of which shall be signed by the applicant and recorded 

with the applicant’s property title. All new development shall be required to connect to the Public Utility District #1 

Water System.  

Aquifer recharge public notice and review. 

In addition to the provisions for public notice provided in the above section “Application submittal requirements,” 

the director shall make the site assessment report available for public review upon approval of the following 

projects which have undergone critical areas review pursuant to this chapter: 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 166 of 248



A. All projects occurring in Category I areas, except single-family residence or accessory building permits, and 

short subdivisions; 

B. All activities identified under the above section "Aquifer recharge applicability and prohibited activities," 

regardless of location; and 

C. Commercial or industrial projects or subdivisions that have the potential to adversely affect the quality or 

availability of potable water. 

Article IV. Geologically Hazardous Areas 

Geologically hazardous area designations. 

Geologically hazardous areas include erosion hazards, landslide hazards, mine hazards, volcanic hazards and 

seismic hazards, and shall be designated consistent with the definitions provided in WAC 365-190-080(4). 

Geologically hazardous areas in the shoreline jurisdiction shall be classified as "known or suspected risk," or 

"unknown risk." 

Geologically hazardous area initial project review. 

A site visit shall be conducted by the director to determine whether: (1) "Areas of Known or Suspected Risk" 

identified below are or may be present within two hundred feet of the project or activity; (2) the proposed project 

or activity is or may be within a distance from the base of an adjacent landslide hazard area equal to the vertical 

relief of such hazard area; (3) the proposed activity may result in or contribute to an increase in hazard; and (4) 

whether the project or hazard areas pose a risk to life, property, or other critical areas on or off the project area 

sufficient to require a site assessment. Areas of known or suspected risk: 

A. Erosion Hazard Indicators. 

1. Those project areas located within two hundred feet of map unit delineations #51 Dystic 

Xerorthents, #99 Mundt and #117 Saxon or mapped as moderate to severe, severe or very severe 

erosion hazard or as having severe rill and inter-rill erosion hazard as identified in the U.S. Department 

of Agriculture Natural Resources Conservation Service Soil Survey of Skagit County Area, Washington 

(1989). 

2. Those project areas that fall within any soil sloping greater than or equal to thirty percent. 

3. The project area falls within areas designated in the Department of Ecology, Coastal Zone Atlas, 

Washington, Volume Two Skagit County (1978) as U (Unstable), UB (Unstable Bluff), URS (Unstable 

Recent Slide), or UOS (Unstable Old Slide). 

4. Those project areas that may be considered to have an erosion hazard as a result of rapid stream 

incision or stream bank erosion. 

B. Landslide Hazards Indicators. 

41 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 167 of 248 

41 
 

A.    All projects occurring in Category I areas, except single-family residence or accessory building permits, and 

short subdivisions; 

B.    All activities identified under the above section “Aquifer recharge applicability and prohibited activities,” 

regardless of location; and 

C.    Commercial or industrial projects or subdivisions that have the potential to adversely affect the quality or 

availability of potable water.  

Article IV. Geologically Hazardous Areas 

Geologically hazardous area designations. 

Geologically hazardous areas include erosion hazards, landslide hazards, mine hazards, volcanic hazards and 

seismic hazards, and shall be designated consistent with the definitions provided in WAC 365-190-080(4). 

Geologically hazardous areas in the shoreline jurisdiction shall be classified as “known or suspected risk,” or 

“unknown risk.” 

Geologically hazardous area initial project review. 

A site visit shall be conducted by the director to determine whether: (1) “Areas of Known or Suspected Risk” 

identified below are or may be present within two hundred feet of the project or activity; (2) the proposed project 

or activity is or may be within a distance from the base of an adjacent landslide hazard area equal to the vertical 

relief of such hazard area; (3) the proposed activity may result in or contribute to an increase in hazard; and (4) 

whether the project or hazard areas pose a risk to life, property, or other critical areas on or off the project area 

sufficient to require a site assessment. Areas of known or suspected risk: 

A.    Erosion Hazard Indicators. 

1.    Those project areas located within two hundred feet of map unit delineations #51 Dystic 

Xerorthents, #99 Mundt and #117 Saxon or mapped as moderate to severe, severe or very severe 

erosion hazard or as having severe rill and inter-rill erosion hazard as identified in the U.S. Department 

of Agriculture Natural Resources Conservation Service Soil Survey of Skagit County Area, Washington 

(1989). 

2.    Those project areas that fall within any soil sloping greater than or equal to thirty percent. 

3.    The project area falls within areas designated in the Department of Ecology, Coastal Zone Atlas, 

Washington, Volume Two Skagit County (1978) as U (Unstable), UB (Unstable Bluff), URS (Unstable 

Recent Slide), or UOS (Unstable Old Slide). 

4.    Those project areas that may be considered to have an erosion hazard as a result of rapid stream 

incision or stream bank erosion. 

B.    Landslide Hazards Indicators. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 167 of 248



1. The project area falls within or two hundred feet from areas designated in the Department of 

Ecology, Coastal Zone Atlas, Washington, Volume Two, Skagit County (1978) as U (Unstable), UB 

(Unstable Bluff), URS (Unstable Recent Slide), or UOS (Unstable Old Slide). 

2. The project area falls within or two hundred feet from slopes having the following characteristics: 

Gradients of fifteen percent or greater intersecting geologic contacts with permeable sediments 

overlying low permeability sediment or bedrock and springs or groundwater seepage are present. 

3. The project area falls within or two hundred feet from any area having a forty percent slope or 

steeper and with a vertical relief of ten feet or more. 

4. The project area falls within or two hundred feet from any areas of historic failure such as areas 

designated as quaternary earth slumps, earthflows, mudflows, lahars, debris flows, rock slides, 

landslides or other slope failures on maps or technical reports published by the U.S. Geological Survey 

such as topographic or geologic maps, or the Geology and Earth Resources Division of the Washington 

Department of Natural Resources, or other documents authorized by government agencies. 

5. The project area falls within or two hundred feet from any areas potentially unstable as a result of 

rapid stream incision, stream bank erosion, and undercutting by wave action shall be addressed as a 

flood hazard consistent with this chapter. 

6. Areas that have shown movement during the Holocene epoch or which are underlain or covered by 

wastage debris of that epoch. 

7. The project area falls within or two hundred feet from any slopes that are parallel or sub-parallel to 

planes of weakness (such as bedding planes, joint systems, and fault planes) in subsurface materials. 

8. The project area falls within or two hundred feet from any slopes with a gradient greater than eighty 

percent and subject to rock fall during seismic shaking. 

9. The project area falls within or two hundred feet from any areas that show evidence of or are at risk 

from snow avalanches. 

C. Seismic Hazards. Seismic hazard areas shall include areas that are subject to severe risk of damage as a 

result of earthquake induced ground shaking, slope failure, settlement, soil liquefaction or surface faulting. 

1. The project includes structures (as defined in the Uniform Building Code) proposed to be located in 

any of the areas described in subsection A or B of this section or located in areas to have a potential for 

soil liquefaction and soil strength loss during ground shaking as identified on the U.S. Geologic Survey 

Relative Slope Stability Map of the Port Townsend Quadrangle, Puget Sound Region, Washington, 

(1985), or as identified in the field. A geologic hazard site assessment is not required for soil liquefaction 

and soil strength loss resulting from seismic activity unless other criteria provided in this section apply. 

The building official shall require evaluation using the provisions set forth in the adopted building code. 

42 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 168 of 248 

42 
 

1.    The project area falls within or two hundred feet from areas designated in the Department of 

Ecology, Coastal Zone Atlas, Washington, Volume Two, Skagit County (1978) as U (Unstable), UB 

(Unstable Bluff), URS (Unstable Recent Slide), or UOS (Unstable Old Slide). 

2.    The project area falls within or two hundred feet from slopes having the following characteristics: 

Gradients of fifteen percent or greater intersecting geologic contacts with permeable sediments 

overlying low permeability sediment or bedrock and springs or groundwater seepage are present. 

3.    The project area falls within or two hundred feet from any area having a forty percent slope or 

steeper and with a vertical relief of ten feet or more. 

4.    The project area falls within or two hundred feet from any areas of historic failure such as areas 

designated as quaternary earth slumps, earthflows, mudflows, lahars, debris flows, rock slides, 

landslides or other slope failures on maps or technical reports published by the U.S. Geological Survey 

such as topographic or geologic maps, or the Geology and Earth Resources Division of the Washington 

Department of Natural Resources, or other documents authorized by government agencies. 

5.    The project area falls within or two hundred feet from any areas potentially unstable as a result of 

rapid stream incision, stream bank erosion, and undercutting by wave action shall be addressed as a 

flood hazard consistent with this chapter. 

6.    Areas that have shown movement during the Holocene epoch or which are underlain or covered by 

wastage debris of that epoch. 

7.    The project area falls within or two hundred feet from any slopes that are parallel or sub-parallel to 

planes of weakness (such as bedding planes, joint systems, and fault planes) in subsurface materials. 

8.    The project area falls within or two hundred feet from any slopes with a gradient greater than eighty 

percent and subject to rock fall during seismic shaking. 

9.    The project area falls within or two hundred feet from any areas that show evidence of or are at risk 

from snow avalanches. 

C.    Seismic Hazards. Seismic hazard areas shall include areas that are subject to severe risk of damage as a 

result of earthquake induced ground shaking, slope failure, settlement, soil liquefaction or surface faulting. 

1.    The project includes structures (as defined in the Uniform Building Code) proposed to be located in 

any of the areas described in subsection A or B of this section or located in areas to have a potential for 

soil liquefaction and soil strength loss during ground shaking as identified on the U.S. Geologic Survey 

Relative Slope Stability Map of the Port Townsend Quadrangle, Puget Sound Region, Washington, 

(1985), or as identified in the field. A geologic hazard site assessment is not required for soil liquefaction 

and soil strength loss resulting from seismic activity unless other criteria provided in this section apply. 

The building official shall require evaluation using the provisions set forth in the adopted building code. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 168 of 248



2. The structures or critical facilities are proposed to be located on a Holocene fault line. (No critical 

facilities shall be located on a Holocene fault line as indicated on investigative maps or described in 

studies by the U.S. Geologic Survey, Geology and Earth Resources Division of the Washington 

Department of Natural Resources, or other documents authorized by government agencies, or as 

identified in the field). All developments on a Holocene fault line shall require a disclosure statement 

indicating the property is located on an active fault and may be geologically hazardous. 

D. Volcanic Hazards. The project area is located in a volcanic hazard zone for Glacier Peak, Washington 

(Open-File Report 95-499); or in a volcanic hazard area of Mount Baker, Washington (Open-File Report 95-498). 

A site assessment is not required for volcanic hazard areas unless other criteria provided in this section apply. 

E. Other Geologic Hazard Indicators. 

1. The project area falls within or two hundred feet from an alluvial fan as designated on the Skagit 

County Alluvial Fan Study Orthophoto Maps; 

2. The project area falls within or two hundred feet from a mine hazard area as designated on the 

Department of Natural Resources Map: Coal Measures of Skagit County, (1924) or within two hundred 

feet of any other current or historic mine operations determined to be geologic hazards as described by 

subsection "geologically hazardous areas" of this chapter; 

3. Areas of Unknown Geologic Hazards. As part of any development application where no current 

information is available to confirm that the items identified in this section are present on the project area, 

the required critical areas review will provide a description of the known and visible site features and be 

used by the director in evaluating whether a geologically hazardous area site assessment is required 

pursuant to this section. 

Geologically hazardous area site assessment requirements. 

A. Site Visit Determination. The director shall make a determination using the following progressive order: 

1. No Site Assessment. Where the director determines that the project or activity area has no potential 

for impacting adjacent ownership and property, other types of critical areas, public property (such as 

roads and other facilities) or living quarters of any kind, including any existing or proposed off-site, the 

director shall not require additional site assessments prior to approval under the provisions of this 

chapter. 

2. Site Assessment Required. If the director determines during the site visit described in the previous 

subsection that the proposed development activity falls within two hundred feet of an "Area of Known or 

Suspected Risk" and the geologic condition may pose a risk to life and property on or off the project 

area, then a geologically hazardous area site assessment of the project area by a qualified professional 

as described in subsection (B)(2) of this section shall be required as part of the complete development 

permit application. 

B. Geologically Hazardous Area Site Assessment. When required by the director, a site assessment report 

shall be prepared by a qualified professional. Portions of the report relating to recommended design or mitigation 

43 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 169 of 248 

43 
 

2.    The structures or critical facilities are proposed to be located on a Holocene fault line. (No critical 

facilities shall be located on a Holocene fault line as indicated on investigative maps or described in 

studies by the U.S. Geologic Survey, Geology and Earth Resources Division of the Washington 

Department of Natural Resources, or other documents authorized by government agencies, or as 

identified in the field). All developments on a Holocene fault line shall require a disclosure statement 

indicating the property is located on an active fault and may be geologically hazardous. 

D.    Volcanic Hazards. The project area is located in a volcanic hazard zone for Glacier Peak, Washington 

(Open-File Report 95-499); or in a volcanic hazard area of Mount Baker, Washington (Open-File Report 95-498). 

A site assessment is not required for volcanic hazard areas unless other criteria provided in this section apply. 

E.    Other Geologic Hazard Indicators. 

1.    The project area falls within or two hundred feet from an alluvial fan as designated on the Skagit 

County Alluvial Fan Study Orthophoto Maps; 

2.    The project area falls within or two hundred feet from a mine hazard area as designated on the 

Department of Natural Resources Map: Coal Measures of Skagit County, (1924) or within two hundred 

feet of any other current or historic mine operations determined to be geologic hazards as described by 

subsection “geologically hazardous areas” of this chapter; 

3.    Areas of Unknown Geologic Hazards. As part of any development application where no current 

information is available to confirm that the items identified in this section are present on the project area, 

the required critical areas review will provide a description of the known and visible site features and be 

used by the director in evaluating whether a geologically hazardous area site assessment is required 

pursuant to this section. 

Geologically hazardous area site assessment requirements. 

A.    Site Visit Determination. The director shall make a determination using the following progressive order: 

1.    No Site Assessment. Where the director determines that the project or activity area has no potential 

for impacting adjacent ownership and property, other types of critical areas, public property (such as 

roads and other facilities) or living quarters of any kind, including any existing or proposed off-site, the 

director shall not require additional site assessments prior to approval under the provisions of this 

chapter. 

2.    Site Assessment Required. If the director determines during the site visit described in the previous 

subsection that the proposed development activity falls within two hundred feet of an “Area of Known or 

Suspected Risk” and the geologic condition may pose a risk to life and property on or off the project 

area, then a geologically hazardous area site assessment of the project area by a qualified professional 

as described in subsection (B)(2) of this section shall be required as part of the complete development 

permit application. 

B.    Geologically Hazardous Area Site Assessment. When required by the director, a site assessment report 

shall be prepared by a qualified professional. Portions of the report relating to recommended design or mitigation 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 169 of 248



shall be prepared under supervision of a licensed professional engineer. A qualified professional shall mean an 

engineer, licensed in the state of Washington, with training and experience analyzing geologic, hydrologic, and 

groundwater flow systems in Washington State; or by a geologist who earns his or her livelihood from the field of 

geology and/or geotechnical analysis, with training and experience analyzing geologic, hydrologic and 

groundwater flow systems in Washington State, who has received a relevant degree from an accredited four-

year institution of higher education. 

The geologically hazardous area site assessment report shall classify the type of hazard in accordance with the 

previous two subsections. The site assessment report shall include the following as appropriate: 

1. A site plan must be prepared in accordance with the development permit requirements. The site 

plan shall depict the height of slope, slope gradient and cross section of the site. The site plan shall 

indicate the location of all existing structures, proposed structures and any significant known geologic 

features on the subject site. The site plan shall also include the location of springs, seeps, or other 

surface expressions of groundwater. The site plan shall also depict any evidence of surface or 

stormwater runoff; 

2. A detailed description of the project, its relationship to potential geologic hazard(s), and its potential 

impact upon the hazard area(s), the subject property and adjacent properties. The description shall 

make a determination if a geologically hazardous area(s) is present on the subject site. The narrative 

shall include a full discussion of the geologic factors and conditions on the subject site resulting in the 

qualified professionals conclusions; 

3. An assessment of the geologic characteristics and engineering properties of the soils, sediments, 

and/or rock of the subject property and potentially affected adjacent properties. Soils analysis shall be 

accomplished in accordance with the Unified Soil Classification System; 

4. A description of load intensity including surface and groundwater conditions, public and private 

sewage disposal systems, fills and excavations and all structural development; 

5. An assessment describing the extent and type of vegetative cover to include tree attitude; 

6. For Potential Landslide Hazards. Estimate slope stability and the effect construction and placement 

of structures will have on the slope over the estimated life of the structure. Quantitative analysis of slope 

stability or slope stability modeling may be required by the director; 

7. Additional site assessment standards may be required by the director. 

C. Site Assessment Conclusions. 

1. Where the qualified professional determines that a geologically hazardous condition is not present 

on the subject site and/or will not occur as a result of the proposed project, will have no potential for 

impacting adjacent ownership and property, other types of critical areas, public property (such as roads 

and other facilities) or living quarters of any kind, including any existing or proposed off-site, the director 

shall not require additional site assessments prior to approval under the provisions of this chapter. The 

44 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 170 of 248 

44 
 

shall be prepared under supervision of a licensed professional engineer. A qualified professional shall mean an 

engineer, licensed in the state of Washington, with training and experience analyzing geologic, hydrologic, and 

groundwater flow systems in Washington State; or by a geologist who earns his or her livelihood from the field of 

geology and/or geotechnical analysis, with training and experience analyzing geologic, hydrologic and 

groundwater flow systems in Washington State, who has received a relevant degree from an accredited four-

year institution of higher education. 

The geologically hazardous area site assessment report shall classify the type of hazard in accordance with the 

previous two subsections. The site assessment report shall include the following as appropriate: 

1.    A site plan must be prepared in accordance with the development permit requirements. The site 

plan shall depict the height of slope, slope gradient and cross section of the site. The site plan shall 

indicate the location of all existing structures, proposed structures and any significant known geologic 

features on the subject site. The site plan shall also include the location of springs, seeps, or other 

surface expressions of groundwater. The site plan shall also depict any evidence of surface or 

stormwater runoff; 

2.    A detailed description of the project, its relationship to potential geologic hazard(s), and its potential 

impact upon the hazard area(s), the subject property and adjacent properties. The description shall 

make a determination if a geologically hazardous area(s) is present on the subject site. The narrative 

shall include a full discussion of the geologic factors and conditions on the subject site resulting in the 

qualified professionals conclusions; 

3.    An assessment of the geologic characteristics and engineering properties of the soils, sediments, 

and/or rock of the subject property and potentially affected adjacent properties. Soils analysis shall be 

accomplished in accordance with the Unified Soil Classification System; 

4.    A description of load intensity including surface and groundwater conditions, public and private 

sewage disposal systems, fills and excavations and all structural development; 

5.    An assessment describing the extent and type of vegetative cover to include tree attitude; 

6.    For Potential Landslide Hazards. Estimate slope stability and the effect construction and placement 

of structures will have on the slope over the estimated life of the structure. Quantitative analysis of slope 

stability or slope stability modeling may be required by the director; 

7.    Additional site assessment standards may be required by the director. 

C.    Site Assessment Conclusions. 

1.    Where the qualified professional determines that a geologically hazardous condition is not present 

on the subject site and/or will not occur as a result of the proposed project, will have no potential for 

impacting adjacent ownership and property, other types of critical areas, public property (such as roads 

and other facilities) or living quarters of any kind, including any existing or proposed off-site, the director 

shall not require additional site assessments prior to approval under the provisions of this chapter. The 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 170 of 248



qualified professional shall be required to certify that a geologic hazard is not present on the subject 

parcel (see section titled "Application, purpose"). 

2. Properties identified by the director and the qualified professional containing geologically hazardous 

conditions shall require a geologically hazardous area mitigation plan. Critical facilities as defined under 

SWMC Chapter 14.04 shall not be sited within designated geologically hazardous areas (Exception: 

volcanic hazard areas). No residential structures shall be located in geologically hazardous areas or 

their buffers that cannot be fully mitigated. 

Geologically hazardous area mitigation standards. 

The mitigation plan shall be prepared by a professional engineer or geologist under supervision of a professional 

engineer and include a discussion on how the project has been designed to avoid and minimize the impacts of 

development on geologically hazardous areas. The plan shall also make a recommendation for the minimum 

building setback from any bluff or slope edge and/or other geologic hazard shall be based upon the geotechnical 

analysis required by this chapter. Mitigation plans shall include the location and methods of drainage, locations 

and methods of erosion control, a vegetation management and/or restoration plan and/or other means for 

maintaining long-term stability of geologic hazards. The plan shall also address the potential impact of mitigation 

on the hazard area, the subject property and affected adjacent properties. The mitigation plan must be approved 

by the director and be implemented as a condition of project approval. 

Within designated geologic hazards, mitigation plans shall address the appropriate items listed below as required 

by the site assessment. One or more of the following mitigation standards, as required by the director, shall be 

included as components of a mitigation plan (site assessment report). Other mitigation standards, other than 

those listed below, may be required by the director depending on the geologic hazard and the site conditions. 

A. Mitigation Standards. 

1. A temporary erosion and sedimentation control plan prepared in accordance with the requirements 

of SWMC Title 15, Buildings and Construction as amended. 

2. A drainage plan for the collection, transport, treatment, discharge and/or recycle of water in 

accordance with the requirements of SWMC Title 15, Buildings and Construction as amended. 

3. All proposals involving excavations and placement of fills shall be subject to structural review under 

the appropriate provisions as found in the Uniform Building Code. 

4. Critical facilities shall not be sited within designated geologically hazardous areas. (Exception: 

volcanic hazard areas). 

5. Surface drainage shall not be directed across the face of a landslide hazard (including ravines). If 

drainage must be discharged from the hazard area into adjacent waters, it shall be collected above the 

hazard and directed to the water by tight line drain and provided with an energy dissipating device at the 

point of discharge. 

45 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 171 of 248 

45 
 

qualified professional shall be required to certify that a geologic hazard is not present on the subject 

parcel (see section titled “Application, purpose”). 

2.    Properties identified by the director and the qualified professional containing geologically hazardous 

conditions shall require a geologically hazardous area mitigation plan. Critical facilities as defined under 

SWMC Chapter 14.04 shall not be sited within designated geologically hazardous areas (Exception: 

volcanic hazard areas). No residential structures shall be located in geologically hazardous areas or 

their buffers that cannot be fully mitigated. 

Geologically hazardous area mitigation standards. 

The mitigation plan shall be prepared by a professional engineer or geologist under supervision of a professional 

engineer and include a discussion on how the project has been designed to avoid and minimize the impacts of 

development on geologically hazardous areas. The plan shall also make a recommendation for the minimum 

building setback from any bluff or slope edge and/or other geologic hazard shall be based upon the geotechnical 

analysis required by this chapter. Mitigation plans shall include the location and methods of drainage, locations 

and methods of erosion control, a vegetation management and/or restoration plan and/or other means for 

maintaining long-term stability of geologic hazards. The plan shall also address the potential impact of mitigation 

on the hazard area, the subject property and affected adjacent properties. The mitigation plan must be approved 

by the director and be implemented as a condition of project approval. 

Within designated geologic hazards, mitigation plans shall address the appropriate items listed below as required 

by the site assessment. One or more of the following mitigation standards, as required by the director, shall be 

included as components of a mitigation plan (site assessment report). Other mitigation standards, other than 

those listed below, may be required by the director depending on the geologic hazard and the site conditions. 

A.    Mitigation Standards. 

1.    A temporary erosion and sedimentation control plan prepared in accordance with the requirements 

of SWMC Title 15, Buildings and Construction as amended. 

2.    A drainage plan for the collection, transport, treatment, discharge and/or recycle of water in 

accordance with the requirements of SWMC Title 15, Buildings and Construction as amended. 

3.    All proposals involving excavations and placement of fills shall be subject to structural review under 

the appropriate provisions as found in the Uniform Building Code. 

4.    Critical facilities shall not be sited within designated geologically hazardous areas. (Exception: 

volcanic hazard areas). 

5.    Surface drainage shall not be directed across the face of a landslide hazard (including ravines). If 

drainage must be discharged from the hazard area into adjacent waters, it shall be collected above the 

hazard and directed to the water by tight line drain and provided with an energy dissipating device at the 

point of discharge. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 171 of 248

http://www.codepublishing.com/wa/sedrowoolley/html/SedroWoolley15/SedroWoolley15.html#15
http://www.codepublishing.com/wa/sedrowoolley/html/SedroWoolley15/SedroWoolley15.html#15


6. All infiltration systems such as, stormwater detention and retention facilities, and curtain drains 

utilizing buried pipe or French drain, are prohibited in geologically hazardous areas and their buffers 

unless a site assessment report indicates such facilities or systems will not affect slope stability and the 

systems are designed by a licensed civil engineer. The engineer shall also certify that the system and/or 

facilities are installed as designed. 

7. Vegetation Removal and Replanting. Removal of vegetation in landslide hazard, erosion hazard 

and coastal bluff hazard areas shall be minimized. Any replanting that occurs shall consist of trees, 

shrubs, and ground cover that is compatible with the existing surrounding vegetation, meets the 

objectives of erosion prevention and site stabilization, and does not require permanent irrigation for 

long-term survival. 

8. A minimum buffer with a width of thirty feet shall be established from the top, toe and all edges of 

all landslide hazardous areas. Existing native vegetation shall be maintained in accordance with 

mitigation recommendations within the buffer area. Any modifications to the buffer requirement shall be 

based on the report and recommendations of the professional geologist under supervision of a licensed 

professional engineer. The buffer may be reduced to a minimum of ten feet when, supported by a 

geotechnical report, and the applicant demonstrates to the director that the reduction will adequately 

protect the proposed development, adjacent developments and uses and the subject critical area. The 

buffer may be increased by the director for development adjacent to a ravine which is designated as 

unstable on the Coastal Zone Atlas, Washington, Volume Two Skagit County (1978) or where the 

director determines a larger buffer is necessary to prevent risk of damage to proposed and existing 

development (as in the case where the area potentially impacted by a landslide exceeds thirty feet). 

Normal nondestructive pruning and trimming of vegetation for maintenance purposes; or thinning of 

limbs of individual trees to provide a view corridor, shall not be subject to these buffer requirements. 

9. Seismic Hazard Areas. Structural development proposals shall meet all applicable provisions of the 

Uniform Building Code. 

The director shall evaluate submitted documentation (site assessment report) and condition permit approvals to 

minimize the risk on both the subject property and affected adjacent properties. All conditions on approvals shall 

be based on known, available, and reasonable methods of prevention, control and treatment. Evaluation of 

geotechnical reports may also constitute grounds for denial of the proposal. 

B. Alterations of the buffer and/or geologically hazardous area. Alterations of the buffer and/or geologically 

hazardous area may occur for development meeting the following criteria: 

1. No reasonable alternative exists; and 

2. A site assessment report is submitted and certifies that: 

a. There is a minimal hazard as proven by evidence of no landslide activity in the past in the 

vicinity of the proposed development and a qualitative analysis of slope stability indicates no 

significant risk to the development proposal and adjacent properties; or the geologically hazardous 

46 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 172 of 248 

46 
 

6.    All infiltration systems such as, stormwater detention and retention facilities, and curtain drains 

utilizing buried pipe or French drain, are prohibited in geologically hazardous areas and their buffers 

unless a site assessment report indicates such facilities or systems will not affect slope stability and the 

systems are designed by a licensed civil engineer. The engineer shall also certify that the system and/or 

facilities are installed as designed. 

7.    Vegetation Removal and Replanting. Removal of vegetation in landslide hazard, erosion hazard 

and coastal bluff hazard areas shall be minimized. Any replanting that occurs shall consist of trees, 

shrubs, and ground cover that is compatible with the existing surrounding vegetation, meets the 

objectives of erosion prevention and site stabilization, and does not require permanent irrigation for 

long-term survival. 

8.    A minimum buffer with a width of thirty feet shall be established from the top, toe and all edges of 

all landslide hazardous areas. Existing native vegetation shall be maintained in accordance with 

mitigation recommendations within the buffer area. Any modifications to the buffer requirement shall be 

based on the report and recommendations of the professional geologist under supervision of a licensed 

professional engineer. The buffer may be reduced to a minimum of ten feet when, supported by a 

geotechnical report, and the applicant demonstrates to the director that the reduction will adequately 

protect the proposed development, adjacent developments and uses and the subject critical area. The 

buffer may be increased by the director for development adjacent to a ravine which is designated as 

unstable on the Coastal Zone Atlas, Washington, Volume Two Skagit County (1978) or where the 

director determines a larger buffer is necessary to prevent risk of damage to proposed and existing 

development (as in the case where the area potentially impacted by a landslide exceeds thirty feet). 

Normal nondestructive pruning and trimming of vegetation for maintenance purposes; or thinning of 

limbs of individual trees to provide a view corridor, shall not be subject to these buffer requirements. 

9.    Seismic Hazard Areas. Structural development proposals shall meet all applicable provisions of the 

Uniform Building Code. 

The director shall evaluate submitted documentation (site assessment report) and condition permit approvals to 

minimize the risk on both the subject property and affected adjacent properties. All conditions on approvals shall 

be based on known, available, and reasonable methods of prevention, control and treatment. Evaluation of 

geotechnical reports may also constitute grounds for denial of the proposal. 

B.    Alterations of the buffer and/or geologically hazardous area. Alterations of the buffer and/or geologically 

hazardous area may occur for development meeting the following criteria: 

1.    No reasonable alternative exists; and 

2.    A site assessment report is submitted and certifies that: 

a.    There is a minimal hazard as proven by evidence of no landslide activity in the past in the 

vicinity of the proposed development and a qualitative analysis of slope stability indicates no 

significant risk to the development proposal and adjacent properties; or the geologically hazardous 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 172 of 248



area can be modified or the development proposal can be designed so that the hazard is 

eliminated or mitigated so that the site is as safe as a site without a geologically hazardous area, 

b. The development will not significantly increase surface water discharge or sedimentation to 

adjacent properties beyond predevelopment conditions, 

c. The development will not decrease slope stability on adjacent properties, and 

d. Such alterations will not adversely impact other critical areas. 

C. Noncompliance and Failed Mitigation Plans. 

1. Projects found to be in noncompliance with the mitigation conditions issued as part of the 

development approval are subject to enforcement actions necessary to bring the development into 

compliance with this chapter. 

2. Mitigation plans which do not fulfill the performance required based on the site 

assessment/geotechnical report findings or otherwise fail to meet the intent of this chapter shall be 

revised and the subject development brought into compliance with the revised mitigation plan. 

3. Mitigation Plan Certification. Upon completion of the project, a qualified professional shall certify 

that the mitigation plan has been properly implemented. The certification shall be required prior to final 

approval of the project by the director. 

Geologically hazardous area public review and record. 

In addition to the provisions for public notice provided under this chapter, the director shall provide official notice 

of decision and make the site assessment report available for public review upon approval of any project 

requiring a geologically hazardous area site assessment and shall maintain a public record of all materials 

pertinent to approval decisions. 

Article V. Fish and Wildlife Habitat Conservation Areas 

Fish and wildlife habitat conservation area designations. 

A. Fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas (HCA) shall be designated and classified as provided for in the 

definition section of this chapter. The map and species references indicated are intended to serve only as a 

guide during development review. A site assessment completed by a qualified professional shall be completed to 

confirm actual conditions. 

B. In addition to the HCAs identified in subsection (C)(I) of the above section titled "Application, purpose" , 

additional species and habitats of local importance may be designated by the director based on declining 

populations, sensitivity to habitat manipulation or special value including, but not limited to, commercial, game or 

public appeal. 

C. In order to nominate an area or a species to the category of habitats and species of local importance, an 

individual or organization must: 

1. Demonstrate a need for special consideration based on: 

47 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 173 of 248 

47 
 

area can be modified or the development proposal can be designed so that the hazard is 

eliminated or mitigated so that the site is as safe as a site without a geologically hazardous area, 

b.    The development will not significantly increase surface water discharge or sedimentation to 

adjacent properties beyond predevelopment conditions, 

c.    The development will not decrease slope stability on adjacent properties, and 

d.    Such alterations will not adversely impact other critical areas. 

 

C.    Noncompliance and Failed Mitigation Plans. 

1.    Projects found to be in noncompliance with the mitigation conditions issued as part of the 

development approval are subject to enforcement actions necessary to bring the development into 

compliance with this chapter. 

2.    Mitigation plans which do not fulfill the performance required based on the site 

assessment/geotechnical report findings or otherwise fail to meet the intent of this chapter shall be 

revised and the subject development brought into compliance with the revised mitigation plan. 

3.    Mitigation Plan Certification. Upon completion of the project, a qualified professional shall certify 

that the mitigation plan has been properly implemented. The certification shall be required prior to final 

approval of the project by the director.  

Geologically hazardous area public review and record. 

In addition to the provisions for public notice provided under this chapter, the director shall provide official notice 

of decision and make the site assessment report available for public review upon approval of any project 

requiring a geologically hazardous area site assessment and shall maintain a public record of all materials 

pertinent to approval decisions. 

Article V. Fish and Wildlife Habitat Conservation Areas 

Fish and wildlife habitat conservation area designations. 

A.    Fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas (HCA) shall be designated and classified as provided for in the 

definition section of this chapter. The map and species references indicated are intended to serve only as a 

guide during development review. A site assessment completed by a qualified professional shall be completed to 

confirm actual conditions. 

B.    In addition to the HCAs identified in subsection (C)(l) of the above section titled “Application, purpose” , 

additional species and habitats of local importance may be designated by the director based on declining 

populations, sensitivity to habitat manipulation or special value including, but not limited to, commercial, game or 

public appeal. 

C.    In order to nominate an area or a species to the category of habitats and species of local importance, an 

individual or organization must: 

1.    Demonstrate a need for special consideration based on: 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 173 of 248



a. Declining population, 

b. Sensitivity to habitat manipulation, or 

c. Commercial or game value or other special value, such as public appeal; 

2. Propose relevant management strategies considered effective and within the scope of this chapter; 

3. Provide species habitat location(s) on a map (scale 1:24,000). Submitted proposals will be 

reviewed by the director and may be forwarded to the Departments of Fish and Wildlife, Natural 

Resources, and/or other county and state agencies or experts for comments and recommendations 

regarding accuracy of data and effectiveness of proposed management strategies. A public hearing 

may be held for proposals found to be complete, accurate, potentially effective and within the scope of 

this chapter. Approved nominations will become designated "Habitats/Species of Local Importance" and 

will be subject to the provisions of this chapter. 

D. The following species and habitats have been designated on a site-specific basis according to the official 

species and habitats of local significance map: 

1. Great Blue Heron nest sites; 

2. Vauxs Swifts Communal Roosts; 

3. Pileated Woodpecker nest sites; 

4. Osprey nest sites; 

5. Townsend Big-eared Bat Communal Roosts; 

6. Cavity Nesting Ducks breeding areas; 

7. Trumpeter Swan concentrations; 

8. Harlequin Duck breeding areas; 

9. Waterfowl concentrations. 

Fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas initial project review. 

A. A site visit shall be conducted by the director to determine whether HCAs identified on a critical area 

checklist or on available map resources or whether HCAs not previously identified are present within two 

hundred feet of the project or activity site. 

B. Habitat conservation areas are designated by definition in subsection (C)(3) of the above section titled 

"Application, purpose" and are referenced as follows: 

1. An area with which anadromous fish, endangered, threatened or sensitive species have a primary 

association and/or their habitat such as those designated and mapped by the Washington State 

Department of Fish and Wildlife, Priority Habitats and Species Program; 

2. A water of the state as defined under WAC 222-16-030; 

3. A critical biological area as designated and mapped by the Department of Ecology Coastal Zone 

Atlas dated June 1978 and/or the maps; 

48 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 174 of 248 

48 
 

a.    Declining population, 

b.    Sensitivity to habitat manipulation, or 

c.    Commercial or game value or other special value, such as public appeal; 

2.    Propose relevant management strategies considered effective and within the scope of this chapter; 

3.    Provide species habitat location(s) on a map (scale 1:24,000). Submitted proposals will be 

reviewed by the director and may be forwarded to the Departments of Fish and Wildlife, Natural 

Resources, and/or other county and state agencies or experts for comments and recommendations 

regarding accuracy of data and effectiveness of proposed management strategies. A public hearing 

may be held for proposals found to be complete, accurate, potentially effective and within the scope of 

this chapter. Approved nominations will become designated “Habitats/Species of Local Importance” and 

will be subject to the provisions of this chapter. 

D.    The following species and habitats have been designated on a site-specific basis according to the official 

species and habitats of local significance map: 

1.    Great Blue Heron nest sites; 

2.    Vauxs Swifts Communal Roosts; 

3.    Pileated Woodpecker nest sites; 

4.    Osprey nest sites; 

5.    Townsend Big-eared Bat Communal Roosts; 

6.    Cavity Nesting Ducks breeding areas; 

7.    Trumpeter Swan concentrations; 

8.    Harlequin Duck breeding areas; 

9.    Waterfowl concentrations. 

Fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas initial project review. 

A.    A site visit shall be conducted by the director to determine whether HCAs identified on a critical area 

checklist or on available map resources or whether HCAs not previously identified are present within two 

hundred feet of the project or activity site. 

B.    Habitat conservation areas are designated by definition in subsection (C)(3) of the above section titled 

“Application, purpose” and are referenced as follows: 

1.    An area with which anadromous fish, endangered, threatened or sensitive species have a primary 

association and/or their habitat such as those designated and mapped by the Washington State 

Department of Fish and Wildlife, Priority Habitats and Species Program; 

2.    A water of the state as defined under WAC 222-16-030; 

3.    A critical biological area as designated and mapped by the Department of Ecology Coastal Zone 

Atlas dated June 1978 and/or the maps; 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 174 of 248



4. Designated species and habitats of local importance pursuant to the previous section; 

5. Naturally occurring ponds under twenty acres and their submerged aquatic beds that provide fish or 

wildlife habitat; 

6. Lakes, ponds, streams, and rivers planted with game fish by a government or tribal entity; 

7. Areas with which anadromous fish species have a primary association; and 

8. State natural area preserves and natural resource conservation areas. 

C. If the director determines through the site visit described in subsection (B)(1) of this section that a fish and 

wildlife habitat conservation area (HCA) may be present within two hundred feet of the proposed project or 

activity area, then a site assessment/habitat management plan as described in the following section, shall be 

required as part of the complete application. 

Fish and wildlife habitat conservation area site assessment requirements. 

Site assessment/habitat management plans shall be prepared by a qualified fish and wildlife biologist with 

experience assessing the relevant species and habitats and include at a minimum, the following requirements: 

A. Site plan prepared in accordance with the permit requirements indicating all fish and wildlife habitat 

conservation areas falling within two hundred feet of the subject property. This site plan may be prepared by the 

applicant subject to review by the qualified fish and wildlife biologist; 

B. Project narrative describing the proposal including, but not limited to, associated grading and filling, 

structures, utilities, adjacent land uses, description of vegetation both within and adjacent to the habitat 

conservation area, and when deemed necessary by the administrative officer, surface and subsurface hydrologic 

analysis; 

C. Impact analysis identifying and documenting the presence of all habitat conservation areas and discussing 

the project's effects on the fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas; 

D. Regulatory analysis including a discussion of any federal, state, tribal, and/or local requirements or special 

management recommendations which have been developed for species and/or habitats located on the site; 

E. Mitigation report including a discussion of proposed measures of mitigating adverse impacts of the project 

and an evaluation of their potential effectiveness. Measures may include, but are not limited to, establishment of 

buffer zones, preservation of critically important plants, and trees, limitation of access to habitat areas, seasonal 

restrictions of construction activities, establishment of a timetable for periodic review of the plan and/or 

establishment of performance or maintenance bonds; 

F. Management and maintenance practices including a discussion of ongoing maintenance practices that will 

assure protection of all fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas on-site after the project has been completed. 

This section should include a discussion of proposed monitoring criteria, methods and schedule; 

49 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 175 of 248 

49 
 

4.    Designated species and habitats of local importance pursuant to the previous section; 

5.    Naturally occurring ponds under twenty acres and their submerged aquatic beds that provide fish or 

wildlife habitat; 

6.    Lakes, ponds, streams, and rivers planted with game fish by a government or tribal entity; 

7.    Areas with which anadromous fish species have a primary association; and 

8.    State natural area preserves and natural resource conservation areas. 

C.    If the director determines through the site visit described in subsection (B)(1) of this section that a fish and 

wildlife habitat conservation area (HCA) may be present within two hundred feet of the proposed project or 

activity area, then a site assessment/habitat management plan as described in the following section, shall be 

required as part of the complete application.  

Fish and wildlife habitat conservation area site assessment requirements. 

Site assessment/habitat management plans shall be prepared by a qualified fish and wildlife biologist with 

experience assessing the relevant species and habitats and include at a minimum, the following requirements: 

A.    Site plan prepared in accordance with the permit requirements indicating all fish and wildlife habitat 

conservation areas falling within two hundred feet of the subject property. This site plan may be prepared by the 

applicant subject to review by the qualified fish and wildlife biologist; 

B.    Project narrative describing the proposal including, but not limited to, associated grading and filling, 

structures, utilities, adjacent land uses, description of vegetation both within and adjacent to the habitat 

conservation area, and when deemed necessary by the administrative officer, surface and subsurface hydrologic 

analysis; 

C.    Impact analysis identifying and documenting the presence of all habitat conservation areas and discussing 

the project’s effects on the fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas; 

D.    Regulatory analysis including a discussion of any federal, state, tribal, and/or local requirements or special 

management recommendations which have been developed for species and/or habitats located on the site; 

E.    Mitigation report including a discussion of proposed measures of mitigating adverse impacts of the project 

and an evaluation of their potential effectiveness. Measures may include, but are not limited to, establishment of 

buffer zones, preservation of critically important plants, and trees, limitation of access to habitat areas, seasonal 

restrictions of construction activities, establishment of a timetable for periodic review of the plan and/or 

establishment of performance or maintenance bonds; 

F.    Management and maintenance practices including a discussion of ongoing maintenance practices that will 

assure protection of all fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas on-site after the project has been completed. 

This section should include a discussion of proposed monitoring criteria, methods and schedule; 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 175 of 248



G. Approval of any activity that can adversely affect fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas shall conform 

to the requirements set forth in subsection A of the above section "Protected critical area requirements" (Article 

l). 

Fish and wildlife habitat conservation area mitigation standards. 

Fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas shall be protected in accordance with local determination of 

appropriate conditions considering the site-specific recommendations from agencies with jurisdictions over the 

specific area, which may include, but not be limited to, the Washington State Department of Fish and Wildlife, 

Department of Ecology, federally recognized Indian Tribes located within Skagit County, WDFW Management 

Recommendations for Washington Priority Habitats and Species, and site-specific information supplied by the 

applicant. 

Development proposals shall be reviewed for potential impacts to fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas. 

The determination of potential impacts shall be dictated by site conditions and made by the director. The director 

may consult with the Washington State Departments of Ecology, Fish and Wildlife and Natural Resources and 

federally recognized Indian Tribes located in Skagit County to determine potential impacts a proposed project 

may have on a fish and wildlife habitat. If it is determined that a proposed project may have an adverse effect on 

a fish and wildlife habitat conservation area, the applicant shall implement a habitat management plan including 

mitigation measures in conformity with the performance standards outlined below: 

A. Riparian Performance Standards. Riparian buffer areas shall be established from the ordinary high water 

mark. The intent of riparian buffers is to protect five basic riparian forest functions that influence in-stream and 

near-stream habitat quality. These are: 

1. Recruitment of Large Woody Debris (LWD) to the Stream. LWD recruitment creates habitat 

structures necessary to maintain salmon/trout productive capacity and species diversity. 

2. Shade. Shading by the forest canopy maintains cooler water temperatures and influences the 

availability of oxygen for salmon/trout. 

3. Bank Integrity (Root Reinforcement). Bank integrity helps maintain habitat quality and water quality 

by reducing bank erosion and creating habitat structure and instream hiding cover for salmon and trout. 

4. Runoff Filtration. Filtration of nutrients and sediments in runoff (surface and shallow subsurface 

flows) helps maintain water quality. 

5. Wildlife Habitat. Functional wildlife habitat for riparian-dependent species is based on sufficient 

amounts of riparian vegetation to provide protection for nesting and feeding. 

B. Standard Riparian Buffers. Riparian areas have the following standard buffer requirements (Note: riparian 

areas do not extend beyond the toe of the slope on the landward side of existing dikes or levees unless 

specifically exempt from federal vegetation management requirements.): 

50 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 176 of 248 

50 
 

G.    Approval of any activity that can adversely affect fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas shall conform 

to the requirements set forth in subsection A of the above section “Protected critical area requirements” (Article 

I).  

Fish and wildlife habitat conservation area mitigation standards. 

Fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas shall be protected in accordance with local determination of 

appropriate conditions considering the site-specific recommendations from agencies with jurisdictions over the 

specific area, which may include, but not be limited to, the Washington State Department of Fish and Wildlife, 

Department of Ecology, federally recognized Indian Tribes located within Skagit County, WDFW Management 

Recommendations for Washington Priority Habitats and Species, and site-specific information supplied by the 

applicant. 

Development proposals shall be reviewed for potential impacts to fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas. 

The determination of potential impacts shall be dictated by site conditions and made by the director. The director 

may consult with the Washington State Departments of Ecology, Fish and Wildlife and Natural Resources and 

federally recognized Indian Tribes located in Skagit County to determine potential impacts a proposed project 

may have on a fish and wildlife habitat. If it is determined that a proposed project may have an adverse effect on 

a fish and wildlife habitat conservation area, the applicant shall implement a habitat management plan including 

mitigation measures in conformity with the performance standards outlined below: 

A.    Riparian Performance Standards. Riparian buffer areas shall be established from the ordinary high water 

mark. The intent of riparian buffers is to protect five basic riparian forest functions that influence in-stream and 

near-stream habitat quality. These are: 

1.    Recruitment of Large Woody Debris (LWD) to the Stream. LWD recruitment creates habitat 

structures necessary to maintain salmon/trout productive capacity and species diversity. 

2.    Shade. Shading by the forest canopy maintains cooler water temperatures and influences the 

availability of oxygen for salmon/trout. 

3.    Bank Integrity (Root Reinforcement). Bank integrity helps maintain habitat quality and water quality 

by reducing bank erosion and creating habitat structure and instream hiding cover for salmon and trout. 

4.    Runoff Filtration. Filtration of nutrients and sediments in runoff (surface and shallow subsurface 

flows) helps maintain water quality. 

5.    Wildlife Habitat. Functional wildlife habitat for riparian-dependent species is based on sufficient 

amounts of riparian vegetation to provide protection for nesting and feeding. 

B.    Standard Riparian Buffers. Riparian areas have the following standard buffer requirements (Note: riparian 

areas do not extend beyond the toe of the slope on the landward side of existing dikes or levees unless 

specifically exempt from federal vegetation management requirements.): 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 176 of 248



Water Type Riparian Buffer 

Type 1 and 2 200 feet 

Type 3 110 feet 

Type 4 and 5 50 feet 

Once buffers are established, they shall not be altered except as allowed below. Riparian buffers not currently 

meeting the minimum standards shall be restored; provided, that such restoration does not conflict with other 

provisions of this chapter. In implementing buffer widths other than the standard riparian buffers identified above, 

the director may provide opportunity for review and comment from appropriate federal, state or tribal natural 

resource agencies to ensure the use of best available science. These comments shall be included in the public 

record along with the basis and rationale for requirement or approval of any such nonstandard buffers. 

1. Increasing Buffer Widths. The director has the authority to increase the standard buffer widths on a 

case-by-case basis, or to establish nonriparian buffer widths, when such buffers are necessary to 

protect priority fish or wildlife (e.g., great blue heron nesting colonies, osprey or cavity nesting ducks) 

using the HCA. This determination shall be supported by appropriate documentation from the 

Departments of Ecology and Fish and Wildlife, showing that the increased buffer width is reasonably 

related to the protection of the fish and/or wildlife using the HCA. 

2. Decreasing Buffer Widths. Decreasing standard buffers will be through the shoreline variance 

process in Chapter 6 of the SMP, only if the applicant demonstrates that all of the following criteria are 

met: 

a. A decrease is necessary to accomplish the purposes of the proposal and no reasonable 

alternative is available; 

b. Decreasing width will not adversely affect the fish and wildlife habitat functions and values; 

c. If a portion of a buffer is to be reduced, the remaining buffer area will be enhanced, using 

native vegetation, artificial habitat features, vegetative screening and/or barrier fencing as 

appropriate to improve the functional attributes of the buffer and to provide equivalent or better 

protection for fish and wildlife habitat functions and values; 

d. The buffer width shall not be reduced below twenty-five percent of the standard buffer width 

unless the director determines that no other reasonable alternative exists and that no net loss of 

HCA riparian functional values will result, based on a functional assessment provided by the 

applicant utilizing a methodology approved by the director through the shoreline variance process. 

C. Allowed Uses in HCAs or Buffers. 

1. Docks. Docks designed to facilitate low-impact uses, such as education and/or private, 

noncommercial recreation may be permitted within fish and wildlife HCAs under the following 

conditions: 

51 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 177 of 248 

51 
 

Water Type Riparian Buffer 

Type 1 and 2 200 feet 

Type 3 110 feet 

Type 4 and 5 50 feet 

Once buffers are established, they shall not be altered except as allowed below. Riparian buffers not currently 

meeting the minimum standards shall be restored; provided, that such restoration does not conflict with other 

provisions of this chapter. In implementing buffer widths other than the standard riparian buffers identified above, 

the director may provide opportunity for review and comment from appropriate federal, state or tribal natural 

resource agencies to ensure the use of best available science. These comments shall be included in the public 

record along with the basis and rationale for requirement or approval of any such nonstandard buffers. 

1.    Increasing Buffer Widths. The director has the authority to increase the standard buffer widths on a 

case-by-case basis, or to establish nonriparian buffer widths, when such buffers are necessary to 

protect priority fish or wildlife (e.g., great blue heron nesting colonies, osprey or cavity nesting ducks) 

using the HCA. This determination shall be supported by appropriate documentation from the 

Departments of Ecology and Fish and Wildlife, showing that the increased buffer width is reasonably 

related to the protection of the fish and/or wildlife using the HCA. 

2.    Decreasing Buffer Widths. Decreasing standard buffers will be through the shoreline variance 

process in Chapter 6 of the SMP, only if the applicant demonstrates that all of the following criteria are 

met: 

a.    A decrease is necessary to accomplish the purposes of the proposal and no reasonable 

alternative is available; 

b.    Decreasing width will not adversely affect the fish and wildlife habitat functions and values; 

c.    If a portion of a buffer is to be reduced, the remaining buffer area will be enhanced, using 

native vegetation, artificial habitat features, vegetative screening and/or barrier fencing as 

appropriate to improve the functional attributes of the buffer and to provide equivalent or better 

protection for fish and wildlife habitat functions and values; 

d.    The buffer width shall not be reduced below twenty-five percent of the standard buffer width 

unless the director determines that no other reasonable alternative exists and that no net loss of 

HCA riparian functional values will result, based on a functional assessment provided by the 

applicant utilizing a methodology approved by the director through the shoreline variance process. 

 

C.    Allowed Uses in HCAs or Buffers. 

1.    Docks. Docks designed to facilitate low-impact uses, such as education and/or private, 

noncommercial recreation may be permitted within fish and wildlife HCAs under the following 

conditions: 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 177 of 248



a. The activity will have minimum adverse impact to the fish and wildlife habitat conservation 

area; 

b. The activity will not significantly degrade surface or groundwater; 

c. The intrusion into the fish and wildlife habitat conservation area and its buffers is mitigated; 

and 

d. The director may provide opportunity for review and comment by a federal, state and tribal 

natural resource agencies. 

2. Limited park or recreational access to a fish and wildlife habitat area or its required buffer, provided, 

that all of the following are satisfied: 

a. The access is part of a public park or a recreational resort development that is dependent on 

the access for its location and recreational function; 

b. The access is limited to the minimum necessary to accomplish the recreational function; 

c. The access and the balance of the development is consistent with other requirements of the 

Sedro-Woolley Municipal Code and the Skagit County Shoreline Management Master Program; 

and 

d. The proponent obtains a written approval from the city council for the limited access and 

associated mitigation. 

3. Low impact uses and activities which are consistent with the purpose and function of the habitat 

buffer and do not detract from its integrity may be permitted within the buffer depending on the 

sensitivity of the habitat involved, provided, that such activity shall not result in a decrease in riparian 

functional values and shall not prevent or inhibit the buffer's recovery to at least prealtered condition or 

function. Examples of uses and activities which may be permitted in appropriate cases, as long as the 

activity does not retard the overall recovery of the buffer, include removal of noxious vegetation, 

pedestrian trails, viewing platforms, and stormwater management facilities such as grass-lined swales 

and wet ponds or stormwater wetlands. 

4. In the riparian buffer, removal of hazardous, diseased or dead trees and vegetation when 

necessary to control fire, or to halt the spread of disease or damaging insects consistent with the State 

Forest Practices Act, RCW 76.09, or when the removal is necessary to avoid a hazard such as 

landslides or pose a threat to existing structures may be permitted with prior written approval. Any 

removed tree or vegetation shall be replaced with appropriate species. Replacement shall be performed 

consistent with accepted restoration standards for riparian areas within one calendar year. The director 

may approve alternative tree species to promote fish and wildlife habitat. 

Prior to commencement of tree or vegetation removal and/or replacement, the landowner must obtain written 

approval from the director. 

5. To allow for greater flexibility in a development proposal, an applicant has the opportunity to 

remove timber within the standard buffer widths shown above if the applicant's mitigation measures 

incorporate all of the performance standards based upon water type listed in the table below. In 

conformance with professional standards used by the Washington Department of Natural Resources for 

52 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 178 of 248 

52 
 

a.    The activity will have minimum adverse impact to the fish and wildlife habitat conservation 

area; 

b.    The activity will not significantly degrade surface or groundwater; 

c.    The intrusion into the fish and wildlife habitat conservation area and its buffers is mitigated; 

and 

d.    The director may provide opportunity for review and comment by a federal, state and tribal 

natural resource agencies. 

 

2.    Limited park or recreational access to a fish and wildlife habitat area or its required buffer, provided, 

that all of the following are satisfied: 

a.    The access is part of a public park or a recreational resort development that is dependent on 

the access for its location and recreational function; 

b.    The access is limited to the minimum necessary to accomplish the recreational function; 

c.    The access and the balance of the development is consistent with other requirements of the 

Sedro-Woolley Municipal Code and the Skagit County Shoreline Management Master Program; 

and 

d.    The proponent obtains a written approval from the city council for the limited access and 

associated mitigation. 

 

3.    Low impact uses and activities which are consistent with the purpose and function of the habitat 

buffer and do not detract from its integrity may be permitted within the buffer depending on the 

sensitivity of the habitat involved, provided, that such activity shall not result in a decrease in riparian 

functional values and shall not prevent or inhibit the buffer’s recovery to at least prealtered condition or 

function. Examples of uses and activities which may be permitted in appropriate cases, as long as the 

activity does not retard the overall recovery of the buffer, include removal of noxious vegetation, 

pedestrian trails, viewing platforms, and stormwater management facilities such as grass-lined swales 

and wet ponds or stormwater wetlands. 

4.    In the riparian buffer, removal of hazardous, diseased or dead trees and vegetation when 

necessary to control fire, or to halt the spread of disease or damaging insects consistent with the State 

Forest Practices Act, RCW 76.09, or when the removal is necessary to avoid a hazard such as 

landslides or pose a threat to existing structures may be permitted with prior written approval. Any 

removed tree or vegetation shall be replaced with appropriate species. Replacement shall be performed 

consistent with accepted restoration standards for riparian areas within one calendar year. The director 

may approve alternative tree species to promote fish and wildlife habitat. 

Prior to commencement of tree or vegetation removal and/or replacement, the landowner must obtain written 

approval from the director. 

5.    To allow for greater flexibility in a development proposal, an applicant has the opportunity to 

remove timber within the standard buffer widths shown above if the applicant’s mitigation measures 

incorporate all of the performance standards based upon water type listed in the table below. In 

conformance with professional standards used by the Washington Department of Natural Resources for 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 178 of 248



forest practices in sensitive areas, all removal of timber within HCA buffers shall be subject to 

conditioning specified by the director and may be made in conjunction with an on-site review in which 

participation by representatives of the proponent, Ecology, WDFW, WDNR and natural resource 

representatives of affected Indian Tribes is solicited. 

The intent of this section is to provide an additional opportunity for an applicant to propose some level of timber 

removal within the riparian habitat zone as long as it can be demonstrated that the function of the buffer can be 

maintained at the levels described below. If the buffer, in its current state, cannot meet these standards, then the 

director will not be able to give its approval for any activity which would inhibit recovery of or degrade the current 

buffer. 

The current performance of a given buffer area is compared to its potential performance as rated by the Soil 

Conservation Service, Soil Survey of Skagit County, 1989. In consultation with a representative from the natural 

resource conservation service, soil conservation district or professional forester, the applicant will determine the 

capability of the site for woodland management using the most suitable tree species according to the soil survey 

and establish the stand characteristics that would be expected from a mature stand of those species established 

on-site. If the current stand can exceed the riparian protection that could be expected based on site potential, 

then additional activity may be allowed provided the following performance standards can be met. For Type 1 

and 2 streams, an alternative method may be utilized to allow limited timber harvest within the outer one hundred 

feet of a buffer: 

Performance-based Riparian Standards* 

(These Standards Must be Exceeded Before Additional Activity Can be Permitted Within the Riparian Zone) 

Watertype Performance Standards. 

Type 1 and 2 (Fish Bearing). 

a. Maintain ninety-five percent of total LWD recruitment expected to enter the stream from a 

mature stand; 

b. Maintain eighty-five percent of the trees which are greater than twenty-four inches DBH within 

one hundred feet of stream; 

c. Maintain an average of seventy-five percent canopy cover (based on canopy densitometer 

readings at stream edge); and 

d. The applicant may further request some limited timber harvest of up to thirty percent of the 

merchantable timber within the outer one hundred feet of any two hundred-foot required buffer 

provided the harvest: 

i. Does not reduce the LWD and canopy requirements, 

ii. The applicant will increase the total buffer size by fifty feet to mitigate for the limited 

timber harvest in the required buffer to provide additional wildlife habitat. The additional fifty-

foot buffer shall retain a minimum of fifty percent of the total number of trees with twenty-five 

53 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 179 of 248 

53 
 

forest practices in sensitive areas, all removal of timber within HCA buffers shall be subject to 

conditioning specified by the director and may be made in conjunction with an on-site review in which 

participation by representatives of the proponent, Ecology, WDFW, WDNR and natural resource 

representatives of affected Indian Tribes is solicited. 

The intent of this section is to provide an additional opportunity for an applicant to propose some level of timber 

removal within the riparian habitat zone as long as it can be demonstrated that the function of the buffer can be 

maintained at the levels described below. If the buffer, in its current state, cannot meet these standards, then the 

director will not be able to give its approval for any activity which would inhibit recovery of or degrade the current 

buffer. 

The current performance of a given buffer area is compared to its potential performance as rated by the Soil 

Conservation Service, Soil Survey of Skagit County, 1989. In consultation with a representative from the natural 

resource conservation service, soil conservation district or professional forester, the applicant will determine the 

capability of the site for woodland management using the most suitable tree species according to the soil survey 

and establish the stand characteristics that would be expected from a mature stand of those species established 

on-site. If the current stand can exceed the riparian protection that could be expected based on site potential, 

then additional activity may be allowed provided the following performance standards can be met. For Type 1 

and 2 streams, an alternative method may be utilized to allow limited timber harvest within the outer one hundred 

feet of a buffer: 

Performance-based Riparian Standards* 

(These Standards Must be Exceeded Before Additional Activity Can be Permitted Within the Riparian Zone) 

Watertype Performance Standards. 

Type 1 and 2 (Fish Bearing). 

a.    Maintain ninety-five percent of total LWD recruitment expected to enter the stream from a 

mature stand; 

b.    Maintain eighty-five percent of the trees which are greater than twenty-four inches DBH within 

one hundred feet of stream; 

c.    Maintain an average of seventy-five percent canopy cover (based on canopy densitometer 

readings at stream edge); and 

d.    The applicant may further request some limited timber harvest of up to thirty percent of the 

merchantable timber within the outer one hundred feet of any two hundred-foot required buffer 

provided the harvest: 

 

i.    Does not reduce the LWD and canopy requirements, 

ii.    The applicant will increase the total buffer size by fifty feet to mitigate for the limited 

timber harvest in the required buffer to provide additional wildlife habitat. The additional fifty-

foot buffer shall retain a minimum of fifty percent of the total number of trees with twenty-five 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 179 of 248



percent of the total trees left having a diameter at breast height (DBH - four and one-half 

feet) greater than twelve inches, and 

iii. No more than fifty percent of the dominant trees in the outer one hundred feet may be 

harvested. 

Type 3 (Fish Bearing). 

a. Maintain eighty-five percent of total LWD recruitment expected to enter the stream from a 

mature stand; 

b. Maintain eighty-five percent of the trees which are greater than eighteen inches DBH within 

one hundred feet of stream; and 

c. Maintain an average of seventy-five percent canopy cover (based on canopy densitometer 

readings at stream edge). 

Type 4 and 5 (Nonfish Bearing). 

a. Maintain fifty percent of total LWD recruitment expected to enter the stream from a mature 

stand; 

b. Maintain eighty-five percent of the trees which are greater than twenty-four inches DBH within 

fifty feet of stream; and 

c. Maintain an average of seventy-five percent canopy cover (based on canopy densitometer 

readings at stream edge). 

* Note: Applicants electing to employ performance based mitigation in accordance with the above matrix shall 

include appropriate analysis and justification in their site assessment/habitat management plan. 

D. Bald eagle habitats shall be protected pursuant to the Washington State Bald Eagle Protection Rules (WAC 

232-12-292), a cooperative habitat management plan shall be developed in coordination with the Department of 

Fish and Wildlife whenever activities that alter habitat are proposed near a verified nest territory or communal 

roost. 

E. Wetlands that are identified as a fish and wildlife habitat conservation area shall be protected according to 

the provisions in subsection (B)(1) of this section. If the wetland buffer widths called for under subsection B of 

this section, conflict with this section, the buffer widths providing the greatest protection shall apply. 

F. All other fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas, including habitats/species of local importance, shall be 

protected on a case by case basis by means of a habitat management plan based on the PHS program, as set 

forth in "Fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas initial project review" and "Fish and wildlife habitat 

conservation area site assessment requirements" sections of this Title V, initial project review and site 

assessment/habitat management plan. 

G. Approval of any activity that can adversely affect fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas shall conform 

to the PCA identification and recording requirements set forth in Title I, section "Protected critical area 

requirements." 

54 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 180 of 248 

54 
 

percent of the total trees left having a diameter at breast height (DBH - four and one-half 

feet) greater than twelve inches, and 

iii.    No more than fifty percent of the dominant trees in the outer one hundred feet may be 

harvested. 

 

Type 3 (Fish Bearing). 

a.    Maintain eighty-five percent of total LWD recruitment expected to enter the stream from a 

mature stand; 

b.    Maintain eighty-five percent of the trees which are greater than eighteen inches DBH within 

one hundred feet of stream; and 

c.    Maintain an average of seventy-five percent canopy cover (based on canopy densitometer 

readings at stream edge). 

 

Type 4 and 5 (Nonfish Bearing). 

 

a.    Maintain fifty percent of total LWD recruitment expected to enter the stream from a mature 

stand; 

b.    Maintain eighty-five percent of the trees which are greater than twenty-four inches DBH within 

fifty feet of stream; and 

c.    Maintain an average of seventy-five percent canopy cover (based on canopy densitometer 

readings at stream edge). 

*    Note: Applicants electing to employ performance based mitigation in accordance with the above matrix shall 

include appropriate analysis and justification in their site assessment/habitat management plan. 

D.    Bald eagle habitats shall be protected pursuant to the Washington State Bald Eagle Protection Rules (WAC 

232-12-292), a cooperative habitat management plan shall be developed in coordination with the Department of 

Fish and Wildlife whenever activities that alter habitat are proposed near a verified nest territory or communal 

roost. 

E.    Wetlands that are identified as a fish and wildlife habitat conservation area shall be protected according to 

the provisions in subsection (B)(1) of this section. If the wetland buffer widths called for under subsection B of 

this section, conflict with this section, the buffer widths providing the greatest protection shall apply. 

F.    All other fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas, including habitats/species of local importance, shall be 

protected on a case by case basis by means of a habitat management plan based on the PHS program, as set 

forth in “Fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas initial project review” and “Fish and wildlife habitat 

conservation area site assessment requirements” sections of this Title V, initial project review and site 

assessment/habitat management plan. 

G.    Approval of any activity that can adversely affect fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas shall conform 

to the PCA identification and recording requirements set forth in Title I, section “Protected critical area 

requirements.”  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 180 of 248



Article VI. Flood Hazard Area 

Standards for flood hazard areas. 

Development proposed in flood hazard areas, in addition to the provisions of Chapter 5.1 — Flood Hazard 

Reduction of the SMP, standards found in WAC 173-26-221(3), and Chapter 17.66 (Flood Damage Prevention), 

shall be limited to the extent that: 

A. Clearing, stripping of vegetative and coverage of the site by roads and structures shall be no more than 

necessary in order to maintain water quality. 

B. Buildings are sited to minimize alteration of terrain and other natural features, and minimize the need for fill. 

Uses that may be appropriate and/or necessarily located in the channel migration zone or floodway include uses 

delineated in WAC 173-26-221(3)(c)(i) when consistent with language elsewhere in the SMP. 

C. New structural flood hazard reduction measures shall be allowed only where demonstrated to be necessary, 

and when non-structural methods are infeasible and mitigation is accomplished. 

D. New structural flood hazard reduction measures shall be allowed only landward of associated wetlands and 

buffer areas except where no alternative exists as documented in a geotechnical analysis per WAC 173-26-

221(3)(c)(ii) & (iii). 

E. Designs for flood hazard management and shoreline stabilization measures in river corridors must be 

prepared by qualified professional engineers, geologists, and/or hydrologists who have expertise in local riverine 

processes. 

F. Existing hydrological connections to the floodplain and associated wetlands shall be maintained where 

feasible. 

G. New publicly funded dikes or levees are required to dedicate and improve public access per WAC-173-26-

221(3)(c)(iv). 

H. Removal of gravel from the Skagit River for purposes of flood risk reduction is not allowed unless a biological 

and geomorphological study demonstrates a long-term benefit to flood hazard reduction, no net loss of 

ecological functions, and extraction is part of a comprehensive flood management solution. 

Article VII. Compliance and Enforcement 

Compliance with critical area regulations. 

No permit for a development proposal described in section "Resource information and maps (Title I) shall be 

issued unless it also complies with the regulations of this chapter. 

Construction. 

55 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 181 of 248 

55 
 

Article VI. Flood Hazard Area 

Standards for flood hazard areas. 

Development proposed in flood hazard areas, in addition to the provisions of Chapter 5.1 – Flood Hazard 

Reduction of the SMP, standards found in WAC 173-26-221(3), and Chapter 17.66 (Flood Damage Prevention), 

shall be limited to the extent that: 

A.    Clearing, stripping of vegetative and coverage of the site by roads and structures shall be no more than 

necessary in order to maintain water quality. 

B.    Buildings are sited to minimize alteration of terrain and other natural features, and minimize the need for fill.  

Uses that may be appropriate and/or necessarily located in the channel migration zone or floodway include uses 

delineated in WAC 173-26-221(3)(c)(i) when consistent with language elsewhere in the SMP. 

C. New structural flood hazard reduction measures shall be allowed only where demonstrated to be necessary, 

and when non-structural methods are infeasible and mitigation is accomplished.  

D. New structural flood hazard reduction measures shall be allowed only landward of associated wetlands and 

buffer areas except where no alternative exists as documented in a geotechnical analysis per WAC 173-26-

221(3)(c)(ii) & (iii).  

E. Designs for flood hazard management and shoreline stabilization measures in river corridors must be 

prepared by qualified professional engineers, geologists, and/or hydrologists who have expertise in local riverine 

processes. 

F. Existing hydrological connections to the floodplain and associated wetlands shall be maintained where 

feasible. 

G. New publicly funded dikes or levees are required to dedicate and improve public access per WAC-173-26-

221(3)(c)(iv). 

H. Removal of gravel from the Skagit River for purposes of flood risk reduction is not allowed unless a biological 

and geomorphological study demonstrates a long-term benefit to flood hazard reduction, no net loss of 

ecological functions, and extraction is part of a comprehensive flood management solution. 

 

Article VII. Compliance and Enforcement 

Compliance with critical area regulations. 

No permit for a development proposal described in section “Resource information and maps (Title I) shall be 

issued unless it also complies with the regulations of this chapter.  

Construction. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 181 of 248

http://www.codepublishing.com/wa/sedrowoolley/html/SedroWoolley17/SedroWoolley1766.html#17.66


In any case where the provisions of this chapter conflict with the provisions of the underlying zoning, the 

provisions of this chapter shall apply. 

Severabi I ity. 

The provisions of this chapter are declared to be separate and severable. The invalidity of any clause, sentence, 

paragraph, subdivision, section or portion of this chapter, or the invalidity of the application thereof to any person, 

owner, or circumstance shall not affect the validity of the remainder of this chapter, or the validity of its 

application to other persons, owners or circumstances. 

State Environmental Policy Act. 

This chapter establishes minimum standards which are to be applied to specific land use and platting actions in 

order to prevent further degradation of critical areas in the city, and is not intended to limit the application of the 

State Environmental Policy Act (SEPA). Projects subject to SEPA shall be reviewed and may also be 

conditioned or denied. 

Liability disclaimer—Flood hazard areas. 

Since floods more severe than the one hundred-year flood occur on rare occasions, reliance on this chapter will 

not altogether guarantee freedom from flood damage, nor shall this chapter create liability on the part of the city 

for such damage. It is further noted that other data regarding one hundred-year floodplain elevations may exist 

which indicate a more severe threat than the data established by FEMA. Information on these other data sources 

shall be kept and made available at Sedro-Woolley City Hall. 

Enforcement of the critical areas regulations. 

A. Violations. 

1. It is a violation of this chapter for any person to initiate or maintain or cause to be initiated or 

maintained the use of any structure, land or property within the city without first obtaining the permits or 

authorization required for the use by this chapter. 

2. It is a violation of this chapter for any person to use, construct, locate, demolish or cause to be 

used, constructed, located, or demolished any structure, land or property within the city in any manner 

that is not permitted by the terms of any permit or authorization issued pursuant to this chapter, 

provided, that the terms or conditions are explicitly stated on the permit or the approved plans. 

3. It is a violation of this chapter to remove or deface any sign, notice, complaint or order required by 

or posted in accordance with this chapter. 

4. It is a violation of this chapter to misrepresent any material fact in any application, plans or other 

information submitted to obtain any critical areas authorization. 

5. It is a violation of this chapter for anyone to fail to comply with the requirements of this chapter. 

B. Duty to Enforce. 

56 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 182 of 248 

56 
 

In any case where the provisions of this chapter conflict with the provisions of the underlying zoning, the 

provisions of this chapter shall apply. 

Severability. 

The provisions of this chapter are declared to be separate and severable. The invalidity of any clause, sentence, 

paragraph, subdivision, section or portion of this chapter, or the invalidity of the application thereof to any person, 

owner, or circumstance shall not affect the validity of the remainder of this chapter, or the validity of its 

application to other persons, owners or circumstances. 

State Environmental Policy Act. 

This chapter establishes minimum standards which are to be applied to specific land use and platting actions in 

order to prevent further degradation of critical areas in the city, and is not intended to limit the application of the 

State Environmental Policy Act (SEPA). Projects subject to SEPA shall be reviewed and may also be 

conditioned or denied.  

Liability disclaimer—Flood hazard areas. 

Since floods more severe than the one hundred-year flood occur on rare occasions, reliance on this chapter will 

not altogether guarantee freedom from flood damage, nor shall this chapter create liability on the part of the city 

for such damage. It is further noted that other data regarding one hundred-year floodplain elevations may exist 

which indicate a more severe threat than the data established by FEMA. Information on these other data sources 

shall be kept and made available at Sedro-Woolley City Hall.  

Enforcement of the critical areas regulations. 

A.    Violations. 

1.    It is a violation of this chapter for any person to initiate or maintain or cause to be initiated or 

maintained the use of any structure, land or property within the city without first obtaining the permits or 

authorization required for the use by this chapter. 

2.    It is a violation of this chapter for any person to use, construct, locate, demolish or cause to be 

used, constructed, located, or demolished any structure, land or property within the city in any manner 

that is not permitted by the terms of any permit or authorization issued pursuant to this chapter, 

provided, that the terms or conditions are explicitly stated on the permit or the approved plans. 

3.    It is a violation of this chapter to remove or deface any sign, notice, complaint or order required by 

or posted in accordance with this chapter. 

4.    It is a violation of this chapter to misrepresent any material fact in any application, plans or other 

information submitted to obtain any critical areas authorization. 

5.    It is a violation of this chapter for anyone to fail to comply with the requirements of this chapter. 

B.    Duty to Enforce. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 182 of 248



1. It shall be the duty of the director to enforce this chapter. The director may call upon the police, fire, 

health or other appropriate city departments to assist in enforcement. 

2. Upon presentation of proper credentials, the director or duly authorized representative of the 

director may, with the consent of the owner or occupier of a building or premises, or pursuant to a 

lawfully issued inspection warrant, enter at reasonable times any building or premises subject to the 

consent or warrant to perform the duties imposed by the critical areas code. 

3. The critical areas code shall be enforced for the benefit of the health, safety and welfare of the 

general public, and not for the benefit of any particular person or class of persons. 

4. It is the intent of this critical areas code to place the obligation of complying with its requirements 

upon the owner, occupier or other person responsible for the condition of the land, wetlands, shorelines, 

and buildings within the scope of this code. 

5. No provision of or term used in this code is intended to impose any duty upon the city or any of its 

officers or employees which would subject them to damages in a civil action. 

C. Investigation and Notice of Violation. 

1. The director shall investigate any structure or use which the director reasonably believes does not 

comply with the standards and requirements of the critical areas code. 

2. If after investigation the director determines that the standards or requirements have been violated, 

the director shall serve a notice of violation upon the owner, tenant or other person responsible for the 

condition. The notice of violation shall state separately each standard or requirement violated; shall 

state what corrective action, if any, is necessary to comply with the standards or requirements; and shall 

set a reasonable time for compliance. The notice shall state that any subsequent violation may result in 

criminal prosecution as provided in Title I section titled "Protected critical area requirements". In the 

event of violation of the standards or requirements of this chapter required corrective action shall 

include, if appropriate, but shall not be limited to, mitigating measures such as restoration of the area 

and replacement of damaged or destroyed trees. 

3. The notice shall be served upon the owner, tenant or other person responsible for the condition by 

personal service, registered mail, or certified mail with return receipt requested, addressed to the last 

known address of such person. If, after a reasonable search and reasonable efforts are made to obtain 

service, the whereabouts of the person or persons is unknown or service cannot be accomplished and 

the director makes an affidavit to that effect, then service of the notice upon such person or persons 

may be made by: 

a. Publishing the notice once each week for two consecutive weeks in the city official 

newspaper; and 

57 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 183 of 248 

57 
 

1.    It shall be the duty of the director to enforce this chapter. The director may call upon the police, fire, 

health or other appropriate city departments to assist in enforcement. 

2.    Upon presentation of proper credentials, the director or duly authorized representative of the 

director may, with the consent of the owner or occupier of a building or premises, or pursuant to a 

lawfully issued inspection warrant, enter at reasonable times any building or premises subject to the 

consent or warrant to perform the duties imposed by the critical areas code. 

3.    The critical areas code shall be enforced for the benefit of the health, safety and welfare of the 

general public, and not for the benefit of any particular person or class of persons. 

4.    It is the intent of this critical areas code to place the obligation of complying with its requirements 

upon the owner, occupier or other person responsible for the condition of the land, wetlands, shorelines, 

and buildings within the scope of this code. 

5.    No provision of or term used in this code is intended to impose any duty upon the city or any of its 

officers or employees which would subject them to damages in a civil action. 

C.    Investigation and Notice of Violation. 

1.    The director shall investigate any structure or use which the director reasonably believes does not 

comply with the standards and requirements of the critical areas code. 

2.    If after investigation the director determines that the standards or requirements have been violated, 

the director shall serve a notice of violation upon the owner, tenant or other person responsible for the 

condition. The notice of violation shall state separately each standard or requirement violated; shall 

state what corrective action, if any, is necessary to comply with the standards or requirements; and shall 

set a reasonable time for compliance. The notice shall state that any subsequent violation may result in 

criminal prosecution as provided in Title I section titled “Protected critical area requirements”. In the 

event of violation of the standards or requirements of this chapter required corrective action shall 

include, if appropriate, but shall not be limited to, mitigating measures such as restoration of the area 

and replacement of damaged or destroyed trees. 

3.    The notice shall be served upon the owner, tenant or other person responsible for the condition by 

personal service, registered mail, or certified mail with return receipt requested, addressed to the last 

known address of such person. If, after a reasonable search and reasonable efforts are made to obtain 

service, the whereabouts of the person or persons is unknown or service cannot be accomplished and 

the director makes an affidavit to that effect, then service of the notice upon such person or persons 

may be made by: 

a.    Publishing the notice once each week for two consecutive weeks in the city official 

newspaper; and 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 183 of 248



b. Mailing a copy of the notice to each person named on the notice of violation by first class mail 

to the last known address if known, or if unknown, to the address of the property involved in the 

proceedings. 

4. A copy of the notice shall be posted at a conspicuous place on the property, unless posting the 

notice is not physically possible. 

5. Nothing in this section shall be deemed to limit or preclude any action or proceeding pursuant to 

Title I section titled "Protected critical area requirements". 

6. The director may mail, or cause to be delivered to all residential and/or nonresidential rental units in 

the structure or post at a conspicuous place on the property, a notice which informs each recipient or 

resident about the notice of violation, stop work order or emergency order and the applicable 

requirements and procedures. 

7. A notice or order may be amended at any time in order to: 

a. Correct clerical errors; or 

b. Cite additional authority for a stated violation. 

D. Time to Comply. 

1. When calculating a reasonable time for compliance, the director shall consider the following criteria: 

a. The type and degree of violation cited in the notice; 

b. The stated intent, if any, of a responsible party to take steps to comply; 

c. The procedural requirements for obtaining a permit to carry out corrective action; 

d. The complexity of the corrective action, including seasonal considerations, construction 

requirements and the legal prerogatives of landlords and tenants; and 

e. Any other circumstances beyond the control of the responsible party. 

2. Unless a request for review before the director is made in accordance with Title I section titled 

"Protected critical area requirements", the notice of violation shall become the final order of the director. 

A copy of the notice shall be filed with the Skagit County auditor. The director may choose not to file a 

copy of the notice or order if the notice or order is directed only to a responsible person other than the 

owner of the property. 

E. Stop Work Order. Whenever a continuing violation of this code will materially impair the director's ability to 

secure compliance with this code, or when the continuing violation threatens the health or safety of the public, 

the director may issue a stop work order specifying the violation and prohibiting any work or other activity at the 

site. A failure to comply with a stop work order shall constitute a violation of this land use code. 

58 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 184 of 248 

58 
 

b.    Mailing a copy of the notice to each person named on the notice of violation by first class mail 

to the last known address if known, or if unknown, to the address of the property involved in the 

proceedings. 

4.    A copy of the notice shall be posted at a conspicuous place on the property, unless posting the 

notice is not physically possible. 

5.    Nothing in this section shall be deemed to limit or preclude any action or proceeding pursuant to 

Title I section titled “Protected critical area requirements”. 

6.    The director may mail, or cause to be delivered to all residential and/or nonresidential rental units in 

the structure or post at a conspicuous place on the property, a notice which informs each recipient or 

resident about the notice of violation, stop work order or emergency order and the applicable 

requirements and procedures. 

7.    A notice or order may be amended at any time in order to: 

a.    Correct clerical errors; or 

b.    Cite additional authority for a stated violation. 

D.    Time to Comply. 

1.    When calculating a reasonable time for compliance, the director shall consider the following criteria: 

a.    The type and degree of violation cited in the notice; 

b.    The stated intent, if any, of a responsible party to take steps to comply; 

c.    The procedural requirements for obtaining a permit to carry out corrective action; 

d.    The complexity of the corrective action, including seasonal considerations, construction 

requirements and the legal prerogatives of landlords and tenants; and 

e.    Any other circumstances beyond the control of the responsible party. 

2.    Unless a request for review before the director is made in accordance with Title I section titled 

“Protected critical area requirements”, the notice of violation shall become the final order of the director. 

A copy of the notice shall be filed with the Skagit County auditor. The director may choose not to file a 

copy of the notice or order if the notice or order is directed only to a responsible person other than the 

owner of the property. 

E.    Stop Work Order. Whenever a continuing violation of this code will materially impair the director’s ability to 

secure compliance with this code, or when the continuing violation threatens the health or safety of the public, 

the director may issue a stop work order specifying the violation and prohibiting any work or other activity at the 

site. A failure to comply with a stop work order shall constitute a violation of this land use code. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 184 of 248



F. Emergency Order. 

1. Whenever any use or activity in violation of this code threatens the health and safety of the 

occupants of the premises or any member of the public, the director may issue an emergency order 

directing that the use or activity be discontinued and the condition causing the threat to the public health 

and safety be corrected. The emergency order shall specify the time for compliance and shall be posted 

in a conspicuous place on the property, if posting is physically possible. A failure to comply with an 

emergency order shall constitute a violation of this land use code. 

2. Any condition described in the emergency order which is not corrected within the time specified is 

declared to be a public nuisance and the director is authorized to abate such nuisance summarily by 

such means as may be available. The cost of such abatement shall be recovered from the owner or 

person responsible or both in the manner provided by law. 

G. Review by the Director. 

1. Any person significantly affected by or interested in a notice of violation issued by the director 

pursuant to Title I section titled "Protected critical area requirements" may obtain a review of the notice 

by requesting such review within fifteen days after service of the notice. When the last day of the period 

so computed is a Saturday, Sunday or federal or city holiday, the period shall run until five p.m. on the 

next business day. The request shall be in writing, and upon receipt of the request, the director shall 

notify any persons served the notice of violation and the complainant, if any, of the date, time and place 

set for the review, which shall be not less than ten nor more than twenty days after the request is 

received, unless otherwise agreed by all persons served with the notice of violation. Before the date set 

for the review, any person significantly affected by or interested in the notice of violation may submit any 

written material to the director for consideration at the review. 

2. The review will consist of an informal review meeting held at the department. A representative of 

the director who is familiar with the case and the applicable ordinances will attend. The director's 

representative will explain the reasons for the director's issuance of the notice and will listen to any 

additional information presented by the persons attending. At or after the review, the director may: 

a. Sustain the notice of violation; 

b. Withdraw the notice of violation; 

c. Continue the review to a date certain for receipt of additional information; or 

d. Modify the notice of violation, which may include an extension of the compliance date. 

3. The director shall issue an order of the director containing the decision within seven days of the 

date of completion of the review and shall cause the same to be mailed by regular first class mail to the 

person or persons named on the notice of violation, mailed to the complainant, if possible, and filed with 

Skagit County auditor. 

59 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 185 of 248 

59 
 

F.    Emergency Order. 

1.    Whenever any use or activity in violation of this code threatens the health and safety of the 

occupants of the premises or any member of the public, the director may issue an emergency order 

directing that the use or activity be discontinued and the condition causing the threat to the public health 

and safety be corrected. The emergency order shall specify the time for compliance and shall be posted 

in a conspicuous place on the property, if posting is physically possible. A failure to comply with an 

emergency order shall constitute a violation of this land use code. 

2.    Any condition described in the emergency order which is not corrected within the time specified is 

declared to be a public nuisance and the director is authorized to abate such nuisance summarily by 

such means as may be available. The cost of such abatement shall be recovered from the owner or 

person responsible or both in the manner provided by law. 

G.    Review by the Director. 

1.    Any person significantly affected by or interested in a notice of violation issued by the director 

pursuant to Title I section titled “Protected critical area requirements” may obtain a review of the notice 

by requesting such review within fifteen days after service of the notice. When the last day of the period 

so computed is a Saturday, Sunday or federal or city holiday, the period shall run until five p.m. on the 

next business day. The request shall be in writing, and upon receipt of the request, the director shall 

notify any persons served the notice of violation and the complainant, if any, of the date, time and place 

set for the review, which shall be not less than ten nor more than twenty days after the request is 

received, unless otherwise agreed by all persons served with the notice of violation. Before the date set 

for the review, any person significantly affected by or interested in the notice of violation may submit any 

written material to the director for consideration at the review. 

2.    The review will consist of an informal review meeting held at the department. A representative of 

the director who is familiar with the case and the applicable ordinances will attend. The director’s 

representative will explain the reasons for the director’s issuance of the notice and will listen to any 

additional information presented by the persons attending. At or after the review, the director may: 

a.    Sustain the notice of violation; 

b.    Withdraw the notice of violation; 

c.    Continue the review to a date certain for receipt of additional information; or 

d.    Modify the notice of violation, which may include an extension of the compliance date. 

3.    The director shall issue an order of the director containing the decision within seven days of the 

date of completion of the review and shall cause the same to be mailed by regular first class mail to the 

person or persons named on the notice of violation, mailed to the complainant, if possible, and filed with 

Skagit County auditor. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 185 of 248



H. Extension of Compliance Date. 

1. The director may grant an extension of time for compliance with any notice or order, whether 

pending or final, upon the director's finding that substantial progress toward compliance has been made 

and that the public will not be adversely affected by the extension. 

2. An extension of time may be revoked by the director if it is shown that the conditions at the time the 

extension was granted have changed, the director determines that the conditions at the time the 

extension was granted have changed, the director determines that a party is not performing corrective 

actions as agreed, or if the extension creates an adverse effect on the public. The date of revocation 

shall then be considered as the compliance date. The procedures for revocation, notification of parties, 

and appeal of the revocation shall be established by rule. 

I. Civil Penalty. 

1. In addition to any other sanction or remedial procedure which may be available, any person 

violating or failing to comply with any of the provisions of this chapter shall be subject to a cumulative 

penalty in the amount of seventy-five dollars per day for each violation from the date set for compliance 

until the order is complied with. 

2. The penalty imposed by this section shall be collected by civil action brought in the name of the 

city. The director shall notify the city attorney in writing of the name of any person subject to the penalty, 

and the city attorney shall, with the assistance of the director, take appropriate action to collect the 

penalty. 

3. The violator may show as full or partial mitigation of liability: 

a. That the violation giving rise to the action was caused by the willful act, or neglect, or abuse of 

another; or 

b. That correction of the violation was commenced promptly upon receipt of the notice thereof, 

but that full compliance within the time specified was prevented by inability to gain access to the 

subject structure, or other condition or circumstance beyond the control of the defendant. 

J. Criminal Penalties. Any person violating or failing to comply with any of the provisions of this critical areas 

code, this chapter, shall be subject to criminal prosecution for a gross misdemeanor, and upon conviction of a 

subsequent violation shall be fined in a sum not exceeding five thousand dollars or be imprisoned in the city jail 

for a term not exceeding one year or be both fined and imprisoned. Each day of noncompliance with any of the 

provisions of this critical areas code shall constitute a separate offense. 

K. Additional Relief. The director may seek legal or equitable relief to enjoin any acts or practices and abate 

any condition which constitutes or will constitute a violation of this critical areas code when civil or criminal 

penalties are inadequate to effect compliance. 

60 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 186 of 248 

60 
 

H.    Extension of Compliance Date. 

1.    The director may grant an extension of time for compliance with any notice or order, whether 

pending or final, upon the director’s finding that substantial progress toward compliance has been made 

and that the public will not be adversely affected by the extension. 

2.    An extension of time may be revoked by the director if it is shown that the conditions at the time the 

extension was granted have changed, the director determines that the conditions at the time the 

extension was granted have changed, the director determines that a party is not performing corrective 

actions as agreed, or if the extension creates an adverse effect on the public. The date of revocation 

shall then be considered as the compliance date. The procedures for revocation, notification of parties, 

and appeal of the revocation shall be established by rule. 

I.    Civil Penalty. 

1.    In addition to any other sanction or remedial procedure which may be available, any person 

violating or failing to comply with any of the provisions of this chapter shall be subject to a cumulative 

penalty in the amount of seventy-five dollars per day for each violation from the date set for compliance 

until the order is complied with. 

2.    The penalty imposed by this section shall be collected by civil action brought in the name of the 

city. The director shall notify the city attorney in writing of the name of any person subject to the penalty, 

and the city attorney shall, with the assistance of the director, take appropriate action to collect the 

penalty. 

3.    The violator may show as full or partial mitigation of liability: 

a.    That the violation giving rise to the action was caused by the willful act, or neglect, or abuse of 

another; or 

b.    That correction of the violation was commenced promptly upon receipt of the notice thereof, 

but that full compliance within the time specified was prevented by inability to gain access to the 

subject structure, or other condition or circumstance beyond the control of the defendant. 

J.    Criminal Penalties. Any person violating or failing to comply with any of the provisions of this critical areas 

code, this chapter, shall be subject to criminal prosecution for a gross misdemeanor, and upon conviction of a 

subsequent violation shall be fined in a sum not exceeding five thousand dollars or be imprisoned in the city jail 

for a term not exceeding one year or be both fined and imprisoned. Each day of noncompliance with any of the 

provisions of this critical areas code shall constitute a separate offense. 

K.    Additional Relief. The director may seek legal or equitable relief to enjoin any acts or practices and abate 

any condition which constitutes or will constitute a violation of this critical areas code when civil or criminal 

penalties are inadequate to effect compliance. 

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 186 of 248



Attachment B to Council memo 

Planning Commission Findings of Fact, Conclusions and Recommendation 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 187 of 248 

 

Attachment B to Council memo 

 
Planning Commission Findings of Fact, Conclusions and Recommendation 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 187 of 248



CITY OF SEDRO-WOOLLEY PLANNING COMMISSION 
STATE OF WASHINGTON 

In the Matter of: 

AMENDMENTS TO THE SEDRO-
WOOLLEY SHORELINE MASTER 
PROGRAM FOLLOWING A 
PERIODIC REVIEW 

AMENDMENTS TO THE SEDRO-
WOOLLEY SHORELINE MASTER 

PROGRAM -
FINDINGS OF FACT, 
CONCLUSIONS AND 
RECOMMENDATION 

This matter having come regularly before the City of Sedro-Woolley Planning Commission 
for a public hearing on Tuesday, March 16, 2021 under a request by the Planning Director 
for a public hearing and recommendation from the Planning Commission pursuant to 
Chapter 2.90 Sedro-Woolley Municipal Code (SWMC). 

Recommendation: The Planning Commission recommends APPROVAL of 
amendments to the Sedro-Woolley Shoreline Master Program as 
shown in Exhibits A and B of these Findings of Fact, 
Conclusions and Recommendation. 

Hearing Date: March 16, 2021 

Proponent: City of Sedro-Woolley 

Description of proposal 

The Washington State Shoreline Management Act (SMA) was enacted for the purpose of 
comprehensively managing and protecting the state's shorelines. The SMA (Chapters 90.58 
RCW and 173-26 WAC) emphasizes accommodation of appropriate uses that require a 
shoreline location, protection of shoreline environmental resources and protection of the 
public's right to access and use the shorelines. The primary responsibility for administering 
the SMA is assigned to local governments through the mechanism of local shoreline master 
programs, adopted under guidelines established by Department of Ecology (Ecology). 

Under the SMA, each city and county with shorelines of the state must prepare and adopt a 
Shoreline Master Program (SMP) that is based on state laws and rules but is tailored to the 
specific geographic, economic and environmental needs of the community The SMP is 
essentially a combined comprehensive plan, zoning ordinance, and development permit 
system for shoreline-specific uses. The Skagit River is a shoreline of the state; therefore the 

Findings of Fact, Conclusions and Recommendation 
SMP Periodic Review Page 1 of 4 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 188 of 248 

 

Findings of Fact, Conclusions and Recommendation 

SMP Periodic Review    Page 1 of 4 

  
CITY OF SEDRO-WOOLLEY PLANNING COMMISSION 

STATE OF WASHINGTON 

 

 

 

In the Matter of:  

 

AMENDMENTS TO THE SEDRO-

WOOLLEY SHORELINE MASTER 

PROGRAM FOLLOWING A 

PERIODIC REVIEW  

 

 

AMENDMENTS TO THE SEDRO-

WOOLLEY SHORELINE MASTER 

PROGRAM – 

FINDINGS OF FACT, 

CONCLUSIONS AND 

RECOMMENDATION 
 

 

 

This matter having come regularly before the City of Sedro-Woolley Planning Commission 

for a public hearing on Tuesday, March 16, 2021 under a request by the Planning Director 

for a public hearing and recommendation from the Planning Commission pursuant to 

Chapter 2.90 Sedro-Woolley Municipal Code (SWMC).  

 

           

Description of proposal 

 

The Washington State Shoreline Management Act (SMA) was enacted for the purpose of 

comprehensively managing and protecting the state’s shorelines. The SMA (Chapters 90.58 

RCW and 173-26 WAC) emphasizes accommodation of appropriate uses that require a 

shoreline location, protection of shoreline environmental resources and protection of the 

public's right to access and use the shorelines. The primary responsibility for administering 

the SMA is assigned to local governments through the mechanism of local shoreline master 

programs, adopted under guidelines established by Department of Ecology (Ecology).  

 

Under the SMA, each city and county with shorelines of the state must prepare and adopt a 

Shoreline Master Program (SMP) that is based on state laws and rules but is tailored to the 

specific geographic, economic and environmental needs of the community. The SMP is 

essentially a combined comprehensive plan, zoning ordinance, and development permit 

system for shoreline-specific uses. The Skagit River is a shoreline of the state; therefore the 

Recommendation:      

 

The Planning Commission recommends APPROVAL of 

amendments to the Sedro-Woolley Shoreline Master Program as 

shown in Exhibits A and B of these Findings of Fact, 

Conclusions and Recommendation. 

 

Hearing Date:   

 

March 16, 2021 

Proponent: City of Sedro-Woolley  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 188 of 248



City must have a SMP for the lands adjacent to the Skagit. The SMA requires each city and 
county to periodically review, and, if necessary, revise their SMP. The state legislature set a 
staggered schedule that alternates with similar reviews under the Growth Management Act. 
Cities located in Skagit County are required to complete a periodic review in 2020, but 
Ecology has extended that deadline to 2021. The City of Sedro-Woolley has obtained a grant 
from the Department of Ecology for the periodic review. Per the grant agreement, the 
periodic review must be complete by June 30, 2021. 

Sedro-Woolley last adopted SMP documents in 2016 and is now finishing the Shoreline 
Master Program update process in accordance with State rules and guidelines for periodic 
review for 2021. There are few changes for the Shoreline Master Plan update. Changes 
include updates to bring the SMP into compliance with changes to the RCW and the WAC, 
reformatting, and updating any information presented in the SMP that is outdated or no 
longer relevant. 

The proposed amendments to the adopted SMP can be seen in Exhibit A. The amendments 
to Appendix C - Shoreline Critical Area Regulations can be seen in Exhibit B. A 
comprehensive review checklist provided by the Department of Ecology that describes the 
review requirements and considerations can be seen in Exhibit C. A brief summary of the 
updates can be seen below: 

Adopted Sedro-Woolley Shoreline Master Program 
Amendments to the adopted Shoreline Master program include updates for cost thresholds 
and minor adjustments to language consistent with Ecology example language. There are no 
substantial changes to this document as part of the 2021 periodic review process. 

Shoreline Critical Area Regulations — Appendix C to SMP 
The Shoreline Critical Area Regulations have been updated with new wetland buffer tables 
and minor language changes that provide more clarity consistent with Dept. of Ecology 
example language and guidance. The amendments to this document will result in increased 
wetland buffer requirements that are based on the impact of adjacent land uses. The two 
requirements are described in two corresponding tables. Changes to this document also 
include clarified requirements for a 25% reduction in wetland buffer widths. The 
clarifications specify that a report by a qualified professional will be required to demonstrate 
that the functions and values of the wetland are not decreased with a 25% buffer reduction. 
The changes can be seen on pages 29-31 of Appendix C to the SMP. 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

1. Per SWMC 2.90.070(G), this action, which requires changes to the City development 
regulations and underwent Planning Commission review, is processed as a Type VI 
action. 

2. The City of Sedro-Woolley has conducted a periodic review of the adopted SMP in 
accordance with state law. 

Findings of Fact, Conclusions and Recommendation 
SMP Periodic Review Page 2 of 4 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 189 of 248 

 

Findings of Fact, Conclusions and Recommendation 

SMP Periodic Review    Page 2 of 4 

City must have a SMP for the lands adjacent to the Skagit. The SMA requires each city and 

county to periodically review, and, if necessary, revise their SMP. The state legislature set a 

staggered schedule that alternates with similar reviews under the Growth Management Act. 

Cities located in Skagit County are required to complete a periodic review in 2020, but 

Ecology has extended that deadline to 2021. The City of Sedro-Woolley has obtained a grant 

from the Department of Ecology for the periodic review. Per the grant agreement, the 

periodic review must be complete by June 30, 2021.  

 

Sedro-Woolley last adopted SMP documents in 2016 and is now finishing the Shoreline 

Master Program update process in accordance with State rules and guidelines for periodic 

review for 2021. There are few changes for the Shoreline Master Plan update. Changes 

include updates to bring the SMP into compliance with changes to the RCW and the WAC, 

reformatting, and updating any information presented in the SMP that is outdated or no 

longer relevant. 

 

The proposed amendments to the adopted SMP can be seen in Exhibit A. The amendments 

to Appendix C - Shoreline Critical Area Regulations can be seen in Exhibit B. A 

comprehensive review checklist provided by the Department of Ecology that describes the 

review requirements and considerations can be seen in Exhibit C. A brief summary of the 

updates can be seen below:  

 

Adopted Sedro-Woolley Shoreline Master Program  

Amendments to the adopted Shoreline Master program include updates for cost thresholds 

and minor adjustments to language consistent with Ecology example language. There are no 

substantial changes to this document as part of the 2021 periodic review process.  

 

Shoreline Critical Area Regulations – Appendix C to SMP 

The Shoreline Critical Area Regulations have been updated with new wetland buffer tables 

and minor language changes that provide more clarity consistent with Dept. of Ecology 

example language and guidance. The amendments to this document will result in increased 

wetland buffer requirements that are based on the impact of adjacent land uses. The two 

requirements are described in two corresponding tables. Changes to this document also 

include clarified requirements for a 25% reduction in wetland buffer widths. The 

clarifications specify that a report by a qualified professional will be required to demonstrate 

that the functions and values of the wetland are not decreased with a 25% buffer reduction. 

The changes can be seen on pages 29-31 of Appendix C to the SMP. 

 

FINDINGS OF FACT 
 

1. Per SWMC 2.90.070(G), this action, which requires changes to the City development 

regulations and underwent Planning Commission review, is processed as a Type VI 

action. 

 

2. The City of Sedro-Woolley has conducted a periodic review of the adopted SMP in 

accordance with state law.  

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 189 of 248



3. The Planning Commission reviewed the proposed SMP updates to address updated 
information and Department of Ecology recommendations at their January 19, February 
16, and March 16, 2021 meetings. 

4. The proposed updates include updates to bring the SMP into compliance with changes to 
the RCW and the WAC, reformatting, and updating any information presented in the 
SMP that is outdated or no longer relevant. 

5. Because public participation is an important part of the SMP periodic review process, a 
public participation plan was prepared and followed. The public participation plan and 
proposed updates were posted on the city website and a comment period was advertised. 

6. Notices of the February 16 and March 16, 2021 public hearings and comment period 
were published in the Skagit Valley Herald on February 2 and March 2, 2021. 

7. The comment period was from February 2 to March 16, 2021. 

8. One written comment was received by the Planning Department. The comment is from 
the Washington State Department of Transportation (WSDOT) and informed of a 
WSDOT exemption that was not included in the Sedro-Woolley SMP. The exemption is 
not required to be included, the comment serves as courtesy information. 

9. On February 16 and March 16, 2021, the Planning Commission held open record public 
hearings to receive testimony from City Staff and the public. No members of the public 
commented on the proposed amendments. 

10. At the March 16, 2021 hearing, the Planning Commission reviewed the proposed 
amendments to the Sedro-Woolley SMP and made a motion to recommend that the City 
Council approve the proposed amendments. The motion carried. 

11. The Planning Commission's recommended amendments are found in Exhibits A and B. 

12. In accordance with State Growth Management Act (GMA), the proposed new text was 
submitted to the Washington State Department of Commerce (COMM) for a 60-day 
review on March 11, 2021. COMM had no comments on the proposed amendments. 

13. State Environmental Policy Act (SEPA) review was conducted and a determination of 
non-significance (DNS) was issued by the lead agency on March 31 2021. 

CONCLUSIONS 

The Planning Commission, having reviewed the Planning Department Transmittal and 
Report Memorandum and hearing public testimony, makes the following conclusions: 

1. Adoption of the proposed amendments to the Sedro-Woolley SMP complies with the 
State GMA, has been approved by the State Department of Commerce, has completed 

Findings of Fact, Conclusions and Recommendation 
SMP Periodic Review Page 3 of 4 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 190 of 248 

 

Findings of Fact, Conclusions and Recommendation 

SMP Periodic Review    Page 3 of 4 

3. The Planning Commission reviewed the proposed SMP updates to address updated 

information and Department of Ecology recommendations at their January 19, February 

16, and March 16, 2021 meetings.  

 

4. The proposed updates include updates to bring the SMP into compliance with changes to 

the RCW and the WAC, reformatting, and updating any information presented in the 

SMP that is outdated or no longer relevant. 

 

5. Because public participation is an important part of the SMP periodic review process, a 

public participation plan was prepared and followed. The public participation plan and 

proposed updates were posted on the city website and a comment period was advertised.  

 

6. Notices of the February 16 and March 16, 2021 public hearings and comment period 

were published in the Skagit Valley Herald on February 2 and March 2, 2021. 

 

7. The comment period was from February 2 to March 16, 2021.  

 

8. One written comment was received by the Planning Department. The comment is from 

the Washington State Department of Transportation (WSDOT) and informed of a 

WSDOT exemption that was not included in the Sedro-Woolley SMP. The exemption is 

not required to be included, the comment serves as courtesy information.  

 

9. On February 16 and March 16, 2021, the Planning Commission held open record public 

hearings to receive testimony from City Staff and the public. No members of the public 

commented on the proposed amendments. 

 

10. At the March 16, 2021 hearing, the Planning Commission reviewed the proposed 

amendments to the Sedro-Woolley SMP and made a motion to recommend that the City 

Council approve the proposed amendments. The motion carried. 

 

11. The Planning Commission’s recommended amendments are found in Exhibits A and B. 

 

12. In accordance with State Growth Management Act (GMA), the proposed new text was 

submitted to the Washington State Department of Commerce (COMM) for a 60-day 

review on March 11, 2021. COMM had no comments on the proposed amendments. 

 

13. State Environmental Policy Act (SEPA) review was conducted and a determination of 

non-significance (DNS) was issued by the lead agency on March 31 2021.  

 

 

CONCLUSIONS 

 

The Planning Commission, having reviewed the Planning Department Transmittal and 

Report Memorandum and hearing public testimony, makes the following conclusions: 

 

1. Adoption of the proposed amendments to the Sedro-Woolley SMP complies with the 

State GMA, has been approved by the State Department of Commerce, has completed 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 190 of 248



the necessary SEPA review process and has been adequately vetted through the public 
review process; and 

2. Adoption of the proposed amendments to Sedro-Woolley SMP is in conformance with 
the goals and policies of the Sedro-Woolley Comprehensive Plan. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Based upon the foregoing, the Planning Commission recommends approval of amendments 
to the Sedro-Woolley Shoreline Master Program and Shoreline Critical Area Regulations, 
found herein as Exhibits A and B. 

EXHIBITS 

Exhibit A: Recommended amendments to the Sedro-Woolley SMP 
Exhibit B: Recommended amendments to Shoreline Critical Area Regulations — Appendix 
C to SMP 
Exhibit C: Periodic Review Checklist 
Exhibit D: Notice of public hearing for February 16, 2021 
Exhibit E: Notice of public hearing for March 16, 2021 

CERTIFICATION 

The City of Sedro-Woolley Planning Commission hereby recommends to the City Council 
APPROVAL of amendments to the Sedro-Woolley Shoreline Master Program and 
Shoreline Critical Area Regulations following a periodic review, at a REGULAR meeting 
of the City of Sedro-Woolley Planning Commission held on Tuesday, March 16, 2021  at 
which time a quorum was present and the decision was for approval by a vote of 7 FOR, 

0 AGAINST and  0  ABSTENTIONS. 

(77/97 S,20 / 
Joe Fattizzi, Planning Commission Chair Date 

Findings of Fact, Conclusions and Recommendation 
SMP Periodic Review Page 4 of 4 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 191 of 248 

the necessary SEPA review process and has been adequately vetted through the public 
review process; and 

2. Adoption of the proposed amendments to Sedro-Woolley SMP is in conformance with 
the goals and policies of the Sedro-Woolley Comprehensive Plan. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Based upon the foregoing, the Planning Commission recommends approval of amendments 
to the Sedro-Woolley Shoreline Master Program and Shoreline Critical Area Regulations, 
found herein as Exhibits A and B. 

EXHIBITS 

Exhibit A: Recommended amendments to the Sedro-Woolley SMP 
Exhibit B: Recommended amendments to Shoreline Critical Area Regulations — Appendix 
C to SMP 
Exhibit C: Periodic Review Checklist 
Exhibit D: Notice of public hearing for February 16, 2021 
Exhibit E: Notice of public hearing for March 16, 2021 

CERTIFICATION 

The City of Sedro-Woolley Planning Commission hereby recommends to the City Council 
APPROVAL of amendments to the Sedro-Woolley Shoreline Master Program and 
Shoreline Critical Area Regulations following a periodic review, at a REGULAR meeting 
of the City of Sedro-Woolley Planning Commission held on Tuesday, March 16, 2021  at 
which time a quorum was present and the decision was for approval by a vote of 7 FOR, 

0 AGAINST and  0  ABSTENTIONS. 

(77/97 S,20 / 
Joe Fattizzi, Planning Commission Chair Date 

Findings of Fact, Conclusions and Recommendation 
SMP Periodic Review Page 4 of 4 

the necessary SEPA review process and has been adequately vetted through the public 
review process; and 

2. Adoption of the proposed amendments to Sedro-Woolley SMP is in conformance with 
the goals and policies of the Sedro-Woolley Comprehensive Plan. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Based upon the foregoing, the Planning Commission recommends approval of amendments 
to the Sedro-Woolley Shoreline Master Program and Shoreline Critical Area Regulations, 
found herein as Exhibits A and B. 

EXHIBITS 

Exhibit A: Recommended amendments to the Sedro-Woolley SMP 
Exhibit B: Recommended amendments to Shoreline Critical Area Regulations — Appendix 
C to SMP 
Exhibit C: Periodic Review Checklist 
Exhibit D: Notice of public hearing for February 16, 2021 
Exhibit E: Notice of public hearing for March 16, 2021 

CERTIFICATION 

The City of Sedro-Woolley Planning Commission hereby recommends to the City Council 
APPROVAL of amendments to the Sedro-Woolley Shoreline Master Program and 
Shoreline Critical Area Regulations following a periodic review, at a REGULAR meeting 
of the City of Sedro-Woolley Planning Commission held on Tuesday, March 16, 2021  at 
which time a quorum was present and the decision was for approval by a vote of 7 FOR, 

0 AGAINST and  0  ABSTENTIONS. 

(77/97 S,20 / 
Joe Fattizzi, Planning Commission Chair Date 

Findings of Fact, Conclusions and Recommendation 
SMP Periodic Review Page 4 of 4 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 191 of 248

jcoleman
Text Box
See Exhibit 1 to SMP Ordinance

jcoleman
Text Box
See Exhibit 1 to SMP Ordinance



DEPARTMENT OF 

ECOLOGY 
uliM I State of Washington 

SHORELINE MASTER PROGRAM PERIODIC REVIEW 

Periodic Review Checklist 

This document is intended for use by counties, cities and towns subject to the Shoreline 
Management Act (SMA) to conduct the "periodic review" of their Shoreline Master Programs 
(SMPs). This review is intended to keep SMPs current with amendments to state laws or rules, 
changes to local plans and regulations, and changes to address local circumstances, new 
information or improved data. The review is required under the SMA at RCW 90.58.080(4). 
Ecology's rule outlining procedures for conducting these reviews is at WAC 173-26-090. 

This checklist summarizes amendments to state law, rules and applicable updated guidance 
adopted between 2007 and 2019 that may trigger the need for local SMP amendments during 
periodic reviews. 

How to use this checklist 
See the associated Periodic Review Checklist Guidance for a description of each item, relevant 
links, review considerations, and example language. 

At the beginning of the periodic review, use the review column to document review 
considerations and determine if local amendments are needed to maintain compliance. See 
WAC 173-26-090(3)(b)(i). 

Ecology recommends reviewing all items on the checklist. Some items on the checklist prior to 
the local SMP adoption may be relevant. 

At the end of your review process, use the checklist as a final summary identifying your final 
action, indicating where the SMP addresses applicable amended laws, or indicate where no 
action is needed. See WAC 173-26-090(3)(d)(ii)(D), and WAC 173-26-110(9)(b). 

Local governments should coordinate with their assigned Ecology regional planner for more 
information on how to use this checklist and conduct the periodic review. 

Shoreline Master Program Periodic Review Checklist 1 
July 2019 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 192 of 248 

DEPARTMENT OF 

ECOLOGY 
°V 1 State of Washington 

DEPARTMENT OF 

ECOLOGY 
°V 1 State of Washington  

 

Shoreline Master Program Periodic Review Checklist    1 
July 2019 
 

SHORELINE MASTER PROGRAM PERIODIC REVIEW 

Periodic Review Checklist  

This document is intended for use by counties, cities and towns subject to the Shoreline 

Management Act (SMA) to conduct the “periodic review” of their Shoreline Master Programs 

(SMPs). This review is intended to keep SMPs current with amendments to state laws or rules, 

changes to local plans and regulations, and changes to address local circumstances, new 

information or improved data. The review is required under the SMA at RCW 90.58.080(4). 

Ecology’s rule outlining procedures for conducting these reviews is at WAC 173-26-090. 

This checklist summarizes amendments to state law, rules and applicable updated guidance 

adopted between 2007 and 2019 that may trigger the need for local SMP amendments during 

periodic reviews.  

How to use this checklist 

See the associated Periodic Review Checklist Guidance for a description of each item, relevant 

links, review considerations, and example language.  

At the beginning of the periodic review, use the review column to document review 

considerations and determine if local amendments are needed to maintain compliance. See 

WAC 173-26-090(3)(b)(i). 

Ecology recommends reviewing all items on the checklist. Some items on the checklist prior to 

the local SMP adoption may be relevant. 

At the end of your review process, use the checklist as a final summary identifying your final 

action, indicating where the SMP addresses applicable amended laws, or indicate where no 

action is needed. See WAC 173-26-090(3)(d)(ii)(D), and WAC 173-26-110(9)(b). 

Local governments should coordinate with their assigned Ecology regional planner for more 

information on how to use this checklist and conduct the periodic review. 

 

  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 192 of 248

http://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=90.58.080
http://apps.leg.wa.gov/wac/default.aspx?cite=173-26-090
https://ecology.wa.gov/Water-Shorelines/Shoreline-coastal-management/Shoreline-coastal-planning/Contacts
jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit C To Planning Commission Findings, of Fact, Conclusions and Recommendation



DEPARTMENT OF 

ECOLOGY 
uliM I State of Washington 

Prepared By Jurisdiction Date 
Katherine Weir City of Sedro-Woolley February 10, 

2021 

Row I Summary of change Review Action 

2019 
a. 

b. 

c. 

OFM adjusted the cost threshold 
for building freshwater docks 

The Legislature removed the 
requirement for a shoreline 
permit for disposal of dredged 
materials at Dredged Material 
Management Program sites 
(applies to 9 jurisdictions) 
The Legislature added restoring 
native kelp, eelgrass beds and 
native oysters as fish habitat 
enhancement projects. 

Needs update, old plan has 
old cost thresholds. 

i New cost threshold and 
language added consistent 
with Ecology example 
language. 

Not applicable, no open water N/A 
disposal sites managed by 
DMMP within the city. 

Not applicable, the 2013 SMP 
does not include a full list of 
habitat enhancement types. 

N/A 

2017 
a. OFM adjusted the cost threshold 2013 SMP includes reference 

for substantial development to to previous $6,416 cost 
$7,047. threshold. 

Definition of Substantial 
Development amending cost 
threshold to new inflation 
adjusted amount of $7,047. 
N/A b. Ecology permit rules clarified the 

definition of "development" 
does not include dismantling or 
removing structures. 

c. Ecology adopted rules clarifying 
exceptions to local review under 
the SMA. 

d. Ecology amended rules clarifying 
permit filing procedures 
consistent with a 2011 statute. 

e. Ecology amended forestry use 
regulations to clarify that forest 
practices that only involves 
timber cutting are not SMA 
"developments" and do not 
require SDPs. 

No need for revisions, the city 
does not feel that the 
clarification is necessary. 

No need for revisions, the city 
does not feel that the 
clarification is necessary. 
2013 SMP describes "Date of 
receipt" under Section B. 
Shoreline Substantial 
Development Permits.  

' Not applicable. No commercial 
forestry in City. 

Shoreline Master Program Periodic Review Checklist 
July 2019 

N/A 

Change "date of receipt" to 
"date of filing" under Section 
B. Shoreline Substantial 
Development Permits 
N/A 

2 

;edro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 193 of 248 

DEPARTMENT OF 

ECOLOGY 
°V 1 State of Washington 

DEPARTMENT OF 

ECOLOGY 
°V 1 State of Washington  

 

Shoreline Master Program Periodic Review Checklist    2 
July 2019 
 

Prepared By Jurisdiction Date 

Katherine Weir City of Sedro-Woolley February 10, 
2021  

Row Summary of change Review Action 

2019 
a.  OFM adjusted the cost threshold 

for building freshwater docks  
 

Needs update, old plan has 
old cost thresholds.  

New cost threshold and 
language added consistent 
with Ecology example 
language.  
 

b.  The Legislature removed the 
requirement for a shoreline 
permit for disposal of dredged 
materials at Dredged Material 
Management Program sites 
(applies to 9 jurisdictions) 

Not applicable, no open water 
disposal sites managed by 
DMMP within the city.  

N/A   

c.  The Legislature added restoring 
native kelp, eelgrass beds and 
native oysters as fish habitat 
enhancement projects. 

Not applicable, the 2013 SMP 
does not include a full list of 
habitat enhancement types.  

N/A 

2017 
a.  OFM adjusted the cost threshold 

for substantial development to 
$7,047. 

2013 SMP includes reference 
to previous $6,416 cost 
threshold. 

Definition of Substantial 
Development amending cost 
threshold to new inflation 
adjusted amount of $7,047. 

b.  Ecology permit rules clarified the 
definition of “development” 
does not include dismantling or 
removing structures. 

No need for revisions, the city 
does not feel that the 
clarification is necessary.   

N/A  

c.  Ecology adopted rules clarifying 
exceptions to local review under 
the SMA. 

No need for revisions, the city 
does not feel that the 
clarification is necessary.   

N/A 

d.  Ecology amended rules clarifying 
permit filing procedures 
consistent with a 2011 statute. 

2013 SMP describes “Date of 
receipt” under Section B. 
Shoreline Substantial 
Development Permits.   

Change “date of receipt” to 
“date of filing” under Section 
B. Shoreline Substantial 
Development Permits 

e.  
 

Ecology amended forestry use 
regulations to clarify that forest 
practices that only involves 
timber cutting are not SMA 
“developments” and do not 
require SDPs.  

Not applicable. No commercial 
forestry in City.  

N/A 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 193 of 248



DEPARTMENT OF 

ECOLOGY 
State of Washington 

Row Summary of change Review Action 
f. 

g. 

h. 

i. 

J. 

Ecology clarified the SMA does 
not apply to lands under 
exclusive federal jurisdiction 
Ecology clarified "default" 
provisions for nonconforming 
uses and development. 

Ecology adopted rule 
amendments to clarify the scope 
and process for conducting 
periodic reviews. 
Ecology adopted a new rule 
creating an optional SMP 
amendment process that allows 
for a shared local/state public 
comment period. 
Submittal to Ecology of proposed 
SMP amendments. 

Not applicable. No lands with 
exclusive federal jurisdiction 
in city limits. 
2013 SMP includes tailored 
nonconforming use and 
development provisions. 

The 2013 SMP does not 
include a description of 
periodic review procedures so 

i no update necessary. 
The city will not obt for the 
optional SMP amendment 
process. 

The 2013 SMP does not 
inlcude a description of the 
SMP submittal process. 

N/A 

No amendments needed. City 
will retain existing 
nonconforming use and 
development provisions 
N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

2016 
a. The Legislature created a new 

shoreline permit exemption for 
retrofitting existing structure to 
comply with the Americans with 
Disabilities  Act. 
Ecology updated wetlands 
critical areas guidance including 
implementation guidance for the 
2014 wetlands rating system. 

i 

The 2013 SMP does not spell 
out all the statutory 
exemptions, sp there is no 
need to add the new 
exemption. 

N/A 

Dept. of Ecology has advised 
that the wetland buffer 
requirements, as well as other 
minor clarifications are 
necessary for Apendix C, 
Shoreline Critical Area 
Regulations. 

Added wetland buffer tables 
and clarification consistent 
with Ecology example 
documents. 

2015 
a. 

—,—
The Legislature adopted a 90-day Not nessesary for for the city's 
target for local review of SMP. 
Washington State Department of 
Transportation (WSDOT) 
projects. 

N/A 

2014 
a. The Legislature created a new 

definition and policy for floating 
on-water residences legally 
established before 7/1/2014. 

The city has no existing 
floating on-water residences. 

Shoreline Master Program Periodic Review Checklist 
July 2019 

N/A 

3 

;edro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 194 of 248 

DEPARTMENT OF 

ECOLOGY 
°V 1 State of Washington 

DEPARTMENT OF 

ECOLOGY 
°V 1 State of Washington  

 

Shoreline Master Program Periodic Review Checklist    3 
July 2019 
 

Row Summary of change Review Action 

f.  Ecology clarified the SMA does 
not apply to lands under 
exclusive federal jurisdiction 

Not applicable. No lands with 
exclusive federal jurisdiction 
in city limits. 

N/A 

g.  
 

Ecology clarified “default” 
provisions for nonconforming 
uses and development.  

2013 SMP includes tailored 
nonconforming use and 
development provisions. 

No amendments needed. City 
will retain existing 
nonconforming use and 
development provisions 

h.  Ecology adopted rule 
amendments to clarify the scope 
and process for conducting 
periodic reviews.  

The 2013 SMP does not 
include a description of 
periodic review procedures so 
no update necessary.  

N/A  

i.  Ecology adopted a new rule 
creating an optional SMP 
amendment process that allows 
for a shared local/state public 
comment period.  

The city will not obt for the 
optional SMP amendment 
process.  

N/A  

j.  Submittal to Ecology of proposed 
SMP amendments. 

The 2013 SMP does not 
inlcude a description of the 
SMP submittal process. 

N/A 

2016 
a.  

 
The Legislature created a new 
shoreline permit exemption for 
retrofitting existing structure to 
comply with the Americans with 
Disabilities Act. 

The 2013 SMP does not spell 
out all the statutory 
exemptions, sp there is no 
need to add the new 
exemption.  

N/A 

b.  Ecology updated wetlands 
critical areas guidance including 
implementation guidance for the 
2014 wetlands rating system. 

Dept. of Ecology has advised 
that the wetland buffer 
requirements, as well as other 
minor clarifications are 
necessary for Apendix C, 
Shoreline Critical Area 
Regulations.  

Added wetland buffer tables 
and clarification consistent 
with Ecology example 
documents.    

2015 
a.  The Legislature adopted a 90-day 

target for local review of 
Washington State Department of 
Transportation (WSDOT) 
projects.  

Not nessesary for for the city’s 
SMP.  

N/A 

2014 
a.  The Legislature created a new 

definition and policy for floating 
on-water residences legally 
established before 7/1/2014. 

The city has no existing 
floating on-water residences.   

N/A 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 194 of 248



DEPARTMENT OF 

ECOLOGY 
uliM I State of Washington 

Row Summary of change j Review Action 

2012 
a. The Legislature amended the 

SMA to clarify SMP appeal 
procedures. 

SMP does not clarify SMP 
appeal process. City will rely 
on state laws and rules. 

N/A 

2011 
a. Ecology adopted a rule requiring 

that wetlands be delineated in 
accordance with the approved 
federal wetland delineation 
manual. 

Incorporated into 2013 SMP. N/A. Addressed during 
comprehensive update 

c. 

Ecology adopted rules for new 
commercial geoduck 
aquaculture. 

No marine shorelines in city. 

The Legislature created a new 
definition and policy for floating 
homes permitted or legally 
established prior to January 1, 
2011. 

No action. 

No floating homes in city. No action. 

d. The Legislature authorizing a new 
option to classify existing 
structures as conforming. 

2010 
a. The Legislature adopted Growth 

Management Act — Shoreline 
Management Act clarifications. 

2009 
a. The Legislature created new 

"relief" procedures for instances 
in which a shoreline restoration 
project within a UGA creates a 
shift in Ordinary High Water 
Mark. 

b. Ecology adopted a rule for 
certifying wetland mitigation 
banks. 

Incorporated into 2013 SMP. 

Incorporated into 2013 SMP. 

Not incorporated into 2013 
SMP. 

Incorporated into 2013 SMP 

c. The Legislature added moratoria 
authority and procedures to the 
SMA. 

Not incorporated into 2013 
SMP. City will rely on state 
laws and rules. 

N/A. Addressed during 
comprehensive update 

N/A. Addressed during 
comprehensive update 

N/A 

N/A. Addressed during 
comprehensive update 

N/A 

2007 
a. The Legislature clarified options 

for defining "floodway" as either 
i the area that has been 

Incorporated into 2013 SMP 

Shoreline Master Program Periodic Review Checklist 
July 2019 

N/A. Addressed during 
comprehensive update 

4 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 195 of 248 

DEPARTMENT OF 

ECOLOGY 
°V 1 State of Washington 

DEPARTMENT OF 

ECOLOGY 
°V 1 State of Washington  

 

Shoreline Master Program Periodic Review Checklist    4 
July 2019 
 

Row Summary of change Review Action 

2012 
a.  The Legislature amended the 

SMA to clarify SMP appeal 
procedures.  

SMP does not clarify SMP 
appeal process. City will rely 
on state laws and rules. 

N/A 

2011 
a.  Ecology adopted a rule requiring 

that wetlands be delineated in 
accordance with the approved 
federal wetland delineation 
manual. 

Incorporated into 2013 SMP. N/A. Addressed during 
comprehensive update 

b.  Ecology adopted rules for new 
commercial geoduck 
aquaculture. 

No marine shorelines in city. No action. 

c.  The Legislature created a new 
definition and policy for floating 
homes permitted or legally 
established prior to January 1, 
2011. 

No floating homes in city. No action.  

d.  The Legislature authorizing a new 
option to classify existing 
structures as conforming. 

Incorporated into 2013 SMP. N/A. Addressed during 
comprehensive update 

2010 
a.  The Legislature adopted Growth 

Management Act – Shoreline 
Management Act clarifications. 

Incorporated into 2013 SMP. N/A. Addressed during 
comprehensive update 

2009 
a.  

 
The Legislature created new 
“relief” procedures for instances 
in which a shoreline restoration 
project within a UGA creates a 
shift in Ordinary High Water 
Mark.  

Not incorporated into 2013 
SMP. 

N/A 

b.  Ecology adopted a rule for 
certifying wetland mitigation 
banks.  

Incorporated into 2013 SMP N/A. Addressed during 
comprehensive update 

c.  The Legislature added moratoria 
authority and procedures to the 
SMA. 

Not incorporated into 2013 
SMP. City will rely on state 
laws and rules. 

N/A 

2007 
a.  

 
 

The Legislature clarified options 
for defining "floodway" as either 
the area that has been 

Incorporated into 2013 SMP N/A. Addressed during 
comprehensive update 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 195 of 248



DEPARTMENT OF 

ECOLOGY 
State of Washington 

Row 

b. 

c. 

Summary of change 
established in FEMA maps, or the 
floodway criteria set in the SMA. 

Review 

Ecology amended rules to clarify 
that comprehensively updated 
SMPs shall include a list and map 
of streams and lakes that are in 
shoreline jurisdiction. 
Ecology's rule listing statutory 
exemptions from the 
requirement for an SDP was 
amended to include fish habitat 
enhancement projects that 
conform to the provisions of 
RCW 77.55.181. 

No new streams or lakes 
identified since the 
comprehensive update. 

Incorporated into 2014 SMP 

Action 

N/A 

N/A. Addressed during 
comprehensive update 

Additional amendments 

Modify this section, as needed, to reflect additional review issues and related amendments. 

The summary of change could be about Comprehensive Plan and Development regulations, 

changes to local circumstance, new information, or improved data. 

Two example formats: 

SMP section Summary of change Review Action 

SMP Section Summary of change Discussion 

Shoreline Master Program Periodic Review Checklist 5 
July 2019 

;edro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 196 of 248 

DEPARTMENT OF _
a ECOLOGY 
°V 1 State of Washington 

DEPARTMENT OF _
a ECOLOGY 
°V 1 State of Washington  

 

Shoreline Master Program Periodic Review Checklist    5 
July 2019 
 

Row Summary of change Review Action 

established in FEMA maps, or the 
floodway criteria set in the SMA. 

b.  Ecology amended rules to clarify 
that comprehensively updated 
SMPs shall include a list and map 
of streams and lakes that are in 
shoreline jurisdiction.  

No new streams or lakes 
identified since the 
comprehensive update.   

N/A 

c.  Ecology’s rule listing statutory 
exemptions from the 
requirement for an SDP was 
amended to include fish habitat 
enhancement projects that 
conform to the provisions of 
RCW 77.55.181. 

Incorporated into 2014 SMP N/A. Addressed during 
comprehensive update 

 

Additional amendments 

Modify this section, as needed, to reflect additional review issues and related amendments. 

The summary of change could be about Comprehensive Plan and Development regulations, 

changes to local circumstance, new information, or improved data. 

 

Two example formats: 

SMP section Summary of change Review Action 

    

    

    

 

 

SMP Section Summary of change Discussion 

   

   

   

 

 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 196 of 248



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
CITY OF SEDRO-WOOLLEY 

Shoreline Master Program Periodic Review 
Virtual Online Meeting via Zoom Webinar 

The City of Sedro-Woolley Planning Commission will hold a public hearing on 
February 16, 2021 at 6:30 PM, via Zoom Webinar, to hear testimony regarding 
proposed updates to the Shoreline Master Program (SMP). The City of Sedro-Woolley is 
conducting a periodic review of the SMP under RCW 90.58.080(4). Proposed updates to 
the SMP include minor changes to keep the SMP current with changes in state law. There 
will be additional opportunities for public comments and participation. For more 
information about the SMP periodic review process, please visit the SMP page at 
https://www.ci.sedro-woolley.wa.us/departments/planning/shoreline master_plan.php 

Interested parties can comment on the proposed changes in writing or at the hearing. 
Written comments must be received by 4:30 PM, February 16, 2021 to be considered 
at this public hearing, however the City of Sedro-Woolley will be accepting public 
comments from February 2, 2021 to March 16, 2021. Send written comments to: City of 
Sedro-Woolley Planning Department, ATTN: Assistant Planner, 325 Metcalf Street, 
Sedro-Woolley, Washington, 98284, or by email to kweir@ci.sedro-woolley.wa.us.
Comments sent to the City of Sedro-Woolley will be forwarded to the Washington Dept. 
of Ecology. 

Please visit the Planning Commission meetings page at https://www.ci.sedro-
woolley.wa.us/governing_bodies/planning_commission/planning_meetings.php or use 

the link below to join the meeting: 
https://zoom.us/j/98042863482?pwd=dnpVeXp4YUJYQVBtdm10VTZ2VV1yZz09 

Password: 070388 

Published in the Skagit Valley Herald: February 2, 2021 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 197 of 248 

 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
CITY OF SEDRO-WOOLLEY 

Shoreline Master Program Periodic Review  
Virtual Online Meeting via Zoom Webinar 

 

The City of Sedro-Woolley Planning Commission will hold a public hearing on 

February 16, 2021 at 6:30 PM, via Zoom Webinar, to hear testimony regarding 

proposed updates to the Shoreline Master Program (SMP). The City of Sedro-Woolley is 

conducting a periodic review of the SMP under RCW 90.58.080(4). Proposed updates to 

the SMP include minor changes to keep the SMP current with changes in state law. There 

will be additional opportunities for public comments and participation. For more 

information about the SMP periodic review process, please visit the SMP page at 

https://www.ci.sedro-woolley.wa.us/departments/planning/shoreline_master_plan.php 

 

Interested parties can comment on the proposed changes in writing or at the hearing.  

Written comments must be received by 4:30 PM, February 16, 2021 to be considered 

at this public hearing, however the City of Sedro-Woolley will be accepting public 

comments from February 2, 2021 to March 16, 2021. Send written comments to: City of 

Sedro-Woolley Planning Department, ATTN: Assistant Planner, 325 Metcalf Street, 

Sedro-Woolley, Washington, 98284, or by email to kweir@ci.sedro-woolley.wa.us. 

Comments sent to the City of Sedro-Woolley will be forwarded to the Washington Dept. 

of Ecology.  

 

Please visit the Planning Commission meetings page at https://www.ci.sedro-

woolley.wa.us/governing_bodies/planning_commission/planning_meetings.php or use 

the link below to join the meeting:  

https://zoom.us/j/98042863482?pwd=dnpVeXp4YUJYQVBtdm10VTZ2VVlyZz09 

Password: 070388 

 

Published in the Skagit Valley Herald:  February 2, 2021 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 197 of 248

https://www.ci.sedro-woolley.wa.us/departments/planning/shoreline_master_plan.php
mailto:kweir@ci.sedro-woolley.wa.us
https://www.ci.sedro-woolley.wa.us/governing_bodies/planning_commission/planning_meetings.php
https://www.ci.sedro-woolley.wa.us/governing_bodies/planning_commission/planning_meetings.php
https://zoom.us/j/98042863482?pwd=dnpVeXp4YUJYQVBtdm10VTZ2VVlyZz09
jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit D To Planning Commission Findings, of Fact, Conclusions and Recommendation



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
CITY OF SEDRO-WOOLLEY 

Shoreline Master Program Periodic Review 
Virtual Online Meeting via Zoom Webinar 

The City of Sedro-Woolley Planning Commission will hold a public hearing on March 
16, 2021 at 6:30 PM, via Zoom Webinar, to hear testimony regarding proposed updates 
to the Shoreline Master Program (SMP). The City of Sedro-Woolley is conducting a 
periodic review of the SMP under RCW 90.58.080(4). Proposed updates to the SMP 
include minor changes to keep the SMP current with changes in state law. There will be 
additional opportunities for public comments and participation. For more information 
about the SMP periodic review process, including the proposed updates for public 
review, please visit the SMP page at https://www.ci.sedro-
woolley.wa.us/departments/planning/shoreline masterplan.php 

Interested parties can comment on the proposed changes in writing or at the hearing. 
Written comments must be received by 4:30 PM, March 16, 2021 to be considered at 
this public hearing. Send written comments to: City of Sedro-Woolley Planning 
Department, ATTN: Assistant Planner, 325 Metcalf Street, Sedro-Woolley, Washington, 
98284, or by email to kweir@ci.sedro-woolley.wa.us. Comments sent to the City of 
Sedro-Woolley will be forwarded to the Washington Dept. of Ecology. 

Please visit the Planning Commission meetings page at https://www.ci.sedro-
woolley.wa.us/governing_bodies/planning_commission/planning_meetings.php or use 

the link below to join the meeting: 
https://zoom.us/j/98042863482?pwd=dnpVeXp4YUJYQVBtdm10VTZ2VV1yZz09 

Password: 070388 

Published in the Skagit Valley Herald: March 2, 2021 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 198 of 248 

 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
CITY OF SEDRO-WOOLLEY 

Shoreline Master Program Periodic Review  
Virtual Online Meeting via Zoom Webinar 

 

The City of Sedro-Woolley Planning Commission will hold a public hearing on March 

16, 2021 at 6:30 PM, via Zoom Webinar, to hear testimony regarding proposed updates 

to the Shoreline Master Program (SMP). The City of Sedro-Woolley is conducting a 

periodic review of the SMP under RCW 90.58.080(4). Proposed updates to the SMP 

include minor changes to keep the SMP current with changes in state law. There will be 

additional opportunities for public comments and participation. For more information 

about the SMP periodic review process, including the proposed updates for public 

review, please visit the SMP page at https://www.ci.sedro-

woolley.wa.us/departments/planning/shoreline_master_plan.php 

 

Interested parties can comment on the proposed changes in writing or at the hearing.  

Written comments must be received by 4:30 PM, March 16, 2021 to be considered at 

this public hearing. Send written comments to: City of Sedro-Woolley Planning 

Department, ATTN: Assistant Planner, 325 Metcalf Street, Sedro-Woolley, Washington, 

98284, or by email to kweir@ci.sedro-woolley.wa.us. Comments sent to the City of 

Sedro-Woolley will be forwarded to the Washington Dept. of Ecology.  

 

Please visit the Planning Commission meetings page at https://www.ci.sedro-

woolley.wa.us/governing_bodies/planning_commission/planning_meetings.php or use 

the link below to join the meeting:  

https://zoom.us/j/98042863482?pwd=dnpVeXp4YUJYQVBtdm10VTZ2VVlyZz09 

Password: 070388 

 

Published in the Skagit Valley Herald:  March 2, 2021 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 198 of 248

https://www.ci.sedro-woolley.wa.us/departments/planning/shoreline_master_plan.php
https://www.ci.sedro-woolley.wa.us/departments/planning/shoreline_master_plan.php
mailto:kweir@ci.sedro-woolley.wa.us
https://www.ci.sedro-woolley.wa.us/governing_bodies/planning_commission/planning_meetings.php
https://www.ci.sedro-woolley.wa.us/governing_bodies/planning_commission/planning_meetings.php
https://zoom.us/j/98042863482?pwd=dnpVeXp4YUJYQVBtdm10VTZ2VVlyZz09
jcoleman
Text Box
Exhibit E To Planning Commission Findings, of Fact, Conclusions and Recommendation



cITIr 

SS11277 2%W 

City of Sedro-Woolley 
City Council Agenda Item 

FROM: Doug Merriman, City Supervisor 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: New Business 

1) A motion to approve Resolution No. 1070-21 
2) A motion to Adopt Ordinance No 1984-21 

ISSUE: 

Agenda Item No. M-1._ 

Date: 5/26/2021 

Subject: Updates to City Council Governance Handbook 
and the Sedro-Woolley Municipal Code to change 
City Council meeting times 

1) Governance Handbook: During the recent City Council Retreat, the decision was made to formally 
change the start time of City Council meetings to 6:00 pm. In addition, the formalized ending time 
of meetings would be lifted. Accordingly, the attached draft of the City Council Governance 
Handbook includes the following changes: 

• All references to the 7:00 pm start time have been changed to 6:00 pm. 
• Any references to an ending time (adjournment) of meetings has been removed. 

Resolution No 1070-21 adopts the updated City Council Governance Handbook. 

2) Municipal Code: A review of our Municipal Code resulted in a need to change meeting start time to 
6:00 pm. In the appropriate places in the Code. 

Ordinance No 1984-21 adopts the changes to the Sedro-Woolley Municipal Code. 

Additional note: Meetings attended remotely 
While reviewing the Handbook it was noticed that the section addressing the attendance of City Council 
meetings remotely was outdated, and not reflective of current technology or our recent experiences 
during the COVID pandemic. For this reason, a draft of Chapter C (7) has been rewritten to update for 
these conditions. Please review this section for input and review at the City Council meeting when 
considering Resolution 1070-21. 

FISCAL IMPACT, IF APPROPRIATE: 

There is no fiscal impact to this action. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1) Resolution 1070-2021 
2) Draft City Council Governance Handbook 
3) Ordinance 1984-21 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 199 of 248 

cITIr 

SS11277 2%W 

City of Sedro-Woolley 
City Council Agenda Item 

FROM: Doug Merriman, City Supervisor 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: New Business 

1) A motion to approve Resolution No. 1070-21 
2) A motion to Adopt Ordinance No 1984-21 

ISSUE: 

Agenda Item No. M-1._ 

Date: 5/26/2021 

Subject: Updates to City Council Governance Handbook 
and the Sedro-Woolley Municipal Code to change 
City Council meeting times 

1) Governance Handbook: During the recent City Council Retreat, the decision was made to formally 
change the start time of City Council meetings to 6:00 pm. In addition, the formalized ending time 
of meetings would be lifted. Accordingly, the attached draft of the City Council Governance 
Handbook includes the following changes: 

• All references to the 7:00 pm start time have been changed to 6:00 pm. 
• Any references to an ending time (adjournment) of meetings has been removed. 

Resolution No 1070-21 adopts the updated City Council Governance Handbook. 

2) Municipal Code: A review of our Municipal Code resulted in a need to change meeting start time to 
6:00 pm. In the appropriate places in the Code. 

Ordinance No 1984-21 adopts the changes to the Sedro-Woolley Municipal Code. 

Additional note: Meetings attended remotely 
While reviewing the Handbook it was noticed that the section addressing the attendance of City Council 
meetings remotely was outdated, and not reflective of current technology or our recent experiences 
during the COVID pandemic. For this reason, a draft of Chapter C (7) has been rewritten to update for 
these conditions. Please review this section for input and review at the City Council meeting when 
considering Resolution 1070-21. 

FISCAL IMPACT, IF APPROPRIATE: 

There is no fiscal impact to this action. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1) Resolution 1070-2021 
2) Draft City Council Governance Handbook 
3) Ordinance 1984-21 

cITIr 

SS11277 2%W 

City of Sedro-Woolley 
City Council Agenda Item 

FROM: Doug Merriman, City Supervisor 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: New Business 

1) A motion to approve Resolution No. 1070-21 
2) A motion to Adopt Ordinance No 1984-21 

ISSUE: 

Agenda Item No. M-1._ 

Date: 5/26/2021 

Subject: Updates to City Council Governance Handbook 
and the Sedro-Woolley Municipal Code to change 
City Council meeting times 

1) Governance Handbook: During the recent City Council Retreat, the decision was made to formally 
change the start time of City Council meetings to 6:00 pm. In addition, the formalized ending time 
of meetings would be lifted. Accordingly, the attached draft of the City Council Governance 
Handbook includes the following changes: 

• All references to the 7:00 pm start time have been changed to 6:00 pm. 
• Any references to an ending time (adjournment) of meetings has been removed. 

Resolution No 1070-21 adopts the updated City Council Governance Handbook. 

2) Municipal Code: A review of our Municipal Code resulted in a need to change meeting start time to 
6:00 pm. In the appropriate places in the Code. 

Ordinance No 1984-21 adopts the changes to the Sedro-Woolley Municipal Code. 

Additional note: Meetings attended remotely 
While reviewing the Handbook it was noticed that the section addressing the attendance of City Council 
meetings remotely was outdated, and not reflective of current technology or our recent experiences 
during the COVID pandemic. For this reason, a draft of Chapter C (7) has been rewritten to update for 
these conditions. Please review this section for input and review at the City Council meeting when 
considering Resolution 1070-21. 

FISCAL IMPACT, IF APPROPRIATE: 

There is no fiscal impact to this action. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1) Resolution 1070-2021 
2) Draft City Council Governance Handbook 
3) Ordinance 1984-21 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 199 of 248



RESOLUTION NO. 1070-21 
RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SEDRO-WOOLLEY, 

ESTABLISHING RULES AND PROCEDURES PERTAINING TO THE MEETINGS OF 
SAID CITY COUNCIL 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Sedro-Woolley is authorized to establish rules to 
govern the proceedings of said Council; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Sedro-Woolley desires to reestablish the rules 
governing its proceedings; and 

WHEREAS, the rules formulated by the Council of the City of Sedro-Woolley are set forth in the 
document entitled "City Council Governance Handbook" which is attached hereto and 
incorporated herein by this reference. 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Council of the City of Sedro-Woolley hereby 
adopts and establishes the rules pertaining to its meetings as are set forth in the attached document 
entitled "City Council Governance Handbook." 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that Resolution Nos. 546, 972-17, 879-18, and 980-18 and all 
other resolutions pertaining to the rules governing the proceedings of the Council of the City of 
Sedro-Woolley are hereby rescinded. 

ADOPTED by the City Council on this 26th day of May, 2021. 

Julia Johnson, Mayor 
Attest: 

Doug Merriman, Finance Director 

Approved as to form: 

Nikki Thompson, City Attorney 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 200 of 248 

RESOLUTION NO. 1070-21 
RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SEDRO-WOOLLEY, 

ESTABLISHING RULES AND PROCEDURES PERTAINING TO THE MEETINGS OF 
SAID CITY COUNCIL 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Sedro-Woolley is authorized to establish rules to 
govern the proceedings of said Council; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Sedro-Woolley desires to reestablish the rules 
governing its proceedings; and 

WHEREAS, the rules formulated by the Council of the City of Sedro-Woolley are set forth in the 
document entitled "City Council Governance Handbook" which is attached hereto and 
incorporated herein by this reference. 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Council of the City of Sedro-Woolley hereby 
adopts and establishes the rules pertaining to its meetings as are set forth in the attached document 
entitled "City Council Governance Handbook." 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that Resolution Nos. 546, 972-17, 879-18, and 980-18 and all 
other resolutions pertaining to the rules governing the proceedings of the Council of the City of 
Sedro-Woolley are hereby rescinded. 

ADOPTED by the City Council on this 26th day of May, 2021. 

Julia Johnson, Mayor 
Attest: 

Doug Merriman, Finance Director 

Approved as to form: 

Nikki Thompson, City Attorney 

RESOLUTION NO. 1070-21 
RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SEDRO-WOOLLEY, 

ESTABLISHING RULES AND PROCEDURES PERTAINING TO THE MEETINGS OF 
SAID CITY COUNCIL 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Sedro-Woolley is authorized to establish rules to 
govern the proceedings of said Council; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Sedro-Woolley desires to reestablish the rules 
governing its proceedings; and 

WHEREAS, the rules formulated by the Council of the City of Sedro-Woolley are set forth in the 
document entitled "City Council Governance Handbook" which is attached hereto and 
incorporated herein by this reference. 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Council of the City of Sedro-Woolley hereby 
adopts and establishes the rules pertaining to its meetings as are set forth in the attached document 
entitled "City Council Governance Handbook." 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that Resolution Nos. 546, 972-17, 879-18, and 980-18 and all 
other resolutions pertaining to the rules governing the proceedings of the Council of the City of 
Sedro-Woolley are hereby rescinded. 

ADOPTED by the City Council on this 26th day of May, 2021. 

Julia Johnson, Mayor 
Attest: 

Doug Merriman, Finance Director 

Approved as to form: 

Nikki Thompson, City Attorney 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 200 of 248



.4/ 

CITY OF 

$14V}97-FN21941-Zip , .es 

City Council 
Governance Handbook 

Adopted by Resolution No. 1070-21 
A Comprehensive Collection of 

Rules and Procedures for 
the City Council 

Adopted May 26, 2021 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 201 of 248 

CITY OF 

7'44,13,0111+7090 THE 
NOORTHOCLAS49,34'ffs.? 

CITY OF 

7'44,13,0111+7090 THE 
NOORTHOCLAS49,34'ffs.? 

City Council 
Governance Handbook 

Adopted by Resolution No. 1070-21  
A Comprehensive Collection of  

Rules and Procedures for  
the City Council

Adopted May 26, 2021  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 201 of 248



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
CHAPTER 1: Council Meetings   4 
A. General   5 

1. Time and Location  5 
2. Open to the Public   5 
3. Presiding Officer  5 

B. Types of Meetings  6 
1. Regular Meetings   6 

a. Formal Format  6 
b. Study Session Format   9 
c. Executive Sessions  10 

2. Special Meeting   11 
3. Placing Items on an Agenda  12 

C. Meeting Rules and Procedures   13 
1. Council Rules of Order  13 
2. Quorum  13 
3. Attendance, Excused Absences  13 
4. Respect and Decorum 13 
5. Seating Arrangement  13 
6. Dissents and Protests  13 
7. Councilmember Meeting Participation by Remote Attendance  13 
8. Internet Use  14 
9. Adjournment Due to Emergency or Disruption  14 
10. Permission Required to Address the Council   15 
11. Approaching the Dais  15 
12. Out of Order Requests   15 
13. Photographs, etc. Requiring Artificial Illumination Prior Permission Required 15 
14. Voting  15 
15. Motions and Discussion  16 

Table of Parliamentary Procedure at a Glance 17 
16. Ordinances  18 
17. Resolutions   18 
19. Reconsideration  18 
19. Council Materials/packets  19 
20. Three Touch Principle  20 

CHAPTER 2: Legislative Processes and Procedures  21 
A. Election of Council Officers  22 
B. Filling Council Vacancies or Extended Absences  22 
C. Legislative Agendas  25 
D. Ballot Measures  26 

CHAPTER 3: Council Contacts  27 
A. Citizen Contacts and Interactions Outside of a Council Meeting  28 

1. Citizen Concerns, Complaints and Suggestions to Council   28 
2. Administrative Complaints to Individual Councilmembers  28 
3. Social Media 28 

B. Staff Contacts and Interactions   29 
1. Role of the City Supervisor 29 
2. City staff Attendance at Meetings  29 
3. City Clerk — Minutes   29 

Sedro-Woolley City Cbuncil Packet Page 202 of 248 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
CHAPTER 1: Council Meetings  ..................................................................................................  4
A. General  .......................................................................................................................... . 5 

1. Time and Location  ..................................................................................................................  5 
2. Open to the Public  ..................................................................................................................  5 
3. Presiding Officer   .............................................................................................................. 5 

B. Types of Meetings   ................................................................................................................ 6 
1. Regular Meetings  ...................................................................................................................  6 

a. Formal Format .................................................................................................................  6 
b. Study Session Format  .....................................................................................................  9 
c. Executive Sessions   ......................................................................................................... 10 

2. Special Meeting   ..................................................................................................................... 11 
3. Placing Items on an Agenda .....................................................................................................  12 

C. Meeting Rules and Procedures  ..................................................................................................  13 
1. Council Rules of Order  ........................................................................................................... 13 
2. Quorum ................................................................................................................................................  13
3. Attendance, Excused Absences  .............................................................................................. 13 
4. Respect and Decorum  ............................................................................................................. 13 
5. Seating Arrangement ...........................................................................................................................  13 
6. Dissents and Protests   ............................................................................................................. 13 
7. Councilmember Meeting Participation by Remote Attendance  .............................................. 13 
8. Internet Use   ...................................................................................................................... 14 
9. Adjournment Due to Emergency or Disruption  ...................................................................... 14 
10. Permission Required to Address the Council  ...........................................................................  15 
11. Approaching the Dais   .......................................................................................................... 15 
12. Out of Order Requests  .................................................................................................. . 15 
13. Photographs, etc. Requiring Artificial Illumination Prior Permission Required  ................... 15 
14. Voting ........................................................................................................................................................  15 
15. Motions and Discussion  .............................................................................................................  16 

Table of Parliamentary Procedure at a Glance ........................................................... 17 
16. Ordinances   .......................................................................................................................... 18 
17. Resolutions  .......................................................................................................................................  18 
19. Reconsideration  .................................................................................................................................  18 
19. Council Materials/packets ..........................................................................................................  19 
20. Three Touch Principle ................................................................................................................  20 

CHAPTER 2: Legislative Processes and Procedures .......................................................................  21
A. Election of Council Officers  .............................................................................................................  22 
B. Filling Council Vacancies or Extended Absences  ...................................................................... 22 
C. Legislative Agendas  .................................................................................................................. . 25 
D. Ballot Measures  .......................................................................................................................................  26 

CHAPTER 3: Council Contacts ..........................................................................................................  27
A. Citizen Contacts and Interactions Outside of a Council Meeting ......................................... . 28 

1. Citizen Concerns, Complaints and Suggestions to Council  ...............................................  28 
2. Administrative Complaints to Individual Councilmembers  ............................................ 28 
3. Social Media  ...............................................................................................................................  28 

B. Staff Contacts and Interactions  ............................................................................................ . 29 
1. Role of the City Supervisor  ............................................................................................. 29 
2. City staff Attendance at Meetings   .................................................................................. 29 
3. City Clerk – Minutes  ............................................................................................................  29 

2 Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 202 of 248



4. Administrative Interference by Councilmembers  29 
5. Informal Communications Encouraged  30 

CHAPTER 4: Hearings 31 
A. General Public Hearings  32 

1. Purpose 32 
2. Legislative Public Hearings  32 

B. Quasi-Judicial 33 
1. Purpose 33 
2. Specific Statutory Provisions   33 
3. Appearance of Fairness Doctrine  33 

CHAPTER 5: Disclaimer 42 
A. Purpose 42 
B. Use 42 
C. Reliance 42 

Appendices: 
A. Definitions  43 
B. Frequently Used Acronyms 40 
Index 41 
Endnotes 42 

3 
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 203 of 248 

4. Administrative Interference by Councilmembers  ............................................................. 29 
5. Informal Communications Encouraged  ............................................................................ 30 

CHAPTER 4: Hearings  ..................................................................................................................  31
A. General Public Hearings  ..............................................................................................................  32 

1. Purpose .............................................................................................................................  32 
2. Legislative Public Hearings  .............................................................................................  32 

B. Quasi-Judicial  ................................................................................................................................ 33 
1. Purpose .............................................................................................................................  33 
2. Specific Statutory Provisions  ...........................................................................................  33 
3. Appearance of Fairness Doctrine  .....................................................................................  33 

CHAPTER 5: Disclaimer ................................................................................................................  42
A. Purpose ........................................................................................................................................  42 
B. Use ..............................................................................................................................................  42 
C. Reliance .......................................................................................................................................  42 

Appendices: 
A. Definitions  ..................................................................................................................................  43 
B. Frequently Used Acronyms  ........................................................................................................  40 
Index ..................................................................................................................................................  41 
Endnotes ............................................................................................................................................  42 

3 
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 203 of 248



CHAPTER 1 
Council Meetings 

A. General 

1. Council Meetings - Time and Location 
Unless otherwise specified in a meeting notice, regular meetings of the City Council shall be held at the 
Sedro-Woolley Municipal Building, Council Chambers on the second and fourth Wednesdays beginning at 
6:00 p.m. The City Council also meets on the first Wednesday at the Sedro-Woolley Fire Department Training 
Room beginning at 6:00 p.m. for a study session meeting. There are no regularly scheduled study session 
meetings in the months of June, July and August. Pursuant to RCW 42.30.070, Open Public Meetings Act, 
"if at any time any regular meeting falls on a holiday, such regular meeting shall be held on the next business 
day." SWMC 2.04.010 provides more detail on meetings in Novembers and Decembers as follows, "The city 
council shall hold regular meetings at six p.m. on the first, second and fourth Wednesday of each month 
throughout the year, but whenever a regular meeting falls on a legal holiday now or hereafter designated as 
such by the laws of the state of Washington, such meeting shall be held at six p.m. of the first day following 
which is not itself a legal holiday; and provided, that the meeting immediately before the Thanksgiving 
holiday each year shall be held on the Tuesday before Thanksgiving rather than the fourth Wednesday; and 
provided further, that no meeting is scheduled for the fourth Wednesday in December." 

2. Council Meetings - Open to the Public 
All meetings of the City Council shall be open to the public, except as provided for in RCW 42.30.1101
(Executive Sessions), or RCW 42.30.140 2 (Open Public Meetings Act). Councilmembers will notify 
appropriate staff of Councilmember's plans to attend any of the various outside public meetings hosted by 
other organizations or agencies, or City meetings hosted by various City Departments, so that notice may be 
published concerning such attendance in order not to risk any real or perceived violation of the Open Public 
Meetings Act. 

3. Presiding Officer 
The Mayor shall preside at meetings of the Council. In case of the Mayor's absence or temporary disability, 
the Mayor Pro Tempore shall act as Mayor during the continuance of the absence. In case of the absence or 
temporary inability of the Mayor and Mayor Pro Tempore, an acting Mayor Pro Tempore selected by majority 
vote of the remaining members of the Council, shall act as Mayor during the continuance of the absences 
[RCW 35A.13.0353]. The Mayor, Mayor Pro Tempore (in the Mayor's absence) or acting Mayor Pro Tem are 
referred to as "Presiding Officer" from time to time in these Rules of Procedure. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 204 of 248 

CHAPTER 1 
Council Meetings 

A. General 

1. Council Meetings - Time and Location  
Unless otherwise specified in a meeting notice, regular meetings of the City Council shall be held at the 
Sedro-Woolley Municipal Building, Council Chambers on the second and fourth Wednesdays beginning at 
6:00 p.m. The City Council also meets on the first Wednesday at the Sedro-Woolley Fire Department Training 
Room beginning at 6:00 p.m. for a study session meeting. There are no regularly scheduled study session 
meetings in the months of June, July and August. Pursuant to RCW 42.30.070, Open Public Meetings Act, 
“if at any time any regular meeting falls on a holiday, such regular meeting shall be held on the next business 
day.” SWMC 2.04.010 provides more detail on meetings in Novembers and Decembers as follows, “The city 
council shall hold regular meetings at six p.m. on the first, second and fourth Wednesday of each month 
throughout the year, but whenever a regular meeting falls on a legal holiday now or hereafter designated as 
such by the laws of the state of Washington, such meeting shall be held at six p.m. of the first day following 
which is not itself a legal holiday; and provided, that the meeting immediately before the Thanksgiving 
holiday each year shall be held on the Tuesday before Thanksgiving rather than the fourth Wednesday; and 
provided further, that no meeting is scheduled for the fourth Wednesday in December.” 

2. Council Meetings - Open to the Public  
All meetings of the City Council shall be open to the public, except as provided for in RCW 42.30.1101

(Executive Sessions), or RCW 42.30.140 2 (Open Public Meetings Act). Councilmembers will notify 
appropriate staff of Councilmember’s plans to attend any of the various outside public meetings hosted by 
other organizations or agencies, or City meetings hosted by various City Departments, so that notice may be 
published concerning such attendance in order not to risk any real or perceived violation of the Open Public 
Meetings Act. 

3. Presiding Officer  
The Mayor shall preside at meetings of the Council. In case of the Mayor's absence or temporary disability, 
the Mayor Pro Tempore shall act as Mayor during the continuance of the absence. In case of the absence or 
temporary inability of the Mayor and Mayor Pro Tempore, an acting Mayor Pro Tempore selected by majority 
vote of the remaining members of the Council, shall act as Mayor during the continuance of the absences 
[RCW 35A.13.0353]. The Mayor, Mayor Pro Tempore (in the Mayor’s absence) or acting Mayor Pro Tem are 
referred to as “Presiding Officer” from time to time in these Rules of Procedure. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 204 of 248



5 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 205 of 248 

5 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 205 of 248



B. Types of Meetings 

1. Regular Meeting 
The city council shall hold regular meetings at six p.m. on the first, second and fourth Wednesday of each 
month throughout the year, but whenever a regular meeting falls on a legal holiday now or hereafter designated 
as such by the laws of the state of Washington, such meeting shall be held at six p.m. of the first day following 
which is not itself a legal holiday; and provided, that the meeting immediately before the Thanksgiving holiday 
each year shall be held on the fourth Tuesday of November rather than the fourth Wednesday; and provided 
further, that fourth Wednesday meeting in December is cancelled as detailed in SWMC 2.04.010. 

a. Formal Format 
1. Normally held 2nd and 4th Wednesdays. The City Supervisor in consultation with the Mayor, shall 

arrange a list of proposed matters according to the order of business and prepare an agenda for the Council. 
On or before close of business on a Friday preceding a Wednesday Council meeting, or at the close of business 
at least 24 hours preceding a special Council meeting, a copy of the agenda and supporting materials shall be 
prepared for Councilmembers, appropriate staff, and the media who have filed a notification request. Agendas 
may be amended as required, and expeditiously distributed to Council and appropriate staff 

2. Requests from outside entities or individuals for presentations to be scheduled on any Council 
agenda imply that the presentation is the official business of the City, and such requests should be submitted 
to the City Supervisor at least ten days prior to the appropriate Council meeting. The City Supervisor and the 
Mayor will make a determination of whether the matter is an administrative issue, and whether it should be 
placed on an upcoming Council agenda. Playing of video tapes, DVD's, PowerPoints, or other electronic 
presentations shall be pre-screened and pre-approved by the Mayor or City Supervisor who shall determine 
the appropriateness of the material. In the event the presenter has no PowerPoint or other material to submit 
prior to the meeting, the presenter shall be requested to provide a brief written summary of the topic and items 
to be discussed. All written materials, including the written summary, must be submitted to the City Clerk at 
least ten days prior to the appropriate Council meeting. 

3. Forms of Address. Everyone in attendance at a formal format meeting, including all members of 
Council, are to address the Mayor as "Mayor (surname)." The Mayor Pro Tempore, when acting in that 
capacity, shall be addressed as "Mayor Pro Tempore (surname)." Everyone in attendance at a formal format 
meeting, including Members of the Council as they address each other, shall be addressed as "Councilmember 
(surname)." 

4. Order of Business. The business of all regular formal meetings of the Council shall be transacted 
as follows, provided, however, that the Presiding Officer may, during a Council meeting, rearrange items on 
the agenda to conduct Council business more expeditiously, without the necessity of a formal action or motion. 
However, adding or removing items from the agenda once a meeting has been called to order requires Council 
to make a motion and vote on approving the "amended agenda." 

a. Call to Order by the Presiding Officer. 
b. Pledge of Allegiance. 
c. Roll Call. (See Chapter 1, C3 [page 13] for procedure to excuse an absence) 
d. Approval of Agenda. In case of an emergency or an extremely time-sensitive issue which 

neither the administration nor the entire Council was aware of prior to the distribution of the agenda and 
accompanying materials, a new item may be introduced by the Presiding Officer, by a concurrence of at 
least three Councilmembers, or by the City Supervisor and suggested as an amended agenda item for the 
present meeting. If a new item(s) is added, Council will then consider a motion to approve the amended 
agenda. ("Three-Touch Principle" should be followed whenever possible.) 

6 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 206 of 248 

B. Types of Meetings 

1. Regular Meeting  
The city council shall hold regular meetings at six p.m. on the first, second and fourth Wednesday of each 
month throughout the year, but whenever a regular meeting falls on a legal holiday now or hereafter designated 
as such by the laws of the state of Washington, such meeting shall be held at six p.m. of the first day following 
which is not itself a legal holiday; and provided, that the meeting immediately before the Thanksgiving holiday 
each year shall be held on the fourth Tuesday of November rather than the fourth Wednesday; and provided 
further, that fourth Wednesday meeting in December is cancelled as detailed in SWMC 2.04.010. 

a. Formal Format  
1. Normally held 2nd and 4th Wednesdays. The City Supervisor in consultation with the Mayor, shall 

arrange a list of proposed matters according to the order of business and prepare an agenda for the Council. 
On or before close of business on a Friday preceding a Wednesday Council meeting, or at the close of business 
at least 24 hours preceding a special Council meeting, a copy of the agenda and supporting materials shall be 
prepared for Councilmembers, appropriate staff, and the media who have filed a notification request. Agendas 
may be amended as required, and expeditiously distributed to Council and appropriate staff. 

2. Requests from outside entities or individuals for presentations to be scheduled on any Council 
agenda imply that the presentation is the official business of the City, and such requests should be submitted 
to the City Supervisor at least ten days prior to the appropriate Council meeting. The City Supervisor and the 
Mayor will make a determination of whether the matter is an administrative issue, and whether it should be 
placed on an upcoming Council agenda. Playing of video tapes, DVD’s, PowerPoints, or other electronic 
presentations shall be pre-screened and pre-approved by the Mayor or City Supervisor who shall determine 
the appropriateness of the material. In the event the presenter has no PowerPoint or other material to submit 
prior to the meeting, the presenter shall be requested to provide a brief written summary of the topic and items 
to be discussed. All written materials, including the written summary, must be submitted to the City Clerk at 
least ten days prior to the appropriate Council meeting. 

3. Forms of Address. Everyone in attendance at a formal format meeting, including all members of 
Council, are to address the Mayor as “Mayor (surname).” The Mayor Pro Tempore, when acting in that 
capacity, shall be addressed as “Mayor Pro Tempore (surname).” Everyone in attendance at a formal format 
meeting, including Members of the Council as they address each other, shall be addressed as “Councilmember 
(surname).” 

4. Order of Business. The business of all regular formal meetings of the Council shall be transacted 
as follows, provided, however, that the Presiding Officer may, during a Council meeting, rearrange items on 
the agenda to conduct Council business more expeditiously, without the necessity of a formal action or motion. 
However, adding or removing items from the agenda once a meeting has been called to order requires Council 
to make a motion and vote on approving the “amended agenda.” 

a. Call to Order by the Presiding Officer.
b. Pledge of Allegiance.
c. Roll Call. (See Chapter 1, C3 [page 13] for procedure to excuse an absence)
d. Approval of Agenda. In case of an emergency or an extremely time-sensitive issue which 

neither the administration nor the entire Council was aware of prior to the distribution of the agenda and 
accompanying materials, a new item may be introduced by the Presiding Officer, by a concurrence of at 
least three Councilmembers, or by the City Supervisor and suggested as an amended agenda item for the 
present meeting. If a new item(s) is added, Council will then consider a motion to approve the amended 
agenda. (“Three-Touch Principle” should be followed whenever possible.)

6 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 206 of 248



e. Consent Agenda. 
1. Items which may be placed on the Consent Agenda are those which: (1) have been 

previously discussed by the Council; (2) based on the information delivered to members of 
the Council by administration can be reviewed by a Councilmember without further 
explanation; (3) are so routine, technical or nonsubstantive in nature that passage without 
discussion is likely; or (4) otherwise deemed in the best interest of the City. 

2. The proper Council motion on the Consent Agenda is: "I move approval of the 
Consent Agenda." This motion will have the effect of moving to approve all items on the 
Consent Agenda. Since approval of any item on the Consent Agenda implies unanimous 
consent, any member of the Council shall have the right to remove any item from the Consent 
Agenda. Therefore, prior to the vote on the motion to approve the Consent Agenda, the 
Presiding Officer shall inquire if any Councilmember wishes an item to be withdrawn from 
the Consent Agenda. If any matter is withdrawn, the Presiding Officer shall place the item at 
an appropriate place on the agenda for the current or a future meeting, including addressing 
the issue immediately after passage of the remaining items on the Consent Agenda. 

f. Introduction of Special Guests and Presentations. 
g. Staff Reports. 
h. Councilmember and Mayor's Reports. Council or government-related activities (e.g. synopsis of 
committee, commission, task force or other board meetings). These verbal reports are intended to be 
brief, city work-related reports of significance in keeping the Council informed of pertinent policy 
issues or events stemming from their representation of the City on a regional board, committee, task 
force or commission, whether as a formal member or as a liaison. Extended reports shall be placed as 
future agenda items for presentation or submitted in writing as an informational memo. 
i. Proclamation(s). 
j. Public Comments. 

1. An opportunity for public comments on subjects not on the agenda for action (as well as 
comments connected with action items) are limited to three minutes each unless modified by the 
Presiding Officer. Although the City Council desires to allow the opportunity for public comment, the 
business of the City must proceed in an orderly, timely manner. At any time the Presiding Officer, in 
the Presiding Officer's sole discretion, may set such reasonable limits as are necessary to prevent 
disruption or undue delay of other necessary business. 

a. Subjects Not on the Current Agenda. Although it is not necessary for members of 
the public to sign in to speak, the Presiding Officer may invoke a sign-in procedure for 
speakers. Any member of the public may request time to address the Council. Speakers shall 
state their name and address, and the subject of their comments, and spell their last name for 
the record. The Presiding Officer may allow the verbal comments subject to such time 
limitations as the Presiding Officer deems necessary. Following such verbal comments, the 
Presiding Officer may place the matter on a future agenda, or refer the matter to administration 
for investigation and/or report. The Presiding Officer may ask Council or Staff to address 
factual issues raised by public comments, if appropriate. 

b. Subjects on the Current Agenda, "1st Reading". Any member of the public who 
wishes to verbally address the Council on an item on the current agenda listed as a "1st 
reading", shall proceed to the podium at the time when comments from the public are invited 
during the agenda item discussion. The Council may hear such comments before or after initial 
Council discussion. The Presiding Officer may also invoke a sign-in procedure. If necessary, 
the Presiding Officer in consultation with the City Attorney shall rule on the appropriateness 
of verbal public comments as the agenda item is reached. The Presiding Officer may change 
the order of speakers so that comment is heard in the most logical groupings. 

c. Comments shall only be made from the podium microphone, first giving name, 
city of residence and subject. No comments shall be made from any other location, and anyone 
making "out of order" comments shall be subject to removal from the meeting. The 

7 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 207 of 248 

e. Consent Agenda.
1. Items which may be placed on the Consent Agenda are those which: (1) have been 

previously discussed by the Council; (2) based on the information delivered to members of 
the Council by administration can be reviewed by a Councilmember without further 
explanation; (3) are so routine, technical or nonsubstantive in nature that passage without 
discussion is likely; or (4) otherwise deemed in the best interest of the City. 

2. The proper Council motion on the Consent Agenda is: “I move approval of the 
Consent Agenda.” This motion will have the effect of moving to approve all items on the 
Consent Agenda. Since approval of any item on the Consent Agenda implies unanimous 
consent, any member of the Council shall have the right to remove any item from the Consent 
Agenda. Therefore, prior to the vote on the motion to approve the Consent Agenda, the 
Presiding Officer shall inquire if any Councilmember wishes an item to be withdrawn from 
the Consent Agenda. If any matter is withdrawn, the Presiding Officer shall place the item at 
an appropriate place on the agenda for the current or a future meeting, including addressing 
the issue immediately after passage of the remaining items on the Consent Agenda. 

f. Introduction of Special Guests and Presentations. 
g. Staff Reports.
h. Councilmember and Mayor’s Reports. Council or government-related activities (e.g. synopsis of 
committee, commission, task force or other board meetings). These verbal reports are intended to be 
brief, city work-related reports of significance in keeping the Council informed of pertinent policy 
issues or events stemming from their representation of the City on a regional board, committee, task 
force or commission, whether as a formal member or as a liaison. Extended reports shall be placed as 
future agenda items for presentation or submitted in writing as an informational memo.
i. Proclamation(s).
j. Public Comments. 

1. An opportunity for public comments on subjects not on the agenda for action (as well as 
comments connected with action items) are limited to three minutes each unless modified by the 
Presiding Officer. Although the City Council desires to allow the opportunity for public comment, the 
business of the City must proceed in an orderly, timely manner. At any time the Presiding Officer, in 
the Presiding Officer's sole discretion, may set such reasonable limits as are necessary to prevent 
disruption or undue delay of other necessary business. 

a. Subjects Not on the Current Agenda. Although it is not necessary for members of 
the public to sign in to speak, the Presiding Officer may invoke a sign-in procedure for 
speakers. Any member of the public may request time to address the Council. Speakers shall 
state their name and address, and the subject of their comments, and spell their last name for 
the record. The Presiding Officer may allow the verbal comments subject to such time 
limitations as the Presiding Officer deems necessary. Following such verbal comments, the 
Presiding Officer may place the matter on a future agenda, or refer the matter to administration 
for investigation and/or report. The Presiding Officer may ask Council or Staff to address 
factual issues raised by public comments, if appropriate. 

b. Subjects on the Current Agenda, “1st Reading”. Any member of the public who 
wishes to verbally address the Council on an item on the current agenda listed as a “1st

reading”, shall proceed to the podium at the time when comments from the public are invited 
during the agenda item discussion. The Council may hear such comments before or after initial 
Council discussion. The Presiding Officer may also invoke a sign-in procedure. If necessary, 
the Presiding Officer in consultation with the City Attorney shall rule on the appropriateness 
of verbal public comments as the agenda item is reached. The Presiding Officer may change 
the order of speakers so that comment is heard in the most logical groupings. 

c. Comments shall only be made from the podium microphone, first giving name, 
city of residence and subject. No comments shall be made from any other location, and anyone 
making “out of order” comments shall be subject to removal from the meeting. The 

7 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 207 of 248



public shall be reminded that a Council meeting is a business meeting of the city and is not 
intended as a public forum and this is not an opportunity for dialogue or questions and 
answers, but public comment. When appropriate, staff will research issues and report back 
to those making the comment as well as to Council. Verbal public comments are 
opportunities for speakers to briefly address Council, and those speaking are to address 
members of Council and not the audience. Since this is an opportunity for verbal public 
comment, in the interest of time and keeping in mind all documents submitted during 
Council meetings become the property of the City, graphs, charts, poster boards, PowerPoint 
presentations, or other display materials will not be allowed, although written comments and 
written materials including photographs and petitions, may be submitted to Council via the 
City Clerk. 

d. Demonstration, applause or other audience participation before, during or at the 
conclusion of anyone's presentation is prohibited. Any disruptive behavior, as determined by 
the Presiding Officer, shall be cause for removal from the meeting room. 

e. Any ruling by the Presiding Officer relative to the subsections 1 and 2 above may 
be overruled by a vote of a majority of Councilmembers present. 

f. Council shall not permit public comments if they relate to any matter upon which a 
quasi-judicial hearing has been required, scheduled, or held. (See Chapter 4 for procedure for 
taking public comment on legislative matters.) Unless solicited and scheduled, comments shall 
not be permitted relative to any future or possible/probable future ballot issue. (See Chapter 2, 
E Ballot Measures for further direction concerning ballot measures.) 

g. Public comments will not typically be allowed for items on the consent agenda and 
items on the agenda for a "2' reading". 

. Consistent with RCW 42.17A.555, no public comments will be allowed 
regarding support for or opposition to political campaigns, candidates or elections other than 
for Ballot Measures as addressed in Chapter 2. 

2. Written Public Comments. Citizens have the option of submitting written views, opinions, 
comments, data and arguments to Council on any topic and at any time, not just prior to or during 
public Council meetings. Unless the citizen reads their own prepared written comments, such 
comments will not be read aloud during regular or special Council meetings although they will be 
included as part of the public record on the topic and if appropriate, may be publicly acknowledged. 
Any written comments submitted to Council via the City Clerk will be distributed to Council by 
placing copies at each Councilmember's seat at the dais; or in the case of e-mailed or other electronic 
comments, will be forwarded to Council via e-mail. If individual Councilmembers receive written 
(including electronic) public comments or materials for the purpose of reading/sharing those materials 
during Council meetings, those materials should be submitted to the City Clerk prior to the Council 
meeting so the Clerk can make copies for later distribution to members of Council. (See No. 6 above 
and Chapter 2, Ballot Measures; see also Public Hearings section regarding public comments.) Written 
comments should clearly state that they are intended for the full council to ensure inclusion in a council 
packet. 

Councilmembers will avoid accessing any electronic message during Council meetings. 
Accessing such communication could be construed as receiving public comment without the benefit 
of having the citizen in person to address their concerns. 
k. Public Hearings. (See Chapter 4 for procedural details) 
1. Unfinished Business [includes matters that were pending when a previous meeting adjourned, or 
matters specifically postponed to the present meeting.] 
m.New Business. [Action items are designated as New Business] 
n. Information Only Items. These items will generally not be discussed or reported. 
o. Good of the Order. Last call from Council and Staff for items to be discussed. 
p. Executive Session (as required). (See Chapter 1, section B lc below) 

8 
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 208 of 248 

public shall be reminded that a Council meeting is a business meeting of the city and is not 
intended as a public forum and this is not an opportunity for dialogue or questions and 
answers, but public comment. When appropriate, staff will research issues and report back 
to those making the comment as well as to Council. Verbal public comments are 
opportunities for speakers to briefly address Council, and those speaking are to address 
members of Council and not the audience. Since this is an opportunity for verbal public 
comment, in the interest of time and keeping in mind all documents submitted during 
Council meetings become the property of the City, graphs, charts, poster boards, PowerPoint 
presentations, or other display materials will not be allowed, although written comments and 
written materials including photographs and petitions, may be submitted to Council via the 
City Clerk. 

d. Demonstration, applause or other audience participation before, during or at the 
conclusion of anyone's presentation is prohibited. Any disruptive behavior, as determined by 
the Presiding Officer, shall be cause for removal from the meeting room. 

e. Any ruling by the Presiding Officer relative to the subsections 1 and 2 above may 
be overruled by a vote of a majority of Councilmembers present. 

f. Council shall not permit public comments if they relate to any matter upon which a 
quasi-judicial hearing has been required, scheduled, or held. (See Chapter 4 for procedure for 
taking public comment on legislative matters.) Unless solicited and scheduled, comments shall 
not be permitted relative to any future or possible/probable future ballot issue. (See Chapter 2, 
E Ballot Measures for further direction concerning ballot measures.) 

g. Public comments will not typically be allowed for items on the consent agenda and 
items on the agenda for a “2nd reading”. 

 . Consistent with RCW 42.17A.555, no public comments will be allowed 
regarding support for or opposition to political campaigns, candidates or elections other than 
for Ballot Measures as addressed in Chapter 2. 

2. Written Public Comments. Citizens have the option of submitting written views, opinions, 
comments, data and arguments to Council on any topic and at any time, not just prior to or during 
public Council meetings. Unless the citizen reads their own prepared written comments, such 
comments will not be read aloud during regular or special Council meetings although they will be 
included as part of the public record on the topic and if appropriate, may be publicly acknowledged. 
Any written comments submitted to Council via the City Clerk will be distributed to Council by 
placing copies at each Councilmember’s seat at the dais; or in the case of e-mailed or other electronic 
comments, will be forwarded to Council via e-mail. If individual Councilmembers receive written 
(including electronic) public comments or materials for the purpose of reading/sharing those materials 
during Council meetings, those materials should be submitted to the City Clerk prior to the Council 
meeting so the Clerk can make copies for later distribution to members of Council. (See No. 6 above 
and Chapter 2, Ballot Measures; see also Public Hearings section regarding public comments.) Written 
comments should clearly state that they are intended for the full council to ensure inclusion in a council 
packet. 

Councilmembers will avoid accessing any electronic message during Council meetings. 
Accessing such communication could be construed as receiving public comment without the benefit 
of having the citizen in person to address their concerns. 
k. Public Hearings. (See Chapter 4 for procedural details)
l. Unfinished Business [includes matters that were pending when a previous meeting adjourned, or 
matters specifically postponed to the present meeting.]
m.New Business. [Action items are designated as New Business]
n. Information Only Items. These items will generally not be discussed or reported.
o. Good of the Order. Last call from Council and Staff for items to be discussed.
p. Executive Session (as required). (See Chapter 1, section B1c below)

8 
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 208 of 248



q. Adjournment. 

Any regular, adjourned regular, special, or adjourned special meeting may be adjourned in the manner 
set forth in RCW 42.30.090 

In the event that a meeting has been closed or continued by Council as herein specified, the items not 
acted on shall be deferred to the next regular formal Council meeting, unless the Council by a majority 
vote of members present determines otherwise. 

b. Study Session Format 
1. Normally held the 18t Wednesday. The purpose of the study session format is to allow 

Councilmembers to be made aware of impending business and allow informal discussion of issues that might 
be acted on at a future meeting. Council preference is that action items should not be included on a study 
session agenda, but there may be times when, due to deadlines or other pertinent issues, action items must be 
included. Study sessions shall be in a less formal setting than regular formal meetings. Council may be seated 
other than at the dais, but shall not discourage public observation. Unless there are designated action items 
which permit public comment, there will be no public comment at study sessions although the Council may 
request staff or other participation in the same manner as a regular formal Council meeting. The City 
Supervisor, under the direction of the Mayor, shall arrange a Council study session agenda for the meeting. 
For each item, the agenda shall contain the discussion subject, the discussion leader, the activity and the 
discussion goal. A copy of the agenda and accompanying background materials shall be prepared for 
Councilmembers, appropriate staff and the press, on or before 4:30 p.m., one day before the meeting. 
Councilmembers have the option of accessing their Council packet via the City's website. During a Council 
meeting, the Presiding Officer may rearrange items on the agenda to conduct Council business more 
expeditiously without the necessity of a formal action or motion. However, adding or removing items from the 
agenda once a meeting has been called to order requires Council to make a motion and vote on approving the 
"amended agenda." 

a. Voting. 
1. Action Items on the Agenda. Although action items may occasionally be 

included on a study session agenda, it is the practice of Council to keep those instances to a 
minimum. Because a study session is a recognized meeting according to the "Open Public 
Meetings Act," it is permissible for Council to take final action during these meetings. 

3. Non-action Items on the Agenda. Because study sessions are usually understood 
by the public and media as referring to meetings at which Council will only consider and 
discuss items and not take fmal action or vote, voting or making a motion when neither is 
included on an agenda does not violate state law, but for consistency sake and to avoid any 
surprises to the public and media, the practice is discouraged. 

2. Discussion Leader's Role. During the Council study session, the discussion leader should introduce 
the subject and give background information, identify the discussion goal, act as facilitator to keep the 
discussion focused toward the goal, and alert the Presiding Officer when it is appropriate, to schedule the topic 
for a motion or official direction of the Council. 

3. The role of the Presiding Officer is to facilitate Councilmembers engaged in free flowing discussion 
without the necessity of each Councilmember being recognized by the Presiding Officer. The Presiding Officer 
retains the option of assuming the function of the discussion leader at any time in order to maintain decorum 
and ensure all Councilmembers have the opportunity to be heard, and to keep the discussion properly focused. 

9 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 209 of 248 

q. Adjournment.  

Any regular, adjourned regular, special, or adjourned special meeting may be adjourned in the manner 
set forth in RCW 42.30.090 

In the event that a meeting has been closed or continued by Council as herein specified, the items not 
acted on shall be deferred to the next regular formal Council meeting, unless the Council by a majority 
vote of members present determines otherwise. 

b. Study Session Format  
1. Normally held the 1st Wednesday. The purpose of the study session format is to allow 

Councilmembers to be made aware of impending business and allow informal discussion of issues that might 
be acted on at a future meeting. Council preference is that action items should not be included on a study 
session agenda, but there may be times when, due to deadlines or other pertinent issues, action items must be 
included. Study sessions shall be in a less formal setting than regular formal meetings. Council may be seated 
other than at the dais, but shall not discourage public observation. Unless there are designated action items 
which permit public comment, there will be no public comment at study sessions although the Council may 
request staff or other participation in the same manner as a regular formal Council meeting. The City 
Supervisor, under the direction of the Mayor, shall arrange a Council study session agenda for the meeting. 
For each item, the agenda shall contain the discussion subject, the discussion leader, the activity and the 
discussion goal. A copy of the agenda and accompanying background materials shall be prepared for 
Councilmembers, appropriate staff and the press, on or before 4:30 p.m., one day before the meeting. 
Councilmembers have the option of accessing their Council packet via the City’s website. During a Council 
meeting, the Presiding Officer may rearrange items on the agenda to conduct Council business more 
expeditiously without the necessity of a formal action or motion. However, adding or removing items from the 
agenda once a meeting has been called to order requires Council to make a motion and vote on approving the 
“amended agenda.” 

a. Voting. 
1. Action Items on the Agenda. Although action items may occasionally be 

included on a study session agenda, it is the practice of Council to keep those instances to a 
minimum. Because a study session is a recognized meeting according to the “Open Public 
Meetings Act,” it is permissible for Council to take final action during these meetings. 

3. Non-action Items on the Agenda. Because study sessions are usually understood 
by the public and media as referring to meetings at which Council will only consider and 
discuss items and not take final action or vote, voting or making a motion when neither is 
included on an agenda does not violate state law, but for consistency sake and to avoid any 
surprises to the public and media, the practice is discouraged. 

2. Discussion Leader’s Role. During the Council study session, the discussion leader should introduce 
the subject and give background information, identify the discussion goal, act as facilitator to keep the 
discussion focused toward the goal, and alert the Presiding Officer when it is appropriate, to schedule the topic 
for a motion or official direction of the Council. 

3. The role of the Presiding Officer is to facilitate Councilmembers engaged in free flowing discussion 
without the necessity of each Councilmember being recognized by the Presiding Officer. The Presiding Officer 
retains the option of assuming the function of the discussion leader at any time in order to maintain decorum 
and ensure all Councilmembers have the opportunity to be heard, and to keep the discussion properly focused. 

9 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 209 of 248



4. Requests from outside entities or individuals for presentations to be scheduled on any Council 
agenda imply that the presentation is the official business of the City, and such requests should be submitted to 
the City Clerk at least ten days prior to the appropriate Council meeting. The City Clerk will consult with the 
City Supervisor and the Mayor for a determination of whether the matter is an administrative issue, and whether 
it should be placed on an upcoming Council agenda. Playing of video tapes, DVD's, PowerPoints, or other 
electronic presentations shall be pre-screened and pre-approved by the City Supervisor who shall determine the 
appropriateness of the material. In the event the presenter has no PowerPoint or other material to submit prior 
to the meeting, the presenter shall be requested to provide a brief written summary of the topic and items to be 
discussed. All written materials, including the written summary, must be submitted to the City Clerk at least 
ten days prior to the appropriate Council meeting. 

5. Council Comments. The purpose of this agenda item is to allow Councilmembers an opportunity to 
report on an activity or key issue which either just arose, needs immediate or imminent action, or to simply 
report on something in connection with their role as a Councilmember that transpired since the last Council 
meeting. It is also an opportunity for Councilmembers to bring up topics for clarification, or to address other 
upcoming concerns. Pre-scheduled materials Council wishes to share as part of the Council packet, could also 
be included on study session agendas under "Council Comments." 

6. City Supervisor Comments. The purpose of this agenda item is to allow the City Supervisor the 
opportunity to brief Council on an activity or issue which either just arose, needs immediate or imminent action, 
or to simply inform Council of items that transpired since the last Council meeting. 

7. Forms of Address. Councilmembers and staff have the option of addressing each other on a first 
name basis during the study session format meetings. 

c. Executive Sessions 
1. If Council holds an executive session, it will be held in accordance with the Open Public Meetings 

Act, RCW Chapter 42.30. The Council may hold an executive session during a regular or special meeting. 
Before convening in executive session, the Presiding Officer shall publicly announce the purpose for adjourning 
into executive session; the approximate length of time for the executive session; and the likelihood of Council 
taking action at the close of the executive session and return to open session. 

a. At the close of the executive session and upon Council's return to chambers, the Presiding Officer 
will declare Council out of executive session, and will ask for the appropriate motion (i.e. an action motion or 
a motion to adjourn). 

b. To protect the best interests of the City, Councilmembers shall keep confidential all verbal 
and written information provided during executive sessions. Confidentiality also includes information 
provided to Councilmembers outside of executive sessions when the information is considered exempt 
from disclosure under the Code of Ethics for Municipal Officers (RCW 42.524) and/or the Public 
Records Act (RCW 42.565). See also, Washington AGO 2017-5 (councilmembers have an affirmative 
duty to maintain the confidentiality of topics discussed in executive session). 

2. RCW 42.30.110 explains the purpose for holding an executive session, some of which include: 

a. RCW 42.30.110(1)(b). To consider the selection of a site or the acquisition of real estate by lease or 
purchase when public knowledge regarding such consideration would cause a likelihood of increased price 
(pending land acquisition); 

b. RCW 42.30.110(1)(g). To evaluate the qualifications of an applicant for public employment or 
to review the performance of a public employee. However, subject to RCW 42.30.140(4) (labor 
negotiations), discussion by a governing body of salaries, wages, and other conditions of 

10 
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 210 of 248 

- - 

4. Requests from outside entities or individuals for presentations to be scheduled on any Council 
agenda imply that the presentation is the official business of the City, and such requests should be submitted to 
the City Clerk at least ten days prior to the appropriate Council meeting. The City Clerk will consult with the 
City Supervisor and the Mayor for a determination of whether the matter is an administrative issue, and whether 
it should be placed on an upcoming Council agenda. Playing of video tapes, DVD’s, PowerPoints, or other 
electronic presentations shall be pre-screened and pre-approved by the City Supervisor who shall determine the 
appropriateness of the material. In the event the presenter has no PowerPoint or other material to submit prior 
to the meeting, the presenter shall be requested to provide a brief written summary of the topic and items to be 
discussed. All written materials, including the written summary, must be submitted to the City Clerk at least 
ten days prior to the appropriate Council meeting. 

5. Council Comments. The purpose of this agenda item is to allow Councilmembers an opportunity to 
report on an activity or key issue which either just arose, needs immediate or imminent action, or to simply 
report on something in connection with their role as a Councilmember that transpired since the last Council 
meeting. It is also an opportunity for Councilmembers to bring up topics for clarification, or to address other 
upcoming concerns. Pre-scheduled materials Council wishes to share as part of the Council packet, could also 
be included on study session agendas under “Council Comments.” 

6. City Supervisor Comments. The purpose of this agenda item is to allow the City Supervisor the 
opportunity to brief Council on an activity or issue which either just arose, needs immediate or imminent action, 
or to simply inform Council of items that transpired since the last Council meeting. 

7. Forms of Address. Councilmembers and staff have the option of addressing each other on a first 
name basis during the study session format meetings. 

c. Executive Sessions  
1. If Council holds an executive session, it will be held in accordance with the Open Public Meetings 

Act, RCW Chapter 42.30. The Council may hold an executive session during a regular or special meeting. 
Before convening in executive session, the Presiding Officer shall publicly announce the purpose for adjourning 
into executive session; the approximate length of time for the executive session; and the likelihood of Council 
taking action at the close of the executive session and return to open session. 

a. At the close of the executive session and upon Council’s return to chambers, the Presiding Officer 
will declare Council out of executive session, and will ask for the appropriate motion (i.e. an action motion or 
a motion to adjourn). 

b. To protect the best interests of the City, Councilmembers shall keep confidential all verbal 
and written information provided during executive sessions. Confidentiality also includes information 
provided to Councilmembers outside of executive sessions when the information is considered exempt 
from disclosure under the Code of Ethics for Municipal Officers (RCW 42.524) and/or the Public 
Records Act (RCW 42.565). See also, Washington AGO 2017-5 (councilmembers have an affirmative 
duty to maintain the confidentiality of topics discussed in executive session). 

2. RCW 42.30.110 explains the purpose for holding an executive session, some of which include: 

a. RCW 42.30.110(1)(b). To consider the selection of a site or the acquisition of real estate by lease or 
purchase when public knowledge regarding such consideration would cause a likelihood of increased price 
(pending land acquisition); 

b. RCW 42.30.110(1)(g). To evaluate the qualifications of an applicant for public employment or 
to review the performance of a public employee. However, subject to RCW 42.30.140(4) (labor
negotiations), discussion by a governing body of salaries, wages, and other conditions of

1 0  
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 210 of 248



employment to be generally applied within the agency shall occur in a meeting open to the public, and 
when a governing body elects to take fmal action hiring, setting the salary of an individual employee 
or class of employees, or discharging or disciplining an employee, that action shall be taken in a 
meeting open to the public; [note that stating that an executive session is to discuss a "personnel 
matter" is not sufficient because only certain types of personnel matters are appropriate for discussion 
in an executive session.] (review qualifications of a public employee) 

c. RCW 42.30.110(1)(h). To evaluate the qualifications of a candidate for appointment to elective 
office. However, any interview of such candidate and fmal action appointing a candidate to elective 
office shall be in a meeting open to the public (review qualifications of an elected official) 

d. RCW 42.30.110(1)(i). To discuss with legal counsel representing the agency matters relating 
to agency enforcement actions, or to discuss with legal counsel representing the agency litigation or 
potential litigation to which the agency, the governing body, or a member acting in an official capacity 
is, or is likely to become, a party, when public knowledge regarding the discussion is likely to result 
in an adverse legal or financial consequence to the agency. 

For purposes of this subsection (1)(i), "potential/pending litigation" means matters protected 
by Rules of Professional Conduct (RPC) 1.6 or RCW 5.60.060(2)(a) concerning: 

(i) Litigation that has been specifically threatened to which the agency, the governing body, 
or a member acting in an official capacity is, or is likely to become, a party; 

(ii) Litigation that the agency reasonably believes may be commenced by or against the 
agency, the governing body, or a member acting in an official capacity; or 

(iii) Litigation or legal risks of a proposed action or current practice that the agency has 
identified when public discussion of the litigation or legal risks is likely to result in an adverse legal 
or fmancial consequence to the agency. 

3. Council may adjourn into executive session even if it is not listed on the meeting agenda. There is 
a requirement in RCW 35A.12.1606 that the public be made aware of the preliminary agendas of meetings in 
advance of the meeting, but that does not mean that an item that arises after the agenda has been posted cannot 
be discussed at the meeting, even in executive session. Since final action on the matter would not be taken at 
the executive session, it would not violate any provision in state law to hold an executive session at a regular 
Council meeting even if the executive session was not listed on the agenda. [per MRSC Index-General 
Government-Executive sessions.] Although amending the agenda is not required in order to adjourn into 
executive session, it is a good practice for the Mayor to announce at the beginning of the meeting, that Council 
will be adjourning into an executive session at the end of the regular meeting. 

4. Attendance at Executive Sessions. The City Attorney will be present at executive sessions and is 
required to attend executive sessions which address litigation or potential litigation. The question of who may 
attend an executive session other than the Council is determined by the Mayor and City Supervisor in 
consultation with the City Attorney. 

2. Special Meetings 
Meetings set at days, times, and places other than Wednesdays at 6:00 p.m. in the Sedro-Woolley City Council 
Chambers or Fire Training Room shall be deemed "special meetings," such as joint meetings with other 
jurisdictions or entities (Board of County Commissioners, Planning Commissioners), and Council workshops 
or retreats. 

A special meeting may be called by the Mayor or any three members of the Council. (RCW 35A.13.1707, 
35A.12.1108). The notice shall contain information about the meeting, including date, time, place, and business 
to be transacted and shall be posted on the City's website and displayed at the main entrance of the meeting 
location (RCW 42.30.080). The notice shall be delivered to each member of Council at least 24 hours before 
the time specified for the proposed meeting (RCW 35A.12.1109). 

11 
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 211 of 248 

employment to be generally applied within the agency shall occur in a meeting open to the public, and 
when a governing body elects to take final action hiring, setting the salary of an individual employee 
or class of employees, or discharging or disciplining an employee, that action shall be taken in a 
meeting open to the public; [note that stating that an executive session is to discuss a “personnel 
matter” is not sufficient because only certain types of personnel matters are appropriate for discussion 
in an executive session.] (review qualifications of a public employee) 

c. RCW 42.30.110(1)(h). To evaluate the qualifications of a candidate for appointment to elective 
office. However, any interview of such candidate and final action appointing a candidate to elective 
office shall be in a meeting open to the public (review qualifications of an elected official) 

d. RCW 42.30.110(1)(i). To discuss with legal counsel representing the agency matters relating 
to agency enforcement actions, or to discuss with legal counsel representing the agency litigation or 
potential litigation to which the agency, the governing body, or a member acting in an official capacity 
is, or is likely to become, a party, when public knowledge regarding the discussion is likely to result 
in an adverse legal or financial consequence to the agency. 

For purposes of this subsection (1)(i), "potential/pending litigation" means matters protected 
by Rules of Professional Conduct (RPC) 1.6 or RCW 5.60.060(2)(a) concerning: 

(i) Litigation that has been specifically threatened to which the agency, the governing body, 
or a member acting in an official capacity is, or is likely to become, a party; 

(ii) Litigation that the agency reasonably believes may be commenced by or against the 
agency, the governing body, or a member acting in an official capacity; or 

(iii) Litigation or legal risks of a proposed action or current practice that the agency has 
identified when public discussion of the litigation or legal risks is likely to result in an adverse legal 
or financial consequence to the agency. 

3. Council may adjourn into executive session even if it is not listed on the meeting agenda. There is 
a requirement in RCW 35A.12.1606 that the public be made aware of the preliminary agendas of meetings in 
advance of the meeting, but that does not mean that an item that arises after the agenda has been posted cannot 
be discussed at the meeting, even in executive session. Since final action on the matter would not be taken at 
the executive session, it would not violate any provision in state law to hold an executive session at a regular 
Council meeting even if the executive session was not listed on the agenda. [per MRSC Index-General 
Government-Executive sessions.] Although amending the agenda is not required in order to adjourn into 
executive session, it is a good practice for the Mayor to announce at the beginning of the meeting, that Council 
will be adjourning into an executive session at the end of the regular meeting. 

4. Attendance at Executive Sessions. The City Attorney will be present at executive sessions and is 
required to attend executive sessions which address litigation or potential litigation. The question of who may 
attend an executive session other than the Council is determined by the Mayor and City Supervisor in 
consultation with the City Attorney. 

2. Special Meetings  
Meetings set at days, times, and places other than Wednesdays at 6:00 p.m. in the Sedro-Woolley City Council 
Chambers or Fire Training Room shall be deemed “special meetings,” such as joint meetings with other 
jurisdictions or entities (Board of County Commissioners, Planning Commissioners), and Council workshops 
or retreats. 

A special meeting may be called by the Mayor or any three members of the Council. (RCW 35A.13.1707, 
35A.12.1108). The notice shall contain information about the meeting, including date, time, place, and business 
to be transacted and shall be posted on the City’s website and displayed at the main entrance of the meeting 
location (RCW 42.30.080). The notice shall be delivered to each member of Council at least 24 hours before 
the time specified for the proposed meeting (RCW 35A.12.1109). 

11  
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 211 of 248



The notices provided in this section may be dispensed within the circumstances provided by RCW 42.30.08010, 
that is: (a) As to any member who, at or prior to the time the meeting convenes, files with the City Clerk a 
written waiver of notice, (b) As to any member who was actually present at the meeting at the time it convenes, 
and (c) In the event a special meeting is called to deal with an emergency involving injury or damage to persons 
or property or the likelihood of such injury or damage, when time requirements of such notice would make 
notice impractical and increase the likelihood of such injury or damage; or as otherwise provided by law. 

The processes and rules for agenda content apply to regular formal, study session format, as well as special 
meetings. 

3. Placing Items on an Agenda: 
a. Routine Council Business: Through the normal course of business, Council may move items 

forward to a future agenda by consensus. 
b. New Item Council Business: At the appropriate time during a Council meeting (such as Council 

Comments), Councilmembers may request to have items placed on a future agenda. Each request shall be 
treated separately. The City Supervisor is most familiar with staff's workload and will advise when the item 
can be prepared and brought forward to Council. 

c. Staff: except for routine items such as those found on most Consent Agendas, requests for items to 
come before Council shall be routed through the Mayor or City Supervisor or come directly from the Mayor 
or City Supervisor as part of the normal course of business. 

12 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 212 of 248 

The notices provided in this section may be dispensed within the circumstances provided by RCW 42.30.08010, 
that is: (a) As to any member who, at or prior to the time the meeting convenes, files with the City Clerk a 
written waiver of notice, (b) As to any member who was actually present at the meeting at the time it convenes, 
and (c) In the event a special meeting is called to deal with an emergency involving injury or damage to persons 
or property or the likelihood of such injury or damage, when time requirements of such notice would make 
notice impractical and increase the likelihood of such injury or damage; or as otherwise provided by law. 

The processes and rules for agenda content apply to regular formal, study session format, as well as special 
meetings. 

3. Placing Items on an Agenda:  
a. Routine Council Business: Through the normal course of business, Council may move items 

forward to a future agenda by consensus. 
b. New Item Council Business: At the appropriate time during a Council meeting (such as Council 

Comments), Councilmembers may request to have items placed on a future agenda. Each request shall be 
treated separately. The City Supervisor is most familiar with staff’s workload and will advise when the item 
can be prepared and brought forward to Council. 

c. Staff: except for routine items such as those found on most Consent Agendas, requests for items to 
come before Council shall be routed through the Mayor or City Supervisor or come directly from the Mayor 
or City Supervisor as part of the normal course of business. 

1 2  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 212 of 248



C. Meeting Rules and Procedures 

1. Council Rules of Order 
The City Attorney shall serve as the official parliamentarian for all Council meetings, and will keep a copy of 
the most current "Robert's Rules of Order" (RONR) in Council Chambers during Council meetings. The 
Council will generally follow RONR, however, the Mayor is the chairperson of the meeting and may depart 
from strict adherence to RONR as he or she deems appropriate. The Council, by a majority vote, can require 
strict adherence to RONR. 

2. Quorum 
At all regular and special meetings of the Council, a majority of the Councilmembers who hold office shall 
constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. 

3. Attendance, Excused Absences 
RCW 35A.12.06011 provides that a Councilmember shall forfeit his/her office by failing to attend three 
consecutive regular meetings of the Council without being excused by the Council. Members of the Council 
may be so excused by complying with this section. The member shall contact the Mayor, City Clerk, or City 
Supervisor prior to the meeting and state the reason for his/her inability to attend the meeting. Following roll 
call, the Presiding Officer shall inform the Council of the member's absence, and inquire if there is a motion to 
excuse the member. This motion shall be nondebatable. Upon passage of such motion by a majority of members 
present, the absent member shall be considered excused and the City Clerk will make an appropriate notation 
in the minutes. 

4. Respect and Decorum 
It is the duty of the Mayor and each Councilmember to maintain dignity and respect for their offices, City staff 
and the public. While the Council is in session, Councilmembers shall preserve order and decorum and a 
Councilmember shall neither by conversation or otherwise, delay or interrupt the proceedings of the Council, 
nor disrupt or disparage any Councilmember while speaking. Councilmembers and the public shall comply 
with the directives of the Presiding Officer. Any person making disruptive, disparaging or impertinent remarks 
or unreasonably disturbing the business of the Council, either while addressing the Council or attending its 
proceedings, shall be asked to cease such disruption, or may be asked to leave, or be removed from the meeting. 
At any time during any Council meeting, any Councilmember may object to personal affront or other 
inappropriate comments, by calling for a "point of order." After the Councilmember is recognized by the 
Presiding Officer and the Councilmember explains their point concerning respect and decorum, or lack thereof, 
the Presiding Officer shall rule on the remark and may ask the person making the disturbance to cease or leave 
the room. Continued disruptions may result in a recess or adjournment as set forth in #8 below. 

5. Seating Arrangement 
Councilmembers shall occupy the respective seats in the Council Chamber assigned to them by the Mayor. 

6. Dissents and Protests 
Any Councilmember shall have the right to express dissent from or protest verbally or in writing, against any 
motion, ordinance or resolution of the Council and have the reason therefore entered or retained in the minutes. 

7. Councilmember Meeting Participation by Remote Attendance 

Remote Attendance. In limited instances, the City would benefit by a Councilmember's participation by means 
of remote communication. The Council recognizes the benefits of fullest practicable attendance and 
participation by its members. Attendance from remote locations is intended to be an alternative and relatively 
infrequently used method for participation by Councilmembers. 

This policy shall apply to the entire City Council membership without regard to the identity of the member 
requesting remote participation or the matters that will be considered or voted on at the meeting. Remote 
attendance of col and procedures are as foinows; 

searo-vvoolley Uity Uouncil Packet Page 213 of 24€ 

- 

- 

- 

- 

C. Meeting Rules and Procedures 

1. Council Rules of Order  
The City Attorney shall serve as the official parliamentarian for all Council meetings, and will keep a copy of 
the most current “Robert’s Rules of Order” (RONR) in Council Chambers during Council meetings. The 
Council will generally follow RONR, however, the Mayor is the chairperson of the meeting and may depart 
from strict adherence to RONR as he or she deems appropriate. The Council, by a majority vote, can require 
strict adherence to RONR. 

2. Quorum   
At all regular and special meetings of the Council, a majority of the Councilmembers who hold office shall 
constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. 

3. Attendance, Excused Absences  
RCW 35A.12.06011 provides that a Councilmember shall forfeit his/her office by failing to attend three 
consecutive regular meetings of the Council without being excused by the Council. Members of the Council 
may be so excused by complying with this section. The member shall contact the Mayor, City Clerk, or City 
Supervisor prior to the meeting and state the reason for his/her inability to attend the meeting. Following roll 
call, the Presiding Officer shall inform the Council of the member's absence, and inquire if there is a motion to 
excuse the member. This motion shall be nondebatable. Upon passage of such motion by a majority of members 
present, the absent member shall be considered excused and the City Clerk will make an appropriate notation 
in the minutes. 

4. Respect and Decorum  
It is the duty of the Mayor and each Councilmember to maintain dignity and respect for their offices, City staff 
and the public. While the Council is in session, Councilmembers shall preserve order and decorum and a 
Councilmember shall neither by conversation or otherwise, delay or interrupt the proceedings of the Council, 
nor disrupt or disparage any Councilmember while speaking. Councilmembers and the public shall comply 
with the directives of the Presiding Officer. Any person making disruptive, disparaging or impertinent remarks 
or unreasonably disturbing the business of the Council, either while addressing the Council or attending its 
proceedings, shall be asked to cease such disruption, or may be asked to leave, or be removed from the meeting. 
At any time during any Council meeting, any Councilmember may object to personal affront or other 
inappropriate comments, by calling for a “point of order.” After the Councilmember is recognized by the 
Presiding Officer and the Councilmember explains their point concerning respect and decorum, or lack thereof, 
the Presiding Officer shall rule on the remark and may ask the person making the disturbance to cease or leave 
the room. Continued disruptions may result in a recess or adjournment as set forth in #8 below. 

5. Seating Arrangement  
Councilmembers shall occupy the respective seats in the Council Chamber assigned to them by the Mayor. 

6. Dissents and Protests  
Any Councilmember shall have the right to express dissent from or protest verbally or in writing, against any 
motion, ordinance or resolution of the Council and have the reason therefore entered or retained in the minutes. 

 .

7.  Councilmember Meeting Participation by Remote Attendance 

Remote Attendance.  In limited instances, the City would benefit by a Councilmember’s participation by means 
of remote communication. The Council recognizes the benefits of fullest practicable attendance and 
participation by its members.  Attendance from remote locations is intended to be an alternative and relatively 
infrequently used method for participation by Councilmembers.  

This policy shall apply to the entire City Council membership without regard to the identity of the member 
requesting remote participation or the matters that will be considered or voted on at the meeting.  Remote 
attendance protocol and procedures are as follows: 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 213 of 248



1) Quorum Required. The City Council may consider a request for participation by electronic 
communication means, on a case by case basis, only if a quorum of the Council is physically assembled at the 
primary or central meeting location, and there is an adequate arrangement for the voice of the remote participant 
to be heard by all persons at the primary or central meeting location. 

2) Participation from a remote attendance for voting purposes shall be allowed for public hearings or any 
quasi-judicial proceedings, and the requesting Councilmember shall declare that they have reviewed the 
associated material, if any, provided for those hearings and/or proceedings prior to the time the vote will be 
taken by Council. 

3) Approval. Individual participation from a remote location may be approved by the City Council, on a case 
by case basis, unless such participation would violate this policy or the provisions of the Washington Open 
Public Meetings Act (OPMA). If a Councilmember's participation from a remote location is challenged, then 
the City Council shall vote whether to allow such participation. If the City council votes to disapprove the 
Councilmember's participation because such participation would violate this policy, such disapproval shall be 
recorded in the Council's minutes with specific reasons cited for the disapproval. 

4) Permissible Reasons for Electronic Participation. Participation by a Councilmember in a meeting by 
electronic communication means shall only be allowed due to an emergency, a personal matter, or disability. 
Each Councilmember shall be limited each calendar year to participation by electronic means in two meetings 
for personal matters. 

5) Approval Process. No Councilmember may participate in a meeting by electronic communications means 
unless the Councilmember requests and the Council approves the participation in accordance with this policy. 
A Councilmember may request to participate in a meeting by electronic communication means if the 
Councilmember notifies the Mayor on or before the day of the meeting that the Councilmember is unable to 
attend due to the following: 

• Personal: an emergency or personal matter, provided that the Councilmember identifies with specificity 
the nature of the emergency or personal matter, or 

• Temporary or Permanent Disability: a temporary or permanent disability or other medical condition that 
prevents the Councilmember's physical attendance. Details of the specific disability or medical issue are not 
required. 

• The Mayor may approve a Councilmember's appearance at a Council meeting via remote communication 
in limited instances, including emergencies that require immediate action or remedy. 

6) In no event shall the Mayor approve a Councilmember's remote attendance unless satisfactory equipment 
is available - use of City-provided devices are preferred. Satisfactory equipment shall mean any telephone or 
other device equipped with a speaker function capable of broadcasting the Councilmember's voice attending 
clearly and sufficiently enough to be heard by those in attendance at the meeting. The device must allow the 
Councilmember to pose and answer questions as posed from time to time. It shall be the duty of the requesting 
Councilmember to ensure that any equipment or internet access used from their remote location has the 
capability to interface with the City's communication infrastructure. 

7) During any meeting that a Councilmember is attending via remote communication, the Mayor or presiding 
officer shall state for the record that a particular Councilmember is attending via remote communication and 
the reasons for such attendance. 

8) Upon adoption of a motion to approve the Councilmember's participation by electronic communication 
means, the Councilmember shall be allowed to fully participate in the meeting by electronic communication 
means. Councilmembers appearing via remote communication will participate and vote during the meeting as 
if they were physically present at the meeting. The Councilmember's vote must be audibly provided so that any 
participant may hear their vote. The Mayor will confirm the vote. Councilmembers will have the opportunity 
to •eorlieci immediately following titimiclitei Affacak'dannouncement. Page 214 of 248 

1) Quorum Required. The City Council may consider a request for participation by electronic 
communication means, on a case by case basis, only if a quorum of the Council is physically assembled at the 
primary or central meeting location, and there is an adequate arrangement for the voice of the remote participant 
to be heard by all persons at the primary or central meeting location. 

2) Participation from a remote attendance for voting purposes shall be allowed for public hearings or any 
quasi-judicial proceedings, and the requesting Councilmember shall declare that they have reviewed the 
associated material, if any, provided for those hearings and/or proceedings prior to the time the vote will be 
taken by Council. 

3) Approval. Individual participation from a remote location may be approved by the City Council, on a case 
by case basis, unless such participation would violate this policy or the provisions of the Washington Open 
Public Meetings Act (OPMA). If a Councilmember’s participation from a remote location is challenged, then 
the City Council shall vote whether to allow such participation. If the City council votes to disapprove the 
Councilmember’s participation because such participation would violate this policy, such disapproval shall be 
recorded in the Council’s minutes with specific reasons cited for the disapproval. 

4) Permissible Reasons for Electronic Participation.  Participation by a Councilmember in a meeting by 
electronic communication means shall only be allowed due to an emergency, a personal matter, or disability. 
Each Councilmember shall be limited each calendar year to participation by electronic means in two meetings 
for personal matters. 

5) Approval Process. No Councilmember may participate in a meeting by electronic communications means 
unless the Councilmember requests and the Council approves the participation in accordance with this policy.  
A Councilmember may request to participate in a meeting by electronic communication means if the 
Councilmember notifies the Mayor on or before the day of the meeting that the Councilmember is unable to 
attend due to the following: 

• Personal: an emergency or personal matter, provided that the Councilmember identifies with specificity 
the nature of the emergency or personal matter, or 

• Temporary or Permanent Disability: a temporary or permanent disability or other medical condition that 
prevents the Councilmember’s physical attendance.  Details of the specific disability or medical issue are not 
required. 

• The Mayor may approve a Councilmember’s appearance at a Council meeting via remote communication 
in limited instances, including emergencies that require immediate action or remedy. 

6) In no event shall the Mayor approve a Councilmember’s remote attendance unless satisfactory equipment 
is available - use of City-provided devices are preferred.  Satisfactory equipment shall mean any telephone or 
other device equipped with a speaker function capable of broadcasting the Councilmember’s voice attending 
clearly and sufficiently enough to be heard by those in attendance at the meeting. The device must allow the 
Councilmember to pose and answer questions as posed from time to time.  It shall be the duty of the requesting 
Councilmember to ensure that any equipment or internet access used from their remote location has the 
capability to interface with the City’s communication infrastructure. 

7) During any meeting that a Councilmember is attending via remote communication, the Mayor or presiding 
officer shall state for the record that a particular Councilmember is attending via remote communication and 
the reasons for such attendance. 

8) Upon adoption of a motion to approve the Councilmember’s participation by electronic communication 
means, the Councilmember shall be allowed to fully participate in the meeting by electronic communication 
means.  Councilmembers appearing via remote communication will participate and vote during the meeting as 
if they were physically present at the meeting. The Councilmember’s vote must be audibly provided so that any 
participant may hear their vote. The Mayor will confirm the vote. Councilmembers will have the opportunity 
to correct their vote immediately following the Presiding Officer’s announcement. Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 214 of 248



9) Councilmembers appearing by remote communication shall comply with all OPMA regulations and the 
City of Sedro-Woolley City Council Governance Handbook as if they were physically present at the meeting. 

10) Any software and devices must comply with the City Information Technology (IT) policies. 

11) Any technical prohibitions or difficulties that prevent all Councilmembers participating in the meeting 
from adequately hearing and speaking to each other shall be addressed immediately. 

12) In the case of executive sessions, the Council may permit participation from remote location(s) only when 
the Council on a case-by-case basis considers such participation to be necessary and the Council is confident in 
the security of such remote communications. 

13) In the event of an emergency, or event where public facilities are not open, all of City Council may appear 
by remote communication. Unless relevant OPMA provisions are suspended, the following will apply: 

• Per OPMA, it is required that the meeting location shown in the meeting notices be open to the public, 
and audio must be available so that all actions being taken can be heard. 
• If all elected officials are remote, and the meeting place cannot be opened and set up for public access, 
the meeting must be cancelled. 
• A call-in number will be provided and included in the notice of the meeting, so that members of the public 
have an opportunity to participate. 

8. Internet Use 
Use of the City's network systems implies Council is aware of and understands that the system is provided to 
assist in the performance of their roles as Councilmembers, and as such, Councilmembers are obligated to use, 
conserve and protect electronic information and information technology resources and to preserve and enhance 
the integrity of those resources which belong to the citizens of Sedro-Woolley. 

a. As noted on page 8, Councilmembers will avoid accessing any electronic message during Council 
meetings. Accessing such communication could be construed as receiving public comment without the benefit 
of having the citizen in person to address their concerns. Likewise, Councilmembers will avoid doing any 
browsing of the Internet of non-City business during Council meetings in order that Council's full attention can 
be given to the topic at hand. 

b. Information technology resources are provided for the purpose of conducting official City business. 
The use of any of the City's information technology resources for campaign or political use, unless such use 
has been determined not a violation of RCW 42.17A.555 by the City Attorney, Washington State Attorney 
General, or Washington Public Disclosure Commission, or as otherwise authorized by law, is absolutely 
prohibited. 

c. Confidential material shall not be sent via e-mail. 
a. All letters, memoranda, and interactive computer communication (e-mail) involving 

Councilmembers, the subject of which relates to the conduct of government or the performance of any 
governmental function, with specific exceptions stated in the Public Records Act (RCW 42.56) are public 
records. Copies of such letters, memoranda and interactive computer communication shall not be provided to 
the public or news media without filing of a public disclosure request with the City Clerk. 

d. E-mail communications that are intended to be distributed among all Councilmembers, whether 
concurrently or serially, shall be considered in light of the Open Public Meetings Act. If the intended purpose 
of an e-mail is to have a discussion that should be held at an open meeting, the electronic discussion should not 
occur, and Council discussion should wait until everyone has had ample opportunity to view the message before 
including such topic(s) on an upcoming agenda. 

9. Adjournment Due to Emergency or Disruption 
In the event of an emergency such as a fire or other natural or catastrophic disaster, threatened violence, or 
inability to regain good order, the Presiding Officer shall forthwith declare a recess, adjourn, or continue the 
meeting, and the City Council as well as everyone in the room shall immediately leave the meeting room. The 

Sed ro-Wool ley City Council Packet Page 215 of 24€ 

9) Councilmembers appearing by remote communication shall comply with all OPMA regulations and the 
City of Sedro-Woolley City Council Governance Handbook as if they were physically present at the meeting.  

10) Any software and devices must comply with the City Information Technology (IT) policies. 

11) Any technical prohibitions or difficulties that prevent all Councilmembers participating in the meeting 
from adequately hearing and speaking to each other shall be addressed immediately.  

12) In the case of executive sessions, the Council may permit participation from remote location(s) only when 
the Council on a case-by-case basis considers such participation to be necessary and the Council is confident in 
the security of such remote communications. 

13) In the event of an emergency, or event where public facilities are not open, all of City Council may appear 
by remote communication.  Unless relevant OPMA provisions are suspended, the following will apply: 

• Per OPMA, it is required that the meeting location shown in the meeting notices be open to the public, 
and audio must be available so that all actions being taken can be heard.  
• If all elected officials are remote, and the meeting place cannot be opened and set up for public access, 
the meeting must be cancelled.   
• A call-in number will be provided and included in the notice of the meeting, so that members of the public 
have an opportunity to participate. 

8. Internet Use  
Use of the City’s network systems implies Council is aware of and understands that the system is provided to 
assist in the performance of their roles as Councilmembers, and as such, Councilmembers are obligated to use, 
conserve and protect electronic information and information technology resources and to preserve and enhance 
the integrity of those resources which belong to the citizens of Sedro-Woolley. 

a. As noted on page 8, Councilmembers will avoid accessing any electronic message during Council 
meetings. Accessing such communication could be construed as receiving public comment without the benefit 
of having the citizen in person to address their concerns. Likewise, Councilmembers will avoid doing any 
browsing of the Internet of non-City business during Council meetings in order that Council’s full attention can 
be given to the topic at hand. 

b. Information technology resources are provided for the purpose of conducting official City business. 
The use of any of the City’s information technology resources for campaign or political use, unless such use 
has been determined not a violation of RCW 42.17A.555 by the City Attorney, Washington State Attorney 
General, or Washington Public Disclosure Commission, or as otherwise authorized by law, is absolutely 
prohibited. 

c. Confidential material shall not be sent via e-mail. 
a. All letters, memoranda, and interactive computer communication (e-mail) involving 

Councilmembers, the subject of which relates to the conduct of government or the performance of any 
governmental function, with specific exceptions stated in the Public Records Act (RCW 42.56) are public 
records. Copies of such letters, memoranda and interactive computer communication shall not be provided to 
the public or news media without filing of a public disclosure request with the City Clerk. 

d. E-mail communications that are intended to be distributed among all Councilmembers, whether 
concurrently or serially, shall be considered in light of the Open Public Meetings Act. If the intended purpose 
of an e-mail is to have a discussion that should be held at an open meeting, the electronic discussion should not 
occur, and Council discussion should wait until everyone has had ample opportunity to view the message before 
including such topic(s) on an upcoming agenda. 

9. Adjournment Due to Emergency or Disruption  
In the event of an emergency such as a fire or other natural or catastrophic disaster, threatened violence, or 
inability to regain good order, the Presiding Officer shall forthwith declare a recess, adjourn, or continue the 
meeting, and the City Council as well as everyone in the room shall immediately leave the meeting room. The 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 215 of 248



Presiding Officer may reconvene the meeting when it has been determined by the appropriate safety officials 
that it is safe to do so. 

10. Permission Required to Address the Council 
Persons other than Councilmembers and staff shall be permitted to address the Council upon recognition 
and/or introduction by the Presiding Officer or City Supervisor. 

11. Approaching the Dais 
Once a Council meeting has been called to order, stepping between the podium and the dais will not be 
allowed, and stepping behind any part of the dais, including those parts occupied by staff is also not permitted. 
This includes, but is not limited to, video recording, still photography, tape recording, and distributing written 
handouts. Council reserves the right to invite anyone forward to the podium to be addressed by Council. 

14 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 216 of 248 

Presiding Officer may reconvene the meeting when it has been determined by the appropriate safety officials 
that it is safe to do so. 

10. Permission Required to Address the Council 
Persons other than Councilmembers and staff shall be permitted to address the Council upon recognition 
and/or introduction by the Presiding Officer or City Supervisor. 

11. Approaching the Dais  
Once a Council meeting has been called to order, stepping between the podium and the dais will not be 
allowed, and stepping behind any part of the dais, including those parts occupied by staff is also not permitted. 
This includes, but is not limited to, video recording, still photography, tape recording, and distributing written 
handouts. Council reserves the right to invite anyone forward to the podium to be addressed by Council. 

1 4  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 216 of 248



12. Out of Order Requests 
Occasionally a member of the public may wish to speak on an agenda item but cannot remain until the item is 
reached on the agenda. During "Open Comments From the Public," such person may request permission to 
speak by explaining the circumstances. The Presiding Officer in his/her sole discretion shall rule on allowing 
or disallowing the out of order request. 

13. Photographs, Motion Pictures or Video Tape Requiring Artificial Illumination - Prior 
Permission Required 
No overhead projection, photographs, motion pictures, or video tapes that require the use of floodlights, or 
similar artificial illumination shall be used by the public at City Council meetings without the prior consent of 
the Presiding Officer. 

14. Voting 
The votes during all meetings of the Council shall be transacted as follows: 

a. The Presiding Officer shall first call for a vote from those in favor of the motion, followed by a call 
for those opposed to the motion, and afterwards shall state whether the motion passed or failed. Unless 
otherwise provided by statute, ordinance, or resolution, all votes shall be taken by voice. At the request 
of any Councilmember or the City Clerk, a roll call vote shall be taken by the City Clerk. The order of 
the roll call vote shall be determined by the City Clerk. 
b. In case of a tie vote on any proposal, the motion shall be considered lost (Note that in some instances 
the Mayor is authorized to break a tie vote, see RCW 35A.12.100 which allows the Mayor to cast a 
tie-breaking vote with respect to matters other than the passage of any ordinance, grant, or revocation 
of franchise or license, or any resolution for the payment of money). 
c. Every member who was present when the question was called, shall give his/her vote. If any 
Councilmember refuses to vote "aye" or "nay," their vote shall be counted as an "aye" vote unless the 
Councilmember has abstained or recused themself due to actual or perceived appearance of a conflict 
of interest, which shall be so stated prior to the vote at hand. 
d. The passage of any ordinance, grant or revocation of franchise or license, and any resolution for 
the payment of money and any approval of warrants, shall require the affirmative vote of at least a 
majority of the whole membership of the Council'. Except as provided in "e" below, all other motions 
or resolutions shall require an affirmative vote of at least a majority of the quorum present. 
e. Majority Plus One: The passage of any public emergency ordinance (an ordinance that takes effect 
immediately), expenditures for any calamity, violence of nature, riot, insurrection, or war; and 
provisions for a lesser emergency, such as a budget amendment (RCW 35A.33.090), shall require the 
affirmative vote of at least a majority plus one of the whole membership of the Council. (RCW 
35A.13.19012). 

i RCW 35A.12.120 Council-Quorum-Rules-Voting 

15 
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 217 of 248 

- 

- 

- 

- 

12. Out of Order Requests  
Occasionally a member of the public may wish to speak on an agenda item but cannot remain until the item is 
reached on the agenda. During “Open Comments From the Public,” such person may request permission to 
speak by explaining the circumstances. The Presiding Officer in his/her sole discretion shall rule on allowing 
or disallowing the out of order request. 

13. Photographs, Motion Pictures or Video Tape Requiring Artificial Illumination – Prior 
Permission Required  
No overhead projection, photographs, motion pictures, or video tapes that require the use of floodlights, or 
similar artificial illumination shall be used by the public at City Council meetings without the prior consent of 
the Presiding Officer. 

14. Voting   
The votes during all meetings of the Council shall be transacted as follows: 

a. The Presiding Officer shall first call for a vote from those in favor of the motion, followed by a call 
for those opposed to the motion, and afterwards shall state whether the motion passed or failed. Unless 
otherwise provided by statute, ordinance, or resolution, all votes shall be taken by voice. At the request 
of any Councilmember or the City Clerk, a roll call vote shall be taken by the City Clerk. The order of 
the roll call vote shall be determined by the City Clerk. 
b. In case of a tie vote on any proposal, the motion shall be considered lost (Note that in some instances 
the Mayor is authorized to break a tie vote, see RCW 35A.12.100 which allows the Mayor to cast a 
tie-breaking vote with respect to matters other than the passage of any ordinance, grant, or revocation 
of franchise or license, or any resolution for the payment of money). 
c. Every member who was present when the question was called, shall give his/her vote. If any 
Councilmember refuses to vote “aye” or “nay,” their vote shall be counted as an “aye” vote unless the 
Councilmember has abstained or recused themself due to actual or perceived appearance of a conflict 
of interest, which shall be so stated prior to the vote at hand. 
d. The passage of any ordinance, grant or revocation of franchise or license, and any resolution for 
the payment of money and any approval of warrants, shall require the affirmative vote of at least a 
majority of the whole membership of the Council1. Except as provided in “e” below, all other motions 
or resolutions shall require an affirmative vote of at least a majority of the quorum present. 
e. Majority Plus One: The passage of any public emergency ordinance (an ordinance that takes effect 
immediately), expenditures for any calamity, violence of nature, riot, insurrection, or war; and 
provisions for a lesser emergency, such as a budget amendment (RCW 35A.33.090), shall require the 
affirmative vote of at least a majority plus one of the whole membership of the Council. (RCW 
35A.13.19012). 

1 RCW 35A.12.120 Council-Quorum-Rules-Voting

15
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 217 of 248



15. Motions and Discussion 
a. Order of Procedure: 

1. Staff makes their presentation. 
Mayor asks Council if there are any questions for staff. 
Member of Council makes a motion by stating: "I move . . ." 
The motion is seconded. 

4. If public comments are allowed on the item, the Mayor invites public comments. Public comments 
should be limited to one comment per person per topic and limited to three minutes. Mayor reminds 
the public this is time for comments and not discussion; and if the public has questions, those 
questions will be addressed by staff at another time outside the meeting. 

2. Mayor opens the floor to Council for discussion. 
The maker of the motion normally begins the discussion. 
The discussion must have bearing on whether the pending motion should be adopted (RONR 

§43); and can be prefaced by a few words of explanation, but must not become a speech (RONR 
§4). All Council remarks should be addressed through the Mayor. 

3. When discussion has ended, the Mayor re-states the motion or asks the Clerk to re-state the 
motion. Once the motion is re-stated, the Mayor calls for the vote, which is normally taken by voice. 
The Mayor then states whether the motion passed or failed. 

b. In General: 
1. Except in rare circumstances, Council motions shall be in the form of an affirmative motion. 
Affirmative motions are preferred to prevent "approval by default" of a failed negative motion. 
2. Agenda items scheduled for Council action shall require a motion by a Councilmember before 
discussion unless the Council suspends the requirement by majority vote. Upon failure of either a prior 
motion or rule suspension, the agenda item shall be passed over and may not be reintroduced until the 
next regular meeting. (Mayoral appointments excepted. See Committees for further discussion.) 
4. Councilmembers should direct questions to the City Supervisor or the designated presenter. 
5. Main motions are made when no other motion is pending (see chart below). They are debatable 
and subject to amendment. Since seconding a motion means "let's discuss it," if there is no second but 
discussion ensues, the matter of having a second to proceed is moot and the motion can proceed. 
However, if there is no second and no discussion, the motion does not progress. Note that the motion 
does not "die for a lack of a second" but it merely does not progress. 
6. The maker of a motion can withdraw their motion without the consent of the seconder, and if 
the mover modifies the motion, the seconder can withdraw the second. The person making the motion 
is entitled to speak first to the motion. A maker of the motion can vote against the motion but cannot 
speak against their own motion. 
7. No one should be permitted to speak twice to the same issue until everyone else wishing to speak 
has spoken. All remarks must be directed to the Presiding Officer and must be courteous in language 
and deportment (Robert's Rules of Order Newly Revised, Article VII, Section 43, Decorum in Debate), 
keeping in mind it is not the Councilmember, but the measure that is the subject of debate. 
8. When an amended motion is on the floor, the vote is taken on whether to adopt the amendment. 
If adopted, the next vote is on the fully amended motion. 
9. Motions should be reserved for items marked on the agenda for action, so as to avoid any 
surprises for Council, staff and the public. 

16 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 218 of 248 

15. Motions and Discussion  
a. Order of Procedure: 

1. Staff makes their presentation. 
Mayor asks Council if there are any questions for staff. 
Member of Council makes a motion by stating: “I move . . .” 
The motion is seconded. 

4. If public comments are allowed on the item, the Mayor invites public comments. Public comments 
should be limited to one comment per person per topic and limited to three minutes. Mayor reminds 
the public this is time for comments and not discussion; and if the public has questions, those 
questions will be addressed by staff at another time outside the meeting. 

2. Mayor opens the floor to Council for discussion. 
The maker of the motion normally begins the discussion. 
The discussion must have bearing on whether the pending motion should be adopted (RONR 

§43); and can be prefaced by a few words of explanation, but must not become a speech (RONR 
§4). All Council remarks should be addressed through the Mayor. 

3. When discussion has ended, the Mayor re-states the motion or asks the Clerk to re-state the 
motion. Once the motion is re-stated, the Mayor calls for the vote, which is normally taken by voice. 
The Mayor then states whether the motion passed or failed. 

b. In General: 
1. Except in rare circumstances, Council motions shall be in the form of an affirmative motion. 
Affirmative motions are preferred to prevent “approval by default” of a failed negative motion. 
2. Agenda items scheduled for Council action shall require a motion by a Councilmember before 
discussion unless the Council suspends the requirement by majority vote. Upon failure of either a prior 
motion or rule suspension, the agenda item shall be passed over and may not be reintroduced until the 
next regular meeting. (Mayoral appointments excepted. See Committees for further discussion.) 
4. Councilmembers should direct questions to the City Supervisor or the designated presenter. 
5. Main motions are made when no other motion is pending (see chart below). They are debatable 
and subject to amendment. Since seconding a motion means “let’s discuss it,” if there is no second but 
discussion ensues, the matter of having a second to proceed is moot and the motion can proceed. 
However, if there is no second and no discussion, the motion does not progress. Note that the motion 
does not “die for a lack of a second” but it merely does not progress. 
6. The maker of a motion can withdraw their motion without the consent of the seconder, and if 
the mover modifies the motion, the seconder can withdraw the second. The person making the motion 
is entitled to speak first to the motion. A maker of the motion can vote against the motion but cannot 
speak against their own motion. 
7. No one should be permitted to speak twice to the same issue until everyone else wishing to speak 
has spoken. All remarks must be directed to the Presiding Officer and must be courteous in language 
and deportment (Robert’s Rules of Order Newly Revised, Article VII, Section 43, Decorum in Debate), 
keeping in mind it is not the Councilmember, but the measure that is the subject of debate. 
8. When an amended motion is on the floor, the vote is taken on whether to adopt the amendment. 
If adopted, the next vote is on the fully amended motion. 
9. Motions should be reserved for items marked on the agenda for action, so as to avoid any 
surprises for Council, staff and the public. 

1 6  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 218 of 248



Parliamentary Procedure at a Glance 
Roberts 
Rules of 
Order § 

 IF YOU 
WANT TO YOU SAY 

INTERRUPT

? 

NEED
2ND? 

Can be 
Debate

d ? 

Can be 
Amended? VOTE 

11 Postpone 
indefinitely (the 
purpose is to 
prevent action 
or kill an issue.) 

I move to postpone . 
. . . (an affirmative 
vote can be 
reconsidered; a 
negative vote 
cannot.) indefinitely No Yes Yes No Majority 

12 Modify wording 
of motion 

I move to amend the 
motion by . . . 

No Yes Yes Yes** Majority 

14 Postpone to a 
certain time 

Ex: I move to 
postpone the 
motion to the next 
Council meeting. 

No Yes Yes Yes Majority 

16 Close debate I move the previous 
question, or I call for 
the question 

No Yes No No Majority* 

17 To Table a 
motion 

I move to lay on the 
table, the motion to No Yes No No Majority 

19 Complain about 
noise, room 
temperatures, 
etc. 

Point of Privilege 

Yes Yes Yes Yes
Chair 
decision 

20 Take break I move to recess for . 

No Yes No Yes Majority 

21 Adjourn 
meeting 

I move to adjourn 

No Yes No No Majority 

23 Object to 
procedure or 
personal affront 

Point of Order 

Yes No No No 
Chair 
decision 

25 Suspend rules I move to suspend 
the rules and . . . No Yes No No Majority* 

34 Take matter 
from table 

I move to take from 
the table the motion 

No Yes No 
No 

Majority 

35 Reconsider 
something 
already 
disposed of 

I move we reconsider 
action on . . . 

No Yes Yes Yes Majority 

It should be noted that the purpose of tabling a motion is not to simply postpone an issue or a vote. If the intended purpose is to postpone, 
then the motion to postpone should be used. If more information is needed or desired in order to make the most informed vote possible, 
then an option would be for the maker of the motion to simply withdraw the motion. The consent of the seconder is not needed to withdraw 
a motion. While a motion is still on the table, no other motion on the same subject is in order. The motion to table enables the assembly 
to lay the pending question aside temporarily when something else of immediate urgency has arisen. The motion to "Lay on the 
Table" is out of order if the evident intent is to kill or avoid dealing with a measure. (Robert's Rules of Order Newly Revised, 10th 
Edition) *(Robert's Rules of Order Newly Revised states 2/3 vote required. Council direction is to base vote on majority except on matters 
where 2/3 (or majority plus one) is required by state statute. 
** If the main motion to amend can be amended. 

Call for the Question: if it is felt that debate on a motion on the floor has dragged on longer than 
warranted, a member of Council may "call the question." The "call for the question" is a motion to end debate 

17 
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 219 of 248 

Parliamentary Procedure at a Glance 
Roberts 
Rules of 
Order § 

IF YOU  
WANT TO YOU SAY 

INTERRUPT 
? 

NEED  
2ND? 

Can be 
Debate
d ? 

Can be 
Amended? VOTE 

11 Postpone 
indefinitely (the 
purpose is to 
prevent action 
or kill an issue.) 

I move to postpone . 
. . . (an affirmative 
vote can be 
reconsidered; a 
negative vote 
cannot.) indefinitely No Yes Yes No Majority 

12 Modify wording 
of motion 

I move to amend the 
motion by . . . 

No Yes Yes Yes** Majority 

14 Postpone to a 
certain time 

Ex: I move to 
postpone the 
motion to the next 
Council meeting. 

No Yes Yes Yes Majority 

16 Close debate I move the previous 
question, or I call for 
the question 

No Yes No No Majority* 

17 To Table a  
motion 

I move to lay on the 
table, the motion to No Yes No No Majority 

19 Complain about 
noise, room 
temperatures, 
etc. 

Point of Privilege 

Yes Yes Yes 
Yes 

Chair 
decision 

20 Take break I move to recess for . 
. . No Yes No Yes Majority 

21 Adjourn  
meeting 

I move to adjourn 

No Yes No No Majority 

23 Object to 
procedure or 
personal affront 

Point of Order 

Yes No No No 
Chair 
decision 

25 Suspend rules I move to suspend 
the rules and . . . No Yes No No Majority* 

34 Take matter  
from table 

I move to take from 
the table the motion 
to . . . No Yes No 

No 
Majority 

35 Reconsider  
something  
already  
disposed of 

I move we reconsider 
action on . . . 

No Yes Yes 
Yes 

Majority 

It should be noted that the purpose of tabling a motion is not to simply postpone an issue or a vote. If the intended purpose is to postpone, 
then the motion to postpone should be used. If more information is needed or desired in order to make the most informed vote possible, 
then an option would be for the maker of the motion to simply withdraw the motion. The consent of the seconder is not needed to withdraw 
a motion. While a motion is still on the table, no other motion on the same subject is in order. The motion to table enables the assembly 
to lay the pending question aside temporarily when something else of immediate urgency has arisen. The motion to “Lay on the 
Table” is out of order if the evident intent is to kill or avoid dealing with a measure. (Robert’s Rules of Order Newly Revised, 10th

Edition) *(Robert’s Rules of Order Newly Revised states 2/3 vote required. Council direction is to base vote on majority except on matters 
where 2/3 (or majority plus one) is required by state statute. 

** If the main motion to amend can be amended.
Call for the Question: if it is felt that debate on a motion on the floor has dragged on longer than 

warranted, a member of Council may "call the question." The "call for the question" is a motion to end debate 

1 7  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 219 of 248



and vote immediately. If this "call for the question" motion is passed by a majority vote, then the vote must be 
taken on the original debated motion on the floor. 

16. Ordinances 
Except for unusual circumstances or emergencies, ordinances and resolutions will customarily be prepared, 
introduced and proceed in accordance with the "Three Touch Principle." Prior to final passage of all ordinances 
or resolutions, such documents shall be designated as drafts. 

a. A Councilmember may, in open session, request of the Mayor that the Council consider enacting 
an ordinance for a specific purpose. The Mayor then may assign the proposed ordinance to the 
administration, a committee, or the Council for consideration. The committee or administration shall 
report its findings to the Council. Citizens, Boards and Commissions may also propose consideration 
of ordinances and resolutions. 
b. Sponsorship. When a Councilmember wishes to assume sponsorship of an ordinance or resolution, 
once on the agenda, he or she should so announce, make the initial motion and provide an introduction 
of the measure. 
e. Ordinances shall normally have two separate readings at separate Council meetings. 
f. The provision requiring two separate readings of an ordinance may be waived at any meeting of the 
Council by a majority vote of all members present. (This would require a successful motion to suspend 
the rules and pass the ordinance on a first reading.) 
g. If a motion to pass an ordinance to a second reading fails, the ordinance shall be considered lost, 
unless a subsequent motion directs its revision and resubmission to first reading. 
h. Any ordinance repealing any portion of the Sedro-Woolley Municipal Code shall also repeal the 
respective portions of the underlying ordinance(s). Ordinances repealing earlier ordinances shall not 
apply to acts, incidents, transactions or decisions occurring before such repeal. 

17. Resolutions 
A resolution may be approved on the same day it is introduced. Council may invoke the two reading 
procedures described above to facilitate public understanding and/or comment on the resolution. 

18. Reconsideration 
The purpose of reconsidering a vote is to permit correction of hasty, ill-advised, or erroneous action, or to take 
into account added information or a changed situation that has developed since the taking of the vote. Any 
action of the Council, including final action on applications for legislative changes in land use status, shall be 
subject to a motion to reconsider except: 

1. any action previously reconsidered; 
2. motions to adjourn or motions to suspend the rules; 
3. an affirmative vote to lay an item on, or take an item from, the table; 
4. a previously passed motion to suspend the rules; or 
5. a vote electing to office one who is present and does not decline. 

Such motion for reconsideration: 
1. must be reconsidered during the same Council meeting; 
2. must be called up when no business is pending (no action is pending); 
2. if action is pending, the Mayor asks the Clerk to note that the motion to reconsider has 

been made and is to be taken up when a member calls the motion to reconsider the vote 
when no other business (action ) is pending; 

3. must be made by a member who voted on the prevailing side on the original motion. This 
means a reconsideration can be moved only by one who voted aye if the motion involved was adopted, or 
no if the motion was lost. It is permissible for a Councilmembr who cannot make such a motion, but 
believes there are valid reasons for one, to try to persuade someone who voted on the prevailing side, to 
make such a motion. 

4. a member who makes this motion should state that he or she voted on the prevailing side; 
5. needs a second, and can be seconded by any member; 
6. is debatable if the type of motion it reconsiders is debatable; and 

18 
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 220 of 248 

and vote immediately. If this "call for the question" motion is passed by a majority vote, then the vote must be 
taken on the original debated motion on the floor. 

16. Ordinances   
Except for unusual circumstances or emergencies, ordinances and resolutions will customarily be prepared, 
introduced and proceed in accordance with the “Three Touch Principle.” Prior to final passage of all ordinances 
or resolutions, such documents shall be designated as drafts. 

a. A Councilmember may, in open session, request of the Mayor that the Council consider enacting 
an ordinance for a specific purpose. The Mayor then may assign the proposed ordinance to the 
administration, a committee, or the Council for consideration. The committee or administration shall 
report its findings to the Council. Citizens, Boards and Commissions may also propose consideration 
of ordinances and resolutions. 
b. Sponsorship. When a Councilmember wishes to assume sponsorship of an ordinance or resolution, 
once on the agenda, he or she should so announce, make the initial motion and provide an introduction 
of the measure. 
e. Ordinances shall normally have two separate readings at separate Council meetings. 
f.The provision requiring two separate readings of an ordinance may be waived at any meeting of the 
Council by a majority vote of all members present. (This would require a successful motion to suspend 
the rules and pass the ordinance on a first reading.) 
g. If a motion to pass an ordinance to a second reading fails, the ordinance shall be considered lost, 
unless a subsequent motion directs its revision and resubmission to first reading. 
h. Any ordinance repealing any portion of the Sedro-Woolley Municipal Code shall also repeal the 
respective portions of the underlying ordinance(s). Ordinances repealing earlier ordinances shall not 
apply to acts, incidents, transactions or decisions occurring before such repeal. 

17. Resolutions   
A resolution may be approved on the same day it is introduced. Council may invoke the two reading 
procedures described above to facilitate public understanding and/or comment on the resolution. 

18. Reconsideration   
The purpose of reconsidering a vote is to permit correction of hasty, ill-advised, or erroneous action, or to take 
into account added information or a changed situation that has developed since the taking of the vote. Any 
action of the Council, including final action on applications for legislative changes in land use status, shall be 
subject to a motion to reconsider except: 

1. any action previously reconsidered; 
2. motions to adjourn or motions to suspend the rules; 
3. an affirmative vote to lay an item on, or take an item from, the table; 
4. a previously passed motion to suspend the rules; or 
5. a vote electing to office one who is present and does not decline.  

Such motion for reconsideration: 
1. must be reconsidered during the same Council meeting; 
2. must be called up when no business is pending (no action is pending); 
2. if action is pending, the Mayor asks the Clerk to note that the motion to reconsider has 

been made and is to be taken up when a member calls the motion to reconsider the vote 
when no other business (action ) is pending; 

3. must be made by a member who voted on the prevailing side on the original motion. This  
means a reconsideration can be moved only by one who voted aye if the motion involved was adopted, or 
no if the motion was lost. It is permissible for a Councilmembr who cannot make such a motion, but 
believes there are valid reasons for one, to try to persuade someone who voted on the prevailing side, to 
make such a motion. 

4. a member who makes this motion should state that he or she voted on the prevailing side; 
5. needs a second, and can be seconded by any member; 
6. is debatable if the type of motion it reconsiders is debatable; and 

1 8  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 220 of 248



8. is not amendable and requires a majority vote to adopt. 

Step 1: A Councilmember who voted on the prevailing side makes the motion, such as "I move to reconsider 
the vote on the resolution relating to holidays. I vote for [or against] the resolution." This motion needs a second 
and can be seconded by any Councilmember. If the motion for reconsideration is adopted, the original motion 
is then placed before Council as if that motion had not been voted on previously; and Council again takes that 
motion under discussion, followed by a new vote. 

Any motion for reconsideration of a matter which was the subject of a required public hearing or which is a 
quasi-judicial matter, may not be discussed or acted upon unless and until the parties or their attorneys and the 
persons testifying have been given at least five days advance notice of such discussion and/or action. 

19. Council Materials 
a. Council Material 
Councilmembers and staff should read the agenda material and ask clarifying questions of the City 
Supervisor or other appropriate staff prior to the Council meeting when possible. Council recognizes 
there are times when Councilmembers may wish to bring additional documentation to a meeting on a 
specific subject, whether that subject is on the agenda or not, in order to share with Council and staff 
When possible, the materials should be distributed to Councilmembers and staff prior to the Council 
meeting, or if distributed during a meeting, Councilmembers should indicate the materials are for future 
reading, since except in an emergency, Councilmembers would normally not take time at the dais to 
read material just received. Pre-scheduled materials Council wishes to share as part of the Council 
packet could also be included on study session agendas under "Council Comments." [See also page 10] 

b. Council Packets 
Councilmembers shall personally download their Council packet via the City's website on their City 
provided tablet device. 

c. Packet Materials 
Council memos: This is a cover memo used by staff to introduce an agenda item. It includes the 
background on the topic and options for Council consideration as well as a staff recommended action 
or motion. The options and recommended action or motion should be viewed as aids to Council in 
making a motion or taking action, but should not be thought of as obligatory, as Council always has the 
option of making a motion different from what is included on the memo. Generally, by the time an item 
is ready for a motion, Council has already read, heard, and/or discussed the item at least three times (as 
an informational item, an administrative report, and lastly as an action item), and the wording of a 
motion would not normally be controversial, although it is important to state the motion as a motion, 
such as "I move to" or "I move that" or other similar language. 

20. "Three Touch Principle" 
Decision makers and citizens at all levels of the City should have adequate time to thoroughly consider the 
issues prior to final decisions. It is the intent of the Council that the Council and administration shall abide by 
the "Three Touch Principle" whenever possible. These procedural guidelines are designed to avoid "surprises" 
to the City Council, citizens and administrative personnel. 

Any request or proposal for adopting or changing public policy, ordinances, resolutions or City Council 
directives which will require a decision of the City Council, or administration, should "touch" the decision 
makers three separate times. This includes verbal or written reports, "information only" agenda items, or any 
combination thereof. To facilitate the Council's strategic use of legislative time at its meeting, staff may satisfy 
the first touch by issuing an informational memorandum, unless the subject matter is complex in nature. Quasi-
judicial matters and any subject discussed in executive sessions are excluded from application of the "Three 
Touch Principle." 

19 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 221 of 248 

8. is not amendable and requires a majority vote to adopt. 

Step 1: A Councilmember who voted on the prevailing side makes the motion, such as "I move to reconsider 
the vote on the resolution relating to holidays. I vote for [or against] the resolution." This motion needs a second 
and can be seconded by any Councilmember. If the motion for reconsideration is adopted, the original motion 
is then placed before Council as if that motion had not been voted on previously; and Council again takes that 
motion under discussion, followed by a new vote. 

Any motion for reconsideration of a matter which was the subject of a required public hearing or which is a 
quasi-judicial matter, may not be discussed or acted upon unless and until the parties or their attorneys and the 
persons testifying have been given at least five days advance notice of such discussion and/or action. 

19. Council Materials  
a. Council Material  
Councilmembers and staff should read the agenda material and ask clarifying questions of the City 
Supervisor or other appropriate staff prior to the Council meeting when possible. Council recognizes 
there are times when Councilmembers may wish to bring additional documentation to a meeting on a 
specific subject, whether that subject is on the agenda or not, in order to share with Council and staff. 
When possible, the materials should be distributed to Councilmembers and staff prior to the Council 
meeting, or if distributed during a meeting, Councilmembers should indicate the materials are for future 
reading, since except in an emergency, Councilmembers would normally not take time at the dais to 
read material just received. Pre-scheduled materials Council wishes to share as part of the Council 
packet could also be included on study session agendas under “Council Comments.” [See also page 10] 

b. Council Packets  
Councilmembers shall personally download their Council packet via the City’s website on their City 
provided tablet device. 

c. Packet Materials  
Council memos: This is a cover memo used by staff to introduce an agenda item. It includes the 
background on the topic and options for Council consideration as well as a staff recommended action 
or motion. The options and recommended action or motion should be viewed as aids to Council in 
making a motion or taking action, but should not be thought of as obligatory, as Council always has the 
option of making a motion different from what is included on the memo. Generally, by the time an item 
is ready for a motion, Council has already read, heard, and/or discussed the item at least three times (as 
an informational item, an administrative report, and lastly as an action item), and the wording of a 
motion would not normally be controversial, although it is important to state the motion as a motion, 
such as “I move to” or “I move that” or other similar language. 

20. “Three Touch Principle”  
Decision makers and citizens at all levels of the City should have adequate time to thoroughly consider the 
issues prior to final decisions. It is the intent of the Council that the Council and administration shall abide by 
the “Three Touch Principle” whenever possible. These procedural guidelines are designed to avoid “surprises” 
to the City Council, citizens and administrative personnel. 

Any request or proposal for adopting or changing public policy, ordinances, resolutions or City Council 
directives which will require a decision of the City Council, or administration, should “touch” the decision 
makers three separate times. This includes verbal or written reports, “information only” agenda items, or any 
combination thereof. To facilitate the Council’s strategic use of legislative time at its meeting, staff may satisfy 
the first touch by issuing an informational memorandum, unless the subject matter is complex in nature. Quasi-
judicial matters and any subject discussed in executive sessions are excluded from application of the “Three 
Touch Principle.” 

1 9  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 221 of 248



It is recognized that unexpected circumstances may arise wherein observance of the "Three Touch Principle" is 
impractical. However, when unusual circumstances arise which justify a "first discussion" decision, the persons 
requesting the expedited decision should also explain the timing circumstances. This principle excludes staff 
reports and other general communications not requiring a Council decision. 

The City Supervisor is most familiar with staff's workload and will determine when the item can be prepared 
and brought forward to Council. 

20 
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 222 of 248 

It is recognized that unexpected circumstances may arise wherein observance of the “Three Touch Principle” is 
impractical. However, when unusual circumstances arise which justify a “first discussion” decision, the persons 
requesting the expedited decision should also explain the timing circumstances. This principle excludes staff 
reports and other general communications not requiring a Council decision. 

The City Supervisor is most familiar with staff’s workload and will determine when the item can be prepared 
and brought forward to Council. 

2 0  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 222 of 248



CHAPTER 2 
Legislative Process 

lr 

Q. 

r:s 
• , 

46-amem-ovt•aili 

•r• 

Sed ro-Wool ley 
21 

City Council Packet Page 223 of 248 

!LS,. 

s 

• 

P.• 

4,0 

•nip 

a'4,? v,;4, • 

•canskeWhak---
-r".-Ali , 

AVILA 

r1 4:a 

!LS,. 

s 

• 

P.• 

4,0 

•nip 

a'4,? v,;4, • 

•canskeWhak---
-r".-Ali , 

AVILA 

r1 4:a 

CHAPTER 2 
Legislative Process 

21 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 223 of 248



A. Election of Officers 
Procedures for electing officers are as follows: Biennially, at the first meeting of the new Council, the members 
thereof shall choose a Mayor-pro-tempore. In addition to the powers conferred upon him/her as Mayor-pro-
tem, he/she shall continue to have all the rights, privileges and immunities of a member of the Council. 

B. Filling Council Vacancies or Extended Absences 
I. Filling a Vacancy 

If a vacancy occurs on the City Council, the Council shall follow the procedures outlined in RCW 35A.12.05013
and Council's adopted procedure in compliance with RCW 35A.12.05014, as well as RCW 42.12.070. The 
timeline may vary depending on when the process begins. The City Council has within 90 days of the vacancy 
to appoint a qualified person to the vacant position. If this timeframe is not met, the City's authority in this 
matter would cease and the Skagit County Board of Commissioners would appoint a qualified person to fill the 
vacancy. Public comment will not be taken during this entire process. 

PROCEDURE FOR FILLING A COUNCIL VACANCY 
A. Timeline/Procedure (any of the meetings, dates and times, may be adjusted and/or combined as 
determined by the Council): 

1. Publication 
The City Clerk will publish the vacancy announcement inviting citizens of the City who are interested and 
qualified to sit as a Councilmember, to apply by submitting a letter of interest. Qualifications to sit as a 
Councilmember are set forth in RCW 35A.12.030. If possible, the vacancy announcement will be published 
for two consecutive weeks. 

2. Deadline for the City Clerk to receive applications shall be no later than 4:00 
p.m. . 

3. Special Meeting, Executive Session, set for  . [RCW 42.30.110(1)(h)] 
6:00 p.m. Council will meet and adjourn to executive session to review and discuss all of the 
applications. After the review and discussion, Council will return to Council Chambers and the Special 
Meeting will be adjourned. 

Regular Meeting, same evening as above Special Meeting. [RCW 42.30.110(1)(h)] 
6:00 p.m. Council will meet in open session and part of this agenda will include selection of applicants 
to interview. Selection will be by nomination and second. A vote will be taken and candidates 
receiving three or more votes will be interviewed. Immediately after this Council meeting or as soon 
as practicable, the Clerk will send a list of potential questions to all those to be interviewed. 

4. Regular or Special Meeting, . [RCW 42.30.110(1)(h)] 
The interviews will be conducted during an open Council meeting. Each interview will be a maximum 

of 30 minutes. 

5. Executive Session set for [RCW 42.30.110(1)(h)] 
Council will meet and adjourn to executive session (closed session) to discuss applicants. After the 
discussion. 

Regular or Special Meeting, same evening as above[RCW 42.30.110(1)(h)] 
Council will meet in open session and the agenda will include a vote to fill the vacancy. Upon selection 
of the new Councilmember, that person will be sworn in by the City Clerk, and take their seat at the 
dais. 

22 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 224 of 248 

- 

- 

- 

- 

A. Election of Officers  
Procedures for electing officers are as follows: Biennially, at the first meeting of the new Council, the members 
thereof shall choose a Mayor-pro-tempore. In addition to the powers conferred upon him/her as Mayor-pro-
tem, he/she shall continue to have all the rights, privileges and immunities of a member of the Council. 

B. Filling Council Vacancies or Extended Absences 
I. Filling a Vacancy 

If a vacancy occurs on the City Council, the Council shall follow the procedures outlined in RCW 35A.12.05013

and Council’s adopted procedure in compliance with RCW 35A.12.05014, as well as RCW 42.12.070. The 
timeline may vary depending on when the process begins. The City Council has within 90 days of the vacancy 
to appoint a qualified person to the vacant position. If this timeframe is not met, the City’s authority in this 
matter would cease and the Skagit County Board of Commissioners would appoint a qualified person to fill the 
vacancy. Public comment will not be taken during this entire process. 

PROCEDURE FOR FILLING A COUNCIL VACANCY 
A. Timeline/Procedure (any of the meetings, dates and times, may be adjusted and/or combined as  
determined by the Council):  

1. Publication 
The City Clerk will publish the vacancy announcement inviting citizens of the City who are interested and 
qualified to sit as a Councilmember, to apply by submitting a letter of interest. Qualifications to sit as a 
Councilmember are set forth in RCW 35A.12.030. If possible, the vacancy announcement will be published 
for two consecutive weeks. 

2. Deadline for the City Clerk to receive applications shall be no later than 4:00 
p.m. .

3. Special Meeting, Executive Session, set for ________ . [RCW 42.30.110(1)(h)] 
6:00 p.m. Council will meet and adjourn to executive session to review and discuss all of the 
applications. After the review and discussion, Council will return to Council Chambers and the Special 
Meeting will be adjourned. 

Regular Meeting, same evening as above Special Meeting. [RCW 42.30.110(1)(h)] 
6:00 p.m. Council will meet in open session and part of this agenda will include selection of applicants 
to interview. Selection will be by nomination and second. A vote will be taken and candidates 
receiving three or more votes will be interviewed. Immediately after this Council meeting or as soon 
as practicable, the Clerk will send a list of potential questions to all those to be interviewed. 

4. Regular or Special Meeting, __________________ . [RCW 42.30.110(1)(h)] 
The interviews will be conducted during an open Council meeting. Each interview will be a maximum 

of 30 minutes. 

5. Executive Session set for  [RCW 42.30.110(1)(h)] 
Council will meet and adjourn to executive session (closed session) to discuss applicants. After the 
discussion. 

Regular or Special Meeting, same evening as above[RCW 42.30.110(1)(h)] 
Council will meet in open session and the agenda will include a vote to fill the vacancy. Upon selection 
of the new Councilmember, that person will be sworn in by the City Clerk, and take their seat at the 
dais. 

22 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 224 of 248



B. Interview Questions/Process: 
1. During the interview, each Councilmember and the Mayor may ask each candidate up to three questions. 
Follow-up questions are to be counted as one of the three questions. 
2. Candidates will be interviewed in alphabetical order of last name. 

C. Nomination and Voting Process: 
1. NOMINATION PROCESS. 
Councilmembers may nominate an applicant to fill the vacancy. A second is required. If no second is 
received, that applicant shall not be considered further unless no applicant receives a second, in which case 
all applicants who were nominated may be considered again. Once the nominations are given, the Mayor 
will close the nominations and Council will proceed to vote. 

2. VOTING PROCESS. RCW 42.12.070 states that where one position is vacant, the remaining members 
of the governing body shall appoint a qualified person to fill the vacant position. By adoption of this 
policy, Council has chosen the following process for making such appointment: 
a. A vote for an applicant shall be by voice or raised hand. 

b. The vacancy can only be filled when a majority of the whole City Council affirmatively votes for the 
applicant or in the case of a 3-3 tie, the mayor breaks the tie (See RCW 35A.12.100), i.e. if five City 
Councilmembers are present, this would require at least four City Councilmembers voting for an applicant. 
If subsequent rounds of voting are needed, each round of voting follows the same process. The Mayor may 
ask for Council discussion between voting rounds. 

Round One Vote: 
The applicant receiving the majority of votes will be the new Councilmember. 
If no applicant receives a majority of votes from the City Council, then the three applicants receiving 
the most affirmative votes would be considered in a second round. 

Round Two Vote: 
Round Two shall proceed the same as Round One. If one of the three applicants still fails to receive a 
majority of affirmative votes, then the two applicants of the three who received the most affirmative 
votes would then be considered in a third round; or if there are only two applicants and they receive tie 
votes, a third round will be taken. Councilmembers may change their vote between rounds. 

Round Three Vote: 
Round Three shall proceed the same as Rounds One and Two. If after this round, the vote of the two 
applicants results in a tie, then the City Supervisor, with concurrence of Council, shall flip a coin to 
determine who shall fill the vacancy, with the applicant whose last name is closest to the letter "A" being 
assigned "heads" and the other person assigned "tails." In the rare circumstance where both applicants 
have the same last name, the applicant whose entire last name is closest to the letter "A" will be assigned 
"heads" and the other person assigned "tails." 

D. Seating of New City Councilmember: 
1. Once an applicant either has received a majority of votes or wins the coin flip, if the appointed applicant 
is at the meeting, the Mayor shall administer the oath of office, and the new Councilmember will be 
officially seated as a City Councilmember. 

II. Temporary Councilmember 
A. Process for Appointment of a Temporary Councilmember 
Any member of Council may request that the Council discuss the extended excused absence of a 
Councilmember. This could either be an impromptu discussion, or one scheduled for an upcoming Council 
meeting. Once the issue has been discussed, a motion may be made to begin the process of temporarily 

23 
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 225 of 248 

B. Interview Questions/Process:  
1. During the interview, each Councilmember and the Mayor may ask each candidate up to three questions. 
Follow-up questions are to be counted as one of the three questions. 
2. Candidates will be interviewed in alphabetical order of last name. 

C. Nomination and Voting Process:  
1. NOMINATION PROCESS. 
Councilmembers may nominate an applicant to fill the vacancy. A second is required. If no second is 
received, that applicant shall not be considered further unless no applicant receives a second, in which case 
all applicants who were nominated may be considered again. Once the nominations are given, the Mayor 
will close the nominations and Council will proceed to vote. 

2. VOTING PROCESS. RCW 42.12.070 states that where one position is vacant, the remaining members 
of the governing body shall appoint a qualified person to fill the vacant position. By adoption of this 
policy, Council has chosen the following process for making such appointment: 
a. A vote for an applicant shall be by voice or raised hand. 

b. The vacancy can only be filled when a majority of the whole City Council affirmatively votes for the 
applicant or in the case of a 3-3 tie, the mayor breaks the tie (See RCW 35A.12.100), i.e. if five City 
Councilmembers are present, this would require at least four City Councilmembers voting for an applicant. 
If subsequent rounds of voting are needed, each round of voting follows the same process. The Mayor may 
ask for Council discussion between voting rounds. 

Round One Vote:  
The applicant receiving the majority of votes will be the new Councilmember. 
If no applicant receives a majority of votes from the City Council, then the three applicants receiving 
the most affirmative votes would be considered in a second round. 

Round Two Vote:  
Round Two shall proceed the same as Round One. If one of the three applicants still fails to receive a 
majority of affirmative votes, then the two applicants of the three who received the most affirmative 
votes would then be considered in a third round; or if there are only two applicants and they receive tie 
votes, a third round will be taken. Councilmembers may change their vote between rounds. 

Round Three Vote:  
Round Three shall proceed the same as Rounds One and Two. If after this round, the vote of the two 
applicants results in a tie, then the City Supervisor, with concurrence of Council, shall flip a coin to 
determine who shall fill the vacancy, with the applicant whose last name is closest to the letter “A” being 
assigned “heads” and the other person assigned “tails.” In the rare circumstance where both applicants 
have the same last name, the applicant whose entire last name is closest to the letter “A” will be assigned 
“heads” and the other person assigned “tails.” 

D. Seating of New City Councilmember:  
1. Once an applicant either has received a majority of votes or wins the coin flip, if the appointed applicant 
is at the meeting, the Mayor shall administer the oath of office, and the new Councilmember will be 
officially seated as a City Councilmember. 

II. Temporary Councilmember 
A. Process for Appointment of a Temporary Councilmember 
Any member of Council may request that the Council discuss the extended excused absence of a 
Councilmember. This could either be an impromptu discussion, or one scheduled for an upcoming Council 
meeting. Once the issue has been discussed, a motion may be made to begin the process of temporarily 

2 3  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 225 of 248



filling the Council position. Public comment shall not be taken during this entire appointment process on this 
item. If such motion is approved: 

1. Publication.  The City Clerk shall publish the vacancy announcement inviting citizens of the City who 
are interested and qualified to sit as a Temporary Councilmember (maximum of one year), to apply on an 
application form provided by the City. Qualifications to sit as a Councilmember are set forth in RCW 
35A.12.030. If possible, the vacancy announcement will be published for three consecutive weeks. 
2. Deadline for the City Clerk to receive applications shall be no later than 4:00 p.m. on the date set by 
Council. 
3. Once applications are received and the due date has passed, the City Clerk shall send each 
Councilmember copies of all the applications for Council's review. 
4. Council has the option of holding an executive session to discuss applicants [RCW 42.30.110(1)(h)]. 

B. NOMINATION AND VOTING PROCESS: 
1. Qualifications: 

a. registered voter of the City at the time of appointment 
b. by the time of appointment, continuously resided within the City limits of Sedro-Woolley for at 

least one year 
c. never been convicted of a felony 
d. no member of appointee's family may be currently employed by the City 
e. appointment shall not create a conflict of interest or an appearance of a conflict of interest 
f. Councilmembers shall not hold any other office or employment within the City government [RCW 

35A.12.030]. 

2. Considerations and Process: 
Appointments shall be for a maximum of one year and shall terminate upon the return of the absent 
Councilmember or the permanent vacation of the position, whichever of those three instances occurs first. 
Appointments shall not be made for a Councilmember's absence whose term is set to expire within six 
months or less. 

If the disability or absence of the Councilmember becomes permanent (through resignation or other reason), 
Council shall follow the procedures set forth in RCA 35A.12.050 and Council's adopted procedure for filling 
Council vacancies. The pro tempore individual may apply for the Council position if it is permanently 
vacated, if so desired. If the pro tempore individual's appointment is set to expire prior to the selected 
timeframe for filling a Council vacancy, Council may, by majority vote of the whole Council (including the 
pro tempore Councilmember), move to permit the pro tempore individual to remain in that capacity until 
such Council vacancy has been filled. 

3. Nomination Process for Conducting Interviews. 
A. After holding an executive session to review applications, during a subsequent open session, any 

Councilmembers may: 
1. nominate an applicant to be interviewed; 
2. the nomination must be seconded; 
3. the Mayor will ask if there are further nominations; 
4. if no further nominations, the Mayor will close the nominations; 
5. votes will be taken on each applicant in the order of nomination; 
6. votes shall be by voice or raised hand; 
7. Applicants receiving three or more votes will be interviewed; 
8. O 

nce all voting has taken place, the City Clerk will summarize which applicants will be 
interviewed based on the voting outcome; and 

9. As soon as possible after the Council meeting, the City Clerk shall: 
a. notify each applicant to inform them if they will or will not be interviewed; 
b. notify those to be interviewed, of the date and time for their interview; and 
c. send each person to be interviewed, the list of possible interview questions. 

Sedro-Woolley City Coubeil Packet Page 226 of 248 

filling the Council position. Public comment shall not be taken during this entire appointment process on this 
item. If such motion is approved: 

1. Publication.  The City Clerk shall publish the vacancy announcement inviting citizens of the City who 
are interested and qualified to sit as a Temporary Councilmember (maximum of one year), to apply on an 
application form provided by the City. Qualifications to sit as a Councilmember are set forth in RCW 
35A.12.030. If possible, the vacancy announcement will be published for three consecutive weeks. 
2. Deadline for the City Clerk to receive applications shall be no later than 4:00 p.m. on the date set by 
Council. 
3. Once applications are received and the due date has passed, the City Clerk shall send each 
Councilmember copies of all the applications for Council's review. 
4. Council has the option of holding an executive session to discuss applicants [RCW 42.30.110(1)(h)]. 

B. NOMINATION AND VOTING PROCESS:  
1. Qualifications:  

a. registered voter of the City at the time of appointment 
b. by the time of appointment, continuously resided within the City limits of Sedro-Woolley for at 

least one year 
c. never been convicted of a felony 
d. no member of appointee's family may be currently employed by the City 
e. appointment shall not create a conflict of interest or an appearance of a conflict of interest 
f.Councilmembers shall not hold any other office or employment within the City government [RCW 

35A.12.030]. 

2. Considerations and Process:  
Appointments shall be for a maximum of one year and shall terminate upon the return of the absent 
Councilmember or the permanent vacation of the position, whichever of those three instances occurs first. 
Appointments shall not be made for a Councilmember's absence whose term is set to expire within six 
months or less. 

If the disability or absence of the Councilmember becomes permanent (through resignation or other reason), 
Council shall follow the procedures set forth in RCA 35A.12.050 and Council's adopted procedure for filling 
Council vacancies. The pro tempore individual may apply for the Council position if it is permanently 
vacated, if so desired. If the pro tempore individual's appointment is set to expire prior to the selected 
timeframe for filling a Council vacancy, Council may, by majority vote of the whole Council (including the 
pro tempore Councilmember), move to permit the pro tempore individual to remain in that capacity until 
such Council vacancy has been filled. 

3. Nomination Process for Conducting Interviews.  
A. After holding an executive session to review applications, during a subsequent open session, any 

Councilmembers may: 
1. nominate an applicant to be interviewed; 
2. the nomination must be seconded; 
3. the Mayor will ask if there are further nominations; 
4. if no further nominations, the Mayor will close the nominations; 
5. votes will be taken on each applicant in the order of nomination; 
6. votes shall be by voice or raised hand; 
7. Applicants receiving three or more votes will be interviewed; 
8. O

nce all voting has taken place, the City Clerk will summarize which applicants will be 
interviewed based on the voting outcome; and 

9. As soon as possible after the Council meeting, the City Clerk shall: 
a. notify each applicant to inform them if they will or will not be interviewed; 
b. notify those to be interviewed, of the date and time for their interview; and 
c. send each person to be interviewed, the list of possible interview questions. 

2 4  Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 226 of 248



4. Nomination and voting Process for Temporarily Filling the Position 
A. Council again has the option of holding an Executive Session to discuss applicants [RCW 
42.30.110(1)(h)]. 

B. Voting Process: must be done in open session 
1. Any Councilmember may nominate an applicant to fill the position. A second is required. If no 

second is received, the applicant shall not be considered further. 
2. Additional nominations shall continue in the same manner. 
3. The Mayor shall ask if there are any further nominations. If there are no further nominations, the 

Mayor will close the nominations and either make a motion, or ask for a motion from Council to appoint a 
nominee. 

4. Any vote for appointment shall be by voice or raised hand in the affirmative or negative. 
5. The position shall only be filled if a majority of the remaining (six, assuming there is one Council 

position to consider) City Council affirmatively votes for the applicant and/or a majority is reached by the 
mayor casting a tie-breaking vote. If there are only five members present at the time the vote is taken, this 
would require at least four out of those five Councilmembers voting for an applicant. 

6. Votes shall be taken on the applicants in the order of nomination. 
7. If the vote to appoint the first nominated individual fails, voting shall continue on the remaining 

nominated individuals until a majority of affirmative votes is received. 
8. If no one applicant receives a majority vote, City staff shall re-advertise for the position, and the 

appointment will be scheduled for a future Council meeting. 
9. Once either the first vote or a subsequent vote passes, if the approved applicant is at the meeting, the 

Mayor shall immediately administer the oath of office and the temporary Councilmember shall be officially 
seated at the Council dais. If the approved applicant is not at the meeting, such action is not official until the 
applicant takes the oath of office. 

C. INTERVIEW QUESTION PROCESS: 
1. During the interview, each Councilmember and the Mayor may ask each candidate up to three questions. 
Follow-up questions are to be counted as one of the three questions. 
2. Candidates will be interviewed in alphabetical order of last name. 

B-1. Filling a Vacancy in the office of Mayor 
I. Filling a Vacancy 
If a vacancy occurs in the office of Mayor, the Council shall follow the procedures outlined in RCW 
35A.12.050 and Council's adopted procedure in compliance with RCW 35A.12.050, as well as RCW 
42.12.070. The timeline may vary depending on when the process begins. Pursuant to RCW 35A.12.050, 
City Council has within 90 days of the vacancy to appoint a qualified person to the vacant position. If this 
timeframe is not met, the City's authority in this matter would cease and the Skagit County Board of 
Commissioners would appoint a qualified person to fill the vacancy. Public comment will not be taken 
during this entire process. 

PROCEDURE FOR FILLING A MAYORAL VACANCY 
A. Timeline/Procedure (any of the meetings, dates and times, may be adjusted and/or combined as 
determined by the Council): 

1. Candidates 
The City Council will appoint a new mayor from among the members of the City Council. 

2. Special Meeting, Executive Session, set for . [RCW 42.30.110(1)(h)] 
At 6:00 p.m. prior to the next regularly scheduled Council meeting, the Council will meet to solicit 

interest from councilmembers and adjourn to executive session to review and discuss all of the 

25 
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 227 of 248 

4. Nomination and voting Process for Temporarily Filling the Position  
A. Council again has the option of holding an Executive Session to discuss applicants [RCW 
42.30.110(1)(h)]. 

B. Voting Process: must be done in open session 
1. Any Councilmember may nominate an applicant to fill the position. A second is required. If no 

second is received, the applicant shall not be considered further. 
2. Additional nominations shall continue in the same manner. 
3. The Mayor shall ask if there are any further nominations. If there are no further nominations, the 

Mayor will close the nominations and either make a motion, or ask for a motion from Council to appoint a 
nominee. 

4. Any vote for appointment shall be by voice or raised hand in the affirmative or negative. 
5. The position shall only be filled if a majority of the remaining (six, assuming there is one Council 

position to consider) City Council affirmatively votes for the applicant and/or a majority is reached by the 
mayor casting a tie-breaking vote. If there are only five members present at the time the vote is taken, this 
would require at least four out of those five Councilmembers voting for an applicant. 

6. Votes shall be taken on the applicants in the order of nomination. 
7. If the vote to appoint the first nominated individual fails, voting shall continue on the remaining 

nominated individuals until a majority of affirmative votes is received. 
8. If no one applicant receives a majority vote, City staff shall re-advertise for the position, and the 

appointment will be scheduled for a future Council meeting. 
9. Once either the first vote or a subsequent vote passes, if the approved applicant is at the meeting, the 

Mayor shall immediately administer the oath of office and the temporary Councilmember shall be officially 
seated at the Council dais. If the approved applicant is not at the meeting, such action is not official until the 
applicant takes the oath of office. 

C. INTERVIEW QUESTION PROCESS:  
1. During the interview, each Councilmember and the Mayor may ask each candidate up to three questions. 
Follow-up questions are to be counted as one of the three questions. 
2. Candidates will be interviewed in alphabetical order of last name. 

B-1. Filling a Vacancy in the office of Mayor  
I. Filling a Vacancy 
If a vacancy occurs in the office of Mayor, the Council shall follow the procedures outlined in RCW 
35A.12.050 and Council’s adopted procedure in compliance with RCW 35A.12.050, as well as RCW 
42.12.070. The timeline may vary depending on when the process begins. Pursuant to RCW 35A.12.050, 
City Council has within 90 days of the vacancy to appoint a qualified person to the vacant position. If this 
timeframe is not met, the City’s authority in this matter would cease and the Skagit County Board of 
Commissioners would appoint a qualified person to fill the vacancy. Public comment will not be taken 
during this entire process. 

PROCEDURE FOR FILLING A MAYORAL VACANCY 
A. Timeline/Procedure (any of the meetings, dates and times, may be adjusted and/or combined as 
determined by the Council):  

1. Candidates 
The City Council will appoint a new mayor from among the members of the City Council. 

2. Special Meeting, Executive Session, set for _______ . [RCW 42.30.110(1)(h)] 
At 6:00 p.m. prior to the next regularly scheduled Council meeting, the Council will meet to solicit 

interest from councilmembers and adjourn to executive session to review and discuss all of the 

2 5  
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 227 of 248



councilmembers interested in serving as mayor. After the review and discussion, Council will 
return to Council Chambers and the Special Meeting will be adjourned. 

Regular Meeting, same evening as above Special Meeting. [RCW 42.30.110(1)(h)] 
6:00 p.m. Council will meet in open session and part of this agenda will include the appointment of 

a new mayor. The nomination and voting process is detailed at Section A, below. 

A. Nomination and Voting Process: 

1. NOMINATION PROCESS. 
Councilmembers may nominate any councilmember to fill the vacancy. A second is required. If no 
second is received, that applicant shall not be considered further unless no applicant receives a second, 
in which case all applicants who were nominated may be considered again. Once the nominations are 
given, the Mayor-Pro-Tem will close the nominations and Council will proceed to vote. 

2. VOTING PROCESS. By adoption of this policy, Council has chosen the following process for 
making such appointment: 

a. A vote for an applicant shall be by voice or raised hand. 

b. The vacancy can only be filled when a majority of the whole City Council affirmatively votes for 
the applicant, i.e. if five City Councilmembers are present, this would require at least four City 
Councilmembers voting for an applicant. If subsequent rounds of voting are needed, each round of 
voting follows the same process. The Mayor-Pro-Tem may ask for Council discussion between voting 
rounds. 

Round One Vote: 
The applicant receiving the majority of votes will be the new Mayor. 
If no applicant receives a majority of votes from the City Council, then the three applicants receiving 
the most affirmative votes would be considered in a second round. 

Round Two Vote: 
Round Two shall proceed the same as Round One. If one of the three applicants still fails to receive a 
majority of affirmative votes, then the two applicants of the three who received the most affirmative 
votes would then be considered in a third round; or if there are only two applicants and they receive 
tie votes, a third round will be taken. Councilmembers may change their vote between rounds. 

Round Three Vote: 
Round Three shall proceed the same as Rounds One and Two. If after this round, the vote of the two 
applicants results in a tie, then the City Supervisor, with concurrence of Council, shall flip a coin to 
determine who shall fill the vacancy, with the applicant whose last name is closest to the letter "A" 
being assigned "heads" and the other person assigned "tails." In the rare circumstance where both 
applicants have the same last name, the applicant whose entire last name is closest to the letter "A" 
will be assigned "heads" and the other person assigned "tails." 

D. Seating of the New Mayor: 
1. Once an applicant either has received a majority of votes or wins the coin flip, the City Clerk shall 
administer the oath of office, and the new Mayor will be officially seated as Mayor. 

C. Legislative Agenda 
Councilmembers work each year (or sometimes every two years) to draft a "legislative agenda" to address 
Council ideas, suggestions and specific legislative programs in terms of upcoming or pending legislative 

26 
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 228 of 248 

councilmembers interested in serving as mayor. After the review and discussion, Council will 
return to Council Chambers and the Special Meeting will be adjourned. 

Regular Meeting, same evening as above Special Meeting. [RCW 42.30.110(1)(h)] 
6:00 p.m. Council will meet in open session and part of this agenda will include the appointment of 

a new mayor. The nomination and voting process is detailed at Section A, below. 

A. Nomination and Voting Process:  

1. NOMINATION PROCESS. 
Councilmembers may nominate any councilmember to fill the vacancy. A second is required. If no 
second is received, that applicant shall not be considered further unless no applicant receives a second, 
in which case all applicants who were nominated may be considered again. Once the nominations are 
given, the Mayor-Pro-Tem will close the nominations and Council will proceed to vote. 

2. VOTING PROCESS. By adoption of this policy, Council has chosen the following process for 
making such appointment: 

a. A vote for an applicant shall be by voice or raised hand. 

b. The vacancy can only be filled when a majority of the whole City Council affirmatively votes for 
the applicant, i.e. if five City Councilmembers are present, this would require at least four City 
Councilmembers voting for an applicant. If subsequent rounds of voting are needed, each round of 
voting follows the same process. The Mayor-Pro-Tem may ask for Council discussion between voting 
rounds. 

Round One Vote:  
The applicant receiving the majority of votes will be the new Mayor. 
If no applicant receives a majority of votes from the City Council, then the three applicants receiving 
the most affirmative votes would be considered in a second round. 

Round Two Vote:  
Round Two shall proceed the same as Round One. If one of the three applicants still fails to receive a 
majority of affirmative votes, then the two applicants of the three who received the most affirmative 
votes would then be considered in a third round; or if there are only two applicants and they receive 
tie votes, a third round will be taken. Councilmembers may change their vote between rounds. 

Round Three Vote:  
Round Three shall proceed the same as Rounds One and Two. If after this round, the vote of the two 
applicants results in a tie, then the City Supervisor, with concurrence of Council, shall flip a coin to 
determine who shall fill the vacancy, with the applicant whose last name is closest to the letter “A” 
being assigned “heads” and the other person assigned “tails.” In the rare circumstance where both 
applicants have the same last name, the applicant whose entire last name is closest to the letter “A” 
will be assigned “heads” and the other person assigned “tails.” 

D. Seating of the New Mayor:  
1. Once an applicant either has received a majority of votes or wins the coin flip, the City Clerk shall 
administer the oath of office, and the new Mayor will be officially seated as Mayor. 

C. Legislative Agenda  
Councilmembers work each year (or sometimes every two years) to draft a “legislative agenda” to address  
Council ideas, suggestions and specific legislative programs in terms of upcoming or pending legislative 

2 6  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 228 of 248



activity in Olympia that would or could have an effect on our City. Additionally, Councilmembers have the 
option of creating a similar legislative agenda to address concerns on a national level. 

D. Ballot Measures: 
1. State Law 
RCW 42.17A 555. State law has enacted statutory prohibitions (with limited exceptions) against the use of 
public facilities to support or oppose ballot propositions: 

"No elective official nor any employee of his or her office nor any person appointed to or employed 
by any public office or agency may use or authorize the use of any of the facilities of a public office 
or agency, directly or indirectly, for the purpose of assisting a campaign for election of any person 
to any office or for the promotion of or opposition to any ballot proposition. Facilities of a public 
office or agency include, but are not limited to, use of stationery, postage, machines, and 
equipment, use of employees of the office or agency during working hours, vehicles, office space, 
publications of the office or agency, and clientele lists of persons served by the office or agency. 
However, this does not apply to the following activities: 

(1) Action taken at an open public meeting by members of an elected legislative body or 
by an elected board, council, or commission of a special purpose district including, but 
not limited to, fire districts, public hospital districts, library districts, park districts, port 
districts, public utility districts, school districts, sewer districts, and water districts, to 
express a collective decision, or to actually vote upon a motion, proposal, resolution, 
order, or ordinance, or to support or oppose a ballot proposition so long as (a) any 
required notice of the meeting includes the title and number of the ballot proposition, and 
(b) members of the legislative body, members of the board, council, or commission of the 
special purpose district, or members of the public are afforded an approximately equal 
opportunity for the expression of an opposing view. 
(2)A statement by an elected official in support of or in opposition to any ballot 
proposition at an open press conference or in response to a specific inquiry; 
(3) Activities which are part of the normal and regular conduct of the office or agency. " 
[emphasis added] 

2. City's Implementation of RCW 42.17A.555: 
In the City's implementation of RCW 42.17A.555, the City Council shall not, during any part of any Council 
meeting, consider requests from outside agencies for Council to support or oppose ballot measures; nor will 
Council permit any public comment on any proposed or pending ballot issue, whether or not such comments 
seek endorsement or are just to inform Council of upcoming or proposed ballot issues; nor shall 
Councilmembers disseminate ballot-related information. 

3. Providing Informative Materials to Council 
The requestor has the option of mailing materials to individual Councilmembers via the United States Postal 
Office. Because even the use of e-mail for ballot purposes could be construed as use of public facilities and 
could be interpreted as being in violation of RCW 42.17A.555, materials should be sent via regular mail 
through the United States Postal Office. Information shall be objective only and not soliciting a pro or con 
position. 

4. Public Comment. 
Council has chosen not to support or oppose ballot issues as those are left to the will of the people voting. The 
use of any of the City's facilities including the use of the Council chambers and/or broadcast system would 
likely be construed as being in violation of RCW 42.17A.555 and therefore, general public comment on ballot 
issues, or proposed ballot issues will not be permitted. 

27 
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 229 of 248 

activity in Olympia that would or could have an effect on our City. Additionally, Councilmembers have the 
option of creating a similar legislative agenda to address concerns on a national level. 

D. Ballot Measures: 
1. State Law 
RCW 42.17A 555. State law has enacted statutory prohibitions (with limited exceptions) against the use of 
public facilities to support or oppose ballot propositions: 

“No elective official nor any employee of his or her office nor any person appointed to or employed 
by any public office or agency may use or authorize the use of any of the facilities of a public office 
or agency, directly or indirectly, for the purpose of assisting a campaign for election of any person 
to any office or for the promotion of or opposition to any ballot proposition. Facilities of a public 
office or agency include, but are not limited to, use of stationery, postage, machines, and 
equipment, use of employees of the office or agency during working hours, vehicles, office space, 
publications of the office or agency, and clientele lists of persons served by the office or agency. 
However, this does not apply to the following activities:

(1) Action taken at an open public meeting by members of an elected legislative body or 
by an elected board, council, or commission of a special purpose district including, but 
not limited to, fire districts, public hospital districts, library districts, park districts, port 
districts, public utility districts, school districts, sewer districts, and water districts, to 
express a collective decision, or to actually vote upon a motion, proposal, resolution, 
order, or ordinance, or to support or oppose a ballot proposition so long as (a) any 
required notice of the meeting includes the title and number of the ballot proposition, and 
(b) members of the legislative body, members of the board, council, or commission of the 
special purpose district, or members of the public are afforded an approximately equal 
opportunity for the expression of an opposing view. 
(2) A statement by an elected official in support of or in opposition to any ballot 
proposition at an open press conference or in response to a specific inquiry; 
(3) Activities which are part of the normal and regular conduct of the office or agency.” 
[emphasis added] 

2. City’s Implementation of RCW 42.17A.555: 
In the City’s implementation of RCW 42.17A.555, the City Council shall not, during any part of any Council 
meeting, consider requests from outside agencies for Council to support or oppose ballot measures; nor will 
Council permit any public comment on any proposed or pending ballot issue, whether or not such comments 
seek endorsement or are just to inform Council of upcoming or proposed ballot issues; nor shall 
Councilmembers disseminate ballot-related information. 

3. Providing Informative Materials to Council 
The requestor has the option of mailing materials to individual Councilmembers via the United States Postal 
Office. Because even the use of e-mail for ballot purposes could be construed as use of public facilities and 
could be interpreted as being in violation of RCW 42.17A.555, materials should be sent via regular mail 
through the United States Postal Office. Information shall be objective only and not soliciting a pro or con 
position. 

4. Public Comment. 
Council has chosen not to support or oppose ballot issues as those are left to the will of the people voting. The 
use of any of the City’s facilities including the use of the Council chambers and/or broadcast system would 
likely be construed as being in violation of RCW 42.17A.555 and therefore, general public comment on ballot 
issues, or proposed ballot issues will not be permitted. 

2 7  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 229 of 248



lallInt8 
cal 034•12 

C 

28 
GlarGouraNne F8,8722)/2•3 

C C 

CHAPTER 3 
Council Contacts 

2 8  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 230 of 248



A. Citizen Contact/Interactions Outside of a Council Meeting 

1. Concerns, Complaints and Suggestions to Council 
When citizen concerns, complaints or suggestions are brought to any, some, or all Councilmembers, the Mayor 
shall, in consultation with the City Supervisor, first determine whether the issue is legislative or administrative 
in nature and then: 

a. If legislative, and a concern or complaint is about the language or intent of legislative acts or 
suggestions for changes to such acts, and if such complaint suggests a change to an ordinance or 
resolution of the City, the Mayor and City Supervisor may refer the matter to a future Council agenda 
for Council's recommendation in forwarding the matter to a committee, administration, or to the 
Council for study and recommendation. 

c. If administrative, and a concern or complaint regards administrative staff performance, execution of 
legislative policy or administrative policy within the authority of the Executive Branch, the complaint 
is referred directly to the Mayor and/or City Supervisor for review, if said complaint has not been so 
reviewed. The City Council may direct that the Mayor/City Supervisor brief the Council when the 
response is made. 

2. Administrative Complaints Made Directly to Individual Councilmembers 
When administrative policy or administrative performance complaints are made directly to individual 
Councilmembers, the Councilmember shall then refer the matter directly to the Mayor or City Supervisor for 
review and/or action. The individual Councilmember may request to be informed of the action or response made 
to the complaint. 

Although citizens' direct access to elected officials is to be encouraged to help develop public policy, City 
Councilmembers should not develop a "personal intervention" pattern in minor calls for service or 
administrative appeals which may actually delay a timely customer service response. The best policy is to get 
the citizen into direct contact with customer service unless an unsatisfactory result has occurred in the past. In 
that case, refer to the paragraph above. 

3. Social Media 
Councilmembers shall not use social media as a mechanism for conducting official City business, although it is 
permissible to use social media to informally communicate with the public. Examples of what may not be 
communicated through the use of social media include making policy decisions, official public noticing, and 
discussing items of legal or fiscal significance that have not been released to the public. As with telephone and 
e-mails, communication between and among Councilmembers via social media could constitute a "meeting" 
under the Open Public Meetings Act, and for this reason, Councilmembers are strongly discouraged from 
"friending" other Councilmembers. 

B. Staff Contacts and Interactions 

1. Role of the City Supervisor 
The City Supervisor is the chief appointed officer of the City of Sedro-Woolley. The City Supervisor reports to 
the Mayor and is directly accountable to the Mayor and City Council for the execution of the City Council's 
policy directives, and for the administration and management of all City departments. 

2. City Staff Attendance at Meetings 
The City Supervisor or his/her designee shall attend all meetings of the City Council, unless excused by the 
Mayor or Council. 

3. City Clerk - Minutes 

29 
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 231 of 248 

- - 

A. Citizen Contact/Interactions Outside of a Council Meeting 

1. Concerns, Complaints and Suggestions to Council 
When citizen concerns, complaints or suggestions are brought to any, some, or all Councilmembers, the Mayor 
shall, in consultation with the City Supervisor, first determine whether the issue is legislative or administrative 
in nature and then: 

a. If legislative, and a concern or complaint is about the language or intent of legislative acts or  
suggestions for changes to such acts, and if such complaint suggests a change to an ordinance or 
resolution of the City, the Mayor and City Supervisor may refer the matter to a future Council agenda 
for Council’s recommendation in forwarding the matter to a committee, administration, or to the 
Council for study and recommendation. 

c. If administrative, and a concern or complaint regards administrative staff performance, execution of 
legislative policy or administrative policy within the authority of the Executive Branch, the complaint 
is referred directly to the Mayor and/or City Supervisor for review, if said complaint has not been so 
reviewed. The City Council may direct that the Mayor/City Supervisor brief the Council when the 
response is made. 

2. Administrative Complaints Made Directly to Individual Councilmembers  
When administrative policy or administrative performance complaints are made directly to individual 
Councilmembers, the Councilmember shall then refer the matter directly to the Mayor or City Supervisor for 
review and/or action. The individual Councilmember may request to be informed of the action or response made 
to the complaint. 

Although citizens’ direct access to elected officials is to be encouraged to help develop public policy, City 
Councilmembers should not develop a “personal intervention” pattern in minor calls for service or 
administrative appeals which may actually delay a timely customer service response. The best policy is to get 
the citizen into direct contact with customer service unless an unsatisfactory result has occurred in the past. In 
that case, refer to the paragraph above. 

3. Social Media  
Councilmembers shall not use social media as a mechanism for conducting official City business, although it is 
permissible to use social media to informally communicate with the public. Examples of what may not be 
communicated through the use of social media include making policy decisions, official public noticing, and 
discussing items of legal or fiscal significance that have not been released to the public. As with telephone and 
e-mails, communication between and among Councilmembers via social media could constitute a “meeting” 
under the Open Public Meetings Act, and for this reason, Councilmembers are strongly discouraged from 
“friending” other Councilmembers. 

B. Staff Contacts and Interactions 

1. Role of the City Supervisor  
The City Supervisor is the chief appointed officer of the City of Sedro-Woolley. The City Supervisor reports to 
the Mayor and is directly accountable to the Mayor and City Council for the execution of the City Council's 
policy directives, and for the administration and management of all City departments. 

2. City Staff Attendance at Meetings  
The City Supervisor or his/her designee shall attend all meetings of the City Council, unless excused by the 
Mayor or Council. 

3. City Clerk - Minutes 

2 9  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 231 of 248



The City Clerk, or in the Clerk's absence the Deputy City Clerk, shall keep minutes as required by law, and 
shall perform such other duties in the meeting as may be required by the Council or Mayor. In the absence of 
the City Clerk and the Deputy City Clerk, the City Clerk shall appoint a replacement to act as Clerk during the 
Council meeting. The Clerk shall keep minutes which identifies the general discussion of the issue and complete 
detail of the official action or agreement reached, if any. As a rule and when possible and practical, regular 
meetings, or those Council meetings held at 6 p.m. on Wednesdays, (includes only formal format meetings) 
shall be both audio and video-recorded. Executive Sessions shall not be video or audio recorded. 

Original, signed and approved minutes shall be kept on file in the City Clerk's office and archived according to 
State Record Retention Schedules. Copies of the approved minutes shall also be posted on the City's website as 
soon as practical after such minutes are approved and signed. Whenever possible, video recordings of Council 
meetings shall be posted on the City's website. 

4. Administrative Interference by Councilmembers 
Neither the Council nor any of its committees or members shall direct or request the appointment of any person 
to, or his/her removal from, any office by the Mayor or any of his/her subordinates. Except for the purpose of 
inquiry, the Council and its members shall deal with the administrative branch solely through the Mayor and/or 
City Supervisor and neither the Council nor any committee or member thereof shall give any directives, tasks, 
or orders to any subordinate of the Mayor, either publicly or privately; provided, however, that nothing herein 
shall be construed to prohibit the Council, while in open session, from fully and freely discussing with the 
Mayor and/or City Supervisor anything pertaining to appointments and removals of City officers and employees 
and City affairs. 

5. Informal Communications Encouraged 
Members of the Council are encouraged to interact informally and casually with City staff for the purpose of 
gathering information, obtaining explanations of policies and programs or providing incidental information to 
staff relevant to their assignment. Such informal contacts can serve to promote better understanding of specific 
City functions and problems. However, Councilmembers must be careful in such interaction to avoid giving 
direction or advice to members of City staff While maintaining open lines of communication, City staff 
responding to information requests from Councilmembers will inform their supervisor of such contact and 
provide the supervisor with the same information shared with the Councilmember. 

30 
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 232 of 248 

- - 

The City Clerk, or in the Clerk’s absence the Deputy City Clerk, shall keep minutes as required by law, and 
shall perform such other duties in the meeting as may be required by the Council or Mayor. In the absence of 
the City Clerk and the Deputy City Clerk, the City Clerk shall appoint a replacement to act as Clerk during the 
Council meeting. The Clerk shall keep minutes which identifies the general discussion of the issue and complete 
detail of the official action or agreement reached, if any. As a rule and when possible and practical, regular 
meetings, or those Council meetings held at 6 p.m. on Wednesdays, (includes only formal format meetings) 
shall be both audio and video-recorded. Executive Sessions shall not be video or audio recorded. 

Original, signed and approved minutes shall be kept on file in the City Clerk’s office and archived according to 
State Record Retention Schedules. Copies of the approved minutes shall also be posted on the City’s website as 
soon as practical after such minutes are approved and signed. Whenever possible, video recordings of Council 
meetings shall be posted on the City’s website. 

4. Administrative Interference by Councilmembers  
Neither the Council nor any of its committees or members shall direct or request the appointment of any person 
to, or his/her removal from, any office by the Mayor or any of his/her subordinates. Except for the purpose of 
inquiry, the Council and its members shall deal with the administrative branch solely through the Mayor and/or 
City Supervisor and neither the Council nor any committee or member thereof shall give any directives, tasks, 
or orders to any subordinate of the Mayor, either publicly or privately; provided, however, that nothing herein 
shall be construed to prohibit the Council, while in open session, from fully and freely discussing with the 
Mayor and/or City Supervisor anything pertaining to appointments and removals of City officers and employees 
and City affairs. 

5. Informal Communications Encouraged  
Members of the Council are encouraged to interact informally and casually with City staff for the purpose of 
gathering information, obtaining explanations of policies and programs or providing incidental information to 
staff relevant to their assignment. Such informal contacts can serve to promote better understanding of specific 
City functions and problems. However, Councilmembers must be careful in such interaction to avoid giving 
direction or advice to members of City staff. While maintaining open lines of communication, City staff 
responding to information requests from Councilmembers will inform their supervisor of such contact and 
provide the supervisor with the same information shared with the Councilmember. 

3 0  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 232 of 248



casnn4 
micasum 

$1 

Seaow«.ey I tyClopx• NOS Popo 2330246 

CHAPTER 4  
HEARINGS 

3 1  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 233 of 248



A. General Public Hearings 
1. Purpose 
Legislative public hearings are hearings held to obtain public input on legislative decisions on matters of policy. 
Legislative public hearings are required by state law when a city or county addresses matters such as 
comprehensive land use plans, or the annual budget. They are generally less formal than quasi-judicial public 
hearings. They do not involve the legal rights of specific, private parties in a contested setting, but rather affect 
a wider range of citizens or perhaps the entire jurisdiction. The wisdom of legislative decisions reached as a 
result of such hearings is not second-guessed by the courts; if challenged, they are reviewed only to determine 
if they are constitutional or violate state law. For example, a court will not review whether the basic budgetary 
decisions made by a city were correctly made. 

2. Legislative Public Hearings 
a. State statutes do not specify how public hearings should be conducted. Because legislative hearings are 
generally informal, the main concern is to provide an opportunity for all attending members of the public to 
speak if they so desire. Time limits should be placed on individual comments if many people are intending to 
speak, and the public should be advised that comments must relate to the matter at hand. The "ground rules" 
for the conduct of the hearing may be stated by the Presiding Officer at the beginning of the hearing: 

1. All public comments shall be made from the speaker's podium, shall be directed to the Mayor and 
Council, and any individual making comments shall first give their name and city of residence. This 
is required because an official recorded transcript of the public hearing is being made. 
2. No comments shall be made from any other location, and anyone making "out of order" comments 
shall be subject to removal from the meeting. 
3. Unless otherwise determined by the Presiding Officer, all comments by the public shall be limited 
to three minutes per speaker. 
4. There will be no demonstrations, applause or other audience participation, before, during or at the 
conclusion of anyone's presentation. Such expressions are disruptive and take time away from the 
speakers. 
5. Unless read and/or handed in by the individual speaker during the public hearing, previously 
received written public comments will be read by the City Clerk at the pleasure of the Mayor. In the 
interest of time, the Mayor may limit the reading of such comments, to the Clerk reading whom the 
letter or written material is from, and if easily discernible, whether that person is for or against the 
issue at hand. All written comments become an official part of the record. 
6. These rules are intended to promote an orderly system of holding a public hearing, to give persons 
an opportunity to be heard, and to ensure that individuals are not embarrassed by exercising their right 
of free speech. 

b. The Presiding officer declares the public hearing on (topic) open, notes the time for such 
opening, and asks staff to make their presentation. 

c. After staff presentations, the Presiding Officer calls for public comments. 

d. The Presiding Officer asks if any members of Council have questions of any of the speakers or staff. If any 
Councilmember has questions, the appropriate individual will be recalled to the podium. 

e. The Presiding Officer declares the public hearing closed and notes the time for such closing. 

32 
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 234 of 248 

- - 

A. General Public Hearings  
1. Purpose   
Legislative public hearings are hearings held to obtain public input on legislative decisions on matters of policy. 
Legislative public hearings are required by state law when a city or county addresses matters such as 
comprehensive land use plans, or the annual budget. They are generally less formal than quasi-judicial public 
hearings. They do not involve the legal rights of specific, private parties in a contested setting, but rather affect 
a wider range of citizens or perhaps the entire jurisdiction. The wisdom of legislative decisions reached as a 
result of such hearings is not second-guessed by the courts; if challenged, they are reviewed only to determine 
if they are constitutional or violate state law. For example, a court will not review whether the basic budgetary 
decisions made by a city were correctly made. 

2. Legislative Public Hearings  
a. State statutes do not specify how public hearings should be conducted. Because legislative hearings are 
generally informal, the main concern is to provide an opportunity for all attending members of the public to 
speak if they so desire. Time limits should be placed on individual comments if many people are intending to 
speak, and the public should be advised that comments must relate to the matter at hand. The “ground rules” 
for the conduct of the hearing may be stated by the Presiding Officer at the beginning of the hearing: 

1. All public comments shall be made from the speaker’s podium, shall be directed to the Mayor and 
Council, and any individual making comments shall first give their name and city of residence. This 
is required because an official recorded transcript of the public hearing is being made. 
2. No comments shall be made from any other location, and anyone making “out of order” comments 
shall be subject to removal from the meeting. 
3. Unless otherwise determined by the Presiding Officer, all comments by the public shall be limited 
to three minutes per speaker. 
4. There will be no demonstrations, applause or other audience participation, before, during or at the 
conclusion of anyone’s presentation. Such expressions are disruptive and take time away from the 
speakers. 
5. Unless read and/or handed in by the individual speaker during the public hearing, previously 
received written public comments will be read by the City Clerk at the pleasure of the Mayor. In the 
interest of time, the Mayor may limit the reading of such comments, to the Clerk reading whom the 
letter or written material is from, and if easily discernible, whether that person is for or against the 
issue at hand. All written comments become an official part of the record. 
6. These rules are intended to promote an orderly system of holding a public hearing, to give persons 
an opportunity to be heard, and to ensure that individuals are not embarrassed by exercising their right 
of free speech. 

b. The Presiding officer declares the public hearing on _______________ (topic) open, notes the time for such 
opening, and asks staff to make their presentation. 

c. After staff presentations, the Presiding Officer calls for public comments. 

d. The Presiding Officer asks if any members of Council have questions of any of the speakers or staff. If any 
Councilmember has questions, the appropriate individual will be recalled to the podium. 

e. The Presiding Officer declares the public hearing closed and notes the time for such closing. 

3 2  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 234 of 248



B. Quasi-Judicial Hearings 
1. Purpose 
Quasi-judicial public hearings involve the legal rights of specific parties, and the decisions made as a result of 
such hearings must be based upon and supported by the "record" developed at the hearing. Quasi-judicial 
hearings are subject to stricter procedural requirements than legislative hearings. Most quasi-judicial hearings 
held by local government bodies involve land use matters, including site specific rezones, preliminary plats, 
variances, and conditional uses. (MRSC Public Hearings When and How to Hold Them by Bob Meinig, MRSC 
Legal Consultant August 1998) 

2. Specific Statutory Provisions 
a. Candidates for the City Council may express their opinions about pending or proposed quasi-judicial actions 
while campaigning, per RCW 42.36.04015, except that sitting Councilmembers shall not express their opinions 
on any such matter which is or may come before the Council. 

b. Ex-parte communications should be avoided whenever possible. During the pendency of any quasi-judicial 
proceeding, no Councilmember may engage in ex parte communications with proponents or opponents about 
a proposal involved in the pending proceeding unless the Councilmember: (1) places on the record the 
substance of such verbal or written communications; and (2) provides that a public announcement of the content 
of the communication and of the parties' rights to rebut the substance of the communication shall be made at 
each hearing where action is taken or considered on the subject. This does not prohibit correspondence between 
a citizen and his or her elected official if the correspondence is made a part of the record, when it pertains to 
the subject matter of a quasi-judicial proceeding. (RCW 42.36.06016) 

c. Procedure On Application. Any person making application for any action leading to a quasi-judicial hearing 
before the Planning Commission and/or City Council shall be provided with a document containing the 
following information: (1) the names and address of all members of the City Council, and the Planning 
Commission, (2) a statement that public disclosure information is available for public inspection regarding all 
such Councilmembers, and (3) a statement that if the applicant intends to raise any appearance of fairness issue, 
the applicant should do so at least two weeks prior to any public hearing, if the grounds for such issue are then 
known and in all cases, no later than before the opening of the public hearing. The applicant shall sign a receipt 
for such document. 

3.  Appearance of Fairness Doctrine 
a. "The test of whether the Appearance of Fairness Doctrine has been violated is ... as follows: Would a 
disinterested person, having been apprised of the totality of a board member's personal interest in a matter 
being acted upon, be reasonably justified in thinking that partiality may exist? If answered in the affirmative, 
such deliberations, and any course of conduct reached thereon, should be voided." Swift vs. Island County, 87 
Wn.2d 348 (1976);  Smith vs. Skagit County, 75 Wn.2d 715 (1969). 

b. Types of Hearings to Which the Doctrine Applies. The Appearance of Fairness Doctrine shall apply only 
to those actions of the Council which are quasi-judicial in nature. Quasi-judicial actions are defined as actions 
of the City Council which determine the legal rights, duties, or privileges of specific parties in a hearing or 
other contested proceeding. Quasi-judicial actions do not include the legislative actions adopting, amending, 
or revising comprehensive, community, or neighborhood plans or other land use planning documents or the 
adoption of area-wide zoning ordinances or the adoption of a zoning amendment that is of area-wide (versus 
site-specific) significance (RCW 42.36.01017). Street vacations are typically legislative actions, unless 
clearly tied to, and integrated into, a site-specific development proposal which is quasi-judicial in nature. 

c. Obligations of Councilmembers - Procedure. 
1. Immediate self-disclosure of interests that may appear to constitute a conflict of interest is hereby 
encouraged. Councilmembers should recognize that the Appearance of Fairness Doctrine does not 

33 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 235 of 248 

B. Quasi-Judicial Hearings  
1. Purpose   
Quasi-judicial public hearings involve the legal rights of specific parties, and the decisions made as a result of 
such hearings must be based upon and supported by the “record” developed at the hearing. Quasi-judicial 
hearings are subject to stricter procedural requirements than legislative hearings. Most quasi-judicial hearings 
held by local government bodies involve land use matters, including site specific rezones, preliminary plats, 
variances, and conditional uses. (MRSC Public Hearings When and How to Hold Them by Bob Meinig, MRSC 
Legal Consultant August 1998)

2. Specific Statutory Provisions  
a. Candidates for the City Council may express their opinions about pending or proposed quasi-judicial actions 
while campaigning, per RCW 42.36.04015, except that sitting Councilmembers shall not express their opinions 
on any such matter which is or may come before the Council. 

b. Ex-parte communications should be avoided whenever possible. During the pendency of any quasi-judicial 
proceeding, no Councilmember may engage in ex parte communications with proponents or opponents about 
a proposal involved in the pending proceeding unless the Councilmember: (1) places on the record the 
substance of such verbal or written communications; and (2) provides that a public announcement of the content 
of the communication and of the parties’ rights to rebut the substance of the communication shall be made at 
each hearing where action is taken or considered on the subject. This does not prohibit correspondence between 
a citizen and his or her elected official if the correspondence is made a part of the record, when it pertains to 
the subject matter of a quasi-judicial proceeding. (RCW 42.36.06016)

c. Procedure On Application. Any person making application for any action leading to a quasi-judicial hearing 
before the Planning Commission and/or City Council shall be provided with a document containing the 
following information: (1) the names and address of all members of the City Council, and the Planning 
Commission, (2) a statement that public disclosure information is available for public inspection regarding all 
such Councilmembers, and (3) a statement that if the applicant intends to raise any appearance of fairness issue, 
the applicant should do so at least two weeks prior to any public hearing, if the grounds for such issue are then 
known and in all cases, no later than before the opening of the public hearing. The applicant shall sign a receipt 
for such document. 

3.  Appearance of Fairness Doctrine  
a. “The test of whether the Appearance of Fairness Doctrine has been violated is ... as follows: Would a 
disinterested person, having been apprised of the totality of a board member's personal interest in a matter 
being acted upon, be reasonably justified in thinking that partiality may exist? If answered in the affirmative, 
such deliberations, and any course of conduct reached thereon, should be voided.” Swift vs. Island County, 87 
Wn.2d 348 (1976);  Smith vs. Skagit County, 75 Wn.2d 715 (1969). 

b. Types of Hearings to Which the Doctrine Applies. The Appearance of Fairness Doctrine shall apply only 
to those actions of the Council which are quasi-judicial in nature. Quasi-judicial actions are defined as actions 
of the City Council which determine the legal rights, duties, or privileges of specific parties in a hearing or 
other contested proceeding. Quasi-judicial actions do not include the legislative actions adopting, amending, 
or revising comprehensive, community, or neighborhood plans or other land use planning documents or the 
adoption of area-wide zoning ordinances or the adoption of a zoning amendment that is of area-wide (versus 
site-specific) significance (RCW 42.36.01017). Street vacations are typically legislative actions, unless 
clearly tied to, and integrated into, a site-specific development proposal which is quasi-judicial in nature. 

c. Obligations of Councilmembers - Procedure. 
1. Immediate self-disclosure of interests that may appear to constitute a conflict of interest is hereby 
encouraged. Councilmembers should recognize that the Appearance of Fairness Doctrine does not 

3 3  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 235 of 248



require establishment of a conflict of interest, but whether there is an appearance of conflict of interest to 
the average person. This may involve the Councilmember or a Councilmember's business associate, or a 
member of the Councilmember's immediate family. It could involve ex parte (outside the hearing) 
communications, ownership of property in the vicinity, business dealings with the proponents or opponents 
before or after the hearing, business dealings of the Councilmember's employer with the proponents or 
opponents, announced predisposition, and the like. Prior to any quasi-judicial hearing, each 
Councilmember should give consideration to whether a potential violation of the Appearance of Fairness 
Doctrine exists. If the answer is in the affirmative, no matter how remote, the Councilmember should 
disclose such facts to the Mayor who will seek the opinion of the City Attorney as to whether a potential 
violation of the Appearance of Fairness Doctrine exists. The Mayor and/or City Attorney shall 
communicate such opinion to the Councilmember. 

2. Anyone seeking to disqualify a Councilmember from participating in a decision on the basis of a 
violation of the Appearance of Fairness Doctrine must raise the challenge as soon as the basis for 
disqualification is made known, or reasonably should have been made known, prior to the issuance of the 
decision. Upon failure to do so, the doctrine may not be relied upon to invalidate the decision consistent 
with state law. The party seeking to disqualify the Councilmember shall state with specificity the basis for 
disqualification; for example: demonstrated bias or prejudice for or against a party to the proceedings, a 
monetary interest in outcome of the proceedings, prejudgment of the issue prior to hearing the facts on the 
record, or ex parte contact. Should such challenge be made prior to the hearing, the City Attorney shall 
interview the Councilmember and render an opinion as to the likelihood that an Appearance of Fairness 
Doctrine violation would be sustained in Superior Court. Should such challenge be made in the course of a 
quasi-judicial hearing, the Councilmember shall either recuse him/herself or the Mayor shall call a recess to 
permit the City Attorney to make such interview and render such opinion. 

3. The Mayor shall have authority to request a Councilmember to excuse him/herself on the basis of an 
Appearance of Fairness Doctrine violation. Further, if two or more Councilmembers believe that an 
Appearance of Fairness Doctrine violation exists, such individuals may move to request a Councilmember to 
excuse him/herself on the basis of an Appearance of Fairness Doctrine violation. In arriving at this decision, 
the Mayor or other Councilmembers shall give due regard to the opinion of the City Attorney. 

d. When Council conducts a hearing to which the Appearance of Fairness Doctrine applies, the Mayor (or in 
the case of a potential violation by that individual, the Mayor Pro Tem) will ask if any Councilmember knows 
of any reason which would require such member to excuse themselves pursuant to the Appearance of Fairness 
Doctrine. The form of the announcement is as follows: 

All Councilmembers should now give consideration as to whether they have: 
1. A demonstrated bias or prejudice for or against any party to the proceedings; 
2. A direct or indirect monetary interest in the outcome of the proceedings; 
3. A prejudgment of the issue prior to hearing the facts on the record; or 
4. Had ex parte contact with any individual, excluding administrative staff, with regard to an issue prior 
to the hearing. If any Councilmember should answer in the affirmative, then the Councilmembers should 
state the reason for his/her answer at this time, so that the Chair may inquire of administration as to 
whether a violation of the Appearance of Fairness Doctrine exists. 

34 
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 236 of 248 

require establishment of a conflict of interest, but whether there is an appearance of conflict of interest to 
the average person. This may involve the Councilmember or a Councilmember’s business associate, or a 
member of the Councilmember's immediate family. It could involve ex parte (outside the hearing) 
communications, ownership of property in the vicinity, business dealings with the proponents or opponents 
before or after the hearing, business dealings of the Councilmember’s employer with the proponents or 
opponents, announced predisposition, and the like. Prior to any quasi-judicial hearing, each 
Councilmember should give consideration to whether a potential violation of the Appearance of Fairness 
Doctrine exists. If the answer is in the affirmative, no matter how remote, the Councilmember should 
disclose such facts to the Mayor who will seek the opinion of the City Attorney as to whether a potential 
violation of the Appearance of Fairness Doctrine exists. The Mayor and/or City Attorney shall 
communicate such opinion to the Councilmember. 

2. Anyone seeking to disqualify a Councilmember from participating in a decision on the basis of a 
violation of the Appearance of Fairness Doctrine must raise the challenge as soon as the basis for 
disqualification is made known, or reasonably should have been made known, prior to the issuance of the 
decision. Upon failure to do so, the doctrine may not be relied upon to invalidate the decision consistent 
with state law. The party seeking to disqualify the Councilmember shall state with specificity the basis for 
disqualification; for example: demonstrated bias or prejudice for or against a party to the proceedings, a 
monetary interest in outcome of the proceedings, prejudgment of the issue prior to hearing the facts on the 
record, or ex parte contact. Should such challenge be made prior to the hearing, the City Attorney shall 
interview the Councilmember and render an opinion as to the likelihood that an Appearance of Fairness 
Doctrine violation would be sustained in Superior Court. Should such challenge be made in the course of a 
quasi-judicial hearing, the Councilmember shall either recuse him/herself or the Mayor shall call a recess to 
permit the City Attorney to make such interview and render such opinion. 

3. The Mayor shall have authority to request a Councilmember to excuse him/herself on the basis of an 
Appearance of Fairness Doctrine violation. Further, if two or more Councilmembers believe that an 
Appearance of Fairness Doctrine violation exists, such individuals may move to request a Councilmember to 
excuse him/herself on the basis of an Appearance of Fairness Doctrine violation. In arriving at this decision, 
the Mayor or other Councilmembers shall give due regard to the opinion of the City Attorney. 

d. When Council conducts a hearing to which the Appearance of Fairness Doctrine applies, the Mayor (or in 
the case of a potential violation by that individual, the Mayor Pro Tem) will ask if any Councilmember knows 
of any reason which would require such member to excuse themselves pursuant to the Appearance of Fairness 
Doctrine. The form of the announcement is as follows: 

All Councilmembers should now give consideration as to whether they have: 
1. A demonstrated bias or prejudice for or against any party to the proceedings; 
2. A direct or indirect monetary interest in the outcome of the proceedings; 
3. A prejudgment of the issue prior to hearing the facts on the record; or 
4. Had ex parte contact with any individual, excluding administrative staff, with regard to an issue prior 
to the hearing. If any Councilmember should answer in the affirmative, then the Councilmembers should 
state the reason for his/her answer at this time, so that the Chair may inquire of administration as to 
whether a violation of the Appearance of Fairness Doctrine exists. 

3 4  
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 236 of 248



CHAPTER 5 
Disclaimer 

DISCLAIMER 

A. Purpose
These City Council Rules of Procedure are designed to provide guidance for the City Council. They 
are not to be considered restrictions or expansions of City Council authority. These rules have been 
prepared from review of many statutes, ordinances, court cases and other sources but they are not 
intended to be an amendment or substitute for those statutes, ordinances, court decisions or other 
authority. 

B. Use 
No action taken by a Councilmember or by the Council which is not in compliance with these rules, 
but which is otherwise lawful, shall invalidate such Councilmember's or Council action or be 
deemed a violation of oath of office, misfeasance or malfeasance. No authority other than the City 
Council may enforce these rules or rely on these rules. Failure of the City Council to follow any of 
these rules shall be considered a Council decision to waive such rule. No notice of such waiver need 
be given. 

C. Reliance 
Public Use or Reliance Not Intended. Because these rules are designed to assist the City Council and 
not to provide substantive rules affecting constituents, it is expressly stated that these rules do not 
constitute land use regulations, official controls, "appearance of fairness rules," public hearing rules, 
or other substantive rules binding upon or to be used by or relied upon by members of the public. 
These rules do not amend statutory or other regulatory (such as ordinance) requirements. 

35 
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 237 of 248 

DISCLAIMER DISCLAIMER 

CHAPTER 5  
Disclaimer 

A. Purpose  
These City Council Rules of Procedure are designed to provide guidance for the City Council. They 
are not to be considered restrictions or expansions of City Council authority. These rules have been 
prepared from review of many statutes, ordinances, court cases and other sources but they are not 
intended to be an amendment or substitute for those statutes, ordinances, court decisions or other 
authority. 

B. Use  
No action taken by a Councilmember or by the Council which is not in compliance with these rules, 
but which is otherwise lawful, shall invalidate such Councilmember’s or Council action or be 
deemed a violation of oath of office, misfeasance or malfeasance. No authority other than the City 
Council may enforce these rules or rely on these rules. Failure of the City Council to follow any of 
these rules shall be considered a Council decision to waive such rule. No notice of such waiver need 
be given. 

C. Reliance  
Public Use or Reliance Not Intended. Because these rules are designed to assist the City Council and 
not to provide substantive rules affecting constituents, it is expressly stated that these rules do not 
constitute land use regulations, official controls, “appearance of fairness rules,” public hearing rules, 
or other substantive rules binding upon or to be used by or relied upon by members of the public. 
These rules do not amend statutory or other regulatory (such as ordinance) requirements.

3 5  

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 237 of 248



Appendix A: Definitions 
Action: All transactions of a governing body's business, including receipt of public testimony, deliberations, 
discussions, considerations, reviews, and evaluations, as well as "final" action. [RCW 42.30.01018, 
42.30.020(3)19]. 

Codified: The process of forming a legal code (i.e., a codex or book of laws) by collecting and including the 
laws of a jurisdiction or municipality. 

Consensus: A collective judgment or belief; solidarity of opinion: "The consensus of the group was that they 
should meet twice a month. General agreement or harmony. [Random House Webster's College Dictionary, 
April 2001] [Wikipedia: explains it as a group decision making process; not necessarily the agreement. In 
other words, the question to the group is: "Is this something you can live with?" or, Does anyone object?] It 
is not unanimity, but more a process for deciding what is best overall. Members of the group reach a decision 
to which they consent because they know it is the best one overall. It differs from voting which is a procedure 
for tallying preferences. Sometimes knowing there will be an up-down vote at the end often polarizes the 
discussion. It does not require each member of the group to justify their feelings. [Taken from: Consensus Is 
Not Unanimity: Making Decisions Cooperatively, by Randy Schutt. "J Similar to a type of verbal "show of 
hands" on who feels particularly strong on this?" Sometimes thought of as preliminary approval without 
taking final "action." A show of hands is not an action that has any legal effect. ["Voting and Taking Action 
in Closed Sessions" by Frayda Bulestein.] 

Ex-parte: from a one-sided or partisan point of view; on the application of one party alone. An ex-parte judicial 
proceeding is conducted for the benefit of only one party. Ex-parte may also describe contact with a person 
represented by an attorney, outside the presence of the attorney. 

Motion: An enacted motion is a form of action taken by the Council to direct that a specific action be taken on 
behalf of the municipality. A motion, once approved and entered into the record, is the equivalent of a resolution 
in those instances where a resolution is not required by law, and where such motion is not in conflict with 
existing state or federal statutes, City ordinances or resolutions. 

Ordinance: An enacted ordinance is a law passed [enacted] by a municipal organization legislatively 
prescribing specific rules of organization or conduct relating to the corporate affairs of the municipality and 
those citizens and businesses therein. Council action shall be taken by ordinance when required by law, or where 
prescribed conduct may be enforced by penalty. Special ordinances such as adopting the budget, vacating a 
street, amending the Comprehensive Plan and/or Map, and placing a matter on an election ballot, including 
general obligation bonds, are not codified into the City's municipal code. 

Resolution: An enacted resolution is an administrative act which is a formal statement of policy concerning 
matters of special or temporary character. Council action shall be taken by resolution when required by law and 
in those instances where an expression of policy more formal than a motion is desired. 

Regular Meeting: Any Council meeting that meets in the Sedro-Woolley City Council Chambers or the Fire 
Department Training Room on the First, Second and Fourth Wednesdays at 6:00 p.m. shall be deemed a "regular 
meeting." 

Social Media: A term used to define the various activities that integrate technology, social interaction and 
content creation. Through social media, individuals or collaborations of individuals create on-line web content, 
organize content, edit or comment on content, combine content, and share content. Social media uses many 
technologies and forms including syndicated web feeds, weblogs (blogs), wiki, photo-sharing, video-sharing, 
podcasts, and social networking. (From MRSC, and Social Media and Web2.0 in Government, 
WebContent.gov)

36 
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 238 of 248 

Appendix A: Definitions 
Action: All transactions of a governing body’s business, including receipt of public testimony, deliberations, 
discussions, considerations, reviews, and evaluations, as well as “final” action. [RCW 42.30.01018, 
42.30.020(3)19].

Codified: The process of forming a legal code (i.e., a codex or book of laws) by collecting and including the 
laws of a jurisdiction or municipality.

Consensus: A collective judgment or belief; solidarity of opinion: “The consensus of the group was that they 
should meet twice a month. General agreement or harmony. [Random House Webster’s College Dictionary, 
April 2001] [Wikipedia: explains it as a group decision making process; not necessarily the agreement. In 
other words, the question to the group is: “Is this something you can live with?” or, Does anyone object?] It 
is not unanimity, but more a process for deciding what is best overall. Members of the group reach a decision 
to which they consent because they know it is the best one overall. It differs from voting which is a procedure 
for tallying preferences. Sometimes knowing there will be an up-down vote at the end often polarizes the 
discussion. It does not require each member of the group to justify their feelings. [Taken from: Consensus Is 
Not Unanimity: Making Decisions Cooperatively, by Randy Schutt.”] Similar to a type of verbal “show of 
hands” on who feels particularly strong on this?” Sometimes thought of as preliminary approval without 
taking final “action.” A show of hands is not an action that has any legal effect. [“Voting and Taking Action 
in Closed Sessions” by Frayda Bulestein.]

Ex-parte: from a one-sided or partisan point of view; on the application of one party alone. An ex-parte judicial 
proceeding is conducted for the benefit of only one party. Ex-parte may also describe contact with a person 
represented by an attorney, outside the presence of the attorney.

Motion: An enacted motion is a form of action taken by the Council to direct that a specific action be taken on 
behalf of the municipality. A motion, once approved and entered into the record, is the equivalent of a resolution 
in those instances where a resolution is not required by law, and where such motion is not in conflict with 
existing state or federal statutes, City ordinances or resolutions.

Ordinance: An enacted ordinance is a law passed [enacted] by a municipal organization legislatively 
prescribing specific rules of organization or conduct relating to the corporate affairs of the municipality and 
those citizens and businesses therein. Council action shall be taken by ordinance when required by law, or where 
prescribed conduct may be enforced by penalty. Special ordinances such as adopting the budget, vacating a 
street, amending the Comprehensive Plan and/or Map, and placing a matter on an election ballot, including 
general obligation bonds, are not codified into the City’s municipal code.

Resolution: An enacted resolution is an administrative act which is a formal statement of policy concerning 
matters of special or temporary character. Council action shall be taken by resolution when required by law and 
in those instances where an expression of policy more formal than a motion is desired.

Regular Meeting: Any Council meeting that meets in the Sedro-Woolley City Council Chambers or the Fire 
Department Training Room on the First, Second and Fourth Wednesdays at 6:00 p.m. shall be deemed a “regular 
meeting.”

Social Media: A term used to define the various activities that integrate technology, social interaction and 
content creation. Through social media, individuals or collaborations of individuals create on-line web content, 
organize content, edit or comment on content, combine content, and share content. Social media uses many 
technologies and forms including syndicated web feeds, weblogs (blogs), wiki, photo-sharing, video-sharing, 
podcasts, and social networking. (From MRSC, and Social Media and Web2.0 in Government, 
WebContent.gov)

3 6  
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 238 of 248

http://webcontent.gov/


Appendix B: Frequently Used Acronyms 

ADA - Americans with Disabilities Act 

ADT - Average Daily Traffic 

ATF - Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco & Firearms 

AWC - Association of Washington Cities 

BOCC - Board of County Commissioners 

CAFR - Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 

CDBG - Community Development Block Grant 

CIAW - Cities Insurance Authority of Washington 

CIP - Capital Improvement Plan 

CTED - Community, Trade, & Economic Development (now Department of Commerce) 

CUP - Conditional Use Permit 

DEIS - Draft Environmental Impact Statement 

DEM - Department of Emergency Management 

DNR - Department of Natural Resources 

DNS - Declaration of Non-Significance 

DOE - Department of Ecology; Department of Energy 

DOT - Department of Transportation 

E911 - Enhanced 911 

EA - Environment Assessment 

EDASC - Economic Development Alliance of Skagit County 

EEO/AA - Equal Employment Opportunity/Affirmative Action 

EEOC - Equal Employment Opportunity Commission 

EIS - Environmental Impact Statement 

EOE - Equal Opportunity Employer 

EPA - Environmental Protection Agency 

ERU - Equivalent Residential Unit (for measuring sewer capacity and demand) 

F & WS - Federal Fish & Wildlife Service 

FAA - Federal Aviation Administration 

FCC - Federal Communications Commission 

FEIS - Final Environmental Impact Statement 

FEMA - Federal Emergency Management Agency 

FICA - Federal Insurance Contribution Act 

FIRM - Flood Insurance Rate Maps 

FLSA - Fair Labor Standards Act 

37 
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 239 of 248 

Appendix B: Frequently Used Acronyms 

ADA - Americans with Disabilities Act

ADT - Average Daily Traffic

ATF - Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco & Firearms

AWC - Association of Washington Cities

BOCC - Board of County Commissioners

CAFR - Comprehensive Annual Financial Report

CDBG - Community Development Block Grant

CIAW - Cities Insurance Authority of Washington

CIP - Capital Improvement Plan

CTED - Community, Trade, & Economic Development (now Department of Commerce)

CUP - Conditional Use Permit

DEIS - Draft Environmental Impact Statement

DEM - Department of Emergency Management

DNR - Department of Natural Resources

DNS - Declaration of Non-Significance

DOE - Department of Ecology; Department of Energy

DOT - Department of Transportation

E911 - Enhanced 911

EA - Environment Assessment

EDASC - Economic Development Alliance of Skagit County

EEO/AA - Equal Employment Opportunity/Affirmative Action

EEOC - Equal Employment Opportunity Commission

EIS - Environmental Impact Statement

EOE - Equal Opportunity Employer

EPA - Environmental Protection Agency

ERU - Equivalent Residential Unit (for measuring sewer capacity and demand)

F & WS - Federal Fish & Wildlife Service

FAA - Federal Aviation Administration

FCC - Federal Communications Commission

FEIS - Final Environmental Impact Statement

FEMA - Federal Emergency Management Agency

FICA - Federal Insurance Contribution Act

FIRM - Flood Insurance Rate Maps

FLSA - Fair Labor Standards Act

3 7  
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 239 of 248



FMLA - Family Medical Leave Act 

GAAP - Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 

GASB - Governmental Accounting Standards Board 

GIS - Geographic Information System 

GMA - Growth Management Act 

GPM - Gallons Per Minute 

HOV - High-Occupancy Vehicle 

HR - Human Resources 

HUD - Housing & Urban Development (Department of) 

ICMA - International City/County Management Association 

L & I - Labor & Industries (Department of) 

LID - Local Improvement District 

MGD - Million Gallons per Day 

MOA - Memorandum of Agreement 

MOU - Memorandum of Understanding 

MPO - Metropolitan Planning Organization 

MRSC - Municipal Research Services Center 

NEPA - National Environment Policy Act 

NIMBY - Not In My Backyard 

NPDES - National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 

PE - Preliminary Engineering; Professional Engineer 

PERC - Public Employment Relations Commission 

PMS - Pavement Management System 

PPE - Personal Protective Equipment 

PPM - Parts Per Million; Policy & Procedure Manual 

PUD - Public Utility District 

PW - Public Works 

QA - Quality Assurance 

RCW - Revised Code of Washington 

REET - Real Estate Excise Tax 

RONR - Robert's Rules of Order Newly Revised 

ROW - Right of Way 

SAO - State Auditor's Office 

SBA - Small Business Administration 

SEPA - State Environmental Policy Act 

SMA - Shorelines Management Act 

38 
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 240 of 248 

FMLA - Family Medical Leave Act

GAAP - Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

GASB - Governmental Accounting Standards Board

GIS - Geographic Information System

GMA - Growth Management Act

GPM - Gallons Per Minute

HOV - High-Occupancy Vehicle

HR - Human Resources

HUD - Housing & Urban Development (Department of)

ICMA - International City/County Management Association

L & I - Labor & Industries (Department of)

LID - Local Improvement District

MGD - Million Gallons per Day

MOA - Memorandum of Agreement

MOU - Memorandum of Understanding

MPO - Metropolitan Planning Organization

MRSC - Municipal Research Services Center

NEPA - National Environment Policy Act

NIMBY - Not In My Backyard

NPDES - National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System

PE - Preliminary Engineering; Professional Engineer

PERC - Public Employment Relations Commission

PMS - Pavement Management System

PPE - Personal Protective Equipment

PPM - Parts Per Million; Policy & Procedure Manual

PUD - Public Utility District

PW - Public Works

QA - Quality Assurance

RCW - Revised Code of Washington

REET - Real Estate Excise Tax

RONR - Robert’s Rules of Order Newly Revised

ROW - Right of Way

SAO - State Auditor's Office

SBA - Small Business Administration

SEPA - State Environmental Policy Act

SMA - Shorelines Management Act

3 8  
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 240 of 248



SWAC - Solid Waste Advisory Committee 

TIB - Transportation Improvement Board 

TIP - Transportation Improvement Program 

TMDL - Total Maximum Daily Load 

UBC - Uniform Building Code 

UFC - Uniform Fire Code 

UGA - Urban Growth Area 

WAC - Washington Administrative Code 

WACO - Washington Association of County Officials 

WCMA - Washington City/County Management Association 

WSDOT - Washington State Department of Transportation 

WSP - Washington State Patrol 

WUTC - Washington Utilities & Transportation Commission 

WWTP - Wastewater Treatment Plant 

39 
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 241 of 248 

SWAC - Solid Waste Advisory Committee

TIB - Transportation Improvement Board

TIP - Transportation Improvement Program

TMDL - Total Maximum Daily Load

UBC - Uniform Building Code

UFC - Uniform Fire Code

UGA - Urban Growth Area

WAC - Washington Administrative Code

WACO - Washington Association of County Officials

WCMA - Washington City/County Management Association

WSDOT - Washington State Department of Transportation

WSP - Washington State Patrol

WUTC - Washington Utilities & Transportation Commission

WWTP - Wastewater Treatment Plant

39 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 241 of 248



INDEX 

A 

absence • 5, 6, 10, 15,4 
Adjournment • 9, 16 
Advance Agenda • 13 
agenda • 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 16, 17, 18, 20, 21, 22, 30, 3, 15 
amand • 14 

amended • 6, 7, 18, 19 
amended agenda • 6, 9 
Appearance of Fairness Doctrine • 11, 12, 13, 17 
appointment • 11, 5, 15, 18 
Approaching the Dais • 16 
Attendance • 12, 15, 4 

B 

ballot • 8, 24, 30, 1, 20 
board • 7, 11, 15, 18 
budget • 17, 30, 7, 17, 20 
budget amendment • 17 

C 

call for the question • 19, 20 
Call for the Question • 20 
Citizen Contact • 3 
City Clerk • 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 12, 15, 17, 20, 21, 24, 4, 7, 9 
City Supervisor • 6, 7, 9, 10, 15, 16, 17, 18, 20, 21, 3, 4, 5, 12, 

Close debate • 19 
Comments • 7, 9, 10, 17 
Complaints • 3 
conflict of interest • 17, 12, 17 
Consensus • 20 
contract • 28 
CONTRACT • 28 
Contract Authority • 17 
Correspondence • 3 
Council liaison • 17 
Council Packets • 21 

D 

dais • 9, 17, 21 
demonstrations • 8, 7 
Deputy Mayor • 5, 6, 13, 24 
display materials • 7 

40 

donation • 4 
donations • 4, 28 

E 

Election of Officers • 24 
electronic message • 8, 16 
emergency • 6, 12, 16, 17, 21 
Emergency • 16, 22, 23 
emergency ordinance • 17 
excuse • 6, 10, 15, 12 
excused • 15, 4 
Executive Session • 9, 11 
Executive Sessions • 2, 5, 10, 12 
Ex-Parte communications • 9 

Filling Council Vacancies • 2, 24 
finance • 16, 17 
Finance • 30, 16, 17 
Finance Committee • 3, 30, 16, 17 
Formal Format • 2, 6 
Forms of Address • 6, 10 

hearing • 8, 21, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 18, 19 
Hearing • 9 
hearing examiner • 9, 10, 11 

Interference • 5 
Internet • 2, 8, 16 

L 

last six months • 30 
Legislative Agenda • 30 
Lodging Tax Advisory Committee • 16 

M 

majority • 5, 8, 9, 15, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 24, 26, 27, 29, 15, 16, 
18, 27, 0 

majority plus one • 19 
material • 6, 10, 21, 7 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 242 of 248 

INDEX 

A 

absence · 5, 6, 10, 15, 4 
Adjournment · 9, 16 
Advance Agenda · 13 
agenda · 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 16, 17, 18, 20, 21, 22, 30, 3, 15 
amend · 19 
amended · 6, 7, 18, 19 
amended agenda · 6, 9 
Appearance of Fairness Doctrine · 11, 12, 13, 17
appointment · 11, 5, 15, 18 
Approaching the Dais · 16
Attendance · 12, 15, 4

B 

ballot · 8, 24, 30, 1, 20 
board · 7, 11, 15, 18

budget · 17, 30, 7, 17, 20  
budget amendment · 17 

C 

call for the question · 19, 20 
Call for the Question · 20 
Citizen Contact · 3
City Clerk · 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 12, 15, 17, 20, 21, 24, 4, 7, 9 
City Supervisor · 6, 7, 9, 10, 15, 16, 17, 18, 20, 21, 3, 4, 5, 12, 

17, 18, 22 
Close debate · 19 
Comments · 7, 9, 10, 17 
Complaints · 3
conflict of interest · 17, 12, 17 
Consensus · 20
contract · 28 
CONTRACT · 28
Contract Authority · 17
Correspondence · 3
Council liaison · 17 
Council Packets · 21

D 

dais · 9, 17, 21  
demonstrations · 8, 7  
Deputy Mayor · 5, 6, 13, 24  
display materials · 7  

donation · 4  
donations · 4, 28 

E 

Election of Officers · 24  
electronic message · 8, 16  
emergency · 6, 12, 16, 17, 21  
Emergency · 16, 22, 23  
emergency ordinance · 17  
excuse · 6, 10, 15, 12  
excused · 15, 4

Executive Session · 9, 11
Executive Sessions · 2, 5, 10, 12  
Ex-Parte communications · 9 

F 

Filling Council Vacancies · 2, 24
finance · 16, 17 
Finance · 30, 16, 17
Finance Committee · 3, 30, 16, 17 
Formal Format · 2, 6
Forms of Address · 6, 10 

H 

hearing · 8, 21, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 18, 19 
Hearing · 9
hearing examiner · 9, 10, 11

I 

Interference · 5  
Internet · 2, 8, 16

L 

last six months · 30 
Legislative Agenda · 30
Lodging Tax Advisory Committee · 16

M 

majority · 5, 8, 9, 15, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 24, 26, 27, 29, 15, 16, 
18, 27, 0 

majority plus one · 19 
material · 6, 10, 21, 7 

40 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 242 of 248



meeting • 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12,13, 15, 16,17, 18, 19, 20, 
21, 22, 24, 25, 29, 30, 34 7, 11, 15, 17,18, 20, 28, 0 

minutes • 7, 15, 18, 24, 4, 5, 7, 10, 15, 28 
Motion • 11, 20 
Motions • 18 

N 

National League of Cities • 30 
new item • 6 
Non-action • 9, 12 

0 

Open Public Meetings Act • 5 
opinion • 12, 20 
opinions • 8, 9 
ordinance • 15, 17, 20, 3, 19, 20, 28 
Ordinances • 20, 22, 20 

parliamentarian • 15 
Parliamentary Procedure • 2, 19 
Photographs • 17 
Planning Commission • 9, 15, 17 
podium • 17, 18, 7 
point of order • 15 
posterboards • 7 
PowerPoints • 6, 10 
Pre-Agenda • 2, 13 
preliminary • 11, 9, 20 
presentations • 6, 7, 10, 7 
Presiding Officer • 2, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 15, 16, 17, 18, 20, 

24, 4, 7, 8, 12, 15, 18 
Public Disclosure • 9 

qualifications • 11 
Quasi-Judicial • 3, 9 
Quorum • 15 

Reconsideration • 2, 20 
recuse • 17, 12 

recusing • 28 
regular meetings • 5,15 
reintroduced • 18 
Reports • 7, 9, 15 
Request for Council Action form (RCA) • 21 
Resolutions • 20, 22, 20 
respect • 15, 16 
Roll Call • 6, 10 

S 

Seating Arrangement • 15 
show of hands • 20 
social media • 3, 20 
Social Media • 3, 20 
SPECIAL MEETINGS • 12 
Study Session Format • 2, 9 
surprise • 10 

T 

Table • 19 
Task Force • 7, 18 
temporary • 5, 28, 30,18, 20 
Temporary • 27 
three • 6, 7, 9, 12, 15,22, 7, 16 
three Councilmembers • 6 
three touch principle • 20 
Three Touch Principle • 22 
Time • 5, 7 
Travel Provisions • 30 

U 

Unfinished • 9 

V 

vacancy • 24, 25, 26,27, 30, 17 
video • 6, 10, 16, 17, 4, 21 
Voting • 2, 9, 10, 12, 13, 17 

w 

withdraw • 18, 19 
written findings • 11 
Written Public Comments • 8 

41 
Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 243 of 248 

meeting · 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 15, 16,17, 18, 19, 20, 
21, 22, 24, 25, 29, 30, 3, 4,7, 11, 15, 17,18, 20, 28, 0

minutes · 7, 15, 18, 24, 4, 5, 7, 10, 15, 28 
Motion · 11, 20
Motions · 18

N 

National League of Cities · 30 
new item · 6 
Non-action · 9, 12 

O 

Open Public Meetings Act · 5 
opinion · 12, 20 
opinions · 8, 9 
ordinance · 15, 17, 20, 3, 19, 20, 28 
Ordinances · 20, 22, 20

P 

parliamentarian · 15 
Parliamentary Procedure · 2, 19 
Photographs · 17
Planning Commission · 9, 15, 17
podium · 17, 18, 7 
point of order · 15 
posterboards · 7 
PowerPoints · 6, 10 
Pre-Agenda · 2, 13 
preliminary · 11, 9, 20 
presentations · 6, 7, 10, 7 
Presiding Officer · 2, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 15, 16, 17, 18, 20, 

24, 4, 7, 8, 12, 15, 18 
Public Disclosure · 9 

Q 

qualifications · 11  
Quasi-Judicial · 3, 9  
Quorum · 15 

R 

Reconsideration · 2, 20  
recuse · 17, 12

recusing · 28 
regular meetings · 5, 15 
reintroduced · 18 
Reports · 7, 9, 15 
Request for Council Action form (RCA) · 21 
Resolutions · 20, 22, 20
respect · 15, 16 
Roll Call · 6, 10

S 

Seating Arrangement · 15  
show of hands · 20  
social media · 3, 20  
Social Media · 3, 20  
SPECIAL MEETINGS · 12  
Study Session Format · 2, 9  
surprise · 10

T 

Table · 19 
Task Force · 7, 18 
temporary · 5, 28, 30, 18, 20 
Temporary · 27 
three · 6, 7, 9, 12, 15, 22, 7, 16 
three Councilmembers · 6  
three touch principle · 20  
Three Touch Principle · 22  
Time · 5, 7 
Travel Provisions · 30

U 

Unfinished · 9

V 

vacancy · 24, 
video · 6, 10,

25,
16,

26,
17,

27, 30,
4, 21

17 

Voting · 2, 9, 10, 12, 13, 17

W 

withdraw · 18, 19 
written findings · 11
Written Public Comments · 8 

41 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 243 of 248



Endnotes: 

i RCW 42.30.110 — Open Public Meeting Act, Executive Sessions 

2 RCW 42.30.140- Open Public Meeting Act, 

3 RCW 35A.13.035- Optional Municipal Code (35A) — Council-manager plan of government 

RCW 42.52 — Ethics in Public Service 

5RCW 42.56 — Public Records Act 

6 RCW 35A.12.160 Optional Municipal Code (35A) — Council manager plan of government; public notice of 
hearings and meeting agendas 

RCW 35A.13.170 — Optional Municipal Code (35A) — Council manager plan of government; council meetings —
quorum, rules - voting 

8 RCW 35A.12.110 — Council meetings, shall meet regularly, at least once a month. 

9RCW 35A.12.110 — ibid. 

10 RCW 42.30.080 - Open Public Meetings Act, Special Meetings, procedures for calling Special Meetings 

11 RCW 35A.12.060 — A council position shall become vacant if the councilmember fails to attend three consecutive 
regular meetings of the council without being excused by the council. 

12 RCW 35A.13.190 — Ordinances, emergencies, may be effective upon adoption if passed by a majority plus one of 
the whole membership of the council and have the ordinance designated as a public emergency; but such ordinance 
may not levy taxes, grant, renew or extend a franchise, or authorize the borrowing of money. 

13 RCW 35A.12.050 — Vacancies 

14 RCW 35A.12.050 — ibid. 

15 RCW 42.36.040 — Appearance of Fairness — public discussion by candidate for public office 

16 RCW 42.36.060 — Quasi-judicial proceedings, ex-parte communications prohibited, exceptions. 

22 RCW 42.36.010 Appearance of fairness doctrine — local land use decisions. 

a  RCW 42.30.010 - Open Public Meetings Act; legislative declaration. It is the intent of this chapter that their actions 
be taken openly and that their deliberations be conducted openly. 

19 RCW 42.30.020(3) — Defmitions — defines "action" 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 244 of 248 

Endnotes: 

1 RCW 42.30.110 – Open Public Meeting Act, Executive Sessions

2 RCW 42.30.140- Open Public Meeting Act,

3 RCW 35A.13.035- Optional Municipal Code (35A) – Council-manager plan of government

4 RCW 42.52 – Ethics in Public Service

5 RCW 42.56 – Public Records Act

6 RCW 35A.12.160 Optional Municipal Code (35A) – Council manager plan of government; public notice of 
hearings and meeting agendas

7 RCW 35A.13.170 – Optional Municipal Code (35A) – Council manager plan of government; council meetings – 
quorum, rules - voting

8 RCW 35A.12.110 – Council meetings, shall meet regularly, at least once a month.

9 RCW 35A.12.110 – ibid.

10 RCW 42.30.080 - Open Public Meetings Act, Special Meetings, procedures for calling Special Meetings

11 RCW 35A.12.060 – A council position shall become vacant if the councilmember fails to attend three consecutive 
regular meetings of the council without being excused by the council.

12 RCW 35A.13.190 – Ordinances, emergencies, may be effective upon adoption if passed by a majority plus one of 
the whole membership of the council and have the ordinance designated as a public emergency; but such ordinance 
may not levy taxes, grant, renew or extend a franchise, or authorize the borrowing of money.

13 RCW 35A.12.050 – Vacancies

14 RCW 35A.12.050 – ibid.

15 RCW 42.36.040 – Appearance of Fairness – public discussion by candidate for public office

16 RCW 42.36.060 – Quasi-judicial proceedings, ex-parte communications prohibited, exceptions.

17 RCW 42.36.010 Appearance of fairness doctrine – local land use decisions.

18 RCW 42.30.010 - Open Public Meetings Act; legislative declaration. It is the intent of this chapter that their actions 
be taken openly and that their deliberations be conducted openly.

19 RCW 42.30.020(3) – Definitions – defines “action”

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 244 of 248



ORDINANCE NO 1984-21 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SEDRO-WOOLLEY, 
WASHINGTON, AMENDING THE SEDRO-WOOLLEY MUNICIPAL CODE 2.04.010 
TO CHANGE THE START TIME OF REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS TO 6:00 
P.M. 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Sedro-Woolley, Washington has deemed it is in the 
best interest of the City to change the starting time for regular meetings to six (6:00) pm; and 

WHEREAS, per RCW 42.30.090, the governing body of a public agency may adjourn any 
regular, adjourned regular, special, or adjourned special meeting to a time and place specified in 
the order of adjournment. 

WHEREAS, per RCW 42.30.090, adjournment of any meeting shall be held at the hour specified 
for regular meetings by ordinance, resolution, bylaw, or other rule. 

WHEREAS, the Council now desires to amend SWMC 2.04.010 as provided herein; 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SEDRO-WOOLLEY, 
WASHINGTON, HEREBY ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. SWMC Section 2.04.010 is hereby amended as follows: 

2.04.010 Regular meeting time. 

The city council shall hold regular meetings at seven six p.m. on the first, second and fourth 
Wednesday of each month throughout the year, but whenever a regular meeting falls on a legal 
holiday now or hereafter designated as such by the laws of the state of Washington, such meeting 
shall be held at seven six p.m. of the first day following which is not itself a legal holiday; and 
provided, that the meeting immediately before the Thanksgiving holiday each year shall be held 
on the Tuesday before Thanksgiving rather than the fourth Wednesday; and provided further, that 
no meeting is scheduled for the fourth Wednesday in December 

Section 2. Effective Date. This ordinance or a summary thereof shall be published in the 
official newspaper of the City, and shall take effect and be in full force five days after passage and 
publication as provided by law. 

PASSED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SEDRO-WOOLLEY, 
WASHINGTON, at a Regular Meeting thereof this 26th day of May, 2021. 

ATTEST/AUTHENTICATED: 

Doug Merriman, Finance Director Julia Johnson, Mayor 

1 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 245 of 248 

ORDINANCE NO 1984-21 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SEDRO-WOOLLEY, 
WASHINGTON, AMENDING THE SEDRO-WOOLLEY MUNICIPAL CODE 2.04.010 
TO CHANGE THE START TIME OF REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS TO 6:00 
P.M. 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Sedro-Woolley, Washington has deemed it is in the 
best interest of the City to change the starting time for regular meetings to six (6:00) pm; and 

WHEREAS, per RCW 42.30.090, the governing body of a public agency may adjourn any 
regular, adjourned regular, special, or adjourned special meeting to a time and place specified in 
the order of adjournment. 

WHEREAS, per RCW 42.30.090, adjournment of any meeting shall be held at the hour specified 
for regular meetings by ordinance, resolution, bylaw, or other rule. 

WHEREAS, the Council now desires to amend SWMC 2.04.010 as provided herein; 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SEDRO-WOOLLEY, 
WASHINGTON, HEREBY ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. SWMC Section 2.04.010 is hereby amended as follows: 

2.04.010 Regular meeting time. 

The city council shall hold regular meetings at seven six p.m. on the first, second and fourth 
Wednesday of each month throughout the year, but whenever a regular meeting falls on a legal 
holiday now or hereafter designated as such by the laws of the state of Washington, such meeting 
shall be held at seven six p.m. of the first day following which is not itself a legal holiday; and 
provided, that the meeting immediately before the Thanksgiving holiday each year shall be held 
on the Tuesday before Thanksgiving rather than the fourth Wednesday; and provided further, that 
no meeting is scheduled for the fourth Wednesday in December 

Section 2. Effective Date. This ordinance or a summary thereof shall be published in the 
official newspaper of the City, and shall take effect and be in full force five days after passage and 
publication as provided by law. 

PASSED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SEDRO-WOOLLEY, 
WASHINGTON, at a Regular Meeting thereof this 26th day of May, 2021. 

ATTEST/AUTHENTICATED: 

Doug Merriman, Finance Director Julia Johnson, Mayor 

1 

ORDINANCE NO 1984-21 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SEDRO-WOOLLEY, 
WASHINGTON, AMENDING THE SEDRO-WOOLLEY MUNICIPAL CODE 2.04.010 
TO CHANGE THE START TIME OF REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS TO 6:00 
P.M. 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Sedro-Woolley, Washington has deemed it is in the 
best interest of the City to change the starting time for regular meetings to six (6:00) pm; and 

WHEREAS, per RCW 42.30.090, the governing body of a public agency may adjourn any 
regular, adjourned regular, special, or adjourned special meeting to a time and place specified in 
the order of adjournment. 

WHEREAS, per RCW 42.30.090, adjournment of any meeting shall be held at the hour specified 
for regular meetings by ordinance, resolution, bylaw, or other rule. 

WHEREAS, the Council now desires to amend SWMC 2.04.010 as provided herein; 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SEDRO-WOOLLEY, 
WASHINGTON, HEREBY ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. SWMC Section 2.04.010 is hereby amended as follows: 

2.04.010 Regular meeting time. 

The city council shall hold regular meetings at seven six p.m. on the first, second and fourth 
Wednesday of each month throughout the year, but whenever a regular meeting falls on a legal 
holiday now or hereafter designated as such by the laws of the state of Washington, such meeting 
shall be held at seven six p.m. of the first day following which is not itself a legal holiday; and 
provided, that the meeting immediately before the Thanksgiving holiday each year shall be held 
on the Tuesday before Thanksgiving rather than the fourth Wednesday; and provided further, that 
no meeting is scheduled for the fourth Wednesday in December 

Section 2. Effective Date. This ordinance or a summary thereof shall be published in the 
official newspaper of the City, and shall take effect and be in full force five days after passage and 
publication as provided by law. 

PASSED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SEDRO-WOOLLEY, 
WASHINGTON, at a Regular Meeting thereof this 26th day of May, 2021. 

ATTEST/AUTHENTICATED: 

Doug Merriman, Finance Director Julia Johnson, Mayor 

1 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 245 of 248



APPROVED AS TO FORM 
BY: 

Nikki Thompson, City Attorney 

2 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 246 of 248 

APPROVED AS TO FORM 
BY: 

Nikki Thompson, City Attorney 

2 

APPROVED AS TO FORM 
BY: 

Nikki Thompson, City Attorney 

2 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 246 of 248



CITY 01" 

City of Sedro-Woolley 
City Council Agenda Item 

FROM: Christine Salseina, Deputy Clerk 

Agenda Item No. n-1 

Date: May 26, 2021 

Subject: Report of Contracts approved under 
SW MC 2.104.060 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 

Information only 

ISSUE: 

The attached listing(s) of agreements were approved and are provided for your information. 

Contract(s) available in their entirety at the Finance Department. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 247 of 248 

CITY t 
111.9,-E2W41,

City of Sedro-Woolley 
City Council Agenda Item 

FROM: Christine Salseina, Deputy Clerk 

Agenda Item No. n-1 

Date: May 26, 2021 

Subject: Report of Contracts approved under 
SW MC 2.104.060 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 

Information only 

ISSUE: 

The attached listing(s) of agreements were approved and are provided for your information. 

Contract(s) available in their entirety at the Finance Department. 

00,7YSvt, 

City of Sedro-Woolley 
City Council Agenda Item 

FROM: Christine Salseina, Deputy Clerk 

Agenda Item No. n-1 

Date: May 26, 2021 

Subject: Report of Contracts approved under 
SW MC 2.104.060 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 

Information only 

ISSUE: 

The attached listing(s) of agreements were approved and are provided for your information. 

Contract(s) available in their entirety at the Finance Department. 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 247 of 248



CONTRACTS APPROVED UNDER 

SWMC 2.104.060 

Skagit PUD and City of Sedro-Woolley - Utility Assistance Grants Management Distribution of COVID-19 Customer Assistance Program (CCAP) funds to households impacted 4/12/2021 $5,000.00 

Public Works Agreement No. 2021-PW-22 - Central Paving LLC 2021 City Street Crack Seal Project 4/27/2021 NTE $29,600.00 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 248 of 248 

CONTRACTS APPROVED UNDER 

SWMC 2.104.060 

Skagit PUD and City of Sedro-Woolley - Utility Assistance Grants Management Distribution of COVID-19 Customer Assistance Program (CCAP) funds to households impacted 4/12/2021 $5,000.00 

Public Works Agreement No. 2021-PW-22 - Central Paving LLC 2021 City Street Crack Seal Project 4/27/2021 NTE $29,600.00 

CONTRACTS APPROVED UNDER 

SWMC 2.104.060 

Skagit PUD and City of Sedro-Woolley - Utility Assistance Grants Management Distribution of COVID-19 Customer Assistance Program (CCAP) funds to households impacted 4/12/2021 $5,000.00 

Public Works Agreement No. 2021-PW-22 - Central Paving LLC 2021 City Street Crack Seal Project 4/27/2021 NTE $29,600.00 

Sedro-Woolley City Council Packet Page 248 of 248


	Zoom Cover Sheet
	AGENDA
	Committee Assignments 2021
	a.  Call to Order; b.  Pledge of Allegiance; c.  Roll Call; d.  Approval of Agenda; e.  Consent Agenda;
	  e-1.  May 5th, 2021 Study Session Minutes
	  e-1.  May 12th, 2021 Regular Meeting Minutes  
	  e-2.  Finance - Claims
	  e-3.  Interlocal Agreement - Whatcom County Parks - Rifle Range
	f.  Introduction of Special Guests and Presentations
	  f-1.  PSE Update Presentation with Robert Knoll, Senior Government Affairs Representative
	g.  Staff Reports
	h.  Councilmember and Mayor's Reports
	j.  Public Comments
	l.  Unfinished Business
	  l-1.  Amendments to the Shoreline Master Program (Ordinance No. 1983-21 -2nd reading)
	m.  New Business
	  m-1.  Updates to City Council Governance Handbook and the SW Municipal Code to change City Council meeting times
	n.  Information Only Items
	  n-1.  Report of Contracts approved under SWMC 2.104.060
	o.  Good of the Order
	q.  Adjournment



